Guang-ya Chen Xuexiang Huang · Xiaoqi Yang

# Vector Optimization

Set-Valued and Variational Analysis



# Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems

541

# Founding Editors:

M. Beckmann H. P. Künzi

# Managing Editors:

Prof. Dr. G. Fandel Fachbereich Wirtschaftswissenschaften Fernuniversität Hagen Feithstr. 140/AVZ II, 58084 Hagen, Germany

Prof. Dr. W. Trockel Institut für Mathematische Wirtschaftsforschung (IMW) Universität Bielefeld Universitätsstr. 25, 33615 Bielefeld, Germany

## Editorial Board:

A. Basile, A. Drexl, H. Dawid, K. Inderfurth, W. Kürsten, U. Schittko

Guang-ya Chen Xuexiang Huang Xiaoqi Yang

# **Vector Optimization**

Set-Valued and Variational Analysis



## Authors

Prof. Guang-ya Chen Institute of Systems Science Chinese Academy of Sciences 100080 Beijing, China e-mail: chengy@amss.ac.cn

Prof. Xuexiang Huang
Department of Mathematics
and Computer Sciences
Chongqing Normal University
400047 Chongqing, China
e-mail: mahuangx@polyu.edu.hk

Prof. Xiaoqi Yang
Department of Applied Mathematics
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
Kowloon, Hong Kong
e-mail: mayangxq@polyu.edu.hk

Library of Congress Control Number: 2005927420

ISSN 0075-8442 ISBN-10 3-540-21289-2 Springer Berlin Heidelberg New York ISBN-13 978-3-540-21289-8 Springer Berlin Heidelberg New York

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, re-use of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer-Verlag. Violations are liable for prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

Springer is a part of Springer Science+Business Media

springeronline.com

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2005 Printed in Germany

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Typesetting: Camera ready by author Cover design: *Erich Kirchner*, Heidelberg

Printed on acid-free paper 42/3130Di 5 4 3 2 1 0



# **Preface**

Vector optimization model has found many important applications in decision making problems such as those in economics theory, management science, and engineering design (since the introduction of the Pareto optimal solution in 1896). Typical examples of vector optimization model include maximization/minimization of the objective pairs (time, cost), (benefit, cost), and (mean, variance) etc.

Many practical equilibrium problems can be formulated as variational inequality problems, rather than optimization problems, unless further assumptions are imposed. The vector variational inequality was introduced by Giannessi (1980). Extensive research on its relations with vector optimization, the existence of a solution and duality theory has been pursued.

The fundamental idea of the Ekeland's variational principle is to assign an optimization problem a slightly perturbed one having a unique solution which is at the same time an approximate solution of the original problem. This principle has been an important tool for nonlinear analysis and optimization theory. Along with the development of vector optimization and set-valued optimization, the vector variational principle introduced by Nemeth (1980) has been an interesting topic in the last decade.

Fan Ky's minimax theorems and minimax inequalities for real-valued functions have played a key role in optimization theory, game theory and mathematical economics. An extension was proposed to vector payoffs was introduced by Blackwell (1955).

The Wardrop equilibrium principle was proposed for a transportation network. Until only recently, all these equilibrium models are based on a single cost. Vector network equilibria were introduced by Chen and Yen (1993) and are one of good examples of vector variational inequality applications.

This book studies vector optimization models, vector variational inequalities, vector variational principles, vector minimax inequalities and vector network equilibria and summarizes the recent theoretical development on these topics.

The outline of the book is as follows.

In Chapter 2, we examine vector optimization problems with a fixed domination structure, a variable domination structure and a set-valued function respectively. We will investigate optimality conditions, duality and topological properties of solutions for these problems.

In Chapter 3, we study existence, duality, gap function and characterization of a solution of vector variational inequalities. We will also explore set-valued vector variational inequalities and vector complementarity problems.

In Chapter 4, we present unified variational principles for vector-valued functions and set-valued functions respectively. We will also explore well-posedness properties of vector-valued/set-valued optimization problems.

In Chapter 5, we consider minimax inequalities for vector-valued and setvalued functions.

In Chapter 6, we consider weak vector equilibrium, vector equilibrium and continuous-time vector equilibrium principles.

One characteristic of the book is that special attention is paid to problems of set-valued and variable ordering nature. To deal with various nonconvex problems with vector objectives, the nonlinear scalarization method has been extensively used throughout the book. Most results of this book are original and should be interesting to researchers and graduates in applied mathematics and operations research. Readers can benefit from new methodologies developed in the book.

We are indebted to Franco Giannessi and Kok Lay Teo for their continuous encouragement and valuable advice and comments on the book. We are thankful to Xinmin Yang and Shengjie Li for their joint research collaboration on some parts of the book. The first draft of the book was typed by Hui Yu, whose assistance is appreciated. We acknowledge that the research of this book has been supported by the National Science Foundation of China and the Research Grants Council of Hong Kong, SAR, China.

Guang-ya Chen, Academy of Mathematics and Systems Science Xuexiang Huang, Chongqing Normal University Xiaoqi Yang, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

# Contents

1	Introduction and Mathematical Preliminaries		
	1.1	Convex Cones and Minimal Points	
	1.2	Elements of Set-Valued Analysis	8
	1.3	Nonlinear Scalarization Functions	12
	1.4	Convex and Generalized Convex Functions	23
	1.5	Notations	32
2	Vec	tor Optimization Problems	37
	2.1	Vector Optimization (VO)	37
	2.2	VO with a Variable Domination Structure	47
	2.3	Characterizations of Solutions for VO	50
	2.4	Continuity of Solutions for VO	60
	2.5	Set-Valued VO with a Fixed Domination Structure	63
	2.6	Set-Valued VO with a Variable Domination Structure	
	2.7	Augmented Lagrangian Duality for VO	
	2.8	Augmented Lagrangian Penalization for VO	88
	2.9	Nonlinear Lagrangian Duality for VO	
	2.10	Nonlinear Penalization for VO	
3	Vec	tor Variational Inequalities	11
	3.1	Vector Variational Inequalities (VVI)	
	3.2	Inverse VVI	
	3.3	Gap Functions for VVI	
	3.4	Set-valued VVI	
	3.5	Stability of Generalized Set-valued Quasi-VVI	
	3.6	Existence of Solutions for Generalized Pre-VVI	
	3.7	Existence of Solutions for Equilibrium Problems	
	3.8	Vector Complementarity Problems (VCP)	
	3.9	VCP with a Variable Domination Structure	

**	~
Y	Contents
A.	COHICHIO

4	Vec	ctor Variational Principles	183
	4.1	Variational Principles for Vector-Valued Functions	184
	4.2	Variational Principles for Set-Valued Functions	201
	4.3	Equivalents of Variational Principles for Vector-Valued	
		Functions	214
	4.4	Equivalents of Variational Principles for Set-Valued Functions.	222
	4.5	Extended Well-Posedness in Vector-Valued Optimization	229
	4.6	Extended Well-Posedness in Set-Valued Optimization	241
5	Vec	ctor Minimax Inequalities	255
	5.1	Minimax Inequalities for Set-Valued Functions	255
	5.2	Minimax Inequalities for Vector-Valued Functions	265
6	Vec	etor Network Equilibrium Problems	271
	6.1	Weak Vector Equilibrium Problem	271
	6.2	Vector Equilibrium Problem	281
	6.3		
Re	ferer	nces	291
Inc	dex .		303

# Introduction and Mathematical Preliminaries

In this chapter, we will present necessary mathematical concepts and results, which will be used in the later chapters. Most of the results can be found in the books: Aubin and Ekeland [5], Aubin and Frankowska [6], Rockafellar and Wets [168], Sawaragi, Nakayama and Tanino [176] and Yu [221]. Some new mathematical concepts and results on nonlinear scalarization functions will also be given.

## 1.1 Convex Cones and Minimal Points

Vector optimization problems (or multiobjective programming problems or multicriteria decision making problems) have close relations with orderings or preferences in objective spaces. It is known that orderings in a vector space can be defined by convex cones.

Let Y be a topological vector space, and  $S \subset Y$  a nonempty subset. The topological interior, topological boundary and topological closure of S are denoted by intS,  $\partial S$  and clS, respectively.

A set  $K \subset X$  is said to be convex if, for any  $x_1, x_2 \in K$ ,  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ , we have  $\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2 \in K$ .

A set C is called a cone if, for any  $\lambda \geq 0, \lambda C \subset C$ .

A set C is called a convex cone if  $C + C \subset C$  and, for any  $\lambda \geq 0, \lambda C \subset C$ .

Let  $B \subset C \setminus \{0\}$  be a subset. B is called a base of C if, for each  $c \in C$ , there exist  $b \in B$  and  $\lambda \geq 0$  such that  $c = \lambda b$ .

A convex cone C in Y is called pointed if

$$C \cap (-C) = \{0\}.$$

An ordering relation  $\prec$  is said to be

- (i) Reflexive if  $x \prec x$ ;
- (ii) Asymmetric if  $x \prec y, y \prec x \Longrightarrow x = y$ ;

# (iii) Transitive if $x \prec y, y \prec z \Longrightarrow x \prec z$ .

An ordering relation is called a partial order if it satisfies reflexive, asymmetric and transitive conditions.

In principle, any nonempty subset C of Y can define an ordering relation by

$$y \le_C z \iff z - y \in C, \quad \forall y, z \in Y.$$

However, only some particular subsets C of Y can define ordering relations with nice and useful properties. In this book, we restrict our attention to two cases: (i) C is a convex cone in Y and (ii) C is a convex subset of Y with  $0 \in \partial C$ . We emphasize that, throughout the book, we will discuss under case (i) unless explicitly stated otherwise.

If C is a convex cone in Y and C defines an ordering relation of Y, then C is called an ordering cone. If C is a pointed and convex cone, then the ordering relation  $\leq_C$  is a partial order. If the interior intC of C is nonempty, we can define a strict ordering relation " $\leq_{intC}$ " in Y as follows: for any  $y, z \in Y$ ,

$$y \leq_{intC} z \iff z - y \in intC.$$

Similarly, we can define an ordering relation " $\geq_C$ " and a strict ordering relation " $\geq_{int}$ C".

By (Y, C), we denote an ordered space with the ordering of Y defined by set C. Suppose that  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . We can define an ordering relation " $\not\leq_{C}$ " and a strict ordering relation " $\not\leq_{intC}$ " as follows: for any  $y, z \in Y$ 

$$y \nleq_C z \iff z - y \nleq_C 0;$$
  
 $y \nleq_{intC} z \iff z - y \notin intC.$ 

Similarly, we can define an ordering relation " $\not\succeq_C$ " and a strict ordering relation " $\not\succeq_{int}C$ ".

We also define the following ordering relations: for any  $y, z \in Y$ ,

$$y \le_{C \setminus \{0\}} z \iff z - y \in C \setminus \{0\},$$
  
 $y \not\le_{C \setminus \{0\}} z \iff z - y \notin C \setminus \{0\}.$ 

Given two subsets of Y, say A and B, the following ordering relationships on sets are defined:

$$A \leq_C B \iff \eta \leq_C \xi, \quad \forall \eta \in A, \ \xi \in B;$$

$$A \leq_{intC} B \iff \eta \leq_{intC} \xi, \quad \forall \eta \in A, \ \xi \in B;$$

$$A \leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} B \iff \eta \leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} \xi, \quad \forall \eta \in A, \ \xi \in B;$$

$$A \not\leq_C B \iff \eta \not\leq_C \xi, \quad \forall \eta \in A, \ \xi \in B;$$

$$A \not\leq_{intC} B \iff \eta \not\leq_{intC} \xi, \quad \forall \eta \in A, \ \xi \in B;$$

$$A \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} B \iff \eta \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} \xi, \quad \forall \eta \in A, \xi \in B.$$

Let A and B be two sets. We denote by  $A \setminus B$  the difference of A and B.

**Lemma 1.1.** Let C be an ordering cone in Y. Then, for any  $a, b, c \in Y$ ,

- (i)  $a \ge_C b \implies a + c \ge_C b + c$ ;
- (ii)  $a \ge_{intC} b \implies a + c \ge_{intC} b + c$ ;
- (iii)  $a \ge_{C\setminus\{0\}} b \Longrightarrow a + c \ge_{C\setminus\{0\}} b + c;$
- (iv)  $a \not\geq_C b \Longrightarrow a + c \not\geq_C b + c$ ;
- (v)  $a \not\geq_{intC} b \Longrightarrow a + c \not\geq_{intC} b + c$ ;
- (vi)  $a \not\geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} b \Longrightarrow a + c \not\geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} b + c$ .

The same is true for  $\leq_C, \leq_{intC}, \leq_{C\setminus\{0\}}, \not\leq_C, \not\leq_{intC}$  and  $\not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}}$  respectively.

**Lemma 1.2.** Let C be a convex ordering cone in Y. Then, for any  $a, b, c \in Y$ ,

- (i)  $a \leq_C b \leq_C c \Longrightarrow a \leq_C c$ ;
- (ii)  $a \leq_C b \leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} c \Longrightarrow a \leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} c$ ;
- (iii)  $a \leq_C b \leq_{intC} c \Longrightarrow a \leq_{intC} c$ ;
- (iv)  $a \not\leq_{intC} b \geq_{intC} c \Longrightarrow a \not\geq_{intC} c$ ;
- (v)  $a \not\leq_{intC} b \geq_C c \Longrightarrow a \not\geq_{intC} c$ ;
- (vi)  $a \not\geq_{intC} b \leq_{intC} c \Longrightarrow a \not\leq_{intC} c$ ;
- (vii)  $a \not\geq_{intC} b \leq_C c \Longrightarrow a \not\leq_{intC} c$ .

Let  $Y^*$  be the topological dual space of Y and C a convex cone of Y. Set

$$C^* = \{ f \in Y^* : \langle f, x \rangle \ge 0, \forall x \in C \},$$

where  $\langle f, x \rangle$  denotes the value of f at x.  $C^*$  is called the dual cone (or positive polar cone) of C. Sometimes, we also use  $C^+$  to denote the dual cone of C.

We set

$$C^{+i} = \{ f \in Y^* : \langle f, x \rangle > 0, \forall x \in C \setminus \{0\} \}.$$

**Proposition 1.3.** [96] Let (Y,C) be an ordered Banach space with  $C \subset Y$  being a convex cone. Consider the following properties that a convex cone  $C \subset Y$  may possess:

- (i) C is a pointed and convex cone:
- (ii) C has a base;
- (iii)  $intC^* \neq \emptyset$ .

Then  $(iii) \Longrightarrow (ii) \Longrightarrow (i)$ ; if Y is some Euclidean space, and C is closed, then all three properties are equivalent.

**Definition 1.4.** Let Y be a topological vector space ordered by a convex cone C in Y or a convex subset C of Y with  $0 \in \partial C$ . Let  $A \subset Y$  be a nonempty set. A point  $y^* \in A$  is called a minimal point of A if

$$(A - y^*) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset;$$

A point  $y^* \in A$  is called a maximal point of A if

$$(A - y^*) \cap (C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset.$$

We denote the set of all minimal points of A and the set of all maximal points of A by  $Min_C A$  and  $Max_C A$ , respectively.

**Definition 1.5.** Let Y be a topological vector space ordered by a convex cone C in Y. Let A be a nonempty subset of Y. A is said to have the lower (upper) domination property if, for each y, there is a point  $y^* \in Min_CA$  (or  $Max_CA$ ) such that  $y \in y^* + C$  (or  $y \in y^* - C$ ).

**Proposition 1.6.** Let Y be a topological vector space ordered by a closed and convex cone C in Y. If  $A \subset Y$  is a nonempty compact set, then A has the lower (upper) domination property, hence  $Min_C A \neq \emptyset$  ( $Max_C A \neq \emptyset$ ).

Thus, we obtain immediately that  $A \subset \operatorname{Min}_C A + C$  (or  $A \subset \operatorname{Max}_C A - C$ ).

**Definition 1.7.** Let  $C \subset Y$  be a convex cone or a convex subset of Y with  $0 \in \partial C$  and  $intC \neq \emptyset$ ,  $A \subset Y$  be a nonempty subset. A point  $y^* \in A$  is called a weakly minimal point of A if

$$A \cap (y^* - intC) = \varnothing.$$

A point  $y^* \in A$  is called a weakly maximal point of A if

$$A \cap (y^* + intC) = \varnothing.$$

We denote the set of all weakly minimal points of A and the set of all weakly maximal points of A by  $Min_{int}CA$  and  $Max_{int}CA$ , respectively.

**Definition 1.8.** Let Y be a topological vector space ordered by a convex cone C or a convex subset C with  $0 \in \partial C$ . Let  $K \subset X$  and  $f : K \to Y$  be a vector-valued function.  $x^* \in K$  is said to be a minimal solution of f on K if

$$(f(K) - f(x^*)) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset.$$

Suppose that  $intC \neq \emptyset$ .  $x^* \in K$  is said to be a weakly minimal solution of f on K if

$$(f(K) - f(x^*)) \cap (-intC) = \emptyset.$$

We denote the set of all minimal solutions of f on K and the set of all weakly minimal solutions of f on K by  $\mathrm{Min}_C(f,K)$  and  $\mathrm{Min}_{int}(f,K)$  respectively.

**Definition 1.9.** Let Y be a topological vector space ordered by a convex cone C or a convex subset C with  $0 \in \partial C$ . Let  $K \subset X$  and  $f: K \to Y$  be a vector-valued function.  $y^* \in K$  is said to be a minimal point of f on K if there is a  $x^* \in Min_C(f, K)$  such that  $y^* = f(x^*)$ .  $y^* \in K$  is said to be a weakly minimal point of f on K if there is a  $x^* \in Min_{int}C(f, K)$  such that  $y^* = f(x^*)$ .

We denote the set of all minimal points of f on K and the set of all weakly minimal points of f on K by  $\operatorname{Min}_C f(K)$  and  $\operatorname{Min}_{int} f(K)$  respectively.

**Definition 1.10.** Let Y be a topological vector space ordered by a convex cone C or a convex subset C with  $0 \in \partial C$ . Let  $K \subset X$  and  $f: K \to Y$  be a vector-valued function.  $x^* \in K$  is said to be a local minimal solution of f on K if there exists a neighborhood  $U(x^*)$  of  $x^*$  such that

$$(f(K \cap U(x^*)) - f(x^*)) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset.$$

Suppose that  $intC \neq \emptyset$ .  $x^* \in K$  is said to be a local weakly minimal solution of f on K if there exists a neighborhood  $U(x^*)$  of  $x^*$  such that

$$(f(K \cap U(x^*)) - f(x^*)) \cap (-intC) = \emptyset.$$

Let  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function (i.e., for every  $y \in Y$ , C(y) is a subset of Y) such that for each  $y \in Y$ , C(y) is a convex cone or a convex set with  $0 \in \partial C(y)$ , for all  $y \in Y$ .

The set-valued function C or the family of sets  $\{C(y): y \in Y\}$  is called a domination structure on Y. The domination structure describes a variable ordering structure or a variable preference structure when dealing with minimal points of a set.

We define relations  $\leq_{C(y)}$ ,  $\not\leq_{C(y)}$ ,  $\leq_{C(y)\setminus\{0\}}$ ,  $\not\leq_{C(y)\setminus\{0\}}$ ,  $\leq_{intC(y)}$ , and  $\not\leq_{intC(y)}$  with respect to the convex cone C(y) as follows: for any  $y_1, y_2 \in Y$ ,

$$y_{1} \leq_{C(y)} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \in C(y);$$

$$y_{1} \nleq_{C(y)} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \notin C(y);$$

$$y_{1} \leq_{C(y)\setminus\{0\}} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \in C(y) \setminus \{0\};$$

$$y_{1} \nleq_{C(y)\setminus\{0\}} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \notin C(y) \setminus \{0\};$$

$$y_{1} \leq_{intC(y)} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \in intC(y);$$

$$y_{1} \nleq_{intC(y)} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \notin intC(y).$$

Similarly, we can define  $\geq_{C(y)}, \not\geq_{C(y)}, \geq_{C(y)\setminus\{0\}}, \not\geq_{C(y)\setminus\{0\}}, \geq_{intC(y)}$ , and  $\not\geq_{intC(y)}$ .

Yu [221] proposed the following solution concepts for vector optimization problems with a variable domination structure.

**Definition 1.11.** Let  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be convex cone valued. Let A be a nonempty subset of Y. A point  $y^* \in A$  is called a nondominated minimal point of A if

$$A \cap (y^* - C(y)) = \{y^*\}, \quad \forall y \in A.$$

We denote the set of all nondominated minimal points of A by  $\operatorname{Min}_{C(y)}A$ . It is clear that a nondominated minimal point of A is a minimal point of A with respect to C(y) for every  $y \in A$ .

**Definition 1.12.** Let A be a nonempty subset of Y. Let  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be convex cone valued with  $intC(y) \neq \emptyset, \forall y \in Y$ . A point  $y^* \in A$  is called a weakly nondominated minimal point of A if

$$A \cap (y^* - intC(y)) = \varnothing, \quad \forall y \in A.$$
 (1.1)

We denote the set of all weakly nondominated minimal points of A by  $\min_{intC(y)}A$ .

Using the ordering notation, (1.1) is equivalent to that, for any  $y_1, y_2 \in A$ , it follows that

$$y_1 \not\leq_{intC(y_2)} y^*$$
.

In fact, Definitions 1.11 and 1.12 deal with a similar "minimal" case as in Definitions 1.4 and 1.7. By the same way, we can define a nondominated maximal point and a weakly nondominated maximal point of A similar to "maximal" in Definitions 1.4 and 1.7.

We propose the following alternative concepts of nondominated minimal points for vector optimization problems with a variable domination structure.

**Definition 1.13.** Let  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be convex set valued or convex cone valued, and int  $C(y) \neq \emptyset, \forall y \in Y$ . Let A be a nonempty subset in Y. A point  $y^* \in A$  is called a nondominated-like minimal point of A, if

$$(A - y^*) \cap (-C(y^*) \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset.$$

A point  $y^*$  is called to be a weakly nondominated-like minimal point of A, if

$$(A - y^*) \cap (-intC(y^*)) = \varnothing.$$

We denote the set of all nondominated-like minimal points of A and the set of all weakly nondominated-like minimal points of A by  $\mathrm{LMin}_{C(y)}A$  and  $\mathrm{LMin}_{intC(y)}A$ , respectively.

The following example shows that the two definitions of weakly nondominated minimal points given in Definitions 1.12 and 1.13 may be different.

Example 1.14. Let  $Y = \mathbb{R}^2$  be a 2-dimensional Euclidean space, and  $A = \{(y_1, y_2)^\top \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 1 \le y_1 \le 2, y_2 = 1\}$ . Let

$$C(y) = \{(d_1, d_2)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^2 : d_2 + kd_1 \ge 0, d_1 \ge 0\},$$

where  $y = (2 - k, 1)^{\top}$ ,  $0 \le k \le 1$ . It is easy to verify that only  $y^1 = (1, 1)^{\top}$  is a weakly nondominated minimal point of A. But, by definition, both  $y_1 = (1, 1)^{\top}$  and  $y_2 = (2, 1)^{\top}$  are weakly nondominated-like minimal points of A.

Let  $C:X\rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that for each  $x\in Y$ , C(x) is a nonempty convex cone or a nonempty convex set with  $0\in\partial C(x)$ , for all  $x\in X$ .

The set-valued function C or the family of sets  $\{C(x) : x \in X\}$  is also called a domination structure on Y. The domination structure describes a variable ordering structure or a variable preference structure in vector optimization problems with an objective function.

We define relations  $\leq_{C(x)}$ ,  $\nleq_{C(x)}$ ,  $\leq_{C(x)\setminus\{0\}}$ ,  $\nleq_{C(x)\setminus\{0\}}$ ,  $\leq_{intC(x)}$ , and  $\nleq_{intC(x)}$  with respect to the convex cone C(x) as follows: for any  $y_1, y_2 \in Y$ ,

$$y_{1} \leq_{C(x)} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \in C(x);$$

$$y_{1} \nleq_{C(x)} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \notin C(x);$$

$$y_{1} \leq_{C(x)\setminus\{0\}} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \in C(x) \setminus \{0\};$$

$$y_{1} \nleq_{C(x)\setminus\{0\}} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \notin C(x) \setminus \{0\};$$

$$y_{1} \leq_{intC(x)} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \in intC(x);$$

$$y_{1} \nleq_{intC(x)} y_{2} \iff y_{2} - y_{1} \notin intC(x).$$

Similarly, we can define  $\geq_{C(x)}$ ,  $\not\geq_{C(x)}\setminus\{0\}$ ,  $\not\geq_{C(x)\setminus\{0\}}$ ,  $\not\geq_{intC(x)}$ , and  $\not\geq_{intC(x)}$ .

**Definition 1.15.** Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be convex set valued with  $0 \in \partial C(x), \forall x \in X$  or convex cone valued. Suppose that  $K \subset X$  and  $f: K \to Y$  is a vector-valued function.  $x^* \in K$  is said to be a nondominated-like minimal solution of f with respect to C(x) if

$$(f(K) - f(x^*)) \cap (-C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset.$$

The set of all nondominated-like minimal solutions of f with respect to C(x) is denoted by  $LMin_{C(x)}f(K)$ .

Suppose that  $intC(x) \neq \emptyset, \forall x \in X. \ x^* \in K$  is said to be a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution of f with respect to C(x) if

$$(f(K) - f(x^*)) \cap (-intC(x^*)) = \emptyset.$$

The set of all weakly nondominated-like minimal solutions of f with respect to C(x) is denoted by  $LMin_{int}C(x)f(K)$ .

**Definition 1.16.** Let (Y, C) be an ordered Hausdorff topological vector space and  $A \subset Y$ . A point  $z \in A$  is called an infimum point of A if,

- (i)  $y \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} z$ ,  $\forall y \in A$  and
- (ii) there exists a sequence  $\{z_k\} \subset A$  such that  $z_k \to z$  as  $k \to \infty$ .

We denote by InfA the set of infimum points of A.

A point  $z \in A$  is called a supremum point of A if,

- (i)  $y \not\geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} z$ ,  $\forall y \in A$  and
- (ii) there exists a sequence  $\{z_k\} \subset A$  such that  $z_k \to z$  as  $k \to \infty$ .

We denote by SupA the set of supremum points of A.

Clearly, if z is a minimal point of A, then z is an infimum point of A.

**Definition 1.17 ([177]).** Let (Y,C) be an ordered vector space, and  $A \subset Y$  be nonempty.  $a_0 \in A$  is called an upper bound of A if  $a_0 \geq_C a$ ,  $\forall a \in A$ . If  $a_0$  is an upper bound of A and  $a_0 \leq_C b$  for any upper bound b of A, then  $a_0$  is unique and called the absolute supremum (least upper bound) of A. We denote  $a_0 = ASup_C A$ . Similarly, we can define the absolute infimum (largest lower bound) of A and denote it by  $AInf_C A$ .

# Definition 1.18 (Luc [142]).

- (i) The cone C is called Daniell if any decreasing sequence having a lower bound converges to its infimum;
- (ii) A subset A of Y is said to be minorized, if there is a  $y \in Y$  such that  $A \subset \{y\} + C$ .

Consider the scalar optimization problem:

(P) 
$$\min_{x \in K} \varphi(x)$$
,

where  $K \subset X$  is a nonempty set and  $\varphi : X \to \mathbb{R}$  is a real-valued function.

(i)  $x^* \in K$  is called an optimal solution of (P) if

$$\varphi(x^*) \le \varphi(x), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

(ii)  $x^* \in K$  is called a local optimal solution of (P) if there exists a neighborhood  $U(x^*)$  of  $x^*$  such that

$$\varphi(x^*) \le \varphi(x), \quad \forall x \in K \cap U(x^*).$$

# 1.2 Elements of Set-Valued Analysis

In this section, we present necessary concepts and results in set-valued analysis. More detailed investigation of set-valued analysis can be found in Aubin and Frankowska [6] and Aubin and Ekeland [5]. Some particular concepts and results of set-valued analysis are presented in the following context.

Let X, Y be two Hausdorff topological spaces and  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  a set-valued function.

**Definition 1.19.** F is said to be closed if its graph

$$Gr(F) = \{(x, y) : x \in X, y \in F(x)\}$$

is closed.

**Definition 1.20.** (i) F is said to be upper semicontinuous (u.s.c. in short) at  $x_0 \in X$  if, for any neighborhood  $V(F(x_0))$  of the set  $F(x_0)$ , there exists a neighborhood  $U(x_0)$  of the point  $x_0$  such that

$$F(x) \subset V(F(x_0)), \quad \forall x \in U(x_0).$$

(ii) F is said to be lower semicontinuous (l.s.c., in short) at  $x_0 \in X$  if, for any  $y \in F(x_0)$  and any neighborhood  $V(y_0)$  of  $y_0$ , there exists a neighborhood  $U(x_0)$  of the point  $x_0$  such that

$$F(x) \cap V(y_0) \neq \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in U(x_0).$$

- (iii) F is said to be continuous at  $x_0$  if F is both u.s.c. and l.s.c. at  $x_0$ .
- (iv) F is said to be continuous on X if it is continuous at every  $x \in X$ .

**Proposition 1.21.** [5] Let X be a topological space and Y a locally convex topological vector space. Suppose that  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function which is u.s.c., nonempty and closed-valued. Then F is closed.

**Definition 1.22.** A set-valued function  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is said to have open lower sections if the set  $F^{-1}(y) = \{x \in X : y \in F(x)\}$  is open in X for every  $y \in Y$ .

**Proposition 1.23 (Tian [192]).** Let X be a topological space and Y a convex set of a topological vector space. Let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  and  $G: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be set-valued functions with open lower sections. Then

- (i) the set-valued function  $M: X \rightrightarrows Y$ , defined by M(x) = co(G(x)) for all  $x \in X$ , has open lower sections;
- (ii) the set-valued function  $Q: X \rightrightarrows Y$ , defined by  $Q(x) = G(x) \cap F(x)$  for all  $x \in X$ , has open lower sections.

**Definition 1.24.** Let  $F:Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function.

- (i) The vector-valued function  $e: Y \to Y$  is said to be a selection of F if  $e(y) \in F(y)$ , for every  $y \in Y$ .
- (ii)  $e: Y \to Y$  is said to be a continuous selection of F if e is a selection of F and e is continuous on Y.

**Theorem 1.25 (Generalized Browder Selection Theorem).** Let K be a nonempty compact subset of a Hausdorff topological vector space, and let V be a subset of a topological vector space. Suppose that  $H: K \rightrightarrows V$  is a set-valued function with nonempty convex values and has open lower sections. Then there exists a continuous selection  $h: K \to V$  of H. Moreover, h(K) is contained in the convex hull of a finite subset  $M \subset V$ .

*Proof.* For each  $v \in V$ ,  $H^{-1}(v)$  is open, and each point  $x \in K$  lies in at least one of these open subsets. Since K is compact, there exists a finite set  $M = \{v_1, \dots, v_k\} \subset V$  such that  $K = \bigcup_{i=1}^k H^{-1}(v_i)$ . Let  $\{\beta_1, \dots, \beta_k\}$  be a partition of unit subordinated to this covering, i.e., each  $\beta_i$  is a continuous function from K to [0,1], which vanishes outside of  $H^{-1}(v_i)$ , while  $\sum_{i=1}^k \beta_i(x) = 1$  for all x in K.

Now, we define the continuous function  $h: K \to co(M)$  by  $h(x) := \sum_{i=1}^k \beta_i(x)v_i$ . Clearly,  $\beta_i(x) > 0$  implies that  $x \in H^{-1}(v_i)$  and therefore  $v_i \in H(x)$ . Thus h(x) is a convex linear combination of points of H(x). Since H(x) is assumed to be convex for each  $x \in K$ , it follows that  $h(x) \in H(x)$ . The theorem is proved.

**Theorem 1.26 (Browder Fixed Point Theorem).** Let K be a nonempty, compact and convex subset of a Hausdorff topological vector space. Suppose  $F:K \rightrightarrows K$  is a set-valued function with nonempty convex values and open lower sections. Then F has a fixed point in K.

**Theorem 1.27 (Fan-Glicksber-Kakutani).** Let K be a nonempty compact subset of a real locally convex Hausdorff vector topological space. If  $F:K \rightrightarrows K$  is upper semi-continuous and, for any  $x \in K$ , F(x) is a nonempty, convex and closed subset, then F has a fixed point in K.

**Definition 1.28.** A nonempty topological space is said to be acyclic if all of its reduced Cech homology groups over the rational vanish.

In particular, any contractible space is acyclic, and hence any convex or star-shaped set in a topological vector space is acyclic.

**Theorem 1.29.** [159] Let K be a compact convex subset of a locally convex Hausdorff topological vector space, and  $F: K \rightrightarrows K$  be an upper semicontinuous set-valued function with nonempty, closed and acyclic values. Then F has a fixed point in K.

Now, we introduce the concepts of the contingent tangent cone of a set and the contingent derivative of a set-valued function.

Let X and Y be two topological vector spaces, and K a nonempty subset of X.

**Definition 1.30.** Let  $\bar{x} \in K$ . The set  $T(K, \bar{x}) \subset X$  is called a contingent tangent cone to K at  $\bar{x}$  if

$$T(K, \bar{x}) = \{x \in X : \exists \{x_k\} \subset X \text{ and } \{h_k\} \subset \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\},$$
  
s.t.  $x_k \to x, h_k \to 0 \text{ and } \bar{x} + h_k x_k \in K, \forall k\}.$ 

We know that (i) if X is a normed space, then  $T(K, \bar{x})$  is closed and (ii) if K is a convex set, then  $T(K, \bar{x})$  is also convex.

Obviously, if  $(X, ||\cdot||)$  is a normed space, then

$$T(K, \bar{x}) = \bigcap_{\epsilon > 0} \bigcap_{\alpha > 0} \bigcap_{0 < h < \alpha} (((K - \bar{x})/h) + \epsilon B),$$

where  $B = \{x \in X : ||x|| = 1\}.$ 

**Definition 1.31.** [6] Let  $G: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function, and let  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  be a point of Gr(G). We denote by  $DG(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  the set-valued function from X to Y whose graph is the contingent tangent cone  $T(Gr(G), (\bar{x}, \bar{y})) \subset X \times Y$ .  $DG(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is called the contingent derivative of G at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ .

It is useful to note that  $y \in DG(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x)$  if and only if there exist  $\{h_k\} \subset \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\}$  and  $\{(x_k, y_k)\} \subset X \times Y$ , such that  $h_k \to 0$ ,  $(x_k, y_k) \to (x, y)$  and  $\bar{y} + h_k y_k \in G(\bar{x} + h_k x_k)$  for all n.

Let X and Y be two Banach spaces. We denote by L(X,Y) the set of all linear continuous operators from X to Y. The value of a linear operator  $f: X \to Y$  at a point x is denoted by  $\langle f, x \rangle$ . For any  $A \in L(X,Y)$ , we introduce a norm

$$||A||_L = \sup\{||A(x)|| : ||x|| \le 1\}.$$

Since Y is a Banach space, L(X,Y) is also a Banach space with the norm  $||\cdot||_L$  (or  $||\cdot||$  in short).

**Definition 1.32.** Let  $f: K \subset X \to L(X,Y)$  be a vector-valued function. f is said to be Fréchet differentiable at  $x_0 \in K$  if there exists a linear continuous operator  $\Phi: X \to L(X,Y)$ , such that

$$\lim_{x \to x_0} \frac{||f(x) - f(x_0) - \Phi(x - x_0)||}{||x - x_0||} = 0.$$

 $\Phi$  is called the Fréchet derivative of f at  $x_0$ . If f is Fréchet differentiable at every x of K, f is said to be Fréchet differentiable on K.

**Definition 1.33.** Let  $f: K \subset X \to Y$  be a vector-valued function. f is said to be Gâteaux differentiable at  $x_0 \in K$  if there exists a linear function  $Df(x_0): X \to Y$  such that, for any  $v \in X$ ,

$$\langle Df(x_0), v \rangle = \lim_{t \searrow 0} \frac{f(x_0 + tv) - f(x_0)}{t}.$$

 $Df(x_0)$  is called the Gâteaux derivative of f at  $x_0$ . If f is Gâteaux differentiable at every x of K, f is said to be Gâteaux differentiable on K.

Theorem 1.34 (Knaster, Kuratowski and Mazurkiewicz (KKM, in short) Theorem). Let E be a subset of a topological vector space V. For each  $x \in E$ , let a closed and convex set F(x) in V be given such that F(x) is compact for at least one  $x \in E$ . If the convex hull of every finite subset  $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_k\}$  of E is contained in the corresponding union  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n F(x_i)$ , then  $\bigcap_{x \in E} F(x) \neq \emptyset$ .

A set-valued  $F: E \rightrightarrows E$  function is called a KKM map if we have  $co\{x_1, \dots, x_k\} \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^k F(x_i)$  for every finite subset  $\{x_1, \dots, x_k\}$  of E.

**Definition 1.35.** Let T be a mapping from X into L(X,Y). T is called v-hemicontinuous if, for every  $x,y \in X$ , the mapping  $t \to \langle T(x+ty),y \rangle$  is continuous at  $0^+$ .

**Definition 1.36.** Let X and Y be topological vector spaces,  $C \subset Y$  be a nonempty convex cone with  $intC \neq \emptyset$  and  $C \neq \{0\}$  or Y. Let  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  be a mapping.

(i) T is called C-monotone, if, for every  $x, y \in X$ ,

$$\langle T(x) - T(y), x - y \rangle \ge_C 0;$$

(ii) T is called strictly C-monotone, if, for every  $x, y \in X$  and  $x \neq y$ ,

$$\langle T(x) - T(y), x - y \rangle \ge_{intC} 0.$$

**Definition 1.37.** Let X and Y be topological vector spaces and  $C \subset Y$  be a convex cone. The set-valued function  $T: X \rightrightarrows L(X,Y)$  is said to be C-monotone if and only if

$$\langle u_2 - u_1, y - x \rangle \ge_C 0$$
,  $\forall x, y \in X, u_1 \in F(x), u_2 \in F(y)$ .

It is clear that any selection of a C-monotone set-valued function is also C-monotone.

**Definition 1.38.** Let X and Y be Banach spaces,  $C \subset Y$  be a convex cone with nonempty interior intC and int $C^* \neq \emptyset$ . Let K be a convex and unbounded subset of X. We say that a mapping  $T: K \to L(X,Y)$  is weakly coercive on K if there exist  $x_0 \in K$  and  $c \in intC^*$  such that

$$\langle c \circ T(x) - c \circ T(x_0), x - x_0 \rangle / ||x - x_0|| \to +\infty,$$

whenever  $x \in K$  and  $||x|| \to +\infty$ .

It is easy to see that if  $Y = \mathbb{R}$ , then  $L(X,Y) = X^*$ ,  $intC^* = \mathbb{R}_+ = \{\alpha \in \mathbb{R} : \alpha > 0\}$ , and the weakly coercive condition reduces a standard coercive condition in "scalar" variational inequality.

## 1.3 Nonlinear Scalarization Functions

A useful approach for analyzing a vector optimization problem is to reduce it to a scalar optimization problem. Nonlinear scalarization functions play an important role in this reduction in the context of nonconvex vector optimization problems.

Let Y be a Hausdorff topological vector space,  $C \subset Y$  a closed and convex cone of Y with nonempty interior intC.

**Definition 1.39.** A function  $\psi: Y \to \mathbb{R}$  is monotone if, for any  $y_1, y_2 \in Y$ ,

$$y_1 \ge_C y_2 \Longrightarrow \psi(y_1) \ge \psi(y_2).$$

A function  $\psi: Y \to \mathbb{R}$  is strictly monotone if, for any  $y_1, y_2 \in Y$ ,

$$y_1 \ge_{intC} y_2 \Longrightarrow \psi(y_1) > \psi(y_2).$$

A function  $\psi: Y \to \mathbb{R}$  is strongly monotone if, for any  $y_1, y_2 \in Y$ ,

$$y_1 \ge_{C \setminus \{0\}} y_2 \Longrightarrow \psi(y_1) > \psi(y_2).$$

The following nonlinear scalarization function is of fundamental importance to our analysis. The original version is due to Gerstewitz [77]. Its first appearance in English seems to be due to Luc [142].

**Definition 1.40.** Given a fixed  $e \in intC$  and  $a \in Y$ , the nonlinear scalarization function is defined by:

$$\xi_{ea}(y) = \min\{t \in \mathbb{R} : y \in a + te - C\}, \quad y \in Y.$$
 (1.2)

**Proposition 1.41.** The function  $\xi_{ea}$  is well-defined, that is, the minimum in (1.2) is attained.

*Proof.* For any  $y \in Y$ , define

$$L=\{\ \lambda\in {\rm I\!R}:\ y\in \lambda e-C\}.$$

It is sufficient to show that L is bounded from below and a closed subset in  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Suppose that

$$\{\lambda_k\} \subset L \text{ and } \lambda_k \to \lambda^*, \quad \text{ as } k \to +\infty.$$

We have

$$\lambda_k e - y \in C, \quad \forall k.$$

By the closedness of C, we have

$$\lambda^* e - y \in C$$
.

It implies that  $\lambda^* \in L$ . Thus, L is closed.

Assume that, for each  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , there exist  $\lambda_r \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\lambda_r < r$  and  $y \in \lambda_r e - C$ . By Lemma 1.51 (ii), there exists  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $y \notin \alpha e - C$ . By Lemma 1.51(iii),

$$y \notin \mu e - C, \quad \forall \mu < \alpha,$$

a contradiction. Thus, L is bounded from below.

If Y is the  $\ell$ -dimensional Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ , and  $C = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ ,  $e = (e_1, e_2, \dots, e_{\ell})^{\top}$ ,  $a = (a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{\ell})^{\top}$ , then the function  $\xi_{ea}$  may be rewritten as

$$\xi_{ea}(y) = \max\{(y_i - a_i)/e_i : 1 \le i \le \ell\}, \text{ for } y = (y_1, y_2, \cdots, y_\ell)^\top.$$

It can be verified that  $\xi_{ea}$  is a continuous and convex function on Y, and it is monotone and strictly monotone.

Remark 1.42. The function  $\xi_{ea}$  plays an important role in many areas of multicriteria, or vector optimization problems. Note, however, that the function  $\xi_{ea}$  is not strongly monotone. It is for this reason that the function  $\xi_{ea}$  is more useful in dealing with weakly minimal points.

**Proposition 1.43.** For any fixed  $e \in intC$ ,  $y \in Y$  and  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

- (i)  $\xi_{e0}(y) < r \iff y \in re intC$ ;
- (ii)  $\xi_{e0}(y) \leq r \iff y \in re C$ ;
- (iii)  $\xi_{e0}(y) = r \iff y \in re \partial C;$
- (iv)  $\xi_{e0}(re) = r$ .

*Proof.* Follows directly from Definition 1.40 of  $\xi_{ea}$ .

Sometimes, we denote  $\xi_{e0}$  by  $\xi_{e}$ .

**Proposition 1.44.** Let  $C = \{y \in Y : f(y) \leq 0, f \in \Gamma\}$ , where  $\Gamma \subset Y^* \setminus \{0\}$ . Assume that  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . Let  $e \in intC$  and  $a \in Y$ . Then, for  $y \in Y$ ,

$$\xi_{ea}(y) = \sup_{f \in \Gamma} \left\{ \frac{f(y) - f(a)}{f(e)} \right\}.$$

*Proof.* Firstly, we prove that, for all  $f \in \Gamma$ , f(e) < 0. Assume to the contrary, i.e., there exists  $f_0 \in \Gamma$  such that  $f_0(e) \ge 0$ . Since  $f_0 \ne 0$  and  $f_0$  is a linear functional, there exists an  $y_0 \in Y$  such that  $f_0(y_0) < 0$ . Observe that  $e \in intC$ . Thus, if  $\alpha > 0$  is small enough, we have  $e - \alpha y_0 \in C$ . It follows from the definition of C that

$$0 \ge f_0(e - \alpha y_0) = f_0(e) - \alpha f_0(y_0) > 0,$$

a contradiction.

Furthermore, since  $y \in a + \xi_{ea}(y)e - C$ ,

$$f(y - \xi_{ea}(y)e - a) \ge 0, \quad \forall f \in \Gamma.$$

Since f is linear,

$$f(y) - \xi_{ea}(y)f(e) - f(a) \ge 0.$$

As f(e) < 0, we have

$$\xi_{ea}(y) \ge \frac{f(y) - f(a)}{f(e)}, \quad \forall f \in \Gamma.$$

Consequently,

$$\xi_{ea}(y) \ge \sup_{f \in \Gamma} \left\{ \frac{f(y) - f(a)}{f(e)} \right\}.$$

Conversely, let

$$t_0 = \sup_{f \in \Gamma} \left\{ \frac{f(y) - f(a)}{f(e)} \right\}.$$

Then

$$\frac{f(y) - f(a)}{f(e)} \le t_0, \quad \forall f \in \Gamma.$$

Observing that f(e) < 0 and that f is linear, we have

$$f(y-a-t_0e) \ge 0, \quad \forall f \in \Gamma,$$

which implies that  $y - a - t_0 e \leq_C 0$  by the definition of C. By the definition of  $\xi_{ea}$ , we have

$$t_0 \ge \xi_{ea}(y) = \min\{t \in \mathbb{R} : y \in a + te - C\}.$$

**Corollary 1.45.** Let  $C := \{ y \in Y : f_i(y) \le 0, f_i \in Y^*, i = 1, 2, \dots, m \}$ . Then

$$\xi_{ea}(y) = \max_{1 \leq i \leq m} \left\{ \frac{f_i(y) - f_i(a)}{f_i(e)} \right\}, \quad \forall y \in Y,$$

$$\xi_{e0}(y) = \max_{1 \le i \le m} \left\{ \frac{f_i(y)}{f_i(e)} \right\}, \quad \forall y \in Y.$$

**Corollary 1.46.** Let  $Y = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and  $C = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+}$ ,  $e = (1, 1, \dots, 1)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . Then, for any  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ ,

$$\xi_{ea}(y) = \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} [y_i - a_i],$$

$$\xi_{e0}(y) = \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} [y_i],$$

*Proof.* In Corollary 1.45, let  $m = \ell$  and  $f_i(y) = -y_i, i = 1, 2, \dots, \ell$ . Thus  $C = \{y \in Y : f_i(y) \leq 0, f_i \in Y^* \setminus \{0\}, i = 1, 2, \dots, \ell\}$ . Then the conclusion follows directly from Corollary 1.45.

**Proposition 1.47.** For  $e \in intC$ ,  $a \in Y$  and  $b \in -C$ ,

$$\xi_{ea}(y-b) \ge \xi_{ea}(y),$$

and the equality holds for  $b \in C \cap (-C)$ .

*Proof.* The conclusions follow directly from the monotonicity of  $\xi_{ea}$ .

Now we introduce a nonlinear scalarization function for a variable domination structure.

Let Y be a locally convex Hausdorff topological vector space. Let  $C:Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function and, for any  $y \in Y$ , C(y) be a proper, closed and convex cone with  $intC(y) \neq \emptyset$  and  $e:Y \to Y$  be a vector-valued function and for any  $y \in X$ ,  $e(y) \in intC(y)$ . Let  $Y^*$  be the dual space of Y, equipped with weak star topology. Let  $C^*:Y \rightrightarrows Y^*$  be defined by

$$C^*(y) = \{ \phi \in X^* : \langle \phi, z \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall z \in C(y) \}, \quad \forall y \in Y.$$

Thus, the set

$$B^*(y) = \{ \phi \in C^*(y) : \langle \phi, e(y) \rangle = 1 \}$$

is a weak star compact base of the cone  $C^*(y)$ .

**Definition 1.48.** The nonlinear scalarization function  $\xi: Y \times Y \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$\xi(y,z) = \min \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{R} : z \in \lambda e(y) - C(y) \}, \quad (y,z) \in Y \times Y.$$

Remark 1.49. (i) Let C be a proper, closed and convex cone in Y with  $intC \neq \emptyset$ , and let  $e \in intC$ . Recall that in Definition 1.40

$$\xi_{e0}(z) = \min\{t \in \mathbb{R} : z \in te - C\}, \quad z \in Y.$$

If, for any  $y \in Y$ , C(y) = C and e(y) = e in Definition 1.48, then  $\xi(y, z)$  reduces to  $\xi_{e0}(z)$ .

(ii) Let  $e \in int \cap_{y \in Y} C(y) \neq \emptyset$ . A nonlinear scalarization function in [42] is defined as

$$\xi_e(y, z) = \inf\{t \in \mathbb{R} : z \in te - C(y)\}.$$
 (1.3)

We note that if for any  $y \in Y$ , e(y) = e, the function  $\xi(y, z)$  reduces to  $\xi_e(y, z)$ . In the new definition of  $\xi(y, z)$  (Definition 1.48), the assumption  $int \cap_{y \in Y} C(y) \neq \emptyset$  is removed.

**Lemma 1.50.** [78] For each  $y \in Y$ ,

$$Y = \bigcup \{ \lambda e(y) - intC(y) : \ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}^+ \setminus \{0\} \}.$$

**Lemma 1.51.** For  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $y \in Y$ , we set  $C_{\lambda}(y) = \lambda e(y) - C(y)$ .

(i) If  $z \in C_{\lambda}(y)$  holds for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $y \in Y$ , then

$$z \in \mu e(y) - intC(y)$$
, for each  $\mu > \lambda$ ;

moreover,

$$z \in \mu e(y) - C(y)$$
, for each  $\mu > \lambda$ .

(ii) For each  $y, z \in Y$ , there exists a real number  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $z \notin C_{\lambda}(y)$ .

(iii) Let  $z \in Y$ . If  $z \notin C_{\lambda}(y)$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $y \in Y$ , then

$$z \notin C_{\mu}(y)$$
, for each  $\mu < \lambda$ .

*Proof.* (i) Let  $\mu > \lambda$  and let  $z \in C_{\lambda}(y)$  hold for some  $y \in Y$ . We have

$$\mu e(y) - z = (\mu - \lambda)e(y) + \lambda e(y) - z \in intC(y) + C(y) \subset intC(y).$$

Thus,

$$z \in \mu e(y) - intC(y) \subset \mu e(y) - C(y).$$

(ii) Let us assume that there exist  $y_0, z_0 \in Y$  such that, for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $z_0 \in C_{\lambda}(y_0)$ . From (i), we have

$$z_0 \in \lambda e(y_0) - intC(y_0)$$
, for all  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Thus,

$$\{\lambda e(y_0) - z_0 : \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset intC(y_0);$$

equivalently,

$$\{-\lambda e(y_0) - z_0 : \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset intC(y_0).$$

From Lemma 1.50, we have

$$Y = \{ \lambda e(y_0) - intC(y_0) : \lambda \in \mathbb{R}^+ \setminus \{0\} \}.$$

Therefore, for each  $y \in Y$ , there exist  $c \in intC(y_0)$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^+ \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$-y = \alpha e(y_0) - c;$$

then,

$$y = -\alpha e(y_0) + c$$
  
=  $(-\alpha e(y_0) - z_0) + c + z_0$   
\(\in \int C(y\_0) + \int C(y\_0) + z\_0\)  
=  $z_0 + int C(y_0).$ 

Thus

$$Y \subset z_0 + intC(y_0).$$

This contradicts  $C(y_0) \neq Y$ .

(iii) Let

$$z \notin C_{\lambda}(y)$$
, for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $y \in Y$ .

Suppose that, for some  $\mu < \lambda$ ,  $z \in C_{\mu}(y)$ . From (ii), we have that  $z \in C_{\lambda}(y)$ . This contradicts the assumption.

**Proposition 1.52.** The function  $\xi: Y \times Y \to \mathbb{R}$  is well defined.

*Proof.* For any  $y, z \in Y$ , define

$$L = \{ \lambda \in \mathbb{R} : z \in \lambda e(y) - C(y) \}.$$

It is sufficient to show that L is bounded from below and a closed subset in  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Suppose that

$$\{\lambda_k\} \subset L \text{ and } \lambda_k \to \lambda^*, \quad \text{as } k \to +\infty.$$

We have

18

$$\lambda_k e(y_0) - z \in C(y), \quad \forall n.$$

By the closedness of C(y), we have

$$\lambda^* e(y) - z \in C(y).$$

It implies that  $\lambda^* \in L$ . Thus, L is closed.

Assume that, for each  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , there exist  $\lambda_r \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\lambda_r < r$  and  $z \in \lambda_r e(y) - C(y)$ . By Lemma 1.51 (ii), there exists  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $z \notin \alpha e(y_0) - C(y)$ . By Lemma 1.51(iii),

$$z \notin \mu e(y) - C(y), \quad \forall \mu < \alpha,$$

a contradiction. Thus, L is bounded from below.

**Proposition 1.53.** For any  $(y, z) \in Y \times Y$ ,

$$\xi(y, z) = \max_{\phi \in B^*(y)} \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle},$$

where  $B^*(y)$  is a base of  $C^*(y)$ .

Proof. We show firstly,

$$\xi(y,z) = \sup\nolimits_{\phi \in C^*(y) \backslash \{0\}} \frac{\langle \phi, \, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}.$$

Since  $\xi(y,z)=\min\{\lambda\in\mathbb{R}:z\in\lambda e(y)-C(y)\},\ z\in\xi(y,z)e(y)-C(y),$  equivalently,

$$\xi(y,z)e(y)-z\in C(y).$$

For any  $\phi \in C^*(y) \setminus \{0\} \subset C^*(y)$ , we have  $\langle \phi, \xi(y, z) e(y) - z \rangle \geq 0$ , equivalently,

$$\xi(y,z)\langle\phi,\ e(y)\rangle - \langle\phi,\ z\rangle \ge 0.$$

Because  $e(y) \in intC(y)$  and  $\phi \in C^*(y) \setminus \{0\}$ , then, we have  $\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle > 0$ . So  $\xi(y,z) \ge \frac{\langle \phi, y \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}$ . That is to say,

$$\xi(y,z) \ge \sup_{\phi \in C^*(y) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}.$$

On the other hand, let

$$\lambda_0 = \sup_{\phi \in C^*(y) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}.$$

So, for any  $\phi \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $\lambda_0 \ge \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}$ . Since  $\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle > 0$ ,  $\lambda_0 \langle \phi, e(y) - z \rangle \ge 0$ . Then,  $\lambda_0 e(y) - z \in C(y)$ , i.e.  $z \in \lambda_0 e(y) - C(y)$ . From the definition of  $\xi$ ,  $\lambda_0 \ge \xi(y, z) = \min\{\lambda \in \mathbb{R} : z \in \lambda e(y) - C(y)\}$ , i.e.,

$$\xi(y,z) \leq \sup_{\phi \in C^*(y) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}.$$

So we have

$$\xi(y, z) = \sup_{\phi \in C^*(y) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}.$$

Since  $B^*(y)$  is the base of  $C^*(y)$  for any  $y \in Y$ ,  $\phi \in C^*(y) \setminus \{0\}$ , there are  $\lambda > 0$ , and  $\varphi \in B^*(y)$  such that  $\phi = \lambda \varphi$ . So for any  $y \in Y$ ,

$$\frac{\langle \phi, y \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle} = \frac{\langle \lambda \varphi, y \rangle}{\langle \lambda \varphi, e(y) \rangle} = \frac{\langle \varphi, y \rangle}{\langle \varphi, e(y) \rangle}.$$

So we have

$$\sup\nolimits_{\phi \in C^{\star}(y) \backslash \{0\}} \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle} = \sup\nolimits_{\phi \in B^{\star}(y)} \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}.$$

i.e.

$$\xi(y, z) = \sup_{\phi \in B^*(y)} \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}.$$

Since  $B^*(y)$  is weak star compact,  $\xi(y,z) = \max_{\phi \in B^*(y)} \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}$ .

**Proposition 1.54.** For each  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $y, z \in Y$ , the following statements are true.

- (i)  $\xi(y, z) < r \iff z \in re(y) intC(y)$ .
- (ii)  $\xi(y, z) \le r \iff z \in re(y) C(y)$ .
- (iii)  $\xi(y, z) \ge r \iff z \notin re(y) intC(y)$ .
- (iv)  $\xi(y,z) > r \iff z \notin re(y) C(y)$ .

(v) 
$$\xi(y, z) = r \iff z \in re(y) - \partial C(y)$$
.

20

*Proof.* We only prove (i). The proofs for other assertions are similar and omitted. Indeed,

$$\begin{split} \xi(y,z) < r &\iff \max_{\phi \in B^*(y)} \frac{\langle \phi,z \rangle}{\langle \phi,e(y) \rangle} < r \\ &\iff \langle \phi,z \rangle < r \langle \phi,e(y) \rangle, \forall \phi \in B^*(y) \\ &\iff \langle \phi,re(y)-z \rangle > 0, \forall \phi \in B^*(y) \\ &\iff \langle \phi,re(y)-z \rangle > 0, \forall \phi \in C^*(y) \backslash \{0\} \\ &\iff re(y)-z \in intC(y) \\ &\iff z \in re(y)-intC(y). \end{split}$$

**Proposition 1.55.** Let Y be a locally convex Hausdorff topological vector space. Then, for any given  $y \in Y$ ,

- (i)  $\xi(y,\cdot)$  is positively homogenous;
- (ii)  $\xi(y,\cdot)$  is strictly monotone, that is, if  $z_1 \geq_{intC(y)} z_2$ , then

$$\xi(y, z_2) < \xi(y, z_1).$$

*Proof.* (i) Let  $\mu > 0$ . For  $z \in Y$ , we have

$$\xi(y, \mu z) = \max_{\phi \in B^*(y)} \frac{\langle \phi, \mu z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}$$
$$= \mu \max_{\phi \in B^*(y)} \frac{\langle \phi, z \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle}$$
$$= \mu \xi(y, z).$$

(ii) Let  $z_1 \geq_{intC(y)} z_2$ . Set  $r = \xi(y, z_1)$ . By the definition of  $\xi(y, z_1)$ , we have

$$z_2 \in z_1 - intC(y) \subset re(y) - C(y) - intC(y) \subset re(y) - intC(y).$$

By Proposition 1.54 (i), we have

$$\xi(y, z_2) < r = \xi(y, z_1).$$

**Proposition 1.56.** For any fixed  $y \in Y$ , and any  $z_1, z_2 \in Y$ ,

(i) 
$$\xi(y, z_1 + z_2) \le \xi(y, z_1) + \xi(y, z_2)$$
;

(ii) 
$$\xi(y, z_1 - z_2) \ge \xi(y, z_1) - \xi(y, z_2)$$
.

Proof. (i)

$$\begin{split} \xi(y, z_1 + z_2) &= \max_{\phi \in B^*(y)} \frac{\langle \phi, z_1 + z_2 \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle} \\ &\leq \max_{\phi \in B^*(y)} \frac{\langle \phi, z_1 \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle} + \max_{\phi \in B^*(y)} \frac{\langle \phi, z_2 \rangle}{\langle \phi, e(y) \rangle} \\ &= \xi(y, z_1) + \xi(y, z_2). \end{split}$$

(ii) It follows from (i) that

$$\xi(y, z_1) = \xi(y, z_1 - z_2 + z_2) \le \xi(y, z_1 - z_2) + \xi(y, z_2).$$

Then,  $\xi(y, z_1) - \xi(y, z_2) \leq \xi(y, z_1 - z_2)$ . This implies that (ii) holds.

**Theorem 1.57.** Let Y be a locally convex Hausdorff topological vector space, and let  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that for each  $y \in Y$ , C(y) is a proper, closed, convex cone in Y with  $intC(y) \neq \emptyset$ . And let  $e: Y \to Y$  be a continuous selection of the set-valued function  $intC(\cdot)$ . Define a set-valued function  $W: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  by  $W(y) = Y \setminus intC(y)$ , for  $y \in Y$ . We have

- (i) If W is upper semi-continuous, then  $\xi(\cdot,\cdot)$  is upper semi-continuous on  $Y \times Y$ :
- (ii) If C is upper semi-continuous, then  $\xi(\cdot,\cdot)$  is lower semi-continuous on  $Y \times Y$ .

*Proof.* (i) In order to show that  $\xi(\cdot, \cdot)$  is upper semi-continuous, we must check, for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , the set

$$A:=\{(y,z)\in Y\times Y: \xi(y,z)\geq r\}$$

is closed. Let  $(y_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}) \in A$  and  $(y_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}) \to (y_0, z_0)$ . We have  $\xi(y_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}) \geq r$ , that is to say, by Proposition 1.54 (iii), that

$$z_{\alpha} \notin re(y_{\alpha}) - intC(y_{\alpha}).$$

Namely,  $re(y_{\alpha}) - z_{\alpha} \in Y \setminus intC(y_{\alpha}) = W(y_{\alpha})$ . Since  $e(\cdot)$  is continuous on Y,  $(re(y_{\alpha}) - z_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \to (re(y_0) - z_0, y_0)$ . Since W is upper semi-continuous and closed-valued, by Proposition 1.21, W is closed. So  $re(y_0) - z_0 \in W(y_0)$ . Namely,  $z_0 \notin re(y_0) - intC(y_0)$ . By Proposition 1.54 (iii), it is equivalent to  $\xi(y_0, z_0) \geq r$ . So, A is closed, i.e.,  $\xi(\cdot, \cdot)$  is upper semi-continuous on  $Y \times Y$ .

(ii) In order to show  $\xi(\cdot,\cdot)$  is lower semi-continuous, we must check, for any  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , the set

$$B:=\{(y,z)\in Y\times Y: \xi(y,z)\leq r\}$$

is closed. Let  $(y_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}) \in B$  and  $(y_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}) \to (y_0, z_0)$ . We have  $\xi(y_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}) \leq r$ , it is to say, by Proposition 1.54 (ii),

$$z_{\alpha} \in re(y_{\alpha}) - C(y_{\alpha}).$$

Since  $e(\cdot)$  is continuous on Y,  $(re(y_{\alpha}) - z_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \to (re(y_0) - z_0, y_0)$ . Since  $C(\cdot)$  is upper semi-continuous and closed-valued, by Proposition 1.21, C is closed. So  $re(y_0) - z_0 \in C(y_0)$ . Namely,  $z_0 \in re(y_0) - C(y_0)$ . By Proposition 1.54 (ii), it is equivalent to  $\xi(y_0, z_0) \leq r$ . So, B is closed, i.e.,  $\xi(\cdot, \cdot)$  is lower semi-continuous on  $Y \times X$ .

- Remark 1.58. (i) If Y is a paracompact space, and  $intC^{-1}(x) = \{y \in Y : x \in intC(y)\}$  is an open set and for each  $y \in Y$ ,  $intC(y) \neq \emptyset$  and C(y) is convex, by the Browder continuous selection theorem,  $intC(\cdot)$  has a continuous selection  $e(\cdot)$ .
- (ii) If  $e \in int \cap_{y \in Y} C(y)$ , we could let, for any  $y \in Y$ , e(y) = e. The function e is also continuous.

The following examples are to show that if C (W, respectively) is not upper semi-continuous, then  $\xi(\cdot,\cdot)$  is not lower semi-continuous (upper semi-continuous, respectively) even if all the other conditions of Theorem 1.57 are satisfied.

Example 1.59. Let  $Y = \mathbb{R}^2$ , the 2-dimensional Euclidean space. Let

$$A = cone(\{(y_1, y_2)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y_1 + y_2 = 2, \frac{1}{2} \le y_1 \le \frac{3}{2}\}),$$

$$B = cone(\{(y_1, y_2)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y_1 + y_2 = 2, 0 \le y_1 \le \frac{3}{2}\}),$$

$$C = cone(\{(y_1, y_2)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y_1 + y_2 = 2, \frac{1}{2} \le y_1 \le 2\}).$$

The set-valued map  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  is defined by

$$C((y_1, y_2)^{\top}) = \begin{cases} A, & \text{if } y_1 = 0; \\ B, & \text{if } y_1 > 0; \\ C, & \text{if } y_1 < 0. \end{cases}$$

Thus,

$$W((y_1, y_2)^{\top}) = \begin{cases} Y \backslash intA, & \text{if } y_1 = 0; \\ Y \backslash intB, & \text{if } y_1 > 0; \\ Y \backslash intC, & \text{if } y_1 < 0. \end{cases}$$

Let  $e = (1, 1)^{\top}$  and for any  $y = (y_1, y_2)^{\top} \in Y$ , e(y) = e.

Note that for any  $y \in Y$ ,  $intC(y) \neq \emptyset$  and  $e \in intC(y)$ . We also note that  $W(\cdot)$  is upper semi-continuous, so  $\xi(\cdot, \cdot)$  is upper semi-continuous on  $Y \times Y$ . But  $C(\cdot)$  is not upper semi-continuous. Note that the level set of the function  $\xi$  at 0,

$$\begin{split} L(\xi,0) &= \{ ((y_1,y_2)^\top,(z_1,z_2)^\top) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2 : \xi((y_1,y_2)^\top,(z_1,z_2)^\top) \leq 0 \} \\ &= (\{(y_1,y_2)^\top \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y_1 = 0\} \times (-A)) \cup \\ &\quad (\{(y_1,y_2)^\top \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y_1 > 0\} \times (-B)) \\ &\quad \cup (\{(y_1,y_2)^\top \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y_1 < 0\} \times (-C)), \end{split}$$

is not a closed set. That is to say,  $\xi(\cdot,\cdot)$  is not lower semi-continuous.

Example 1.60. Let  $Y = \mathbb{R}^2$ , the 2-dimensional Euclidean space. Let

$$A = cone(\{(y_1, y_2)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y_1 + y_2 = 2, \frac{1}{2} \le y_1 \le \frac{3}{2}\}),$$
  
$$B = cone(\{(y_1, y_2)^{\top} \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y_1 + y_2 = 2, 0 \le y_1 \le 2\}),$$

The set-valued map  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  is defined by

$$C((y_1, y_2)^{\top}) = \begin{cases} B, & \text{if } y_1 = 0; \\ A, & \text{if } y_1 \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

Then,

$$W((y_1, y_2)^{\mathsf{T}}) = \begin{cases} Y \backslash intB, & \text{if } y_1 = 0; \\ Y \backslash intA, & \text{if } y_1 \neq 0. \end{cases}$$

Let  $e = (1, 1)^{\top}$  and for any  $y = (y_1, y_2)^{\top} \in Y$ , e(y) = e.

Note that for any  $y \in Y$ ,  $intC(y) \neq \emptyset$  and  $e \in intC(y)$ . We also note that  $C(\cdot)$  is upper semi-continuous, so  $\xi(\cdot, \cdot)$  is lower semi-continuous on  $Y \times Y$ . But  $W(\cdot)$  is not upper semi-continuous. Note that the strict level set of the function  $\xi$  at 0,

$$L_s(\xi, 0) = \{ ((y_1, y_2)^\top, (z_1, z_2)^\top) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R}^2 : \xi((y_1, y_2)^\top, (z_1, z_2)^\top) < 0 \}$$
  
=  $(\{(y_1, y_2)^\top \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y_1 = 0\} \times (-intB)) \cup$   
 $(\{(y_1, y_2)^\top \in \mathbb{R}^2 : y_1 \neq 0\} \times (-intA))$ 

is not an open set. That is to say,  $\xi(\cdot,\cdot)$  is not upper semi-continuous.

# 1.4 Convex and Generalized Convex Functions

In this section, we introduce some concepts of (generalized) convexity for vector-valued and set-valued functions.

Let X,Y be two topological vector spaces,  $C\subset Y$  a convex cone with nonempty interior intC.

**Definition 1.61.** (i) A set  $A \subset Y$  is said to be C-bounded below if there exists b such that  $A \subset b + C$ .

(ii) A set  $A \subset Y$  is said to be C-bounded above if there exists b such that  $A \subset b - C$ .

(iii) A is said to be C order bounded if A is both C-bounded below and C-bounded above.

(iv) A set  $A \subseteq Y$  is said to be strongly C-bounded below if there exists  $b \in -C$  such that  $A \subset b + intC$ .

(v) A set  $A \subset Y$  is said to be C-convex if A + C is a convex set.

Let  $K \subset X$  be a nonempty subset, and let  $f: K \to Y$  be a vector-valued function. We denote the C-epigraph of f by

$$epi_C f = \{(x, y) \in K \times Y : x \in K, y \in f(x) + C\}.$$

**Definition 1.62.** Let  $K \subset X$  be a convex set and  $f : K \to Y$  be a vector-valued function, K a nonempty convex subset of Y.

(i) f is C-convex on K if, for any  $x_1, x_2 \in K, \lambda \in [0, 1]$ ,

$$f(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) \le_C \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2),$$

i.e.,

24

$$f(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) \in \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2) - C;$$

(ii) f is strictly C-convex on K if, for any  $x_1, x_2 \in K, x_1 \neq x_2, \lambda \in [0, 1]$ ,

$$f(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) \leq_{intC} \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2),$$

i.e.,

$$f(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) \in \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2) - intC;$$

(iii) f is C-quasiconvex on K if, for  $y \in Y$ ,  $x_1, x_2 \in K$ ,  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ ,

$$f(x_1), f(x_2) \in y - C \text{ implies } f(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) \in y - C;$$

(iv) f is strictly C-quasiconvex, if, for  $y \in Y$ ,  $x_1, x_2 \in K$ ,  $x_1 \neq x_2$ ,  $\lambda \in (0,1)$ ,

$$f(x_1), f(x_2) \in y - C$$
 implies  $f(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) \in y - intC$ .

Definition 1.62 is a generalization of the convexity and quasiconvexity of real-valued functions, respectively.

 $f: K \to Y$  is called a C-concave function on K if -f is C-convex on K. Similarly, we can define the strict C-concavity and (strict) C-quasiconcavity of vector-valued functions.

**Proposition 1.63.** Let K be a nonempty convex subset of X. Assume that f is Gâteaux differentiable on K. Let Y be a Hausdorff topological space ordered by a closed and convex cone C. If f is C-convex on K, then, for every  $x, y \in K$ ,

$$f(y) \ge_C f(x) + \langle Df(x), y - x \rangle,$$

where Df(x) is the Gâteaux derivative of f at x.

*Proof.* Let f be Gâteaux differentiable on K. If f is C-convex on K, then for any  $x, y \in K$ , and  $t \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$f(ty + (1-t)x) \in tf(y) + (1-t)f(x) - C,$$

$$f(x + t(y - x)) \in tf(y) + (1 - t)f(x) - C,$$

i.e.,

$$f(y) \in f(x) + \frac{f(x + t(y - x)) - f(x)}{t} + C.$$

As  $t \to 0+$ , we have

$$f(y) \ge_C f(x) + \langle Df(x), y - x \rangle.$$

Similarly, we have

**Proposition 1.64.** Let K be a nonempty convex subset of X. Assume that f is Gâteaux differentiable on K. Let Y be a Hausdorff topological space ordered by a closed and convex cone C. If f is C-concave on K, then, for every  $x, y \in K$ ,

$$f(y) \leq_C f(x) + \langle Df(x), y - x \rangle.$$

**Definition 1.65.** Let C be a closed, convex and pointed cone in Y with the nonempty interior intC, K be a closed and convex subset of X. Let  $x, y \in K$ , and  $t \in (0,1)$ . A set-valued function  $F: K \rightrightarrows Y$  is said to be:

- (i) Type I C-convex iff,  $F(tx + (1-t)y) \subset tF(x) + (1-t)F(y) C$ ;
- (ii) Type II C-convex iff,  $tF(x) + (1-t)F(y) \subset F(tx+(1-t)y) + C$ ;
- (iii) Type I C-concave iff,  $tF(x) + (1-t)F(y) \subset F(tx + (1-t)y) C$ ;
- (iv) Type II C-concave iff,  $F(tx+(1-t)y) \subset tF(x)+(1-t)F(y)+C$ ;

Remark 1.66. It is not difficult to see that

- (i) F is type I C-convex iff, -F is type II C-concave;
- (ii) F is type II C-convex iff, -F is type I C-concave.

If F is a single-valued function, then both type I and type II convexity (concavity, respectively) are equivalent to the usual C-convexity (usual C-concavity, respectively).

**Proposition 1.67 (Luc [142]).** f is C-convex if and only if  $epi_C f$  is a convex set. Moreover, assuming that Y is separated and C is closed, f is C-convex if and only if  $\varphi \circ f$  is a convex function for every  $\varphi \in C^*$ .

We denote the level set of f at a point  $y \in Y$  by  $Lev_f(y)$ , i.e.,

$$Lev_f(y) = \{x \in X : f(x) \in y - C\}.$$

Proposition 1.68 (Luc [142]). The following statements hold:

- (i) f is C-quasiconvex if and only if  $Lev_f(y)$  is convex for each  $y \in Y$ ;
- (ii) f is C-quasiconvex if and only if  $\xi_{ea} \circ f$  is quasiconvex for a fixed  $e \in intC$  and every  $a \in Y$ , where  $\xi_{ea}(y) = min\{t \in \mathbb{R} : y \in a + te C\}, y \in Y$ .

**Definition 1.69.** Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be closed convex cone valued,  $K \subset X$  a nonempty convex set and  $f: K \to Y$ . f is said to be C(x)-convex if, for any  $x_1, x_2 \in K$ ,  $\lambda \in [0,1]$ , there holds

$$f(\lambda x_1 + (1-\lambda)x_2) \leq_{C(\lambda x_1 + (1-\lambda)x_2)} \lambda f(x_1) + (1-\lambda)f(x_2).$$

The C(x)-epigraph of f is defined by

$${\rm epi}_{C(x)} f = \{(x,y) \in K \times Y : x \in K, y \in f(x) + C(x)\}.$$

**Definition 1.70.** Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be convex cone valued. C is said to be a convex process if,

- (i) for any  $x_1, x_2 \in X$ ,  $C(x_1) + C(x_2) \subset C(x_1 + x_2)$ ;
- (ii) for any  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $x \in X$ ,  $C(\lambda x) = \lambda C(x)$ .

**Proposition 1.71.** If the C(x)-epigraph of f is convex, then f is C(x)-convex. On the other hand, if f is C(x)-convex and  $C:X\rightrightarrows Y$  is a convex process, then the C(x)-epigraph of f is convex.

*Proof.* Assume that the C(x)-epigraph of f is convex. Let  $(x_1, f(x_1))$  and  $(x_2, f(x_2)) \in \operatorname{epi}_{C(x)} f$  and  $0 \le \lambda \le 1$ . Then  $\lambda(x_1, f(x_1)) + (1 - \lambda)(x_2, f(x_2)) \in \operatorname{epi}_{C(x)} f$ , i.e.,  $(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2, \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2)) \in \operatorname{epi}_{C(x)} f$ . Thus it holds that

$$f(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) \le_{C(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2)} \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2).$$

So, f is C(x)-convex.

On the other hand, assume that f is C(x)-convex. Let  $(x_1, y_1), (x_2, y_2) \in \operatorname{epi}_{C(x)} f$ . and  $0 \le \lambda \le 1$ . Then

$$y_1 - f(x_1) \in C(x_1)$$
 and  $y_2 - f(x_2) \in C(x_2)$ .

Thus

$$\lambda(y - f(x_1)) + (1 - \lambda)(y_2 - f(x_2)) \in \lambda C(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)C(x_2).$$

Since C(x) is a convex process, we have

$$\lambda C(x_1) + (1-\lambda)C(x_2) \subset C(\lambda x_1 + (1-\lambda)x_2).$$

Thus

$$\lambda y_1 + (1 - \lambda)y_2 - \lambda f(x_1) - (1 - \lambda)f(x_2) \in C(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2).$$

It follows from the C(x)-convexity of f that

$$\lambda y_1 + (1 - \lambda)y_2 - f(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) \in C(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2).$$

So 
$$(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2, \lambda y_1 + (1 - \lambda)y_2) \in \operatorname{epi}_{C(x)} f$$
.

**Proposition 1.72.** Let Y be a Banach space. Let K be a nonempty convex subset of X. Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be closed, covex cone valued and upper semicontinuous. Assume that f is Gâteaux differentiable on K. If f is C(x)-convex on K, then, for every  $x, y \in K$ ,

$$f(y) \ge_{C(x)} f(x) + \langle Df(x), y - x \rangle.$$

*Proof.* By C(x)-convexity of f, we have

$$f(ty + (1-t)x)) \in tf(y) + (1-t)f(x) - C(ty + (1-t)x).$$

That is,

$$f(y) \in f(x) + \frac{f(x+t(y-x)) - f(x)}{t} + C(ty + (1-t)x).$$

Let  $t \to 0$ , it follows from the closedness of C(x) and the u.s.c. of C that

$$f(y) \in f(x) + \langle Df(x), y - x \rangle + C(x).$$

**Definition 1.73.**  $f: K \to Y$  is called C-convexlike on K if, for any  $x_1, x_2 \in K$  and any  $\lambda \in (0,1)$ , there exists  $x_3 \in K$  such that

$$\lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2) - f(x_3) \in C;$$

f is called C-subconvexlike on K if there exists a  $\theta \in intC$  such that, for any  $x_1, x_2 \in K$ , any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists  $x_3 \in K$  satisfying

$$\epsilon\theta + \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2) - f(x_3) \in C.$$

Remark 1.74. It is not necessary for K to be convex in Definition 1.73. Suppose that K is a convex subset of a topological vector space. It is clear that C-convexity implies C-convexlikeness, and, in turn, C-convexlikeness implies C-subconvexlikeness. Moreover, for each point  $c \in Y$ ,  $f(\cdot) + c$  is C-subconvexlike if and only if f is C-subconvexlike (see Jeyakumer [119]).

**Definition 1.75 (Yang [201]).**  $f: K \to Y$  is said to be generalized C-subconvexlike on K if there exists a  $\theta \in intC$  such that, for any  $x_1, x_2 \in X$  and any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exist  $x_3 \in K$  and  $\eta > 0$  satisfying

$$\epsilon\theta + \lambda f(x_3) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_3) - \eta f(x_3) \in C.$$

**Proposition 1.76.** The following statements are equivalent:

- (i) f is generalized C-subconvexlike on K;
- (ii) cone(f(K)) + intC is convex;
- (iii) for any  $\theta \in intC$ , any  $x_1, x_2 \in K$  and any  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ , there exist  $x_3 \in K$  and  $\eta > 0$  such that

$$\theta + \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_3) - \eta f(x_3) \in intC.$$

*Proof.* First, we show that (i)  $\Rightarrow$  (ii). Let

$$A = cone(f(K)) + intC, \quad y_1, y_2 \in A, \ \lambda \in (0, 1).$$

Then, there exist  $\alpha_i \ge 0$ ,  $x_i \in K$ , and  $s_i \in intC$ , i = 1, 2, satisfying

$$y_i = \alpha_i f(x_i) + s_i, \quad i = 1, 2.$$

Set

$$\bar{y} = \lambda y_1 + (1 - \lambda)y_2 = \lambda \alpha_1 f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)\alpha_2 f(x_2) + s_0$$

where  $s_0 = \lambda s_1 + (1-\lambda)s_2 \in intC$ . Thus we can find a symmetric neighborhood U of the null element of Y such that  $s_0 + U \subset intC$ . If  $\alpha_1 = 0$  or  $\alpha_2 = 0$ , then obviously  $\bar{y} \in A$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $\alpha_1 > 0$  and  $\alpha_2 > 0$ . Set

$$\alpha = \lambda \alpha_1 + (1 - \lambda)\alpha_2, \quad \beta = (\lambda \alpha_1)/\alpha.$$

Then  $\beta \in (0,1)$  and

$$\bar{y} = \alpha(\beta f(x_1) + (1 - \beta)f(x_2)) + s_0.$$
 (1.4)

By the definition of generalized C-subconvexlikeness, there exists  $\theta \in intC$  such that, for the above  $\beta \in (0,1)$ ,  $x_1, x_2 \in K$ , and any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , we can find  $x_3 := x_3(\beta, x_1, x_2, \varepsilon) \in K$  and  $\eta := \eta(\beta, x_1, x_2, \varepsilon) > 0$  satisfying

$$\bar{k} := \varepsilon \theta + \beta f(x_1) + (1 - \beta)f(x_2) - \eta f(x_3) \in C. \tag{1.5}$$

Since U is absorbing and symmetric, we can select an  $\varepsilon > 0$  small enough such that  $-\varepsilon\alpha\theta \in U$ , so that

$$s_0 - \varepsilon \alpha \theta \in s_0 + U \subset intC.$$
 (1.6)

By (1.4) - (1.6), we obtain

$$\bar{y} = \alpha \bar{k} + \alpha \eta f(x_3) + (s_0 - \varepsilon \alpha \theta)$$
  
 $\in C + cone(f(K)) + intC$   
 $\subset cone(f(K)) + intC = A.$ 

Therefore, A is convex.

Next, we show that (ii)  $\Longrightarrow$  (iii). Let  $\theta \in intC$ ,  $x_1, x_2 \in K$ ,  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ . Obviously,

$$f(x_i) + \theta \in cone(f(K)) + intC, \quad i = 1, 2.$$

Since cone(f(K)) + intC is convex, we have also

$$\bar{y} := \theta + \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2)$$

$$= \lambda (f(x_1) + \theta) + (1 - \lambda)(f(x_2) + \theta)$$

$$\in cone(f(K)) + intC.$$

This implies that there exist  $x_3 \in K$  and  $\alpha \geq 0$  such that

$$\bar{y} \in \alpha f(x_3) + intC.$$

If  $\alpha \neq 0$ , then, take  $\eta = \alpha$ , the proof for (ii)  $\Longrightarrow$  (iii) is completed.

If  $\alpha = 0$ , then  $\bar{y} \in intC$ . Thus, there is a symmetric neighborhood V of the null element of Y such that

$$\bar{y} + V \subset intC$$
.

Since V is absorbing and symmetric, for arbitrarily fixed  $x_3 \in K$ , we can find an  $\eta > 0$  small enough such that  $-\eta f(x_3) \in V$ . Hence

$$\bar{y} - \eta f(x_3') \in \bar{y} + V \subset intC.$$

So (ii) 
$$\Longrightarrow$$
 (iii).

Finally, we show that (iii)  $\Longrightarrow$  (i). Suppose that the condition (iii) holds, and  $\bar{\theta}$  is a given point in intC. Let  $\theta = \varepsilon \bar{\theta}$ . For any  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,  $\theta \in intC$ , by the condition (iii), for any  $x_1, x_2 \in K$ , and  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ , and any  $\varepsilon > 0$ , there exist  $x_3 \in K$  and  $\eta > 0$  such that

$$\theta + \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2) - \eta f(x_3) \in intC.$$

Thus, f is a generalized C-subconvexlike vector-valued function on K.

Example 1.77. Let  $K = \{(1,0)^{\top}, (0,1)^{\top}\} \subset \mathbb{R}^2, C = \mathbb{R}^2_+$ , and let  $f = I : K \to \mathbb{R}^2$  be the identity vector-valued function. Obviously,

$$cone(f(K)) + intC = int\mathbb{R}^2_+,$$

which is a convex subset in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . By Proposition 1.76, f is a generalized C-subconvexlike vector-valued function on K. But

$$f(K) + intC = K + int\mathbb{R}^2_+$$

is not convex. f is not C-subconvexlike on K.

**Proposition 1.78.** f is C-subconvexlike on K if and only if the set f(K) + intC is convex.

*Proof.* The proof of this proposition is similar to that of Proposition 1.76 and thus omitted.

When  $Y = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ , Proposition 1.78 can be found in Li and Wang [138].

**Theorem 1.79 (Gordan-Form Alternative Theorem).** Let  $K \subset X$  be a nonempty subset, and let C be a closed, convex and pointed cone with nonempty interior intC. If f is generalized C-subconvexlike on K, then exactly one of the following statements is true:

- (i) there exists  $\bar{x} \in K$  such that  $f(\bar{x}) \leq_{intC} 0$ ;
- (ii) there exists  $\mu \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\langle \mu, f(x) \rangle \geq 0$ , for any  $x \in K$ .

*Proof.* Obviously, (i) and (ii) cannot hold simultaneously. Otherwise, a contradiction is introduced. In fact, we have  $0 > \langle \mu, f(\bar{x}) \rangle \ge 0$ .

Suppose that (i) is not true. Then,

$$0 \notin cone(f(K)) + intC.$$

In fact, assume that

$$0 \in cone(f(K)) + intC.$$

There exist  $\bar{x} \in K$  and  $\alpha \geq 0$  such that  $0 \in \alpha f(\bar{x}) + intC$  and  $\alpha > 0$ , since  $0 \notin intC$ . Thus

$$-f(\bar{x}) \in (1/\alpha)intC \subset intC$$
,

i.e.,  $f(\bar{x}) \leq_{intC} 0$ . This is a contradiction.

By Proposition 1.76, cone(f(K)) + intC is a convex set with a nonempty interior. By the separation theorem for convex sets, there exists  $\mu \in Y^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$\langle \mu, \alpha f(x) + s \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall \alpha \ge 0, x \in K, s \in intC.$$

Setting  $\alpha = 0$ , we obtain

$$\langle \mu, s \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in intC.$$

Thus,

$$\langle \mu, s \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall s \in C,$$

i.e.,  $\mu \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$ . Also, setting  $\alpha = 1$ , we obtain

$$\langle \mu, f(x) + s \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in K, s \in intC.$$

Letting  $s \to 0$ , we have

$$\langle \mu, f(x) \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

so that (ii) holds. The proof is thus completed.

Now, we define the generalized convexity of set-valued functions.

**Definition 1.80.** Let  $X_0$  be a nonempty convex subset of X and  $F: X_0 \rightrightarrows Y$  a set-valued function.

(i) F is said to be properly quasi C-convex on  $X_0$  if, for any  $x_1, x_2 \in X_0$  and  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ ,

either 
$$F(x_1) \subset F(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) + C$$
,  
or  $F(x_2) \subset F(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) + C$ .

(ii) F is said to be naturally quasi C-convex on  $X_0$  if, for any  $x_1, x_2 \in X$  and  $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ ,

$$F(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2) \subset co(F(x_1) \cup F(x_2)) - C,$$

where co(A) denotes the convex hull of A.

Similarly, we can define the proper quasi C-concavity and natural quasi C-concavity.

Remark 1.81. Definition 1.80 is a generalization of the concepts of proper quasi C-convexity and natural quasi C-convexity for vector-valued functions in Ferro [71] and Tanaka [188]. Note that if  $Y = \mathbb{R}$  and  $C = \mathbb{R}_+$ , then both proper quasi C-convexity and natural quasi C convexity reduce to the ordinary quasiconvexity for real-valued functions.

**Proposition 1.82.** Let  $F: X_0 \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function and  $X_0$  a nonempty convex subset. If F is naturally quasi C-convex, then, for given  $e \in intC$  and  $a \in Y$ ,  $\xi_{ea} \circ F$  is naturally quasi  $R_+$ -convex. If F is properly quasi C-convex, then, for given  $e \in intC$  and  $a \in Y$ ,  $\xi_{ea} \circ F$  is properly quasi  $R_+$ -convex.

*Proof.* We prove only the first conclusion of the proposition. Take any  $x_1, x_2 \in X_0$ ,  $\lambda \in [0,1]$  and  $y \in F(\lambda x_1 + (1-\lambda)x_2)$ . By the natural quasi C-convexity of F, there exist  $y_i \in F(x_1) \cup F(x_2)$  and  $\alpha_i \geq 0, i = 1, 2, \dots, k$  and  $c \in C$  such that  $\sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i = 1$  and  $y = \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i y_i - c$ . Therefore

$$\xi_{ea}(y) = \xi_{ea}(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i y_i - c).$$

Since  $\xi_{ea}$  is a convex and monotone function, we have

$$\xi_{ea}(y) \in \sum_{i=1}^{k} \alpha_i \xi_{ea}(y_i) - \mathbb{R}_+$$
$$\subset co\{\xi_{ea} \circ F(x_1) \cup \xi_{ea} \circ F(x_2)\} - \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Thus,  $\xi_{ea} \circ F$  is naturally quasi  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -convex.

**Definition 1.83.** Let X be a convex subset of a topological vector space and Y be a Hausdorff topological vector space. Let  $F: X \times X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function. Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function. Given any finite subset  $\Lambda = \{x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_k\}$  in X and any  $x \in co\{x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_k\}$ ,

(i) F is said to be strongly type I C-diagonally quasi-convex (SIC-DQC, in short) in the second argument if, for some  $x_i \in \Lambda$ ,

$$F(x,x_i)\subset C(x);$$

(ii) F is said to be strongly type II C-diagonally quasi-convex (SIIC-DQC, in short) in the second argument if, for some  $x_i \in \Lambda$ ,

$$F(x, x_i) \cap C(x) \neq \emptyset;$$

(iii) F is said to be weakly type I C-diagonally quasi-convex (WIC-DQC, in short) in the second argument if, for some  $x_i \in \Lambda$ ,

$$F(x, x_i) \cap -intC(x) = \varnothing;$$

(iv) F is said to be weakly type II C-diagonally quasi-convex (WIIC-DQC, in short) in the second argument if, for some  $x_i \in \Lambda$ ,

$$F(x, x_i) \not\subseteq -intC(x)$$
.

Remark 1.84. When  $Y = \mathbb{R}$ ,  $C(x) = \mathbb{R}_+$  for any  $x \in X$ , and  $F: X \times X \to Y$  is a single-valued function, the above four kinds of C-diagonal quasi-convexities reduce to r-diagonal quasi-convexity for a single-valued function in Zhou and Chen [224].

It is easy to verify the following proposition.

**Proposition 1.85.** If, for each  $x \in X$ , C(x) is a pointed, closed and convex cone in Y, then the following statements hold:

- (i) SIC-DQC implies SIIC-DQC;
- (ii) SIC-DQC implies WIC-DQC;
- (iii) WIC-DQC implies WIIC-DQC.

### 1.5 Notations

The following notations will be used in the later chapters.

## Spaces

IR: the real line

 $\mathbb{R}^m$ : real m-dimensional space

 $\mathbb{R}^m_+$ : the nonnegative orthant of  $\mathbb{R}^m$ 

(X, D): ordered decision space (Y, C): ordered objective space (Z, P): ordered constraint space

#### (X,d): metric space

#### Vectors

 $x^{\mathsf{T}}$ : the transpose of a vector x  $x^{\top}y$  or xy: the standard inner product of vectors x and y ||x||: the norm of x  $x \geq_C y$ ,  $x \geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} y$ ,  $x \geq_{intC} y$ ,  $x \not\geq_C y$ ,  $x \not\geq_{intC} y$ : the orderings induced by C

#### **Functions**

 $\varphi: X \to \mathbb{R}$ : a scalar function  $f: X \to Y$ : a vector valued function with domain X and range Y  $f \circ q$  or f(q): composition of functions f and q  $\nabla f$  or Df: derivative of f $f^{-1}$ : the inverse of f  $F:X \rightrightarrows Y$ : a set-valued function DF: contingent derivative of a set-valued function F $D_eF$ : contingent epideriative of a set-valued function F $D_qF$ : generalized contingent epideriative of a set-valued function F d(x, D): distance function from vector x to set D haus(A, B) Hausdorff distance between sets A and B  $\xi_{ea}, \xi_{e}, \xi$ : nonlinear scalarization functions

#### Sets

 $\in$ ,  $\notin$ : element membership  $\subset$ ,  $\subseteq$ ,  $\not\subset$ : set inclusion 0: empty set  $\cup$ ,  $\cap$ ,  $\times$ : union, intersection, Cartesian product  $A \backslash B$ : the difference of sets A and B  $A^c$ : the complement of set A intC: the interior of a set C $\partial C$ : the boundary of a set C clC: the closure of a set C $B_r$ : the closed ball centered at 0 with radius r in a normed space B(x,r): the closed ball centered at x with radius r in a normed space  $Y^*$ : the dual space of space Y L(X,Y): the set of all the continuous linear operators from topological vector space X to topological vector space Y $C^*$  or  $C^+$ : the dual cone of C  $Min_C A$ : the set of minimal points of A  $Max_CA$ : the set of maximal points of A  $Min_{int}CA$ : the set of weakly minimal points of A

 $Max_{int}CA$ : the set of weakly maximal points of A

 $\operatorname{Min}_{C(y)}A$ : the set of minimal points of A with respect to the variable domination structure C(y)

 $\operatorname{Max}_{C(y)}A$ : the set of maximal points of A with respect to the variable domination structure C(y)

 $\operatorname{Min}_{intC(y)}A$ : the set of weakly minimal points of A with respect to the variable domination structure C(y)

 $\operatorname{Max}_{intC(y)}A$ : the set of weakly maximal points of A with respect to the variable domination structure C(y)

 $\operatorname{LMin}_{C(y)}A$ : the set of nondominated-like minimal points of A with respect to the variable domination structure C(y)

 $LMax_{C(y)}A$ : the set of nondominated-like maximal points of A with respect to the variable domination structure C(y)

 $\operatorname{LMin}_{intC(y)}A$ : the set of weakly nondominated-like minimal points of A with respect to the variable domination structure C(y)

 $LMax_{intC(y)}A$ : the set of weakly nondominated-like maximal points of A with respect to the variable domination structure C(y)

 $\operatorname{LMin}_{intC(x)}f(S)$ : the set of weakly nondominated-like minimal points of f over S with respect to the variable domination structure C(x)

 $LMax_{int}C(x)f(S)$ : the set of weakly nondominated-like maximal points of f over S with respect to the variable domination structure C(x)

 $epi_C f$ : the epigraph of function f

 $Lev_f(y)$ : the level set of function f

co(A): the convex hull of set A

cone(A): the cone generated by set A

T(K,x) the contingent tangent cone of K at  $x \in clK$ 

 $\mathsf{ASup}_C A$ : the absolute supremum of set A with respect to C

 $AInf_CA$ : the absolute infimum of set A with respect to C

 $\operatorname{Sup}_{C}A$  the set of suprema of set A with respect to C

 $Inf_C A$ : the set of infima of set A with respect to C

U(x): a neighborhood of point x

Dom(F): the domain of function F

Gr(F): the graph of function F

Range(F): the range of function F $D_C^{w+}$ : weak C-dual cone of cone D

 $D_C^{s+}$ : strong C-dual cone of cone D

PM(K,C): the set of Benson's proper minimal points

argmin(X, J): the set of weakly minimal solutions of the vector optimization problem (X, J)

 $\partial^w f$  : the set of weak subgradients of the vector-valued function f

#### **Problems**

Let X, (Y, C), (Z, P) be spaces,  $K \subset X, f : X \to Y, F : X \rightrightarrows Y$ .

```
(VOP): \operatorname{Min}_C f(x), where B = \{x \in X : g(x) \leq_P 0, x \in K\}
    (VOPV): Min_{C(x)} f(x), where B = \{x \in X : g(x) \leq_P 0, x \in K\} and
C:X\rightrightarrows Y
    (VUP): \operatorname{Min}_C f(x)
    (VOK): \operatorname{Min}_C f(x)
               x \in K
    (VOKV): \operatorname{Min}_{C(x)} f(x), where C: X \rightrightarrows Y
    (\text{VUP}_{\mu}): \underset{x \in X}{\min} \langle \mu, f(x) \rangle
(\text{VMP}) : \underset{x \in X}{\min} \langle \mu, f(x) \rangle
    (VMP): \operatorname{Min}_C f(x), where Q = \{x \in X : g(x) \leq_P 0\}
    (VPL): \operatorname{Min}_C L(x,T), where L(x,T)=f(x)+T(g(x)) and T\in L(Z,Y)
    (VDL): \operatorname{Max}_C \bigcup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T), where \Phi(T) = PM(L(X,T),C)
    (SOK): \operatorname{Min}_{C} F(x)
              x \in K
    (SOKV): \operatorname{Min}_{C(x)} F(x), where C: X \rightrightarrows Y
    (PVOP): constrained paramteric vector optimization problem
    (WVVI): weak vector variational inequality problem
    (VVI): vector variational inequality problem
    (GVVI): generalized (general) vector variational inequality problem
    (GWVVI): generalized weak vector variational inequality problem
    (SWVVI): set-valued weak vector variational inequality problem
    (GPVVI): generalized vector pre-variational inequality problem
    (GPQVVI): generalized vector pre-quasi-variational inequality problem
    (VEQ<sub>1</sub>): vector equilibrium problem
    (GVQVI): generalized vector quasivariational inequality problem
    (GVQVI)_w: perturbed GVQVI problem induced by parameter w
    (DGVVI): dual general vector variational inequality
    (VCP): (weak) vector complementarity problem
    (PVCP): positive vector complementarity problem
    (SVCP): strong vector complementarity problem
    (WMEP): weak (vector) minimal element problem
    (VUMP): vector unilateral minimization problem
```

# **Vector Optimization Problems**

The concept of nondominated solution with variable domination structure was introduced by Yu [221]. This is a generalization of the minimal solution in multicriteria decision making problems. Various theories of nondominated solutions with variable domination structure were established in Yu [221], Tanino and Sawaragi [190].

It is worth noting that the solution concept with variable orderings in Yu [221] is given in the sense that a candidate point is guaranteed to be optimal only if it is not dominated by any other reference point with respect to their corresponding ordering. As such not much progress has been made in this direction. In Chen [25], another kind of nondominated solutions with variable domination structure was given with respect to the ordering of the candidate point in the context of vector variational inequalities. The related concept of nondominated solutions with variable domination structure in the context of vector optimization was given in Section 1.1.

In this chapter we consider three kinds of vector optimization problems, i.e., the problem with a fixed domination structure, the problem with a variable domination structure and the problem with a set-valued function. We investigate optimality conditions, characterizations and topological properties of solutions for these problems. In particular, we investigate weak duality, strong duality and exact penalization of vector optimization problems in terms of augmented Lagrangian and nonlinear Lagrangian.

# 2.1 Vector Optimization (VO)

In this section, we investigate firstly the case where the domination structure is a convex set but it is not necessarily a convex cone. The need for such an extension comes from the fact that there exists a large class of problems where, if we insist that the domination structure be a convex cone, then it must be  $\{0\}$ . In this case each feasible solution will be nondominated, and our analysis will become useless.

Suppose that Y is a Banach space and  $C \subset Y$  is nonempty and convex with  $0 \in \partial C$  and  $intC \neq \emptyset$ .

Let  $S \subset Y$ . For any  $c \in C \setminus \{0\}$ , we set

$$S(c) = \{ y + \beta c : \beta \ge 0, y \in S \}.$$

Clearly, if S is convex, then S(c) is a convex set and, for any set  $S \subset Y$ ,  $S \subset S(c)$ . We have the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.1.** Let  $S \subset Y$  be a convex set, C a nonempty open convex set satisfying  $0 \in \partial C$ . Then, for any point  $c \in C$ , we have

$$Min_C S = Min_C S(c)$$
.

*Proof.* It is obvious that  $c \neq 0$  since  $0 \in \partial C$ , C is open and  $c \in C$ . Let  $y^* \in Min_C S$ . Suppose that  $y^* \notin Min_C S(c)$ . Then, there exist  $y_0 \in S$  and  $\beta_0 \geq 0$  such that

$$y_0 + \beta_0 c - y^* \in -C. \tag{2.1}$$

Since  $y^* \in Min_C S$ , we see that

$$(S - y^*) \cap -C = \emptyset. \tag{2.2}$$

By the standard separation theorem for convex sets, we obtain  $\varphi \in Y^* \setminus \{0\}$  and  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\varphi(y - y^*) \le r, \quad \forall y \in S$$
 (2.3)

and

$$\varphi(c') \ge r, \quad \forall c' \in -C.$$
(2.4)

Taking  $y = y^*$  in (2.3), we have

$$r \ge 0. \tag{2.5}$$

Setting  $y = y_0$  in (2.3), we obtain

$$\varphi(y_0 - y^*) \le r. \tag{2.6}$$

The combination of (2.1) and (2.4) yields

$$\varphi(y_0 - y^*) + \beta_0 \varphi(c) \ge r.$$

Again, using (2.4), we have

$$\varphi(y_0 - y^*) \ge r + \beta_0 \varphi(-c) \ge r + \beta_0 r. \tag{2.7}$$

(2.7) together with (2.3) gives us

$$\beta_0 r \le 0. \tag{2.8}$$

From (2.1) and (2.2), we deduce that

$$\beta_0 > 0. \tag{2.9}$$

It follows from (2.8) and (2.9) that

$$r \le 0. \tag{2.10}$$

By (2.5) and (2.10), we have r = 0. Thus, (2.3) and (2.4) become

$$\varphi(y - y^*) \le 0, \quad \forall y \in S$$
 (2.11)

and

$$\varphi(c') \ge 0, \quad \forall c' \in -C.$$
(2.12)

Now, we prove from (2.12) that

$$\varphi(c') > 0, \quad \forall c' \in -C.$$
 (2.13)

Suppose to the contrary that there exists a  $c' \in -C$  such that  $\varphi(c') = 0$ . As  $\varphi \neq 0$ , there exists  $\bar{y} \in Y$  such that  $\varphi(\bar{y}) > 0$ . From  $c' \in -C$ , we see that there exists a real number  $\alpha > 0$  such that  $c' - \alpha \bar{y} \in -C$ . By (2.12), we should have

$$0 \le \varphi(c' - \alpha \bar{y})$$
  
=  $\varphi(c') - \alpha \varphi(\bar{y})$   
=  $-\alpha \varphi(\bar{y}) < 0$ ,

a contradiction. So (2.13) holds. Using (2.1) and (2.13), we have

$$\varphi(y_0 - y^*) > 0,$$

contradicting (2.11). This proves that  $Min_CS \subset Min_CS(c)$ . In what follows, we show that  $Min_CS \supset Min_CS(c)$ . Let  $y^* \in Min_CS(c)$ . Then,

$$(S(c) - y^*) \cap -C = \emptyset. \tag{2.14}$$

Since  $S \subset S(c)$ , it follows that

$$(S - y^*) \cap -C = \emptyset. \tag{2.15}$$

Assume that  $y^* = y_1 + \beta_1 c$  with  $y_1 \in S$  and  $\beta_1 \geq 0$ . If  $\beta_1 = 0$ , then  $y^* = y_1 \in S$ . This together with (2.15) implies that  $y^* \in Min_C S$ . Suppose that  $\beta_1 > 0$ . By (2.14) and the separation theorem for convex sets, we have  $\varphi_1 \in Y^* \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $r_1 \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\varphi_1(y - y_1 - \beta_1 c) \le r_1, \quad \forall y \in S(c). \tag{2.16}$$

and

$$\varphi_1(c'') \ge r_1, \quad \forall c'' \in -C.$$
(2.17)

From (2.16), we have

$$r_1 > 0$$
.

Now we show that  $r_1 = 0$ . Otherwise, by  $0 \in \partial C$ , we can choose a sequence  $\{c_k\} \subset -C$  such that  $c_k \to 0$ . Thus, from (2.17), we have

$$0 = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \varphi_1(c_k) \ge r_1 > 0,$$

a contradiction. Arguing as in the first half of the proof, we can further show by contradiction that

$$\varphi_1(c'') > 0, \quad \forall c'' \in -C.$$
 (2.18)

On the other hand, setting  $y = y_1$  in (2.16), we obtain

$$\varphi_1(-\beta_1 c) \leq 0$$
,

contradicting (2.18) since  $-\beta_1 c \in -C$ . The proof is complete.

**Lemma 2.2.** Let C be a nonempty, open and convex set of Y with  $0 \in \partial C$  and  $y \in intT(C, 0)$ . Then

$$\{\alpha y: 0 < \alpha \le 1\} \cap C \ne \emptyset.$$

*Proof.* If the conclusion is not true, then  $\{\alpha y : 0 < \alpha \le 1\} \cap C = \emptyset$ . Set  $L = \{\alpha y : 0 < \alpha \le 1\}$ . By the separation theorem for convex sets, there exist a continuous linear function  $\psi \in Y^* \setminus \{0\}$ , and  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\psi(y) \ge r$$
, if  $y \in C$ ,

$$\psi(y) \le r$$
, if  $y \in L$ .

Showing as in the proof of the second part of Proposition 2.1, we can prove that r = 0. Thus,

$$\psi(y) \ge 0$$
, if  $y \in C$ ,

$$\psi(y) \le 0$$
, if  $y \in L$ .

Since  $y \in intT(C,0)$ , there exist an open ball  $N(y) \subset intT(C,0)$  and  $y_0 \in N(y)$ , such that  $\psi(y_0) < \psi(y)$ . Hence, there exist a sequence  $\{y_k\} \subset C, y_k \to 0$  and a sequence of nonnegative real numbers  $\{\alpha_k\}$  with the limit  $+\infty$ , such that  $y_0 = \lim_{k \to \infty} \alpha_k(y_k)$  and  $\psi(y_0) = \lim_{k \to 0} \psi(\alpha_k y_k)$ . Since  $\psi(y_k) \geq 0$ , for all k, we have  $\psi(y_0) \geq 0$ . On the other hand, it follows from  $y \in L$  and  $\psi(y) \leq 0$  that  $\psi(y_0) < \psi(y) \leq 0$ . This leads to a contradiction. Thus  $L \cap C \neq \emptyset$ .

**Theorem 2.3.** Let S be a convex subset of Y, C a nonempty, open and convex set of Y with  $0 \in \partial C$ . Then

$$Min_C S = Min_{intT(C,0)} S.$$

*Proof.* Let  $y_0 \in \text{Min}_{intT(C,0)}S$ . Then  $(y_0 - intT(C,0) \cup \{0\}) \cap S = \{y_0\}$ . Since  $y_0 - C \cup \{0\} \subset y_0 - intT(C,0) \cup \{0\}$  and  $y_0 \in S$ , it follows that

$$(y_0 - C \cup \{0\}) \cap S = \{y_0\}.$$

That is,  $y_0 \in \text{Min}_C S$ . Hence  $\text{Min}_{intT(C,0)} S \subset \text{Min}_C S$ .

On the other hand, let  $y_0 \in \text{Min}_C S$ . Without loss of generality, we can suppose that  $y_0 = 0$ . Thus, we suppose that  $(-C \cup \{0\}) \cap S = \{0\}$ . We will prove that  $(-intT(C,0) \cup \{0\}) \cap S = \{0\}$ . Suppose that  $y_1 \in (-intT(C,0) \cup \{0\}) \cap S$  and  $y_1 \neq 0$ . Then  $y_1 \in -intT(C,0) \cap S$ . Set

$$L = \{y : y = \alpha y_1, 0 < \alpha \le 1\}.$$

By Lemma 2.2, we have  $L \cap (-C) \neq \emptyset$ . Let  $y' \in L \cap (-C)$ . Then  $y' \neq 0$ . Since  $y_1 \in S$  and S is a convex set,  $L = (0, y_1] \subset S$  and  $(0, y'] \subset S$ . Thus  $y' \in (-C) \cap S$ . This contradicts that  $(-C \cup \{0\}) \cap S = \{0\}$ . Thus we obtain

$$(-intT(C,0) \cup \{0\}) \cap S = \{0\}.$$

Suppose that X, Y, and Z are Banach spaces over  $\mathbb{R}$ , f maps from X into Y and g maps from X into Z. Let  $C \subset Y$  be a nonempty convex subset with  $0 \in \partial C$ ,  $P \subset Z$  a closed and convex cone and  $K \subset X$  a convex set.

We consider the vector constrained optimization problem:

(VOP) 
$$\min_{x \in B} f(x),$$

where  $B = \{x \in X : g(x) \leq_P 0, x \in K\}.$ 

Remark 2.4. If  $T \in L(X, Z)$ ,  $z_0 \in Z$ , then the problem

$$Min_C\{f(x): T(x)=z_0\},\$$

with affine constraints, may be obtained from the problem (VOP) for K = X,  $P = \{0\}$  and  $g(x) = T(x) - z_0$ ,  $\forall x \in X$ .

**Theorem 2.5.** Let C be a convex subset of Y with  $0 \in \partial C$  and  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . For the vector optimization problem (VOP), the following results hold:

(i) Suppose that there exists a continuous linear functional  $\varphi \in Y^*$ , satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$ , for all  $c \in C \setminus \{0\}$ , such that  $\bar{x} \in B$  is an optimal solution of the following optimization problem  $P(\varphi)$ :

$$\min_{x \in B} \varphi(f(x)).$$

Then  $\bar{x}$  is a nondominated minimal solution of the problem (VOP).

(ii) Let f(B) be a convex set of Y and  $\bar{x}$  a nondominated minimal solution of the problem (VOP). Then there exists a continuous linear functional  $\varphi \in Y^*$  satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all  $c \in intC$ , such that  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of the problem  $P(\varphi)$ .

*Proof.* (i) If  $\bar{x}$  is not a nondominated minimal solution of (VOP), then there exist  $c \in C \setminus \{0\}$  and  $x \in B$  such that  $f(\bar{x}) - f(x) = c$ . Thus, we have

$$\varphi(f(\bar{x})) = \varphi(f(x)) + \varphi(c).$$

Since  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all  $c \in C \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $\varphi(f(\bar{x})) > \varphi(f(x))$ . This contradicts the fact that  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of  $P(\varphi)$ .

(ii) Let  $\bar{x}$  be a nondominated minimal solution of (VOP). We have

$$(f(\bar{x}) - C \cup \{0\}) \cap f(B) = \{f(\bar{x})\}.$$

Since  $0 \in \partial C$ , we have

$$(f(\bar{x}) - intC) \cap f(B) = \varnothing.$$

By the separation theorem for convex sets, there exist  $\varphi \in Y^* \setminus \{0\}$  and  $r \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\varphi(v) \le r \text{ if } v \in f(\bar{x}) - intC,$$
  
 $\varphi(u) > r \text{ if } u \in f(B).$ 

Thus,

$$\phi(f(\bar{x}) - c) \le \phi(f(x)), \quad \forall x \in B, c \in intC.$$

As  $0 \in \partial C$  and  $intC \neq \emptyset$ , we can choose a sequence  $\{c_k\} \subset intC$  such that  $c_k \to 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Consequently,

$$\phi(f(\bar{x}) - c_k) \le \phi(f(x)), \quad \forall x \in B, k.$$

Passing to the limit as  $k \to \infty$ , we obtain

$$\phi(f(\bar{x})) \le \phi(f(x)), \quad \forall x \in B.$$

That is,  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of  $P(\phi)$ .

Furthermore, since  $f(\bar{x}) \in f(B)$ , for every  $c \in intC$  and  $v = f(\bar{x}) - c$ , we have

$$r \ge \varphi(f(\bar{x}) - c) = \varphi(f(\bar{x})) - \varphi(c) \ge r - \varphi(c).$$

Thus  $\varphi(c) \geq 0$ , for all  $c \in intC$ . Arguing as in the second part of the proof of Proposition 2.1, we can show that  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all  $c \in intC$ . The proof is complete.

In what follows, we need the standard Lagrange multiplier theorem for a scalar optimization problem with operatorial convex constraints, which can be found in Barbu and Procparu [9].

Assume that  $P \subset Z$  is a closed and convex cone with nonempty interior intP. Let  $h: X \to \mathbb{R}$  be a convex function and  $g: X \to Z$  be P-convex and  $K \subset X$  be convex. Consider the scalar convex programming problem:

(CP) 
$$\min h(x)$$
  
s.t.  $x \in K$ ,  
 $g(x) \leq_P 0$ .

**Theorem 2.6.** Consider the scalar convex programming problem (CP). Suppose that the Slater constraint qualification holds: there exists  $x_0 \in K$  such that  $g(x_0) \in -intP$ . Then  $x^* \in K$  is an optimal solution of (CP) if and only if there exists  $u^+ \in P^+$  such that

$$h(x^*) + u^+(g(x^*)) \le h(x) + u^+(g(x)), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

We establish now characterizations of a solution for the problem (VOP) in terms of Lagrange multipliers . Suppose that  $P \subset Z$  is a closed and convex cone with the nonempty interior intP, and  $K \subset X$  is a convex set. Let  $g: X \to Z$  be P-convex.

**Theorem 2.7.** Let f(B) be a convex subset of Y. Assume that there exists a point  $x_0 \in B$  such that  $g(x_0) \in -intP$ . Let  $\bar{x}$  be a nondominated minimal solution of (VOP). Then there exist  $\varphi \in Y^*$  satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all  $c \in intC$  and a continuous linear vector-valued function  $M: Z \to Y$  such that  $M(P) \subset intT(C,0) \cup \{0\}$ ,  $M \circ g(\bar{x}) = 0$  and

$$\varphi(f(\bar{x}) + M \circ g(\bar{x})) \le \varphi(f(x) + M \circ g(x)), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\bar{x}$  is a nondominated minimal solution of (VOP). By Theorem 2.5(ii), there exists  $\varphi \in Y^*$  satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all  $c \in intC$ , such that

$$\varphi(f(\bar{x})) = \min_{x \in B} \varphi(f(x)).$$

Theorem 2.6 guarantees that there exists  $u^+ \in P^+$  with  $u^+(g(\bar{x})) = 0$  and

$$\varphi(f(\bar{x})) \le \varphi(f(x)) + u^+(g(x)), \ \forall x \in K.$$

Choose  $\bar{c} \in intC$ . Let the vector-valued function  $M: Z \to Y$ , be defined by  $M(z) = u^+(z)\bar{c}/\varphi(\bar{c})$ . Since  $u^+(z) \geq 0$  for all  $z \in P$  and  $\varphi(\bar{c}) > 0$ ,  $M(P) \subset intT(C,0) \cup \{0\}$ ,  $M \circ g(\bar{x}) = 0$  and M is a continuous linear vector-valued function. Since  $u^+(g(\bar{x})) = 0$  and  $\varphi(M \circ g(x)) = \varphi(u^+(g(x))\bar{c}/\varphi(\bar{c})) = u^+(g(x))$ , we have

$$\varphi(f(\bar{x}) + M \circ g(\bar{x})) \le \varphi(f(x) + M \circ g(x)), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

**Corollary 2.8.** Let  $C \subset Y$  be a nonempty open and convex set with  $0 \in \partial C$ . Let the conditions of Theorem 2.7 hold. Then there exists a continuous linear vector-valued function  $M: Z \to Y$ , such that  $M(P) \subset intT(C,0) \cup \{0\}$ ,  $M \circ g(\bar{x}) = 0$  and  $\bar{x}$  is a nondominated minimal solution of the unconstrained vector optimization problem:

$$\min_{x \in K} (f(x) + M \circ g(x)).$$

*Proof.* By Theorem 2.7 and in view of C = intC, there exists a continuous linear vector-valued function  $M: Z \to Y$ , such that  $M(P) \subset intT(C,0) \cup \{0\}$ ,  $M \circ g(\bar{x}) = 0$  and

$$\varphi(f(\bar{x}) + M \circ g(\bar{x})) \le \varphi(f(x) + M \circ g(x)), \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where  $\varphi \in Y^*$  satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all  $c \in C$ . By Theorem 2.5(i),  $\tilde{x}$  is a nondominated minimal solution of the following unconstrained problem:

$$\operatorname{Min}_{C}(f(x) + M \circ g(x)).$$

We establish now the Kuhn-Tucker condition for the problem (VOP). Assume that  $f: X \to Y$ ,  $g: X \to Z$  are Fréchet differentiable vector-valued functions and g is P-convex.

**Definition 2.9.** The generalized constraint qualification condition is said to hold at  $\bar{x}$ , if there exists a closed and convex cone  $G \subset X$  such that  $G \cap K \subset T(B, \bar{x})$ , where

$$K = \{ h \in X : g'(\bar{x})(h) \in P(-P, g(\bar{x})) \}$$
 (2.19)

and  $P(-P, g(\bar{x}))$  is the closed and convex hull of  $T(-P, g(\bar{x}))$ .

Let

$$H = \{ u^{+}(g'(\bar{x})) : u^{+} \in P^{+}(-P, g(\bar{x})) \}.$$
 (2.20)

We have the following relation between K and H.

**Proposition 2.10.** Let K and H be defined by (2.19) and (2.20), respectively. Then  $clH = K^+$ .

*Proof.* First we prove that  $clH \subset K^+$ . Clearly, we need only to show that  $H \subset K^+$ . Let  $u^+ \in P^+(-P, g(\bar{x}))$  and  $u^+(g'(\bar{x})) \in H$ . Then,  $u^+(v) \ge 0, \forall v \in P(-P, g(\bar{x}))$ . Now suppose that  $h \in K$ . Then,  $g'(\bar{x})(h) \in P(-P, g(\bar{x}))$ . It follows that  $u^+(g'(\bar{x})(h)) \ge 0$ , or,  $(u^+(g'(\bar{x}))(h) \ge 0$ . That is,  $u^+(g'(\bar{x})) \in K^+$ . Now we prove that  $K^+ \subset clH$ . Let  $h_1 \in K^+$ . Then

$$h_1(h) \ge 0$$
, for any  $h$  satisfying  $g'(\bar{x})(h) \in P(-P, g(\bar{x}))$ . (2.21)

Suppose that  $h_1 \notin clH$ . Since clH is a closed and convex cone, there exists  $h_2 \in Z^*$  such that

$$h_2(v_1) \ge 0, \quad \forall v_1 \in H \tag{2.22}$$

and

$$h_2(h_1) < 0. (2.23)$$

By (2.22), we have

$$u^+(g'(\bar{x})(h_2)) \ge 0, \quad \forall u^+ \in P^+(-P, g(\bar{x})).$$

Thus,

$$g'(\bar{x})(h_2) \in [P^+(-P, g(\bar{x}))]^+ = P(-P, g(\bar{x})).$$

By (2.21), we have  $h_2(h_1) \ge 0$ , contradicting (2.23). So  $h_1 \in clH$ .

**Definition 2.11.** Assume that the generalized constraint qualification condition holds at  $\bar{x}$ . H(G) is said to hold if

- (i)  $K^+ + G^+$  is closed,
- (ii) H is closed.

**Proposition 2.12.** Let C be a convex subset of Y with  $0 \in \partial C$ , S be a subset of Y and  $y_0 \in S$  a nondominated minimal point of S. Then

$$T(S, y_0) \cap (-intC) = \varnothing.$$

Proof. Suppose that  $y \in T(S, y_0) \cap (-intC)$ . Since  $0 \notin intC$ ,  $y \neq 0$ . There exist a sequence  $\{y^k\} \subset S$  with limit  $y_0$  and a sequence of nonnegative real numbers  $\{\alpha_k\}$ , such that  $\lim_{k\to\infty} \alpha_k (y^k - y_0) = y$ . Since y is an interior point of -C, there exist an open ball  $N(y) \subset -intC$  and a positive integer number  $\bar{k}$ , such that if  $k \geq \bar{k}$  we have  $\alpha_k (y^k - y_0) \in N(y)$ . Choose  $k_0 \geq \bar{k}$ , such that  $\alpha_{k_0} \geq 1$  and  $y^{k_0} \neq y_0$  (since  $y \neq 0$  and  $\alpha_k \to +\infty$ , such a  $k_0$  can be chosen.) Thus there exists  $c_0 \in intC$  such that  $\alpha_{k_0}(y^{k_0} - y_0) = -c_0$ ,  $y_0 - y^{k_0} = c_0/\alpha_{k_0}$ . Since  $0 \in \partial C$  and C is a convex set, we have

$$(0, c_0] = \{c = \alpha c_0 : 0 < \alpha \le 1\} \subset intC.$$

Thus  $c_0/\alpha_{k_0} \in intC$ . This contradicts the fact that  $y_0$  is a nondominated minimal point of S.

The following lemma is an elementary property of tangent cones (see Borwein [19]).

**Lemma 2.13.** Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a Fréchet differentiable vector-valued function and  $B \subset X$ . Let  $\bar{x} \in B$ . Then

$$f'(\bar{x})(T(B,\bar{x})) \subset T(f(B),f(\bar{x})).$$

*Proof.* Let  $u \in T(B, \bar{x})$ . We show that  $f'(\bar{x})(u) \in T(f(B), f(\bar{x}))$ . Indeed, there exists  $\{a_k\} \subset B$  and  $\{t_k\} \subset \mathbb{R}_+ \setminus \{0\}$  with  $t_k \to 0$  such that  $(a_k - \bar{x})/t_k \to u$ . Note that  $\lim_{k \to +\infty} (f(a_k) - f(\bar{x}))/t_k \in T(f(B), f(\bar{x}))$ . Consequently,  $\lim_{k \to +\infty} (f(a_k) - f(\bar{x}))/t_k = f'(\bar{x})(u) \in T(f(B), f(\bar{x}))$ . The proof is complete.

**Theorem 2.14.** Let  $C \subset Y$  be a convex set with  $0 \in \partial C$  and a nonempty interior int C. Let  $\bar{x}$  be a minimal solution of the problem (VOP). Assume that f(B) is a convex set and g satisfies the generalized constraint qualification condition and H(G) holds. Then there exist  $\varphi \in Y^*$  satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for  $c \in int C$  and  $u^+ \in P^+(P, g(\bar{x}))$ , such that

$$\varphi \circ f'(\bar{x}) - u^+ \circ g'(\bar{x}) \in G^+.$$

*Proof.* Set S = f(B) and  $y_0 = f(\bar{x})$ . By Proposition 2.12, we have

$$T(f(B), f(\bar{x})) \cap (-intC) = \varnothing.$$

Since f(B) is a convex set,  $T(f(B), f(\bar{x}))$  is a convex cone. By the separation theorem for convex sets, there exists a continuous linear functional  $\varphi \in Y^*$ , such that

$$\varphi(v) \le \xi \text{ if } v \in -intC,$$
  
 $\varphi(u) \ge \xi \text{ if } u \in T(f(B), f(\bar{x})).$ 

Since  $0 \in T(f(B), f(\bar{x}))$ ,  $\xi \leq 0$ . If there exists a point  $c_0 \in intC$ , such that  $\varphi(-c_0) = r < 0$ , it follows from  $0 \in \partial C$  that  $\lambda c_0 \in intC$  for all  $\lambda : 0 < \lambda \leq 1$ . Choosing  $0 < \lambda_1 < \min(\xi/r, 1)$ , we have  $\varphi(-\lambda_1 c_0) = \lambda_1 \varphi(-c_0) > (\xi/r)\varphi(-c_0) = \xi$ . Since  $-\lambda_1 c_0 \in -intC$ , it is a contradiction. Hence, we have  $\xi \geq 0$ . Thus, it is necessary that  $\xi = 0$ . So,  $\varphi(c) \geq 0$ ,  $\forall c \in intC$ . Further argument as in the second part of the proof of Proposition 2.1 confirms that  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all  $c \in intC$ . By Lemma 2.13,

$$f'(\bar{x})(T(B,\bar{x})) \subset T(f(B),f(\bar{x})).$$

Since the generalized constraint qualification condition  $G \cap K \subset T(B, \bar{x})$  holds at  $\bar{x}$ , we have

$$f'(x)(G \cap K) \subset T(f(B), f(\bar{x})).$$

Hence we have  $\varphi(u) \geq 0$  if  $u \in f'(\bar{x})(G \cap K)$ , that is

$$\varphi \circ f'(\bar{x})(h) \ge 0, \quad \forall h \in G \cap K.$$

Since the hypothesis H(G) holds, we have

$$\varphi \circ f'(\bar{x}) \in (K \cap G)^+ = K^+ + G^+.$$

Observing that

$$K^+ = H = \{u^+ \circ g'(\bar{x}) : u^+ \in P^+(-P, g(\bar{x}))\},\$$

we obtain

$$\varphi \circ f'(\bar{x}) - u^+ \circ g'(\bar{x}) \in G^+,$$

where  $\varphi \in C^+$  satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all  $c \in intC$  and  $u^+ \in P^+(-P, g(\bar{x}))$ .

**Proposition 2.15.** A local weakly minimal solution of a C-convex vector-valued function f over a convex set  $K \subset X$  with respect to a convex cone C is a global one.

*Proof.* Let  $x^*$  be a local weakly minimal solution of f(x) over K. Thus, for some neighborhood V of  $x^*$ ,

$$f(x) - f(x^*) \notin -intC, \quad \forall x \in V \cap K.$$
 (2.24)

Suppose, if possible, that  $x^*$  is not a global weakly minimal solution. Then, there is some  $y \in K$  for which

$$f(y) - f(x^*) \in -intC.$$

For  $0 < \alpha < 1$ ,  $x^* + \alpha(y - x^*) \in K$ , since K is convex. Since f is C-convex,

$$f(x^* + \alpha(y - x^*)) - f(x^*) \in -C + \alpha f(y) + (1 - \alpha)f(x^*) - f(x^*)$$

$$= -C + \alpha(f(y) - f(x^*))$$

$$\in -C - intC$$

$$\subset -intC.$$

which contradicts (2.24), since  $x^* + \alpha(y - x^*) \in V \cap K$  for sufficiently small positive  $\alpha$ .

#### 2.2 VO with a Variable Domination Structure

Let Y be a real normed space, and let  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for each  $y \in Y$ , the set C(y) is a nonempty convex set with  $0 \in \partial C(y)$ . Assume that  $intC(y) \neq 0, \forall y \in Y$ , and  $\bigcap_{y \in S} C(y) \setminus \{0\} \neq \emptyset, S \subset Y$ .

Now we establish results corresponding to those in Section 2.1.

Suppose that  $S \subset Y$ . For any  $c \in \bigcap_{y \in S} C(y) \setminus \{0\}$ , let

$$S(c) = \{ y + \beta c : \beta \ge 0, y \in S \}.$$

It is obvious that  $S \subset S(c)$  and, if S is convex, then S(c) is also convex.

**Proposition 2.16.** Let  $S \subset Y$  be a convex set,  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for each  $y \in S$ , C(y) is a nonempty open convex set with  $0 \in \partial C(y)$ . Then, for any point  $c \in \bigcap_{y \in S} C(y)$ , we have

$$LMin_{C(y)}S = LMin_{C(y)}S(c).$$

*Proof.* It is obvious that  $c \neq 0$  since, for any  $y \in S$ ,  $0 \in \partial C(y)$ , C(y) is open and  $c \in C(y)$ . Now we can follow the proof of Proposition 2.1 with  $Min_CS$  replaced by  $LMin_{C(y)}S$ ,  $Min_CS(c)$  replaced by  $LMin_{C(y)}S(c)$ , C replaced by  $C(y^*)$ .

**Theorem 2.17.** Let S be a convex subset of Y,  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for each  $y \in S$ , C(y) is a nonempty open convex set with  $0 \in \partial C(y)$ . Then,

$$LMin_{C(y)}S = LMin_{intT(C(y),0)}S.$$

*Proof.* The proof of Theorem 2.3 works if we replace C with  $C(y_0)$ .

Now we assume that X,Y, and Z are Banach spaces, f maps from X into Y and g maps from X into Z. Let  $C:X\rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for each  $x\in X,$  C(x) is a nonempty and convex set with  $0\in\partial C(x),$   $P\subset Z$  a closed and convex cone and  $K\subset X$  a convex set.

We consider a constrained vector optimization problem with a variable domination structure:

$$(VOPV) \qquad \qquad \min_{x \in B} f(x),$$

where  $B = \{x \in X : g(x) \leq_P 0, x \in K\}$ , and  $C : X \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function.

**Theorem 2.18.** Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for each  $x \in X$ , C(x) is a convex subset of Y with  $0 \in \partial C(x)$  and  $intC(x) \neq \emptyset$ . For the vector optimization problem (VOPV), the following results hold:

(i) Let  $\bar{x} \in B$ . Suppose that there exists a continuous linear functional  $\varphi \in Y^*$ , satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$ , for all  $c \in C(\bar{x}) \setminus \{0\}$ , such that  $\bar{x} \in B$  is an optimal solution of the following optimization problem  $P(\varphi)$ :

$$\min_{x \in B} \varphi(f(x)).$$

Then  $\bar{x}$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution of the problem (VOPV).

(ii) Let f(B) be a convex subset of Y and  $\bar{x}$  a nondominated-like minimal solution of the problem (VOPV). Then there exists a continuous linear functional  $\varphi \in Y^*$  satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all  $c \in intC(\bar{x})$ , such that  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of the problem  $P(\varphi)$ .

*Proof.* The proof is the same as that of Theorem 2.5 except that C is replaced by  $C(\bar{x})$  and (VOP) is replaced by (VOPV).

Let g be a vector-valued function from X into Z and g a P-convex vector-valued function. Suppose that  $C:X\rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function such that, for each  $x\in X$ , C(x) is a convex subset of Y with  $0\in\partial C(x)$  and nonempty interior intC(x),  $P\subset Z$  a closed and convex cone with nonempty interior intP, and  $K\subset X$  a convex set.

**Theorem 2.19.** Let f(B) be a convex subset of Y. Assume that there exists a point  $x_0 \in B$  such that  $g(x_0) \in -intP$ . Let  $\bar{x}$  be a nondominated-like minimal solution of (VOPV). Then there exist  $\varphi \in Y^*$  satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all  $c \in intC(\bar{x})$  and a continuous linear vector-valued function  $M: Z \to Y$  such that  $M(P) \subset intT(C(\bar{x}), 0) \cup \{0\}, M \circ g(\bar{x}) = 0$  and

$$\varphi(f(\bar{x}) + M \circ g(\bar{x})) \le \varphi(f(x) + M \circ g(x)), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

*Proof.* The proof of Theorem 2.7 works with C replaced by  $C(\bar{x})$ .

**Corollary 2.20.** Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for each  $x \in X$ , C(x) is a nonempty open and convex set with  $0 \in \partial C(x)$ . Let the conditions of Theorem 2.19 hold. Then there exists a continuous linear vector-valued function  $M: Z \to Y$ , such that  $M(P) \subset intT(C(\bar{x}), 0) \cup \{0\}$ ,  $M \circ g(\bar{x}) = 0$  and  $\bar{x}$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution of the unconstrained vector optimization problem with variable domination structure:

$$Min_{C(x)}(f(x) + M \circ g(x)).$$

$$\underset{x \in K}{\min}(g(x)) = M \circ g(x)$$

*Proof.* The proof is the same as that of Corollary 2.8 except that C is replaced by  $C(\bar{x})$ .

**Theorem 2.21.** Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be set-valued function such that, for each  $x \in X$ , C(x) is a convex set with  $0 \in \partial C(x)$  and nonempty interior intC(x). Let  $\bar{x}$  be a nondominated-like minimal solution of the problem (VOPV). Assume that f(B) is a convex set and g satisfies the generalized constraint qualification condition given in Definition 2.9 and H(G) in Definition 2.11 holds. Then there exist  $\varphi \in Y^*$  satisfying  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for  $c \in intC(\bar{x})$  and  $u^+ \in P^+(-P, g(\bar{x}))$ , such that

$$\varphi \circ f'(\bar{x}) - u^+ \circ g'(\bar{x}) \in G^+.$$

*Proof.* The proof of Theorem 2.14 works if C is replaced by  $C(\bar{x})$ .

The following result provides a characterization of a weakly nondominated-like point in terms of the nonlinear scalar function  $\xi$  given in (1.3).

**Theorem 2.22.** Let Y be a normed space and  $A \subset Y$  a nonempty subset. Let  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for each  $y \in Y$ , C(y) is a proper, closed and convex cone in Y. Let  $\bar{C} = \bigcap_{y \in Y} C(y)$  and  $e \in int\bar{C}$ . Let  $y^* \in A$ . Then  $y^*$  is a weakly nondominated-like minimal point of A if and only if

$$\min_{u \in A - y^*} \xi_e(y^*, u) = 0.$$

*Proof.* Suppose that  $y^* \in A$  is a weakly nondominated-like minimal point of A with respect to the variable domination structure C. By definition, we have

$$(A - y^*) \cap (-intC(y^*)) = \varnothing,$$

equivalently, for each  $a \in A$ ,

$$a - y^* \notin -intC(y^*).$$

By Proposition 1.54, the above inequality holds if and only if

$$\xi_e(y^*, a - y^*) \ge 0, \quad \forall a \in A.$$

Observe that  $\xi_e(y^*, 0) = 0$ . Obviously, the theorem holds.

#### 2.3 Characterizations of Solutions for VO

In this section, we deal with characterizations of the Benson's proper minimal solution for a vector optimization problem.

Let X be a nonempty subset of some Hausdorff topological space and  $C \subset Y$  and  $P \subset Z$  be closed and convex cones with  $intC \neq \emptyset$  and  $intP \neq \emptyset$ . Let (Y,C) and (Z,P) be two ordered locally convex Hausdorff topological spaces.

**Definition 2.23 (Benson [12]).** Let  $K \subset Y$  be a nonempty subset.  $\bar{y}$  is called a Benson's proper minimal point of K with respect to C, if

$$clcone(K+C-\bar{y})\cap (-C)=\{0\}.$$

The set of all Benson's proper minimal points is denoted by PM(K, C).

We consider an unconstrained vector optimization problem

$$(VUP) \qquad \qquad \min_{x \in X} f(x),$$

where  $f: X \to Y$  is a vector-valued function.

**Definition 2.24.** A point  $\bar{x}$  is called a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VUP), if  $f(\bar{x})$  is a Benson's proper minimal point of the set f(X).

Next, we establish characterizations of Benson's proper minimal solutions, such as, scalarization, Lagrangian multipliers, saddle-point criterion, duality under a generalized cone-subconvexlikeness and the vector variational inequality, respectively.

#### (I) Scalarization Characterizations

**Lemma 2.25 (Borwein [19]).** Let  $C_1, C_2 \subset Y$  be two closed and convex cones such that  $C_1 \cap C_2 = \{0\}$ . If  $C_2$  is pointed and locally compact, then

$$(-C_1^+) \cap (C_2^{+i}) \neq \varnothing.$$

**Lemma 2.26.** Let  $C \subset Y$  be a closed and convex cone with the nonempty interior intC, and let  $\bar{x} \in X$ . Then

- (i)  $cone(f(X) + intC f(\bar{x})) = cone(f(X) f(\bar{x})) + intC;$
- (ii)  $clcone(f(X) + intC f(\bar{x})) = clcone(f(X) + C f(\bar{x})).$

*Proof.* (i) This is obvious, since intC is a cone.

(ii) It is sufficient if the following relation holds:

$$cone(f(X) + C - f(\bar{x})) \subset clcone(f(X) + intC - f(\bar{x})).$$

Indeed, let

$$y \in cone(f(X) + C - f(\bar{x})).$$

Then, there exist  $\alpha > 0, x \in X$  and  $c \in C$  such that

$$y = \alpha(f(x) + c - f(\bar{x})).$$

Since C is convex, there exists a sequence  $\{c_k\} \subset intC$  such that  $c = \lim_{k \to \infty} c_k$ . Set

$$y_k := \alpha(f(x) + c_k - f(\bar{x})) \in cone(f(X) + intC - f(\bar{x})).$$

Then,

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} y_k = \alpha(f(x) + c - f(\bar{x})) = y.$$

Hence,

$$y \in clcone(f(X) + intC - f(\bar{x})).$$

The proof is complete.

We consider a scalar minimization problem for the problem (VUP):

$$(VUP_{\mu})$$
  $\min_{x \in X} \langle \mu, f(x) \rangle,$ 

where  $\mu \in Y^* \setminus \{0\}$ .

**Theorem 2.27.** Let  $C \subset Y$  be a closed, convex and pointed cone with nonempty interior intC, and let C be also locally compact. Let  $\bar{x} \in K$ , and let the vector-valued function  $f(x) - f(\bar{x})$  be generalized C-subconvexlike on X. Then,  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VUP) if and only if there exists  $\mu \in C^{+i}$  such that  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of  $(VUP_{\mu})$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\bar{x} \in X$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VUP). By Definition 2.23, we have

$$clcone(f(X) + C - f(\bar{x})) \cap (-C) = \{0\}.$$

By Lemma 2.26 (ii), we have also

$$clcone(f(X) + intC - f(\bar{x})) \cap (-C) = \{0\}.$$

By Lemma 2.26 (i) and Proposition 1.76,

$$cone(f(X) + intC - f(\bar{x})) = cone(f(X) - f(\bar{x})) + intC$$

is a convex cone, since  $f(x) - f(\bar{x})$  is generalized C-subconvexlike on X. Thus, by Lemma 2.25, there exists  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$  such that

$$\bar{\mu} \in (clcone(f(X) + intC - f(\bar{x}))^+.$$

Thus, we obtain

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) - f(\bar{x}) \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in X,$$
 (2.25)

and so,  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of  $(VUP_{\bar{\mu}})$ . Conversely, suppose that there exists  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$  such that  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of  $(VUP_{\bar{\mu}})$ , i.e., (2.25) holds.

For any  $u \in cone(f(X) + C - f(\bar{x}))$ , there exist  $\alpha > 0$ ,  $x \in X$  and  $c \in C$  such that

$$u = \alpha(f(x) + c - f(\bar{x})).$$

From (2.25), we have

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, u \rangle = \alpha \langle \mu, f(x) - f(\bar{x}) \rangle + \alpha \langle \bar{\mu}, c \rangle \ge 0.$$
 (2.26)

For arbitrarily fixed  $y \in clcone(f(X) + C - f(\bar{x}))$ , there exists a sequence  $\{u_k\}$  such that

$$u_k \in cone(f(X) + C - f(\bar{x})), \quad y = \lim_{k \to \infty} u_k.$$

By (2.26), we have

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, u_k \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall k \in N.$$

Letting  $k \to \infty$ , we obtain

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, y \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall y \in cone(f(X) + C - f(\bar{x})).$$
 (2.27)

Now, assume that  $\bar{x} \in X$  is not a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VUP). By Definition 2.23, there exists  $y' \in -C \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$y' \in clcone(f(X) + C - f(\bar{x})).$$

Since  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$ , we have  $\langle \bar{\mu}, y' \rangle < 0$ , which contradicts (2.27). The proof is complete.

# (II) Lagrangian Multiplier Characterizations

We consider the following vector constrained optimization problem:

$$(VMP) \qquad \qquad \underset{x \in O}{\min} f(x),$$

where  $Q = \{x \in X : g(x) \leq_P 0\}$ , g is a vector valued function from X into Z, and  $P \subseteq Z$  is a closed and convex cone with nonempty interior int P.

We say that (VMP) satisfies the generalized Slater constraint qualification condition if there exists an  $x' \in K$  such that  $g(x') \leq_{intP} 0$ .

By L(Z,Y), we denote the set of all continuous linear vector-valued functions from Z into Y. A subset  $L_{+}(Z,Y)$  of L(Z,Y) is defined as

$$L_{+}(Z,Y) := \{ T \in L(Z,Y) : T(P) \subset C \}.$$

A vector-valued Lagrangian function for (VMP) is defined as a vectorvalued function  $L: X \times L_+ \to Y$ ,

$$L(x,T) := f(x) + T(g(x)), \quad (x,T) \in X \times L_{+}(Z,Y).$$

We consider an unconstrained vector minimization problem induced by (VMP):

$$(VPL) \qquad \qquad \underset{x \in X}{\min_{C}} L(x, T)$$

We need to introduce the concept of generalized cone-subconvexlikeness for the ordered pair (f, g).

Let  $f: X \to Y$  and  $g: X \to Z$  be two vector-valued functions. Let  $h(x) = (f(x), g(x)), x \in X$ . An ordered pair (f, g) is said to be generalized  $C \times P$ -subconvexlike on X if the vector-valued function  $h: X \to Y \times Z$  is generalized  $C \times P$ -subconvexlike on X.

**Lemma 2.28.** Let (f,g) be generalized  $C \times P$ -subconvexlike on X. Then

- (i) for each  $\mu \in C^+ \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $(\langle \mu, f \rangle, g)$  is generalized  $\mathbb{R}_+ \times P$ -subconvexlike on X;
- (ii) for each  $T \in L_+(Z,Y)$ , L(x,T) = f(x) + T(g(x)) is generalized C-subconvexlike on X.

*Proof.* We prove only (ii), because the proof of (i) is similar to that of (ii). By Proposition 1.76, for any  $(\theta_1, \theta_2) \in int(C \times P) = (intC) \times (intP)$ , any  $x_1, x_2 \in X$  and any  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ , there exist  $x_3 \in X$  and  $\eta > 0$  such that

$$(\theta_1, \theta_2) + \lambda(f(x_1), g(x_2)) + (1 - \lambda)(f(x_2), g(x_2)) - \eta(f(x_3), g(x_3))$$
  
\(\in \int C \times \int C.

which implies that

$$\theta_1 + \lambda f(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2) - \eta f(x_3) \in intC,$$
 (2.28)

$$\theta_1 + \lambda g(x_1) + (1 - \lambda)g(x_2) - \eta g(x_3) \in intP \subset P, \tag{2.29}$$

From  $T \in L_+(Z, Y)$  and (2.29), we obtain

$$T(\theta_1) + \lambda T(g(x_1)) + (1 - \lambda)T(g(x_2)) - \eta T(g(x_3)) \in T(P) \subset C.$$
 (2.30)

Set  $\theta := \theta_1 + T(\theta_2)$ . Then  $\theta \in intC + C \subset intC$ . Thus, by (2.28) and (2.30), we have

$$\theta + \lambda(f(x_1) + T(g(x_1)) + (1 - \lambda)(f(x_2) + T(g(x_2)) - \eta(f(x_3) + T(g(x_3)))$$

$$\in intC + C \subset intC.$$

**Theorem 2.29.** Let  $C \subset Y$  be a closed, convex and pointed cone with nonempty interior intC, and let C be locally compact. Let  $\bar{x} \in K$ , let  $(f(x) - f(\bar{x}), g(x))$  be generalized  $C \times P$ -subconvexlike on K. Let (VMP) satisfy the generalized Slater constraint qualification. Then  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VMP) if and only if there exists  $T \in L_+(Z, Y)$  with  $T(g(\bar{x})) = 0$  and  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VPL).

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\bar{x} \in K$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VMP). By Theorem 2.27 (where X = K), there exists  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$  such that  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of  $(P_{\bar{\mu}})$ , i.e.,

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) - f(\bar{x}) \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$
 (2.31)

From (2.31), it is easy to verify that the following system is inconsistent:

$$(\langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) - f(\bar{x}) \rangle, g(x)) \in -int(\mathbb{R}_+ \times P), \quad \forall x \in X.$$

By Lemma 2.28 and  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i} \subset C^+ \setminus \{0\}$ , the ordered pair  $(\langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) - f(\bar{x}) \rangle, g(x))$  is generalized  $\mathbb{R}_+ \times P$ -subconvexlike on X. By Theorem 1.79, there exists  $w^* = (r, \lambda) \in (\mathbb{R}_+ \times P)^+ \setminus \{(0, 0)\}$  such that

$$r\langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) - f(\bar{x}) \rangle + \langle \lambda, g(x) \rangle = \langle w^*, (\langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) - f(\bar{x}) \rangle, g(x)) \rangle$$
  
 
$$\geq 0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$
 (2.32)

If r=0, then  $\lambda \neq 0$ . In this case, (2.32) becomes

$$\langle \lambda, g(x) \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$
 (2.33)

By the generalized Slater constraint qualification, there exists  $x' \in K \subset X$  such that  $g(x') \leq_{intP} 0$ . Observing that  $g(x') \in -intP$  and  $\lambda \in P^+ \setminus \{0\}$ , so obviously we have also  $\langle \lambda, g(x') \rangle < 0$ . This is a contradiction. So  $r \neq 0$ . Since  $r \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , this implies that r > 0. Setting  $x = \bar{x}$  in (2.33), we have  $\langle \lambda, g(\bar{x}) \rangle \geq 0$ . We have also  $\langle \lambda, g(\bar{x}) \rangle \leq 0$ , since  $\bar{x} \in K$ , i.e.  $g(\bar{x}) \leq_P 0$ . Therefore,

$$\langle \lambda, g(\bar{x}) \rangle = 0. \tag{2.34}$$

Set  $\sigma := r\bar{\mu}$ , we obtain  $\sigma \in C^{+i}$ . We can select a  $c \in C$  such that  $\langle \sigma, c \rangle = 1$ . Define

$$T(z) := \langle \lambda, z \rangle c, \quad z \in Z.$$

Obviously,  $T \in L(Z, Y)$ . Notice that  $\lambda \in P^+$ , so that we have

$$\langle \lambda, p \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall p \in P.$$

Hence,

$$T(p) = \langle \lambda, p \rangle c \in C, \quad \forall p \in P,$$

i.e.,  $T \in L_+(Z, Y)$ . By (2.34), we obtain

$$T(g(\bar{x})) = \langle \lambda, g(\bar{x}) \rangle c = 0. \tag{2.35}$$

Since r > 0, (2.32) can be rewritten as

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) - f(\bar{x}) \rangle + (1/r) \langle \lambda, g(x) \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$
 (2.36)

Notice that  $1 = \langle \sigma, c \rangle = \langle r\bar{\mu}, c \rangle$ . Thus

$$(1/r)\langle\lambda,g(x)\rangle = \langle\bar{\mu},c\rangle\langle\lambda,g(x)\rangle$$

$$= \langle\bar{\mu},\langle\lambda,g(x)\rangle c\rangle$$

$$= \langle\bar{\mu},T(g(x)). \tag{2.37}$$

From (2.35) to (2.37), we obtain

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, L(x,T) - L(\bar{x},T) \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Thus,  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of the following scalar minimization problem:

$$\min_{x \in X} \langle \bar{\mu}, L(x, T) \rangle.$$

From (2.35), we have also

$$L(x,T) - L(\bar{x},T) = f(x) - f(\bar{x}) + T(g(x)).$$

Hence, by Lemma 2.28,  $L(x,T) - L(\bar{x},T)$  is generalized C-subconvexlike on X. Using Theorem 2.27,  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VPL).

Now, we suppose that there exists  $T \in L_+(Z, Y)$  such that  $T(g(\bar{x})) = 0$  and  $\bar{x} \in K$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VPL). Using Theorem 2.27 and Lemma 2.28, there exists  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$  such that  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of the following scalar minimization problem:

$$\min_{x \in X} \ \langle \bar{\mu}, L(x, T) \rangle.$$

Then, we have

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) + T(g(\bar{x})) \rangle \le \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) + T(g(x)) \rangle, \quad \forall x \in X.$$
 (2.38)

Observe that  $g(x) \leq_P 0$ ,  $\forall x \in K$ . From  $T \in L_+(Z,Y)$ , we have  $T(g(x)) \in -C$ , and so

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, T(g(x)) \rangle \le 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$
 (2.39)

By (2.35), (2.38) and (2.39), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) \rangle &= \langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) + T(g(\bar{x})) \rangle \\ &\leq \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) \rangle + \langle \bar{\mu}, T(g(x)) \rangle \\ &\leq \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) \rangle, \end{split}$$

for all  $x \in X$ , which shows that there exists  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$  such that  $\bar{x} \in K$  is an optimal solution of  $(P_{\bar{\mu}})$ , where X = K. Hence,  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VMP) by Theorem 2.27. The proof is complete.

#### (III) Saddle-Point Characterizations

We will characterize the Benson's proper minimal solution by using saddle points of a real-valued Lagrangian function of (VMP). To this aim, we need the following concepts.

The real-valued Lagrangian function  $L_{\bar{\mu}}: X \times P^+ \to \mathbb{R}$  for (VMP) is defined as

$$L_{\bar{\mu}}(x,\lambda) := \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) \rangle + \langle \lambda, g(x) \rangle, \quad (x,\lambda) \in X \times P^+,$$

where  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$ .

**Definition 2.30.** (VMP) is said to satisfy the saddle-point criterion at  $\bar{x} \in X$  for some  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$ , if there exists  $\bar{\lambda} \in P^+$  such that  $(\bar{x}, \bar{\lambda})$  is a saddle point of the Lagrangian function  $L_{\bar{\mu}}(x, \lambda)$ , that is,

$$L_{\bar{\mu}}(\bar{x},\lambda) \le L_{\bar{\mu}}(\bar{x},\bar{\lambda}) \le L_{\bar{\mu}}(x,\bar{\lambda}), \quad \forall (x,\lambda) \in X \times P^+.$$
 (2.40)

**Theorem 2.31.** Let  $C \subset Y$  be a closed, convex and pointed cone with nonempty interior intC, and let C be locally compact. Let  $\bar{x} \in K$  and  $(f(x)-f(\bar{x}),g(x))$  be generalized  $C \times P$ -subconvexlike on X. Let (VMP) satisfy the generalized Slater constraint qualification. Then,  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VMP) if and only if there exists  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$  such that (VMP) satisfies the saddle-point criterion at  $\bar{x}$  for  $\bar{\mu}$ .

*Proof.* First, suppose that  $\bar{x} \in X$  is a Benson proper minimal solution of (VMP). By Theorem 2.29, there exists  $T \in L_+(Z,Y)$  such that  $T(g(\bar{x})) = 0$  and  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VPL). From the proof of Theorem 2.29, we know that  $L(x,T) - L(\bar{x},T)$  is generalized C-subconvexlike

on X. Therefore, by Theorem 2.27, there exists  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$  such that  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of the following scalar minimization problem:

$$\min_{x \in X} \langle \bar{\mu}, L(x, T) \rangle.$$

Thus, we have

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) + T(g(\bar{x})) \rangle \le \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) + T(g(x)) \rangle, \quad \forall x \in X.$$
 (2.41)

Set  $\bar{\lambda} := \bar{\mu} \circ T$ . Then  $\bar{\lambda} \in C^{+i}$ . Hence, by the above inequality, we have

$$L_{\bar{\mu}}(\bar{x}, \bar{\lambda}) = \langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) \rangle + \langle \bar{\lambda}, g(\bar{x}) \rangle$$

$$= \langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) + T(g(\bar{x})) \rangle$$

$$\leq \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) + T(g(x)) \rangle$$

$$= \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) \rangle + \langle \bar{\lambda}, g(x) \rangle$$

$$= L_{\bar{\mu}}(x, \bar{\lambda}), \quad \forall x \in X.$$
(2.42)

Since  $\bar{x} \in K$ ,  $\langle \lambda, g(\bar{x}) \rangle \leq 0, \forall \lambda \in P^+$ . Furthermore,

$$\langle \bar{\lambda}, g(\bar{x}) \rangle = \langle \bar{\mu}, T(g(\bar{x})) \rangle = 0,$$

since  $T(g(\bar{x})) = 0$ . Then

$$L_{\bar{\mu}}(\bar{x},\lambda) = \langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) \rangle + \langle \lambda, g(\bar{x}) \rangle$$

$$\leq \langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) \rangle + \langle \bar{\lambda}, g(\bar{x}) \rangle$$

$$= L_{\bar{\mu}}(\bar{x}, \bar{\lambda}), \quad \forall \lambda \in P^+.$$

From (2.41) and (2.42), (VMP) satisfies the saddle-point criterion at  $\bar{x}$  for  $\bar{\mu}$ . Next, suppose that there exists  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$  such that (VMP) satisfies the saddle-point criterion at  $\bar{x}$  for  $\bar{\mu}$ . From Definition 2.30, there exists  $\bar{\lambda} \in C^+$  such that  $(\bar{x}, \bar{\lambda})$  is a saddle point of the Lagrangian function  $L_{\bar{\mu}}(x, \lambda)$ . By (2.17), for all  $x \in K \subset X$ ,

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) \rangle + \langle \bar{\lambda}, g(\bar{x}) \rangle \le \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) \rangle + \langle \bar{\lambda}, g(x) \rangle,$$
 (2.43)

and, for all  $\lambda \in C^+$ ,

$$\langle \lambda, g(\bar{x}) \rangle \le \langle \bar{\lambda}, g(\bar{x}) \rangle.$$
 (2.44)

Taking  $\lambda = \alpha \bar{\lambda} \in C^+$ ,  $\alpha \ge 0$ , from (2.44), we get

$$(1-\alpha)\langle \bar{\lambda}, g(\bar{x})\rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall \alpha \ge 0,$$

which implies that  $\langle \bar{\lambda}, g(\bar{x}) \rangle = 0$ . Notice that  $\langle \bar{\lambda}, g(x) \rangle \leq 0, \forall x \in K$ . From (2.43), we obtain

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) \rangle \le \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) \rangle, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Hence,  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of the following scalar minimization problem:

$$\min_{x \in K} \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) \rangle.$$

By Theorem 2.27, where  $X:=K,\,\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VMP). The proof is complete.

### (IV) Duality Characterizations

Now, we characterize the Benson's proper minimal solution by means of a dual problem of (VMP). Let C be a closed, convex and pointed cone with  $int C \neq \emptyset$ .

Set

$$L(X,T) := \{L(x,T) : x \in X\}.$$

The set-valued function

$$\Phi(T) := PM(L(X,T),C), \quad T \in L_{+}(Z,Y),$$

is called the proper dual function for (VMP).

The set-valued optimization problem

$$(VDL)$$
  $\operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T)$ 

is called the dual problem of (VMP).

A point  $\bar{y} \in \bigcup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T)$  is called a maximal point of (VDL) if

$$\bar{y} \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} y, \quad y \in \cup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T).$$

**Theorem 2.32 (Weak Duality).** Let  $x \in K$  be any feasible solution of (VMP), and let  $y \in \bigcup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T)$  be any feasible point of (VDL). Then

$$f(x) \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} y$$
.

*Proof.* Assuming that the conclusion is not true, we have  $y - f(x) \in C \setminus \{0\}$ . Since  $x \in K$ ,  $T(g(x)) \in -C$ ,  $\forall T \in L_+(Z, Y)$ . Hence, we obtain

$$y - L(x,T) = y - f(x) - T(g(x)) \in C \setminus \{0\} + C$$
  
 $\subset C \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall x \in K, T \in L_{+}(Z,Y).$  (2.45)

On the other hand, from  $y \in \bigcup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T)$ , there exists  $\tilde{T} \in L_+(Z,Y)$  such that

$$y \in \Phi(\bar{T}) = PM(L(X, \bar{T}), C).$$

Hence  $y \in Min_C(L(X, \bar{T}))$ . By the definition of the minimal point, it follows that

$$y - L(x, \bar{T}) \notin C \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Consequently, we have

$$y - L(x, \bar{T}) \notin C \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

which contradicts (2.45).

**Lemma 2.33.** Let  $C \subset Y$  be a closed, convex and pointed cone with the nonempty interior intC, and let C be also locally compact. Let  $\bar{x} \in K$  and  $f(\bar{x}) \in \bigcup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T)$ , and let  $(f(x) - f(\bar{x}), g(x))$  be generalized  $C \times P$ -subconvexlike on X. Then  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VMP) and  $f(\bar{x})$  is a maximal point of (VDL).

Proof. From

$$f(\bar{x}) \in \cup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T),$$

there exists  $\bar{T} \in L_{+}(Z, Y)$  such that

$$f(\bar{x}) \in \Phi(\bar{T}) = PM(L(X,\bar{T}),C).$$

This implies that there exists  $\hat{x} \in X$  such that  $f(\bar{x}) = L(\hat{x}, \bar{T})$  and  $\hat{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VPL), where  $T = \bar{T}$ . Since  $(f(x) - f(\bar{x}), g(x))$  is generalized  $C \times P$  subconvexlike on X, by Lemma 2.28 and  $f(\bar{x}) = L(\hat{x}, \bar{T})$ ,

$$L(x, \bar{T}) - L(\hat{x}, \bar{T}) = f(x) - f(\bar{x}) + \bar{T}(g(x))$$

is generalized C-subconvexlike on X. By Theorem 2.27, there exists  $\bar{\mu} \in C^{+i}$  such that  $\hat{x}$  is an optimal solution of the problem  $\min_{x \in X} \langle \bar{\mu}, L(x, \bar{T}) \rangle$ . Hence, we have

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) \rangle \le \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) \rangle + \langle \bar{\mu}, \bar{T}(g(x)) \rangle, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Since  $x \in K$ ,  $\bar{T}(g(x)) \in -C$ , so  $\langle \bar{\mu}, \bar{T}(g(x)) \rangle \leq 0$ . Therefore, we obtain

$$\langle \bar{\mu}, f(\bar{x}) \rangle \le \langle \bar{\mu}, f(x) \rangle, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

This shows that  $\bar{x}$  is an optimal solution of  $(VUP_{\bar{\mu}})$ , where X = K. So,  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VMP) by Theorem 2.27.

By Theorem 2.32, we know that

$$y - f(\bar{x}) \notin C \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall y \in \bigcup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T).$$

Since

$$f(\bar{x}) \in \cup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T),$$

 $f(\bar{x})$  is a maximal point of (VDL).

**Theorem 2.34 (Strong Duality).** Let  $C \subset Y$  be a closed, convex and pointed cone with the nonempty interior intC, and let C be also locally compact. Let  $\bar{x} \in K$ , let  $f(x) - f(\bar{x})$  be generalized C-subconvexlike on K, and let  $(f(x) - f(\bar{x}), g(x))$  be generalized  $C \times P$ -subconvexlike on X. Let (VMP) satisfies the generalized Slater constraint qualification. Then  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VMP) if and only if  $f(\bar{x})$  is a maximal point of (VDL).

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\bar{x} \in K$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VMP). By Theorem 2.29, there exists  $\bar{T} \in L_+(Z,Y)$  with  $\bar{T}(g(\bar{x})) = 0$  and  $\bar{x}$  satisfies

$$f(\bar{x}) \in PM(L(X,\bar{T}),C) = \Phi(\bar{T}) \subset \cup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T).$$

By Lemma 2.33,  $f(\bar{x})$  is a maximal point of (VDL). Conversely, suppose that  $f(\bar{x})$  is a maximal point of (VDL). Then  $f(\bar{x})$  is a feasible point of (VDL), i.e.,

$$f(\bar{x}) \in \bigcup_{T \in L_+(Z,Y)} \Phi(T).$$

Using Lemma 2.33, it follows from  $\bar{x} \in K$  that  $\bar{x}$  is a Benson's proper minimal solution of (VMP).

# 2.4 Continuity of Solutions for VO

Consider the constrained parametric vector optimization problem

$$(\text{PVOP}) \qquad \qquad \text{Min}_{\mathbb{IR}^\ell} \, f(x), \quad \text{s. t. } g(x,t) \leq b(t), \quad x \in \varOmega, t \in T,$$

where  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^p$  is a nonempty and convex subset, T is a nonempty subset of a metric space, and  $f: \mathbb{R}^p \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$ ,  $g: \mathbb{R}^p \times T \to \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $b: T \to \mathbb{R}^m$  are continuous vector-valued functions, with  $g(\cdot,t)$  convex,  $\forall t \in T$ . If  $\Omega$  and T are fixed, then (PVOP) is specified by the three elements f, g, b. Thus, problem (PVOP) can be denoted as problem q = (g,b,f). Denote by  $C(\Omega,\mathbb{R}^\ell)$  the space of continuous functions from  $\Omega$  into  $\mathbb{R}^\ell$ , with the metric

$$\rho_1(f_1, f_2) = \sup_{x \in \Omega} ||f_1(x) - f_2(x)||,$$

where  $\|\cdot\|$  denotes a norm in  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . Define similarly the metric  $\rho_2$  for  $C(\Omega \times T, \mathbb{R}^m)$  and  $\rho_3$  for  $C(T, \mathbb{R}^m)$ . Then (PVOP) may be considered as an element of the space  $Z = C(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\ell}) \times C(\Omega \times T, \mathbb{R}^m) \times C(T, \mathbb{R}^m)$ , with the metric  $\rho = \rho_1 + \rho_2 + \rho_3$ . Denote by Q a subspace of Z corresponding to problems (PVOP). Denote also  $Y = C(\Omega \times T, \mathbb{R}^m) \times C(T, \mathbb{R}^m)$ .

Let

$$X(g,b) = \{x \in \varOmega: g(x,t) \leq b(t), \forall t \in T\}$$

be the feasible region for (PVOP) and  $x_0 \in X(g, b)$ . If, for some neighborhood  $V(x_0)$  of  $x_0$ ,

$$f(x) - f(x_0) \in W, \quad \forall x \in V(x_0) \cap X(g, b),$$

where  $W = \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \setminus (-int\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+})$ , then  $x_0$  is called a local weakly minimal solution of (P). Denote by M(q) the set of all the local weakly minimal solutions of (PVOP). If

$$f(x) - f(x_0) \in W, \quad \forall x \in X(g, b),$$

then  $x_0$  is called a (global) weakly minimal solution of (PVOP). Denote by  $M_g(q)$  the set of all the weakly minimal solutions of (PVOP).

**Lemma 2.35.** Let  $(g_0, b_0) \in Y$ , and let T be compact. Assume that the Slater condition holds, i.e., there exists  $s \in \Omega$  such that

$$g_0(s,t) < b_0(t), \quad \forall t \in T.$$
 (2.46)

Then, the set-valued function X is l.s.c. at  $(g_0, b_0)$ . If, in addition,  $\Omega$  is compact, then X is also u.s.c. at  $(g_0, b_0)$ .

*Proof.* Let G be open, and let  $G \cap X(g_0, b_0) \neq \emptyset$ . Now,  $X(g_0, b_0) = \Omega \cap A$ , where

$$A = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^p : g_0(x, t) \le b_0(t), \quad \forall t \in T \}.$$

From the Slater condition,  $\Omega \cap intA \neq \emptyset$ . Furthermore, by the convexity of  $g_0(\cdot,t)\forall t$ , the Slater condition and  $g_0$  and  $b_0$  are continuous, as well as the compactness of T, we have

$$int A = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : g_0(x, t) < b_0(t), \quad \forall t \in T \}.$$

Let  $x' \in G \cap X(g_0, b_0)$ . Then there is a sequence  $\{z_j\} \subset \Omega \cap intA$  with  $\{z_j\} \to x'$ ; and, for some  $j, z_j \in G$ . Since G is open,  $G \cap \Omega \cap intA \neq \emptyset$ .

Let  $x_0 \in G \cap \Omega \cap intA$ . Suppose, if possible, that there does not exist  $\epsilon > 0$  such that the ball  $B(x_0, \epsilon) \subset X(g_k, b_k)$  for all sufficiently large k. Then, for each  $\epsilon = \frac{1}{k}$ ,  $k \in N$ , there exists  $x_k$  for which  $x_k \notin X(g_k, b_k)$  and  $||x_k - x_0|| < \frac{1}{k}$ , so  $\{x_k\} \to x_0$ . Since  $x_k \notin X(g_k, b_k)$ , there is a subsequence  $\{z_j\}$  of  $\{x_k\}$ , an integer  $i \in \{1, 2, \dots, m\}$ , and a sequence  $\{t_j\} \subset T$ , such that the component i of  $g_j(z_j, t_j) - b_j(t_j)$  is positive for each j. Since T is compact, a suitable subsequence  $\{t_j\} \to t_0 \in T$ . Let  $j \to \infty$ ; the component i of  $g_0(x_0, t_0) - b_0(t_0) \ge 0$ , contradicting  $g_0(x_0, t) < b_0(t_0)$ . Hence, for some  $\epsilon > 0$ , and all sufficiently large k,  $B(x_0, \epsilon) \subset X(g_k, b_k)$ ; hence  $G \cap X(g_k, b_k) \ne \emptyset$ . Thus, X is l.s.c. at  $(g_0, b_0)$ .

Now, let  $\Omega$  be compact; let  $(g_k, b_k) \to (g_0, b_0) \in Y$ ; let

$$x_k \in X(g_k, b_k), \quad \{x_k\} \to x^*, \forall k \in N.$$

Thus, uniform convergence and continuity on the compact set  $\Omega$  give  $x^* \in X(g_0, b_0)$ ; hence, X is u.s.c. at  $(g_0, b_0)$ .

**Theorem 2.36.** Let  $q_0 = (g_0, b_0, f_0) \in Q$ , and let T and  $\Omega$  be compact. Then M is u.s.c. at  $q_0$ .

Proof. If M is not u.s.c. at  $q_0$ , then there is an open set  $G \supset M(q_0)$  and a sequence  $\{q_k\} \subset Q$  such that, for each k,  $M(q_k)$  is not contained in G. Thus, for each k, there is  $x_k \in M(q_k) \backslash G$ . Since  $\Omega$  is compact,  $\{x_k\}$  may be replaced by a convergent subsequence, say  $\{x_k\} \to x_0$ , with  $x_0 \in X(g_0, b_0)$  by the continuity of  $g_0$  and  $g_0$ . Since  $g_0$  is not u.s.c. at  $g_0, x_0 \notin M(q_0)$ . Thus, from the definition of local weakly minimal solutions, there exist  $V(x_0) \subset G$  and  $g_0 \in X(g_0, g_0) \cap V(g_0)$  such that

$$f_0(x_0) - f_0(z_0) \in int \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell},$$

where  $V(x_0)$  denotes some neighborhood of  $x_0$ . By Lemma 2.35, X is lower semicontinuous at  $(g_0, b_0)$ , so there exists a sequence  $\{z_k\} \to z_0$ , with  $z_k \in X(g_k, b_k)$ ,  $\forall k$ . Since  $\{x_k\} \to x_0$  and  $\{z_k\} \to z_0$ ,

$$f_k(x_k) - f(z_k) \in int \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell},$$

for all sufficiently large k, contradicting  $x_k \in M(q_k)$ .

**Lemma 2.37.** Let  $(g_k, b_k) \rightarrow (g_0, b_0)$ ; let  $C_k = X(g_k, b_k)$  and  $C_0 = X(g_0, b_0)$  be convex sets; let  $C_0$  contain two points a, b with 2d := ||a - b|| > 0; let the set-valued function X be l.s.c. at  $(g_0, b_0)$ . If  $0 < \omega < d$ , then

$$C_0' \equiv \{x \in C_0 : ||x - a|| = \omega\} \neq \varnothing;$$

$$C'_k \equiv \{x \in C_k : ||x - a|| = \omega\} \neq \varnothing.$$

*Proof.* If  $0 < \omega < d$ , then  $b \notin B(a, \omega)$ . Since  $C_0$  is convex, the line segment  $[a, b] \subset C_0$  and [a, b] intersects  $C_0'$ . So,  $C_0' \neq \emptyset$ . Since X is l.s.c. at  $(g_0, b_0)$  and  $(g_k, b_k) \to (g_0, b_0)$ , there exist  $u_k, v_k \in C_k$ , with  $\{u_k\} \to a$  and  $\{v_k\} \to b$ . Now  $d(u_k, v_k) > \omega$  provided that

$$||u_k-a||<\frac{\delta-\omega}{2}, ||v_k-b||<\frac{\delta-\omega}{2}, \text{ with } \delta=||a-b||>\omega,$$

for k sufficiently large. Also, we have  $[u_k, v_k] \subset C_k$ , since  $C_k$  is convex. Hence,  $C'_k \neq \emptyset$ .

**Theorem 2.38.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^p$  be compact and convex; let  $q_0 = (g_0, b_0, f_0) \in Q$  be a convex problem. For each  $x_0 \in M(q_0)$ , assume that the Slater constraint qualification (2.46) holds, and assume that the following coercivity condition holds, i.e., there are a vector  $\delta \equiv \delta(x_0) \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$  and a positively increasing function  $\tau$ , with  $\tau(0) = 0$ , depending on  $\delta$  and  $x_0$ , such that

$$\delta f_0(x) - \delta f_0(x_0) \ge 4\tau(||x - x_0||).$$

Then the set-valued function M is l.s.c. at  $q_0$ , in the domain of convex problems (PVOP).

*Proof.* Let

$$\{q_k\} \equiv \{(g_k, b_k, f_k)\} \rightarrow q_0 \equiv (g_0, b_0, f_0),$$

with each  $q_k$  a convex (PVOP) problem. Let  $x_0 \in M(q_0)$  and  $\delta = \delta(x_0)$ . Let

$$N(\alpha) = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^p : \varphi(x, X(g_0, b_0)) < \alpha \},\$$

where  $\varphi(\cdot, \cdot)$  is the metric function in  $\mathbb{R}^p$  from a point to the set. By Lemma 2.35, X is u.s.c. at  $(g_0, b_0)$ . Hence,  $X(g_k, b_k) \subset N(\alpha)$  for all sufficiently large

k. With d,  $C_0'$ ,  $C_k'$  in Lemma 2.37, noting that the feasible sets are convex, and with  $0 < \omega < \min\{d, \alpha\}$ , Lemma 2.37 shows that  $C_0' \neq \varnothing, C_k' \neq \varnothing$ . Since  $\{q_k\} \to q_0$  uniformly, we deduce that  $|\delta f_k(x') - \delta f_0(x')| < \tau \equiv \tau(\omega)$ , for all x' with  $||x' - x_0|| = \omega$  and all sufficiently large k. For such x',

$$\delta f_k(x_0) < \delta f_0(x_0) + \tau,$$
 by the uniform convergence,  
 $\leq \delta f_0(x') - 4\tau + \tau,$  by the coercivity condition,  
 $< \delta f_k(x') + \tau - 4\tau + \tau,$  by the uniform convergence.

Thus,

$$\delta f_k(x') > \delta f_k(x_0) + 2\tau.$$

Since X is l.s.c. at  $(g_0, b_0)$  by Lemma 2.35, there exists a sequence  $\{x_k\} \to x_0$ , with  $x_k \in X(g_k, b_k)$  for each k. Hence,

$$\delta f_k(x') > \delta f_k(x_k) + 2\tau - \tau,$$

for all sufficiently large k, by the uniform convergence. Consequently, x' is not a minimal solution of  $\delta f_k(x)$  over x feasible for  $q_k$  with  $||x - x_0|| \leq \omega$ . Now, such a minimal solution exists, say at  $z = z_k$ , since the intersection of the feasible set of  $q_k$  and the set  $\{x : ||x - x_0|| \leq \omega\}$  is compact; therefore,

$$z_k \in \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : ||x - x_0|| < \omega\}.$$

Hence,  $z_k$  is a local weakly minimal solution of  $\delta f_k(x)$  over the feasible set of  $q_k$ ; it is global, since  $q_k$  is convex.

Suppose, if possible, that  $z_k$  is not a weakly minimal solution of  $q_k$ . Then, for some feasible x,

$$f_k(x) - f_k(z_k) \in -int \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell}.$$

But  $0 \neq \delta \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell}$ , so that

$$\delta f_k(x) - \delta f_k(z_k) < 0,$$

contradicting the minimality of  $z_k$ . Thus,  $z_k$  is a weakly minimal solution of  $q_k$ . Choose a sequence  $\{\omega_j\} \to 0+$ . For each  $\omega_j$ , for sufficiently large k, say all  $k > k_j$ ,  $q_k$  has a weakly minimal solution satisfying  $||z_k - x_0|| < \omega_j$ . Thus M is l.s.c..

### 2.5 Set-Valued VO with a Fixed Domination Structure

Optimizations with set-valued objective functions are closely related to problems in stochastic programming, fuzzy programming, optimal control and the duality of vector optimization problems. If the values of a given function vary in a specified region, this fact could be described using a membership function in theory of fuzzy sets or using information on distributions of the function values. In this general setting, probability distributions or membership functions are not needed because only sets are considered. Optimal control problems with differential inclusions belong to this class of set-valued optimization problems as well. Set-valued optimization seems to have the potential to become a bridge between different areas in optimization. And it is a substantial extension of standard optimization theory. Set-valued analysis is the most important tool for such an advancement in continuous optimization. And conversely, the development of set-valued analysis receives important impulses from set-valued optimization. In this section, we consider set-valued optimization problems with fixed domination structures.

Let X and Y be normed spaces, and let Y be ordered by a convex cone  $C \subset Y$ . Let K be a nonempty subset of X, and let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function. The epigraph of F is defined by

$$epi_CF = \{(x, y) \in (X, Y) : y \in F(x) + C\}.$$

Let  $F:K\rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function. Let a pair  $(\bar x,\bar y)$  with  $\bar x\in K$  and  $\bar y\in F(\bar x)$  be given.

**Definition 2.39 (Jahn and Rauh [118]).** A function  $D_eF(\bar{x},\bar{y}):X\to Y$ , whose epigraph equals the contingent cone to the epigraph of F at  $(\bar{x},\bar{y})$ , i.e.,

$$epi_C D_e F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) = T(epi_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y}))$$

is called the contingent epiderivative of F at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ .

It is worth noting that the contingent epiderivative exists only for some specially ordered spaces.

**Definition 2.40.** Let  $\bar{x} \in X, \bar{y} \in Y$  and  $G(x) = \{y \in Y : (x,y) \in T(epi_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y}))\}$ . A set-valued function  $D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) : K - \{\bar{x}\} \Rightarrow Y$  is called the generalized contingent epiderivative of F at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ , if, for any  $x \in K - \{\bar{x}\}$ ,

$$D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x) = egin{cases} Min_C G(x), & if \ G(x) 
eq \varnothing, \\ \varnothing, & if \ G(x) = \varnothing. \end{cases}$$

Note that, for some  $x\in K-\{\bar x\}$ , the set  $\{y\in Y:(x,y)\in T({\rm epi}_C F,(\bar x,\bar y))\}$  may be empty. In this case, we have  $D_gF(\bar x,\bar y)(x)=\varnothing$ .

The following lemma is needed.

**Lemma 2.41.** [142] Let  $C \subset Y$  be a closed and convex cone. Assume that C is Daniell. Let  $A \subset Y$  be nonempty, closed and minorized. Then  $Min_CA$  is nonempty.

**Theorem 2.42.** Let C be a pointed, closed and convex cone, and let C be Daniell. Let, for every  $x \in K$ , the set  $G(x) = \{y \in Y : (x,y) \in T(epi_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y}))\}$  be minorized. Then, for all  $x \in K$ ,  $D_q F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x)$  exists.

*Proof.* Since the contingent cone is always closed in a normed space, for every  $x \in K$ , G(x) is minorized and closed. By Lemma 2.41,  $\operatorname{Min}_C G(x)$  is nonempty, i.e.,  $D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is well-defined.

**Theorem 2.43.** Let C be a closed, pointed and convex cone in Y, and let K = X. Let, for all  $x \in X$ ,  $D_gF(\bar{x},\bar{y})(x) \neq \emptyset$ . Then  $D_gF(\bar{x},\bar{y})$  is strictly positive homogeneous. Moreover, if F is C-convex and the set

$$G(x) = \{ y \in Y : (x, y) \in T(epiF, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})) \}$$

fulfills the domination property for all  $x \in X$ , then  $D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is subadditive.

*Proof.* We take any  $\alpha > 0$  and  $x \in X$ . Then we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\alpha}D_gF(\bar{x},\bar{y})(\alpha x) &= \mathrm{Min}_C\{\frac{1}{\alpha}y \in Y \ : \ (\alpha x,y) \in T(\mathrm{epi}_CF,(\bar{x},\bar{y}))\} \\ &= \mathrm{Min}_C\{u \in Y \ : \ (\alpha x,\alpha u) \in T(\mathrm{epi}_CF,(\bar{x},\bar{y}))\} \\ &= \mathrm{Min}_C\{u \in Y \ : \ (x,u) \in T(\mathrm{epi}_CF,(\bar{x},\bar{y}))\} \\ &= D_gF(\bar{x},\bar{y})(x). \end{split}$$

Thus

$$D_q F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(\alpha x) = \alpha D_q F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x).$$

Next, for  $x_1, x_2 \in X$ ,  $y_1 \in D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x_1)$ ,  $y_2 \in D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x_2)$ , we have  $(x_1, y_1) \in T(\operatorname{epi}_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y}))$  and  $(x_2, y_2) \in T(\operatorname{epi}_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y}))$ . Since F is C-convex,  $\operatorname{epi}_C F$  is convex and  $T(\operatorname{epi}_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y}))$  is a convex cone, we have

$$(x_1 + x_2, y_1 + y_2) \in T(epi_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})),$$

implying

$$D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x_1) + D_g(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x_2) \subset G(x_1 + x_2).$$

By the domination property, we have

$$G(x_1 + x_2) \subset \operatorname{Min}_C G(x_1 + x_2) + C = D_q(F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x_1 + x_2) + C.$$

Thus

$$D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x_1) + D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x_2) \subset D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x_1 + x_2) + C$$

**Lemma 2.44.** [118] Let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function. Let  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in Gr(F)$ . If the contingent epiderivative  $D_eF(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  exists, then it is unique.

Now we consider the relation between the generalized contingent epiderivative and the contingent epiderivative, and we give an existence theorem of the contingent epiderivative in a complete vector lattice. **Theorem 2.45.** Let (Y, C) be an ordered complete vector lattice. Then, for any  $\bar{x} \in K$  and  $\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$ , the contingent epiderivative  $D_eF(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  exists and

$$D_eF(\bar{x},\bar{y})(x) = Inf_C \{ y \in Y : (x,y) \in T(epi_CF,(\bar{x},\bar{y})) \}, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Proof. We define

$$f(x) = \operatorname{Inf}_C\{y \in Y : (x, y) \in T(\operatorname{epi}_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y}))\}, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Since (Y, C) is an ordered complete vector lattice, f(x) is well defined for every  $x \in X$  and f(x) is single-valued. Now we prove that  $f = D_e F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ . By the order completeness of Y, we have

$$f(x) + C \supset G(x), \quad \forall x \in X.$$

For  $(x,y)\in T({\rm epi}_C F,(\bar x,\bar y))$ , we have  $y\in G(x)\subset f(x)+C.$  Thus  $(x,y)\in {\rm epi}_C f.$  Hence

$$T(\operatorname{epi}_{C}F,(\bar{x},\bar{y})) \subset \operatorname{epi}_{C}f.$$

Conversely, for any  $x \in X$ , it follows from the vector completeness that

$$(x, f(x)) \subset T(\operatorname{epi}_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})).$$

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{epi}_{C} f &\subset T(\operatorname{epi}_{C} F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})) + \{0\} \times C \\ &= \operatorname{epi}_{C} D_{e} F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) + \{0\} \times C \\ &= \operatorname{epi}_{C} D_{e} F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \\ &= T(\operatorname{epi}_{C} F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})). \end{aligned}$$

Hence we have

$$\operatorname{epi}_C f = T(\operatorname{epi}_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})).$$

Consequently, f equals the epiderivative  $D_eF(\bar{x},\bar{y})$  which, by Lemma 2.44, is unique.

**Theorem 2.46.** Let X, Y be real normed spaces, let K = X, let  $C \subset X$  be a pointed and convex cone and  $F: K \rightrightarrows Y$  a set-valued function. Let  $\bar{x} \in X$  and  $\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  be given. If the contingent epiderivative  $D_eF(\bar{x},\bar{y})$  exists and the set  $G(x) = \{y \in Y: (x,y) \in T(epi_CF,(\bar{x},\bar{y}))\}$  fulfills the domination property for all  $x \in X$ , then

$$epi_C D_e F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) = epi_C D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}).$$

*Proof.* By the definition of  $D_a F$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{epi}_{C} D_{g} F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) &\subset T(\operatorname{epi}_{C} F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})) + \{0\} \times C \\ &= \operatorname{epi}_{C} D_{e} F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) + \{0\} \times C \\ &= \operatorname{epi}_{C} D_{e} F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}). \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$\operatorname{epi}_C D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \subset \operatorname{epi}_C D_e F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}).$$

Conversely, we suppose that

$$(x, \tilde{y}) \in epi_C D_e F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \text{ and } (x, \tilde{y}) \notin epi D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}),$$

i.e.,

$$\tilde{y} \notin D_q F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x) + C,$$

or

$$\tilde{y} \notin \operatorname{Min}_C \{ y \in Y : (x, y) \in T(\operatorname{epi}_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})) \} + C.$$

Since  $(x, \tilde{y}) \in \text{epi}_C D_e F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ , i.e.,  $(x, \tilde{y}) \in T(\text{epi}_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y}))$ , we have

$$\tilde{y} \in \{y \in Y : (x,y) \in T(\mathrm{epi}_C F, (\bar{x},\bar{y}))\}.$$

By the domination property of G(x),

$$\tilde{y} \in \text{Min}_C\{y \in Y : (x, y) \in T(epi_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y}))\} + C = D_q F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x) + C.$$

This is a contradiction. Hence,

$$\operatorname{epi}_{C} D_{e} F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) = \operatorname{epi}_{C} D_{g} F(\bar{x}, \bar{y}).$$

We consider a set-valued optimization problem:

(SOK) 
$$\underset{x \in K}{\operatorname{Min}}_{C}F(x),$$

where  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function and  $K \subset X$ .

**Definition 2.47.** Let the ordering cone C have the nonempty interior int C. A pair  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  with  $\bar{x} \in K$  and  $\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  is called a (weakly) minimal pair of the problem (SOK) if  $\bar{y}$  is a (weakly) minimal point of the set of F(K), where

$$F(K) = \cup_{x \in K} F(x).$$

We can obtain a unified necessary and sufficient optimality condition for a weakly minimal solution of (SOK).

**Theorem 2.48.** Let C have nonempty interior intC, and let  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in Gr(F)$  be a (weakly) minimal pair of (SOK). Then

$$D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) \subset W, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

 $where \ W = Y \backslash (-intC).$ 

*Proof.* We prove by contradiction. Suppose that there exists an  $x \in K$  such that

$$D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) \nsubseteq W.$$

Then, there is a  $z \in D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x})$  with  $z \in -intC$ . By the definition of  $D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ , we have

 $(x - \bar{x}, z) \in T(\operatorname{epi}_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})).$ 

Then there are sequences  $\{(x_k, y_k)\}_{k \in N}$  in  $\operatorname{epi}_C F$  and  $\{\lambda_k\}_{k \in N}$  of positive real numbers with  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) = \lim_{k \to \infty} (x_k, y_k)$  and

$$(x - \bar{x}, z) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \lambda_k (x_k - \bar{x}, y_k - \bar{y}).$$

Thus there exists an  $M \in N$  with

$$y_k \in \{\bar{y}\} - intC, \quad \forall k \ge M.$$

Since  $(x_k, y_k) \in \text{epi}_C F$ , there is a  $\tilde{y}_k \in F(x_k)$  with  $y_k \in {\{\tilde{y}_k\}} + C$ . Thus

$$\tilde{y_k} \in \{y_k\} - C \subset \{\bar{y}\} - intC - C = \{\bar{y}\} - intC, \quad \forall n \ge M.$$

Hence  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is not a weakly minimal pair of (SOK).

We need the following lemma for deriving a sufficient optimality condition.

**Lemma 2.49.** Let K be a nonempty convex subset of X. Let C be a closed, convex and pointed cone being Danielll, let F be C-convex, and let, for every  $x \in K$  and  $y \in F(x)$ ,  $G(x - \bar{x})$  be minorized. Moreover, let the set  $G(x - \bar{x})$  fulfill the domination property, for all  $x \in K$ , where

$$G(x) = \{ y \in Y : (x, y) \in T(epi_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})) \}.$$

Then, for every  $\bar{x} \in K$  and  $\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$ ,

$$F(x) - \{\bar{y}\} \subset D_q F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) + C, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

*Proof.* Take arbitrary elements  $x \in K$  and  $y \in F(x)$ . We define a sequence  $\{(x_k, y_k)\}_{k \in N}$  with

$$x_k = \bar{x} + \frac{1}{k}(x - \bar{x}), \quad \forall k \in N,$$
  
 $y_k = \bar{y} + \frac{1}{k}(y - \bar{y}), \quad \forall k \in N.$ 

Since K is convex and F is C-convex, it follows that, for all  $k \in N$ ,

$$x_k = (1 - \frac{1}{k})\bar{x} + \frac{1}{k}x \in K,$$

and

$$y_k = (1 - \frac{1}{k})\bar{y} + \frac{1}{k}y \in F((1 - \frac{1}{k})\bar{x} + \frac{1}{k}x) + C = F(x_k) + C.$$

Hence, the elements of the sequence  $(x_k, y_k)_{k \in N}$  belong to  $\operatorname{epi}_C F$  and this sequence converges to  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ . Moreover, we obtain

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} k(x_k - \bar{x}, y_k - \bar{y}) = (x - \bar{x}, y - \bar{y}).$$

Consequently, we get  $(x - \bar{x}, y - \bar{y}) \in T(\text{epi}F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y}))$ , i.e.,

$$y - \bar{y} \in G(x - \bar{x}) = \{ y \in Y : (x - \bar{x}, y) \in T(epi_C F, (\bar{x}, \bar{y})) \}.$$

By the definition of  $D_q(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  and the domination property, we have

$$G(x-\bar{x}) \subset D_a F(\bar{x},\bar{y})(x-\bar{x}) + C.$$

Thus

$$F(x) - \{\bar{y}\} \subset D_{\sigma}F(\bar{x},\bar{y})(x-\bar{x}) + C.$$

**Theorem 2.50.** Let the assumptions in Lemma 2.49 hold, and let C have nonempty interior intC. If, for  $\bar{x} \in K$  and  $\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$ ,

$$\varnothing \neq D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) \subset W, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where  $W = Y \setminus (-intC)$ , then  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is a weakly minimal pair of (SOK).

*Proof.* By the assumptions, we have

$$D_q F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) \cap (-intC) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Thus,

$$(D_g F(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) + C) \cap (-intC) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

By Lemma 2.49, we have

$$(F(x) - \{\bar{y}\}) \cap (-intC) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Thus, it means that  $\bar{y}$  is a weakly minimal point of F(K).

Subgradients for vector-valued functions were extensively considered (see Thibault [194], Zowe [227] and the references therein). In Yang [206], the existence of a weak subgradient for a convex relation (i.e., a set-valued function with a convex graph) was considered. In the sequel, we consider the existence of a weak subgradient for a general set-valued function without the restriction of the convex relation. We obtain a sufficient optimality condition for set-valued optimization problems in terms of weak subgradients of set-valued functions.

**Definition 2.51.** Let  $intC \neq \emptyset$ ,  $K \subset X$ ,  $f: X \to Y$  and  $\bar{x} \in K$ . A continuous linear vector-valued function  $A: X \to Y$  is called a weak subgradient of f at  $\bar{x}$  if

$$f(x) - f(\bar{x}) - A(x - \bar{x}) \in W, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where  $W = Y \setminus (-intC)$ .

We denote by  $\partial_C^w f(\bar{x})$  the set of all weak subgradients of f.

**Definition 2.52.** Let  $K \subset X$ ,  $f: X \to Y$  and  $\bar{x} \in K$ . A continuous linear vector-valued function  $A: X \to Y$  is called a strong subgradient of f at  $\bar{x}$  if

$$f(x) - f(\bar{x}) - A(x - \bar{x}) \in C, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

**Definition 2.53.** Let C have a nonempty interior intC, let  $F: K \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function and  $\bar{x} \in K$ . A continuous linear vector-valued function  $A: X \to Y$  is called a weak subgradient of F at  $\bar{x}$  if

$$F(x) - F(\bar{x}) - A(x - \bar{x}) \subset W, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where  $W = Y \setminus (-intC)$ .

**Lemma 2.54.** Let K and C have nonempty interiors intK and intC, respectively, let K be a convex subset of X. Let  $F:K\rightrightarrows Y$  be C-convex on K, let F be upper semicontinuous at  $\bar{x}\in int K$ , and let  $-F(\bar{x})$  be minorized. Then epiF is a convex subset of  $X\times Y$  and  $int(epi_CF)\neq\varnothing$ .

*Proof.* It is easy to verify that  $epi_CF$  is convex. We prove that  $int(epi_CF) \neq \emptyset$ . Since -F(x) is minorized, there is a  $\tilde{y} \in Y$  with  $F(\bar{x}) \subset \{\tilde{y}\} - intC$ . Since  $\bar{x} \in intK$  and F is upper semicontinuous at  $\bar{x}$ , there is a neighborhood U of the zero in X so that  $\{\bar{x}\} + U \subset K$  and

$$F(\bar{x}+U)\subset \{\tilde{y}\}-intC.$$

For an arbitrarily chosen  $\bar{y} \in \tilde{y} + intC$ , there is an open neighborhood V of the zero in Y with

$$\{\bar{y}\} + V \subset \{\tilde{y}\} + intC.$$

Thus, we conclude

$$\{\tilde{y}\} + V - F(\{\bar{x}\} + U) \subset \{\tilde{y}\} + intC - (\{\tilde{y}\} - intC)$$
  
 $\subset intC + intC$   
 $\subset C.$ 

Hence, we get

$$(\{\bar{x}\} + U, \{\bar{y}\} + V) \in \operatorname{epi} F,$$

i.e.,  $int(epiF) \neq \emptyset$ .

It follows from the proof of the preceding lemma that  $intM \neq \emptyset$ , where

$$M = \{(x, y) \in X \times Y : x \in K, y \in F(x) + intC\}.$$

**Theorem 2.55.** Let C have nonempty interior intC, K be a convex subset of X with nonempty interior intK,  $\bar{x} \in intK$  be given. Let  $F: K \rightrightarrows Y$  be C-convex, upper semicontinuous at  $\bar{x}$  and  $F(\bar{x}) - C$  be convex. Let  $F(\bar{x})$  and  $-F(\bar{x})$  be minorized, and let the set equation

$$F(\bar{x}) \cap (F(\bar{x}) - intC) = \varnothing$$

be fulfilled. Then there exists a weak subgradient A of F at  $\bar{x} \in int K$  satisfying, for every  $x \in K$ , the property

$$A(x-\bar{x}) \notin -intC \Leftrightarrow A(x-\bar{x}) \in C$$

holds.

*Proof.* We define the set  $D=C-\{x\}$  and the set-valued function  $H:K\rightrightarrows Y$  with

$$H(x) = F(x + \bar{x}) - F(\bar{x}), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Then  $0 \in D$ , D is convex, H is upper semicontinuous at 0, and H(0) is minorized. In order to see that H is C-convex, take arbitrary  $x_1, x_2 \in K$  and  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ . Then

$$\lambda H(x_1) + (1 - \lambda x_2) H(x_2)$$

$$= \lambda F(x_2 + \bar{x}) + (1 - \lambda) F(x_2 + \bar{x}) - \lambda F(\bar{x}) - (1 - \lambda) F(\bar{x})$$

$$\subset F(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda) x_2 + \bar{x}) + C - F(\bar{x}) + C$$

$$\subset H(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda) x_2) + C.$$

Next we set

$$B = \{(x,y) \in X \times Y : x \in D, y \in H(x) + intC\}.$$

By Lemma 2.54, we obtain  $intB \neq \emptyset$ . Now we show that  $(0,0) \notin B$ . Suppose that  $(0,0) \in B$ . Then there is a  $y \in H(0)$  so that  $0 \in y + intC$ , which implies  $H(0) \cap (-intC) \neq \emptyset$ , i.e.,

$$(F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x})) \cap (-intC) \neq \emptyset$$

which contradicts the assumption condition. By the separation theorem for convex sets, there is a nonzero  $(-\rho, \sigma) \in X^* \times Y^*$  such that

$$-\rho(x) + \sigma(y) \ge 0, \quad \forall (x, y) \in B.$$

If  $\sigma = 0$ , then  $-\rho(x) \geq 0$ ,  $\forall x \in D$ . Because of  $0 \in intD$ , we obtain  $\rho = 0$ , contradicting  $(-\rho, \sigma) \neq (0, 0)$ . Hence we get  $\sigma \neq 0$ . Moreover, observing that  $\sigma \in C^*$ , there is a  $\bar{y} \in intC$  with  $\sigma(\bar{y}) = 1$ . We now define a vector-valued function  $A: X \to Y$  by

$$A(x) = \rho(x)\bar{y}, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

72

Obviously, A is linear and continuous. Next, we assert, for this function A, that

$$y - A(x) \notin -intC, \quad \forall x \in D, y \in H(x).$$

Suppose that there exist an  $x \in D$  and a  $y \in H(x)$  with

$$y - A(x) \in -intC$$
.

Since  $\sigma \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$ , we then get

$$0 > \sigma(y - A(x)) = \sigma(x) - \rho(x)\sigma(\bar{y}) = \sigma(y) - \rho(x).$$

This is a contradiction. Hence,

$$y - A(x) \notin -intC, \quad \forall x \in D, y \in H(x),$$

i.e., A is a weak subgradient of F at  $\bar{x}$ . Finally, for every  $x \in D$ , we get

$$A(x) \notin -intC \Rightarrow \rho(x)\bar{y} \notin -intC$$
  
 $\Rightarrow \rho(x) \ge 0$   
 $\Rightarrow A(x) \in C.$ 

Remark 2.56. (i) The following implication shows that the assumption condition " $F(\bar{x}) \cap (F(\bar{x}) - intC) = \varnothing$ " is rather restrictive for the set  $F(\bar{x})$ :

$$intF(\bar{x}) \neq \varnothing \Rightarrow F(\bar{x}) \cap (F(\bar{x}) - intC) \neq \varnothing.$$

Hence the assumption condition can only be fulfilled for a set  $F(\bar{x})$  with an empty interior.

Indeed, if  $int F(\bar{x})$  is nonempty, then there are a  $\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  and a neighborhood M of  $\bar{y}$  so that  $M \subset F(\bar{x})$ . Consequently, we obtain

$$F(\bar{x}) \cap (F(\bar{x}) - intC) \subset M \cap (M - intC) \neq \varnothing.$$

(ii) If, as a special case,  $F:K\to Y$  is single-valued, then the assumption condition is always fulfilled.

**Theorem 2.57.** Let C have a nonempty interior intC. If there exists a weak subgradient A of F at  $\bar{x} \in K$  such that

$$A(x - \bar{x}) \in C, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

then, every  $\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x}), (\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is a weakly minimal pair of (SOK), and we have the property

$$F(\bar{x})\cap (F(\bar{x})-intC)=\varnothing.$$

*Proof.* Since A is a weak subgradient of F at  $\bar{x} \in K$ , we have

$$F(x) - F(\bar{x}) - \{A(x - \bar{x})\} \subset W, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where  $W = Y \setminus (-intC)$ . Thus, for every  $\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$ , we have

$$F(x) - \bar{y} \subset \{A(x - \bar{x})\} + W \subset C + W = W, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

resulting in

$$F(K) \cap (\{\bar{y}\} - intC) = \emptyset,$$

i.e.,  $\bar{y}$  is a weak minimal point of F(K). Thus we have

$$F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x}) - \{A(0)\} \subset W,$$

resulting in

$$F(\bar{x}) - F(\bar{x}) \subset W$$
.

Hence

$$F(\bar{x}) \cap (F(\bar{x}) - intC) = \varnothing.$$

Remark 2.58. In the special case K=X, the assumption " $A(x-\bar{x})\in C, \forall x\in K$ " reads

$$A(x - \bar{x}) \in C, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Then we can conclude

$$A(x) \in C \cap (-C) = \{0\}, \quad \forall x \in X,$$

which means that A = 0, or in other words, 0 is a weak subgradient of F at  $\bar{x} \in X$ . Hence, we obtain the standard assumption known from the theory of subgradients in convex analysis.

# 2.6 Set-Valued VO with a Variable Domination Structure

In this section, we consider set-valued optimization problems with a variable domination structure.

Let X and Y be real normed spaces, and  $K \subset X$  be nonempty. Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a cone-valued function, i.e., for every  $x \in X$ , the set C(x) is a closed and convex cone with nonempty interior intC(x).

Let  $F:X\rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function. We consider a set-valued optimization problem with variable domination structure C:

(SOKV) 
$$\min_{x \in K} F(x).$$

**Definition 2.59.** Let  $\bar{x} \in K$  and  $\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$ .

(i) The pair  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is called a nondominated-like minimal solution pair of (SOKV) if

$$(F(K) - \bar{y}) \cap (-C(\bar{x})) = \{\bar{y}\}.$$

(ii) The pair  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is called a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution pair of (SOKV) if

$$(F(K) - \bar{y}) \cap (-intC(\bar{x})) = \{\bar{y}\}.$$

Under certain conditions, we shall see that a set-valued optimization problem (SOKV) can be transformed into an equivalent vector-valued optimization problem in the sense that their solution sets of nondominated-like minimal solution pairs are identical.

**Definition 2.60.** We say that a cone-valued function  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is pointed on  $K \subset X$  if the cone  $\bigcup_{x \in K} C(x)$  is pointed, i.e.,

$$(\bigcup_{x \in K} C(x)) \cap (-\bigcup_{x \in K} C(x)) = \{0\}.$$

Remark 2.61. A cone valued function  $C:K\rightrightarrows Y$  is pointed if and only if

$$C(x_1) \cap (-C(x_2)) = \{0\}, \forall x_1, x_2 \in K.$$

**Definition 2.62.** Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a vector-valued function and  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a cone valued function. We say that C is weakly upper f-monotone if, for any  $x_1, x_2 \in X$ ,  $x_1 \neq x_2$ ,

$$f(x_1) - f(x_2) \notin C(x_2) \setminus \{0\} \Rightarrow C(x_1) \subset C(x_2).$$

**Proposition 2.63.** Let  $K \subset X$  and  $C : X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a pointed cone-valued function on K. Let  $f : X \to Y$  be a vector-valued function and  $F : X \rightrightarrows Y$  be given by

$$F(x) = f(x) + C(x), \quad x \in X.$$

(i) Suppose that C is weakly upper f-monotone. If  $\bar{x} \in K$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution of the vector optimization problem:

$$(VOKV) \qquad \qquad \underset{x \in K}{Min_{C(x)}} f(x),$$

then  $(\bar{x}, f(\bar{x}))$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution pair of the setvalued optimization problem:

$$(SOKV) \qquad \qquad \underset{x \in K}{Min_{C(x)}} F(x).$$

(ii) If  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution pair of (SOKV), then  $\bar{x}$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution of (VOKV) and  $\bar{y} = f(\bar{x})$ .

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\bar{x} \in K$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution of (VOKV). Then

$$f(x) - f(\bar{x}) \notin -C(\bar{x}) \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

We claim that

$$(f(x) - f(\bar{x}) + C(x)) \cap (-C(\bar{x}) \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Indeed, if there exists  $\hat{x} \in K$  such that

$$(f(\hat{x}) - f(\bar{x}) + C(\hat{x})) \cap (-C(\bar{x}) \setminus \{0\}) \neq \emptyset,$$

then there exists  $\bar{c} \in C(\bar{x})$  and  $\bar{c} \neq 0$  such that

$$-\bar{c} \in f(\hat{x}) - f(\bar{x}) + C(\hat{x}).$$

It follows that

$$f(\hat{x}) - f(\bar{x}) \in -\bar{c} - C(\hat{x}).$$

From the pointedness and weak upper monotonicity of C, we have

$$f(\hat{x}) - f(\bar{x}) \in -\bar{c} - C(\bar{x}).$$

Since C is pointed and  $\bar{c} \neq 0$ , it follows that

$$f(\hat{x}) - f(\bar{x}) \in -C(\bar{x}) \setminus \{0\},\$$

which contradicts the fact that  $\bar{x}$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution. Thus, we have

$$y - f(\bar{x}) \notin -C(\bar{x}) \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall y \in F(x), x \in K.$$

Hence  $(\bar{x}, f(\bar{x}))$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution pair of (SOKV).

Now we prove that (ii) holds. To this end, let us assume that  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution pair of (SOKV). Then

$$\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x}) = f(\bar{x}) + C(\bar{x})$$

and

$$y - \bar{y} \notin -C(\bar{x}) \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall y \in F(K).$$
 (2.47)

It is clear that  $\bar{y} = f(\bar{x})$ . We are now ready to prove that  $\bar{x}$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution of (VOKV). Suppose to the contrary that  $\bar{x}$  is not a nondominated-like minimal solution of (VOKV). Then, for some point  $x_0 \in K \setminus \{\bar{x}\}$ ,

$$f(x_0) - f(\bar{x}) \in -C(\bar{x}) \setminus \{0\}.$$

But  $f(\bar{x}) = \bar{y}$ , and therefore

$$f(x_0) - \bar{y} \in -C(\bar{x}) \setminus \{0\},\$$

contradicting (2.47). Hence,  $\bar{x}$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution of (VOKV).

Contingent cone and contingent derivative are important tools for dealing set-valued optimization problems. They are now employed to derive necessary and sufficient optimality conditions for nondominated-like minimal pairs of set-valued optimization problems with a variable domination structure.

**Theorem 2.64.** Let X and Y be real normed spaces. Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a cone-valued function such that  $intC(x) \neq \emptyset$  for every  $x \in X$ . Let  $K \subset X$  be a nonempty subset, and let  $F: K \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that  $F(x) \neq \emptyset$  for every  $x \in K$ . If  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution pair of (SOKV), then

$$DF(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) \subset W(\bar{x}), \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where  $W(x) = Y \setminus (-intC(x))$  and  $DF(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is the contingent derivative of F at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ .

*Proof.* We proceed by contradiction. Let  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in K \times F(\bar{x})$  be a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution pair of (SOKV). Suppose that there is an  $x_0 \in K$  such that

$$DF(\bar{x},\bar{y})(x_0-\bar{x}) \nsubseteq W(\bar{x}).$$

Then there is a point z such that  $z \in DF(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x_0 - \bar{x})$  and  $z \in -intC(\bar{x})$ . By the definition of DF, we have

$$(x_0-x,z)\in T_{\mathrm{Gr}(F)}(\bar{x},\bar{y}).$$

So there are sequences  $\{(x_k, y_k)\}$  in Gr(F) and  $\{\lambda_k\}$  of positive numbers for which

$$(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (x_k, y_k)$$

and

$$(x_0 - \bar{x}, z) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \lambda_k (x_k - \bar{x}, y_k - \bar{y}).$$

We assert that there is a positive integer M so that

$$y_k \in \bar{y} - intC(\bar{x}), \quad \forall k \ge M.$$

Since  $y_k \in F(x_k) \subset \bigcup_{x \in K} F(x)$ , it follows that  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  cannot be a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution pair of (SOKV).

We need the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.65.** [6] Let X and Y be normed spaces,  $f: K \to Y$  be a single-valued function, where  $K \subset X$  is open,  $M: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function and  $L \subset X$ . Let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function defined by

$$F(x) = \begin{cases} f(x) - M(x), & \text{if } x \in L \\ \emptyset, & \text{if } x \notin L. \end{cases}$$

If f is Fréchet differentiable at  $x \in K \cap dom(F)$ , then, for every  $y \in F(x)$ ,

$$DF(x,y)(u) \subset \begin{cases} f'(x)(u) - DM(x,f(x)-y)(u), & \text{if } u \in T(L,x) \\ \emptyset, & \text{if } u \notin T(L,x). \end{cases}$$

If M is constant, then

$$DF(x, y)(u) = f'(x)(u) - T(M, f(x) - y).$$

**Corollary 2.66.** Let the assumptions of Theorem 2.64 hold. Let C be a constant cone-valued function, i.e., C(x) = C, for every  $x \in K$ , where C is a pointed, closed and convex cone with  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . Let  $f: K \to Y$  be a Fréchet differentiable single-valued function. If  $(\bar{x}, f(\bar{x})) \in intK \times Y$  is a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution pair of (SOKV), then  $\bar{x}$  satisfies the vector variational inequality

$$f'(\bar{x})(x-\bar{x}) \in W, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where  $W = Y \setminus (-C)$ .

*Proof.* Set F(x) = f(x) + C for every  $x \in K$ . If f is Fréchet differentiable, then for  $(x, y) \in GrF$  we have, by Lemma 2.65,

$$DF(x,y)(u) = f'(x)u - T(C,f(x) - y), \quad \forall u \in T(K,x).$$

Thus from Theorem 2.64, we have

$$f'(x)(x-\bar{x})-T(C,f(\bar{x})-f(\bar{x}))\subset W,\quad \forall x\in K\cap (\bar{x}+T(K,\bar{x})),$$

i.e.,

$$f'(\bar{x})(x-\bar{x}) - T(C,0) \subset W, \quad \forall x \in K \cap (\bar{x} + T(K,\bar{x})).$$

Since C is a closed convex cone and  $\bar{x} \in intK$ , we have T(C,0) = C and  $T(K,\bar{x}) = X$ . Hence

$$f'(\bar{x})(x-\bar{x}) \subset W, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Next, we establish a sufficient condition for (SOKV). To this end, we need some concepts.

**Definition 2.67.** Let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function. F is said to be  $C(\bar{x})$  pseudo-convex at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in Gr(F)$  if and only if

$$F(x) - \bar{y} \subset DF(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) + C(\bar{x}), \quad \forall x \in Dom(F).$$

**Definition 2.68.** Let K be a nonempty convex subset of X, and let  $\bar{x} \in K$  and  $\bar{y} \in F(K)$ . F is said to be  $C(\bar{x})$ -convex at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  if, for any  $x', x'' \in K$  and  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$\lambda F(x') + (1 - \lambda)F(x'') \subset F(\lambda x' + (1 - \lambda)x'') + C(\bar{x}).$$

Remark 2.69. The order pseudo-convex function is a generalization of the pseudo-convex function given in Aubin and Frankowska [6]. If C is a constant function, the C-convexity at  $\bar{y}$  of F reduces to the usual C-convexity of F.

**Definition 2.70 (Thibault [193]).** A set-valued function  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is said to be compactly approximable at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in Gr(F)$ , if, for every  $\bar{x} \in X$ , there are a set-valued function  $\mathbb{R}$  from X into the set of all nonempty compact subsets of Y, a neighborhood V of  $\bar{x}$  in X, and a real function  $r: (0,1] \times X \to (0,+\infty)$  satisfying

- (i)  $\lim_{(t,x)\to(0_+,\bar{x})} r(t,x) = 0$ ,
- (ii) for every  $x \in V$  and  $t \in (0,1]$

$$F(\bar{x}+tx)\subset \bar{y}+t(R(\bar{x})+r(t,x)B_Y),$$

where  $B_Y$  is the closed unit ball centered at the origin of Y.

**Lemma 2.71.** [183] Let  $C \subset Y$  be a nonempty, pointed, closed and convex cone. Let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function. Let  $(x_0, y_0) \in Gr(F)$ . If F is compactly approximable at  $(x_0, y_0)$ , then

$$D(F+C)(x_0, y_0)(u) = DF(x_0, y_0)(u) + C, \quad \forall u \in X.$$

**Proposition 2.72.** Let the set-valued function  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be compactly approximable at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in Gr(F)$  and let Dom(F) be a nonempty convex subset. Let F be C(x)-convex at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ . Then F is  $C(\bar{x})$  pseudo-convex at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ .

*Proof.* Fix a point  $(x, y) \in Gr(F)$ . We define a sequence  $\{(x_k, y_k)\}$  in  $X \times Y$  by

$$x_k = \bar{x} + \frac{1}{k}(x - \bar{x}), \quad y_k = \bar{y} + \frac{1}{k}(y - \bar{y}), \quad \forall k \in N.$$

Since dom(F) is convex and F is  $C(\bar{x})$ -convex at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ , it follows that, for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$x_k = (1 - \frac{1}{k})\bar{x} + \frac{1}{k}x \in \text{Dom}(F)$$

and

$$y_k = (1 - \frac{1}{k})\bar{y} + \frac{1}{k}y \in F((1 - \frac{1}{k})\bar{x} + \frac{1}{k}x) + C(\bar{x})$$
  
=  $F(x_k) + C(\bar{x})$ .

Thus,  $(x_k, y_k) \in Gr(F + C(\bar{x}))$ , for every  $k \in N$ , and  $(x_k, y_k) \to (\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  as  $k \to \infty$ . Moreover, we have

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} n(x_k - \bar{x}, y_k - \bar{y}) = (x - \bar{x}, y - \bar{y}).$$

Consequently,

$$(x - \bar{x}, y - \bar{y}) \in T_{Gr(F + C(\bar{x}))}(\bar{x}, \bar{y}).$$

Therefore,

$$y - \bar{y} \in D(F + C(\bar{x}))(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}), \quad \forall x \in \text{Dom}(F), y \in F(x).$$

F being compactly approximable at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ , by Lemma 2.71, we have

$$D(F+C(\bar{x}))(\bar{x},\bar{y})(x-\bar{x}) = DF(\bar{x},\bar{y})(x-\bar{x}) + C(\bar{x}).$$

Thus

$$y - \bar{y} \in DF(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) + C(\bar{x}), \quad \forall x \in Dom(F), y \in F(x).$$

So F is  $C(\bar{x})$  pseudo-convex at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ .

**Theorem 2.73.** Let X and Y be real normed spaces. Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a cone-valued function such that  $intC(x) \neq \emptyset$  for every  $x \in X$ . Let  $K \subset X$  be a nonempty convex subset and let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be compactly approximable at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in Gr(F)$ . Suppose that F is  $C(\bar{x})$ -convex at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ ,  $C(\bar{x})$  is a pointed, closed and convex cone, and

$$\varnothing \neq DF(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) \subset W(\bar{x}), \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where  $W(\bar{x}) = Y \setminus (-intC(\bar{x}))$ . Then  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution pair of (SOKV).

*Proof.* By assumption, we have

$$DF(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) \cap (-intC(\bar{x})) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Since  $C(\bar{x})$  is pointed and convex, we have

$$(DF(\bar{x}, \bar{y})(x - \bar{x}) + C(\bar{x})) \cap (-intC(\bar{x})) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

By Proposition 2.72, F is  $C(\bar{x})$  pseudo-convex at  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$ . Thus we have

$$(F(x) - \bar{y}) \cap (-intC(\bar{x})) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

So  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is a weakly nondominated-like solution pair of (SOKV).

#### 2.7 Augmented Lagrangian Duality for VO

The conventional Lagrangian function is discussed in section 2.3 where convexity is posed to guarantee the strong duality. However, such a strong duality result may be not true if the convexity is not assumed. Let  $Y = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ ,  $\ell = 1$ ,  $X = [0, +\infty)$ , f(x) = x,  $g(x) = x - x^2$ . Consider the problem:

$$\inf_{x \in X} f(x), \quad \text{s.t. } g_1(x) \le 0.$$

The conventional Lagrangian for this problem is

$$L(x,\lambda) = f(x) + \lambda g_1(x) = x + \lambda (x - x^2), \ \forall x \in X, \ \lambda \ge 0.$$

It is easy to check that  $\inf_{x \in X} L(x, \lambda) = -\infty, \forall \lambda > 0$  and  $\inf_{x \in X} L(x, 0) = 0$ . Thus,  $\sup_{\lambda \geq 0} \inf_{x \in X} L(x, \lambda) = 0$ . However, the optimal value of the original constrained problem is 1.

In this section, let  $X=\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $Y=\mathbb{R}^\ell\cup\{-\infty,+\infty\}$ , where  $-\infty$  is an imaginary point, each of whose coordinates is  $-\infty$ , and the imaginary point  $+\infty$  is analogously understood. Let  $C=\mathbb{R}^\ell_+\cup\{+\infty\}$  and  $intC=int\mathbb{R}^\ell_+\cup\{+\infty\}$ . Without confusion, we shall not differentiate the  $-\infty,+\infty$  in  $\mathbb{R}^\ell\cup\{-\infty,+\infty\}$  and the  $-\infty$  and  $+\infty$  in the extended real space. The same terminology and notation such as minimal solutions and ordering relations for standard vector optimization problems will be used for (EOP). In particular, for the space  $\mathbb{R}^\ell\cup\{-\infty,+\infty\}$ , we use the following orderings: for any  $z^1=(z_1^1,\cdots,z_\ell^1), z^2=(z_1^2,\cdots,z_\ell^2)\in\mathbb{R}^\ell\cup\{-\infty,+\infty\}$ ,

$$\begin{split} z^1 &\leq_C z^2 \iff z_i^1 \leq z_i^2, \quad i=1,\cdots,\ell; \\ z^1 &\leq_{C\backslash\{0\}} z^2 \iff z_i^1 \leq z_i^2, \\ & i=1,\cdots,\ell \text{ with at least one } i \text{ such that } z_i^1 < z_i^2; \\ z^1 &\leq_{intC} z^2 \iff z_i^1 < z_i^2, \quad i=1,\cdots,\ell. \end{split}$$

Moreover, let  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a nonempty set. By  $z^* \in \text{Inf}_C A$ , we mean that

- (i)  $z^* \in \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{+\infty, -\infty\};$
- (ii)  $z \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} z^*, \forall z \in A;$
- (iii)  $\exists z_k \in A \text{ such that } z_k \to z^*$ .

The point  $z^* \in \text{Inf}_C A$  is called an infimum point of A.

Meanwhile, we define  $z^* \in \operatorname{Sup}_C A$  if and only if  $-z^* \in \operatorname{Inf}_C(-A)$ .

**Definition 2.74.** Let  $f: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{-\infty, +\infty\}$  be an extended vector-valued function. Then f is said to be proper if  $f(x) > -\infty, \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and there exists some  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $f(x) < +\infty$ .

Consider the primal vector optimization problem (EOP):

$$\inf_{x \in \mathbb{IR}^n} f(x)$$

where  $f: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{-\infty, +\infty\}$  is a proper extended vector-valued function.

Finally, the set of minimal solutions and weakly minimal solutions of (EOP) are denoted respectively by  $\operatorname{Min}_{C}(f, \mathbb{R}^{n})$  and  $\operatorname{Min}_{intC}(f, \mathbb{R}^{n})$ , namely,

$$\operatorname{Min}_{C}(f, \mathbb{R}^{n}) = \{x^{*} \in \mathbb{R}^{n} : f(x) \nleq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(x^{*}), \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^{n}\},\$$

$$\operatorname{Min}_{intC}(f, \mathbb{R}^n) = \{x^* \in \mathbb{R}^n : f(x) \not\leq_{intC} f(x^*), \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n\}.$$

Let  $\bar{f}: \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{+\infty\}$  be a perturbed function such that  $\bar{f}(x,0) = f(x), \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Define the optimal value function by

$$p(u) = \operatorname{Inf}_C\{\bar{f}(x, u) : x \in \mathbb{R}^n\}, \quad u \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

Obviously, p(0) is the set of the infimum points of (EOP). It is also clear that  $\operatorname{Min}_C f(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset p(0)$ .

A function  $\sigma : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}$  is called an augmenting function if it is proper, lower semicontinuous, and convex with the unique minimum value 0 at  $0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

**Definition 2.75.** Let  $\sigma: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}$  be an augmenting function and  $e = (1, \dots, 1)^\top \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$ . The augmented Lagrangian  $L: \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m \times (0, +\infty) \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{+\infty, -\infty\}$  is a set-valued function defined by

$$L(x, y, r) = Inf_C\{\bar{f}(x, u) + r\sigma(u)e - \langle y, u \rangle e : u \in \mathbb{R}^m\},\$$

where  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n, y \in \mathbb{R}^m, r \in (0, +\infty)$ .

The augmented Lagrangian dual function is a set-valued function defined by

$$\Psi(y,r) = \operatorname{Inf}_C \cup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} L(x,y,r), \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^m, r \in (0,+\infty).$$

The augmented Lagrangian dual problem is a set-valued optimization problem defined by

(DEOP) 
$$Sup_C \Psi(y,r)$$
 subject to  $(y,r) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times (0,+\infty)$ .

Denote by Q the set of all the supermum points of the dual problem (DEOP).

We have the following proposition, whose proof is elementary and omitted.

**Proposition 2.76.** For any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $r \in (0, +\infty)$  and  $z \in L(x, y, r)$ , we have  $z \not\geq_C f(x)$ .

**Definition 2.77.** Let X be a set. Let  $f: X \to \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \cup \{-\infty, +\infty\}$  be an extended vector-valued function.

(i) f is said to be externally stable if, for any  $x \in X$ , there exists a minimal solution  $x^*$  of f on X such that  $f(x^*) \leq_C f(x)$ .

(ii) f is said to be Inf-externally stable if, for any  $x \in X$ , there exists a  $z^* \in Inf_C$  f(X) such that  $z^* \leq_C f(x)$ .

(iii) f is said to be bounded below on X if there exists  $z \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  such that  $f(x) \geq_C z, \forall x \in X$ .

**Proposition 2.78.** Let  $A \subseteq \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \cup \{-\infty, +\infty\}$  be a nonempty set and there exists  $z_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  such that  $a \geq_C z_0, \forall a \in A$ . Then, for any  $a \in A$ , there exists  $a^* \in Inf_C A$  such that  $a^* \leq_C a$ .

*Proof.* Clearly,  $-\infty \notin A$ . If  $A = \{+\infty\}$ , then the conclusion holds automatically. Now assume that  $A \setminus \{+\infty\} \neq \emptyset$ . Let  $a \in A$ . Consider the following two cases:

- (i)  $a \leq_{intC} +\infty$ .
- (ii)  $a = +\infty$ .

Suppose that case (i) holds. Then  $A_1 = \{b \in A : b \leq_C a\} = \{b \in A : z_0 \leq_C b \leq_C a\}$  is a nonempty and bounded subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . Thus,  $clA_1$  is a nonempty and compact subset of  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . It follows that there exists  $a^* \in clA_1$  such that

$$b \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} a^*, \quad \forall b \in clA_1. \tag{2.48}$$

Since  $a^* \in clA_1$ , by the definition of  $A_1$ , we see that  $z_0 \leq_C a^* \leq_C a$ . So  $a^* \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$  and  $a^* \leq_C a$ . Moreover, there exists  $a_k \in A_1 \subseteq A$  such that  $a_k \to a^*$ . Finally, we show that  $b \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} a^*, \forall b \in A$ . Indeed, if  $b \notin A_1$ , it can be easily shown by contradiction that  $b \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} a^*$ . If  $b \in A_1$ , it follows from (2.48) that  $b \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} a^*$ . Thus, we have proved  $a^* \in \operatorname{Inf}_C A$ .

Suppose that case (ii) holds. Then choose  $a_1 \in A$  such that  $a_1 \leq_{intC} +\infty$ . Replacing a in the proof of case (i) by  $a_1$ , the conclusion follows.

**Corollary 2.79.** Let X be a set. Let  $f: X \to \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \cup \{-\infty, +\infty\}$  be an extended vector-valued function, which is bounded below on X. Then f is Inf-externally stable on X.

*Proof.* The conclusion follows directly from Proposition 2.78.

Let  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$  and r > 0. It is obvious (by setting u = 0) that if  $\bar{f}(x,\cdot) + r\sigma(\cdot) - \langle y,\cdot \rangle$  is Inf-externally stable on  $\mathbb{R}^m$ , then there exists  $z \in L(x,y,r)$  such that  $z \leq_C f(x)$ . The following theorem can be straightforwardly proved.

**Theorem 2.80.** Weak Duality. Let  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $r \in (0, +\infty)$ . Assume that there exists  $z \in L(x, y, r)$  such that  $z \leq_C f(x)$ . Then

$$z^2 \not\geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} f(x), \quad \forall z^2 \in \Psi(y,r).$$

The following corollary follows immediately from Theorem 2.80.

Corollary 2.81. Let the assumption in Theorem 2.80 hold. Then

$$z^2 \not\geq_{intC} z^1$$
,  $\forall z^1 \in p(0), z^2 \in Q$ .

**Definition 2.82.** (i) A function  $g: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty, -\infty\}$  is called level-bounded if, for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , the set  $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : g(x) \leq \alpha\}$  is bounded.

(ii) A function  $h: \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty, -\infty\}$  with values h(x, u) is called level-bounded in x locally uniformly in u if for each  $\bar{u} \in \mathbb{R}^m$  and  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ , there exists a neighborhood  $V_{\bar{u}}$  of  $\bar{u}$  along with a bounded set  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : h(x, v) \leq \alpha\} \subset D$  for all  $v \in V_{\bar{u}}$ .

Now we introduce the function  $\xi$  defined by

$$\xi(z) = \max \{z_1, \dots, z_{\ell}\}, \ \forall z = (z_1, \dots, z_{\ell}) \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \cup \{-\infty, +\infty\}.$$

It is easy to check that  $\xi$  is an increasing, continuous, subadditive, positively homogenous and convex function.

It is also clear that

$$\xi(z+te) = \xi(z) + t, \ \forall z \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \cup \{+\infty\}, t \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}.$$

The following lemma will be frequently used in the sequel.

**Lemma 2.83.** [176] Let X be a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $f: X \to \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{-\infty, +\infty\}$  be a proper vector-valued function such that each component  $f_i$   $(i = 1, \dots, l)$  is lsc. Suppose that  $x_0 \in X$  is such that  $f(x_0) \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$  and  $X_1 = \{x \in X : f(x) \leq_C f(x_0)\}$  is a compact set. Then there exists  $x^* \in X_1$  such that  $f(x) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(x^*), \forall x \in X$ .

**Theorem 2.84.** Strong Duality. Assume that, for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $r \in (0, +\infty)$ , there exists  $z^* \in L(x, y, r)$  such that  $z^* \leq_C f(x)$ . Suppose that  $\bar{f}(x, u)$  is a proper vector-valued function such that each of its component function  $\bar{f}_i(x, u)$  is lsc and  $\xi(\bar{f}(x, u))$  is level-bounded in x locally uniformly in u. Suppose further that there exist  $\bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , and  $\bar{r} > 0$  such that

$$Inf_C\{\xi(\bar{f}(x,u)) + \bar{r}\sigma(u) - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle) : x \in \mathbb{R}^n, u \in \mathbb{R}^m\} \ge_{intC} -\infty.$$
 (2.49)

Then  $p(0) \subseteq Q$ .

Proof. Let  $\bar{z} \in p(0)$ . Obviously,  $\bar{z} \leq_{intC} + \infty$ . In addition, from (2.49) we deduce that  $\bar{z} \geq_{intC} - \infty$ . Hence  $\bar{z} \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . By the assumption on  $\xi(\bar{f}(x,u))$  and setting u=0, we see that  $\xi(\bar{f}(x,0))=\xi(f(x))$  is level-bounded. Moreover,  $\bar{z} \in p(0)$  implies that there exists  $\{x_k\} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $f(x_k) \to \bar{z}$  as  $k \to +\infty$ . Consequently,  $\xi(f(x_k)) \to \xi(\bar{z})$ . In addition, the lsc of  $\bar{f}_i$  and  $\bar{f}(x,0)=f(x), \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  imply that each component function  $f_i$  of f is lsc and therefore,  $\xi(f)$  is lsc. Thus we see that the set  $\{x:\xi(f(x))\leq\xi(\bar{z})+1\}$  is a nonempty and closed set, hence a nonempty and compact set because  $\xi(f(x))=\xi(\bar{f}(x,0))$  is level-bounded. As a result, we can assume, without loss of generality, that  $x_k \to x^*$ . By the lsc of  $f_i$ , we have

$$f_i(x^*) \le \liminf_{k \to +\infty} f_i(x_k) = \lim_{k \to +\infty} f_i(x_k) = \bar{z}_i, \ i = 1, \dots, \ell,$$

where  $\bar{z}_i$  is the *i*th coordinate of  $\bar{z}$ . Thus we obtain  $f(x^*) \leq_C \bar{z}$ . It follows that  $f(x^*) = \bar{z}$  because  $\bar{z} \in p(0)$ . Let

$$A(\bar{y}, r) = \{(x, u) : \bar{f}(x, u) + r\sigma(u)e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e \le_C f(x^*)\}, \ r \ge \bar{r} + 1.$$

Clearly,  $(x^*, 0) \in A(\bar{y}, r)$ . Let  $(x, u) \in A(\bar{y}, r)$ . Then

$$\xi(f(x^*)) \ge \xi(\bar{f}(x,u)) + \bar{r}\sigma(u) - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle + (r - \bar{r})\sigma(u) \ge m_0 + (r - \bar{r})\sigma(u),$$

where

$$m_0 = \inf\{\xi(\bar{f}(x,u)) + \bar{r}\sigma(u) - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle : x \in \mathbb{R}^n, u \in \mathbb{R}^m\} > -\infty.$$

So we get

$$\sigma(u) \le \frac{\xi(f(x^*)) - m_0}{r - \bar{r}} \le \xi(f(x^*)) - m_0, \quad r \ge \bar{r} + 1. \tag{2.50}$$

Since  $\sigma$  is an augmenting function, we deduce that  $\sigma$  is level-bounded and  $U_1 = \{u : \sigma(u) \leq \xi(f(x^*)) - m_0\}$  is compact. Let

$$F = \{(x, u) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times U_1 : \xi(\bar{f}(x, u)) \le \xi(f(x^*)) + \max_{u \in U_1} \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle \},$$

$$B(\bar{y},r) = \{(x,u) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m : \xi(\bar{f}(x,u)) + r\sigma(u) - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle \le \xi(f(x^*))\}.$$

Since  $\xi(\bar{f})$  is level-bounded in x locally uniformly in u, we deduce that  $A(\bar{y},r)\subseteq B(\bar{y},r)\subseteq F$ . Using the fact that  $\xi(\bar{f}(x,u))$  is level-bounded in x locally uniformly in u and that it is also lsc, it can be shown by contradiction that F is compact. By the lsc of  $\bar{f}_i$  and  $\sigma$ , we know that  $A(\bar{y},r)$  is closed. So  $A(\bar{y},r)$  is compact. Let  $r_k\uparrow+\infty$ . Assume that  $r_k\geq \bar{r}+1$  when  $k\geq k_0$ . Since  $A(\bar{y},r_k)$  is compact when  $k\geq k_0$  and each  $\bar{f}_i(x,u)+r_k\sigma(u)-\langle \bar{y},u\rangle$   $(i=1,\cdots,\ell)$  is lsc in (x,u), we deduce that  $\exists (x_k^*,u_k^*)\in A(\bar{y},r_k)\subseteq F$  such that, for  $k\geq k_0$ ,

$$\bar{f}(x_k^*, u_k^*) + r_k \sigma(u_k^*) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k^* \rangle e$$

$$\in \operatorname{Inf}_C \{ \bar{f}(x, u) + r_k \sigma(u) e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e : (x, u) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m \}. (2.51)$$

Let us show that

$$\bar{f}(x_k^*, u_k^*) + r_k \sigma(u_k^*) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k^* \rangle e 
\in \Psi(\bar{y}, r_k), \ k \ge k_0$$
(2.52)

When  $k \geq k_0$ , by (2.51), we get

$$\bar{f}(x,u) + r_k \sigma(u) e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} \bar{f}(x_k^*, u_k^*) - r_k \sigma(u_k^*) e + \langle \bar{y}, u_k^* \rangle e,$$

for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $u \in \mathbb{R}^m$ . Therefore,

$$\bar{f}(x_k^*, u) + r_k \sigma(u) e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} \bar{f}(x_k^*, u_k^*) - r_k \sigma(u_k^*) e + \langle \bar{y}, u_k^* \rangle e,$$

for all  $u \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , and  $k \geq k_0$ . That is, for  $k \geq k_0$ ,

$$\bar{f}(x_k^*, u_k^*) + r_k \sigma(u_k^*) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k^* \rangle e 
\in \operatorname{Inf}_C \{ \bar{f}(x_k^*, u) + r_k \sigma(u) e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e : u \in \mathbb{R}^m \} 
= L(x_k^*, \bar{y}, r_k).$$

We prove by contradiction that (2.52) holds. Suppose that there exist  $k_1 \geq k_0$ ,  $x' \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $z \in L(x', \bar{y}, r_{k_1})$  such that

$$\bar{f}(x_{k_1}^*, u_{k_1}^*) + r_{k_1}\sigma(u_{k_1}^*)e - \langle \bar{y}, u_{k_1}^* \rangle e \ge_{C \setminus \{0\}} z$$
(2.53)

It follows that there exist  $u_k \in \mathbb{R}^m$  and  $z_k \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$  such that

$$z = z_k + \bar{f}(x', u_k) + r_{k_1}\sigma(u_k)e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e \text{ and } z_k \to 0, \text{ as } k \to +\infty$$
 (2.54)

and

$$\bar{f}(x', u_k) + r_{k_1} \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e + z_k 
\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} \bar{f}(x_{k_1}^*, u_{k_1}^*) + r_{k_1} \sigma(u_{k_1}^*) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_{k_1}^* \rangle e.$$
(2.55)

Just as we have shown that  $A(\bar{y},r) \subseteq F$  is bounded when  $r \geq_C \bar{r} + 1$ , we can show by employing (2.55) that  $\{u_k\}$  is bounded. Without loss of generality, we assume that  $u_k \to u'$ . Letting  $k \to \infty$  in (2.54), (2.55) and applying the lsc of the function  $\bar{f}$  and  $\sigma$ , we obtain

$$z \leq_C \bar{f}(x', u') + r_{k_1} \sigma(u') e - \langle \bar{y}, u' \rangle e$$
  
$$\leq_C \bar{f}(x_{k_1}^*, u_{k_1}^*) + r_{k_1} \sigma(u_{k_1}^*) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_{k_1}^* \rangle e.$$
 (2.56)

Noting that  $z \in L(x', \bar{y}, r_{k_1})$ , we deduce from the first inequality in (2.56) that

$$z = \bar{f}(x', u') + r_{k_1} \sigma(u') e - \langle \bar{y}, u' \rangle e.$$

This fact combined with (2.51) and (2.53) yields a contradiction.

As  $\{(x_k^*, u_k^*)\} \subseteq F$  and F is compact, without loss of generality, we assume that

$$(x_k^*, u_k^*) \to (x_0, u_0) \in F.$$

It follows from (2.50) that

$$\sigma(u_k) \le \frac{\xi(f(x^*)) - m_0}{r_k - \bar{r}}, \quad k \ge k_0.$$

Therefore,

$$\sigma(u_0) \le \lim \inf_{k \to \infty} \sigma(u_k^*) \le 0.$$

As a result,  $u_0 = 0$ . Moreover, we have

$$\bar{f}(x_k^*) - \langle \bar{y}, u_k^* \rangle e \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} \bar{f}(x_k^*, u_k^*) + r_k \sigma(u_k^*) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k^* \rangle e \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(x^*).$$
 (2.57)

Namely,

$$\bar{f}_i(x_k^*, u_k^*) - \langle \bar{y}, u_k^* \rangle \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f_i(x^*), \quad i = 1, \dots, \ell.$$

Thus

$$f_i(x_0) = f_i(x_0, 0) \le \lim \inf_{n \to \infty} f_i(x_k^*, u_k^*) - 0 \le f_i(x^*), \quad i = 1, \dots, \ell.$$
 (2.58)

Since  $f(x^*) \in p(0)$ ,  $f(x_0) = f(x^*)$ . This fact combined with (2.58) yields

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} f_i(x_k^*, u_k^*) = f_i(x^*), \quad i = 1, \dots, \ell.$$
 (2.59)

(2.57) and (2.59) yield

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \bar{f}(x_k^*, u_k^*) + r_k \sigma(u_k^*) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k^* \rangle e = f(x^*).$$

Furthermore, by Theorem 2.80, we have

$$z \not\geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(x^*), \quad \forall z \in \Psi(y, r), y \in \mathbb{R}^m, r > 0.$$

Hence 
$$z^* = f(x^*) \in Q$$
.

It is worth mentioning that if  $\bar{f}(x, u)$  is not proper or lsc, and that f is not proper, then Theorem 2.84 may not be valid even for a scalar optimization problem. Let us look at the following example.

Example 2.85. Let  $\ell=m=n=1,\,\sigma(u)=|u|, \forall u\in {\rm I\!R},\, f(x)=+\infty, \forall x\in {\rm I\!R}.$  Let

$$\bar{f}(x,u) = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } u \neq 0, x \in [0,1]; \\ +\infty, & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Clearly,  $\bar{f}(x, u)$  is level-bounded in x locally uniformly in u.  $\bar{f}$  is also proper, but not lsc. Simple calculation gives us the augmented Lagrangian: for any  $y \in \mathbb{R}, r > 0$ ,

$$\bar{l}(x, y, r) = \begin{cases} \inf_{u \neq 0} \{-yu + r|u|\}, & \text{if } x \in [0, 1]; \\ +\infty, & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

For any r > 0,  $\bar{\psi}(0,r) = \inf_{u \neq 0} r|u| = 0 > -\infty$ . However, from the expression of  $\bar{l}(x,y,r)$ , we deduce that  $\bar{l}(x,y,r) \leq 0, \forall x \in [0,1], y \in \mathbb{R}, r > 0$ . Hence

$$\sup_{y \in \mathrm{IR}, r > 0} \bar{\psi}(y, r) \le 0.$$

So

$$\sup_{y \in \mathbb{IR}, r > 0} \bar{\psi}(y, r) < \inf_{x \in \mathbb{IR}} f(x) = +\infty.$$

That is, Theorem 2.84 fails.

The following proposition further illustrates the relationship between the dual map  $\Psi$  and solutions of (EOP).

**Proposition 2.86.** Assume that  $\bar{f}: \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{+\infty\}$  is a proper extended vector-valued function such that each of its component function  $\bar{f}_i(x,u)$  is lsc. Assume further that there exist  $\bar{y}, \bar{r}$  such that

$$\bar{f}(x,u) + \bar{r}\sigma(u)e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e \geq_C m_1 e, \quad \forall x, u,$$

where  $m_1$  is a real number. Let  $r_k \to +\infty$  and each  $x_k$  a weakly minimal solution to

$$(EOP_k)$$
 Inf<sub>C</sub>  $L(x, \bar{y}, r_k)$  subject to  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

If  $x_k \to x^*$  and  $\{\xi(f(x_k))\}\$  is bounded from above, then  $x^* \in Min_{int}C(f,\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

*Proof.* Suppose to the contrary that there exist  $x' \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\epsilon_0 > 0$  such that

$$f(x') - f(x^*) \le_C -\epsilon_0 e$$
.

Let

$$U_k = \{ u \in \mathbb{R}^m : \bar{f}(x', u) + r_k \sigma(u) e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e \leq_C f(x') \}.$$

As argued in the proof of Theorem 2.84, we can show that there exist  $k_0 > 0$  and a compact set  $U_0$  such that  $U_k$  is compact and  $U_k \subset U_0$  when  $k > k_0$ . Thus, for every  $k > k_0$ , there exists  $u_k \in U_k$  such that  $u_k$  is a minimal solution of the problem:

$$\operatorname{Inf}_C \bar{f}(x', u) + r_k \sigma(u) e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e$$
, subject to  $u \in \mathbb{R}^m$ .

Since  $x_k$  is a weakly minimal solution to  $(EOP_k)$ , we deduce that  $\exists z_k \in Inf\{\bar{f}(x_k, \mathbb{R}^m) + r_k\sigma(\mathbb{R}^m) - \langle \bar{y}, \mathbb{R}^m \rangle e\}$  such that

$$\bar{f}(x', u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e \not\leq_{intC} z_k, \ k > k_0.$$
 (2.60)

As

$$z_k \in \operatorname{Inf}_C\{\bar{f}(x_k, u) + r_k \sigma(u) - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e : u \in \mathbb{R}^m\}, \tag{2.61}$$

we deduce that, for every  $k > k_0$ , there exists a sequence  $\{u_k^j\}$  such that

$$\bar{f}(x_k, u_k^j) + r_k \sigma(u_k^j) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k^j \rangle e \to z_k, \quad \text{as } j \to +\infty.$$

It is not difficult to prove that, for every  $k > k_0$ ,  $\{u_k^j\}$  is bounded. So we assume without loss of generality that  $u_k^j \to u_k'$  as  $j \to \infty$ . Moreover,  $\bar{f}_i$  and  $\sigma$  are lsc, therefore,

$$\bar{f}(x_k, u_k') + r_k \sigma(u_k') e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k' \rangle e \le_C z_k, \quad k > k_0.$$

$$(2.62)$$

(2.61) and (2.62) yield

$$z_{k} = \bar{f}(x_{k}, u_{k}') + r_{k}\sigma(u_{k}')e - \langle \bar{y}, u_{k}' \rangle e, \quad k > k_{0}.$$
 (2.63)

Substituting (2.63) into (2.60), we get for  $k > k_0$ 

$$\bar{f}(x', u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e \not\leq_{intC} \bar{f}(x_k, u_k') - r_k \sigma(u_k') e + \langle \bar{y}, u_k' \rangle e.$$
 (2.64)

The combination of (2.61) and (2.63) yields

$$f(x_k) = \bar{f}(x_k, 0) + r_k \sigma(0) e - \langle \bar{y}, 0 \rangle e$$

$$\not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} - \bar{f}(x_k, u_k') - r_k \sigma(u_k') e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k' \rangle e, \quad k > k_0.$$

As a result,

$$f(x_k) \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} (r_k - \bar{r})\sigma(u_k')e + m_1e, \quad k > k_0.$$

Thus

$$\xi(f(x_k)) \ge (r_k - \bar{r})\sigma(u_k') - m_1, \quad k > k_0.$$

It follows that  $\{u_k'\}$  is bounded because  $\{\xi(f(x_k))\}$  is bounded above. Without loss of generality, we assume that  $u_k' \to u^*$ . Since  $\{\xi(f(x_k))\}$  is bounded above, arguing as in the proof of Theorem 2.84, we can prove that  $u^* = 0$ . By the lsc of  $\bar{f}_i$  and  $\sigma$ , we obtain

$$f_i(x^*) \leq_C \liminf_{n \to \infty} f_i(x_k, u_k') + r_k \sigma(u_k') + \langle \bar{y}, u_k' \rangle, \quad i = 1, \dots, \ell.$$

So there exists  $k_1 > k_0$  such that

$$\bar{f}(x_k, u_k') + r_k \sigma(u_k') e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k' \rangle e \ge_C f(x^*) - \epsilon_0 / 2e, \quad k \ge k_1 > k_0$$
 (2.65)

Note that  $u_k \in U_k$ , i.e.,

$$\bar{f}(x', u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e \leq_C f(x'), \quad k > k_0.$$

This inequality combined with (14) yields

$$\bar{f}(x', u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e - f(x^*) \le_C -\epsilon_0 e, \quad k > k_0.$$
 (2.66)

(2.65) and (2.66) jointly yield, for  $k \ge k_1 > k_0$ ,

$$\bar{f}(x', u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e - \bar{f}(x_k, u_k') - r_k \sigma(u_k') e + \langle \bar{y}, u_k' \rangle e 
<_C - \epsilon_0 / 2e,$$
(2.67)

$$(2.67)$$
 contradicts  $(2.64)$ .

## 2.8 Augmented Lagrangian Penalization for VO

Consider the primal vector optimization problem (EOP):

$$\inf_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} f(x)$$

where  $f: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{-\infty, +\infty\}$  is a proper extended vector-valued function.

Let  $\bar{f}: \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{+\infty\}$  be a perturbed function such that  $\bar{f}(x,0) = f(x), \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . The optimal value function is defined by

$$p(u) = \operatorname{Inf}_C \{ \bar{f}(x, u) : x \in \mathbb{R}^n \}, \quad u \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

Let  $\sigma: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}$  be an augmenting function. The augmented Lagrangian  $L: \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m \times (0, +\infty) \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{+\infty, -\infty\}$  is a set-valued function defined by

$$L(x, y, r) = \operatorname{Inf}_{C} \{ \bar{f}(x, u) + r\sigma(u)e - \langle y, u \rangle e : u \in \mathbb{R}^{m} \},$$

where  $y \in \mathbb{R}^m, r \in (0, +\infty)$ .

The set-valued dual function is defined by

$$\Psi(y,r) = \operatorname{Inf}_C \cup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} L(x,y,r), \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^m, r \in (0,+\infty).$$

**Definition 2.87.**  $\bar{f}(x,u)$  is said to be Inf-externally stable in x when ||u|| > 0 is sufficiently small if there exists a neighborhood  $W_1$  of  $0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$  such that, for any fixed  $u \in W_1$ ,  $\forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , there exists  $z_u \in p(u)$  such that  $z_u \leq_C \bar{f}(x,u)$ .

#### Theorem 2.88. Assume

- (a)  $\bar{f}(x,u)$  is proper and each of its component function  $\bar{f}_i(x,u)$  is lsc;  $\bar{f}(x,u)$  is Inf-externally stable in x when ||u|| is sufficiently small;  $\xi(\bar{f}(x,u))$  is level-bounded in x locally uniformly in u.
  - (b) there exist  $\bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^m, \bar{r} > 0$  and  $m_1 \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\bar{f}(x,u) + \bar{r}\sigma(u)e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e \ge_C m_1 e, \quad \forall x, u.$$

Then there exists  $r^* > 0$  such that when  $r > r^*$ 

$$p(0) \subseteq \Psi(\bar{y}, r) \tag{2.68}$$

if and only if there exist a neighborhood W of  $0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$  and a scalar r' > 0 such that

$$z_u \not\leq_{intC} z + \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e - r' \sigma(u) e, \quad \forall z_u \in p(u), z \in p(0), u \in W.$$
 (2.69)

Proof. Sufficiency. Let

$$\eta(z) = \min\{z_1, \dots, z_\ell\}, \quad \forall z = (z_1, \dots, z_\ell) \in \mathbb{R}^\ell \cup \{-\infty, +\infty\}.$$

We assert that  $\eta(p(0)) = \{\eta(z) : z \in p(0)\}$  is bounded above by some M > 0. Otherwise, there exists a sequence  $z_k \in p(0)$  such that  $z_k \to +\infty$  as  $k \to +\infty$ . Arbitrarily fix a  $z_0 \in p(0)$ . As shown in the proof of Theorem 2.84,  $z_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ .

Moreover, We obtain  $(z_0 - z_k) \to -\infty$ , which contradicts (2.69) when u = 0. Now we prove by contradiction that (2.69) implies (2.68). Suppose that  $\exists z_k^* \in p(0)$  and  $r_k \uparrow +\infty$  such that

$$z_k^* \notin \Psi(\bar{y}, r_k) = \operatorname{Inf}_C\{L(x, \bar{y}, r_k) : x \in \mathbb{R}^n\}$$
(2.70)

Since  $z_k^* \in p(0)$ , arguing as in the proof of Theorem 2.84, we conclude that, for each k,

$$z_k^* = f(x_k^*) (2.71)$$

for some  $x_k^* \in \operatorname{Min}_C(f, \mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Consider the following two cases:

- (i)  $f(x_k^*) \in \operatorname{Inf}_C\{\bar{f}(x,u) + r_k \sigma(u)e \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e : (x,u) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m\};$
- (ii)  $f(x_k^*) \notin \operatorname{Inf}_C\{\bar{f}(x,u) + r_k\sigma(u)e \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e : (x,u) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m\}.$

If case (i) occurs, noticing that  $f(x_k^*) = \bar{f}(x_k^*, 0) + r_k \sigma(0) e - \langle \bar{y}, 0 \rangle e$ , we deduce that

$$\bar{f}(x,u) + r_k \sigma(u)e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(x_k^*), \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n, u \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

Letting  $x = x_k^*$ , we obtain

$$\bar{f}(x_k^*, u) + r_k \sigma(u) e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e \not\leq f(x_k^*), \quad u \in \mathbb{R}^m.$$

This relation shows that  $f(x_k^*) \in L(x_k^*, \bar{y}, r_k)$  since  $f(x_k^*) = \bar{f}(x_k^*, 0) + r_k \sigma(0)e - \langle \bar{y}, 0 \rangle e$ . This fact combined with (2.70) yields that there exist  $x_k \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $z_k \in L(x_k, \bar{y}, r_k)$  such that

$$z_k \le_C z_k^*. \tag{2.72}$$

Furthermore, for each  $z_k$ , there exists a sequence  $\{u_{k,j}\}$  such that

$$\bar{f}(x_k, u_{k,j}) + r_k \sigma(u_{k,j}) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_{k,j} \rangle e \to z_k \text{ as } j \to \infty.$$

As a result,

$$m_1 e + (r_k - \bar{r})\sigma(u_{k,j})e$$

$$\leq_C \bar{f}(x_k, u_{k,j}) + \bar{r}\sigma(u_{k,j})e - \langle \bar{y}, u_{k,j} \rangle e + (r_k - \bar{r})\sigma(u_{k,j})e \to z_k.$$

The formula above combined with (2.72) yields

$$m_1 + (r_k - \bar{r})\sigma(u_{k,j}) \le \eta(z_k) \le \eta(z_k^*) \le M.$$

Thus,  $\sigma(u_{k,j}) \leq M - m_1$  when  $k \geq k_0$ , where  $k_0$  satisfies  $r_{k_0} \geq \bar{r} + 1$ . So, for each  $k \geq k_0$ ,  $\{u_{k,j}\}$  is bounded. Without loss of generality, we assume that  $u_{k,j} \to u_k$ . It follows from the lsc of  $\bar{f}_i$  and  $\sigma$  that

$$\bar{f}(x_k, u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e \leq_C z_k, \quad k \geq k_0$$

However,  $z_k \in L(x_k, \bar{y}, r_k)$ . Therefore,

$$z_k = \bar{f}(x_k, u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e, \quad k \ge k_0$$
 (2.73)

The combination of (2.71), (2.72) and (2.73) yields

$$\bar{f}(x_k, u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(x_k^*), \quad k \ge k_0$$
(2.74)

It follows that

$$m_1 e + (r_k - \bar{r})\sigma(u_n)e \leq_C \bar{f}(x_k, u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k)e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e \leq_C f(x_k^*) = z_k^*.$$

Therefore,

$$m_1 + (r_k - \bar{r})\sigma(u_n) \le \eta(z_k) \le \eta(z_k^*) \le M.$$

Namely,

$$(r_k - \bar{r})\sigma(u_k) \le M - m_1. \tag{2.75}$$

So  $\{u_k\}$  is bounded. Without loss of generality, we assume that  $u_k \to u'$ . It follows from (2.75) that  $\sigma(u') \leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \sigma(u_k) \leq 0$ . Hence u' = 0. Thus  $u_k \in W_1$  when  $k \geq k_1 \geq k_0$ . By the external stability of  $\bar{f}(x, u_k)$  in x when n is sufficiently large, we get  $z_{u_k} \in p(u_k)$  such that

$$z_{u_k} \le_C \bar{f}(x_k, u_k). \tag{2.76}$$

(2.74) and (2.76) jointly yield

$$z_{u_k} + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(x_k^*),$$

which contradicts (2.69) because  $r_k \to +\infty$  as  $k \to +\infty$ .

If case (ii) occurs, noticing that  $f(x_k^*) = \bar{f}(x_k^*, 0) + r_k \sigma(0) e - \langle \bar{y}, 0 \rangle e$ , we conclude that there exists  $(x_k, u_k) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m$  such that

$$\bar{f}(x_k, u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(x_k^*).$$

Thus, we have returned to (2.74) in case (i). So once again, we will be led to a contradiction.

Necessity. We also prove by contradiction. Suppose that  $\exists u_k \to 0, r_k \uparrow +\infty, z_k \in p(u_k)$  and  $z_k^* \in p(0)$  such that

$$z_{u_k} \leq_{intC} z_k^* + \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e - r_k \sigma(u_k) e.$$

Then  $\exists x_k \in \mathbb{R}^n, x_k^* \in \text{Min}_C(f, \mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$\bar{f}(x_k, u_k) \leq_{intC} f(x_k^*) + \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e - r_k \sigma(u_k) e.$$

Note that  $f(x_k^*) \in \Psi(\bar{y}, r_k)$  when  $k \geq k_2$  is such that  $r_{k_2} \geq \max\{r', \bar{r} + 1\}$ . By the definition of  $\Psi(\bar{y}, r_k)$ , we see that for any  $w_k \in \text{Inf}_C\{\bar{f}(x_k, u) + r_k\sigma(u)e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e : u \in \mathbb{R}^m\}$ , we have

$$w_k \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} f(x_k^*), \quad k \geq k_2.$$
 (2.77)

Let

$$Q_k = \{ u \in \mathbb{R}^m : \bar{f}(x_k, u) + r_k \sigma(u) e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e \leq_C \\ \bar{f}(x_k, u_k) + r_k \sigma(u_k) e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k \rangle e \leq_{intC} f(x_k^*) \}.$$

It is easy to check (as in the proof of sufficiency) that when  $k \geq k_3 \geq k_2$ , the set  $\{u \in \mathbb{R}^m : \bar{f}(x_k, u) + r_k \sigma(u)e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e \leq_C f(x_k^*)\}$  is compact. Thus  $Q_k$  is compact when  $k \geq k_3 \geq k_2$ . Consequently, we obtain  $u_k' \in Q_k$  such that, for any  $k \geq k_3 \geq_C k_2$ ,

$$\bar{f}(x_k, u_k') + r_k \sigma(u_k') e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k' \rangle e$$

$$\in \operatorname{Inf}_C \{ \bar{f}(x_k, u) + r_k \sigma(u) e - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e : u \in \mathbb{R}^m \},$$

and

$$\bar{f}(x_k, u_k') + r_k \sigma(u_k') e - \langle \bar{y}, u_k' \rangle e \leq_{intC} f(x_k^*),$$

which contradicts (2.77) when  $k \geq k_3 \geq k_2$ .

The following simple example verifies Theorem 2.88.

Example 2.89. Let p = 1,  $\ell = 2$ , X = [-1, 1]. Let  $f(x) = (|x|, -|x|), \forall x \in \mathbb{R}$ ;  $h(x) = x, \forall x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Consider the following constrained vector optimization problem

$$(VOP_1) \qquad \inf_{\text{s.t.}} f(x) \\ \text{s.t.} \quad x \in X, \\ h(x) < 0$$

Denote by  $X_0 = \{x \in X : h(x) \le 0\}$  the feasible set of  $(VOP_1)$ . Define

$$\bar{f}(x) = \begin{cases} f(x), & \text{if } x \in X_0; \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Then  $(VOP_1)$  is equivalent to (EOP) (in the sense that the two problems have the same sets of (weakly) minimal solutions).

Let  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ . It is easy to see that

$$\bar{f}(x, u) = \begin{cases} g(x), & \text{if } h(x) \le u, x \in X \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

is a perturbed function of f. Let  $\sigma(u) = |u|, \forall u \in \mathbb{R}$ . It is routine to check that condition (a) in Theorem 2.88 holds. Let  $\bar{y} = 0, \bar{r} = 1$ . Then, we can verify that condition (b) in Theorem 2.88 holds. Furthermore, it can be computed that

$$p(0) = \{(x, -x) : x \in [0, 1]\}.$$
 
$$p(u) = \begin{cases} \{(x, -x) : x \in [0, 1]\}, & \text{if } u \ge 0 \text{ and } u \in W\\ \{(-x, x) : x \le u\}, & \text{if } u < 0 \text{ and } u \in W, \end{cases}$$

where

$$W = \{ u \in \mathbb{R} : |u| < 1 \}.$$

Take r'=1. It can be easily checked that (2.69) holds. By Theorem 2.88, there exists  $r^*>0$  such that when  $r\geq r^*$ ,  $p(0)\subset \Psi(\bar{y},r)$ . As a matter of fact, we can choose  $r^*=3$ . Whenever  $r\geq r^*$ ,

$$\begin{split} \varPsi(\bar{y},r) &= \mathrm{Inf}_C \underset{x \in \mathbf{IR}}{\cup} L(x,\bar{y},r) \\ &= \mathrm{Inf}_C \underset{x \in \mathbf{IR}}{\cup} [\mathrm{Inf}_C \{\bar{f}(x,u) + r|u|e\}] \\ &= \mathrm{Inf}_C \underset{x \in X}{\cup} [\mathrm{Inf}_C \{(|x|, -|x|) + r|u|e : u \geqq x\}] \\ &= \underset{x \in [-1,1]}{\mathrm{Inf}_C} (V_1 \cup V_2), \end{split}$$

where  $V_1 = \{(x, -x) : x \in [0, 1]\}$  and  $V_2 = \{(-(r+1)x, -(r-1)x) : x \in [-1, 0]\}$ . Thus,

$$\Psi(\bar{y},r) = V_1 = \{(x,-x) : x \in [0,1]\}.$$

Consequently,

$$p(0) = \Psi(\bar{y}, r), \quad r \ge r^* = 3.$$

(2.68) indicates the uniformly exact penalization. That is, there exists a common  $r^* > 0$  such that  $z^* \in \Psi(\bar{y}, r)$  for each  $z^* \in p(0)$  whenever  $r \geq r^*$ .

For application purpose, we may need only the following weaker version of exact penalization, which requires weaker conditions.

**Theorem 2.90.** Assume (a) as in Theorem 2.88 and (b') there exist  $\bar{y} \in \mathbb{R}^m, \bar{r} > 0$  such that

$$\inf_{x,u} \xi(\bar{f}(x,u)) + \bar{r}\sigma(u) - \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle > -\infty.$$

Let  $z^* \in p(0)$ . Then there exists  $r^* > 0$  such that  $z^* \in \Psi(\bar{y}, r)$  whenever  $r \geq r^*$  if and only if there exist a neighborhood W of  $0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$  and r' > 0 such that

$$z_u \not\leq_{intC} z^* + \langle \bar{y}, u \rangle e - r' \sigma(u) e, \quad \forall z_u \in p(u), u \in W.$$

*Proof.* The proof of this theorem is almost the same as that of Theorem 2.88, we need only to replace  $z_k^*$  with  $z^*$  and  $\eta$  with  $\xi$  in the proof of Theorem 2.88.

## 2.9 Nonlinear Lagrangian Duality for VO

In this section, we discuss a nonlinear Lagrangian approach to weak and strong duality results where no convexity is required for the problem data.

Let  $Y = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be an  $\ell$ -dimensional Euclidean space, and  $C = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+}$ . Let  $e = (1, \dots, 1) \in intC$ , and  $e_i = (0, 0, \dots, 1, 0, \dots, 0)$  (the ith component is 1 and the other components are 0's),  $i = 1, \dots, \ell$ . Let  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be a nonempty closed set,  $f = (f_1, \dots, f_{\ell}) : K \to \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a vector-valued function such that each of its component function  $f_i$  is l.s.c., and  $g_j : K \to \mathbb{R}$  be l.s.c. for any  $j \in \{1, \dots, m\}$ .

Consider the following constrained vector optimization problem (VOP):

$$\underset{x \in B}{\min_C f(x)}, \tag{2.78}$$

where  $B = \{x \in K : g_j(x) \le 0, j = 1, \dots, m\}$ . It is clear that B is closed. We denote by  $\operatorname{Min}_C f(B)$  and  $\operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)$  the set of minimal points and the set of infimum points of (VOP) respectively.

Without loss of generality, we assume throughout this section that

$$\min_{1 \le i \le \ell} \inf_{x \in K} f_i(x) \ge 0.$$

If this assumption does not hold, then consider the following optimization problem (VOP'):

$$\min_{C} (\exp(f_1(x)) + 1, \dots, \exp(f_{\ell}(x)) + 1)$$
  
s.t.  $x \in K, g_j(x) \le 0, \quad j = 1, \dots, m.$ 

It is clear that the sets of minimal solutions and weakly minimal solutions of (VOP) are the same as that of (VOP'), respectively.

For  $u = (u_1, \dots, u_m) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , and  $\gamma \in (0, +\infty)$ , let

$$||u||_{\gamma} = \left[\sum_{j=1}^{m} |u_j|^{\gamma}\right]^{1/\gamma}.$$

Let  $y^1=(y^1_1,\cdots,y^1_m), y^2=(y^2_1,\cdots,y^2_m)\in \mathbb{R}^m$ , define the notation of componentwise product for  $y^1$  and  $y^2$ :

$$y^1 * y^2 \equiv (y_1^1 y_1^2, \cdots, y_m^1 y_m^2).$$

A vector-valued function  $p: \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  is called increasing if for any  $(z^i, y^i) \in \mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} \times \mathbb{R}^m (i = 1, 2)$  with  $(z^1, y^1) - (z^2, y^2) \in C \times \mathbb{R}_+^m$ , we have

$$p(z^1, y^1) \ge_C p(z^2, y^2).$$

Let p be an increasing vector-valued function defined on the domain  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{m}$  such that each of its component function  $p_{i}$  is l.s.c. and p enjoys the following two properties:

(A) There exist positive real numbers  $a_j (j = 1, \dots, m)$  such that for any  $z \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+, y = (y_1, \dots, y_m)$  with (z, y) belonging to the domain of p,  $p(z, y) \geq_C z$  and  $p(z, y) \geq_C (\max_{1 \leq j \leq m} \{a_j y_j\})e$ .

(B) 
$$\forall z \in C, p(z, 0, \dots, 0) = z$$
.

It is easy to prove the following elementary proposition.

**Proposition 2.91.** Let p(z,y) = p'(p'(z,y),y), where p' is an increasing function with properties (A) and (B). Then p is also an increasing function having properties (A) and (B).

Example 2.92. Let  $z=(z_1,\cdots,z_\ell), y=(y_1,\cdots,y_m), \text{ and } (z,y)\in C\times\mathbb{R}^m.$ Some examples of the increasing function p defined on  $C \times \mathbb{R}^m$  having properties (A) and (B) are as follows:

(i) 
$$p_{\infty}(z, y) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \max\{z_i, y_1, \dots, y_m\} e_i;$$

(ii) 
$$p_{\gamma}(z,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} (z_i^{\gamma} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} y_i^{+\gamma})^{1/\gamma} e_i, \quad 0 < \gamma < \infty;$$

(i) 
$$p_{\infty}(z,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \max \{z_i, y_1, \cdots, y_m\} e_i;$$
  
(ii)  $p_{\gamma}(z,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} (z_i^{\gamma} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} y_j^{+\gamma})^{1/\gamma} e_i, \quad 0 < \gamma < \infty;$   
(iii)  $p(z,y) = z + (\sum_{j=1}^{m} b_j y_j^{+}) e$ , where  $b_j > 0, j = 1, \cdots, m$ .

Let

$$F(x,d) = (f(x), d * g(x)),$$

where  $d = (d_1, \dots, d_m) \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  and  $g(x) = (g_1(x), \dots, g_m(x))$ .

Let p be an increasing function defined on  $C \times \mathbb{R}^m$  with properties (A) and (B). The nonlinear Lagrangian function corresponding to p for (VOP) is defined as

$$N(x,d) = p(F(x,d)).$$

The following problem (DVOP)

$$\sup_{d \in \mathbb{R}_{+}^{m}} q(d), \tag{2.79}$$

where  $q(d) = \text{Inf}_C N(K, d), \forall d \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  is called the nonlinear Lagrangian dual problem to (VOP) corresponding to p.

Remark 2.93. If p is convex, e.g., all the p's except  $p_{\gamma}$  in the case of  $\gamma \in (0,1)$ in Example 2.92, the problem of computing q(d):

$$\inf_{x \in X} p(F(x, d))$$

is a type of convex composite multiobjective optimization problems studied in [121].

It is elementary to prove the following results.

**Lemma 2.94.** Let p be an increasing function with properties (A) and (B). Then  $p(F(x,d)) = f(x), \forall x \in B, d \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$ .

**Proposition 2.95.** Weak Duality.  $\forall x \in B, d \in \mathbb{R}^m_+, (q(d) - f(x)) \cap (C \setminus \{0\}) =$ Ø.

Corollary 2.96. If  $x^* \in B$  satisfies  $f(x^*) \in Sup_C q(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$ , then

$$x^* \in Min_{intC}(f, B)$$
.

Corollary 2.97.  $[Sup_Cq(\mathbb{R}^m_+) - Inf_Cf(B)] \cap intC = \emptyset.$ 

**Definition 2.98.** Let  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a set and  $f: X \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$  be a vector-valued function. The set f(X) is said to be externally stable if for any  $x \in X$ , there exists a minimal solution  $x^* \in X$  of f on X such that  $f(x^*) \leq_C f(x)$ .

The following lemma on external stability can be easily proved.

**Lemma 2.99.** Let  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a compact subset. Let  $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$  be a vector-valued function such that each of its component functions is l.s.c.. Then f(X) is externally stable.

It is routine to prove the next lemma.

**Lemma 2.100.** Let  $s: C \times \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}$  be an increasing l.s.c. function. Let  $f: X \to C$  be a vector-valued function such that each component function  $f_i$  is l.s.c.. Let  $g_j: X \to \mathbb{R}$   $(j = 1, \dots, m)$  be l.s.c.. Then s(f(x), g(x)) is l.s.c. on X.

Let 
$$\xi(z) = \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} \{z_i\}, \ \forall z = (z_1, \dots, z_\ell).$$

Clearly,  $\xi$  is an increasing, continuous, subadditive, positively homogeneous and convex function.

**Definition 2.101.** Let  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be an unbounded set. A vector-valued function  $f: X \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$  is said to be coercive on X if

$$\lim_{\|x\|\to+\infty, x\in X} \xi(f(x))\to+\infty,$$

where  $\|.\|$  is a norm of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

The following result establishes a proper relation between (VOP) and (DVOP).

**Theorem 2.102.** Strong Duality. Assume that X is closed,  $f(x) \ge_C 0, \forall x \in X$  and f is coercive on X if X is unbounded. Then

$$Inf_C f(B) \subset Sup_C q(I\!\!R_+^m).$$

Proof. Let  $z^* \in \operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)$ . Then  $\exists x_k^1 \in B$  such that  $f(x_k^1) \to z^*$  as  $k \to +\infty$ . It follows that  $\xi(f(x_k^1)) \to \xi(z^*)$  as  $k \to +\infty$ . Therefore,  $\{x_k^1\}$  is a bounded sequence by the coercivity of f on X. Since B is closed, there exists a subsequence  $\{x_{k_j}^1\}$  such that  $x_{k_j}^1 \to x^*$  for some  $x^* \in B$ . Note that  $f_i(x^*) \leq \lim_{j \to +\infty} \inf f_i(x_{k_j}^1) = (z^*)_i, i = 1, \cdots, \ell$ , where  $(z^*)_i$  denotes the ith component of  $z^*$ . We have  $f(x^*) \leq_C z^*$ . This with  $z^* \in \operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)$  implies that  $f(x^*) = z^*$ .

Hence  $x^* \in \operatorname{Min}_C f(B)$ . Since f is coercive on X, we deduce that  $\exists N > 0$  such that

$$\xi(f(x)) \ge \xi(f(x^*)) + 1, \ \forall x \in X_1 = \{x \in X : ||x|| > N\}.$$
(2.80)

We claim that

$$f(x) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(x^*), \quad \forall x \in X_1.$$
 (2.81)

Otherwise,  $\xi(f(x)) \leq \xi(f(x^*))$ , contradicting (2.80).

Let  $d=ke, k=1,2,\cdots$ . Since  $X_2=\{x\in X: \|x\|\leq N\}$  is a nonempty compact set and  $x^*\in X_2$ , by Lemmas 2.99 and 2.100, we obtain a sequence  $\{x_k^2\}\subseteq X_2$  such that each  $x_k^2$  is a minimal solution to the problem:  $\min_{x\in X_2}p(f(x),kg(x))$  and

$$p(f(x_k^2), kg(x_k^2)) \le_C p(f(x^*), kg(x^*)) = f(x^*).$$
(2.82)

We show that this fact combined with (2.81) yields that  $p(F(x_k^2, d)) \in q(k, \dots, k) = \text{Inf}_C p(F(K, d))$ .

- (i) It is obvious that if  $x \in X_2$ ,  $p(F(x_k^2, d)) \not\geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} p(F(x, d))$ .
- (ii) Suppose that  $\exists \bar{x} \in X_1$  such that

$$p(F(x_k^2, d)) \ge_{C \setminus \{0\}} p(F(\bar{x}, d)).$$
 (2.83)

Note that

$$p(F(x_k^2, d)) \le_C f(x^*)$$

and

$$f(x^*) \not\geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} f(\bar{x}).$$

Then

$$p(F(x_k^2, d)) \not\geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(\bar{x}).$$
 (2.84)

By (2.83) and (2.84),

$$p(F(\bar{x},d)) \not\geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} f(\bar{x}),$$

a contradiction with the property (A).

It follows from  $\{x_k^2\} \subset X_2$  that there exists a subsequence  $\{x_{k_j}^2\}$  such that  $x_{k_j}^2 \to x_0 \in X_2$ .

Let us show that  $x_0 \in B$ . If not,  $d(x_0, B) \ge \delta_0$  for some  $\delta_0 > 0$ . It follows that  $d(x_{k_i}^2, B) \ge \delta_0/2$  when j is sufficiently large.

Let  $X_3 = \{x \in X_2 : d(x, B) \ge \delta_0/2\}$  and  $\bar{g}(x) = \max_{1 \le j \le m} g_j(x)$ . Since  $\bar{g}(x) > 0, \forall x \in X_3, X_3$  is compact and  $\bar{g}$  is l.s.c, we deduce that  $\min_{x \in X_3} \bar{g}(x) = m_0 > 0$ .

By property (A) of the function p, there exist positive numbers  $a_i(i = 1, \dots, m)$  such that

$$p(f(x_{k_j}^2), k_i g(x_{k_j}^2)) \ge_C (m_0 k_j \min_{1 \le i \le m} a_i) e,$$

when j is sufficiently large, which contradicts (2.82). So  $x_0 \in B$ .

Applying property (A) and (2.82), we have

$$f(x_{k_i}^2) \leq_C p(f(x_{k_i}^2), k_i g(x_{k_i}^2)) \leq_C f(x^*).$$

Thus,

$$f_i(x_{k_i}^2) \le p_i(f(x_{k_i}^2), k_j g(x_{k_i}^2)) \le f_i(x^*), \quad i = 1, \dots, \ell.$$
 (2.85)

Applying the lower limit to (2.85) by letting  $j \to \infty$ , we conclude that  $f_i(x_0) \le f_i(x^*), i = 1, \dots, \ell$ , which implies that

$$f(x_0) = f(x^*) (2.86)$$

since  $x^* \in \operatorname{Min}_C(f, B)$ .

(2.86) combined with (2.85) as well as  $x_{k_i}^2 \to x_0$  yields that

$$p(f(x_{k_j}^2), k_j g(x_{k_j}^2)) \to f(x^*), \quad \text{as } j \to +\infty.$$

Finally, it follows directly from Proposition 2.95 that

$$(q(d) - f(x^*)) \cap (C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset, \quad \forall d \in \mathbb{R}^m_+.$$

The proof is complete.

Example 2.103. The condition that f is coercive on X is important to guarantee the validity of Theorem 2.102. Otherwise, it may fail even if B is compact. Let  $\ell = 1, K = [0, +\infty), f(x) = 1/(x+1), \forall x \in K, g_1(x) = x-1, \text{ if } 0 \le x \le 1; g_1(x) = 1/\sqrt{x} - 1/x, \text{ if } 1 < x < +\infty, p(y_1, y_2) = \max\{y_1, y_2\}, \forall y_1, y_2 \in \mathbb{R}.$  Consider the problem:

$$\inf f(x) \text{ s.t. } x \in K, \ g_1(x) \le 0.$$

It is easy to see that B = [0, 1] (which is compact) and  $\inf_{\mathbb{R}_+} f(B) = \{1/2\}$ .

$$p(f(x), dg_1(x)) = \max\{f(x), dg_1(x)\}\$$
  
= \text{max}\{1/(x+1), d(1/\sqrt{x} - 1/x)\}, \text{\forall} x \in X\\ B, d \ge 0.

Clearly,  $q(d)=0, \forall d\geq 0$ . It follows that  $\sup_{\mathbb{R}_+}q(\mathbb{R}_+)=\{0\}$ . Hence  $\inf_{\mathbb{R}_+}f(B)\subset\sup_{C}q(\mathbb{R}_+)$  does not hold.

We also observe that, for  $z^* \in \inf_{\mathbb{R}_+} f(B)$ , there does not exist  $d^* \in \mathbb{R}_+$  such that  $z^* \in q(d^*)$ . Indeed, let  $\ell = 1, X = [1/2, +\infty)$  and f(x) = 1/x, if  $x \in [1/2, 1]$ ; f(x) = 2 - x, if  $x \in [1, 2]$ ; f(x) = x - 2, if  $x \in (2, +\infty)$ . Let  $g_1(x) = x - 1$ .

Consider the problem:

$$\inf_{x \in X} f(x), \quad \text{s.t. } g_1(x) \le 0.$$

Let  $N(x,d) = \max\{f(x), dg_1(x)\}, d \ge 0, x \in X$ . Then it is not difficult to derive the following fact:  $q(d) = d/(1+d), \forall d \ge 0$ . Clearly,  $q(d) < 1 = \inf_{x \in B} f(x), \forall d > 0$ .

Based on some conditions on the constraint functions, we also have the following result.

**Theorem 2.104.** Let  $\bar{g}(x) = \max_{1 \leq j \leq m} g_j(x)$ . Assume that there exist N > 0 and  $m_1 > 0$  such that

$$\bar{g}(x) \ge m_1, \quad \forall x \in X \text{ with } ||x|| > N.$$
 (2.87)

Then  $Inf_C f(B) \subseteq Sup_C q(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$ .

*Proof.* It follows from (2.87) that B is a nonempty compact set. For any  $z^* = f(x^*) \in \text{Inf}_C f(B)$ , by Proposition 2.95 we have that

$$(q(d) - f(x^*)) \cap (C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset, \ \forall d \in \mathbb{R}_+^m.$$

Furthermore, whenever  $x \in X$  with ||x|| > N,

$$p(f(x), kg(x)) \ge_C (km_1 \min_{1 \le i \le m} \{a_i\})e \ge_{\text{int}C} f(x^*) + e,$$

when k is sufficiently large. Consequently, when k is sufficiently large, the set

$${x \in X : p(f(x), kg(x)) \le_C f(x^*)} (\subseteq {x \in X : ||x|| \le N})$$

is a nonempty compact set. Therefore, when k is sufficiently large,  $\exists x_k \in X$  with  $||x_k|| \leq N$  such that  $x_k$  is a minimal solution to the problem

$$\min_{x \in X} \ p(f(x), kg(x))$$

with

$$f(x_k) \le_C p(f(x_k), kg(x_k)) \le_C f(x^*).$$
 (2.88)

Since  $||x_k|| \leq N$  for k sufficiently large, it follows that there exists a subsequence  $\{x_{k_i}\}$  converging to  $x' \in X$ . We can show as in the proof of Theorem 2.102 that  $x' \in B$ . This fact combined with (2.88) yields that  $f(x') \leq_C f(x^*)$ . Therefore,  $f(x') = f(x^*)$  since  $x^* \in \text{Min}_C(f, B)$ . Hence,  $p(f(x_{k_i}), k_i g(x_{k_i})) \to f(x^*)$ . So  $f(x^*) \in \text{Sup}_C q(\mathbb{R}^m_+)$  and the proof is complete.

The following proposition further clarifies the relation between (VOP) and (DVOP).

**Proposition 2.105.** Let  $d^k \in \mathbb{R}_+^m, \forall k \text{ and } d^k \to +\infty \text{ as } k \to \infty \text{ (i.e., } d^k_i \to +\infty, \forall i \text{ as } k \to +\infty).$  Suppose that each  $x^k$  is a weakly minimal solution to  $Inf_CN(x, d^k)$ . Then any limiting point of  $\{x^k\}$  is a weakly minimal solution  $x \in K$  to VOP.

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, suppose that  $x^k \to x^*$ . We can show by contradiction that  $x^* \in B$ . In fact, if  $d(x^*, B) \ge \delta_0$  for some  $\delta_0 > 0$ , then  $d(x^k, B) \ge \delta_0/2$ , when k is sufficiently large. Since  $x^k \to x^*$ , we deduce that  $||x^k - x^*|| \le 1$  when k is sufficiently large.

Let  $X_4 = \{x \in X : d(x, B) \ge \delta_0/2, \|x - x^*\| \le 1\}$ . Then  $x^k \in X_4$  when k is sufficiently large. Let  $\bar{g}(x) = \max_{1 \le i \le m} g_i(x)$ . Then  $\bar{g}(x^k) \ge \min_{x \in X_3} \bar{g}(x) = m_1 > 0$  when k is sufficiently large. So

$$p(f(x^k), d^k * g(x^k)) \geq_C \bar{g}(x^k) (\min_{1 \leq i \leq m} a_i \min_{1 \leq i \leq m} d_i^k) e$$

$$\geq_C (m_1 \min_{1 \leq i \leq m} a_i \min_{1 \leq i \leq m} d_i^k) e$$

$$\geq_{intC} f(x_0)$$
(2.89)

for any fixed  $x_0 \in B$  and k large enough. Moreover, by Lemma 2.94,

$$f(x_0) = p(f(x_0), d^k * g(x_0)). (2.90)$$

The combination of (2.89) and (2.90) contradicts the fact that  $x_k$  is a weakly minimal solution to  $\operatorname{Min}_{C} p(f(x), d^k * g(x))$ . Therefore,  $x^* \in B$ .

Now we show that  $x^* \in \text{Min}_{intC}(f, B)$ . Otherwise,  $\exists x'' \in B$  such that  $f(x'') \leq_{intC} f(x^*)$ . Therefore,

$$f(x'') \le_{intC} f(x_k), \tag{2.91}$$

when k is sufficiently large since each component function of f is l.s.c..

Note that

$$f(x^{\prime\prime})=p(f(x^{\prime\prime}),d^k*g(x^{\prime\prime}))$$

and

$$p(f(x_k), d^k * g(x_k)) \ge_C f(x_k),$$

it follows from (2.91) that

$$p(f(x_0), d^k * g(x_0)) \leq_{intC} p(f(x_k), d^k * g(x_k)),$$

when k is sufficiently large. Namely,  $x_k$  is not a weakly minimal solution to

$$\min_{x \in X} \ p(f(x), d^k * g(x))$$

when k is sufficiently large, which cannot be true. The proof is complete.

Remark 2.106. A vector-valued function  $p: \mathbb{R}_+^\ell \times \mathbb{R}_+^m \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$  is called increasing if for any  $(z^i, y^i) \in \mathbb{R}_+^\ell \times \mathbb{R}_+^m (i = 1, 2)$  with  $(z^1, y^1) - (z^2, y^2) \in \mathbb{R}_+^\ell \times \mathbb{R}_+^m$ , we have

$$p(z^1, y^1) \ge_C p(z^2, y^2).$$

Let p be an increasing vector-valued function defined on the domain  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{m}_{+}$  such that each of its component function  $p_{i}$  is l.s.c. and p enjoys the following two properties:

(A') There exist positive real numbers  $a_j (j = 1, \dots, m)$  such that for any  $z \in \mathbb{R}_+^\ell$ ,  $y = (y_1, \dots, y_m)$  with (z, y) belonging to the domain of p,  $p(z, y) \geq_C z$  and  $p(z, y) \geq_C (\max_{1 \leq j \leq m} \{a_j y_j\})e$ .

(B') 
$$\forall z \in \mathbb{R}_{+}^{\ell}, p(z, 0, \dots, 0) = z.$$

Examples of such p having properties (A') and (B') are the restrictions of  $p_{\infty}$ ,  $p_{\gamma}$ , p considered in Example 2.92 to  $C \times \mathbb{R}^m_+$ .

If p is defined on the domain  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{m}_{+}$  as above, then it can be shown that all the results in this section also hold for the case where

$$g^+(x) = (g_1^+(x), \cdots, g_m^+(x)),$$
  
 $F_+(x, d) = (f(x), d * g^+(x)),$   
 $N_+(x, d) = p(F_+(x, d)).$ 

Next we consider the saddle point problem of the nonlinear Lagrangian. Let p be an increasing function defined on  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^m$  enjoying properties (A) and (B) and F(x,d) = (f(x), d \* g(x)). Let

$$N(x,d) = p(F(x,d)).$$

**Definition 2.107.** The point  $(x^*, d^*) \in K \times \mathbb{R}^m_+$  is called a saddle point of the nonlinear Lagrangian N(x, d) if

(i) 
$$N(x, d^*) - N(x^*, d^*) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \ \forall x \in K;$$
  
(ii)  $N(x^*, d) - N(x^*, d^*) \not\geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \ \forall d \in \mathbb{R}_+^m.$ 

It should be noted that a saddle point may not exist even if all the conditions of Theorem 2.102 hold. The following proposition presents the relationship among a saddle point of N(x, d), a minimal solution of (VOP) and a maximal solution of (DVOP).

**Proposition 2.108.** The point  $(x^*, d^*) \in K \times \mathbb{R}^m_+$  is a saddle point of N(x, d) if and only if  $x^*$  is a minimal solution of (VOP),  $f(x^*) \in q(d^*)$  and  $d^*$  is a minimal solution to (DVOP).

In the following, we compare the conventional Lagrangian function with a special class of nonlinear Lagrangian functions.

We define a Lagrangian function as follows

$$L'(x,d) = f(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_j g_j(x) e,$$

where the dual variable  $d = (d_1, \dots, d_m) \in \mathbb{R}_+^m, x \in X$ .

It is clear that the following inequality holds:

$$\left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} b_i^{\gamma}\right)^{1/\gamma} \ge \sum_{i=1}^{m} b_i, \quad \forall b_i \ge 0, \gamma \in (0, 1].$$
 (2.92)

Let  $\gamma \in (0,1].$  Consider the following class of nonlinear Lagrangian functions:

$$N_{\gamma}(x,d) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \left[ f_i^{\gamma}(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_j^{\gamma} g_j^{+\gamma}(x) \right]^{1/\gamma} e_i,$$

where  $x \in X, d = (d_1, \dots, d_m) \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$ . It follows from (2.92) that

$$N_{\gamma}(x,d) \ge_C f(x) + \sum_{j=1}^m d_j g_j^+(x) e \ge_C L'(x,d), \quad \forall x \in X, \quad d \in \mathbb{R}_+^m.$$
 (2.93)

This inequality allows us to establish the following conclusion.

**Proposition 2.109.** Assume that  $\gamma \in (0,1]$ . Any saddle point of L' is also a saddle point of  $N_{\gamma}$ .

Let  $\bar{f}(x) = f(x), x \in B$  and  $\bar{f}(x) = +\infty, x \in \mathbb{R}^n \backslash X_0$ . It is obvious that (VOP) is identical to:

$$\inf_{x \in \mathbb{IR}^n} \bar{f}(x)$$

Let  $u = (u_1, \dots, u_m) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ . Set

$$\bar{f}(x,u) = \begin{cases} f(x), & \text{if } g_j(x) \leq u_j, j = 1, \dots, m, x \in X; \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Let  $\sigma: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}$  be an augmenting function. Simple reasoning gives us the augmented Lagrangian:

$$L(x, y, r) = \begin{cases} f(x) + \left[ \inf_{v \in \mathbb{R}_{+}^{m}} \{r\sigma(g(x) + v) - \langle y, g(x) + v \rangle \} \right] e, \\ \text{if } x \in X, y \in \mathbb{R}^{m}, r > 0, \\ +\infty, \quad \text{else}, \end{cases}$$

where  $g(x) = (g_1(x), \dots, g_m(x)).$ 

Let the dual map be

$$\Psi(y,r) = \operatorname{Inf}_C \cup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} L(x,y,r), \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^m, r \in (0,+\infty).$$

The augmented Lagrangian dual problem (DVOP') is

$$\sup_{y \in \mathbb{R}^m, r \in (0, +\infty)} \Psi(y, r).$$

It is easy to check that the augmented Lagrangian function L(x, y, r) defined above has the following properties:

- (I)  $L(x, y, r) \ge_C f(x)$ ,  $\forall x \in B, \forall y \in \mathbb{R}^m, r > 0$ ;  $L(x, 0, r) \ge_C f(x)$ ,  $\forall x \in X, y \in \mathbb{R}^m, r > 0$ ; L(x, 0, r) = f(x),  $\forall x \in B, \forall r > 0$ .
  - (II) If  $x \in X \setminus B$ , then  $L(x, y, r) \to +\infty$ ,  $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}^m$  as  $r \to +\infty$ .

In the following, we consider the relationship between the augmented Lagrangian L(x, y, r) (defined above) and a special class of nonlinear Lagrangian in terms of their saddle points.

Let  $\gamma \in (0,1]$ . Consider the following class of nonlinear Lagrangians for (VOP):

$$N_{\gamma}(x,d) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \left[ f_i^{\gamma}(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_j^{\gamma} g_j^{+\gamma}(x) \right]^{1/\gamma} e_i,$$

where  $x \in X$ ,  $d = (d_1, \dots, d_m) \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$ ,  $e_i = (0, \dots, 0, \dots, 0)$  (the *i*th component being 1 and all the other components being 0's) and  $g_j^+(x) = \max(g_j(x), 0)$ .

It is easy to see that

$$N_{\gamma}(x,d) \geq_C N_1(x,d) = \tilde{f}(x) + \left[\sum_{j=1}^m d_j g_j^+(x)\right] e,$$

where  $x \in X, d \in \mathbb{R}^m_+, \gamma \in (0, 1]$ .

**Proposition 2.110.** Let the augmented Lagrangian L(x, y, r) for (VOP) be defined as above. Then  $(x^*, y^*, r^*)$  is a saddle point of L(x, y, r) if and only if  $x^*$  is a minimal solution to (VOP),  $g(x^*) \in \Psi(y^*, r^*)$  and  $(y^*, r^*, g(x^*))$  solves the dual problem (DVOP').

*Proof.* The proof is similar to that of the usual saddle point theorem for a vector optimization problem.

**Proposition 2.111.** Let the augmenting function  $\sigma$  be finite everywhere. Let the augmented Lagrangian L(x,y,r) for (VOP) be defined as above. If  $(x^*,y^*,r^*)$  is a saddle point of L, then there exists  $d^* \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  such that  $(x^*,d^*)$  is also a saddle point of  $N_{\gamma}(x,d)$ , where  $\gamma \in (0,1]$ .

*Proof.* Since  $(x^*, y^*, r^*)$  is a saddle point of L(x, y, r), by Proposition 2.108,  $x^* \in B$  is a minimal solution to (VOP) and

$$L(x, y^*, r^*) = f(x) + [\text{Inf}_C\{r^*\sigma(g(x) + v) - \langle y^*, g(x) + v \rangle : v \in \mathbb{R}_+^m\}]e$$

$$\nleq L(x^*, y^*, r^*) = f(x^*), \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Since  $\sigma$  is finite everywhere, we deduce that  $\sigma$  is locally Lipschitz near  $0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$ . Thus, there exist  $\theta > 0$  and  $\delta > 0$  such that when  $||u|| \leq \delta$ ,  $\sigma(u) \leq \theta ||u||$ , where  $||u|| = \sum_{j=1}^m |u_j|$  and  $u = (u_1, \dots, u_m)$ . If  $x \in X \setminus B$  and  $\sum_{j=1}^m g_j^+(x) \leq \delta$ , then

$$\inf\{r^*\sigma(g(x)+v) - \langle y^*, g(x)+v \rangle : v \in \mathbb{R}_+^m\} \le (\theta r^* + ||y^*||) \sum_{i=1}^m g_i^+(x)$$

(This follows by setting  $v_j = -g_j(x)$  if  $g_j(x) \leq 0$  and  $v_j = 0$  if  $g_j(x) > 0$ ). Let  $d^* = (d_1^*, \dots, d_m^*) \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  be chosen such that  $\delta \min_{1 \leq j \leq m} d_j^* e \geq_C g(x^*)$  and  $\min_{1 \leq j \leq m} d_j^* \geq \theta r^* + \|y^*\|$ .

If  $x \in X \setminus B$  and  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} g_j^+(x) \leq \delta$ , then

$$N_{\gamma}(x, d^{*}) - N_{\gamma}(x^{*}, d^{*}) \geq_{C} N_{1}(x, d^{*}) - f(x^{*})$$

$$= f(x) + \left[ \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{j}^{*} g_{j}^{+}(x) \right] e - g(x^{*})$$

$$\geq_{C} f(x) + \left[ (\theta r^{*} + ||y^{*}||) \sum_{j=1}^{m} g_{j}^{+}(x) \right] e - g(x^{*})$$

$$\geq_{C} L(x, y^{*}, r^{*}) - f(x^{*})$$

Thus  $N_{\gamma}(x, d^*) \leq N_{\gamma}(x^*, d^*)$ . If  $x \in X \setminus B$  and  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} g_j^+(x) > \delta$ , then

$$f(x) \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} f(x^*) + \delta \min_{1\leq j\leq m} d_j^* e$$

because  $f(x) \geq_C 0$ . In addition, we have

$$N_{\gamma}(x, d^{*}) - N_{\gamma}(x^{*}, d^{*}) \ge_{C} N_{1}(x, d^{*}) - f(x^{*})$$
  
 
$$\ge_{C} f(x) - f(x^{*}) + \delta \min_{1 \le j \le m} d_{j}^{*} e.$$

Hence

$$N_{\gamma}(x, d^*) \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} N_{\gamma}(x^*, d^*).$$

If  $x \in B$ , then  $N_{\gamma}(x, d^*) = g(x) \not\leq N_{\gamma}(x^*, d^*) = g(x^*)$ . Finally, we show that

$$N_{\gamma}(x^*, d) \not\geq N_{\gamma}(x^*, d^*), \quad \forall d \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$$

This is obvious because  $N_{\gamma}(x^*, d) = N_{\gamma}(x^*, d^*) = g(x^*)$ .

### 2.10 Nonlinear Penalization for VO

In this section, we consider exact penalization results for a vector optimization problem via a nonlinear penalty function.

Let  $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $Y = \mathbb{R}^\ell$  be an  $\ell$ -dimensional Euclidean space, and  $C = \mathbb{R}^\ell_+$ . Let  $K \subseteq \mathbb{R}^n$  be a nonempty closed set,  $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_\ell) : K \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$  be a vector-valued function such that each of its component function  $f_i$  is l.s.c., and  $g_j : K \to \mathbb{R}$  be l.s.c. for any  $j \in \{1, \cdots, m\}$ .

Consider the following constrained vector optimization problem (VOP):

$$\inf_{x \in B} f(x), \tag{2.94}$$

where  $B = \{x \in K : g_j(x) \leq 0, j = 1, \dots, m\}$ . It is clear that B is closed. We denote by  $\operatorname{Min}_C f(B)$  and  $\operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)$  the set of minimal points and the set of infimum points of (VOP) respectively.

Consider the following nonlinear penalty function:

$$N_{\gamma}(x,d) = p_{\gamma}(f(x), d * g^{+}(x)) = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \left[ f_{i}^{\gamma}(x) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{j}^{\gamma} g_{j}^{+\gamma}(x) \right]^{1/\gamma} e_{i},$$

where  $0 < \gamma < +\infty$ , and  $e_i = (0, 0, \dots, 1, 0, \dots, 0)$  (the *i*th component is 1 and the other components are 0's),  $i = 1, \dots, \ell$ .

If  $\ell=1$ , this class of nonlinear penalty functions can be considered as a composition of the following two functions

$$\left[y_0^{\gamma} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} y_j^{\gamma}\right]^{1/\gamma}, \text{ and } (f_1(x), d_1g_1(x), \cdots, d_mg_m(x)),$$

while the first one is a so-called increasing positively homogenous function, see [172].

If  $\gamma = 1$  and  $\ell = 1$ , then nonlinear penalty function  $N_{\gamma}(x, d)$  reduces to the classical  $l_1$  scalar penalty function

$$f_1(x) + \sum_{j=1}^m d_j g_j^+(x).$$

Let  $u = (u_1, \dots, u_m) \in \mathbb{R}^m$ . We associate (VOP) with a perturbed problem:

$$\inf_{x \in B(u)} f(x), \tag{2.95}$$

where  $B(u) = \{x \in X : g_j(x) \leq u_j, j = 1, \dots, m\}$ . We will denote by  $\operatorname{Min}_C f(B(u))$  and  $\operatorname{Inf}_C f(B(u))$  the sets of minimal points and infimum points of  $(\operatorname{VOP}_u)$  respectively.

We need the following lemma.

**Lemma 2.112.** For any  $x_0 \in B(u)$ , there exists  $z^* \in Inf_C f(B(u))$  such that  $z^* \leq_C f(x_0)$ .

*Proof.* It follows immediately from Proposition 2.78.

**Definition 2.113.** We say that  $(VOP_u)$  is  $\gamma$ -rank uniformly weakly stable if there exist  $\delta > 0$  and M > 0 such that

$$\left[\frac{Inf_C f(B(u)) - Inf_C f(B)}{\|u\|_{\gamma}^{\gamma}} + Me\right] \cap (-intC) = \emptyset, \tag{2.96}$$

for any  $u \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  with  $0 < ||u||_{\gamma} \le \delta$ .

It is not hard to show that the restriction  $u \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  in the definition of the  $\gamma$ -rank uniform weak stability can be replaced by  $u \in \mathbb{R}^m$ . This is also true for the  $\gamma$ -rank weak stability in the following Definition 2.115.

In the definition of  $\gamma$ -rank uniform weak stability of (VOP), the term "uniform" shows the difference from the usual stability in which  $\operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)$  in (2.96) is replaced by a specific point of  $\operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)$  and the fact that different points of  $\operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)$  may have different M's in (2.96).

Let  $0 < \gamma_1 < \gamma_2$ . It is not hard to see that if (VOP) is  $\gamma_2$ -rank uniformly weakly stable, then it is also  $\gamma_1$ -rank uniformly weakly stable.

**Theorem 2.114.** If (VOP) is  $\gamma$ -rank uniformly weakly stable, then  $\exists d^* \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  such that when  $d - d^* \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$ ,

$$Inf_C f(B) \subseteq q_{\gamma}(d),$$
 (2.97)

where  $q_{\gamma}(d) = Inf_C N_{\gamma}(K, d)$ . The converse is also true.

*Proof.* We begin by proving the first half of this theorem.

If  $\mathrm{Inf}_C f(B) = \emptyset$ , then the conclusion holds automatically. Now we assume that  $\mathrm{Inf}_C f(B) \neq \emptyset$ .

Let  $\eta(z) = \min_{1 \leq i \leq l} z_i, \forall z = (z_1, \dots, z_\ell) \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$ . We show by contradiction that  $\eta(\operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)) = \{\eta(z) : z \in \operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)\}$  is bounded from above by some M' > 0. Otherwise, there exists  $z_k \in \operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)$  such that  $z_k \to +\infty$ . Since  $\operatorname{Inf}_C f(B) \neq \emptyset$ , it follows that for any  $\delta > 0$ ,  $B(u_\delta) \supset X(0) = B \neq \emptyset$ , where  $u_\delta = (0, 0, \dots, 0, \delta) \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$ . Suppose that  $x_0 \in B \subset B(u_\delta)$ . Then by Lemma 2.112, there exists  $z_\delta \in \operatorname{Inf}_C f(B(u_\delta))$  such that

$$z_{\delta} \leq_C f(x_0).$$

Hence,

$$(z_{\delta}-z_k)/\|u_{\delta}\|_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \leq_C (f(x_0)-z_k)/\|u_{\delta}\|_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \to -\infty \text{ as } k \to \infty,$$

which contradicts (2.96) because  $\delta > 0$  can be arbitrarily small.

Suppose that there exists  $d_k = (d_{k,1}, \dots, d_{k,m}) \to +\infty$  and  $z_k \in \operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)$  such that  $z_k \notin \inf_{x \in X} N_{\gamma}(x, d_k)$ .

By  $z_k \in \text{Inf}_C f(B)$ , it follows that  $\exists x_k^j$  such that  $g(x_k^j) \leq 0$  and  $f(x_k^j) \to z_k$  as  $j \to \infty$ .

It follows from  $z_k \notin \inf_{x \in X} N_{\gamma}(x, d_k)$  that  $\exists x'_k \in X$  such that

$$N_{\gamma}(x_k', d_k) \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} z_k.$$

That is,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \left[ f_i^{\gamma}(x_k') + \sum_{j=1}^{m} (d_{k,j}^{\gamma} g_j^{+\gamma}(x_k')) \right]^{1/\gamma} e_i \le_{C \setminus \{0\}} z_k.$$
 (2.98)

Using (2.98), we deduce that  $\max_{1 \le j \le m} g_j(x'_k) > 0$  since  $z_k \in \text{Inf}_C f(B)$ .

(2.98) also implies that

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{k,j}^{\gamma} g_{j}^{\gamma}(x_{k}') \le (z_{k})_{i}^{\gamma} - f_{i}^{\gamma}(x_{k}') \le (z_{k})_{i}^{\gamma}, \quad i = 1, \dots, \ell,$$
(2.99)

where  $(z_k)_i$  denotes the *i*th component of vector  $z_k$ .

That is,  $[\sum_{j=1}^{m} d_{k,j}^{\gamma} g_{j}^{+\gamma}(x_{k}')]^{1/\gamma} \leq \eta(z_{k}) \leq M'$ .

It follows that  $g_j^+(x_k') \to 0 \ (j=1,\cdots,m)$  as  $k \to +\infty$ .

Now let  $u_{k,j} = g_j^+(x_k')$  and  $u_k = (u_{k,1}, \cdots, u_{k,m})$ . Clearly,  $||u_k||_{\gamma} > 0$  and  $||u_k||_{\gamma} \to 0$ . It follows from (2.99) that  $||u_k||_{\gamma} \lim_{1 \le j \le m} d_{k,j}^{\gamma} \le (z_k)_i^{\gamma} - f_i^{\gamma}(x_k')$ . By Lemma 2.112, we deduce that  $\exists v_k \in \text{Inf}_C f(B(u_k))$  such that  $v_k \le_C f(x_k')$ . By the mean-value theorem, we have  $(z_k)_i^{\gamma} - (v_k)_i^{\gamma} = \gamma(s_k)_i^{\gamma-1}((z_k)_i - (v_k)_i)$ , where  $(s_k)_i \in ((v_k)_i, (z_k)_i)$ . Therefore, it follows from (2.99) that if  $\gamma \le 1$ , then

$$||u_k||_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \min_{1 \le i \le m} d_{k,j}^{\gamma} \le \gamma(s_k)_i^{\gamma-1}((z_k)_i - (v_k)_i) \le \gamma(v_k)_i^{\gamma-1}((z_k)_i - (v_k)_i); (2.100)$$

if  $\gamma < 1$ , then

$$||u_k||_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \min_{1 \le j \le m} d_{k,j}^{\gamma} \le \gamma M'^{\gamma - 1}((z_k)_i - (v_k)_i).$$
 (2.101)

Since  $\inf_{x \in X} f_i(x) > 0, \forall i$ , it follows that

$$\min_{1 \le i \le m} (v_k)_i \ge m_2 > 0. \tag{2.102}$$

Let  $M'' = \max\{M'^{\gamma-1}, m_2^{\gamma-1}\}$ . The combination of (2.100), (2.101) and (2.102) yields that

$$||u_k||_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \min_{1 \le j \le m} d_{k,j}^{\gamma} \le \gamma M''((z_k)_i - (v_k)_i),$$

i.e.,

$$\frac{(v_k)_i - (z_k)_i}{\|u_k\|_{\gamma}^{\gamma}} \le -\frac{\min\limits_{1 \le j \le m} d_{k,j}^{\gamma}}{\gamma M''},$$

which contradicts (2.96). Thus (2.97) holds.

Now we prove the second half of the theorem by contradiction.

Suppose that  $\exists u_k = (u_{k,1}, \dots, u_{k,m}) \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  with  $u_k \to 0^+$  and  $z_k \in \operatorname{Inf}_C f(B(u_k)), v_k \in \operatorname{Inf}_C f(B)$  such that

$$(z_k - v_k)/\|u_k\|_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \to -\infty$$
, as  $k \to +\infty$ ,

where the virtual element  $-\infty$  is such that for any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^1_+$ ,  $-\infty \leq_{intC} -\alpha e$ . Then  $\exists x_k \in X$  with  $g_j(x_k) \leq u_{k,j}, \forall j$  such that

$$(f(x_k) - v_k) / ||u_k||_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \to -\infty$$
, as  $k \to +\infty$ . (2.103)

By the assumption of the theorem,  $\exists d^* = (d_1^*, \dots, d_m^*) \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  such that when  $d - d^* \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$ ,  $v_k \in \inf_{x \in X} N_\gamma(x, d)$ . Therefore,

$$N_{\gamma}(x_k, d^*) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} v_k. \tag{2.104}$$

We assume that  $i^* \in \{1, \dots, \ell\}$  is such that

$$\left[ f_{i^*}^{\gamma}(x_k) + \sum_{j=1}^m d_j^{*\gamma} g_j^{+\gamma}(x_k) \right]^{1/\gamma} \ge (v_k)_{i^*}.$$

Namely,

$$f_{i^*}^{\gamma}(x_k) - (v_k)_{i^*}^{\gamma} \ge -\sum_{j=1}^m d_j^{*\gamma} g_j^{+\gamma}(x_k). \tag{2.105}$$

It follows from (2.103) and (2.104) that  $\max_{1 \le j \le m} g_j(x_k) > 0$ . So, from (2.105), we deduce that

$$f_{i^*}^{\gamma}(x_k) - (v_k)_{i^*}^{\gamma} \ge -\max_{1 \le j \le m} d_j^{*\gamma} \|u_k\|_{\gamma}^{\gamma}.$$

That is,

$$[(v_k)_{i^*}^{\gamma} - f_{i^*}^k(x_k)] / \|u_k\|_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \le \max_{1 \le j \le m} d_j^{*\gamma}.$$
 (2.106)

Since

$$(v_k)_{i^*}^{\gamma} - f_{i^*}^{\gamma}(x_k) = \gamma s_k^{\gamma - 1}((v_k)_{i^*} - f_{i^*}(x_k)), \quad s_k \in (f_{i^*}(x_k), (v_k)_i),$$

it follows from the assumption on f that there exists a > 0 such that

$$(v_k)_{i^*}^{\gamma} - f_{i^*}^k(x_k) \ge \gamma a((v_k)_{i^*} - f_{i^*}(x_k)). \tag{2.107}$$

(2.106) and (2.107) yield that

$$[f_{i^*}(x_k) - (v_k)_{i^*}]/\|u_k\|_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \ge -\max_{1 \le j \le m} d_j^{*\gamma}/(ka),$$

which contradicts (2.103). The proof is complete.

**Definition 2.115.** (i) Let  $z^* \in Inf_C f(B)$ . The problem (VOP) is said to be  $\gamma$ -rank weakly stable at  $z^*$  if there exist positive real numbers  $\delta_{z^*}$  and  $M_{z^*}$  such that

 $\left[\frac{\mathit{Inf}_C f(B(u)) - z^*}{\|u\|_{\gamma}^{\gamma}} + M_{z^*} e\right] \cap (-\mathit{int}C) = \emptyset,$ 

for any  $u \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$  with  $0 < ||u||_{\gamma} \le \delta_{z^*}$ .

(ii) The problem (VOP) is said to be  $\gamma$ -rank weakly stable if it is  $\gamma$ -rank weakly stable at every  $z^* \in Inf_C f(B)$ .

The following simple example shows that (VOP) is 1-rank weakly stable but not 1-rank uniformly weakly stable. Let  $n=1, \ell=2, K=\mathbb{R}, m=1$ . Let  $f(x)=(\exp(-x^{1/2}), \exp(-x^{1/2}))$  if x>0;  $f(x)=(\exp(x), \exp(-x))$  if  $x\leq 0$ . Let  $g(x)=x, \forall x\in\mathbb{R}$ .

It is easy to check that

$$Inf_C f(B) = \{(\exp(x), \exp(-x)) : x \le 0\}$$

and, for any u > 0,

$$Inf_C f(B(u)) = \{(\exp(-u^{1/2}), \exp(-u^{1/2}))\} \cup \{(\exp(x), \exp(-x)) : x < -u^{1/2}\}.$$

It is elementary to prove that (VOP) is 1-rank weakly stable but not 1-rank uniformly weakly stable.

It is clear that if (VOP) is  $\gamma$ -rank uniformly weakly stable, then (VOP) is  $\gamma$ -rank weakly semi-stable.

The proof of the next theorem is similar to that of Theorem 2.114 and thus omitted.

**Theorem 2.116.** Let  $z^* \in Inf_C f(B)$ . Then (VOP) is  $\gamma$ -rank weakly stable at  $z^*$  if and only if there exists a  $d^* \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  such that  $z^* \in q_{\gamma}(d)$  whenever  $d - d^* \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$ .

Corollary 2.117. (VOP) is  $\gamma$ -rank weakly stable if and only if, for every  $z^*$ , there exists a  $d^* \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  such that  $z^* \in q_{\gamma}(d)$  whenever  $d - d^* \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$ .

The next theorem uses a well-known condition in the study of sensitivity of a constrained optimization problem, i.e., the compactness of the feasible set with a small perturbation. Under this condition, the set of minimal points of (VOP) and that of  $N_{\gamma}(\cdot, d)$  are nonempty. The conclusion follows directly from Theorem 2.114.

**Theorem 2.118.** Assume that there exists  $u^0 = (u_1^0, \dots, u_m^0) \in int \mathbb{R}_+^m$  with  $||u^0|| > 0$  sufficiently small such that  $X(u^0) = \{x \in X : g_j(x) \leq u_j^0, \forall j\}$  is compact. If (VOP) is  $\gamma$ -rank uniformly weakly stable, then there exists  $d^* \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  such that when  $d - d^* \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$ ,

$$Min_C f(B) \subseteq \bar{q}_{\gamma}(d),$$

where  $\bar{q}_{\gamma}(d)$  is the set of minimal points of  $N_{\gamma}(\cdot,d)$  over K. The converse is also true.

The following theorem establishes further relationship between the solutions of (VOP) and that of the penalty problems based on  $N_{\gamma}$ .

**Theorem 2.119.** Assume that  $B \neq \emptyset$  and there exists  $d^* = (d_1^*, d_2^*, \dots, d_m^*) \in$  $\mathbb{R}^m_+$  such that for all d satisfying  $d-d^*\in\mathbb{R}^m_+$ ,  $x^*\in X$  is a minimal solution of the problem  $\underset{x \in K}{Min_C}N_{\gamma}(x, d)$ , then  $x^*$  is a minimal solution of (VOP).

*Proof.* Let  $x^*$  be a minimal solution of  $\underset{x \in K}{\operatorname{Min}} CN_{\gamma}(x,d)$  for any d satisfying  $d-d^* \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$ . Then we have

$$N_{\gamma}(x,d) - N_{\gamma}(x^*,d) \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} 0, \ \forall x \in X, d \text{ satisfying } d - d^* \in \mathbb{R}^m_+.$$

For any  $x_0 \in B$ , we have  $N_{\gamma}(x_0, d) = f(x_0), \forall d \in \mathbb{R}_+^m$  by Lemma 2.94. Thus,

$$f(x_0) - \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \left[ f_i^{\gamma}(x^*) + \sum_{j=1}^{m} d_j^{\gamma} g_j^{+\gamma}(x^*) \right]^{1/\gamma} e_i \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \tag{2.108}$$

where  $\forall x_0 \in B, d - d^* \in \mathbb{R}^m_+$ . We claim that  $g_i^+(x^*) = 0, \forall j \text{ (i.e., } x^* \in B)$ . Otherwise,  $\sum_{j=1}^{m} g_j^{+\gamma}(x^*) > 0$ . It follows from (2.108) that there exists  $i^* \in \{1, \dots, \ell\}$  such that

$$f_{i^*}^{\gamma}(x_0) - f_{i^*}^{\gamma}(x^*) \ge \sum_{j=1}^m d_j^{\gamma} g_j^{+\gamma}(x^*) \ge (\min_{1 \le j \le m} d_j^{\gamma}) \sum_{j=1}^m g_j^{+\gamma}(x^*).$$

Hence,

$$\max_{1 \le i \le \ell} \{ f_i^{\gamma}(x_0) - f_i^{\gamma}(x^*) \} \ge \sum_{j=1}^m d_j^{\gamma} g_j^{+\gamma}(x^*) \ge (\min_{1 \le j \le m} d_j^{\gamma}) \sum_{j=1}^m g_j^{+\gamma}(x^*),$$

which is impossible if we let  $d_j \to +\infty, \forall j$ . Therefore,  $x^* \in B$ . It follows directly from Lemma 2.94 and (2.108) that  $x^* \in \operatorname{Min}_C f(B)$  and the proof is complete.

# Vector Variational Inequalities

The concept of a vector variational inequality was introduced by Giannessi [79] in a finite dimensional space. Chen and Yang [40] considered general vector variational inequalities and vector complementary problems in infinite dimensional spaces, and Chen [25] considered vector variational inequalities with a variable ordering structure. Yang [207] studied inverse vector variational inequalities and its relations with a vector optimization problem. Through the last twenty years of development, existence results of solutions for several kinds of vector variational inequalities have been derived and the vector variational inequality problem has found many of its applications in vector optimization, set-valued optimization, approximate analysis of vector optimization problems and vector network equilibrium problems. Because of these applications, the study of vector-variational inequalities has attracted wide attention.

In this chapter, we will study relations between vector variational inequalities (VVI) and vector optimization problems, existence of a solution of (VVI), inverse VVI, gap functions of VVI, set-valued VVI, and vector complementarity problems. We will investigate these with or without a variable ordering structure.

## 3.1 Vector Variational Inequalities (VVI)

Let X and Y be Hausdorff topological vector spaces. By L(X,Y), we denote the set of all linear continuous vector-valued functions from X into Y. For  $l \in L(X,Y)$ , the value of linear vector-valued function l at x is denoted by  $\langle l,x\rangle$ . Let  $C\subset Y$  be a nonempty convex cone. Then (Y,C) is an ordered Hausdorff topological vector space.

**Definition 3.1.** A vector variational inequality (VVI) is a problem of finding  $x^* \in K$  such that

$$(VVI) \langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where  $T: K \to L(X,Y)$  and  $K \subset X$  is a nonempty subset.

Let the topological interior intC of the cone C be nonempty. We have the following definition.

**Definition 3.2.** A weak vector variational inequality (WVVI) is a problem of finding  $x^* \in K$  such that

$$(WVVI) \qquad \langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where  $T: K \to L(X,Y)$  and  $K \subset X$  is a nonempty subset.

Consider a vector optimization problem:

(VOK) 
$$\min_{x \in K} f(x),$$

where  $f: X \to Y$  is a vector-valued function. The following proposition provides a relationship between the (WVVI) and the vector optimization problem (VOK).

**Proposition 3.3.** Assume f is Gâteaux differentiable with Gâteaux derivative Df. Let K be a convex subset of X and T = Df. If x is a weakly minimal solution of (VOK), then x solves (WVVI). Assume further that f is a C-convex vector-valued function. If x solves (WVVI), then x is a weakly minimal solution of (VOK).

*Proof.* Let x be a weakly minimal solution of (VOK). For any  $y \in K$ , we have  $x + t(y - x) \in K$ ,  $\forall t \in (0, 1)$ . Then

$$\begin{split} &f(x+t(y-x))-f(x)\not\leq_{intC}0, &\forall t\in(0,1),\\ &\frac{f(x+t(y-x))-f(x)}{t}\not\leq_{intC}0, &\forall t\in(0,1). \end{split}$$

Let  $t \to 0+$ . Then

$$\langle Df(x), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

Noting that T = Df, x solves (WVVI).

Conversely, let x solve (WVVI). Then

$$\langle Df(x), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

Since f is C-convex, for any  $y \in K$ ,

$$f(y) - f(x) - \langle Df(x), y - x \rangle \in C$$

$$\iff f(y) - f(x) \in \langle Df(x), y - x \rangle + C$$

$$\implies f(y) - f(x) \in W + C \subset W,$$

where  $W = Y \setminus (-intC)$ . Thus

$$f(y) - f(x) \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in K,$$

i.e., x solves (VOK).

The following establishes when a solution of (VVI) is also a solution of (VOK).

**Proposition 3.4.** Let K be a convex subset of X and T = Df. Let C be a pointed and convex cone in Y. If f is C-convex and x solves (VVI), then x is a minimal solution of (VOK).

*Proof.* Suppose that x is not a minimal solution of (VOK). Then there is a  $y \in K$  such that  $f(x) - f(y) \ge_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0$ . Since f is C—convex, we have

$$f(y) - f(x) - \langle Df(x), y - x \rangle \ge_C 0.$$

Thus

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle = \langle Df(x), y - x \rangle \in -C - C \setminus \{0\} \subset -C \setminus \{0\},$$

a contradiction.

In the following example, we show that a minimal solution of (VOK) may not be a solution of (VVI).

Example 3.5. Let  $X = \mathbb{R}$ ,  $Y = \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $C = \mathbb{R}^2$ . Consider the problem

$$\operatorname{Min}_C f(x)$$
, subject to  $x \in [-1, 0]$ 

where  $f(x) = (x, x^2 + 1)^{\top}$ . It is clear that every  $x \in [-1, 0]$  is a minimal solution of the problem. Let x = 0. Then, for y = -1,

$$\nabla f(x)(y-x) = \begin{pmatrix} -1\\0 \end{pmatrix} \in -\mathbb{R}^2_+.$$

Thus x = 0 is not a solution of (VVI).

However, we can show that the following holds.

**Proposition 3.6.** Assume that T = Df holds and f is C-concave. If  $x^*$  is a minimal solution of (VOK), then x solves also (VVI).

*Proof.* Suppose that x is a minimal solution of (VOK). Then x is a weakly minimal solution of (VOK). If  $x^*$  does not solve (VVI), then there exists a  $x \in K$  such that

$$\langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0.$$

By the concavity assumption,

$$f(x) - f(x^*) \le_C \langle Df(x^*), x - x^* \rangle = \langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \le_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0.$$

Since C is convex, we have

$$f(x) \le_{C \setminus \{0\}} f(x^*),$$

which contradicts that  $x^*$  is a minimal solution of (VOK).

Moreover, a minimal solution of (VOK) can be characterized by a so-called Minty VVI.

**Theorem 3.7.** Giannessi [81] Let  $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $Y = \mathbb{R}^\ell$  and  $C = \mathbb{R}^\ell_+$ . Let

$$f(x) := (f_1(x), \dots, f_{\ell}(x))^{\top}, \text{ and } T(x) = \nabla f(x) := (\nabla f_1(x), \dots, \nabla f_{\ell}(x))^{\top}$$

be the Jacobian (an  $\ell \times n$  matrix) of the vector-valued function f at x. Let f be  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ -convex and v-hemicontinuous on K and K be convex. Then,  $x^*$  is a minimal solution of (VOK) if and only if it is a solution of the following Minty VVI:

$$T(x)(x - x^*) \not \leq_{\mathbb{R}^{\ell} \setminus \{0\}} 0, \ \forall x \in K.$$
 (3.1)

*Proof.* Suppose that  $x^*$  is a minimal solution of (VOK). If  $x^*$  is not a solution of the Minty VVI (3.1), then there exists  $\bar{x} \in K$  such that

$$T(\bar{x})(\bar{x} - x^*) \leq_{\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+} \setminus \{0\}} 0,$$

that is,

$$T(\bar{x})(x^* - \bar{x}) \geq_{\mathbb{R}^{\ell} \setminus \{0\}} 0.$$

Since f is  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$ -convex, we have

$$f(x^*) - f(\bar{x}) \ge_{\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+}} T(\bar{x})(x^* - \bar{x}) \ge_{\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+} \setminus \{0\}} 0.$$

Then

$$f(\bar{x}) - f(x^*) \leq_{\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+} \setminus \{0\}} 0,$$

it is a contradiction.

Conversely, let  $x^*$  be a solution of the Minty VVI (3.1). Suppose on the contrary that there is  $\bar{x} \in K$  such that

$$f(\bar{x}) - f(x^*) \le_{\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+ \setminus \{0\}} 0.$$
 (3.2)

Since K is convex,  $\bar{x}(\alpha) := \alpha x^* + (1 - \alpha)\bar{x} \in K, \forall \alpha \in [0, 1]$ . Because of the convexity of f and of the Lagrange Mean Value Theorem, there exists  $\bar{\alpha} \in (0, 1)$ , such that

$$\frac{d}{d\alpha}f(\bar{x}(\bar{\alpha})) \ge_{\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+}} f(x^{*}) - f(\bar{x}). \tag{3.3}$$

From (3.2) and (3.3), we have

$$\langle T(\hat{x}), x^* - \bar{x} \rangle \ge_{\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+} \setminus \{0\}} 0,$$

where  $\hat{x} = \bar{x}(\bar{\alpha})$ . Multiplying both sides of this inequality by  $1 - \bar{\alpha}$ ,

$$\langle T(\hat{x}), x^* - \hat{x} \rangle \geq_{\mathbf{IR}^{\ell} \setminus \{0\}} 0,$$

which contradicts the assumption.

Next we show that (VVI) is a necessary optimality condition for a Geoffrion properly minimal solution of (VOK).

Let  $X = \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $Y = \mathbb{R}^\ell$  and  $C = \mathbb{R}^\ell_+$ . Let  $f(x) := (f_1(x), \dots, f_\ell(x))^\top$ . A point  $x^* \in K$  is said to a Geoffrion properly minimal solution of (VOK) [76] if there exists a scalar M > 0 such that, for each i,

$$\frac{f_i(x^*) - f_i(x)}{f_i(x) - f_i(x^*)} \le M,$$

for some j such that  $f_j(x) > f_j(x^*)$  whenever  $x \in K$  and  $f_i(x) < f_i(x^*)$ . Every Geoffrion properly minimal solution is a minimal solution.

Let  $T(x) = \nabla f(x) := (\nabla f_1(x), \dots, \nabla f_\ell(x))^\top$  be the Jacobian (an  $\ell \times n$  matrix) of the vector-valued function f at x.

**Proposition 3.8.** Assume that f and K are convex. If  $x^*$  is a Geoffrion properly minimal solution for (VOK), then  $x^*$  is a solution of (VVI).

*Proof.* Since  $x^*$  is a Geoffrion properly minimal solution for (VOK), it follows from [76] that there exists  $\lambda \in int\mathbb{R}_+^{\ell}$  such that  $x^*$  solves the following problem

min 
$$\lambda^{\top} f(x)$$
, subject to  $x \in K$ .

Then we have

$$\nabla(\lambda^{\top} f)(x^*)(x - x^*) \ge 0$$
,  $\forall x \in K$ .

Noticing that  $\nabla(\lambda^{\top} f) = \lambda^{\top} \nabla f$ . Thus  $x^*$  satisfies

$$\nabla f(x^*)(x - x^*) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \forall x \in K.$$

Therefore  $x^*$  is a solution of (VVI).

A function  $g: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  is said to be pseudolinear on K if g is both pseudoconvex and pseudoconcave on K. It is known [45] that, g is a pseudolinear function if and only if, for any pair of x and y, there exists a scalar  $\eta(x,y) > 0$  such that

$$g(y) - g(x) = \eta(x, y) \nabla g(x)^{\top} (y - x).$$

Any linear function and any linear fractional function (ratio of linear functions) is pseudolinear.

Let  $f(x) =: (f_1(x), \dots, f_{\ell}(x))^{\top}$ , each  $f_i$  is pseudolinear. Then there exists a scalar  $\eta_i(x, y) > 0$  such that

$$f_i(y) - f_i(x) = \eta_i(x, y) \nabla f_i(x)^{\top} (y - x).$$
 (3.4)

Consider the vector pseudolinear optimization problem

$$\operatorname{Min}_{C} f(x)$$
, subject to  $x \in K$ . (3.5)

Then we have

$$f(y) - f(x) = (\eta_1(x, y) \nabla f_1(x)^{\top} (y - x), \dots, \eta_{\ell}(x, y) \nabla f_{\ell}(x)^{\top} (y - x))^{\top}.$$
 (3.6)

Let  $T: \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{\ell \times n}$  be a matrix-valued function defined by

$$T(x) = (\eta_1(x, y)\nabla f_1(x), \cdots, \eta_{\ell}(x, y)\nabla f_{\ell}(x))^{\top}.$$
 (3.7)

Consider the following vector variational inequality problem of finding  $x \in K$  such that

$$T(x)(y-x) \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} 0, \quad \forall y \in K, \tag{3.8}$$

where T is defined by (3.7).

The following shows an equivalent condition between VOK(3.5) and VVI(3.8). Let f and T be defined by (3.4) and (3.7)

**Theorem 3.9.** Assume that K is convex and each  $f_i(i = 1, 2, \dots, \ell)$  is pseudolinear. The point  $x^*$  is a minimal solution of VOK(3.5) if and only if  $x^*$  solves VVI(3.8).

*Proof.* Let  $x^*$  be a minimal solution of VOK(3.5). There is no  $x \in K$  such that

$$f(x) - f(x^*) \le_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0,$$

that is

$$(\eta_1(x^*,x)\nabla f_1(x^*)(x-x^*),\cdots,\eta_\ell(x^*,x)\nabla f_\ell(x^*)(x-x^*))^{\top} \leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} 0.$$

Thus, there is no  $x \in K$  such that

$$T(x^*)(x-x^*) \leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} 0.$$

Then  $x^*$  solves VVI(3.8).

**Proposition 3.10.** Let X and Y be Banach spaces. Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be closed, convex cone valued and u.s.c.. Let  $K \subset X$  be a nonempty convex subset. Let f be a Gâteaux differentiable function with Gâteaux derivative denoted by T(x) = Df(x). If  $\bar{x} \in K$  is a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution of f on K, then  $\bar{x}$  is a solution of the following generalized weak vector variational inequality problem

$$(GWVVI) \quad \langle T(\bar{x}), x - \bar{x} \rangle \not \leq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Conversely, if f is C(x)-convex on K and  $\bar{x}$  is a solution of (GWVVI), then  $\bar{x}$  is a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution of f on K.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\bar{x} \in K$ , and  $\bar{x}$  is a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution of f on K. For any  $x \in K$ , we have  $\bar{x} + t(x - \bar{x}) \in K$ ,  $\forall t \in (0, 1]$ . By Definition 1.15,

$$f(\bar{x} + t(x - \bar{x})) - f(\bar{x}) \not\leq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall t \in (0, 1],$$

then

$$\frac{f(\bar{x}+t(x-\bar{x}))-f(\bar{x})}{t}\not\leq_{intC(\bar{x})}0,\quad\forall t\in(0,1].$$

Let  $t \to 0+$ . Thus

$$\langle T(\bar{x}), x - \bar{x} \rangle \notin -intC(\bar{x}), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

So  $\bar{x}$  is a solution of (WVVI). Conversely, let f be C-convex. Then, by Proposition 1.72,

$$f(y) - f(x) \in \langle T(x), y - x \rangle + C(x), \quad \forall x, y \in K.$$

Since  $\bar{x}$  is a solution of (GWVVI), we have

$$\langle T(\bar{x}), y - \bar{x} \rangle \not\leq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

i.e.

$$\langle T(\bar{x}), y - \bar{x} \rangle \in W(\bar{x}), \quad \forall y \in K,$$

where  $W(\bar{x}) = Y \setminus (-intC(\bar{x}))$ . Then

$$f(y) - f(\bar{x}) \in W(\bar{x}), \quad \forall y \in K,$$

that is,

$$f(y) - f(\bar{x}) \notin -intC(\bar{x}), \quad \forall y \in K.$$

So  $\bar{x}$  is a nondominated-like minimal solution of f on K.

**Corollary 3.11.** Let Y be a real normed space and  $K \subset Y$ . Let  $f: Y \to Y$  be a Gâteaux differentiable vector-valued function with Gâteaux derivative denoted by F(y) = Df(y). Let f be C(y)-convex on K. Let  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be an u.s.c. set-valued function such that for each  $y \in Y$ , C(y) is a proper, closed and convex cone in Y. Let  $\bar{C} = \bigcap_{y \in Y} C(y)$  and  $e \in int\bar{C}$ . Let  $\bar{y} \in K$ . Then  $\bar{y}$  is a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution of f on K if and only if

$$\min_{y \in K} \xi_e(\bar{y}, \ F(\bar{y})(y - \bar{y})) = 0.$$

*Proof.* By Proposition 3.10,  $\bar{y}$  is a weakly nondominated-like minimal solution of f on K if and only if

$$F(\bar{y})(y - \bar{y}) \notin -intC(\bar{y}), \quad \forall y \in K.$$

By Proposition 1.54, the above inequality holds if and only if

$$\xi_e(\bar{y}, F(\bar{y})(y - \bar{y})) \ge 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

Observing that  $\xi_e(\bar{y}, 0) = 0$ , the theorem holds.

The relations between vector variational inequality problems and setvalued optimization problems are shown in Section 2.4, see Theorems 2.48, 2.50, 2.64 and 2.73.

Now we consider existence of solutions for weak vector variational inequalities (WVVI).

**Lemma 3.12 (Generalized Linearization Lemma).** Let the mapping  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  be monotone and v-hemicontinuous. Then the following two problems are equivalent for each convex subset K in X:

(i) 
$$x \in K$$
,  $\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0$ ,  $\forall y \in K$ ;

(ii) 
$$x \in K$$
,  $\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0$ ,  $\forall y \in K$ .

*Proof.* Let x be a solution given by (i). Since T is monotone,

$$\langle T(y) - T(x), y - x \rangle \ge_C 0, \quad y \in K,$$

$$\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \geq_C \langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

Thus we have

$$\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

Suppose (ii) holds. For any  $y \in K$ ,  $0 < \lambda < 1$ ,

$$\langle T(\lambda y + (1-\lambda)x), \lambda y + (1-\lambda)x - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0.$$

Dividing by  $\lambda$ , we have

$$\langle T(x+\lambda(y-x)), y-x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0.$$

Let  $\lambda \to 0+$ , we obtain (i) since T is v-hemicontinuous.

**Definition 3.13.** A mapping  $A \in L(X,Y)$  is called completely continuous, if it maps weakly convergent sequences to strongly convergent ones.

In next theorem, we shall use the weak topology of X and the norm topology of Y.

**Theorem 3.14.** Assume that X is a reflexive Banach space and  $K \subset X$  is convex. Assume that (Y,C) is an ordered Banach space with  $intC \neq \emptyset$  and  $intC^* \neq \emptyset$ . Let the mapping  $T: K \to L(X,Y)$  be monotone, v-hemicontinuous and let, for any  $y \in K$ , T(y) be completely continuous mapping on X. If

- (i) K is compact, or
- (ii) K is closed, T is weakly coercive on K,

then the vector variational inequality (WVVI) is solvable.

Proof. We set

$$F_1(y) = \{ x \in K : \langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0 \}, \quad y \in K.$$

For (i), we prove that  $F_1$  is a KKM map on K. Let  $\{x_1, \dots, x_k\} \subset K$ ,  $\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i = 1, \alpha_i \geq 0$ . Suppose that  $x = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i x_i \notin \bigcup_{i=1}^n F_1(x_i)$ . Then

$$\langle T(x), x_i - x \rangle \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall i,$$

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \langle T(x), x_i \rangle \leq_{intC} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \langle T(x), x \rangle = \langle T(x), x \rangle.$$

It is impossible, so we obtain

$$co\{x_1,\cdots,x_k\}\subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n F_1(x_i),$$

i.e.,  $F_1$  is a KKM map on K.

Let

$$F_2(y) = \{x \in K : \langle T(y), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0\}, \quad y \in K.$$

We have  $F_1(y) \subset F_2(y)$  for all  $y \in K$ . Indeed, let  $x \in F_1(y)$ , so that  $\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0$ . By the monotonicity of T, it follows that

$$\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \ge_C \langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not \le_{intC} 0,$$

that is,  $x \in F_2(y)$ . Thus  $F_2$  is also a KKM map on K. By Lemma 3.12, we have

$$\cap_{y \in K} F_1(y) = \cap_{y \in K} F_2(y).$$

We observe that for each  $y \in K$ ,  $F_2(y)$  is a (weakly) compact subset in K. Indeed, for any  $y \in K$  and any  $x \in clF_2(y)$ , there exists a sequence  $\{x_k\}_{n\in N} \subset F_2(y)$  such that  $x_k$  weakly converges to x. Since T(y) is completely continuous, we have that  $\langle T(y), y - x_k \rangle \in W$  strongly converges to  $\langle T(y), y - x \rangle$ . The strong closedness of W implies that  $\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \in W$ , that is,  $x \in F_2(y)$ . Hence, for each  $y \in K$ ,  $F_2(y)$  is weakly closed. Since we consider a weakly topology on X and K is (weakly) compact,  $F_2(y)$  is compact for each  $y \in K$ .

By the KKM theorem (see Theorem 1.34), we have

$$\cap_{y \in K} F_1(y) = \cap_{y \in K} F_2(y) \neq \varnothing.$$

Hence, there exists an  $\bar{x} \in K$  such that

$$\langle T(\bar{x}), y - \bar{x} \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Consider the case (ii). Firstly, we prove the following conclusion: if  $c \in intC^*$  and  $x^*$  is a solution of the (scalar) variational inequality  $(VI)_c$ :

$$(VI)_c$$
  $x \in K, \quad \langle c \circ T(x), y - x \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$ 

then  $x^*$  is a solution of (WVVI).

Indeed, suppose that  $x^*$  is not a solution of (WVVI). Then  $\langle T(x^*), y - x^* \rangle \leq_{intC} 0$  for some  $y \in K$ . Thus, by  $c \in intC^*$ 

$$\langle c \circ T(x^*), y - x^* \rangle < 0,$$

i.e.,  $x^*$  is not a solution of  $(VI)_c$ .

For (ii), it is sufficient to prove that  $(VI)_c$  has a solution, where c is the one in the weak coercive condition. Let  $B_r$  denote a closed ball of center 0 and radius r in X (for the norm in X). By the Hartmann-Stampacchia theorem, there exists a solution  $x_r$  of the variational inequality problem

$$x_r \in K \cap B_r$$
,  $\langle c \circ T(x_r), y - x_r \rangle \ge 0$ ,  $\forall y \in K \cap B_r$ .

Choose  $r \ge ||x^*||$  with  $x^*$  as  $x_0$  in the weak coercive condition. Then, we have  $\langle c \circ T(x_r), x^* - x_r \rangle \ge 0$ . Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} &\langle c \circ T(x_r), x^* - x_r \rangle \\ &= -\langle c \circ T(x_r) - c \circ T(x^*), x_r - x^* \rangle + \langle -c \circ T(x^*), x_r - x^* \rangle \\ &\leq -\langle c \circ T(x_r) - c \circ T(x^*), x_r - x^* \rangle + ||c \circ T(x^*)||||x_r - x^*|| \\ &= -||x_r - x^*||(\langle c \circ T(x_r) - c \circ T(x^*), x_r - x^* \rangle / ||x_r - x^*|| - ||c \circ T(x^*)||). \end{aligned}$$

Now if  $||x_r||$  is unbounded, we assume without loss of generality that  $||x_r|| \to \infty$ . By the above inequality and the weak coercivity of T, we may choose r large enough such that  $\langle c \circ T(x_r), x^* - x_r \rangle < 0$ , which contradicts

$$\langle c \circ T(x_r), x^* - x_r \rangle \ge 0.$$

If  $||x_r||$  is bounded, then we assume by the reflexivity of X and without loss of generality that  $||x_r|| \to \bar{x} \in X$  as  $r \to \infty$ . For any  $y \in K$ , there exists  $\bar{r} > 0$  such that when  $r \geq \bar{r}$ ,  $y \in K \cap B_r$ . Thus

$$\langle c \circ T(x_r), y - x_r \rangle \ge 0.$$

Letting  $r \to \infty$ , we have

$$\langle c \circ T(\bar{x}), y - \bar{x} \rangle \ge 0.$$

Hence  $\bar{x}$  solves  $(VI)_c$ .

Now we consider the existence of solutions for vector variational inequalities with variable domination structures. We assume that X and Y are two Banach spaces.

Let  $K \subset X$  be a nonempty, closed and convex subset, and let  $T: K \to L(X,Y)$  be a vector-valued function. Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function, that is, for every  $x \in X$ , C(x) is a closed and convex cone with nonempty interior intC(x).

Consider the following (WVVI):

$$x_0 \in K$$
,  $\langle T(x_0), x - x_0 \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x_0)} 0$ ,  $\forall x \in K$ . (3.9)

**Definition 3.15.** Let  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  be a vector-valued function. T is said to be C(x)-monotone on X if for any  $x, y \in X$ ,

$$\langle T(y) - T(x), y - x \rangle \ge_{C(x)} 0.$$

**Lemma 3.16.** [Generalized Linearization Lemma] Let  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  be C-monotone and v-hemicontinuous on X. Then the following problems (I) and (II) are equivalent for any convex subset K:

(i) 
$$x \in K$$
,  $\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0$ ,  $\forall y \in K$ ;

(ii) 
$$x \in K$$
,  $\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0$ ,  $\forall y \in K$ .

*Proof.* Since T is C(x)-monotone on X, we have

$$\langle T(y) - T(x), y - x \rangle \ge_{C(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

Let  $x \in K$  be a solution of (I). For the ordered Banach space (Y, C(x)) with a fixed  $x \in K$ , we have, by (iv) of Lemma 1.1

$$\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in Y,$$

that is (II).

Now, we suppose that (II) holds. Then, for any  $y \in K$  and  $\lambda \in (0,1)$ , by the convexity of K, we have

$$\langle T(\lambda y + (1-\lambda)x), \lambda y + (1-\lambda)x - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0.$$

Dividing by  $\lambda$ , we have

$$\langle T(x+\lambda(y-x)), y-x\rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0.$$

Thus (I) is derived by the v-hemicontinuity of T and the closedness of  $W(x) = Y \setminus (-intC(x))$ , for a fixed  $x \in K$  as  $\lambda \setminus 0$ .

Set for every  $y \in K$ 

$$F_1(y) = \{x \in K : \langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0\};$$

$$F_2(y) = \{ x \in K : \langle T(y), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0 \}.$$

Now we equip X with a weak topology, Y with a strong topology and L(X,Y) with the strong operator topology.

**Lemma 3.17.** Let  $K \subset X$  be weakly compact. Let  $T : K \to L(X,Y)$  be a vector-valued function, and let, for every  $y \in K$ , T(y) be a completely continuous operator. Let the set-valued function  $W : K \to Y$  with  $W(x) = Y \setminus (-intC(x))$  for every  $x \in K$  be upper semicontinuous on K. Then  $F_2(y)$  is weakly closed for every  $y \in K$ .

*Proof.* We denote the weakly closed hull of  $F_2(y)$  by  $\overline{F_2(y)}$ . There exists a sequence  $\{x_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\subset F_2(y)$  converges weakly to some  $x\in K$ . For every  $k\in\mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$\langle T(y), y - x_k \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x_k)} 0,$$

that is

$$\langle T(y), y - x_k \rangle \in W(x_k), \quad \forall k \in N.$$

Since T(y) is completely continuous and W is upper semicontinuous on K, we have

$$\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \in W(x),$$

that is  $x \in F_2(y)$ .

**Theorem 3.18.** Let X be a reflexive Banach space, and Y a Banach space. Let  $K \subset X$  be a nonempty bounded, closed and convex subset in X. Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function, such that, for every  $x \in X$ , C(x) is a closed, pointed and convex cone with nonempty interior intC(x). Let the set-valued function  $W: K \rightrightarrows Y$  with  $W(x) = Y \setminus (-intC(x))$  for every  $x \in K$  be upper semicontinuous on K. Let the vector-valued function  $T: K \to L(X,Y)$  be C(x)-monotone and v-hemicontinuous on K, and let, for every  $y \in K$ , T(y) be a completely continuous operator. Then the weak vector variational inequality WVVI(3.9) is solvable.

*Proof.* We first prove that  $F_1$  is a KKM mapping on K. Suppose that  $\{x_1, \dots, x_k\} \subset K$ ,  $\sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i = 1, \alpha_i \geq 0, i = 1, \dots, k, x = \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i x_i \notin \bigcup_{i=1}^k F_1(x_i)$ . Then

$$\langle T(x), x_i - x \rangle \ge_{intC(x)} 0, \quad i = 1, \dots, n.$$

Thus

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \alpha_i \langle T(x), x_i - x \rangle \ge_{intC(x)} 0,$$

that is

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle - \langle T(x), x \rangle \ge_{intC(x)} 0,$$

which is absurd. Thus we deduce that

$$conv\{x_1, \cdots, x_k\} \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^k F_1(x_i),$$

so that  $F_1$  is a KKM mapping on K. Now we have  $F_1(y) \subset F_2(y)$  for  $y \in K$ . Indeed, let  $x \in F_1(y)$ , so that

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0.$$

Since T is C-monotone on K, we have

$$\langle T(y), y - x \rangle - \langle T(x), y - x \rangle \ge_{C(x)} 0.$$

By (iv) of Lemma 1.1, we find that

$$\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0,$$

that is,  $x \in F_2(y)$ . Thus,  $F_2$  is also a KKM mapping. By Lemma 3.16 we have that

$$\cap_{y \in K} F_1(y) = \cap_{y \in K} F_2(y).$$

Besides, by Lemma 3.17  $F_2(y)$  is weakly closed for every  $y \in K$ .

Now we observe that K is weakly compact since X is a reflexive Banach space and K is a bounded, close and convex subset in X. Since  $F_2(y) \subset K$  and weak closedness of  $F_2(y)$ ,  $F_2(y)$  is a weak compact. If we equip X with the weak topology, we can use the KKM theorem for  $F_2$ . Thus  $\bigcap_{y \in K} F_2(y) \neq \emptyset$ , so that  $\bigcap_{y \in K} F_1(y) \neq \emptyset$ , thus there exists  $x_0 \in K$  such that  $x_0 \in \bigcap_{y \in K} F_1(y)$ , that is

$$\langle T(x_0), y - x_0 \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x_0)} 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

This completes the proof.

Set

$$C_+ = co\{C(x) : x \in K\}.$$

Then if, for every  $x \in K$ , C(x) is a closed, pointed and convex cone with the nonempty interior intC(x),  $C_+$  is also a closed, and convex cone with nonempty interior  $intC_+$ . We assume that  $C_+$  is also pointed.

We extend the Definition 1.38.

**Definition 3.19.** Let  $K \subset X$  be a convex and unbounded subset. We shall say that  $T: K \to L(X,Y)$  is coercive on K if there exist  $x_0 \in K$  and  $s \in C_+^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$\langle s \circ T(x) - s \circ T(x_0), x - x_0 \rangle / ||x - x_0|| \to +\infty,$$

whenever  $x \in K$  and  $||x|| \to \infty$ ; here  $s \circ T(x) = s(T(x))$ .

Let X and Y be topological vector spaces, K a nonempty subset of X, H a nonempty subset of Y, and  $M:K\to Y$  a mapping. We want to study conditions under which the system:

(S) 
$$\exists y \in K, \text{ s.t. } M(y) \in H,$$

will have or will not have a solution.

**Definition 3.20.** [73] Let Z be a subset of  $\mathbb{R}$ . The real function  $w:Y\to\mathbb{R}$  is called a weak separation function if

$$H^w = \{ h \in Y : w(h) \notin Z \} \supseteq H.$$

The real function  $s: Y \to \mathbb{R}$  is called a strong separation function if

$$H^s = \{h \in Y : s(h) \notin Z\} \subseteq H.$$

**Lemma 3.21.** [73] Let the sets H, K, Z and the mapping M be given. Then:

(i) The system (S) and the system

$$w(M(y)) \subset Z, \quad \forall y \in K,$$

are not simultaneously possible, whatever the weak separation function w may be;

(ii) The system (S) and the system

$$s(M(y)) \subseteq Z, \quad \forall y \in K,$$

are not simultaneously possible, whatever the strong separation function s may be.

**Theorem 3.22.** Let X, Y, C, W and T satisfy the assumption conditions in Theorem 3.18. Let  $K \subset X$  be a closed, convex and unbounded subset. Moreover let T be coercive on K with  $s \in C_+^*$ . Then the weak vector variational inequality WVVI(3.9) is solvable.

*Proof.* Note that  $x_0 \in K$  is a solution of (WVVI) iff the system

$$(S')$$
  $\exists y \in K, \text{ s.t. } \langle T(x_0), y - x_0 \rangle \in -intC(x_0)$ 

is impossible. Observe that

$$C_+^* \setminus \{0\} \subset C^*(x) \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

We assume that  $s \in C_+^* \setminus \{0\}$  is the same one as in the coercive condition. We set in Lemma 3.21

$$Z = (-\infty, 0], \quad H = intC(x_0), \quad M(y) = \langle T(x_0), y - x_0 \rangle,$$

then  $w(h) = s(h), h \in Y$  is a weak separation function for the system (S'). Thus, by Lemma 3.21(i), in order to show the existence of solutions for (WVVI), it is sufficient to prove that the classical scalar variational inequality

$$(VI)_s$$
  $x \in K, \quad \langle s \circ T(x), y - x \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$ 

has a solution in K.

 $B_r$  denote the closed ball in X with the center at 0 and the radius r. In the spacial case where

$$Y = \mathbb{R}, \quad C(x) = \mathbb{R}_+ \quad \forall x \in K \cap B_r.$$

Theorem 3.18 guarantees the existence of a solution  $x_r$  of the following (VI)

(VI) 
$$x \in K \cap B_r, \quad \langle s \circ T(x), y - x \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall y \in K \cap B_r.$$

Choose  $r > ||x_0||$ , with  $x_0$  as in the coercive condition. Then, we have

$$\langle s \circ T(x_r), x_0 - x_r \rangle > 0.$$

Moreover,

$$\begin{split} & \langle s \circ T(x_r), x_0 - x_r \rangle \\ &= -\langle s \circ T(x_r) - s \circ T(x_0), x_r - x_0 \rangle + \langle s \circ T(x_0), x_r - x_0 \rangle \\ &\leq -\langle s \circ T(x_r) - s \circ T(x_0), x_r - x_0 \rangle + ||s \circ T(x_0)|| ||x_r - x_0|| \\ &\leq -||x_r - x_0|| (\langle s \circ T(x_r) - s \circ T(x_0), x_r - x_0 \rangle / ||x_r - x_0|| + ||s \circ T(x_0)||. \end{split}$$

Now, if  $||x_r|| = r$ , for all r, we may choose r large enough so that the above inequality and the coercivity of T imply

$$\langle s \circ T(x_r), x_0 - x_r \rangle < 0,$$

which contradicts

$$\langle s \circ T(x_r), x_0 - x_r \rangle \ge 0.$$

Hence, there exists r such that  $||x_r|| < r$ . Now,  $\forall x \in K$ , we choose  $\epsilon > 0$  small enough such that  $x_r + \epsilon(x - x_r) \in K \cap B_r$  and thus

$$\langle s \circ T(x_r), \epsilon(x - x_r) \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

that is

$$\langle s \circ T(x_r), x - x_r \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

which shows that  $x_r$  is the solution of  $(VI)_s$ . By the above claim,  $x_r$  is a solution of (WVVI).

Remark 3.23. If  $Y = \mathbb{R}$ ,  $C(x) = \mathbb{R}_+$ ,  $\forall x \in K$ , the (WVVI) collapses to the usual scalar variational inequality (VI):

$$x_0 \in K, \langle T(x_0), x - x_0 \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Then the theorem 3.22 collapses to the following theorem 3.24.

**Theorem 3.24.** Let X be a reflexive Banach space, and K be a nonempty bounded, closed and convex subset in X. Let  $T: K \to X^*$  be monotone and hemicontinuous on K. Then the variational inequality (VI) is solvable.

Obviously, the hemicontinuity of T in Theorem 3.18 is equivalent to the continuity for each one dimensional flat  $L \subset X$ . Thus, Theorem 3.24 is essentially the Hartmann-Stampacchia theorem for variational inequalities.

This section is concluded by a discussion on the scalarization of (VVI). Consider the following form of a (VI) of finding  $x^* \in K$  such that

$$\langle \lambda, \langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \rangle \ge 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$
 (3.10)

If  $\lambda \in intC^*$  and  $x^*$  is a solution of VI(3.10), then  $x^*$  is a solution of the (VVI). If  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  and  $x^*$  is a solution of VI(3.10), then  $x^*$  is a solution of the (WVVI).

#### 3.2 Inverse VVI

In this section, we study inverse VVI problems and establish their equivalences with given VVI problems. An inverse VVI is also called a dual VVI in the literature.

Let  $T: X \longrightarrow L(X,Y)$  be a function, and  $h: X \to Y$  is a function. The  $(VVI_h)$  problem consists in finding  $x^* \in X$ , such that

$$\langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} h(x^*) - h(x), \ \forall x \in X.$$

Assume that T is one-to-one (injective). Define  $T':L(X,Y)\to X$  as follows:

$$T'(l) := -T^{-1}(-l), \quad \forall l \in \text{Domain}(T') = -\text{Range}(T).$$

If T is linear, then  $T' = T^{-1}$ .

The inverse VVI of the  $(VVI_h)$  problem is defined as: finding  $l^* \in Domain(T')$ , such that

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} h_{<}^*(l^*) - h_{<}^*(l), \quad \forall l \in L(X, Y),$$

where  $h_{\leq}^*(l) := \operatorname{Max}_C\{\langle l, x \rangle - h(x) : x \in X\}$  is the vector conjugate function of h. This problem is denoted by  $(\operatorname{IVVI}_h)$ .

**Definition 3.25.** Let  $h: X \to Y$  be a C-convex function. The Fenchel conjugate of h is the set-valued function  $h^*_{\leq}: L(X,Y) \rightrightarrows Y$ , such that

$$h_{<}^*(l) := \mathit{Max}_C\{\langle l, x \rangle - h(x) : x \in X\}, \quad l \in L(X, Y).$$

Thus, a generalization of Young's inequality follows immediately:

**Lemma 3.26.** Let h and  $h_{<}^{*}$  be as in Definition 3.25. Then

$$h(x) + h_{<}^*(l) - \langle l, x \rangle \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall x \in X, l \in L(X, Y).$$

Let  $h: X \to Y$  and  $x^* \in X$ . We define the subgradient of h at  $x^*$  by

$$\partial_{\leq} h(x^*) = \{l \in L(X,Y) : h(x) - h(x^*) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} \langle l, x - x^* \rangle, \forall x \in X\}.$$

We also define the strong subgradient of h at  $x^*$  by

$$\partial_{<}^{s} h(x^{*}) = \{ l \in L(X, Y) : h(x) - h(x^{*}) \ge_{C} \langle l, x - x^{*} \rangle, \forall x \in X \}.$$

**Theorem 3.27.** Let X be a Hausdorff topological vector space and (Y, C) be an ordered Hausdorff topological vector space. The function T is one-to-one and  $h: X \to Y$  is continuous. Assume that  $h^*_{<}(l) \neq \emptyset, \forall l \in L(X, Y)$ .

(i) If  $x^*$  is a solution of  $(VVI_h)$ , then  $l^* = -T(x^*)$  is a solution of  $(IVVI_h)$  and the following relation is satisfied:

$$\langle l^*, x^* \rangle \in h(x^*) + h_{<}^*(l^*).$$

(ii) If  $l^*$  is a solution of  $(IVVI_h)$ , C is connected, i.e.,  $C \cup (-C) = Y$ , and  $\partial_{\leq} h(x^*) \neq \varnothing$ , where  $x^* = -T'(l^*)$ , then  $x^*$  is a solution of  $(VVI_h)$ .

*Proof.* (i) Let  $x^*$  be a solution of  $(VVI_h)$ 

$$x^* \in X : \langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} h(x^*) - h(x), \quad \forall x \in X,$$
$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} -\langle T(x^*), x \rangle - h(x), \quad \forall x \in X.$$

That is

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \in h_{\leq}^*(-T(x^*))$$
 (3.11)

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^*\rangle - h(x^*) - h^*_{\leq}(l) \subseteq h^*_{\leq}(-T(x^*)) - h^*_{\leq}(l), \quad \forall l \in L(X, Y)$$

If  $l^* = -T(x^*)$  is not a solution of (IVVI<sub>h</sub>), then there exists  $l \in L(X, Y)$ , such that

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} h^*_{<}(l^*) - h^*_{<}(l).$$

It follows from (3.11) that

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} - \langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) - h_{\leq}^*(l),$$
  
 $-\langle l, x^* \rangle \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} - h(x^*) - h_{\leq}^*(l).$ 

It is a contradiction with the definition of  $h_{\leq}^*(l)$ . Then  $l^*$  is a solution of  $(IVVI_h)$ .

It is easy to verify that

$$\langle l^*, x^* \rangle \in h(x^*) + h_{\leq}^*(l^*).$$

(ii) Let  $l^*$  be a solution of  $(IVVI_h)$ . Let  $x^* = -T'(l^*)$ . Then  $l^* = -T(x^*)$ . That is

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \not \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} h^*_{\leq}(l^*) - h^*_{\leq}(l), \quad \forall l \in L(X, Y)$$
$$\langle l + T(x^*), -x^* \rangle \not \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} h^*_{\leq}(-T(x^*)) - h^*_{\leq}(l), \tag{3.12}$$

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - \langle l, x^* \rangle + h_{\leq}^*(l) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} h_{\leq}^*(-T(x^*)).$$

Since  $\partial \leq h(x^*) \neq \emptyset$ , let  $l \in \partial \leq h(x^*)$ , then

$$\langle l, x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \in h_{<}^*(l).$$

It follows from (3.12) that

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} h^*_{<}(-T(x^*)).$$

From the definition of  $h_{\leq}^*$  and C being connected, we get

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \in h_{<}^*(-T(x^*)).$$

If  $x^* = -T'(l^*)$  is not a solution of the  $(VVI_h)$ , then  $\exists u \in X$ , such that

$$\langle T(x^*), u - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} h(x^*) - h(u),$$

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} -\langle T(x^*), u \rangle - h(u).$$

Then we obtain

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \notin h_{<}^*(-T(x^*)),$$

a contradiction. Therefore  $x^* = -T'(l^*)$  is a solution of the  $(VVI_h)$ . This completes the proof.

**Corollary 3.28.** Assume that  $A: X \to X^*$  is one-to-one and that  $h_1: X \to \mathbb{R}$  be a lower semi-continuous convex function.  $x^*$  is a solution of the following variational inequality: find  $x^* \in X$ , such that

$$\langle Ax^*, x - x^* \rangle \ge h_1(x) - h_1(x^*), \quad \forall x \in X$$

if and only if  $l^* = -Ax^* \in X^*$  is a solution of the inequality which consists in finding  $l^* \in Domain(A')$ , such that

$$\langle A'l^*, l - l^* \rangle \ge h_1^*(l^*) - h_1^*(l), \quad \forall l \in X^*,$$

and the following identity is satisfied

$$h_1(x^*) + h_1^*(l^*) = \langle l^*, x^* \rangle,$$

where  $h_1^*$  is the Fenchel conjugate of  $h_1$ ,

$$h_1^*(l) = \max\{\langle l, x \rangle - h_1(x) : x \in X\}.$$

*Proof.* This follows from Theorem 3.27 by letting  $C = \mathbb{R}_+$ .

The inverse weak VVI (for short,  $IWVVI_h$ ) of  $(WVVI_h)$  is defined as: find  $l^* \in Domain(T')$ , such that:

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \leq_{intC} h^* \langle l^* \rangle - h^* \langle l \rangle, \quad \forall l \in L(X, Y)$$

where  $f_{<}^{*}(l) = \text{Max}_{intC}\{l(x) - f(x) : x \in X\}$  is the weak vector conjugate function of f.

Let  $h: X \to Y$  and  $x^* \in X$ . We define the weak subgradient of h at  $x^*$  by

$$\partial_{\leq} h(x^*) = \{ l \in L(X,Y) : h(x) - h(x^*) \not\leq_{intC} \langle l, x - x^* \rangle, \forall x \in X \}.$$

**Theorem 3.29.** Let X be a Hausdorff topological vector space and (Y, C) be an ordered Hausdorff topological vector space with  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . The function T is one-to-one and  $h: X \to Y$  is continuous. Assume that  $h_{\leq}^*(l) \neq \emptyset, \forall l \in L(X,Y)$ .

(i) If  $x^*$  is a solution of  $(WVVI_h)$ , then  $l^* = -T(x^*)$  is a solution of  $IWVVI_h$  and the following inclusion is satisfied:

$$\langle l^*, x^* \rangle \in h(x^*) + h_{<}^*(l^*).$$

(ii) If  $l^*$  is a solution of  $(IWVVI_h)$ , C is connected, i.e.,  $C \cup (-C) = X$ , and  $\partial_{\leq} h(x^*) \neq \varnothing$ , where  $x^* = -T'(l^*)$ , then  $x^*$  is a solution of  $(WVVI_h)$ .

*Proof.* The proof follows the same lines as that of Theorem 3.27 by replacing ordering ' $\not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}}$ ' by  $\not\leq_{intC}$  and  $h^*_{\leq}(l)$  by  $h^*_{<}(l)$ .

In the following some examples are given to show the application of a weak inverse VVI.

Example 3.30. (Vector approximation). Consider the vector approximation problem

$$\operatorname{Min}_C(\|a_1 - x\|^2, \dots, \|a_{\ell} - x\|^2)$$
 subject to  $x \in X$ ,

where X is a Hilbert space with the inner product  $[\cdot,\cdot]$ ,  $a_i(i=1,\dots,\ell)$  is a fixed element of X,  $||x||^2 = [x,x]$ . If  $x^* \in X$  is a weakly minimal solution, i.e.,

$$(\|a_1 - x\|^2, \dots, \|a_\ell - x\|^2) \not\leq_{intC} (\|a_1 - x^*\|^2, \dots, \|a_\ell - x^*\|^2), \ \forall x \in X,$$

then

$$([a_1, x - x^*], \cdots, [a_\ell, x - x^*]) \leq_{intC} ([a_1, x - x^*], \cdots, [a_\ell, x - x^*])$$

Hence, this is a weak VVI (WVVI<sub>h</sub>) with  $Y = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ ,  $T(x) = ([x, \cdot], \dots, [x, \cdot])$ ,  $h(x) = -([a_1, x], \dots, [a_{\ell}, x])$ .

We can verify that  $l^* = -T(x^*)$  satisfies

$$\langle l - l^*, -x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC} h^*_{\leq}(l^*) - h^*_{\leq}(l), \quad \forall l \in L(X, \mathbb{R}^m).$$

Since  $T'(l^*) = -x^*$ ,  $l^*$  is a solution of the inverse VVI

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \not\leq_{intC} h^*_{\leq}(l^*) - h^*_{\leq}(l), \quad \forall l \in L(X, \mathbb{R}^m).$$

Consider the vector unconstrained optimization problem (for short, VUP)

$$\operatorname{Min}_C f(x)$$
, subject to  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

where  $f: \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  is a differentiable vector-valued function.

Let  $h:X\rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function and  $x^*\in X.$  We define the weak subgradient of h at  $x^*$  by

$$\partial_{\leq}^{s} h(x^{*}) = \{l \in L(X,Y) : h(x) - h(x^{*}) \not\leq_{intC} \langle l, x - x^{*} \rangle, \forall x \in X\}.$$

(VUP) is said to be weakly stable if the set-valued mapping  $W: \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$ 

$$W(u) = -\text{Max}_{intC}\{-\phi(x, u) : x \in \mathbb{R}^n\}$$

has a weak subgradient at u = 0.

Now we construct the dual problem (for short, DVUP) of (VUP) as follows

(DVUP) 
$$\operatorname{Min}_{C} - \phi_{<}^{*}(0, \Gamma)$$
, subject to  $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times \ell}$ ,

where  $\phi: \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^\ell \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^\ell$  is the perturbation function satisfying

$$\phi(x,0) = h(x), \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

**Proposition 3.31.** Assume that (VUP) is weakly stable and C is connected. If  $x^*$  is a solution of (VUP), then there exists  $\Gamma_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times \ell}$  such that  $l^* = -\nabla f(x^*)$  is a solution of the inverse vector variational inequality and  $\Gamma_0$  is a solution of (DVUP) and satisfy the inclusion

$$(l^{*\top}, \Gamma_0) \in \partial_{<}\phi(x^*, 0).$$

*Proof.* Let  $x^*$  be a weakly minimal solution of VUP. Then,  $x^*$  is a solution of the following (WVVI): find  $x^* \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , such that

$$\nabla f(x^*)^{\top} (x - x^*) \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Then from Theorem 3.29,  $l^* = -\nabla f(x^*)$  satisfies

$$(l-l^*)^{\top}(-x^*) \not\leq_{intC} 0^*_{\leq}(l^*) - 0^*_{\leq}(l), \quad \forall l \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times \ell},$$

where  $0^*_{\leq}(l) = \text{Max}_{intC}\{l^{\top}x : x \in \mathbb{R}^n\}$ . This is the inverse (VVI) of (WVVI) if we let  $T = \nabla h$  and  $-x^* = T'(l^*), f = 0$ .

It is easy to verify that the weak inverse relation of (VUP) and (DVUP) holds: for any  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times \ell}$ ,

$$\phi(x,0) \notin -\phi^*_{\leq}(0,\Gamma) - intC.$$

From [176], if (VUP) is weakly stable, then there exists a solution  $\Gamma_0 \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times \ell}$  of (DVUP) satisfying

$$(0, \Gamma_0) \in \partial_{<} \phi(x^*, 0).$$

Assume that C is connected. Then, from the vector variational inequality,

$$-\nabla f(x^*)^{\top} x \le_C 0, \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$

Hence 
$$(l^{*\top}, \Gamma_0) \in \partial_{<} \phi(x^*, 0)$$
.

We now consider the inverse VVI with a variable ordering relation. Let  $T: X \longrightarrow L(X,Y)$  be a function, and  $h: X \to Y$  be a function. Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for every  $x \in X$ , C(x) is a nonempty convex cone.  $(VVI_h^v)$  with a variable ordering relation consists in finding  $x^* \in X$ , such that

$$\langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} h(x^*) - h(x), \ \forall x \in X.$$

Let  $h: X \to Y$ . We define the subgradient of h at  $x^*$  with a variable ordering relation by

$$\partial_{<}^{v} h(x^{*}) = \{ l \in L(X,Y) : h(x) - h(x^{*}) \not\leq_{C(x^{*}) \setminus \{0\}} \langle l, x - x^{*} \rangle, \forall x \in X \}.$$

The inverse VVI of  $(VVI_h^v)$  with a variable ordering relation is defined as: finding  $l^* \in Domain(T')$ , such that

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \not\leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} h^{*v}_{<}(l^*) - h^{*v}_{<}(l), \quad \forall l \in L(X, Y),$$

where  $h_{\leq}^{*v}(l) := \operatorname{Max}_{C(x^*)}\{\langle l, x \rangle - h(x) : x \in X\}$  is the vector conjugate function of h with a variable ordering relation. This problem is denoted by  $(\operatorname{IVVI}_h^v)$ .

It is clear that if let  $l \in \partial_{\leq}^{v} h(x^*)$ , then

$$\langle l, x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \in h^{*v}_{\leq}(l).$$

**Theorem 3.32.** Let X and Y be Hausdorff topological vector spaces and  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for every  $x \in X$ , C(x) is a nonempty convex cone. The function T is one-to-one and  $h: X \to Y$  is continuous. Assume that  $h_*^v(l) \neq \emptyset, \forall l \in L(X,Y)$ .

(i) If  $x^*$  is a solution of  $(VVI_h^v)$ , then  $l^* = -T(x^*)$  is a solution of  $(IVVI_h^v)$  and the following relation is satisfied:

$$\langle l^*, x^* \rangle \in h(x^*) + h_{<}^{*v}(l^*).$$

(ii) If  $l^*$  is a solution of  $(IVVI_h^v)$ , C is connected, i.e.,  $C(x) \cup (-C(x)) = Y$ , for every  $x \in X$ , and  $\partial_{\leq}^v h(x^*) \neq \varnothing$ , where  $x^* = -T'(l^*)$ , then  $x^*$  is a solution of  $(VVI_h^v)$ .

*Proof.* (i) Let  $x^*$  be a solution of  $(VVI_h^v)$ :

$$x^* \in X : \langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not \leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} h(x^*) - h(x), \quad \forall x \in X,$$
$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \not \leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} -\langle T(x^*), x \rangle - h(x), \quad \forall x \in X.$$

That is

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \in h_{<}^{*v}(-T(x^*))$$
(3.13)

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) - h_{<}^{*v}(l) \subseteq h_{<}^*(-T(x^*)) - h_{<}^*(l), \quad \forall l \in L(X, Y).$$

If  $l^* = -T(x^*)$  is not a solution of (IVVI $_h^v$ ), then there exists  $l \in L(X, Y)$ , such that

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} h^{*v}_{\leq}(l^*) - h^{*v}_{\leq}(l).$$

It follows from (3.13) that

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} - \langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) - h_{\leq}^{*v}(l),$$
  
 $- \langle l, x^* \rangle \leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} - h(x^*) - h_{\leq}^{*v}(l).$ 

It is a contradiction with the definition of  $h_{\leq}^{*v}(l)$ . Then  $l^* = -T(x^*)$  is a solution of  $(IVVI_b^v)$ .

It is easy to verify that

$$\langle l^*, x^* \rangle \in h(x^*) + h_{<}^{*v}(l^*).$$

(ii) Let  $l^*$  be a solution of  $(IVVI_h^v)$ . Let  $x^* = -T'(l^*)$ . Then  $l^* = -T(x^*)$ . That is

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \not\leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} h^{*v}_{\leq}(l^*) - h^{*v}_{\leq}(l), \quad \forall l \in L(X, Y)$$

$$\langle l + T(x^*), -x^* \rangle \not\leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} h^{*v}_{\leq}(-T(x^*)) - h^{*v}_{\leq}(l), \qquad (3.14)$$

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - \langle l, x^* \rangle + h^{*v}_{\leq}(l) \not\leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} h^{*v}_{\leq}(-T(x^*)).$$

Since  $\partial_{\leq}^{v} h(x^*) \neq \emptyset$ , let  $l \in \partial_{\leq}^{v} h(x^*)$ , then

$$\langle l, x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \in h^{*v}_{\leq}(l).$$

It follows from (3.14) that

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \not\leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} h^{*v} (-T(x^*)).$$

From the definition of  $h_{<}^{*v}$  and C being connected, we get

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \in h_{<}^{*v}(-T(x^*)).$$

If  $x^* = -T'(l^*)$  is not a solution of the  $(VVI_h^v)$ , then  $\exists u \in X$ , such that

$$\langle T(x^*), u - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} h(x^*) - h(u),$$

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \not\leq_{C(x^*) \setminus \{0\}} -\langle T(x^*), u \rangle - h(u).$$

Then we obtain

$$-\langle T(x^*), x^* \rangle - h(x^*) \notin h_{<}^{*v}(-T(x^*)),$$

a contradiction. Therefore  $x^* = -T'(l^*)$  is a solution of the  $(VVI_h^v)$ . This completes the proof.

Consider the inverse WVVI with a variable ordering relation. Let  $T: X \longrightarrow L(X,Y)$  be a function, and  $h: X \to Y$  be a function. Let  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for every  $x \in X$ , C(x) is a convex cone with nonempty interior. The  $(WVVI_{v}^{n})$  problem with a variable ordering relation consists in finding  $x^* \in X$ , such that

$$\langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x^*)} h(x^*) - h(x), \ \forall x \in X.$$

Let  $h: X \to Y$ . We define the weak subgradient of h at  $x^*$  with a variable ordering relation by

$$\partial_{<}^{v}h(x^{*}) = \{l \in L(X,Y) : h(x) - h(x^{*}) \not\leq_{intC(x^{*})} \langle l, x - x^{*} \rangle, \forall x \in X\}.$$

The inverse WVVI of  $(WVVI_h^v)$  with a variable ordering relation is defined as: finding  $l^* \in Domain(T')$ , such that

$$\langle l - l^*, T'(l^*) \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x^*)} h^{*v}_{<}(l^*) - h^{*v}_{<}(l), \quad \forall l \in L(X, Y),$$

where  $h_{\leq}^{*v}(l) := \operatorname{Max}_{intC(x^*)}\{\langle l, x \rangle - h(x) : x \in X\}$  is the weak vector conjugate function of h with a variable ordering relation. This problem is denoted by  $(\operatorname{IWVVI}_h^v)$ .

**Theorem 3.33.** Let X and Y be Hausdorff topological vector spaces and  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function such that, for every  $x \in X$ , C(x) is a nonempty convex cone with nonempty interior. The function T is one-to-one and  $h: X \to Y$  is continuous. Assume that  $h_{*}^{*v}(l) \neq \emptyset, \forall l \in L(X,Y)$ .

(i) If  $x^*$  is a solution of  $(WVVI_h^v)$ , then  $l^* = -T(x^*)$  is a solution of  $(IWVVI_h^v)$  and the following relation is satisfied:

$$\langle l^*, x^* \rangle \in h(x^*) + h_{<}^{*v}(l^*).$$

(ii) If  $l^*$  is a solution of  $(IWVVI_h^v)$ , C is connected, i.e.,  $C(x) \cup (-C(x)) = Y$ , for every  $x \in X$ , and  $\partial_{<}^v h(x^*) \neq \varnothing$ , where  $x^* = -T'(l^*)$ , then  $x^*$  is a solution of  $(WVVI_h^v)$ .

### 3.3 Gap Functions for VVI

The concept of a gap function is well-known both in the context of convex optimization and variational inequalities. The minimization of gap functions is a viable approach for solving variational inequalities. In this section, we generalize the gap function for variational inequalities to vector variational inequalities. The convexity and differentiability of gap functions are also studied.

Let X and Y be Banach spaces, and let  $C \subset Y$  be a closed and convex cone with nonempty interior intC.

Consider following vector variational inequality problem (VVI) of finding  $y \in K$  such that

$$\langle T(y), x - y \rangle \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

where K is a closed subset of X and  $T: X \to L(X, Y)$  is a function.

The weak vector variational inequality problem (WVVI) of finding  $y \in K$  such that

$$\langle T(y), x - y \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

**Definition 3.34.** Let C be a convex and closed cone in Y with nonempty interior and  $K \subset X$  be a closed set.

- (i) A set-valued function  $\phi: K \rightrightarrows Y$  is said to be a gap function of (VVI) if
  - 1.  $0 \in \phi(y)$  if and only if y solves (VVI);
  - 2.  $0 \not\geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} \phi(x), x \in K$ .
- (ii) A set-valued function  $\phi_w : K \rightrightarrows Y$  is said to be a gap function of (WVVI) if
  - 1.  $0 \in \phi_w(y)$  if and only if y solves (WVVI);
  - 2.  $0 \not\geq_{intC} \phi_w(x), \forall x \in K$ .

Let

$$\langle T(x), x - K \rangle = \bigcup \{ \langle T(x), x - z \rangle : z \in K \}.$$

Define the set-valued function  $\phi: K \rightrightarrows Y$  by

$$\phi(x) := \operatorname{Max}_C \langle T(x), x - K \rangle, \quad x \in K.$$

**Theorem 3.35.** Let C be a convex and pointed cone in Y. The set-valued function  $\phi(x) = Max_C\langle T(x), x - K \rangle$  is a gap function for (VVI).

*Proof.* We first prove that  $0 \in \phi(y)$  if and only if y solves (VVI). Suppose that y solves (VVI). Then

$$\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \not\geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

In particular, let x = y, then

$$\langle T(y), y - y \rangle = 0.$$

Thus,

$$0 \in \langle T(y), y - K \rangle$$
.

We assert that  $0 \in \phi(y)$ . Otherwise, if there exits some  $z \in K$ , such that  $\langle T(y), y-z\rangle \geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} \langle T(y), y-y\rangle = 0$ , then this contradicts the fact that y solves (VVI).

Conversely, suppose  $0 \in \phi(y)$ . If y does not solve (VVI), then there exists  $x \in K$ , such that

$$\langle T(y), x - y \rangle \le_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0,$$
  
 $\langle T(y), y - x \rangle \ge_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0 = \langle T(y), y - y \rangle.$ 

Thus,  $0 \notin \phi(y)$ , a contradiction.

Moreover, for any  $x \in K$ ,  $0 \in \langle T(x), x - x \rangle$ . By the definition of  $\phi(x)$ , we have

$$0 \not\geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} \phi(x), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

The proof is complete.

Define the set-valued function  $\phi_w: K \rightrightarrows Y$  by

$$\phi_w(x) := \text{Max}_{intC} \langle T(x), x - K \rangle, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

**Theorem 3.36.** The set-valued function  $\phi_w(x)$  is a gap function for (WVVI).

*Proof.* The proof is similar to that for Theorem 3.35 and is omitted.

We now extend the definition of a gap function to a general VVI as follows.

**Definition 3.37.** Let C be a closed and convex cone in Y. The general vector variational inequality problem (for short, GVVI) consists of finding  $y \in X$ such that

$$(GVVI) \qquad \qquad \langle T(y), x-y \rangle + h(x) - h(y) \not \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall x \in X,$$

where  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  is assumed to be injective, and  $h: X \to Y$  is assumed to be a function.

**Definition 3.38.** A set-valued function  $\phi': X \rightrightarrows Y$  is said to be a gap function of the (GVVI) iff

- 1.  $0 \not\geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} \phi'(x)$ ,  $\forall x \in X$ ; 2.  $0 \in \phi'(y)$  if and only if y solves (GVVI).

Define the set-valued function  $\phi': X \rightrightarrows Y$  by

$$\phi'(x) = Max_C(\langle T(x), x - X \rangle + h(x) - h(X)), \quad x \in X.$$

It follows immediately that

$$\phi'(y) = h(y) + g(-T(y)) + \langle T(y), y \rangle,$$

where q is the Fenchel conjugate of h. We now have a much simpler proof that  $\phi'$  is a gap function for (GVVI), and the meaning of "gap" is now apparent.

**Theorem 3.39.** Assume that C is a pointed, closed and convex cone. Then  $\phi'$  is a gap function for problem (GVVI).

*Proof.* (1) The fact that  $\phi'(y) \not\leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} 0$  follows directly from Young's inequality of Lemma 3.26.

(2) Suppose that  $0 \in \phi'(y)$ . If y does not solve (GVVI), then there exists some  $x \in X$ , such that

$$\langle T(y), y - x \rangle - h(x) + h(y) \ge_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0 = \langle T(y), y - y \rangle - h(y) + h(y),$$

then  $0 \notin \phi'(y)$ , a contradiction. On the other hand, suppose that y solves (GVVI). Then

$$\langle T(y), x - y \rangle + h(x) - h(y) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0 \quad \forall x \in X.$$

That is,

$$\langle T(y), y - x \rangle + h(y) - h(x) \not\geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0 \quad \forall x \in X.$$

By the definition of  $\phi'(y)$ , we have that

$$\phi'(y) \not\geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} 0.$$

This together with (i) yields  $0 \in \phi'(y)$  by the pointedness of C.

The above generalization of (VVI) can be easily extended to (WVVI).

**Definition 3.40.** The general weak vector variational inequality (for short, GWVVI) consists of finding  $y \in X$  such that

$$\langle T(y), x - y \rangle - h(y) + h(x) \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in X,$$

where  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  is assumed to be injective, and  $h: X \to Y$  is assumed to be a function.

**Definition 3.41.** A set-valued function  $\phi'_w:X\rightrightarrows Y$  is said to be a gap function of the (GWVVI) iff

- 1.  $0 \not\geq_{intC} \phi'_w(x), \quad \forall x \in X;$
- 2.  $0 \in \phi'_w(y)$  if and only if y solves (GWVVI).

Define the set-valued function  $\phi'_w: X \rightrightarrows Y$  by

$$\phi'_w(x) = \operatorname{Max}_{intC}(\langle T(x), x - X \rangle + h(x) - h(X)), \quad \forall x \in X.$$

**Theorem 3.42.** The set-valued function  $\phi'_w: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is a gap function for (GWVVI).

The above gap functions are of set-valued nature. Special single-valued gap functions can be constructed in terms of nonlinear scalarization functions. Let  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  and  $K \subset X$  be a compact set. Consider the following weak vector variational inequality problem of finding  $x^* \in K$  such that

$$\langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$
 (3.15)

**Theorem 3.43.** Let  $e \in intC$ . Then  $x^* \in K$  solves WVVI(3.15) if and only if  $g(x^*) = 0$ , where

$$g(x) = \min_{x \in K} \xi_{e0}(\langle T(x), y - x \rangle), \tag{3.16}$$

is a non-positive function.

*Proof.* Assume that  $x^* \in K$  solves the problem WVVI(3.15). Then, it follows from Proposition 1.43 that

$$\begin{split} & \langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in K \\ & \Leftrightarrow \langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not \in -intC, \quad \forall x \in K \\ & \Leftrightarrow \xi_{e0}(\langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle) \geq 0, \quad \forall x \in K \\ & \Leftrightarrow \min_{x \in K} \xi_{e0}(\langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle) \geq 0. \end{split}$$

It is clear that  $\xi_{e0}(\langle T(x^*), x^* - x^* \rangle) = 0$ . Hence,  $g(x^*) = 0$ .

In the special case where  $Y = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and  $C = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$ , the nonlinear scalar function may be expressed in the following equivalent form:

$$\xi_{ea}(y) = \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} \frac{y_i - a_i}{e_i}.$$
 (3.17)

Corollary 3.44. Let  $Y = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and  $C = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+}$  and let

$$g_1(x) = \min_{y \in K} \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} \{ \langle T_i(x), y - x \rangle \}, \quad x \in K,$$
(3.18)

where  $T(x) = [T_1(x), \dots, T_{\ell}(x)]^{\top}$ . Then  $x^* \in K$  solves WVVI problem (3.15) if and only if  $g_1(x^*) = 0$ .

*Proof.* It follows from Theorem 3.43 and (3.17) by letting a=0 and  $e=(1,\cdots,1)^T\in\mathbb{R}^\ell$ .

Consider the following vector variational inequality problem of finding  $x^* \in K$  such that

$$\langle T(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$
 (3.19)

**Theorem 3.45.** Let  $e \in intC$ . Then  $x^* \in K$  solves VVI(3.19) only if  $g(x^*) = 0$ , where g(x) is defined by (3.16). If  $Y = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and  $C = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$ , then  $x \in K$  solves VVI only if  $g_1(x^*) = 0$ , where  $g_1(x)$  is defined by (3.18).

*Proof.* Note that a solution of VVI(3.19) is also a solution of WVVI(3.15). The results follow from Theorem 3.43 and Corollary 3.44.

The following example shows that Theorem 3.45 is only a necessary condition for VVI.

*Example 3.46.* Let K = [-1,0] and  $C = \mathbb{R}^2_+$ . Consider the VVI defined as follows:

$$(1,2x)(y-x) \not\leq_{\mathbb{R}^2_+\setminus\{0\}} 0, \qquad \forall y \in K.$$

Then x = 0 is not a solution of VVI(3.19), but  $g_1(0) = 0$ . Hence Theorem 3.45 is only a necessary condition for VVI.

Next we study the gap function of vector variational inequalities with a variable ordering relation.

Let X = Y. Consider the following vector variational inequality problem of find  $y^* \in K$ , such that

$$\langle T(y^*), y - y^* \rangle \notin -intC(y^*), \quad \forall y \in K,$$
 (3.20)

where  $K \subseteq Y$  is a subset,  $T: Y \to L(Y,Y)$  is a function and  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function.

By Proposition 1.54, (3.20) holds if and only if

$$\xi(y^*, \langle T(y^*), y - y^* \rangle) \ge 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

Note that  $\xi(y^*,0)=0$ . Then (3.20) holds if and only if

$$\min_{y \in K} \xi(y^*, \langle T(y^*), y - y^* \rangle) = 0.$$

Thus we have the following result.

**Theorem 3.47.** Let Y be a real normed space and  $K \subset Y$  be a nonempty subset. Let  $C: Y \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued map such that for each  $y \in Y$ , C(y) is a proper, closed and convex cone in Y and C linear. Let  $\bar{C} = \bigcap_{y \in Y} C(y)$  and  $k^0 \in int\bar{C}$ . Let  $y^* \in K$ . Then  $y^*$  is a solution of vector variational inequality (3.20), if and only if

$$\min_{y \in K} \xi(y^*, \langle T(y^*), y - y^* \rangle) = 0.$$
 (3.21)

Under some appropriate conditions, the gap function for both the (general) vector variational inequality and (general) weak vector variational inequality can be shown to be convex.

**Definition 3.48.** Let K be an affine subset of X. The function  $T: K \to L(X,Y)$  is affine if,  $\forall x', x'' \in K, \forall \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ , with  $\alpha + \beta = 1$  we have

$$T(\alpha x' + \beta x'') = \alpha T(x') + \beta T(x'').$$

**Lemma 3.49.** Let  $T: K \to L(X,Y)$  be a function. If T is affine and monotone, then the function  $\langle T(\cdot), \cdot \rangle : K \to Y$  is C-convex.

Proof. Given  $t \in (0,1), x', x'' \in K$ ,

$$\langle T(tx' + (1-t)x''), tx' + (1-t)x'' \rangle - t \langle T(x'), x' \rangle - (1-t) \langle T(x''), x'' \rangle$$

$$= t^2 \langle T(x'), x' \rangle + (1-t)^2 \langle T(x''), x'' \rangle + t(1-t)(\langle T(x'), x'' \rangle + \langle T(x''), x' \rangle$$

$$- t \langle T(x'), x' \rangle - (1-t) \langle T(x''), x'' \rangle$$

$$= -t(1-t) \langle T(x'-x''), x' - x'' \rangle$$

$$\leq_C 0.$$

It is well-known that the Fenchel conjugate of a scalar valued function is convex in the usual definition. With the above definition of convexity for setvalued functions, this notion is now affirmative for a vector-valued function.

**Lemma 3.50.** Let  $h: X \to Y$  be a C-convex function and let, for any  $u \in L(X,Y)$ , the set  $\{\langle u,x \rangle - h(x) : x \in X\}$  satisfy the domination property. Then the Fenchel conjugate of h is type I C-convex.

*Proof.* By definition, the Fenchel conjugate of the vector-valued function h is a set-valued function  $g: L(X,Y) \rightrightarrows Y$  such that

$$g(u) = \text{Max}_C\{\langle u, x \rangle - h(x) : x \in X\}.$$

We have,  $\forall t \in (0,1), u', u'' \in L(X,Y)$ ,

$$\begin{split} &g(tu' + (1-t)u'') \\ &= \mathrm{Max}_C \{ \langle tu' + (1-t)u'', x \rangle - h(x) : x \in X \} \\ &\subset \{ \langle tu' + (1-t)u'', x \rangle - f(x) : x \in X \} \\ &= \{ t(\langle u', x \rangle - h(x)) + (1-t)(\langle u'', x \rangle - h(x)) : x \in X \} \\ &\subset t \{ (\langle u', x \rangle - h(x)) : x \in X \} + (1-t)\{\langle u'', x \rangle - h(x)) : x \in X \} \\ &\subset t \mathrm{Max}_C \{ (\langle u', x \rangle - h(x) : x \in X \} - C \\ &\qquad + (1-t) \mathrm{Max}_C \{ (\langle u'', x \rangle - h(x)) : x \in X \} - C \\ &= tg(u') + (1-t)g(u'') - C. \end{split}$$

Then g is type I C-convex.

**Lemma 3.51.** If  $g: L(X,Y) \rightrightarrows Y$  is type I C-convex, and  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  is affine, then the composite  $g \circ T: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is type I C-convex.

Proof. Given  $x', x'' \in X$  and  $t \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$\begin{split} g \circ T(tx' + (1-t)x'') &= g(T(tx' + (1-t)x'')) \\ &= g(tT(x') + (1-t)T(x'')) \\ &\subset tg(T(x')) + (1-t)g(T(x'')) - C \\ &= tg \circ T(x') + (1-t)g \circ T(x'') - C. \end{split}$$

**Theorem 3.52.** Let C be a closed and convex cone in Y and let for any  $u \in L(X,Y)$  the set  $\{\langle u,x\rangle - h(x) : x \in X\}$  satisfy the domination property. Consider the problem (GVVI). If T is affine and monotone, and  $h: X \to Y$  is C-convex, then the gap function  $\phi'$  is type I C-convex.

*Proof.* By definition, the gap function  $\phi'(x)$  can be rewritten as,

$$\phi'(x) = g \circ (-T)(x) + \langle T(x), x \rangle + h(x),$$

where the Fenchel conjugate g of h is type I C-convex by Lemma 3.50. Since T is affine, so is -T. By Lemma 3.51,  $g \circ (-T)$  is type I C-convex. By Lemma 3.49  $\langle T(\cdot), \cdot \rangle$  is C-convex, and hence  $\phi'$  is type I C-convex.

Recall that

$$\Phi(x) = \operatorname{Max}_C \langle T(x), x - K \rangle, \quad x \in K,$$

$$\Phi_w(x) = \operatorname{Max}_{intC} \langle T(x), x - K \rangle, \quad x \in K,$$

respectively.

It is worth noting that (VVI) is equivalent to the following set-valued optimization problem:

$$\operatorname{Min}_{C}\Phi(x)$$
, subject to  $x \in K$ , (3.22)

and (WVVI) is equivalent to the following set-valued optimization problem:

$$\operatorname{Min}_{C}\Phi_{w}(x)$$
, subject to  $x \in K$ . (3.23)

If T is a vector-valued function from X into  $X^*$ , then (VVI) and (WVVI) become the ordinary variational inequality problem and the gap functions  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi_w$  reduce to Auslender's gap function [7]. Thus, set-valued optimization problems (3.22) and (3.23) reduce to a scalar optimization problem:

$$\min \varphi(x)$$
, subject to  $x \in K$ ,

where  $\varphi(x) = \max \langle T(x), x - K \rangle$ . If  $\varphi$  is differentiable, then the above mathematical programming problem may be solved by a descent algorithm which possesses a global convergence property [95]. Therefore, it is very important and valuable to discuss differential properties of gap functions  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi_w$  of vector variational inequalities. In sequel, let X and Y be two real Banach spaces. Let  $\theta$  and  $\Theta$  denote the origin points of Y and L(X,Y), respectively. For any  $A \in L(X,Y)$ , we introduce the norm:

$$||A||_L = \sup\{||A(x)||_Y : ||x|| \le 1\}.$$

Since Y is a Banach space, L(X,Y) is also a Banach space with the norm  $||\cdot||_L$ .

## 3.4 Set-valued VVI

In this section, we develop existence of a solution for a set-valued VVI using a selection of a set-valued function. We also discuss gap functions of a set-valued VVI.

Let X and Y be two Banach spaces,  $K \subset X$  and  $T : K \Rightarrow L(X, Y)$ . Consider the set-valued WVVI of finding  $x^* \in K$  and  $\bar{t} \in T(x^*)$  such that

$$\langle \bar{t}, x - x^* \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$
 (3.24)

**Lemma 3.53.** Let  $T_1: K \to L(X,Y)$  be a selection of  $T: K \rightrightarrows L(X,Y)$ . If  $x^*$  is a solution of the following WVVI: finding  $x^* \in K$  such that

$$\langle T_1(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$$

then  $x^*$  is a solution of the set-valued WVVI.

**Theorem 3.54.** Let X and Y be Banach spaces and K be a nonempty compact and convex subset of X. Let C be a proper, closed, and convex cone and int  $C \neq \emptyset$ , and Assume further that  $T: K \rightrightarrows L(X,Y)$  is C-monotone; and there is a v-hemicontinuous selection  $T_1$  of T on K. Let, for any  $y \in K$ ,  $T_1(y)$  be completely continuous on X. Then there exists a solution to the WVVI(3.24).

*Proof.* By the assumption, there is a v-hemicontinuous selection  $T_1: K \to L(X,Y)$  such that  $T_1(x) \in T(x), \forall x \in K$  and  $T_1$  is v-hemicontinuous on K. It is clear that  $T_1$  is also C-monotone. Then all conditions of Theorem 3.14 are satisfied. Thus, there is a solution  $x^*$  to the problem WVVI(3.26). By Lemma 3.53,  $x^*$  is a solution of WVVI(3.25).

We consider the set-valued WVVI with a variable ordering relation. Let  $C:K\rightrightarrows Y$  be cone-valued and  $T:K\rightrightarrows L(X,Y)$ . Consider the set-valued weak vector variational inequality with a variable ordering relation of finding  $x^*\in K$  and  $\bar{t}\in T(x^*)$  such that

$$\langle \bar{t}, x - x^* \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$
 (3.25)

Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a vector-valued function. Consider the vector optimization problem with variable domination structure C(x):

$$(VOKV). \qquad \qquad \min_{\substack{C(x) \\ x \in K}} f(x)$$

We set  $C_0 = \bigcap_{x \in K} C(x)$ , and assume that  $intC_0 \neq \emptyset$ .

**Proposition 3.55.** Let  $f: K \to Y$  be  $C_0$ -convex and continuous at  $x^* \in K$  and  $T(x) = \partial_{<} f(x)$  with respect to the cone  $C_0$ . If  $x^*$  is a weakly nondominated-like solution of the vector optimization problem (VOKV), then  $(x^*, 0)$  solves (GWVVI).

*Proof.* Suppose that  $x^*$  is a weakly nondominated-like solution of (VOKV). Then

$$f(x) - f(x^*) \not\leq_{intC(x^*)} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

This implies that

$$f(x) - f(x^*) \not\leq_{intC_0} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

By the definition of  $C_0$ -weak subgradient,  $0 \in T(x^*) = \partial_{<} f(x)$ . Thus (GWVVI) is satisfied with the given  $x^*$  and  $\bar{t} = 0$ .

**Proposition 3.56.** Let  $f: K \to Y$  be  $C_0$ -convex and continuous at  $x^* \in K$  and  $T(x) = \partial_{C_0}^s f(x)$ . If  $(x^*, \bar{t})$  solves (GWVVI), then  $x^*$  is a weakly nondominated-like solution of (VOKV).

*Proof.* Suppose that  $(x^*, \bar{t})$  solves (GWVVI). Let  $W(x^*) = Y \setminus -intC(x^*)$ . Then

$$\langle \bar{t}, x - x^* \rangle \in W(x^*), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

It follows from the definition of a  $C_0$ -strong subgradient that

$$f(x) - f(x^*) - \langle \overline{t}, x - x^* \rangle \in C_0 \subset C(x^*), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Combining these relations, we obtain

$$f(x) - f(x^*) \in W(x^*) + C(x^*) \subset W(x^*), \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Thus  $x^*$  is a weakly nondominated-like solution of (VOKV).

**Lemma 3.57.** Let  $T_1: K \to L(X,Y)$  be a selection of  $T: K \rightrightarrows L(X,Y)$ . If  $x^*$  is a solution of the following (WVVI): finding  $x^* \in K$  such that

$$\langle T_1(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall x \in K,$$
 (3.26)

then  $x^*$  is a solution of (3.25).

*Proof.* Assume that  $x^* \in K$  is a solution of WVVI(3.26). That is,

$$\langle T_1(x^*), x - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Let  $\bar{t} = T_1(x^*)$ . Then  $\bar{t} \in T(x^*)$  and

$$\langle \bar{t}, x - x^* \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

Therefore,  $x^* \in K$  is a solution of WVVI(3.25).

We apply this lemma to derive the existence of a solution for WVVI(3.25). Let  $W:K\rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued mapping. The *graph* of W on K is defined by

$$\mathcal{G}(W) = \{(x, y) | x \in K, y \in W(x)\}.$$

**Definition 3.58.**  $T: K \Rightarrow L(X,Y)$  is C(x)-pseudomonotone if, for every pair of points  $x \in K, y \in K$  and for all  $t' \in T(x), t'' \in T(y)$ , we have

$$\langle t', y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0 \text{ implies } \langle t'', y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0.$$

**Definition 3.59.**  $T_1: K \to L(X,Y)$  is C(x)-pseudomonotone if, for every pair of points  $x \in K, y \in K$ , we have

$$\langle T_1(x), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0 \text{ implies } \langle T_1(y), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0.$$

The following lemma provides a connection between the pseudomonotonicity properties of a set-valued mapping and that of its selection.

**Lemma 3.60.** Let  $T:K \Rightarrow L(X,Y)$  be a set-valued mapping and  $T_1$  be a selection of T. If T is C(x)-pseudomonotone, then  $T_1$  is also C(x)-pseudomonotone.

**Theorem 3.61.** Let X and Y be Banach spaces and K be a nonempty weakly compact and convex subset of X. Let  $C: K \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued mapping such that, for each  $x \in K$ , C(x) is a proper, closed, and convex cone with apex at the origin and  $intC(x) \neq \emptyset$ , and  $W: K \rightrightarrows Y$  defined by  $W(x) = Y \setminus (-intC(x))$  be such that the graph  $\mathcal{G}(W)$  of W is weakly closed in  $X \times Y$ . Suppose that T(x) is a nonempty set of L(X,Y), for each  $x \in K$ . Assume further that

- (P)  $T: K \rightrightarrows L(X,Y)$  is C(x)-pseudomonotone;
- (C) there is a continuous selection  $T_1$  of T on K.

Then there exists a solution to the WVVI(3.25).

*Proof.* By the assumption, there is a continuous selection  $T_1: K \to L(X,Y)$  such that  $T_1(x) \in T(x), \forall x \in K$ . It follows from Lemma 3.60 that  $T_1$  is also C(x)-pseudomonotone. Then all conditions of Theorem 3.1 in [124] are satisfied. Thus, there is a solution  $x^*$  to the problem WVVI(3.26). By Lemma 3.57,  $x^*$  is a solution of WVVI(3.25).

Next we construct the gap functions for set-valued VVIs.

Let  $Y = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ ,  $C = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and  $K \subset X$  a compact subset. Assume that  $T: K \rightrightarrows L(X, \mathbb{R}^{\ell})$  is a set-valued mapping with a compact set T(x) for each x.

Consider the (WVVI) with the set-valued mapping T, which consists in finding  $x^* \in K$ , and  $\bar{t} \in T(x^*)$  such that

$$\langle \bar{t}, y - x^* \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$
 (3.27)

Recall that  $\phi: K \subset X \to \mathbb{R}$  is said to be a gap function of WVVI(3.27) if (i)  $\phi(x) \leq 0$ ,  $\forall x \in K$ ;

(ii)  $0 = \phi(x^*)$  if and only if  $x^*$  is a solution of WVVI(3.27).

Let  $x, y \in K$  and  $t \in T(x)$ . Denote

$$\langle t, y \rangle = ((\langle t, y \rangle)_1, \cdots, (\langle t, y \rangle)_{\ell}),$$

i.e.,  $(\langle t, y \rangle)_i$  is the *i*-th component of  $\langle t, y \rangle$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, \ell$ . We define two mappings  $\phi_1 : K \times L(X, \mathbb{R}^{\ell}) \to R$  and  $\phi : K \to \mathbb{R}$  as follows

$$\phi_1(x,t) = \min_{y \in K} \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} (\langle t, y - x \rangle)_i$$
 (3.28)

and

$$\phi(x) = \max\{\phi_1(x,t)|t \in T(x)\}. \tag{3.29}$$

Since K is compact,  $\phi_1(x,t)$  is well-defined. If X is a Hausdorff topological vector space, then  $g_1(x,t)$  is a lower semi-continuous function in x (see Corollary 22 in [5]). Since T(x) is a compact set,  $\phi(x)$  is well-defined.

For  $x \in K$  and  $t \in T(x)$ , it is easy to see that

$$\phi_1(x,t) = \min_{y \in K} \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} (\langle t, y - x \rangle)_i \le 0.$$

**Theorem 3.62.**  $\phi(x)$  defined by (3.29) is a gap function of WVVI(3.27).

*Proof.* It is clear that  $\phi_1(x,t) \leq 0$ ,  $\forall x \in K, t \in T(x)$ . Thus  $\phi(x) \leq 0, \forall x \in K$ . If  $0 = \phi(x^*)$ , then there exists  $\bar{t} \in T(x^*)$  such that  $\phi(x^*, \bar{t}) = 0$ . Consequently, we have

$$\min_{y \in K} \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} (\langle \bar{t}, y - x^* \rangle)_i = 0,$$

if and only if, for any  $y \in K$ ,

$$\max_{1 \le i \le \ell} (\langle \bar{t}, y - x^* \rangle)_i \ge 0$$

from which it follows that, for any  $y \in K$ ,

$$\langle \bar{t}, y - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0$$

if and only if  $x^*$  is a solution of WVVI(3.27).

By Theorem 3.62, the solution of WVVI(3.27) is equivalent to finding a global solution  $x^*$  to the following optimization problem

$$\max_{x \in K} \phi(x), \tag{3.30}$$

with  $\phi(x^*) = 0$ .

Recall that

$$\phi(x) = \max\{\phi_1(x,t)|t \in T(x)\}.$$

It is clear that the optimization problem (3.30) is equivalent to the following generalized semi-infinite programming problem

$$\max_{x,s} s$$
s.t.  $\phi_1(x,t) \le s$ ,  $\forall t \in T(x)$ ,
$$\phi_1(x,t_1) = s$$
,  $\exists t_1 \in T(x)$ ,
$$x \in K$$
.

Note also that  $\bar{t}$  of WVVI(3.27) does not depend on the vector  $y \in K$ . For the case where the linear operator  $\bar{t}$  depends on the vector  $y \in K$ , we have another type of vector variational inequalities.

Consider the generalized WVVI with the set-valued mapping T, which consists in finding  $x^* \in K$ , such that  $\forall y \in K, \exists \bar{t}(y) \in T(\bar{x})$  satisfying

$$\langle \bar{t}(y), y - x^* \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0. \tag{3.31}$$

Next, let us consider the gap function for the generalized WVVI(3.31). To this end, for  $x \in K$ , let

$$S_x = \{t | t : K \to T(x)\},\$$

that is,  $S_x$  is the set of all operators t from K to T(x).

Let  $x \in K$  and  $t \in S_x$ . Then  $t(y) \in T(x), \forall y \in K$ . Define two mappings  $\phi_1^*$  and  $\phi^*$  as follows.

$$\phi_1^*(x,t) = \min_{y \in K} \max_{1 \le i < \ell} (\langle t(y), y - x \rangle)_i, \tag{3.32}$$

where  $(\langle t(y), y \rangle)_i$  is the *i*-th component of  $\langle t(y), y \rangle$ ,  $i = 1, \dots, \ell$ , and

$$\phi^*(x) = \max\{\phi_1^*(x,t)|t \in S_x\}$$
(3.33)

We have the following result.

**Theorem 3.63.**  $\phi^*(x)$  defined by (3.33) is a gap function of WVVI(3.31).

*Proof.* It is clear that  $\phi_1^*(x,t) \leq 0, \forall x \in K, t \in S_x$  and hence  $\phi^*(x) \leq 0, \quad \forall x \in K$ .

Assume that  $x^*$  is a solution of WVVI(3.31). Let  $y \in K$ . Since  $x^*$  is a solution of WVVI(3.31), it follows that, for each  $y \in K$ , there is a  $\bar{t}(y) \in T(x^*)$  such that

$$\langle \bar{t}(y), y - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0$$

from which it follows that

$$\max_{1 \le i \le \ell} (\langle \bar{t}(y), y - x^* \rangle)_i \ge 0.$$

Thus, an operator  $\bar{t}$  from K into  $T(x^*)$  has been defined. Then  $\bar{t} \in S_{\bar{x}}$  and

$$\max_{1 \le i \le \ell} (\langle \bar{t}(y), y - x^* \rangle)_i \ge 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

Hence

$$\phi_1^*(x^*, \bar{t}) = \min_{y \in K} \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} (\langle \bar{t}(y), y - x^* \rangle)_i \ge 0.$$

So  $\phi_1^*(x^*, \bar{t}) = 0$ . Also it is clear that, for any  $t \in S_{x^*}$ ,

$$\max_{1 \le i \le \ell} (\langle t(y), x^* - x^* \rangle)_i = 0$$

from which it follows that  $\phi_1^*(x^*,t) = 0$  and consequently  $0 = \phi^*(x^*)$ . If  $0 = \phi^*(x^*)$ , then there exists  $\bar{t} \in S_{x^*}$  such that  $\phi_1^*(x^*,\bar{t}) = 0$ . Thus

$$\min_{y \in K} \max_{1 \le i \le \ell} (\langle \bar{t}(y), y - x^* \rangle)_i = 0.$$

So we have, for any  $y \in K$ ,

$$\max_{1 \le i \le \ell} (\langle \bar{t}(y), y - x^* \rangle)_i \ge 0.$$

Hence, for any  $y \in K$ ,

$$\langle \bar{t}(y), y - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0.$$

Therefore  $x^*$  is a solution of WVVI(3.31).

# 3.5 Stability of Generalized Set-valued Quasi-VVI

The study concerning the sensitivity and stability of variational inequalities is important because almost all variational inequalities are solved for a specified fixed set of data. Consequently, the computed solution could be considerably inaccurate or could even become infeasible when the data is subject to disturbances. In the last decade, the properties of continuity and Lipschitz continuity of the locally unique solution to parametric variational inequalities were investigated, and a global stability result was established for generalized quasivariational inequalities. For the case in which the solution set is not a singleton, the upper semicontinuity property of the solution set was obtained in Gong [92]. This section aims to establish some stability results for the solution set of a generalized vector quasivariational inequality. Under suitable conditions, we obtain that the solution set is closed and upper semicontinuous.

Let Z be a finite dimensional vector space. Let X and Y be two metric spaces. Let  $C:X\rightrightarrows Z$  be a cone-valued function which induces a variable domination structure in Z. Let  $K\subset X$ , and let  $S:K\rightrightarrows X$  and  $F:K\rightrightarrows L(X,Z)$  be two set-valued functions. Further assume that

$$intC(x) \neq \emptyset, \quad x \in K.$$

The generalized vector quasivariational inequality problem is of finding  $x^* \in S(x^*)$  and  $z^* \in F(x^*)$  such that

$$(GVQVI) \langle z^*, y - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x^*)} 0, \quad \forall y \in S(x^*).$$

For a given generalized vector quasivariational inequality problem, we define the perturbed (GVQVI) problem as follows.

Let K and W be two nonempty, closed and convex subsets in X and Y, respectively. Let  $S: K \times W \rightrightarrows K$  and  $F: K \times W \rightrightarrows L(X, Z)$  be two set-valued functions. Let  $C: K \times W \rightrightarrows Z$  be a family of domination structures such that  $intC(x, w) \neq \emptyset$ , for every  $x \in K$  and  $w \in W$ . The perturbed (GVQVI) problem is: Find  $x^* \in S(x^*, w)$  and  $z^* \in F(x^*, w)$  such that

$$(GVQVI)_w$$
  $\langle z^*, y - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x^*, w)} 0$ , for any  $y \in S(x^*, w)$ .

In order to prove the stability result for the (GVQVI) problem, we assume that the following hypothesis is satisfied.

**Assumption 3.64.** (i)  $S(x, w) \neq \emptyset$ , for  $x \in K$  and  $w \in W$ ; (ii)  $F(x, w) \neq \emptyset$ , for  $x \in K$  and  $w \in W$ .

(ii)  $\Gamma(x,w) \neq \omega$ , for  $x \in \Pi$  and  $w \in W$ .

For brevity, let us introduce the following notations:

- (i)  $G(x, w) \equiv \{(x, z) : z \in F(x, w)\}, \text{ for } x \in K \text{ and } w \in W;$ (ii)  $A(w) \equiv \bigcup_{x \in K} G(x, w), \text{ for every } w \in W;$
- (iii)  $A \equiv \bigcup_{w \in W} A(w)$ ;
- (iv) for each  $w \in W$ ,

$$I(w) = \{(x, z) \in A(w) : \langle z, y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x, w)} 0 \text{ for any } y \in S(x, w)\}.$$

Note that I(w) is the solution set of the  $(GVQVI)_w$  problem.

**Lemma 3.65.** [5] Let X and Y be two metric spaces and  $Q: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a compact-valued function. Then Q is u.s.c. at  $x^*$  if and only if, for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists an  $\eta > 0$  such that

$$Q(x) \subset B(Q(x^*), \epsilon)$$
, for each  $x \in B(x, \eta)$ ,

where  $B(x^*, \eta)$  denotes the ball with the center at  $x^*$  and the radius  $\eta$  and where

$$B(Q(x^*, \epsilon)) = \bigcup_{y \in Q(x^*)} B(y, \epsilon).$$

**Lemma 3.66.** Let  $H: X \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a set-valued function. Suppose that H is l.s.c. at  $x^* \in X$ , that H(x) is a convex set, and that  $intH(x) \neq \emptyset$  for every  $x \in N_{\epsilon}(x^*)$ , where  $N_{\epsilon}(x^*) \subset X$  is a neighborhood of  $x^*$ . Let  $\{x_k\} \subset X$  and  $\{y_k\} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be two sequences converging to  $x^*$  and  $y^*$ , respectively. If  $y^* \in intH(x^*)$ , then  $y_k \in intH(x_k)$  except for a finite number of k's.

*Proof.* Note that  $y^* \in intH(x^*)$ . Thus, there exists an  $\epsilon > 0$  such that

$$y^* + B_{\epsilon} \subset H(x^*),$$

where  $B_{\epsilon}$  denotes the closed ball in  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  with center at 0 and radius  $\epsilon$ . Since  $y_k \to y^*$ , there exists a number K > 0 such that

$$||y_k - y^*|| < \epsilon/2, \quad \forall k \ge K.$$

Proceeding by contradiction, we assume that there exists an  $N_0 > 0$ , such that  $y_k \notin intH(x_k)$  for  $k \geq K_0$ . Since H(x) is a convex set and  $intH(x) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x \in X_{\epsilon}(x^*)$ , we may assume without loss of generality that  $H(x_k)$  is a convex set and  $intH(x_k) \neq \emptyset$  for  $k \geq K_0$ . Then, by the separation theorem for convex sets, there exists a vector  $\alpha_k \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  with  $\|\alpha_k\| = 1$  such that

$$H(x_k) \subset \{y \in \mathbb{R}^\ell : \langle \alpha_k, y \rangle \le \langle \alpha_k, y_k \rangle \}, \text{ for } k \ge K_0.$$

Let  $K_1 = \max\{K, K_0\}$  and

$$\bar{y}_k = y^* + (\epsilon/2 + \langle \alpha_k, y_k - y^* \rangle) \alpha_k$$
, for  $k \ge K_1$ .

Note that

$$\begin{aligned} ||\bar{y}_k - y^*|| &= |\epsilon/2 + \langle \alpha_k, y_k - y^* \rangle| \cdot ||\alpha_k|| \\ &\leq \epsilon/2 + |\langle \alpha_k, y_k - y^* \rangle| \\ &\leq \epsilon/2 + ||\alpha_k|| \cdot ||y_k - y^*|| \\ &\leq \epsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, we have

$$\bar{y}_k \in y^* + B_{\epsilon}$$
, for  $n \ge N_1$ .

Since

$$\langle \alpha_k, \bar{y}_k \rangle = \langle \alpha_k, y^* \rangle + (\epsilon/2) + \langle \alpha_k, y_k - y^* \rangle = \epsilon/2 + \langle \alpha_k, y_k \rangle,$$

and for each  $y \in H(x_k)$ 

$$\begin{aligned} ||\bar{y}_k - y|| &\geq |\langle \alpha_k, \bar{y}_k - y \rangle| \\ &= |(\langle \alpha_k, \bar{y}_k \rangle - \langle \alpha_k, y_k \rangle) + (\langle \alpha_k, y_k \rangle - \langle \alpha_k, y \rangle)| \\ &> \epsilon/3, \end{aligned}$$

it follows that

$$\bar{y}_k \notin H(x_k) + B_{\epsilon/3}$$
, for  $k \ge K_1$ .

Since  $y^* + B_{\epsilon}$  is a compact set, we can assume without loss of generality that  $\bar{y}_k \to \bar{y}$ . Obviously,

$$\bar{y} \in y^* + B_{\epsilon} \subset H(x^*).$$

Since H is l.s.c. at  $x^*$ , there exist a number  $K_2 > 0$  and a sequence  $\{\tilde{y}_k\}$  such that

$$\tilde{y}_k \in H(x_k)$$
, for all  $k \geq K_2$ , and  $\tilde{y}_k \to \bar{y}$ .

Then,

$$\bar{y}_k - \tilde{y}_k \to 0$$
, as  $k \to \infty$ .

However, this contradicts the fact that

$$\bar{y}_k \notin H(x_k) + B_{\epsilon/3}$$
, for  $k \geq K_1$ .

Thus, the number for which  $y_k \notin intH(x_k)$  is finite. This completes the proof.

**Theorem 3.67.** Let K be a closed set. For any given  $w \in W$ , suppose that the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i)  $S(\cdot, w)$  is l.s.c. on K;
- (ii)  $C(\cdot, w)$  is l.s.c. on K and C(x, w) is a convex set for every  $x \in K$ ;
- (iii)  $F(\cdot, w)$  is u.s.c. on K and F(x, w) is a closed set for every  $x \in K$ .

Then, the solution set I(w) of the perturbed (GVQVI) problem is closed.

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, suppose that w = 0. Take any sequence  $\{(x_k, z_k)\} \subset I(0)$  satisfying  $(x_k, z_k) \to (x^*, z^*)$ . By the closedness of K, it follows that  $x^* \in K$ . Then, by condition (iii), we have  $z^* \in F(x^*, 0)$ . Suppose that  $(x^*, z^*) \notin I(0)$ . Then, there exists  $\bar{x} \in S(x^*, 0)$  such that

$$\langle z^*, \bar{x} - x^* \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x^*,0)} 0.$$

By the lower semicontinuity of  $S(\cdot,0)$ , there exists an  $\bar{x}_k \in S(x_k,\cdot)$  except for a finite number of n's such that  $\bar{x}_k \to \bar{x}$ . Then, from the continuity of  $f(x,y,z) \equiv \langle z,y-z \rangle$ , we obtain

$$\langle z_k, \bar{x}_k - x_k \rangle \to \langle z^*, \bar{x} - x^* \rangle.$$

Thus, it follows from Lemma 3.66 that

$$\langle z_k, \bar{x}_k - x_k \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x_k)} 0,$$

except for a finite number of n's, which contradicts that  $\{(x_k, y_k)\} \subset I(0)$  satisfying  $(x_k, z_k) \to (x^*, z^*)$ . This completes the proof.

Remark 3.68. Let

$$Z = \mathbb{R}, X = \mathbb{R}^n, W = \mathbb{R}^r, L(X, Z) = \mathbb{R}^n, C(x, w) = \mathbb{R}_+,$$

for  $x \in K$  and  $w \in W$ . Then the problem  $(GVQVI)_w$  reduces to the classical perturbed generalized quasivariational inequality (in short, (GQVI)), which was considered in Tobin [195]. For the corresponding perturbed (GQVI), the following examples 3.69, 3.70, 3.71 show the necessity of conditions of Theorem 3.67.

Example 3.69. Let  $K = [1, 2], W = \mathbb{R}, C(x, w) = \mathbb{R}_+, S(x, w) = [1, 2],$ 

$$F(x, w) = \begin{cases} [1, 1.5), & x = 1, \\ [1, 1.2), & x \neq 1, \end{cases}$$

for each  $x \in K$  and  $w \in W$ .

Note that, for each  $w \in W$  and each  $x \in K$ , F(x, w) is not a closed set. Clearly, for any given  $w \in W$ , the solution set  $I(w) = \{(1, z) : z \in [1, 1.5)\}$  of the perturbed (GQVI) problem is not closed.

Example 3.70. Let  $K = (-1, 1), W = \mathbb{R}$  and

$$F(x, w) = 0, C(x, w) = \mathbb{R}_+, S(x, w) = (-1, 1), \quad x \in K, w \in W.$$

Note that the set K is not closed as required in Theorem 3.67. Clearly, for any given  $w \in W$ , the solution set

$$I(w) = \{(x,0) : x \in (-1,1)\}$$

of the perturbed (GQVI) problem is not closed.

Example 3.71. Let  $K = [1, 2], W = \mathbb{R}, C(x, z) = \mathbb{R}_+, S(x, w) = [1, 2],$ 

$$F(x,w) = \begin{cases} [1,2], & x = 1, \\ [1,3], & x \neq 1, \end{cases}$$

for  $x \in K$  and  $w \in W$ .

Note that, for any  $w \in W$ ,  $F(\cdot, w)$  is not u.s.c. at x = 1. Clearly, for any given  $w \in W$ , the solution set

$$I(w) = \begin{cases} \{(1, z) : z \in [1, 2], x = 1\} \\ \{(x, z) : z \in [1, z], x \neq 1\}, \end{cases}$$

of the perturbed (GQVI) problem is not closed.

**Theorem 3.72.** Let A be a compact set, and let K and W be closed sets. Suppose that the Assumption 3.64 holds and that the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i)  $S(\cdot, \cdot)$  is l.s.c. on  $K \times W$ ;
- (ii)  $C(\cdot, \cdot)$  is l.s.c. on  $K \times W$  and C(x, w) is a convex set for each  $(x, w) \in K \times W$ ;
- (iii)  $F(\cdot,\cdot)$  is u.s.c. on  $K \times W$  and F(x,w) is a closed set for each  $(x,w) \in K \times W$ .

Then, the solution set I(w) of the perturbed  $(GVQVI)_w$  problem is u.s.c. on W.

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we assume that w=0. Let us establish the result by contradiction. Suppose that I(w) is not u.s.c. at  $0 \in W$ . By the compactness of A and Theorem 3.67, I(w) is a compact-valued function on W. Then, by Lemma 3.65, there exists an  $\epsilon > 0$  such that, for any 1/k > 0,  $k = 1, 2, 3, \dots$ , we can find

$$\{w_k\} \subset B(0, 1/k), \text{ and } (x_k, z_k) \in I(w_k),$$

satisfying

$$\{(x_k, z_k)\} \nsubseteq B(I(0), \epsilon). \tag{3.34}$$

By the compactness of A, we can assume that  $(x_k, z_k) \to (x^*, z^*)$ . Then, from (3.34), we have

$$(x^*, z^*) \notin I(0).$$
 (3.35)

Since  $F(\cdot, \cdot)$  is u.s.c. on  $K \times W$  and F(x, w) is a closed set for each  $(x, w) \in K \times W$ , we obtain  $z^* \in F(x^*, 0)$ . Then  $(x^*, z^*) \in A(0)$ . Now, by (3.35), there exists a  $y^* \in C(x^*, 0)$  such that

$$\langle z^*, y^* - z^* \rangle \in -intC(x^*, 0).$$

Then, for  $y^* \in S(x^*, 0)$ , it follows from the lower semicontinuity of  $S(\cdot, \cdot)$  that there exits a sequence  $\{y_k\}$  with  $y_k \in S(x_k, w_k)$  such that  $y_k \to y^*$ , using the continuity of  $f(x, y, z) = \langle z, y - x \rangle$ , we obtain

$$\langle z_k, y_k - x_k \rangle \to \langle z^*, y^* - x^* \rangle.$$

By Lemma 3.66, except for a finite number of n's, we have

$$\langle z_k, y_k - x_k \rangle \in -intS(x_k, w_k).$$

This contradicts the fact that  $(x_k, z_k) \in I(w_k)$ , and Hence the proof is complete.

#### 3.6 Existence of Solutions for Generalized Pre-VVI

In this section, we study the existence of solutions for two more general classes of vector variational inequalities.

Let X and Z be real locally convex Hausdorff topological vector spaces, and (Y,C) be an ordered locally convex Hausdorff topological vector space, ordered by a closed and convex cone C with nonempty interior intC. Let  $K \subset X$  and  $E \subset Z$  be nonempty subsets. Let  $\eta: K \times K \to K$  be a vector-valued function. Assume that  $V: K \rightrightarrows E$  and  $\overline{K}: K \rightrightarrows K$  are two set-valued functions. Assume that  $H: K \times E \to L(X,Y)$  is a vector-valued function.

Consider the following generalized vector pre-variational inequality problem (in short, GPVVI) of finding  $\bar{x} \in K, \bar{z} \in V(\bar{x})$ , s.t.

$$\langle H(\bar{x}, \bar{z}), \eta(y, \bar{x}) \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in K,$$

and the generalized vector pre-quasi-variational inequality problem (in short, GPQVVI) of finding  $\bar{x} \in \bar{K}(\bar{x}), \bar{z} \in V(\bar{x})$ , s.t.

$$\langle H(\bar{x}, \bar{z}), \eta(y, \bar{x}) \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in \bar{K}(\bar{x}).$$

These vector variational inequality problems arise from the optimality conditions for a vector optimization problem where the feasible set is so-called  $\eta$ -connected, see Yang [209]. When  $\eta(x,y) = x-y$  and  $H(x,z) = T(x), \forall z \in E$ , (GPVVI) reduces to (WVVI). In the sequel, we will use the nonlinear scalar function  $\xi_e$ ,  $e \in intC$  (see Chapter 1):

$$\xi_e(y) = \min\{t \in \mathbb{R} : y \in te - C\}, \quad y \in Y.$$

The function  $\xi_e$  is continuous and strictly monotone. For a set  $Q \subset Y$ , let

$$\xi_e(Q) = \cup_{y \in Q} \xi_e(y).$$

It is well known that  $F: X \to Y$  is a C-quasi-convex vector-valued function if and only if  $\xi_e \circ F$  is a quasi-convex function on X, see Proposition 1.68.

**Theorem 3.73.** Let K be a nonempty, compact and convex subset of X and E be a nonempty convex subset of Z. Let  $\eta: K \times K \to K$  be a continuous set-valued function satisfying  $\eta(x,x) = 0$ ,  $\forall x \in K$ , and let  $V: X \rightrightarrows Z$  be a set-valued function which is upper semicontinuous, nonempty, closed and convex valued. Let  $V^{-1}(z) = \{x \in X : z \in V(x)\}$  be open for each  $z \in Z$ . Let  $H: K \times E \to L(X,Y)$  be a continuous vector-valued function. If there exists  $e \in intE$  such that the function  $extit{function} \in extit{function} \in e$ 

$$\langle H(\bar{x}, \bar{z}), \eta(y, \bar{x}) \rangle ) \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

*Proof.* By the given conditions and the generalized Browder's selection theorem (Theorem 1.25), there exists a continuous vector-valued function  $f: K \to Z$  such that  $f(x) \in V(x)$ ,  $\forall x \in K$ .

Let

$$\phi(x,z,y) = \langle H(x,z), \eta(y,x) \rangle, \quad x \in K, z \in E, y \in K.$$

Then  $\phi$  is a continuous vector-valued function from  $K \times E \times K$  into Y. For simplicity, for any fixed e, we denote  $\xi_e$  by  $\xi$ .

Now, for  $k = 1, 2, \dots$ , we define a set-valued function  $F_k : K \rightrightarrows K$  by

$$F_k(x) = \{y \in K : (\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), y) - \min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), u) < \frac{1}{k}\},\$$

where  $x \in K$ . Since K is a compact subset and  $\xi$  is continuous, for any  $x \in K$ ,  $(\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), y)$  is a continuous function in y. It follows that  $(\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), K)$ 

is a compact set in  $\mathbb{R}$ , and hence  $F_k(x)$  is nonempty for all k.

Under the conditions of Theorem 3.73, we show that the following Lemmas hold which are parts of the proof for Theorem 3.73.

**Lemma 3.74.** For every k, x,  $F_k(x)$  is a convex set.

*Proof.* Let  $y_1, y_2 \in F_k(x)$  and  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ . Then  $y_1, y_2 \in K$  and there exist  $\alpha_i > 0, i = 1, 2$  such that

$$(\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), y_i) = \min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), u) + \frac{1}{k} - \alpha_i, \quad i = 1, 2.$$

Let  $\alpha_0 = \min\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$  and  $t_0 = \min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), u) + \frac{1}{k} - \alpha_0$ . Then

$$(\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), y_i) \le t_0, \quad i = 1, 2.$$

Hence,

$$y_i \in \text{Lev}_{(\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), +)}(t_0) = \{ u \in K : (\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), u) \le t_0 \}.$$

By the assumption that  $(\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), \cdot)$  is quasi-convex, the set  $\text{Lev}_{(\xi \circ \phi)}(x, f(x), \cdot)(t_0)$  is a convex set. Then  $\lambda y_1 + (1 - \lambda)y_2 \in \text{Lev}_{(\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), \cdot)}(t_0)$ , that is

$$(\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), \lambda y_1 + (1 - \lambda)y_2) \le t_0.$$

Therefore we have that

$$(\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), \lambda y_1 + (1 - \lambda)y_2) - \min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), u) < \frac{1}{k}.$$

Then  $\lambda y_1 + (1 - \lambda)y_2 \in F_k(x)$ .

Let for each  $y \in K$ 

$$F_k^{-1}(y) = \{x \in K : y \in F_k(x)\}\$$

$$= \{x \in K : (\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), y) - \min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), u) < \frac{1}{k}\}.$$

**Lemma 3.75.** For each  $y \in K$ , the set  $F_k^{-1}(y)$  is open.

*Proof.* Suppose that the conclusion is not true. Then there exist  $x_0 \in F_k^{-1}(y)$  and a net  $\{x_\alpha\}$  such that  $x_\alpha \to x_0$ ,  $x_\alpha \notin F_k^{-1}(y)$  for every  $\alpha$ , namely,  $y \notin F_k(x_\alpha)$ . Therefore

$$(\xi \circ \phi)(x_{\alpha}, f(x_{\alpha}), y) - \min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(x_{\alpha}, f(x_{\alpha}), u) \ge \frac{1}{k}.$$

Since the function  $(x, y) \to (\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), y)$  is continuous and K is compact, by a well known result in mathematical programming, the function  $M: x \to \min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(x, f(x), u)$  is continuous in x. Therefore we have

$$(\xi \circ \phi)(x_0, f(x_0), y) - \min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(x_0, f(x_0), u) \ge \frac{1}{k},$$

which contracts  $y \in F_k(x_0)$ . Hence  $F_k^{-1}(y)$  is open.

Hence we have shown that all assumptions in Theorem 1.26 are satisfied. Then there exists  $x_k \in K$  such that

$$x_k \in F_k(x_k), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots$$

Since K is compact and V is u.s.c., we can assume that  $x_k \to \bar{x} \in K$  and  $f(x_k) \to f(\bar{x}) \in V(\bar{x})$ . Then by the definition of  $F_k$  we have for each  $k = 1, 2, \dots$ ,

$$(\xi \circ \phi)(x_k, f(x_k), x_k) < \min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(x_k, f(x_k), u) + \frac{1}{k},$$

and as  $k \to +\infty$ 

$$(\xi \circ \phi)(\bar{x}, f(\bar{x}), \bar{x}) \le \min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(\bar{x}, f(\bar{x}), u).$$

Since  $\eta(\bar{x}, \bar{x}) = 0$  and  $\xi(0) = 0$ ,

$$\min_{u \in K} (\xi \circ \phi)(\bar{x}, f(\bar{x}), u) = 0.$$

That is

$$(\xi \circ \phi)(\bar{x}, f(\bar{x}), u) \ge 0, \quad \forall u \in K$$

By the strict monotonicity of  $\xi$ , we have

$$\phi(\bar{x},f(\bar{x}),u)\not\in -intC, \quad \forall u\in K.$$

Let  $\bar{z} = f(\bar{x}) \in V(\bar{x})$ . Then

$$\langle H(\bar{x}, \bar{z}), \eta(y, \bar{x}) \rangle \notin -intC, \quad \forall u \in K.$$

As a direct result, we have:

Corollary 3.76. Let K be a nonempty, compact and convex subset of X. Let  $T: K \to L(X,Y)$  be a continuous vector-valued function. If there exists  $e \in intC$  such that the function  $\xi_e(\langle T(x), y - x \rangle)$  is quasi-convex with respect to y, then there exists  $\bar{x} \in K$  such that

$$\langle T(\bar{x}), y - \bar{x} \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in K.$$

*Proof.* Assume that Z is a Hausdorff topological vector space. Define  $V(x) = Z, x \in X$  and  $\eta(y, x) = y - x$ . Then  $V^{-1}(u) = X$  is open for any  $u \in Z$ . Let H(x, z) = T(x), if  $x \in K, z \in Z$ . The result follows from Theorem 3.73.

Now we consider the following generalized vector pre-quasi-variational inequality problem of finding  $\bar{x} \in \bar{K}(\bar{x})$  and  $\bar{z} \in V(\bar{x})$  such that

$$(GPQVVI) \qquad \langle H(\bar{x}, \bar{z}), \eta(y, \bar{x}) \rangle \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in \bar{K}(\bar{x}).$$

We have the following result.

**Theorem 3.77.** Let K and E be two nonempty compact and convex subsets of X and Z, respectively. Let  $V:X\rightrightarrows Z$  be an upper semicontinuous, closed, convex and vector-valued function. Let  $\eta:K\times K\to K$  be a continuous vector-valued function such that  $\eta(x,x)=0, \ \forall x\in K$ . Let  $H:K\times E\to L(X,Y)$  be a continuous vector-valued function. Let  $\bar K:K\rightrightarrows K$  be a continuous set-valued function with a compact-valued  $\bar K(x)$ . If there exist  $e\in intC$  such that the function  $\xi_e(\langle H(x,z),\eta(y,x)\rangle):K\to R$  is quasi-convex with respect to y, then there exist  $\bar x\in \bar K(\bar x),\ \bar z\in V(\bar x)$  such that

$$\langle H(\bar{x}, \bar{z}), \eta(y, \bar{x}) \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in \bar{K}(\bar{x}).$$

*Proof.* For simplicity, for any fixed e, we denote still  $\xi_e$  by  $\xi$ . As in the proof of Theorem 3.73, let

$$\phi(x, z, y) = -\langle H(x, z), \eta(y, x) \rangle, \quad x \in K, z \in E, y \in K.$$

Then  $\phi$  is a continuous vector-valued function. Define

$$M(x,z) = \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \{ \phi(x,z,y) : y \in \bar{K}(x) \}, \quad x \in K, z \in K.$$

Then  $M: K \times E \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function.

Under the conditions of Theorem 3.77, we show that the following lemmas hold which are parts of the proof for Theorem 3.77.

**Lemma 3.78.** M is a closed set-valued function.

*Proof.* We show that Gr(M) is closed. Let a net  $(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \in Gr(M)$  converge to  $(x_0, z_0, y_0)$ . Note that  $(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \in Gr(M)$  is equivalent to  $y_{\alpha} \in M(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}) = \min_{intC} \{\phi(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, y) : y \in \bar{K}(x_{\alpha})\}$ . Then there exists  $u_{\alpha} \in \bar{K}(x_{\alpha})$  such that  $y_{\alpha} = \phi(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, u_{\alpha})$ . By the compactness of K, we can assume, without loss of generality, that  $u_{\alpha} \to u_0 \in K$ . Then, by the continuity of  $\phi$ ,

$$y_0 = \phi(x_0, z_0, u_0).$$

Suppose that  $y_0 \notin M(x_0, z_0)$ . Then, there exist  $u' \in \bar{K}(x_0)$  and  $p \in C$  such that  $y_0 = \phi(x_0, z_0, u') + p$ . Since  $\bar{K}$  is l.s.c., there exist  $u'_{\alpha} \in \bar{K}(x_{\alpha}), \forall \alpha$  such that  $u'_{\alpha} \to u'$ . Then

$$\phi(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, u'_{\alpha}) - y_{\alpha} = -p + (y_0 - y_{\alpha}) + \phi(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, u'_{\alpha}) - \phi(x_0, z_0, u'),$$

and for  $\alpha$  large enough,

$$\phi(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, u'_{\alpha}) - y_{\alpha} \leq_{intC} 0,$$

which is a contradiction to the assumption  $y_{\alpha} \in M(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha})$ . Thus M is a closed function.

Now we define a set-valued function  $\nabla: K \times E \rightrightarrows K$  by

$$\nabla(x,z) := \{u \in \bar{K}(x) : \xi \circ \phi(x,z,u) = \min_{v \in \bar{K}(x)} \xi \circ \phi(x,z,v)\}.$$

It is clear that  $\nabla(x, z)$  is nonempty for any  $(x, z) \in K \times E$ .

**Lemma 3.79.** For each (x, z),  $\nabla(x, z)$  is a closed function.

*Proof.* Let  $\{(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, u_{\alpha})\}$  be a net in  $Gr(\nabla)$  such that

$$(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, u_{\alpha}) \rightarrow (x_0, z_0, u_0).$$

Then  $u_{\alpha} \in \bar{K}(x_{\alpha})$  and

$$\xi \circ \phi(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, u_{\alpha}) = \min_{v \in \overline{K}(x_{\alpha})} \xi \circ \phi(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, v).$$

By the continuity of  $\bar{K}$ ,  $u_0 \in \bar{K}(x_0)$ . By the strict monotonicity of  $\xi$ , it is easy to verify that

$$\phi(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, u_{\alpha}) \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \{ \phi(x_{\alpha}, z_{\alpha}, v) : v \in \bar{K}(x_{\alpha}) \}.$$

Since M(x, z) is a closed function,

$$\phi(x_0, z_0, u_0) \in \text{Min}_{intC} \{ \phi(x_0, z_0, v) : v \in \bar{K}(x_0) \}.$$

Now we show that

$$\xi \circ \phi(x_0, z_0, u_0) = \min_{v \in K(x_0)} \xi \circ \phi(x_0, z_0, v).$$

Since  $\xi \circ \phi(x,z,\bar{K}(x))$  is l.s.c., there exists  $t_k \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $t_k = \xi \circ \phi(x_k,z_k,v_k)$  and

$$t_k \to \min_{v \in \bar{K}(x_0)} \xi \circ \phi(x_0, z_0, v).$$

Suppose that

$$\xi \circ \phi(x_0, z_0, u_0) \neq \min_{v \in K(x_0)} \xi \circ \phi(x_0, z_0, v).$$

Then

$$\xi \circ \phi(x_0, z_0, u_0) > \min_{v \in \bar{K}(x_0)} \xi \circ \phi(x_0, z_0, v).$$

Therefore, for k large enough, we have that

$$\xi \circ \phi(x_k, z_k, v_k) > t_k$$

which is a contradiction. Hence, Lemma 3.79 holds.

**Lemma 3.80.** For each (x, z),  $\nabla(x, z)$  is a convex set.

*Proof.* Let  $u_1, u_2 \in \nabla(x, z)$  and  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ . Let

$$r_0 = \min_{v \in \bar{K}(x)} \xi \circ \phi(x, z, v).$$

Then

$$\xi \circ \phi(x, z, u_1) = \xi \circ \phi(x, z, u_2) = r_0.$$

Since  $\bar{K}(x)$  is a convex set,  $\lambda u_1 + (1 - \lambda)u_2 \in \bar{K}(x)$ , by the assumption, the function  $u \to \xi \circ \phi(x, z, u)$  is quasi-convex. Then the set

$$A = \{ u \in K : \xi \circ \phi(x, z, u) \le r_0 \}$$

is convex and since  $u_1, u_2 \in A$ ,  $\lambda u_1 + (1 - \lambda)u_2 \in A$ . Then

$$\xi \circ \phi(x, z, \lambda u_1 + (1 - \lambda)u_2) \le r_0.$$

Noting that  $\bar{K}(x)$  is convex, we have

$$\xi \circ \phi(x, z, \lambda u_1 + (1 - \lambda)u_2) = r_0.$$

Then  $\lambda u_1 + (1 - \lambda)u_2 \in \nabla(x, z)$ .

Now we complete the proof of Theorem 3.77. Since V is u.s.c., V(K) is a compact set. Let  $W: K \times E \rightrightarrows K \times E$ :

$$W(x,z) = \nabla(x,z) \times V(x), \quad (x,z) \in K \times E.$$

Then W is upper semicontinuous and for each  $x \in K$ ,  $z \in E$ , W(x, z) is a nonempty, closed and convex subset. By Fan-Glicksberg-Kakustani theorem, there exists  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in W(\bar{x}, \bar{z})$ . Hence

$$\bar{x} \in \bar{K}(\bar{x}), \quad \xi \circ \phi(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, \bar{x}) = \min_{v \in \bar{K}(\bar{x})} \xi \circ \phi(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, v),$$

and  $\bar{z} \in V(\bar{x})$ . By the strict monotonicity of  $\xi$ , we have

$$\phi(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, \bar{x}) \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \{ \phi(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, v) : v \in \bar{K}(\bar{x}) \}.$$

Hence, for any  $y \in \bar{K}(\bar{x})$ ,

$$\phi(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, y) - \phi(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, \bar{x}) \not\geq_{intC} 0.$$

Since  $\eta(x,x)=0, \, \phi(\bar{x},\bar{z},\bar{x})=0$ , we have

$$\phi(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, y) \not\geq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in \bar{K}(\bar{x}),$$

i.e.,

$$\langle H(\bar{x}, \bar{z}), \eta(y, \bar{x}) \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in \bar{K}(\bar{x}).$$

## 3.7 Existence of Solutions for Equilibrium Problems

The equilibrium problem is a generalization of variational inequalities. It contains many important mathematical models as special cases, for instance, optimization problems, problems of Nash equilibrium, variational inequalities, complementarity problems and fixed point problem, etc (See Blum and Oettli [18]). It is known that a vector equilibrium problem includes vector optimization, vector variational inequality, vector complementarity problems as special cases. In this section, we consider two kinds of vector equilibrium problems with a variable domination structure, and establish the existence of solutions for these problems.

Let Y be a Hausdorff topological vector space, and let X and Z be nonemtpy subsets of two Hausdorff topological vector spaces, respectively. Let  $K:X\rightrightarrows X,\,T:X\rightrightarrows Z$  and  $C:X\rightrightarrows Y$  be set-valued functions with nonempty values. Let  $f:X\times Z\times X\rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function.

Consider the following vector equilibrium problem of finding  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in X \times Z$  such that  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x}), \bar{z} \in T(\bar{x})$  and

$$(VEQ_1) f(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, u) \not\leq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall u \in K(\bar{x}).$$

First we present a lemma.

**Lemma 3.81.** [5] Assume that  $X_1$  and  $Y_1$  are Hausdorff topological spaces and  $Z_1$  is a compact topological space. Let  $f: X_1 \times Z_1 \to Y_1$  be a vector-valued function. Define a set-valued function  $F: X_1 \rightrightarrows Y_1$  by

$$F(x) = \{ f(x, z) : z \in Z_1 \}, \quad x \in X_1.$$

If f is continuous on  $X_1 \times Z_1$ , then F is u.s.c.

We have the following existence result for the problem (VEQ<sub>1</sub>).

**Theorem 3.82.** Let X and Z be nonempty compact convex sets of two locally convex Hausdorff topological vector spaces, respectively. Suppose that

- (i)  $K: X \rightrightarrows X$  is a set-valued function with nonempty closed convex values and open lower sections;
- (ii)  $T: X \rightrightarrows Z$  is upper semicontinuous with nonempty closed acyclic values;
- (iii)  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function, which satisfies the following conditions:
  - (a) for any  $u \in X$ , the set  $\{(x, z) \in X \times Z : f(x, z, u) \leq_{intC(x)} 0\}$  is open in  $X \times X$ ;
  - (b) for any  $z \in Z$ , the set-valued function  $f(\cdot, z, \cdot)$  is weakly type II C-diagonally quasi-convex in the third argument.

Then there exists  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in X \times Z$  such that  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x}), \bar{z} \in T(\bar{x}),$ 

$$f(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, u) \not\leq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall u \in K(\bar{x}).$$

*Proof.* Let us define a set-valued function  $P: X \times Z \rightrightarrows X$  by

$$P(x,z) = \{ u \in X : f(x,z,u) \le_{intC(x)} 0 \}, \quad \forall (x,z) \in X \times Z.$$

The theorem will be proven if we can show that there exists  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in X \times Z$  satisfying  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x})$ ,  $\bar{z} \in T(\bar{x})$  and  $K(\bar{x}) \cap P(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) = \emptyset$ . To this end, we first show that for each  $(x, z) \in X \times Z$ ,

$$x \notin coP(x, z). \tag{3.36}$$

If not, there would exist  $(x^*, z^*) \in X \times Z$  such that  $x^* \in P(x^*, z^*)$ . That is, there exists a finite subset  $\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_k\} \subset P(x^*, z^*)$  such that  $x^* \in co\{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_k\}$ . Therefore, we have  $f(x^*, z^*, x_i) \subset -intC(x^*)$  for  $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ , contradicting (b). Hence (3.36) holds.

Now we define another set-valued function  $G: X \times Z \rightrightarrows X$  by

$$G(x, z) = K(x) \cap coP(x, z), \quad \forall (x, z) \in X \times Z.$$

For each  $u \in X$ , the set  $\{(x,z) \in X \times Z : f(x,z,u) \subset -intC(x)\}$  is open by hypothesis (a), or equivalently the set  $P^{-1}(u)$  is open for each  $u \in X$ , and so P has an open lower section. Since K has an open lower section by hypothesis (i), the set-valued function G has also an open lower section by Proposition 1.23.

Next let  $U = \{(x, z) \in X \times Z : G(x, z) \neq \emptyset\}$ . We have two cases to consider.

Case 1:  $U = \emptyset$ .

We note that in this case  $K(x) \cap coP(x, z) = \emptyset$  for each  $(x, z) \in X \times Z$ . In particular, for each  $(x, z) \in X \times Z$  we have

$$K(x) \cap P(x, z) = \emptyset.$$

By hypothesis (i) and the fact that X is a compact convex set, use Browder's fixed point theorem , see Theorem 1.26, to assert the existence of

a fixed point  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x})$ . Also from (ii) we have  $T(\bar{x}) \neq \emptyset$ . So, picking  $\bar{z} \in T(\bar{x})$ , we have

$$K(\bar{x}) \cap P(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) = \varnothing.$$

Therefore, in this particular case the assertion of the theorem holds. Case: 2:  $U \neq \emptyset$ .

The fact that  $G: X \times Z \rightrightarrows X$  has open lower sections in  $X \times Z$  and  $U = \bigcup_{v \in X} G^{-1}(v)$  implies that U is open. We now define a set-valued function  $H: X \times Z \rightrightarrows X$  by

$$H(x,z) = \begin{cases} G(x,z), & \text{if } (x,z) \in U \\ K(x), & \text{if } (x,z) \in X \times Y \backslash U. \end{cases}$$

Then, for each  $v \in X$ , we have

$$H^{-1}(v) = G^{-1}(v) \cup (K^{-1}(v) \times Z),$$

which is open, and whence H has an open lower section. It follows from the generalized Browder's selection theorem (see Theorem 1.25) that there exists a continuous selection  $h: X \times Z \to X$  for H. Now consider the setvalued function  $M: X \times Z \rightrightarrows X \times Z$  given by

$$M(x, z) = (h(x, z), T(x)),$$

which clearly has nonempty closed acyclic values. If we show that M is upper semicontinuous, then, by Theorem 1.29, M has a fixed point  $(\bar{x},\bar{z})\in M(\bar{x},\bar{z})$ . Moreover,  $(\bar{x},\bar{z})\notin U$ . Suppose to the contrary that  $(\bar{x},\bar{z})\in U$ . Then

$$\bar{x} = h(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in G(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) = K(\bar{x}) \cap coP(\bar{x}, \bar{z}),$$

so that  $\bar{x} \in coP(\bar{x}, \bar{z})$ . But this is a contraction to (3.36). Hence  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \notin U$ . Therefore,

$$(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in K(\bar{x}) \times T(\bar{x}) \text{ and } G(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) = \varnothing.$$

Thus  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x})$ ,  $\bar{z} \in T(\bar{x})$  and  $K(\bar{x}) \cap coP(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) = \emptyset$ . In particular,  $K(\bar{x}) \cap P(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) = \emptyset$ . So the assertion of the theorem also holds in this case.

It remains to prove that  $M: X \times Z \rightrightarrows X \times Z$  is upper continuous. We observe that  $X \times Z$  is compact,  $h: X \times Z \to X$  is continuous, and  $T: X \rightrightarrows Z$  is upper semi-continuous. By Lemma 3.81, M is upper semi-continuous. This completes the proof.

**Corollary 3.83.** Let X and Z be nonempty compact convex subsets in two locally convex Hausdorff topological vector spaces, respectively. Let Y be a Hausdorff topological vector space and  $C \subset Y$  be a given subset with  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . Assume:

- (i)  $K: X \rightrightarrows X$  is a set-valued function having nonempty closed convex values and open lower sections;
- (ii)  $T: X \rightrightarrows Z$  is an upper semicontinuous set-valued function with nonempty closed acyclic values; and
- (iii)  $f: X \times Z \times X \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function satisfying the following conditions:
  - (a) for each  $u \in X$ , f(x, z, u) is lower semicontinuous in (x, z);
  - (b) for each  $z \in Z$ ,  $f(\cdot, z, \cdot)$  is weakly type II C-diagonally quasi-convex in the third argument.

Then, there exists  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in X \times Z$  such that  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x}), \bar{z} \in T(\bar{x}),$  and

$$f(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, u) \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall u \in K(\bar{x}).$$

*Proof.* We shall invoke Corollary 3.83 to prove this corollary. Let us set C(x) = C for all  $x \in X$ . The lower semicontinuity of f(x, z, u) in (x, z) implies that the set

$$\{(x,z)\in X\times Z: f(x,z,u)\leq_{int}C 0\}$$

is open in  $X \times Z$  for any  $u \in X$ . Thus all conditions of Theorem 3.82 are satisfied and the corollary follows immediately.

Corollary 3.84. Let X be a nonempty, compact and convex subset of a locally convex Hausdorff topological vector space. Assume:

- (i)  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function with  $int C(x) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x \in X$ ;
- (ii)  $F: X \times X \Rightarrow Y$  is a set-valued function satisfying the following conditions:
  - (a) for each  $y \in X$ , the set  $\{x \in X : F(x,y) \leq_{intC(x)} 0\}$  is open in X;
  - (b) F(x,y) is weakly type II C-diagonally quasi-convex in y.

Then there exists  $\bar{x} \in X$  such that

$$F(\bar{x}, y) \nleq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall y \in X.$$

*Proof.* This corollary will be proven by invoking Theorem 3.82. To this end, let  $Z = \{\bar{z}\}$  be a singleton. Let K(x) = X,  $T(x) = \{\bar{z}\}$  for every  $x \in X$ , and let f(x, z, y) = F(x, y) for all  $(x, z, y) \in X \times Z \times X$ . Then all the conditions of Theorem 3.82 are satisfied and the corollary follows immediately.

**Theorem 3.85.** Assume all the hypotheses of Theorem 3.82 are satisfied except for the compactness of the sets X and Z. Suppose further that  $A \subset X$  and  $D \subset Z$  are two nonempty compact convex subsets and  $B \subset A$  is a nonempty subset such that

- $(a)' K(B) \subset A;$
- (b)' for each  $x \in A$ , the set  $(K(x) \cap A) \times (T(x) \cap B)$  is nonempty;
- (c)' for each  $x \in A \backslash B$ , there exists  $u \in K(x) \cap A$  such that

$$f(\bar{x}, z, u) \leq_{intC(x)} 0, \forall z \in T(x).$$

Then there exists  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in B \times D$  such that  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x}), \bar{z} \in T(\bar{x})$  and

$$f(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, u) \not\leq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall u \in K(\bar{x}).$$

*Proof.* Define  $G: A \rightrightarrows A$  by

$$G(x) = K(x) \cap A, \quad x \in A.$$

For each  $x \in A$ , G(x) is nonempty and convex by (b)' and G has open lower sections. Define a set-valued function  $M: A \rightrightarrows D$  by

$$M(x) = T(x) \cap D, \quad x \in A.$$

It is easy to see that the set-valued function M is also upper semi-continuous with closed acyclic values. Note that, by (a)' we have

$$G(x) = \begin{cases} K(x), & \text{if } x \in B, \\ K(x) \cap A, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

It follows from Theorem 3.82 that there exists  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in G(\bar{x}) \times M(\bar{x})$  such that

$$f(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, u) \not\leq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall u \in G(\bar{x}).$$
 (3.37)

We claim that  $\bar{x} \in B$ . If not,  $\bar{x} \in A \setminus B$ , then, by (c)', there would exist a point  $y \in K(\bar{x}) \cap A = G(\bar{x})$  such that

$$f(\bar{x}, z, y) \leq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall z \in T(\bar{x}).$$

Thus,

$$f(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, y) \leq_{intC} 0,$$

contradicting (3.37). So  $\bar{x} \in B$  such that  $G(\bar{x}) = K(\bar{x})$ . Since  $\bar{z} \in M(\bar{x}) = T(\bar{x}) \cap D \subset T(\bar{x})$ , we conclude that  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x})$ ,  $\bar{z} \in T(\bar{x})$  and

$$f(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, u) \not\leq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall u \in K(\bar{x}).$$

The theorem is proved.

**Theorem 3.86.** Assume that all the hypotheses of Theorem 3.82 are satisfied, except that the condition (iv) is replaced by

- $(iv)' f: X \times Z \times X \Rightarrow Y$  satisfies:
  - (a)  $\forall u \in X$ , the set  $\{(x,z) \in X \times Z : f(x,z,u) \cap -intC(x) \neq \emptyset\}$  is open in  $X \times Z$ ;
  - (b)  $\forall z \in Z, f(\cdot, z, \cdot)$  is weakly type I C-diagonally quasi-convex in the third argument.

Then there exists  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in X \times Z$  such that  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x}), \bar{z} \in T(\bar{x})$  and

$$f(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, u) \not\leq_{intC(\bar{x})} 0, \quad \forall u \in K(\bar{x}).$$

*Proof.* We proceed as in the proof of Theorem 3.82. But we need to modify the set-valued function  $P: X \times Z \rightrightarrows Z$  to be

$$P(x,z) = \{u \in X : f(x,z,u) \cap -intC(x) \neq \emptyset\}, \quad \forall (x,z) \in X \times Z.$$

Then it is easy to show that  $x \notin co(P(x, z))$  is valid for all  $(x, z) \in X \times Z$  due to the fact that  $f(\cdot, z, \cdot)$  is weakly type I C-diagonally quasi-convex in the third argument. The rest of the proof is similar to that of Theorem 3.82.

**Theorem 3.87.** Assume that all the hypotheses of Theorem 3.82 are satisfied, except that the condition (iv) is replaced by

- $(iv)'' \ f: X \times Z \times X \rightrightarrows Y \ satisfies:$ 
  - (a)  $\forall u \in X$ , the set  $\{(x,z) \in X \times Z : f(x,z,u) \cap C(x) = \emptyset\}$  is open in  $X \times Z$ :
  - (b)  $\forall z \in Z, f(\cdot, z, \cdot)$  is strongly type II C-diagonally quasi-convex in the third argument.

Then there exists  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in X \times Z$  such that  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x}), \bar{z} \in T(\bar{x})$  and

$$f(\bar{x}, \bar{z}, u) \cap C(\bar{x}) \neq \emptyset, \quad \forall u \in K(\bar{x}).$$

**Theorem 3.88.** Assume that all the hypotheses of Theorem 3.82 are satisfied, except that the condition (iv) is replaced by

- $(iv)''' f: X \times Z \times X \rightrightarrows Y$  satisfies:
  - (a)  $\forall u \in X$ , the set  $\{(x,z) \in X \times Z : f(x,z,u) \subset C(x) \neq \emptyset\}$  is open in  $X \times Z$ ;
  - (b)  $\forall z \in Z, f(\cdot, z, \cdot)$  is strongly type I C-diagonally quasi-convex in the third argument.

Then there exists  $(\bar{x}, \bar{z}) \in X \times Z$  such that  $\bar{x} \in K(\bar{x}), \bar{z} \in T(\bar{x})$  and

$$f(\bar{x},\bar{z},u)\subset C(\bar{x}),\quad \forall u\in K(\bar{x}).$$

The proof of Theorem 3.87, as well as Theorem 3.88, is similar to that of Theorem 3.82 and is therefore omitted.

# 3.8 Vector Complementarity Problems (VCP)

The concept of vector complementarity problems was introduced in Chen and Yang [40]. Relations among vector complementarity problems, vector variational inequalities, vector optimization problems and minimal element

problems were obtained. The existence of solutions for (positive) vector complementarity problems was also derived in [40, 208]. Further results on the existence of solutions for other type of vector complementarity problems can be found in Fu [74], Yu and Yao [222].

Let (X, D) and (Y, C) be two ordered Banach spaces. We assume that the interior intC of the ordering cone C is nonempty and C is closed and convex.

The weak C-dual cone  $D_C^{w+}$  of D is defined by

$$D_C^{w+} = \{g \in L(X,Y) : \langle g,x \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in D\}.$$

The strong C-dual cone  $D_C^{s+}$  of D is defined by

$$D_C^{s+} = \{ g \in L(X,Y) : \langle g, x \rangle \ge_C 0, \quad \forall x \in D \}.$$

It is obvious that  $D_C^{w+}$  and  $D_C^{s+}$  are nonempty, since the null linear function in L(X,Y) belongs to  $D_C^{w+}$  and  $D_C^{s+}$ . It is easy to prove that  $D_C^{s+} \subset D_C^{w+}$  if C is pointed.

When  $Y = \mathbb{R}$ , the weak and strong C-dual cones of D reduce to the dual cone  $D^*$  of D.

We will prove that the weak and strong C-dual cones of D are algebraically closed and the strong C-dual cone of D is convex.

**Definition 3.89.** Let X be a linear space and A be a subset of X.

(i) The algebraic interior of A, say corA, is defined by

$$cor A = \{\bar{x} \in A : \forall x \in X, \exists \delta > 0, \bar{x} + tx \in A, \forall t \in (0, \delta)\};$$

- (ii) A is called algebraically open if A = cor A;
- (iii) A is called algebraically closed if the complement A<sup>c</sup> of A is algebraically open.

If X is a topological vector space and C is closed and convex, then corC = intC.

**Proposition 3.90.** Let (X, D) and (Y, C) be ordered Banach spaces, and let  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . Then the weak C-dual cone  $D_C^{w+}$  is algebraically closed.

*Proof.* We will prove that  $(D_C^{w+})^c$  is algebraically open. Let  $g_0 \notin cor(D_C^{w+})^c$ . Then, there exists  $g \in L(X,Y)$ , such that  $g_0 + (1/k)g \notin (D_C^{w+})^c$ , for k large enough. Hence,

$$g_0 + (1/k)g \in D_C^{w+};$$

i.e., for k large enough,

$$\langle g_0 + (1/k)g, x \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad x \in D.$$
 (3.38)

Assume that  $g_0 \in (D_C^{w+})^c$ , so that  $g_0 \notin D_C^{w+}$ . Then there exists  $x_0 \in D$  such that  $\langle g_0, x_0 \rangle \leq_{int} C$  0. Therefore, for any  $y \in Y$ , we have

$$-\langle g_0, x_0 \rangle + ty \ge_C 0$$
, for  $t > 0$  small enough.

Letting

$$y = y_1 - \langle g, x_0 \rangle, \quad y_1 \in Y, t = 1/k,$$

we see that

$$-\langle g_0, x_0 \rangle + (1/k)y = -\langle g_0, x_0 \rangle + (1/k)(y_1 - \langle g, x_0 \rangle)$$
  
=  $-\langle g_0 + (1/k)g, x_0 \rangle + (1/k)y_1 \ge_C 0$ 

where  $y_1 \in Y$  and k is large enough. Hence, we deduce that

$$-\langle g_0 + (1/k)g, x_0 \rangle \in corC;$$

i.e.,

$$\langle g_0 + (1/k)g, x_0 \rangle \leq_{intC} 0,$$

which contradicts (3.38). It follows that  $g_0 \notin (D_C^{w+})^c$ . Hence,

$$(D_C^{w+})^c = cor(D_C^{w+})^c.$$

Thus,  $(D_C^{w+})^c$  is algebraically open. Then  $D_C^{w+}$  is algebraically closed.

**Proposition 3.91.** Let (X, D) and (Y, C) be ordered Banach spaces, and let  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . Then the strong C-dual cone  $D_C^{s+}$  is algebraically closed and convex.

*Proof.* It is similar to the proof of Proposition 3.90 to prove the algebraic closedness of  $D_C^{s+}$ . We show that  $D_C^{s+}$  is convex. Let  $g_1,g_2\in D_C^{s+},0<\lambda<1$ . For any  $x\in D$ ,

$$\langle \lambda g_1 + (1 - \lambda)g_2, x \rangle = \lambda \langle g_1, x \rangle + (1 - \lambda)\langle g_2, x \rangle \ge_C 0.$$

Note that

$$\lambda g_1 + (1 - \lambda)g_2 \in D_C^{s+}.$$

Thus,  $D_C^{s+}$  is convex.

Remark 3.92. In general,  $D_C^{w+}$  is not necessarily a convex cone, since the weak ordering  $\not\leq_{intC}$  in Y is not transitive. In fact, let  $X = \mathbb{R}$ ,  $D = \mathbb{R}_+$ ,  $Y = \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $C = \mathbb{R}_+^2$ . Then  $D_C^{s+} = \mathbb{R}_+^2$  is convex, but

$$D_C^{w+} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x = (x_1, x_2)^\top, x_1 \leq_D 0 \text{ or } x_2 \leq_D 0\}$$

is not convex.

Now we consider three types of vector complementarity problems. Let  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  be a vector-valued function and let C be a closed, pointed and convex cone with  $intC \neq \emptyset$ .

A (weak) vector complementarity problem (VCP) is the problem of finding  $x \in D$ , such that

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC} 0, \quad T(x) \in D_C^{w+}.$$

A positive vector complementarity problem (PVCP) is the problem of finding an  $x \in D$  such that

$$\langle T(x), x \not\geq_{intC} 0, \quad T(x) \in D_C^{s+}.$$

A strong vector complementarity problem (SVCP) is the problem of finding an  $x \in D$  such that

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle = 0, \quad T(x) \in D_C^{s+}.$$

We denote the sets of solutions of (VCP), (PVCP) and (SVCP) by  $N, N_P$ , and  $N_S$ , respectively. There are close relations between vector complementarity problems and vector optimization problems. In this connection we consider the following vector optimization problem:

$$(VOP_w) \qquad \operatorname{Min}_C\{\langle T(x), x \rangle : x \in D, T(x) \in D_C^{w+}\}.$$

We denote the set of all weakly minimal solutions of  $(VOP_w)$  by  $E_w$ , and we set  $f(x) = \langle T(x), x \rangle$  and  $H_w = f(E_w)$ .

**Theorem 3.93.** If  $H_w \neq \emptyset$  and there exists  $z \in H_w$  such that  $z \not\geq_{intC} 0$ , then the vector complementarity problem (VCP) is solvable.

*Proof.* Let  $z \in H_w$  and  $z \not\geq_{intC} 0$ . There exists a point  $x \in D$  such that  $T(x) \in D_C^{w+}$ ,  $z = f(x) = \langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC} 0$ . So x is a solution of (VCP).

**Theorem 3.94.** If there exists at most a finite number of solutions of the vector complementarity problem (VCP), then (VCP) is solvable if and only if  $H_w \neq \emptyset$  and there exists  $z \in H_w$  such that  $z \not\geq_{intC} 0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $x_1$  be a solution of (VCP). If  $x_1 \in E_w$ , we are done. If  $x_1 \notin E_w$ , by the definition of weak minimal solutions, there exists  $x_2 \in D$  such that  $T(x_2) \in D_C^{w+}$  and  $\langle T(x_2), x_2 \rangle \leq_{intC} \langle T(x_1), x_1 \rangle \not\geq_{intC} 0$ . Thus we obtain

$$\langle T(x_2), x_2 \rangle \not\geq_{intC} 0,$$

hence  $x_2$  is a solution of (VCP) and  $x_1 \neq x_2$ , continuing this procedure, by the finiteness of the number of solutions of (VCP), there exists  $x_k \in D$  such that  $x_k$  is a solution of (VCP),  $x_k \in E_w$ ,  $z = \langle T(x_k), x_k \rangle \not\geq_{intC} 0, z \in H_w$ .

Conversely, we finish the proof from Theorem 3.93.

We next consider the existence of solutions of the positive vector complementarity problem (PVCP). To this end, we observe the following vector optimization problem:

$$(VOP_s) \qquad \operatorname{Min}_C\{\langle T(x), x \rangle : x \in D, T(x) \in D_C^{s+}\}.$$

We denote the set of all minimal solutions of  $(VOP_s)$  by  $E_s$  and set  $H_s = f(E_s)$ .

Similarly, we can prove the following result.

**Theorem 3.95.** If there exist at most a finite number of solutions of the (PVCP), then the (PVCP) is solvable if and only if  $H_s \neq \emptyset$  and there exists  $z \in H_s$ , such that  $z \not\geq_{intC} 0$ .

Remark 3.96. (i) The equivalent relation in Theorem 3.94 is a generalization of the corresponding results in Borwein [20];

(ii) The results on the nonemptiness of  $H_w$  and  $H_s$  can be found in Chen and Yang [40].

In the sequel, we will show the relationship among the vector optimization problem  $(VOP_{wl})$ , the vector complementarity problem (VCP), the weak minimal element problem (WMEP), the vector variational inequality (VVI) and the vector unilateral minimization problem (VUMP).

Define the feasible set associated to T by

$$\mathcal{F}_w = \{ x \in X : x \in D, T(x) \in D_C^{w+} \}.$$

**Problem**  $VOP_{wl}$ : finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}_w$  such that

$$\langle l, x \rangle \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \{ \langle l, y \rangle : y \in \mathcal{F}_w \},$$

where  $l \in L(X, Y)$  is given;

**Problem** WMEP: finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}_w$  such that  $x \not\geq_{intC} y$ ,  $\forall y \in \mathcal{F}_w$ ;

**Problem** VCP: finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}_w$  such that

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC} 0;$$

**Problem** WVVI: finding  $x \in D$  such that

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in D;$$

**Problem** VUMP: finding  $x \in D$  such that x is a weakly minimal solution of the vector optimization problem:

$$\operatorname{Min}_{C} f(x),$$

where  $f: X \to Y$  is given.

**Definition 3.97.** Let (X,D) and (Y,C) be ordered Banach spaces. Let  $l:X\to Y$  be a linear vector-valued function and  $intD\neq\varnothing$ ,  $intC\neq\varnothing$ . l is called a weak positive linear operator if

$$x \not\geq_{intD} 0 \text{ implies } \langle l, x \rangle \not\geq_{intC} 0.$$

In particular, when  $Y = \mathbb{R}$ ,  $x \not\geq_{intC} 0$  implies  $\langle l, x \rangle \leq 0$ , l is called a weak positive linear functional.

Jameson [114] defines l as a positive (or monotone) operator if  $\langle l, D \rangle \subset C$ . Generally, there is no inclusion relation between a positive linear operator and a weak positive linear operator.

Example 3.98. If Y = X,  $intC \neq \emptyset$ , then the unit operator from X to itself is a weak positive sublinear operator.

Example 3.99. Let  $X = \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $Y = \mathbb{R}^3$ ,  $D = \mathbb{R}^2_+$ ,  $C = \mathbb{R}^3_+$ ,  $x = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \end{pmatrix} \in X$ . Define the operator l as follows:

$$\langle l,x
angle = egin{pmatrix} x_1-x_2\ 2x_2\ x_1 \end{pmatrix} \in {
m I\!R}^3.$$

Then, for any  $x, y \in X$ ,  $x \not\geq_{intD} y$  implies  $\langle l, x \rangle \not>_{intC} \langle l, y \rangle$ . So l is a weak positive linear operator.

**Definition 3.100.** Let X, Y be Banach spaces and l be a linear operator from X to Y. If the image of any bounded subset of X is a self-sequentially compact subset in Y, then l is said to be weakly completely continuous.

**Definition 3.101.** Let (X, D) and (Y, C) be Banach spaces. The norm  $||\cdot||$  in X is said to be strictly monotonically increasing on D if, for each  $y \in D$ ,

$$x \in (\{y\}-intD) \cap D \ implies \ ||x|| < ||y||.$$

**Theorem 3.102.** Let (X, D) and (Y, C) be ordered Banach spaces,  $intD \neq \emptyset$ ,  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . Suppose that

- (i) T = Df is the Fréchet derivative of the C-convex function f from X to Y;
- (ii) l is a weak positive linear operator;
- (iii) There exists  $x \in \mathcal{F}_w$  such that T(x) is one to one and weak completely continuous;
- (iv) X is a topological dual space of a real normed space and the norm  $||\cdot||$  in X is strictly monotonically increasing on D;

169

If vector variational inequality (WVVI) is solvable, then  $(VOP_{wl})$ , (WMEP), (VCP) and (VUMP) have a solution, respectively.

Since the assertions which guarantee Theorem 3.102 are in various degrees of generality, we shall treat them in a sequence of propositions, each with its own hypotheses.

**Proposition 3.103.** Let T = Df be the Fréchet derivative of  $f: X \to Y$ . Then  $x \in D$  solves (VUMP) implies that x solves (WVVI); if, in addition, f is C-convex, then conversely, x solves (WVVI) implies that it solves (VUMP).

*Proof.* Let x be a solution of (VUMP). Since D is a convex cone, we get

$$f(x) \not\geq_{intC} f(x + t(w - x)), \quad 0 < t < 1, w \in D,$$

i.e.,

$$(f(x+t(w-x))-f(x))/t \not\leq_{intC} 0.$$

Let t tend to 0 from the right, we have

$$\langle Df(x), w - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall w \in D,$$

which is the weak vector variational inequality.

Conversely, let x solve the weak vector variational inequality:

$$\langle T(x), w - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall w \in D.$$

Since f is C-convex, by Proposition 1.63, we have, for any  $w \in D$ ,

$$f(w) - f(x) \ge_C \langle Df(x), w - x \rangle$$
  
=  $\langle T(x), w - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0$ ,

i.e.,  $f(w) \not\leq_{intC} f(x), \forall w \in D$ . Thus, x is a solution of (VUMP).

**Proposition 3.104.** x solves (WVVI) implies that x solves (VCP).

*Proof.* According to the assumption,

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

We set y = 0, then  $\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC} 0$ . We set y = w + x,  $w \in D$ , then  $y \in D$  and  $\langle T(x), w \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0$ , i.e.,  $T(x) \in D_C^{w+}$ . Hence x solves the (VCP).

Remark 3.105. Generally, the converse conclusion in Proposition 3.104 does not hold. However, if T is conegative (T is called conegative if  $\langle T(x), x \rangle \leq_C 0, \forall x \in D$ ), then the converse conclusion also holds.

**Proposition 3.106.** Let l be a weak positive linear operator. Then x solves (WMEP) implies that x solves (VOP<sub>wl</sub>).

*Proof.* This assertion is immediate from the definition of the weak positive linear operator.  $\blacksquare$ 

**Lemma 3.107 (Jahn [116]).** Let A be a nonempty subset of an ordered space (Y,C) with  $C \subset Y$  being a convex cone and  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . Let Y be the topological dual space of a real normed space  $(Z,||\cdot||)$ . Suppose that there exists  $y \in Y$  such that the set  $(y-C) \cap A$  is weakly closed and bounded below and the norm  $||\cdot||$  in Y is strictly monotonically increasing. Then the set A has at least one minimal element.

**Lemma 3.108.** If (WVVI) is solvable, then the feasible set  $\mathcal{F}_w$  is nonempty.

*Proof.* Let x be a solution of (WVVI), that is,

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad y \in D.$$

We set  $y = z + x, z \in D$ , then  $y \in D$  since D is a convex cone and  $\langle T(x), z \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0$  for all  $z \in D$ . So  $T(x) \in D_C^{w+}$  and  $x \in \mathcal{F}_w$ .

It is easy to fulfill the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.109.** If the norm  $||\cdot||$  in an ordered Banach space (X, D) is strictly monotonically increasing, then the order intervals

$$[a,b] = \{x \in X : a \leq_D x \leq_D b\}$$

in X are bounded, where  $a, b \in X$ .

Proposition 3.110. If the (WVVI) is solvable, and

- (i) there exists x in  $\mathcal{F}_w$  such that  $T(x): X \to Y$  is a one-to-one vector-valued function and it is weak completely continuous;
- (ii) Y is the topological dual space of a normed space  $(X, ||\cdot||)$  and the norm  $||\cdot||$  in X is strictly monotonically increasing,

then the  $(VOP_{wl})$  has at least one solution.

*Proof.* By the assumptions and Lemma 3.108,  $\mathcal{F}_w \neq \emptyset$ . Let  $x \in \mathcal{F}_w$  such that T(x) is one to one and weakly completely continuous, and  $\{y_k\} \subset (\mathcal{F}_w)_x, y_k \to y$  (weakly), where

$$(\mathcal{F}_w)_x = (\{x\} - D) \cap \mathcal{F}_w \subset (\{x\} - D) \cap D = [0, x].$$

[0, x] is the order interval, i.e.,

$$[0, x] = \{ y \in X : y \ge_D 0 \text{ and } y \le_D x \}.$$

The order interval [0, x] is bounded by Lemma 3.109, so  $(\mathcal{F}_w)_x$  is also bounded. We observe that  $\langle T(x), (\mathcal{F}_w)_x \rangle$  is a self-sequentially compact, since T(x) is weak completely continuous. Thus there exists a subsequence  $\langle T(x), y_{k_i} \rangle \subset$ 

 $\langle T(x), (\mathcal{F}_w)_x \rangle$ , which converges to  $z \in \langle T(x), (\mathcal{F}_w)_x \rangle$ . We obtain a point  $y_0 \in (\mathcal{F}_w)_x$  such that

$$\langle T(x), y_{k_i} \rangle \to \langle T(x), y_0 \rangle$$
 (strongly).

On the other hand, if  $y_k \to y$  (weakly) and T(x) is weak completely continuous, we derive

$$\langle T(x), y_k \rangle \to \langle T(x), y \rangle$$
 (strongly).

By the uniqueness of the convergence, we obtain

$$\langle T(x), y_0 \rangle = \langle T(x), y \rangle.$$

Since T(x) is one to one, we have  $y_0 = y$ , i.e.,  $y \in (\mathcal{F}_w)_x$  and  $(\mathcal{F}_w)_x$  is weakly closed. By Lemma 3.107,  $\mathcal{F}_w$  has a weakly minimal element.

**Definition 3.111.** Let (X, D) and (Y, C) be ordered Banach spaces. The operator  $T: X \to L(X, Y)$  is said to be positive if

$$\langle T(x), y \rangle \ge_C 0, \quad \forall x, y \in D.$$

The vector-valued function  $F: X \to Y$  is called positive if  $F(x) \in C$ , for all  $x \in D$ .

The following corollary is elementary from the definition.

**Corollary 3.112.** T is positive if and only if T(x) is positive for any  $x \in D$ .

We consider the positive vector complementarity problem (PVCP). The feasible set related to the (PVCP) is

$$\mathcal{F}_s = \{ x \in X : x \in D, T(x) \in D_C^{s+} \}.$$

For a given  $l \in L(X,Y)$ , we consider following three problems: the vector optimization problem  $(VOP_{s_l})$ , the weak minimal element problem  $(WMEP_s)$  and the positive vector complementarity problem (PVCP).

**Problem** VOP<sub>s<sub>l</sub></sub>: finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}_s$  such that

$$\langle l, x \rangle \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \{ \langle l, y \rangle : y \in \mathcal{F}_s \},$$

where  $l \in L(X, Y)$ ;

**Problem** WMEP<sub>s</sub>: finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}_s$  such that  $x \not\geq_{intD} y$ ,  $\forall y \in \mathcal{F}_s$ ;

**Problem** PVCP: finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}_s$  such that  $\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intD} 0$ .

**Proposition 3.113.** Let T be strictly monotone and x be the solution of (PVCP). Then, x is a weakly minimal element of  $\mathcal{F}_s$ .

*Proof.* It is elementary that  $x \in \mathcal{F}_s \subset D$ . If  $x \in \partial D$ , then x solves (WMEP<sub>s</sub>). Otherwise, there exists  $x' \in \mathcal{F}_s$  such that  $x' \leq_{intD} x$ , so

$$x = x - x' + x' \in intD + D \subset intD$$
,

this is a contradiction. If  $x \in intD$ , by the strict monotonicity of T,

$$\langle T(x), x-u \rangle \geq_{intC} \langle T(u), x-u \rangle$$
, for each  $u \in \mathcal{F}_s, u \neq x$ .

If  $x \geq_{intD} u$ ,  $\langle T(u), x - u \rangle \geq_{intC} 0$ , then for  $c \in intC$ ,

$$0 \not< \langle T(x), x \rangle \ge_C \langle T(x), u \rangle + c.$$

Therefore,

$$\langle T(x), u \rangle + c \not\geq_{intC} 0.$$

Then  $\langle T(x), u \rangle \geq_C 0$  does not hold, since  $c \in intC$ , which is contrary to the assumption condition of  $x \in \mathcal{F}_s$ . So  $x \geq_{intD} u$  does not hold, that is,  $x \not\geq_{intD} u$ . Hence, x solves (WMEP<sub>s</sub>).

Remark 3.114. Proposition 3.113 is a generalization of the corresponding result of Riddell [163].

**Proposition 3.115.** x solves (PVCP) implies that x solves (WVVI).

*Proof.* By the definition of (PVCP),  $x \in D$ ,  $\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC} 0$ , for all  $x \in D$ ; i.e., for any  $y \in D$ ,

$$\langle T(x), x \not\geq_{intC} 0 \leq \langle T(x), y \rangle$$

and

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0,$$

which is (WVVI).

Remark 3.116. In Proposition 3.104, we prove that x solves (WVVI) implies that x solves (VCP). In this proposition we prove an inverse relation under the condition that T is a positive operator. On the other hand, if T is a positive operator, it is elementary that x solves (WVVI) implies that x solves (PVCP). We have shown that (WVVI) and (PVCP) are equivalent if T is a positive operator.

As a summary of the above results, we have following theorem.

**Theorem 3.117.** Let (X, D) and (Y, C) be ordered Banach spaces and  $intD \neq \emptyset$ ,  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . Suppose that

- (i) T = Df is the Fréchet derivative of the C-convex vector-valued function  $f: X \to Y$ ;
- (ii)  $l \in L(X,Y)$  is a weak positive linear operator;
- (iii) T is strictly monotone.

If the (PVCP) is solvable, then  $(VOP_{s_l})$ ,  $(WMEP_s)$ , (PVCP), (WVVI) and (VUMP) have at least one common solution.

## 3.9 VCP with a Variable Domination Structure

In this section, we investigate a vector complementarity problem with a variable ordering relation. We establish existence results of a solution for a vector complementarity problem under an inclusive type condition. We also obtain some equivalence results among a vector complementarity problem, a vector variational inequality problem, a vector optimization problem, a weak minimal element problem, and a vector unilateral optimization problem under some monotonicity conditions and some inclusive type conditions in ordered Banach spaces.

Let (X, D) be an ordered Banach space, Y be a Banach space,  $\{C(x) : x \in X\}$  be a family of closed, pointed, and convex cones in Y with nonempty interior intC(x) for all  $x \in X$ , and  $T: X \to L(X, Y)$ . Throughout this section, we assume that  $C: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be upper semicontinuous.

Consider the following three kinds of vector complementarity problems with a variable ordering relation.

(Weak) Vector Complementarity Problem (VCP): finding  $x \in D$ , such that

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \langle T(x), y \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

Positive Vector Complementarity Problem (PVCP): finding  $x \in D$ , such that

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \langle T(x), y \rangle \leq_{C(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

Strong Vector Complementarity Problem (SVCP): finding  $x \in D$ , such that

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle = 0, \quad \langle T(x), y \rangle \leq_{C(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

Remark 3.118. In here, without confusion, for example, we use the same notation (VCP) for a vector complementarity problem with a variable ordering relation as that for the problem with a fixed ordering relation.

If C(x) = C for all  $x \in X$ , where C is a closed, pointed, and convex cone in Y with nonempty interior intC, then (VCP), (PVCP), and (SVCP) reduce to the problems considered in section 3.8.

Next we establish some existence results of (VCP) involving a variable ordering structure .

The feasible set of (VCP) is

$$\mathcal{F} = \{x \in X: \ x \in D, \ \langle T(x), y \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D\}.$$

Let  $f(x) = \langle T(x), x \rangle$  for all  $x \in D$ . We consider the following vector optimization problem (VOP):

$$\operatorname{Min}_{intC(x)} f(x)$$
 subject to  $x \in \mathcal{F}$ .

**Theorem 3.119.** Assume that  $LMin_{intC(x)}f(\mathcal{F}) \neq \emptyset$ . If there exists  $x \in LMin_{intC(x)}f(\mathcal{F})$  such that  $f(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0$ , then the vector complementarity problem (VCP) is solvable.

*Proof.* Let  $x \in \text{LMin}_{intC(x)} f(\mathcal{F})$  and  $f(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0$ . Then  $x \in D$  and

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle = f(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \langle T(x), y \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

It follows that x is a solution of (VCP). This completes the proof.

**Definition 3.120.** Let  $f: X \to Y$ . We say that C(x) satisfies an f-inclusive condition if, for any  $x, y \in X$ ,

$$f(x) \leq_{intC(y)} f(y)$$
 implies that  $C(x) \subset C(y)$ .

This inclusive condition requires that any two of the family of closed and convex cones satisfy an inclusion relation so long as their corresponding variables satisfy certain conditions. It is easy to see that, if C(x) = C for all  $x \in X$ , where C is a closed, pointed, and convex cone in Y, then C(x) satisfies the f-inclusive condition.

Example 3.121. Let  $X = Y = \mathbb{R}^2$  and  $D = \mathbb{R}^2_+$ . Define  $f(u) = (3x + 2, 3y + 2)^\top$  and

$$C(u) = \begin{cases} \{(r\cos x, r\sin x): \ r \geq 0, \ 0 \leq x \leq \pi/8\}, \\ \text{if } x \in (-\infty, \pi/8], \ y \in (-\infty, +\infty); \\ \{(r\cos x, r\sin x): \ r \geq 0, \ 0 \leq x \leq x\}, \\ \text{if } x \in (\pi/8, \pi/2), \ y \in (-\infty, +\infty); \\ D, \\ \text{if } x \in [\pi/2, +\infty), \ y \in (-\infty, +\infty) \end{cases}$$

for all  $u=(x,y)\in X$ . Then it is easy to see that C(u) satisfies the f-inclusive condition. In fact, for any  $u=(x_1,y_1)\in X$  and  $v=(x_2,y_2)\in X$ , if  $f(u)\leq_{intC(v)}f(v)$ , then  $f(v)-f(u)\in intC(v)\subset intD$  and so  $x_1< x_2$ . Therefore,  $C(u)\subset C(v)$  and C(x) satisfies the f-inclusive condition.

**Theorem 3.122.** Suppose that C satisfies the f-inclusive condition and that there exist at most a finite number of solutions for (VCP). Then (VCP) is solvable if and only if  $LMin_{intC(x)}f(\mathcal{F}) \neq \emptyset$ , and there exists  $x \in LMin_{intC(x)}f(\mathcal{F})$  such that  $f(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0$ .

*Proof.* Let  $x_1$  be a solution of (VCP). Then

$$\langle T(x_1), x_1 \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x_1)} 0, \quad \langle T(x_1), y \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x_1)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

If  $x_1 \in LMin_{intC(x)}f(\mathcal{F})$ , then

$$f(x_1) = \langle T(x_1), x_1 \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x_1)} 0$$

and we are done. If  $x_1 \notin \mathrm{LMin}_{intC(x)} f(\mathcal{F})$ , by the definition of a weakly minimal-like solution, there exists  $x_2 \in D$  such that

$$\langle T(x_2), y \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x_2)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D$$

and

$$f(x_2) = \langle T(x_2), x_2 \rangle \leq_{intC(x_1)} \langle T(x_1), x_1 \rangle = f(x_1) \not\geq_{intC(x_1)} 0.$$

This implies that

$$f(x_2) = \langle T(x_2), x_2 \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x_1)} 0.$$

Since  $f(x_2) \leq_{intC(x_1)} f(x_1)$ , and C satisfies the f-inclusive condition, it follows that  $C(x_2) \subset C(x_1)$  and so

$$f(x_2) = \langle T(x_2), x_2 \rangle \not \geq_{intC(x_2)} 0.$$

Thus,  $x_2$  is a solution of (VCP) and  $x_2 \neq x_1$ . Continuing this process, there exists  $x_k \in D$  such that  $x_k$  is a solution of (VCP) and  $x_k \in \mathrm{LMin}_{intC(x)} f(\mathcal{F})$  since (VCP) has at most a finite number of solutions. Therefore,

$$f(x_k) = \langle T(x_k), x_k \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x_k)} 0.$$

The only if part follows from Theorem 3.119 and we complete the proof.

Remark 3.123. (1) If C(x) = C for all  $x \in X$ , where C is a closed, pointed, and convex cone in Y, then C satisfies the f-inclusive condition and Theorem 3.122 is the same as Theorem 3.2 of Chen and Yang [40].

(2) If C(x) = C for all  $x \in X$ , where C is a closed, pointed, and convex cone in  $Y = (-\infty, +\infty)$ , then we obtain the results in Borwein [20].

We next consider the positive vector complementarity problem (PVCP): finding  $x \in D$  such that

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \langle T(x), y \rangle \geq_{C(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

Let

$$\mathcal{F}_0 = \{ x \in X : x \in D, \ \langle T(x), y \rangle \ge_{C(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D \}.$$

Consider the following vector optimization problem (VOP)<sub>0</sub>

$$\operatorname{Min}_{C(x)} f(x)$$
 subject to  $x \in \mathcal{F}_0$ .

Similarly, we can prove the following results.

**Theorem 3.124.** If  $LMin_{C(x)} f(\mathcal{F}_0) \neq \emptyset$  and there exists  $x \in LMin_{C(x)} f(\mathcal{F}_0)$  such that  $f(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0$ , then (PVCP) is solvable.

**Theorem 3.125.** Suppose that C satisfies the f-inclusive condition and that there exist at most a finite number of solutions of (PVCP). Then (PVCP) is solvable if and only if  $LMin_{C(x)}f(\mathcal{F}_0) \neq \emptyset$  and there exists  $x \in LMin_{C(x)}f(\mathcal{F}_0)$  such that  $f(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0$ .

Next we consider equivalences between vector complementarity problems and weak minimal element problems.

Let (X, D) be an ordered Banach space with  $intD \neq \emptyset$ , Y be a Banach space, and  $\{C(x): x \in X\}$  be a family of closed, pointed, and convex cones in Y such that  $intC(x) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x \in X$ . Let  $T: X \to L(X, Y)$  be a given map and  $f: X \to Y$  be a given operator.

Recall that the feasible set of (VCP) associated with T is defined by:

$$\mathcal{F} = \{ x \in X : x \in D, \ \langle T(x), y \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D \}.$$

We now consider the following five problems.

The vector optimization problem  $(VOP)_l$ : for a given  $l \in L(X, Y)$ , finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $l(x) \in Min_{intC(x)}l(\mathcal{F})$ ;

The weak minimal element problem (WMEP): finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $x \in \text{Min}_{intD}\mathcal{F}$ ;

The vector complementarity problem (VCP): finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}$  such that  $\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0$ ;

The vector variational inequality problem (WVVI): finding  $x \in D$  such that

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D;$$

The vector unilateral optimization problem (VUOP): finding  $x \in D$  such that  $f(x) \in \mathrm{LMin}_{intC(x)} f(D)$ .

**Definition 3.126.** ([4]) A linear operator  $l: X \to Y$  is called weakly positive with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x) if, for any  $x, y \in X$ ,  $x \not\geq_{intD} y$  implies that  $l(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} l(y)$ .

**Theorem 3.127.** Let (X, D) be an ordered Banach space with  $int D \neq \emptyset$ , Y be a Banach space, and  $\{C(x) : x \in X\}$  be a family of closed, pointed, and convex cones in Y such that  $int C(x) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x \in X$ . Suppose

- (1) T = Df is the Frechet derivative of a convex operator  $f: X \to Y$ ;
- (2) l is a weakly positive linear operator with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x);
- (3) there exists  $x \in \mathcal{F}$  such that Tx is one to one and weak completely continuous;
- (4) X is a topological dual space of a real normed space and the norm  $\|\cdot\|$  in X is strictly monotonically increasing on D.

If (WVVI) is solvable, then  $(VOP)_l$ , (WMEP), (VCP), and (VUOP) are also solvable.

Remark 3.128. If C(x) = C for all  $x \in X$ , where C is a closed, pointed, and convex cone in Y, then Theorem 3.127 coincides with Theorem 4.1 of Chen and Yang [40].

We need the following propositions to establish Theorem 3.127.

**Proposition 3.129.** Let T = Df be the Frechet derivative of an operator  $f: X \to Y$ . Then x solves (VUOP) implies x solves (WVVI). If, in addition, f is a C(x)-convex function, then conversely, x solves (WVVI) implies x solves (VUOP).

*Proof.* Let x be a solution of (VUOP). Then

$$x \in D$$
 and  $f(x) \in LMin_{intC(x)}f(D)$ ,

i.e.,

$$f(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} f(y), \ \forall y \in D.$$

Since D is a convex cone,

$$f(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} f(x + t(w - x)), \quad 0 < t < 1, \ w \in D.$$

It follows that

$$\frac{1}{t}[f(x+t(w-x))-f(x)] \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0.$$

Since f is Frechet differentiable on X, letting  $t \to 0^+$ , we get

$$\langle Df(x), w - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall w \in D,$$

which is (WVVI).

Conversely, let x solve (WVVI). Then

$$\langle T(x), w - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall w \in D.$$

Since f is C(x)-convex, by Proposition 1.72,

$$f(w) - f(x) \ge_{C(x)} \langle Df(x), w - x \rangle \not \le_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall w \in D$$

and so

$$f(w) \not\leq_{intC(x)} f(x), \quad \forall w \in D,$$

which is the (VUOP). This completes the proof.

**Definition 3.130.** A map  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  is called co-negative with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x) if  $\langle T(x), x \rangle \leq_{C(x)} 0$  holds for all  $x \in D$ .

**Proposition 3.131.** If x solves (WVVI), then x also solves (VCP). Conversely, if T is co-negative with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x), then x solves (VCP) implies x solves (WVVI).

*Proof.* Let x be a solution of (WVVI). Then

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

Letting y = 0, we get  $\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0$ . For y = w + x with any  $w \in D$ , we have

$$\langle T(x), w \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall w \in D.$$

Thus, x is a solution of the (VCP).

Conversely, let x solve the (VCP). Then

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \leq_{C(x)} 0 \not\geq_{intC(x)} \langle T(x), y \rangle, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

This implies

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x)} \langle T(x), y \rangle, \quad \forall y \in D$$

and so

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

This completes the proof.

**Proposition 3.132.** Let l be a weakly positive linear operator with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x). Then x solves (WMEP) implies x solves  $(VOP)_l$ .

*Proof.* Let x be a solution of (WMEP). Then  $x \in \mathcal{F}$  and

$$x \not\geq_{intD} \mathcal{F} = \{x \in X : x \in D, \langle T(x), y \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0, \forall y \in D\}.$$

For any  $z \in \mathcal{F}$ ,  $x \not\geq_{intD} \mathcal{F}$  implies  $x \not\geq_{intD} z$ . Since l is a weakly positive linear operator with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x), it follows that  $l(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} l(z)$  and so

$$l(x) \not\geq_{intC(x)} l(\mathcal{F}),$$

which is  $(VOP)_l$ . This completes the proof.

**Definition 3.133.** Let (X, D) be an ordered Banach space and A a nonempty subset of X.

- (1) If, for some  $x \in X$ ,  $A_x = (\{x\} D) \cap A \neq \emptyset$ , then  $A_x$  is called a section of the set A.
- (2) A is called weakly closed if  $\{x_k\} \subset A$ ,  $x \in X$ ,  $\langle x^*, x_k \rangle \rightarrow \langle x^*, x \rangle$  for all  $x^* \in X^*$ , then  $x \in A$ .

**Lemma 3.134.** If (WVVI) is solvable, then the feasible set  $\mathcal{F}$  is nonempty.

*Proof.* Let x be a solution of (WVVI). Then

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

Taking y = z + x with any  $z \in D$ , we know that  $y \in D$  and

$$\langle T(x), z \rangle \not\leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall z \in D.$$

Thus,  $x \in \mathcal{F}$ . This completes the proof.

**Lemma 3.135.** If the norm  $\|\cdot\|$  in an ordered Banach space X is strictly monotonically increasing, then the order intervals in X are bounded.

Proposition 3.136. Suppose (WVVI) is solvable and

- (1) there exists x in  $\mathcal{F}$  such that Tx is one to one and weak completely continuous;
- (2) X is the topological dual space of a real normed space  $(Z, \|\cdot\|_z)$  and the norm  $\|\cdot\|$  in X is strictly monotonically increasing.

Then (WMEP) has at least one solution.

*Proof.* By the assumption and Lemma 3.134,  $\mathcal{F} \neq \emptyset$ . Let  $x \in \mathcal{F}$  be a point such that T(x) is one to one and weak completely continuous, and  $\{y_k\} \subset \mathcal{F}$  with  $y_k \to y$  (weakly). Since

$$\mathcal{F}_x = (\{x\} - D) \cap \mathcal{F} \subset (\{x\} - D) \cap D = [0, x],$$

by Lemma 3.4, [0, x] is bounded and so is  $\mathcal{F}_x$ . Since Tx is weak completely continuous,  $\langle T(x), \mathcal{F}_x \rangle$  is a self-sequentially compact set and so  $\langle T(x), y_k \rangle \subset \langle T(x), \mathcal{F}_x \rangle$  implies there exists a subsequence  $\langle T(x), y_{k_i} \rangle$  which converges to  $z \in \langle T(x), \mathcal{F}_x \rangle$ . We get a point  $y_0 \in \mathcal{F}_x$  such that

$$\langle T(x), y_{k_i} \rangle \to \langle Tx, y_0 \rangle$$
 (strongly).

On the other hand, since  $y_k \to y$  (weakly) and T(x) is weak completely continuous,

$$\langle T(x), y_k \rangle \to \langle T(x), y \rangle$$
 (strongly).

By the uniqueness of the limit, we get  $\langle T(x), y \rangle = \langle T(x), y_0 \rangle$ . Since Tx is one to one,  $y = y_0$  and so  $y \in \mathcal{F}_x$ . Since  $\mathcal{F}_x$  is weakly closed, it follows from Lemma 3.2 that  $\mathcal{F}$  has a weakly minimal point a such that  $a \not\geq_{intD} \mathcal{F}$ . Therefore, (WMEP) has at least one solution. This completes the proof.

**Definition 3.137.** Let (X, D) be an ordered Banach space, Y be a Banach space, and  $\{C(x): x \in X\}$  be a family of closed, pointed, and convex cones in Y. A map  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  is called positive with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x) if

$$\langle T(x), y \rangle \ge_{C(x)} 0$$
, for any  $x, y \in D$ .

Equivalently,

$$\langle T(x), y \rangle \in C(x), \quad \forall x, y \in D.$$

An operator  $K: X \to Y$  is called positive if

$$K(x) \ge_{C(x)} 0$$
, for any  $x \in D$ .

We now consider the positive vector complementarity problem (PVCP): Finding  $x \in D$  such that

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \langle T(x), y \rangle \geq_{C(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

The feasible set related to (PVCP) is defined as

$$\mathcal{F}_0 = \{ x \in X : \ x \in D, \ \langle T(x), y \rangle \ge_{C(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D \}.$$

Let us consider the following problems.

The vector optimization problem  $(VOP)_{l0}$ : finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}_0$  such that  $l(x) \in LMin_{intP}l(\mathcal{F}_0)$ .

The weak minimal element problem (WMEP)<sub>0</sub>: finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}_0$  such that  $x \in \text{LMin}_{intD}\mathcal{F}_0$ .

The positive vector complementarity problem (PVCP): finding  $x \in \mathcal{F}_0$  such that

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0.$$

The vector variational inequality problem (VVIP): finding  $x \in D$  such that

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall y \in D.$$

The vector unilateral optimization problem (VUOP): for a given map  $f: X \to Y$ , finding  $x \in D$  such that  $f(x) \in \mathrm{LMin}_{intP} f(D)$ .

**Definition 3.138.** A map  $T: X \to L(X,Y)$  is said to be strictly monotone with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x) if

$$\langle T(x) - T(y), x - y \rangle \ge_{intC(x)} 0, \quad \forall x, y \in X, x \ne y.$$

**Definition 3.139.** We say that C(x) satisfies an inclusive condition if, for any  $x, y \in X$ ,

$$x \leq_{intD} y$$
 implies that  $C(x) \subset C(y)$ .

It is easy to see that, if C(x) = C for all  $x \in X$ , where C is a closed, pointed, and convex cone in Y, then C(x) satisfies the inclusive condition.

Example 3.140. Let 
$$X=(-\infty,+\infty),\,D=[0,+\infty),\,Y=R^2,$$
 and

$$C(x) = \begin{cases} \{(r\cos x, r\sin x): \ r \ge 0, \ 0 \le x \le \pi/8\}, \ \text{if} \ x \in (-\infty, \pi/8]; \\ \{(r\cos x, r\sin x): \ r \ge 0, \ 0 \le x \le x\}, & \text{if} \ x \in (\pi/8, \pi/2); \\ D, & \text{if} \ x \in [\pi/2, +\infty) \end{cases}$$

for all  $x \in X$ . Then it is easy to check that C(x) satisfies the inclusive condition.

**Proposition 3.141.** Let T be strictly monotone with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x) and x a solution of (PVCP). If C satisfies the inclusive condition, then x is a weakly minimal point of  $\mathcal{F}_0$  (i.e., x solves (WMEP)<sub>0</sub>).

*Proof.* It is easy to see that  $x \in \mathcal{F}_0 \subset D$ . If  $x \in \mathrm{bd}(D)$  (where  $\mathrm{bd}(D)$  denotes the boundary of D), then x solves (WMEP)<sub>0</sub>. Otherwise, there exists  $x' \in \mathcal{F}_0$  such that  $x \geq_{int} D$  x' and so

$$x = x - x' + x' \in intD + D \subset intD$$
,

which is a contradiction. If  $x \in intD$ , by the strict monotonicity of T,

$$\langle Tx, x - u \rangle \ge_{intC(x)} \langle T(u), x - u \rangle, \quad \forall u \in \mathcal{F}_0, u \ne x.$$

Suppose  $x \geq_{intD} u$ . Since T is positive,  $\langle T(u), x-u \rangle \geq_{C(u)} 0$  and

$$\langle T(x), x - u \rangle \ge_{intC(x)} \langle T(u), x - u \rangle \ge_{C(u)} 0.$$

By the assumption, we get  $P(u) \subset C(x)$  and so

$$\langle T(x), x - u \rangle$$
  
 $\in \langle T(u), x - u \rangle + intC(x) \subset C(u) + intC(x)$   
 $\subset C(x) + intC(x) = intC(x).$ 

It follows that

$$\langle T(x), x - u \rangle \ge_{intC(x)} 0$$

and thus

$$0 \not\leq_{intC(x)} \langle T(x), x \rangle \geq_{C(x)} \langle T(x), u \rangle + k$$

for some  $k \in intC(x)$ . This implies

$$\langle T(x), u \rangle + k \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0.$$

Since  $k \in intC(x)$  and  $x \in \mathcal{F}_0$ ,

$$\langle T(x), u \rangle + k \in C(x) + intC(x) \subset intC(x)$$

and so

$$\langle T(x), u \rangle + k \ge_{intC(x)} 0,$$

which is a contradiction. Therefore,  $x \geq_{intD} u$  does not hold, that is  $x \not\geq_{intD} u$ . It follows that  $x \not\geq_{intD} \mathcal{F}_0$  and x solves (WMEP)<sub>0</sub>. This completes the proof.

**Proposition 3.142.** If x solves (PVCP), then x also solves (WVVI).

*Proof.* Suppose x solves (PVCP). Then  $x \in D$  and

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \not\geq_{intC(x)} 0, \quad (Tx, y) \geq_{C(x)} 0, \quad y \in D.$$

If  $\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \leq_{intC(x)} 0$ , then

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle = -\langle T(x), y - x \rangle + \langle T(x), y \rangle \in intC(x) + C(x) \subset intC(x)$$

and so

182

$$\langle T(x), x \rangle \geq_{intC(x)} 0,$$

which is a contradiction. It follows that

$$\langle T(x), y - x \rangle \not \leq_{intC(x)} 0$$

and x solves (WVVI). This completes the proof.

Similarly, we can get other equivalence conditions. We have the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.143.** Let (X, D) be an ordered Banach space with  $int D \neq \emptyset$ , Y be a Banach space, and  $\{C(x) : x \in X\}$  be a family of closed, pointed, and convex cones in Y such that  $int C(x) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x \in X$ . Suppose that C satisfies the inclusive condition and

- (1) T = Df is the Frechet derivative of the convex operator  $f: X \to Y$ ;
- (2) l is a weakly positive linear operator with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x);
- (3) T is strictly monotone with respect to the variable ordering relation C(x).

If (PVCP) is solvable, then  $(VOP)_{l0}$ ,  $(WMEP)_0$ , (PVCP), (WVVI), and (VUOP) have at least a common solution.

## Vector Variational Principles

Ekeland's variational principle is an important tool for nonlinear analysis and optimization theory. It can be applied to derive the famous Caristi-Kirk's fixed point theorem and fixed point theorem for directional contractions, and to improve the so-called Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz "Mountain Pass" theorem. It was employed to improve and generalize Morse's critical theory. It has important applications in the geometry theory of Banach spaces and in the study of nonlinear operators in Banach spaces. It has many applications in control theory. It is used to study the existence of optimal solutions, optimality conditions for mathematical programming problems, stability and well-posedness of optimization problems, approximate optimal solutions and approximate duality theory and approximate saddle point theory, development of approximate algorithms for mathematical programming. It also has important applications in convex analysis. Along with the development of vector optimization and set-valued optimization, many authors have tried to improve it, generalize it and find as many applications as possible.

In the first part of this chapter, we obtain variants of variational principles for vector-valued functions and develop variational principles for set-valued functions. We derive vector versions of "Drop theorem", "Petal theorem" and "Caristi-Kirk fixed point theorem". We establish equivalences among these theorems and vector variational principles.

The study of well-posedness of an optimization problem is to investigate the behavior of the variable when the corresponding objective function value is close to the optimal value. In scalar optimization, the notion of well-posedness originates from Tykhonov [196] in dealing with unconstrained optimization problems. Its extension to the constrained case was introduced by Levitin and Polyak [132]. Since then, various notions of well-posedness have been defined and extensively studied (see [145], [225], [226] and a recent monograph [59]). In vector-valued and set-valued optimization, there have also been quite a number of publications on the topic of well-posedness (see, e.g., [11, 144, 141, 54, 99, 100, 101] and the references therein). The last two sections of this chapter are based on the results from [99] and [100]. We shall

follow the embedding technique employed in [226] to introduce the notion of extended well-posedness for vector-valued and set-valued optimization problems. Corresponding to different understandings of "approximation" of the objective values to the optimal value set, we shall introduce different notions of well-posedness in vector-valued and set-valued optimization. We shall provide various characterizations and criteria for these types of extended well-posedness, generalizing most of Zolezzi's results in [226]. We shall derive new variants of vector variational principles and apply them to present sufficient conditions for these notions of extended well-posedness.

## 4.1 Variational Principles for Vector-Valued Functions

In this section, we present a unified variational principle for vector-valued functions. Generally speaking, this principle includes Nemeth's, Tammer's and Isac's variational principles for vector-valued functions as its special cases. And in some sense, it also includes Dentcheva and Helbig's variational principle for vector-valued functions as its special case. We establish a generalized variational principle for vector-valued functions without a normality assumption. The main tool we used in this section is Hausdorff maximality principle and scalarization method.

In 1972, Ekeland presented his original variational principle (see [62, 63]). We state it as the following Theorem 4.1.

**Theorem 4.1 (Ekeland's variational principle).** Let (X,d) be a complete metric space,  $\varphi: X \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  a proper lower semicontinuous (in short, l.s.c) function which is bounded below. Let there be given  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $\bar{x} \in X$  such that

$$\varphi(\bar{x}) \le \inf_{x \in X} \varphi(x) + \epsilon.$$

Then, for any  $\lambda > 0$ , there exists  $x_{\epsilon} \in X$  such that

- (i)  $\varphi(x_{\epsilon}) \leq \varphi(\bar{x});$
- (ii)  $d(x_{\epsilon}, \bar{x}) \leq \lambda$ ;
- (iii)  $\varphi(x_{\epsilon}) < \varphi(x) + \epsilon/\lambda d(x, x_{\epsilon}), \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x_{\epsilon}\}.$

Generally speaking, there are two ways to prove this theorem: one is to apply the Hausdorff maximality principle to the epigraph of f under the order induced by Phelps' cone, and the other is to utilize a dissipative dynamic system.

Ekeland's variational principle was extended to the vector case by many authors, for instance, Nameth [151], Tammer [185], Isac [111].

First of all, we recall some basic concepts and some previous results in this field.

We say that a set A is a partially ordered set if there is a partial order defined on A, and we denote " $\prec$ ".

Let A be an arbitrary set and " $\prec$ " be a partial order on A. We say that A is totally ordered by " $\prec$ " if, for any  $a, b \in A$ , either  $a \prec b$  or  $b \prec a$  holds.

The following theorem, known as the Hausdorff maximality principle, is equivalent to the so-called axiom of choice, and Zorn's lemma, which are fundamental theorems in abstract analysis (see, e.g., [4]).

**Theorem 4.2.** Let A be a set partially ordered by relation " $\prec$ ". Then there exists a maximal subset (with respect to the set inclusion relation), which is totally ordered by " $\prec$ ".

Let Y be a Hausdorff topological vector space ordered by a nontrivial convex cone C. We introduce the following definitions.

A subset A of Y is called full if 
$$A = (A + C) \cap (A - C)$$
.

We say that a cone C is normal if C is a pointed and convex cone and the zero point of Y has a neighborhood base consisting of full sets.

Let  $C_0 \subset C$  be a convex cone and  $\{x_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in I}$  be a net of  $C_0$ . The net  $\{x_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in I}$  is said to be  $C_0$  increasing if  $x_\alpha - x_\beta \in C_0$ , whenever  $\alpha \geq \beta$ .

A convex cone  $C_0 \subset C$  is called C bound regular (sequentially C bound regular) if each  $C_0$  increasing and C order bounded net (sequence) in  $C_0$  converges to an element of  $C_0$ .

 $C_0$  is said to be complete if any Cauchy net  $\{c_v\}_{v\in I}$  of  $C_0$  converges to some point  $c_0\in C_0$ .

Let X be a nonempty set, Y be a Hausdorff topological vector space, and  $C \subset Y$  be a nontrivial convex cone. A vector-valued function  $r: X \times X \to Y$  is called a C metric function if it satisfies the following conditions: for any  $x,y,z\in X$ ,

- (i) r(x,x) = 0;
- (ii)  $r(x,y) \leq_C 0$  implies x = y;
- (iii) r(x,y) = r(y,x);
- (iv)  $r(x,z) \leq_C r(x,y) + r(y,z)$ .

Let B(0) denote a neighborhood base of the zero element of Y. Let

$$X(U, a) = \{x \in X : r(a, x) \in U\}, \qquad U \in B(0), a \in X.$$

If  $\{X(U,a): U \in B(0), a \in X\}$  form a neighborhood base for a Hausdorff topology on X, then the resulting topology is called the Hausdorff topology induced by r. We denote by (X,r) the Hausdorff space with its topology induced by r. If (X,r) is complete, we say that (X,r) is a complete C metric space.

- Remark 4.3. (i) We have slightly modified the definition of C metric r in Nemeth [151]. If C is pointed, then our definition of C is the same as the one in Nemeth [151].
- (ii) Generally speaking, a C metric r function may not induce a Hausdorff topology on X unless some special assumption is made on C.

We assume that X is a topological vector space, Y is a topological vector space ordered by a nontrivial convex set C,  $c_0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $f: X \to Y$  is a vector-valued function.

Let U be a closed subset of X. We say that f is C lower semicontinuous (l.s.c.) on U if, for any  $y \in Y$ , the set  $\{x \in U : f(x) \in y - clC\}$  is closed.

We say that f is C order bounded below (some times, we call it C bounded below or C lower bounded) on U if  $f(x) \ge_C y_0$ ,  $\forall x \in U$  for some  $y_0 \in Y$ .

f is said to be  $(c_0, C)$  lower semicontinuous on U if, for any  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , the set  $\{x \in U : f(x) \in tc_0 - clC\}$  is closed.

f is called submonotone (with respect to C) if, from the conditions:

- (a)  $\lim_{\mu} x_{\mu} = x$ , where  $\{x_{\mu}\}_{{\mu} \in I}$  is a net in X,  $(I, \leq)$  is a totally ordered set;
- (b)  $f(x_v) \leq_C f(x_\mu)$ , whenever  $v \geq \mu$ ,

it follows that  $f(x) \leq_C f(x_v), \forall v \in I$ .

If C is a closed and convex cone, then it is not difficult to see that if f is l.s.c on X, then f is both  $(c_0, C)$  l.s.c. and submonotone (with respect to C).

Example 4.4. Let  $U = [-2, 2] \subset \mathbb{R}$  and  $C = \mathbb{R}^2_+$ . Let  $f = (f_1, f_2) : U \to \mathbb{R}^2$  be defined as follows:

$$f_1(x) = x,$$

$$f_2(x) = \begin{cases} x^2, & \text{if } x \in [-2, -1], \\ x+3, & \text{if } x \in (-1, 1), \\ 1/2, & \text{if } x = 1, \\ x^2, & \text{if } x \in (1, 2]. \end{cases}$$

Then f is ((3/2, 2), C) l.s.c. on U.

Now we state several forms of Ekeland's variational principle for vectorvalued functions and some of their corollaries obtained by Nemeth [151], Tammer [185] and Isac [111].

**Definition 4.5.** Let M be a subset of Y, and H be a subset of C. A point  $x \in M$  is called an H near to minimal point of M if

$$(x - H - C) \cap M = \varnothing.$$

First, we introduce Tammer's variational principle for vector-valued functions.

Let K be a nonempty closed subset of X and C be a convex subset of Y.

**Definition 4.6.** Let  $\epsilon > 0$ . A point  $x_{\epsilon} \in K$  is called an  $\epsilon$ -minimal solution of f on K if

$$f(x) - f(x_{\epsilon}) + \epsilon c^0 \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall x \in U.$$

**Definition 4.7.** Let  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . A point  $x_{\epsilon} \in K$  is called a weakly  $\epsilon$ -minimal solution of f on K if

$$f(x) - f(x_{\epsilon}) + \epsilon c^{0} \nleq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$$

The following assumption is made.

**Assumption 4.8.** C and D are proper subsets of Y and  $c_0$  is an element of  $Y \setminus \{0\}$ . The following conditions hold:

(a) C is an open convex subset of Y with  $0 \in clC \setminus C$  and

$$Y = \bigcup \{clC + \alpha c_0 | \alpha \in \mathbb{R}\}.$$

- (b)  $\alpha c_0 \in D \setminus \{0\}$  for each  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}_+$ , and  $0 \in clD \setminus D$ .
- (c)  $clC + (D \setminus \{0\}) \subset C$ .
- $(d) \partial C + \partial C \subset clC$ .

**Theorem 4.9 (Tammer [185]).** Let Y be a topological vector space and X be a real Banach space. Let Assumption 4.8 hold. Assume that  $f: X \to Y$  is  $(c_0, C)$  l.s.c. and C bounded below on U.

Given  $\epsilon > 0$ ,  $x_0$  is a weakly  $\epsilon$ -minimal solution of f on K. Then there exists an  $x_{\epsilon} \in K$  such that

- (i)  $f(x) f(x_{\epsilon}) + \epsilon c^0 \notin -D \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall x \in K;$
- (ii)  $||x_{\epsilon}-x_0|| \leq \sqrt{\epsilon};$
- (iii)  $f(x) f(x_{\epsilon}) + \sqrt{\epsilon}||x x_{\epsilon}||c^{0} \notin -D \setminus \{0\}, \quad \forall x \in K.$

The following corollary can be obtained by replacing both C and D in Theorem 4.9 by intC.

Corollary 4.10 (Tammer [185]). Assume that C is a convex cone with nonempty interior and  $c_0 \in intC$ . Assume that  $f: X \to Y$  is  $(c_0, C)$  l.s.c. and C bounded from below on K.

Given  $\epsilon > 0$ ,  $x_0$  is an  $\epsilon$ -minimal solution of f on K. Then there exists an  $x_{\epsilon} \in K$  such that

- (i)  $x_{\epsilon}$  is a weakly  $\epsilon$ -minimal solution of f on K;
- (ii)  $||x_{\epsilon}-x_0|| \leq \sqrt{\epsilon};$
- (iii)  $f(x) f(x_{\epsilon}) + \sqrt{\epsilon}||x x_{\epsilon}||c^{0} \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in K.$

Second, we present Isac's vector variational principle.

**Theorem 4.11 (Isac [111]).** Let (X,d) be a complete metric space, Y a locally convex Hausdorff space and  $C \subset Y$  a normal cone. Let  $c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$ , and  $\epsilon > 0$ . Assume that  $x^* \in X$  satisfies

- (i)  $f(x) f(x^*) + \epsilon c^0 \not\leq_C 0, \forall x \in X$ ;
- (ii)  $\forall x \in X, \alpha > 0$ , the set  $\{y \in Y : f(y) f(x) + \alpha d(x, y)c^0 \le_C 0\}$  is closed.

Then there exist  $\lambda_1 > 0$ , and  $x' \in X$  such that

- (iii)  $f(x') \leq_C f(x^*)$ ,
- (iv)  $d(x', x^*) \leq \lambda_1$ ,
- $f(\mathbf{v}) f(x) f(x') + \epsilon/\lambda_1 d(x', x) c^0 \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x'\}.$

Theorem 4.13 below is a variant of Theorem 6.1 of Nemeth [151]. To prove it, we need the following lemma.

Now, let X be a topological space and Y a locally convex Hausdorff space,  $C \subset Y$  a convex cone with nonempty interior intC.

**Lemma 4.12.** Let  $C_0 \subset C$  be C bound regular complete. Assume that there exists  $U \in B(0)$  such that  $H = C_0 \setminus U \neq \emptyset$  and that there exists  $x^* \in X$  such that  $(f(x^*) - C) \cap f(X)$  is C bounded below. Then, for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists an  $x'_{\epsilon} \in X$  such that

(i) 
$$f(x'_{\epsilon}) \leq_C f(x^*);$$

(ii) 
$$(f(x'_{\epsilon}) - \epsilon H - C) \cap f(X) = \emptyset$$
.

*Proof.* We prove it by contradiction. Suppose that  $\exists \epsilon > 0$  such that the conclusion of Lemma 4.12 does not hold. Then, for  $x_1 = x^*$ ,  $(f(x_1) - \epsilon H - C) \cap f(X) \neq \emptyset$ , i.e.,  $\exists x_2 \in X, h_1 \in H$  such that

$$f(x_2) - f(x_1) + \epsilon h_1 \le_C 0.$$

For  $x_2$ ,  $\exists x_3 \in X$ ,  $h_2 \in H$  such that

$$f(x_3) - f(x_2) + \epsilon h_2 \le_C 0.$$

Continuing the process, for  $x_k$ ,  $\exists x_{k+1} \in X$ ,  $h_k \in H$  such that

$$f(x_{k+1}) - f(x_k) + \epsilon h_k \le_C 0,$$

we have

$$f(x_{k+1}) - f(x_1) + \epsilon \sum_{i=1}^{k} h_i \le_C 0, \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Since  $(f(x^*) - C) \cap f(X)$  is C bounded below, it follows that  $\exists y_0 \in Y$  such that  $f(x_k) \geq_C y_0, \forall k \in N$ . So  $\{\sum_{i=1}^k h_i\}$  is  $C_0$  increasing, C bounded. Hence  $\{\sum_{i=1}^k h_i\}$  is convergent. Consequently,  $h_k \in U$  when k is large enough, which contradicts the assumption  $H = C_0 \setminus U$ .

**Theorem 4.13.** Let C be a nontrivial closed and convex cone,  $C_0 \subset C$  a convex cone which is C bound regular complete and  $C_0 \cap -C \subset -C_0$ . Let (X,r) be a complete  $C_0$  metric space. Let  $r(\cdot,a)$  be continuous with respect to the topology of X induced by r for any  $a \in X$ . Let f be submonotone (with respect to C and the topology of X induced by r). Assume that there exists an  $x^* \in X$  such that

(i)  $(f(x^*) - C) \cap f(X)$  has a C lower bound.

Then, for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists  $x_{\epsilon}$  such that

(ii) 
$$f(x^*) - f(x_{\epsilon}) - \epsilon r(x^*, x_{\epsilon}) \geq_C 0$$
,

(iii) 
$$f(x_{\epsilon}) - f(x) - \epsilon r(x_{\epsilon}, x) \not\geq_C 0$$
,  $\forall x \in X \setminus \{x_{\epsilon}\}.$ 

If there exists  $U \in B(0)$  such that  $H = C_0 \setminus U \neq \emptyset$ , then there exists  $x'_{\epsilon} \in X$  such that

$$(\mathbf{iv}) \ f(x'_{\epsilon}) \le_C f(x^*),$$

$$(\mathbf{v}) (f(x'_{\epsilon}) - \epsilon H - C) \cap f(X) = \varnothing.$$

For  $x'_{\epsilon}$  as above, there is an  $x''_{\epsilon} \in X$  such that

(vi) 
$$f(x_{\epsilon}'') - f(x) - \epsilon r(x_{\epsilon}'', x) \not\geq_C 0$$
,  $\forall x \in X \setminus \{x_{\epsilon}''\};$ 

(vii) 
$$r(x'_{\epsilon}, x''_{\epsilon}) \in U$$
.

*Proof.* Define a relation  $\prec$  on  $T = \{(x, f(x)) \in X \times Y : x \in X, f(x) \leq_C f(x^*) - \epsilon r(x^*, x)\}$  by putting  $(x, f(x)) \prec (y, f(y))$  iff

$$f(y) - f(x) - \epsilon r(x, y) \ge_C 0.$$

It is easy to see that  $\prec$  is a partial order on T. Applying the Hausdorff maximality principle, we have a subset  $Z_1$  of T, which is maximal with respect to the set inclusion relation, and also totally ordered with respect to  $\prec$ , with  $(x^*, f(x^*))$  as its upper bound (with respect to the order  $\prec$ ). We will show that  $Z_1$  contains its infimum with respect to  $\prec$ .

We introduce the relation  $\leq$  on  $X_0 = \{x \in X : (x, f(x)) \in Z_1\}$  by putting  $x \leq y$  iff  $(x, f(x)) \prec (y, f(y))$ . Then  $X_0$  is totally ordered with respect to  $\leq$ . Now let us demonstrate that the filter of its lower section (for the concept of the lower section of a totally ordered set and the concept of the filter of its lower section, the reader may refer to [122]) is Cauchy by contradiction.

Suppose that there exists a neighborhood U' of 0 such that, for each  $z \in X_0$ ,  $\exists x, y \in X_0$  with  $x \leq z, y \leq z$  such that

$$r(x,y) \notin U'$$
.

Suppose that  $x \leq y$ . Put  $v_1 = y, v_2 = x$ . Then  $r(v_2, v_1) \notin U'$  and

$$f(v_1) - f(v_2) - \epsilon r(v_2, v_1) \ge_C 0.$$

Starting with x instead of z, we can continue this procedure. As a result, we can obtain a decreasing sequence  $\{v_k\}$  in  $X_0$  such that

$$r(v_{2k}, v_{2k-1}) \notin U', \quad \forall k. \tag{4.1}$$

From the definition of  $\leq$  on  $X_0$ , we also have

$$f(v_k) - f(v_{k+1}) - \epsilon r(v_{k+1}, v_k) \ge_C 0, \quad \forall k.$$

So we have

$$f(v_1) - f(v_{k+1}) - \epsilon \sum_{i=1}^k r(v_{i+1}, v_i) \ge_C 0.$$

Since

$$f(v_k) \in (f(x^*) - C) \cap f(X), \quad \forall k,$$

by (i), the sequence  $\{f(v_k)\}$  has a C lower bound, say  $y_0$ , i.e.,

$$f(v_{k+1}) - y_0 \ge_C 0$$
,

this relation yields

$$f(v_1) - y_0 - \epsilon \sum_{i=1}^k r(v_{i+1}, v_i) \ge_C 0,$$

which shows that  $\sum_{i=1}^{k} r(v_{i+1}, v_i)$  are C order bounded. This simply contradicts (4.1).

The contradiction shows that the lower section of  $X_0$  forms a Cauchy filter, which converges by the completeness of X to  $x_{\epsilon} \in X$ .

Since f is submonotone with respect to C, we have

$$f(p) - f(x_{\epsilon}) \ge_C 0$$
, for every  $p \in X_0$ . (4.2)

Let p be an arbitrary point in  $X_0$ . For every  $p \leq q$ , we have

$$f(q) - f(p) - \epsilon r(p, q) \ge_C 0$$
,

which, together with (4.2), yields

$$f(q) - f(x_{\epsilon}) - \epsilon r(p, q) \ge_C 0.$$

Letting  $p \to x_{\epsilon}$  in this relation and taking into account the fact that C is closed and  $r(\cdot, q)$  is continuous, it follows that

$$f(q) - f(x_{\epsilon}) - \epsilon r(x_{\epsilon}, q) \ge_C 0,$$

that is,  $(x_{\epsilon}, f(x_{\epsilon})) \prec (q, f(q))$ , for each q with  $(q, f(q)) \in Z_1$ . Now that  $Z_1$  is maximal,  $(x_{\epsilon}, f(x_{\epsilon}))$  must be in  $Z_1$  and it is the infimum of  $Z_1$  with respect to  $\prec$ .

The last assertion implies also that there does not exist any v in  $X \setminus \{x_{\epsilon}\}$  such that

$$(v, f(v)) \prec (x_{\epsilon}, f(x_{\epsilon})).$$

Thus (ii) and (iii) have been proved.

If H is defined as in the theorem, then by Lemma 4.12, then we deduce the existence of  $x'_{\epsilon}$  such that (iv) and (v) hold. If we proceed as above taking  $x'_{\epsilon}$  in place of  $x^*$ , then we can get an  $x''_{\epsilon}$  so as to have (iii) and (ii) with  $x''_{\epsilon}$  instead of  $x'_{\epsilon}$ , that is, to have the relation

$$f(x_{\epsilon}^{"}) \leq_C f(x_{\epsilon}^{\prime}) - \epsilon r(x_{\epsilon}^{"}, x_{\epsilon}^{\prime}). \tag{4.3}$$

Suppose that (vi) does not hold. Then, we have  $r(x'_{\epsilon}, x''_{\epsilon}) \in C_0 \setminus U = H$ , that is,

$$f(x'_{\epsilon}) - \epsilon r(x'_{\epsilon}, x''_{\epsilon}) - C = f(x'_{\epsilon}) - \epsilon H - C,$$

this relation together with (4.3) contradicts (v).

Remark 4.14. (i) Theorem 4.13 is slightly different from Theorem 6.1 in Nemeth [151]. We do not require that C be pointed and normal.

(ii) If the relation  $\prec$  is defined on f(V) as that in Nemeth [151]:

$$\forall f(v_1), f(v_2) \in f(V), f(v_1) \prec f(v_2) \text{ iff } f(v_1) - f(v_2) + r(v_1, v_2) \leq_C 0.$$

This relation may not be well-defined. For example,  $V = [-1, 1] \subset \mathbb{R}, E = \mathbb{R}, C = C_0 = \mathbb{R}_+ = \{t \in \mathbb{R} : t \geq 0\}, r(v_1, v_2) = |v_1 - v_2|, \forall v_1, v_2 \in V, f(v) = v^2, \forall v \in V.$  Observe that  $f(-1) = f(1) = 1 \in f(V), f(1/2) = 1/4 \in f(V)$ . Thus,

$$f(1/2) - f(1) + |1/2 - 1| = 1/4 \le_C 0,$$
 (4.4)

hence  $1/4 \prec 1$  holds.

However,

$$f(1/2) - f(-1) + |1/2 - (-1)| = 3/4 \nleq_C 0,$$
 (4.5)

hence  $1/4 \prec 1$  does not hold. (4.4) and (4.5) lead us to confusion about the relation  $\prec$ .

Now we will take a unified approach to the above three vector variational principles: Nemeth's, Tammer's and Isac's vector variational principles, and we will explore the relationship between the unified principle and the three principles (or their variants).

**Theorem 4.15.** Let C be a convex cone,  $C_0 \subset C$  be a C bound regular complete convex cone and  $C_0 \cap -C \subset -C_0$ . Suppose that (X, r) is a complete  $C_0$  metric space. Assume that one of conditions (i) and (ii) holds

(i) f is submonotone (with respect to C) and C is closed and,  $\forall a \in X, r(\cdot, a)$  is continuous with respect to the topology of X induced by r,

(ii)  $\forall \alpha > 0, \forall x \in X, \{y \in X : f(y) + \alpha r(x, y) - f(x) \le_C 0\}$  is closed.

Furthermore, assume that there exists an  $x^* \in X$  such that

(iii)  $(f(x^*) - C) \cap f(X)$  is C lower bounded.

Then, for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists an  $x_{\epsilon} \in X$  such that

(iv)  $f(x^*) - f(x_{\epsilon}) - \epsilon r(x^*, x_{\epsilon}) \ge_C 0$ ; and

$$(\mathbf{v}) f(x_{\epsilon}) - f(x) - \epsilon r(x_{\epsilon}, x) \not\geq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x_{\epsilon}\}.$$

If there is a  $U \in B(0)$  such that  $H = C_0 \setminus U \neq \emptyset$ , then there exists  $x'_{\epsilon} \in X$  such that

(vi)  $f(x'_{\epsilon}) \leq_C f(x^*)$ ; and

192

(vii) 
$$(f(x'_{\epsilon}) - \epsilon H - C) \cap f(X) = \emptyset$$
.

For  $x'_{\epsilon}$  as above, there exists an  $x''_{\epsilon} \in X$  satisfying

(viii) 
$$f(x_{\epsilon}'') - f(x) - \epsilon r(x_{\epsilon}'', x) \not\geq_C 0$$
,  $\forall x \in X \setminus \{x_{\epsilon}''\}$ ; and (ix)  $r(x_{\epsilon}', x_{\epsilon}'') \in U$ .

Proof. By Theorem 4.13, if (i) holds, then Theorem 4.15 is true.

Now we assume that (ii) holds. We follow the proof of Theorem 4.13. We need only to show that  $(x_{\epsilon}, f(x_{\epsilon}))$  is an infimum of  $Z_1$  with respect to the relation " $\prec$ " defined in the proof of Theorem 4.13. Taking  $\alpha = \epsilon$  in (ii), we know that  $\forall x \in X_0, X(x) = \{y \in X : y \leq x\} = \{y \in X : f(y) - f(x) + \epsilon r(x, y) \leq_C 0\}$  is closed. So

$$f(x_{\epsilon}) - f(x) + \epsilon r(x_{\epsilon}, x) \le_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X_0.$$

That is,  $(x_{\epsilon}, f(x_{\epsilon})) \prec (x, f(x))$  in  $Z_1$ . Since  $Z_1$  is maximal,  $(x_{\epsilon}, f(x_{\epsilon}))$  must be in  $Z_1$ , so  $(x_{\epsilon}, f(x_{\epsilon}))$  is an infimum of  $Z_1$  with respect to  $\prec$ . The rest of the proof is the same as that of Theorem 4.13 with only some notation changes.

It is easy to see that Theorem 4.15 is stronger than Theorem 4.13, hence also stronger than Nemeth's vector variational principle (Theorem 6.1 in Nemeth [151]).

**Lemma 4.16.** Let (X,d) be a complete metric space, C be a convex cone and  $c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$  be such that there exists a  $\lambda \in C^*$  with  $\lambda(c^*) > 0$ . Let  $C_0 = \{\alpha c^0 : \alpha \geq 0\}, r(x,y) = d(x,y)c^0, \forall x,y \in X$ . Then

- (i)  $C_0$  is a C bound regular complete convex cone;
- (ii) (X,r) is a complete  $C_0$  metric space and  $\forall a \in X, r(\cdot, a)$  is continuous; and
- (iii)  $C_0 \cap -C \subset -C_0$ .

Proof. (i)  $C_0$  is complete. In fact, for any Cauchy net  $\{\alpha_v c^0\}$ , and any  $U \in B(0)$ ,  $\exists v_0$  such that  $\alpha_{v_1} c^0 - \alpha_{v_2} c^0 \in U$  whenever  $v_1, v_2 \geq v_0$ . Given  $\lambda \in C^*$  such that  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ ,  $|\alpha_{v_1} - \alpha_{v_2}| = \lambda(u)/\lambda(c^0)$  for some  $u \in U$ . As  $\lambda$  is continuous, it is easy to see  $\{\alpha_v\}$  is a Cauchy net, and  $\{\alpha_v\}$  converges to some  $\alpha_0 \geq 0$ . Hence,  $\{\alpha_v c^0\}$  converges to  $\alpha_0 c^0$ . Now we prove that  $C_0$  is C bound regular. Given a monotonically increasing net  $\{\alpha_v c^0\} \subset C_0$ , i.e.,  $\alpha_{v_1} \geq \alpha_{v_2}$ , whenever  $v_1 \geq v_2$ , and it is C bound, i.e.,  $\exists c^1 \in C$  such that  $\alpha_v c^0 \leq_C c^1$ ,  $\forall v$ , then, given  $\lambda \in C^*$  with  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ , we have  $\alpha_v \lambda(c^0) \leq \lambda(c^1)$ , which implies that  $\{\alpha_v\}$  is bounded. This combined with the monotonicity of  $\{\alpha_v\}$  yields that  $\{\alpha_v\}$  converges to  $\alpha_0$ . So  $\alpha_v c^0 \to \alpha_0 c^0 \in C_0$ . Moreover, it is obvious that  $C_0$  is a convex cone.

(ii) It is not hard to see that (X, r) is a  $C_0$  metric space and the topology induced by r is equivalent to that of (X, d). So (X, r) is  $C_0$  complete. It is easy to see that  $\forall a \in X, r(\cdot, a)$  is continuous since  $d(\cdot, a)$  is continuous.

(iii) If 
$$\alpha c^0 \in -C$$
, then  $\lambda(\alpha c^0) = \alpha \lambda(c^0) \leq 0$ , which implies  $\alpha \leq 0$ . Hence  $\alpha = 0$ , i.e.,  $\alpha c^0 = 0 \in -C_0$ .

**Corollary 4.17.** Let (X,d) be a complete metric space, C a convex cone,  $c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$  be such that  $\exists \lambda \in C^*$  with  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ . Let  $f: X \to Y$  be C order lower semicontinuous. Given  $\epsilon > 0$ ,  $x^* \in X$  satisfying

(iv) 
$$(f(x^*) - C) \cap f(X)$$
 is C lower bounded; and

(v) 
$$f(x) - f(x^*) + \epsilon c^0 \not\leq_C 0, \forall x \in X.$$

Then for any  $\lambda_1 > 0$ , there exists an  $x' \in X$  such that

- $(\mathbf{vi}) \ f(x') \le_C f(x^*);$
- (vii)  $d(x', x^*) \leq \lambda_1$ ; and
- (viii)  $f(x) f(x') + \epsilon/\lambda_1 d(x', x) c^0 \not\leq_C 0, \forall x \in X \setminus \{x'\}.$

*Proof.* Replacing r(x,y) with  $d(x,y)c^0/\lambda_1$ , choosing U such that  $c^0 \notin U$  and  $\lambda(u)/\lambda(c^0) \leq 1$  for any  $u \in U$ , letting  $H = C_0 \setminus U$  ( $C_0$  is as defined in Lemma 4.16) and applying Lemma 4.16 and Theorem 4.15, we can establish Corollary 4.17.

The following Corollary 4.18 improves Theorem 4.11.

**Corollary 4.18.** Let (X,d) be a complete metric space, C a convex cone,  $c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$  be such that there exists a  $\lambda \in C^*$  with  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ . Given  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists an  $x^* \in X$  satisfies

$$(\mathbf{i}') f(x) - f(x^*) + \epsilon c^0 \nleq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X;$$

and  $(f(x^*)-C)\cap f(X)$  is C lower bounded. Let (ii) in Theorem 4.11 hold (or f is submonotone with respect to C and C is closed). Then for any  $\lambda_1 > 0$ , there exists an  $x' \in X$  such that (iii),(iv) and (v) in Theorem 4.11 hold.

Since the proof of Corollary 4.18 is the same as that of the Corollary 4.17, we omit it.

To illustrate the relationship between Corollary 4.17 and Theorem 4.11, Corollary 4.18 and Theorem 4.13, we prove the following two lemmas.

**Lemma 4.19.** If C is a closed and convex cone, then the following two statements are equivalent:

(ix) 
$$c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$$
,  $\exists \lambda \in C^*$  such that  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ ; (x)  $c^0 \in C \setminus (-C)$ .

*Proof.* Assume that (ix) hold. Then, by  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ , we know by contradiction that  $c^0 \in C \setminus -C$ , i.e., (x) holds true.

Now we assume that (x) holds. We prove, by contradiction, that (ix) holds. Suppose that  $\forall \lambda \in C^*, \lambda(c^0) = 0$ . Then  $c^0 \in (C^*)^* = C$ . In addition,  $\lambda(-c^0) = 0$ ,  $\forall \lambda \in C^*$ , which implies that  $-c^0 \in (C^*)^* = C$ , i.e.,  $c^0 \in -C$ . Hence  $c^0 \in C \cap (-C)$ , contradicting (x).

**Lemma 4.20.** The following statements are true.

- (xi) If C is a nontrivial, pointed, closed and convex cone, then  $\forall c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $\exists \lambda \in C^*$  such that  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ ;
- (xii) If C is a normal cone, then  $\forall c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $\exists \lambda \in C^*$  such that  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ ; and
- (xiii) If C is a nontrivial convex cone with nonempty interior intC, then  $\forall c^0 \in intC$ ,  $\forall \lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}, \lambda(c^0) > 0$ .

*Proof.* (xi) When C is a nontrivial pointed, closed and convex cone, by Lemma 4.19, we know (xi) holds;

(xii) When C is a normal cone,  $Y^* = C^* - C^*$ . We show that by contradiction that (xii) holds. Otherwise, suppose  $\exists c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\forall \lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\} = 0$ . Then  $\forall \mu \in Y^*$ ,  $\mu(c^0) = 0$ , hence  $c^0 = 0$ , which contradicts  $c^0 \neq 0$ . Hence (xii) holds.

(xiii)  $c^0 \in intC \neq \emptyset$ . We prove that  $\forall \lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ . Otherwise, if  $\lambda_0 \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\lambda_0(c^0) = 0$ . Let  $z_0 \in Y$  with

$$\lambda_0(z_0) > 0. \tag{4.6}$$

As  $c^0 \in intC$ ,  $c^0 - \delta z_0 \in C$  when  $\delta > 0$  is small enough. Hence  $\lambda_0(c_0 - \delta z_0) \ge 0 \Longrightarrow \lambda_0(z_0) \le 0$ , contradicting (4.6). So (xiii) holds.

Remark 4.21. By Lemma 4.19 and Lemma 4.20, the assumptions on the dominating cone C in Corollary 4.17 and Corollary 4.18 are much weaker than those in Theorem 4.11 and Theorem 4.13.

- Remark 4.22. (i) If f is C lower bounded, then (v) in Corollary 4.17 holds automatically;
- (ii) So long as we slightly strengthen the conditions of Tammer's vector variational principle (Corollary 4.10): let f be C order lower semicontinuous. We can have a stronger version of Tammer's vector variational principle (see Corollary 4.10) by setting  $\lambda_1 = \sqrt{\epsilon}, c^0 \in intC$ .

Remark 4.23. It is obvious that (i) in Theorem 4.11 implies (i') in Corollary 4.18. Hence, if (ii) in Theorem 4.11 holds, then Corollary 4.18 is an improvement of Isac's vector variational principle.

Now we show other generalizations of Isac's vector variational principle (see Isac [111]).

Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, and let (Y, C) be an ordered Hausdorff topological vector space in which the ordering is induced by a closed and convex cone C with nonempty interior.

**Definition 4.24.** We say that a vector-valued function  $\Phi: X \times X \to Y$  is a half distance if the following properties are satisfied:

- 1.  $\Phi(x,x) = 0, \quad \forall x \in X;$
- $2. \Phi(x,y) \leq_C \Phi(x,z) + \Phi(z,y), \quad \forall x,y,z \in X.$

The family of half distance is not empty (see Isac [111]). For example, every distance measure is a half distance and for every  $g: X \to Y$ , the function defined by

$$\Phi(x, y) = g(y) - g(x), \quad \forall x, y \in X$$

is a half distance. Moreover, if L is an arbitrary vector space and  $T: L \to Y$  is a subadditive function such that T(0) = 0, then, for every  $h: X \to L$ , the function defined by

$$\Phi(x,y) = T(h(y) - h(x)), \quad \forall x, y \in X,$$

is a half distance. Thus, the family of half distance is a rich one.

**Definition 4.25.** Let  $\Gamma: X \rightrightarrows X$  be a dynamic system.  $x^* \in X$  is said to be a critical point of  $\Gamma$  if  $\{x^*\} = \Gamma(x^*)$ .

The following theorem about the existence of a critical point will be used.

**Theorem 4.26 (Dancs-Hegedus-Medvegyev [50]).** Let (X, d) be a complete metric space and  $\Gamma: X \rightrightarrows X$  be a dynamic system. If the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i)  $\Gamma(x)$  is a closed set,  $\forall x \in X$ ;
- (ii)  $x \in \Gamma(x), \forall x \in X;$
- $(\mathbf{iii}) \ x_2 \in \Gamma(x_1) \Longrightarrow \Gamma(x_2) \subset \Gamma(x_1), \forall x_1, x_2 \in X;$
- (iv) for every sequence  $\{x_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\subset X$  satisfying  $x_{k+1}\in\Gamma(x_k)$ , we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} d(x_k, x_{k+1}) = 0.$$

Then,  $\Gamma$  has a critical point  $x^* \in X$ . Moreover, for any  $\hat{x} \in X$ , there is a critical point of  $\Gamma$  in  $\Gamma(\hat{x})$ .

Let us recall the nonlinear scalarization function  $\xi_{ca}$  discussed in Chapter 1: For  $c \in intC$ ,  $a \in Y$ , the nonlinear function is defined by

$$\xi_{ca}(y) = \min\{t \in \mathbb{R} : y \in a + tc - C\}, \quad \forall y \in Y.$$

We know that  $\xi_{ca}$  is convex, continuous, increasing and strictly increasing.

Now we set a=0, denote  $\xi_{c0}$  by  $\xi_{c}$  for simplicity. In this case,  $\xi_{c}$  is subadditive, convex, continuous, increasing and strictly increasing.

Next theorem is a generalization of the Ekeland's variational principle for a vector-valued function and an improvement of Isac's vector variational principle (see Theorem 4.11).

**Theorem 4.27.** Let (X,d) be a metric space and  $\Phi: X \times X \to Y$  be a half distance. If, for any element  $c^0 \in intC$ , the following assumptions are satisfied:

(i) for any  $x \in X$ , the set  $\{y \in X : \Phi(x,y) + c^0 d(x,y) \leq_C 0\}$  is closed; and

(ii) there exist  $v_0 \in X$  and  $w_0 \in Y$  such that  $\Phi(v_0, x) \geq_C w_0, \forall x \in X$ ,

then there exists an  $x^* \in X$  such that

$$\Phi(x^*, x) + c^0 d(x^*, x) \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

Proof. Consider the dynamic system

$$\Gamma(x) = \{ y \in X : \Phi(x, y) + c^0 d(x, y) \le_C 0 \}, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

The claim is proved if we show that  $\Gamma$  has a critical point in X. To this aim, it is sufficient to verify the assumptions of Dancs-Hegdus-Medvegyev Theorem (Theorem 4.26).

From assumption (i), we have that  $\Gamma(x)$  is closed  $\forall x \in X$ , that is, (i) of Theorem 4.26 is satisfied. Using the properties of d and  $\Phi$ , we have that  $x \in \Gamma(x)$ ,  $\forall x \in X$  which means that (ii) of Theorem 4.26 is also satisfied. To verify (iii) of Theorem 4.26, we consider two elements  $x_1, x_2 \in X$  such that  $x_2 \in \Gamma(x_1)$ . We need to show that  $\Gamma(x_2) \subset \Gamma(x_1)$ . It follows from  $x_2 \in \Gamma(x_1)$  that

(i<sub>1</sub>)  $\Phi(x_1, x_2) + c^0 d(x_1, x_2) \leq_C 0.$ 

Let  $z \in \Gamma(x_2)$ . Then

 $(\mathbf{i_2}) \ \Phi(x_2, z) + c^0 d(x_2, z) \le_C 0.$ 

We will have  $z \in \Gamma(x_1)$  if we show that

$$\Phi(x_1, z) + c^0 d(x_1, z) \le_C 0.$$

From  $(i_1)$ , there is an element  $c_1 \in C$ , such that

$$\Phi(x_1, x_2) + c^0 d(x_1, x_2) = -c_1,$$

and from  $(i_2)$ , there is an element  $c_2 \in C$ , such that

$$\Phi(x_2, z) + c^0 d(x_2, z) = -c_2.$$

Since  $\Phi$  is a half distance, there is an element  $c_3 \in C$ , such that

$$\Phi(x_1, z) = \Phi(x_1, x_2) + \Phi(x_2, z) - c_3.$$

Moreover, it is obvious that there exists an element  $c_4 \in C$  such that

$$c^{0}d(x_{1}, z) = c^{0}d(x_{1}, x_{2}) + c^{0}d(x_{2}, z) - c_{4}.$$

Thus, we have

$$\Phi(x_1, z) + c^0 d(x_1, z) 
= \Phi(x_1, x_2) + \Phi(x_2, z) - c_3 + c^0 d(x_1, z) 
= \Phi(x_1, x_2) + \Phi(x_2, z) - c_3 + c^0 d(x_1, x_2) + c^0 d(x_2, z) - c_4 
= -c_1 - c_2 - c_3 - c_4 \le_C 0,$$

which shows that  $\Gamma(x_2) \subset \Gamma(x_1)$ . Then (iii) of Theorem 4.26 is satisfied. To verify (iv) of Theorem 4.26, we consider a sequence  $\{x_k\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\subset X$ , such that  $x_{k+1}\in\Gamma(x_k)$ ,  $\forall k\in\mathbb{N}$  with an arbitrary  $x_1$  in X. We have

$$\Phi(x_k, x_{k+1}) + c^0 d(x_k, x_{k+1}) \le_C 0, \quad \forall k.$$

Thus, we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} (\Phi(x_i, x_{i+1}) + c^{0} d(x_i, x_{i+1}))) \leq_{C} 0, \quad \forall k$$

Since  $\xi_{c^0}$  is increasing, we get

$$\xi_{c^0}(\Phi(x_k, x_{k+1})) + c^0 d(x_k, x_{k+1})) \le 0, \quad \forall k.$$

As  $\Phi$  is a half distance and  $\xi_{c^0}$  is increasing, we deduce that

$$\xi_{c^0}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\kappa} (\Phi(x_i, x_{i+1}) + c^0 d(x_i, x_{i+1}))\right) \le 0, \quad \forall k.$$

Thus,

$$\xi_{c^0}(\Phi(x_1, x_{k+1})) + \sum_{i=1}^k d(x_i, x_{i+1}) \le 0, \quad \forall k.$$

That is,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} d(x_i, x_{i+1}) \le -\xi_{c^0}(\Phi(x_1, x_{k+1})), \quad \forall k.$$
 (4.7)

Since  $\Phi(v_0, x_{k+1}) \leq_C \Phi(v_0, x_1) + \Phi(x_1, x_{k+1})$ , we have

$$-\Phi(x_1, x_{k+1}) \le_C \Phi(v_0, x_1) - \Phi(v_0, x_{k+1}), \quad \forall k. \tag{4.8}$$

By (4.7) and (4.8), we obtain

$$\sum_{i=1}^k d(x_i, x_{i+1}) \le \xi_{c^0}(\Phi(v_0, x_1) - \Phi(v_0, x_{k+1})), \quad \forall k.$$

By assumption (ii), we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^k d(x_i, x_{i+1}) \le \xi_{c^0}(\varPhi(v_0, x_1) - w_0), \quad \forall k.$$

We denote  $s_k = \sum_{i=1}^k d(x_i, x_{i+1})$ . Since the sequence  $\{s_k\}_{k \in N}$  is monotonically increasing and bounded above, it is a convergent sequence. Thus  $\sum_{i=1}^\infty d(x_i, x_{i+1})$  is a convergent series. Hence the sequence  $\{d(x_k, x_{k+1})\}_{k \in N}$  converges to 0. Thus we have shown that assumption (iv) of Theorem 4.26 is satisfied. By Theorem 4.26,  $\Gamma$  has a critical point in X, and the proof is complete.

**Corollary 4.28.** If all the assumptions in Theorem 4.27 are satisfied, then  $\exists x^* \in \Gamma(v_0)$ , such that

$$\Phi(x^*, x) + c^0 d(x^*, x) \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\},$$

where  $\Gamma(x) = \{y \in X : \Phi(x,y) + c^0 d(x,y) \leq_C 0\}$  and the element  $v_0$  is the same as the one in Theorem 4.27.

*Proof.* By the second conclusion of Theorem 4.26, there exists a critical point of  $\Gamma$  in  $\Gamma(v_0)$ . Thus, the conclusion follows from Theorem 4.27.

Next we will present an alternative version of vector variational principle which has a close relation to the  $\epsilon$ -minimal solution of vector optimization problems.

**Definition 4.29.** Let  $A \subset Y$  and  $\epsilon > 0$ . An element  $y_{\epsilon} \in A$  is said to be an  $\epsilon$ -minimal point of A with respect to  $c^0 \in intC$  if there exists no element y of A such that

$$y_{\epsilon} \in y + C_{\epsilon c^0},\tag{4.9}$$

where  $C_{\epsilon c^0} = \epsilon c^0 + C \setminus \{0\}$ .

We will denote the set of all  $\epsilon$ -minimal points of A with respect to  $c^0$  by  $\operatorname{Min}_{\epsilon c^0}(A)$ .

**Lemma 4.30.** If  $y_{\epsilon} \in Min_{\epsilon c^0}(A)$ , then

$$\xi_{c^0}(y - y_{\epsilon}) \ge -\xi_{c^0}(\epsilon c^0) = -\epsilon, \quad \forall y \in A.$$

*Proof.* Observe that  $y_{\epsilon} \in M_{\epsilon c^0}(A)$  is equivalent to

$$A \cap \{y_{\epsilon} - \epsilon c^0 - C \setminus \{0\}\} = \varnothing,$$

i.e.,

$$(A - y_{\epsilon}) \cap \{ -\epsilon c^0 - C \setminus \{0\} \} = \varnothing.$$

By the properties of  $\xi_{c^0}$ , we have

$$\xi_{c^0}(y - y_{\epsilon}) > -\epsilon, \quad \forall y \in A, y \neq y_{\epsilon} - \epsilon c^0.$$

Thus

$$\xi_{c^0}(y - y_{\epsilon}) > -\xi_{c^0}(\epsilon c^0), \quad \forall y \in A, y \neq y_{\epsilon} - \epsilon c^0.$$

Then

$$\xi_{c^0}(y-y_{\epsilon}) \ge -\xi_{c^0}(\epsilon c^0), \quad \forall y \in A.$$

**Lemma 4.31.** Let (X, d) be a metric space, let  $f: X \to Y$  be a vector-valued function. Given  $\epsilon > 0$ , let  $x_{\epsilon} \in X$  and

$$\xi_{c^0}(f(x_{\epsilon})) < \xi_{c^0}(f(x)) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x_{\epsilon}, x), \quad \forall x \in X, x \neq x_{\epsilon}. \tag{4.10}$$

Then  $f(x_{\epsilon}) \in Min_C(f_{\epsilon c^0}(X))$ , where  $f_{\epsilon c^0}(x) = f(x) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x_{\epsilon}, x)c^0, \forall x \in X$ .

Proof. It follows from (4.10) that

$$\begin{split} &\xi_{c^0}(f(x) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x_{\epsilon}, x)c^0 - f(x_{\epsilon})) \\ &= \xi_{c^0}(f(x) - f(x_{\epsilon})) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x_{\epsilon}, x) \\ &\ge \xi_{c^0}(f(x)) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x_{\epsilon}, x) - \xi_{c^0}(f(x_{\epsilon})) \\ &> 0. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$f(x) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x_{\epsilon}, x)c^{0} - f(x_{\epsilon}) \not\leq_{C} 0, \quad \forall x \neq x_{\epsilon}.$$

So 
$$f(x_{\epsilon}) \in \operatorname{Min}_{C}(f_{\epsilon c^{0}}(X))$$
.

**Theorem 4.32.** Let (X,d) be a complete metric space, and let (Y,C) be an ordered Hausdorff topological vector space with  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a vector-valued function and C bounded below. Assume that, for a given  $\epsilon > 0$  and for every  $x \in X$ , the set

$${y \in X : f(y) - f(x) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x, y)c^0 \le_C 0},$$

is closed.

Then, for every point  $x^0 \in X$  satisfying  $f(x^0) \in Min_{\epsilon c^0}(f(X))$ , there exists a point  $x_{\epsilon} \in X$  such that

1. 
$$f(x_{\epsilon}) \leq_C f(x^0)$$
;

2. 
$$d(x^0, x) \leq \sqrt{\epsilon}$$
;

3. 
$$f_{\epsilon c^0}(x_{\epsilon}) \in Min_C(f_{\epsilon c^0}(X)),$$

where  $f_{\epsilon c^0}(x) = f(x) + \sqrt{\epsilon} d(x_{\epsilon}, x) c^0, \forall x \in X.$ 

*Proof.* Since  $f(x^0) \in \operatorname{Min}_{\epsilon c^0}(f(X))$ , by Lemma 4.30,  $\forall x \in X$ ,

$$\xi_{c^0}(f(x) - f(x^0) \ge -\xi_{c^0}(\epsilon c^0) = -\epsilon.$$

Let

$$\Phi(x,y) = \xi_{c^0}(f(y) - f(x)), \quad x, y \in X.$$

Thus, assumption (ii) of Theorem 4.27 is satisfied since  $\xi_{c^0}$  is subadditive,  $\Phi(x,y)$  is a half distance and  $\Phi: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}$  is a real-valued function. Observe that

$$f(y) - f(x) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x, y)c^0 \le_C 0,$$

is equivalent to

$$f(y) - f(x) \le_C -\sqrt{\epsilon} d(x, y) c^0. \tag{4.11}$$

By the properties of  $\xi_{c^0}$ , we have that (4.11) holds if and only if

$$\xi_{c^0}(f(y) - f(x)) \le -\sqrt{\epsilon}d(x, y),$$

if and only if

$$\Phi(x,y) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x,y) \le 0.$$

By the closedness of the set  $\{y \in Y : f(y) - f(x) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x,y)c^0 \le_C 0\}$ , the set  $\{y : \varPhi(x,y) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x,y) \le 0\}$  is closed. Hence the assumption (i) of Theorem 4.27 is satisfied. Then it follows from Corollary 4.28 that there exists  $x_{\epsilon} \in \Gamma(x^0) = \{y \in X : \varPhi(x^0,y) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x^0,y) \le 0\}$ , such that

$$\Phi(x_{\epsilon}, x) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x_{\epsilon}, x) > 0, \quad \forall x \in X, x \neq x_{\epsilon}.$$
(4.12)

Since  $x_{\epsilon} \in \Gamma(x^0)$ ,

$$\xi_{c^0}(f(x_{\epsilon}) - f(x^0)) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x^0, x_{\epsilon}) \le 0.$$

It follows that

$$\xi_{c^0}(f(x_{\epsilon}) - f(x^0)) \le 0.$$

Therefore,

$$f(x_{\epsilon}) \leq_C f(x^0).$$

Moreover, by Lemma 4.30,

$$\xi_{c^0}(f(x_{\epsilon}) - f(x^0)) \ge -\epsilon.$$

Thus,  $\sqrt{\epsilon}d(x^0, x_{\epsilon}) \leq \epsilon$ , i.e.,  $d(x^0, x_{\epsilon}) \leq \sqrt{\epsilon}$ . Finally, by (4.12), we obtain that, for any  $x \in X$  and  $x \neq x_{\epsilon}$ ,

$$\xi_{c^0}(f(x) - f(x_{\epsilon})) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x_{\epsilon}, x^0) > 0,$$

implying

$$(f(x) + \sqrt{\epsilon}d(x_{\epsilon}, x)c^{0}) \cap (f(x_{\epsilon}) - C\setminus\{0\}) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in X, x \neq x_{\epsilon}.$$

Hence, 
$$f(x_{\epsilon}) \in \operatorname{Min}_{C}(f_{\epsilon c^{0}}(X)).$$

## 4.2 Variational Principles for Set-Valued Functions

In this section, we introduce the concept of approximate optimal solutions for set-valued functions and provide a sufficient condition for the existence of approximate optimal solutions for set-valued functions. We present a variational principle for set-valued functions.

Let X be a nonempty set, Y a locally convex Hausdorff space,  $C \subset Y$  a nonempty, nontrivial, pointed, closed and convex cone with nonempty interior intC. Let  $e \in intC$ .

A set-valued function  $F:X\rightrightarrows Y$  is said to be proper if  $dom(F)=\{x\in$  $X: F(x) \neq \emptyset \} \neq \emptyset.$ 

**Definition 4.33.** Let  $F: X \Rightarrow Y$  be a set-valued function, and  $\epsilon > 0$ . A point  $x^* \in X$  is said to be an  $\epsilon$ -minimal solution of F on X, if there exists a  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that

(i) 
$$(F(x^*) - y^*) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \varnothing;$$

(ii) 
$$(F(x) - y^* + \epsilon e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset$$
, for all  $x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}$ .

A set-valued function  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is said to be C order bounded below on  $X \text{ if } \exists y \in Y \text{ such that }$ 

$$F(x) - y \subset C$$
, for all  $x \in X$ .

If  $dom(F) = \emptyset$ , then F is always regarded as being bounded below.

**Theorem 4.34.** If  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is proper, compact-valued and C order bounded below, then, for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exist an  $x^* \in X$  and a  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that

(i) 
$$(F(x^*) - y^*) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \varnothing;$$

$$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{(i)} \ (F(x^*) - y^*) \cap (-C \backslash \{0\}) = \varnothing; \\ \textbf{(ii)} \ (F(x) - y^* + \epsilon e) \cap (-C \backslash \{0\}) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in X \backslash \{x^*\}. \end{array}$$

*Proof.* We prove the conclusion by contradiction.

Suppose that there exists a real number  $\epsilon_0 > 0$  such that the conclusion of this theorem does not hold. Arbitrarily take an  $x_1 \in dom(F)$  and a  $y_1 \in F(x_1)$ . Since  $F(x_1)$  is compact, by the domination property of the compact set  $F(x_1)$ , there exists a  $y'_1 \in \operatorname{Min}_C(F(x_1))$  such that  $y'_1 - y \in -C$ . At this time, (ii) cannot hold with  $y^*$  replaced by  $y_1'$ . So, there exist  $x_2 \in X$  and  $y_2 \in F(x_2)$ such that

$$y_2 - y_1' + \epsilon_0 e \le_C 0. (4.13)$$

Since  $F(x_2)$  is compact, we deduce that there exists a  $y_2'$  such that  $y_2' \leq_C y_2$ and  $y_2' \in Min_C(F(x_2))$ . This combined with (4.13) yields

$$y_2' - y_1' + \epsilon_0 e \le_C 0.$$

Once again, for  $y_2'$ , (ii) does not hold. We deduce  $\exists x_3 \in X$  and  $y_3' \in$  $\operatorname{Min}_{C}(F(x_{3}))$  such that

$$y_3' - y_2' + \epsilon_0 e \le_C 0.$$

. . . . .

Hence,

$$\sum_{i=2}^{k} (y_i' - y_{i-1}' + \epsilon_0 e) = y_k' - y_1' + (k-1)\epsilon_0 e \le_C 0, \quad \forall k \ge 2.$$

This implies

$$(y'_k - y'_1)/(k-1) + \epsilon_0 e \le_C 0, \quad k \ge 2.$$

Since F is C order bounded below,  $\exists y \in Y$  such that  $y'_k - y \geq_C 0$ , for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . So we have

$$(y - y_1')/(k - 1) + \epsilon_0 e \leq_C 0$$
, for all  $k \geq 2$ .

Letting  $k \to \infty$ , we have  $\epsilon_0 e \leq_C 0$ , which is impossible.

From Theorem 4.34 and Definition 4.33, we obtain an existence result of an  $\epsilon$ -minimal solution of F on X.

**Theorem 4.35.** If  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is proper, compact-valued and C order bounded below, then for any real number  $\epsilon > 0$ , the set of  $\epsilon$ -minimal solutions of F on X is nonempty.

**Theorem 4.36.** Let (X,d) be a complete metric space, and Y a locally convex Hausdorff space, C a nontrivial, pointed, closed and convex cone with nonempty interior intC and  $e \in intC$ . Let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function satisfying

- (i) F is proper and compact-valued on X;
- (ii) F is u.s.c. on X and bounded below on X.

Given a real number  $\epsilon > 0$ , two points  $x_1 \in dom(F)$  and  $y_1 \in F(x_1)$  such that

- (iii)  $(F(x_1) y_1) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \varnothing;$
- (iv)  $(F(x) y_1 + \epsilon e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset$ , for all  $x \in X \setminus \{x_1\}$ .

Then, for any real number  $\lambda > 0$ , there exist  $x_2 \in dom(F)$  and  $y_2 \in F(x_2)$  such that

- (**v**)  $y_2 \leq_C y_1$ ;
- (vi)  $d(x_1, x_2) \leq \lambda$ ;
- (vii)  $(F(x_2) y_2) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \varnothing;$
- (viii)  $(F(x) y_2 + \epsilon e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset$ , for all  $x \in X \setminus \{x_2\}$ .
  - (ix)  $(F(x) y_2 + \epsilon/\lambda d(x, x_2)e) \cap (-C) = \emptyset$ , for all  $x \in X \setminus \{x_2\}$ .

*Proof.* We consider a set-valued function  $F_1: X \rightrightarrows Y$ :

$$F_1(x) = \{ y \in F(x) : y \leq_C y_1 \} = F(x) \cap (y_1 - C).$$

By the assumptions of this theorem, we know that  $F_1$  is also proper (since  $y_1 \in F_1(x_1) \neq \emptyset$ ), compact-valued and C order bounded below.

Now we define a real function as

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} \min\{\xi_e(y - y_1) : y \in F_1(x)\}, & x \in dom(F); \\ +\infty, & x \notin dom(F). \end{cases}$$

We will show that  $f: X \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{+\infty\}$  is proper, lower semicontinuous and bounded below. In fact, if  $F_1(x) = \emptyset$ , then  $f(x) = +\infty$ ; if  $F_1(x) \neq \emptyset$ ,  $-\infty < f(x) < +\infty$  by (i). By (iii),  $f(x_1) \geq 0$ . On the other hand,  $f(x_1) \leq \xi_e(y_1 - y_1) = 0$ . So  $f(x_1) = 0$ , which implies that f is proper. Since  $F_1$  is C order bounded below on X, we have that f is bounded below on X. In order to show that f is l.s.c. on  $f(x_1) = 0$ , we need only to show that, for all  $f(x_1) = 0$ , and  $f(x_1) \leq 0$ , there exists  $f(x_1) \leq 0$ , which implies  $f(x_1) \leq 0$ , such that

$$\xi_e(\bar{y}_k - y_1) \le t \tag{4.14}$$

and

$$\bar{y}_k - y_1 \le_C 0. (4.15)$$

Since F is u.s.c. at  $x^*$ , there exists a  $z_k \in F(x^*)$  such that

$$z_k - \bar{y}_k \to 0. \tag{4.16}$$

By the compactness of  $F(x^*)$ , there exists a subsequence  $\{z_{k_i}\}$  of  $\{z_k\}$  and  $z^* \in F(x^*)$  such that  $z_{k_i} \to z^*$ . This combined with (4.15) and (4.16) yields  $\bar{y}_{k_i} \to z^*$  and  $z^* - y_1 \in -C$ . Hence  $z^* \in F_1(x^*) \cap (y_1 - C) = F_1(x^*)$ . By (4.14),  $\xi_e(\bar{y}_{k_i} - y_1) \leq t$ . Letting  $k \to +\infty$ , we have  $\xi_e(z^* - y_1) \leq t$ . So  $f(x^*) \leq t$ , i.e.,  $x^* \in A$ . Therefore, the set A is closed. Besides, by (iv), we have  $f(x) + \epsilon \geq 0 = f(x_1)$ .

For the function f, applying Ekeland's variational principle, we obtain that, for any real number  $\lambda > 0$ , there exists an  $x_2 \in X$  such that

$$f(x_2) \le f(x_1) = 0; \tag{4.17}$$

$$d(x_1, x_2) \le \lambda; \tag{4.18}$$

$$f(x) + \epsilon/\lambda d(x, x_2) > f(x_2), \forall x \in X \setminus \{x_2\}. \tag{4.19}$$

From (4.17), we deduce  $F(x_2) \neq \emptyset$ , and (4.18) is just (vi).

Suppose that  $\xi_e(y_2'-y_1)=\min\{\xi_e(y-y_1):y\in F_1(x_2)\},\ y_2'\in F(x_2)$ . By the compactness of  $F(x_2)$  and the domination property of the set  $F(x_2)$ , there exists a  $y_2\in \operatorname{Min}_C(F(x_2))$  with  $y_2\leq_C y_2'$ . By the monotonicity of  $\xi_e$ , we have

$$\xi_e(y_2 - y_1) = \min\{\xi_e(y - y_1) : y \in F_1(x_2)\} = \xi_e(y_2' - y_1). \tag{4.20}$$

Hence, (v) and (vii) hold. By (v), (iv) and (iii), we know (viii) holds. Finally, let us show that (ix) holds. From (4.19) and (4.20) and the definition of f, we deduce that if  $x \notin dom(F_1)$  then (iv) holds automatically; and, for any  $x \in dom(F_1) \setminus \{x_2\}$ ,

$$\min\{\xi_e(y-y_1): y \in F_1(x)\} - \xi_e(y_2-y_1) + \epsilon/\lambda d(x,x_2) > 0.$$

That is,

$$\xi_e(y-y_1) - \xi_e(y_2-y_1) + \epsilon/\lambda d(x,x_2) > 0, \quad \forall x \in dom(F_1) \setminus \{x_2\}, y \in F(x).$$

Consequently, we have

$$\xi_e(y-y_2) + \epsilon/\lambda d(x,x_2) > 0, \quad \forall x \in dom(F_1) \setminus \{x_2\}, y \in F_1(x),$$

i.e.,

$$y - y_2 + \epsilon/\lambda d(x, x_2)e \nleq_C 0$$
,  $\forall x \in dom(F_1) \setminus \{x_2\}, y \in F_1(x)$ .

When  $y \in F(x) \setminus F_1(x)$ , we can show by contradiction that

$$y - y_2 + \epsilon / \lambda d(x, x_2) e \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in dom(F_1) \setminus \{x_2\}.$$

Otherwise, there exists an  $x' \in dom(F_1) \setminus \{x_2\}$  and

$$y' \in F(x') \backslash F_1(x') \tag{4.21}$$

such that

$$y' - y_2 + \epsilon/\lambda d(x', x_2)e \le_C 0.$$

This implies  $y'-y_2 \in -intC$ . From (v), we derive  $y' \leq_C y_2 \leq_C y_1$ . This means  $y' \in F_1(x')$ , which contradicts (4.21). So (ix) holds. The proof is complete.

Next, we will establish a general Ekeland's variational principle for set-valued functions in complete order metric spaces and complete metric spaces. This principle is a generalization of some results of Nemeth [151], Tammer [185], and Isac [111].

To this aim, we need some additional concepts for set-valued functions.

Let X be a Hausdorff topological vector space, and Y a locally convex vector space. Let  $C \subset Y$  be a nonempty pointed and convex cone and Y be endowed with the order  $\leq_C$  induced by C.

**Definition 4.37.** A set-valued function  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is said to be submonotone with respect to C at  $x_0 \in X$  if, under the following conditions:

(i)  $\lim_{\alpha} x_{\alpha} = x$ , where  $\{x_{\alpha}\}_{{\alpha} \in I}$  is a net in X indexed by the totally ordered set  $(I, \leq)$ ,

(ii)  $y_{\alpha} \leq_C y_{\beta}$  wherever  $y_{\alpha} \in F(x_{\alpha}), y_{\beta} \in F(x_{\beta})$  and  $\alpha \geq \beta$ ,

it follows that there exists a  $y \in F(x)$  such that

$$y \leq_C y_\alpha, \quad \forall \alpha \in I.$$

Let  $C_0 \subset C$  be a convex cone in Y, and let  $r: X \times X \to Y$  be a  $C_0$ -metric on X. We now make the following assumptions on the set-valued function  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$ .

**Assumption 4.38.** Let  $\epsilon > 0$  be given. For every  $x_0 \in X$ ,  $y_0 \in F(x_0)$ , and for every net  $\{(x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha})\}_{{\alpha \in I}}$  in Gr(F) with the property that  $x_{\alpha} \to x \in X$  and  $y_{\alpha} - y_0 + \epsilon r(x_{\alpha}, x_0) \leq_C 0, \forall \alpha \in I$ , there exists a  $y \in F(x)$  such that

$$y - y_0 + \epsilon r(x, x_0) \le_C 0.$$

**Assumption 4.39.** For each  $x \in X$  and each  $y \in Y$ ,  $F(x) \cap (y - C)$  is compact.

Now, we introduce the following concept of approximate solutions for a set-valued optimization problem.

**Definition 4.40.** Let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function and  $H \subset C$ . We say that the pair  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y}) \in X \times Y$  is an H near to the minimal solution of F on X if  $\bar{y} \in Min_C(F(\bar{x}))$  and

$$(F(x) - \bar{y} + H) \cap (-C) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{\bar{x}\}.$$

Remark 4.41. When F is a real function,  $C = \{t \in \mathbb{R} : t \geq 0\}$ ,  $H = \{t \in \mathbb{R} : t \geq \epsilon\}$ , this definition reduces to the definition of an  $\epsilon$ -minimal solution of a real function.

**Proposition 4.42.** Let C be closed. If F is nonempty compact-valued and u.s.c., then F is submonotone with respect to C at every point of X.

*Proof.* Fix  $x \in X$ . Let  $\{(x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha})\}_{{\alpha} \in I}$  be a net in Gr(F) satisfying properties (i) and (ii) of Definition 4.37. Then  $x_{\alpha} \to x$  in X and

$$y_{\alpha} - y_{\beta} \leq_C 0$$
, whenever  $\alpha \geq \beta$ .

Since F is compact-valued and u.s.c., there exists a convergent subnet of  $\{y_{\alpha}\}_{{\alpha}\in I}$  (again denoted by  $\{y_{\alpha}\}_{{\alpha}\in I}$ ) with limit  $y\in F(x)$ . Letting  $y_{\alpha}\to y$  in the above relation and taking into account the fact that C is closed, we have  $y-y_{\alpha}\leq_C 0$ ,  $\forall \alpha\in I$ , proving that F is submonotone at x.

**Proposition 4.43.** Let C be closed, and let  $r(\cdot, a)$  be continuous for every  $a \in X$ . If F is compact-valued and u.s.c., then Assumption 4.38 holds.

*Proof.* Let  $\epsilon > 0$ . Fix  $(x_0, y_0) \in Gr(F)$ . Consider a net  $\{(x_\alpha, y_\alpha)\}_{\alpha \in I}$  in Gr(F) with the property that  $x_\alpha \to x$  and

$$y_{\alpha} - y_0 + \epsilon r(x_{\alpha}, x_0) \le_C 0, \quad \forall \alpha \in I.$$

By the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 4.42, we may assume that

$$(x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \to (x, y) \in Gr(F).$$

Taking into account the fact that C is closed and  $r(\cdot, x_0)$  is continuous and taking the limit in the above relation, we obtain

$$y - y_0 + \epsilon r(x, x_0) \le_C 0.$$

Hence, Assumption 4.38 holds.

**Proposition 4.44.** If F is submonotone with respect to C, then F(x) has the domination property for every  $x \in X$ .

*Proof.* Fix  $x \in X$  and  $y \in F(x)$ . It is clear that  $\leq_C$  is still a partial order on  $D = \{z \in F(x) : z \leq_C y\}$ . According to the Hausdorff maximality principle, there exists a maximal totally ordered  $Z \subset D$ . Let  $I = \{(z, T_z) : z \in Z\}$ , where  $T_z$  determined by  $z \in Z$  is the lower section  $\{a \in Z : a \leq_C z\}$ . Setting

$$(a, T_a) \leq (b, T_b)$$
, whenever  $T_b \subset T_a$ ,

we see that I is totally ordered due to the fact that Z is totally ordered. Define the net  $\phi: I \to Z$  as the function

$$\alpha = (a, T_a) \to z_\alpha = a.$$

Then, Z is indexed by the totally ordered set I with the property that

$$z_{\alpha} \leq_C z_{\beta}$$
, whenever  $\alpha \geq \beta$ .

By the submonotonicity of F at x (simply taking  $x_{\alpha} \equiv x$  for all  $\alpha$ ), we can find an element  $\bar{y} \in F(x)$  such that

$$\bar{y} \leq_C z_{\alpha}, \quad \forall \alpha \in I.$$

Clearly,

$$(\bar{y} - C) \cap F(x) = \{\bar{y}\},\$$

by the maximality of Z. Therefore,

$$\bar{y} \in \operatorname{Min}_C(F(x))$$
 and  $\bar{y} \leq_C y$ ,

establishing the fact that F(x) has the domination property.

Next, we give a sufficient condition for the existence of approximate optimal solutions to set-valued functions.

**Proposition 4.45.** Let  $C_0 \subset C$  be a complete C-bound regular convex cone, and let  $U \subset B(0)$  be such that  $H = C_0 \setminus U \neq \emptyset$ . Suppose that  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function such that F(x) has the domination property for every  $x \in X$ , and F is C order lower bounded on X. Then F has an H near to the minimal solution on X.

*Proof.* First, let us prove that there exist an  $\bar{x} \in X$  and a  $\bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  such that

$$(F(x) - \bar{y} + H) \cap (-C) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{\bar{x}\}.$$

We proceed by contradiction. Arbitrarily fix  $x_1 \in X$  and  $y_1 \in F(x_1)$ . Then, we can choose  $x_{i+1} \in X \setminus \{x_i\}$  and  $y_{i+1} \in F(x_{i+1})$  such that

$$(y_{i+1} - y_i + H) \cap (-C) \neq \emptyset$$
, for  $i = 1, 2, \dots$ 

Then, we have

$$y_{i+1} - y_i + h_i \le_C 0,$$

for some  $h_i \in H$ . Summing up these relations from i = 1 to k, we get

$$y_{k+1} - y_1 + \sum_{i=1}^{k} h_i \le_C 0. (4.22)$$

Since F is C order lower bounded on X, we find that  $\{\sum_{i=1}^k h_i\}$  is C bounded and clearly it is  $C_0$  increasing. It follows from the C bound regularity of  $C_0$ 

that  $\{\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} h_i\}$  is convergent, therefore,  $h_k \in U$  for sufficiently large k. This

contradicts the assumption that  $H = C_0 \setminus U$ , and thus the existence of  $(\bar{x}, \bar{y})$  is established.

Second, by the domination property of  $F(\bar{x})$ , we can find an element  $y' \in \text{Min}_C(F(\bar{x}))$  such that  $y' \leq_C \bar{y}$ . Thus

$$(F(x) - y' + H) \cap (-C) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{\bar{x}\},\$$

and so the pair  $(\bar{x}, y')$  is an H near to the minimal solution of F on X.

**Proposition 4.46.** The conclusion of Proposition 4.45 remains true when the condition "F is C-order lower-bounded on X" is replaced by

(C) There exist  $x_1' \in X$  and  $y_1' \in F(x_1')$  such that F is C-order lower-bounded on the set  $\{x \in X : (y_1' - C) \cap F(x) \neq \emptyset\}$ .

*Proof.* Repeat the argument as in the proof of Proposition 4.45, with  $(x_1, y_1)$  replaced by  $(x'_1, y'_1)$  to generate the corresponding elements  $x_i, y_i, h_i, i \geq 2$ , so as to have (4.22) with  $y_1$  replaced  $y'_1$ . Then apply condition (C) to show that

 $\{\sum_{i=1}^{\kappa} h_i\}$  is C bounded. The rest of the proof now follows in a similar fashion.

Now we will derive a general Ekeland's variational principle for set-valued functions.

Let  $\epsilon > 0$  be given, and let  $r: X \times X \to Y$  be a  $C_0$ -metric on X. Suppose that  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function such that F(x) has the domination property for every  $x \in X$ . Then  $\operatorname{Min}_C(F(x)) \neq \emptyset$ , for every  $x \in X$ , and we have a nonempty set-valued function  $E: X \rightrightarrows Y$  defined by

$$E(x) := \operatorname{Min}_C(F(x)), \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Let us introduce a relation  $\prec$  on T = Gr(E) as follows:

$$(x_1, y_1) \prec (x_2, y_2)$$
 iff  $y_1 - y_2 + \epsilon r(x_1, x_2) \leq_C 0$ , for  $(x_1, y_1), (x_2, y_2) \in T$ .

**Lemma 4.47.** The relation  $\prec$  is a partial order on T.

*Proof.* The relation  $\prec$  is clearly well defined on T. It remains to show that it is reflexive, antisymmetric and transitive.

- (i) Reflexivity. For  $(x, y) \in T$ , we clearly have  $(x, y) \prec (x, y)$ , since  $y y + \epsilon r(x, x) = 0 \leq_C 0$ .
- (ii) Antisymmetry. Let  $(x_1, y_1), (x_2, y_2) \in T$ , with  $(x_1, y_1) \prec (x_2, y_2)$  and  $(x_2, y_2) \prec (x_1, y_1)$ . Then we have

$$y_1 - y_2 + \epsilon r(x_1, x_2) \le_C 0, \tag{4.23}$$

$$y_2 - y_1 + \epsilon r(x_2, x_1) \le_C 0. \tag{4.24}$$

The combination of (4.23) and (4.24) yields

$$\epsilon r(x_1, x_2) + \epsilon r(x_2, x_1) = 2\epsilon r(x_1, x_2) <_C 0,$$

so that  $r(x_1, x_2) \leq_C 0$ . Thus  $r(x_1, x_2) = 0$  and hence  $x_1 = x_2$ . Furthermore, it follows from (4.23) and (4.24) that  $\pm (y_1 - y_2) \leq_C 0$ , which implies  $y_1 = y_2$ . Therefore,  $(x_1, y_1) = (x_2, y_2)$ .

(iii) Transitivity. Let  $(x_i, y_i) \in T, i = 1, 2, 3$ , with  $(x_1, y_1) \prec (x_2, y_2)$  and  $(x_2, y_2) \prec (x_3, y_3)$ . Then

$$y_1 - y_2 + \epsilon r(x_1, x_2) \le_C 0,$$
 (4.25)

$$y_2 - y_3 + \epsilon r(x_2, x_3) \le_C 0. \tag{4.26}$$

The combination of (4.25) and (4.26) yields

$$y_1 - y_3 + \epsilon(r(x_1, x_2) + r(x_2, x_3)) \le_C 0.$$

Using

$$r(x_1, x_3) \leq_C r(x_1, x_2) + r(x_2, x_3),$$

we have that

$$y_1 - y_3 + \epsilon r(x_1, x_3) \leq_C 0$$
,

and hence  $(x_1, y_1) \prec (x_3, y_3)$ .

**Theorem 4.48.** Let Y be a locally convex space ordered by a nonempty pointed and convex cone  $C \subset Y$ , and let (X,r) be a complete  $C_0$  metric space, where  $C_0 \subset C$  is a complete C bound regular convex cone. Let  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function satisfying

- (i) F is submonotone with respect to C and C is closed, or
- (ii) C is closed and Assumptions 4.38 and 4.39 hold.

Suppose that the following (iii) holds:

(iii) there exists  $(x_0, y_0) \in Gr(F)$  such that F is C order lower bounded on  $X_1 = \{x \in X : (y_0 - C) \cap F(X) \neq \emptyset\}.$ 

Then, for every  $(x_0, y_0)$  satisfying (iii), there exists  $(x^*, y^*) \in Gr(E)$  such that

(iv) 
$$y_0 - y^* - \epsilon r(x_0, x^*) \ge_C 0$$
;

$$(\mathbf{v}) (F(x) - y^* + \epsilon r(x, x^*)) \cap (-C) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

Moreover, let  $U \in B(0)$ . If  $H = C_0 \setminus U \neq \emptyset$ , then

(vi) there exists  $(x_1, y_1) \in Gr(E)$  with  $y_1 \leq_C y_0$  such that

$$(F(x) - y_1 + \epsilon H) \cap (-C) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x_1\},$$

i.e.,  $(x_1, y_1)$  is an  $\epsilon H$  near to the minimal solution of F on X.

For every such  $(x_1, y_1)$  in  $(\mathbf{vi})$ , there exists  $(x_{\epsilon}, y_{\epsilon}) \in Gr(E)$  such that  $(\mathbf{iv})$ , and  $(\mathbf{v})$  hold with  $(x_0, y_0)$  and  $(x^*, y^*)$  replaced by  $(x_1, y_1)$  and  $(x_{\epsilon}, y_{\epsilon})$ , respectively. Moreover,  $(x_{\epsilon}, y_{\epsilon})$  is an  $\epsilon H$  near to the minimal solution of F on X, satisfying

(vii)  $r(x_1, x_{\epsilon}) \in U$ .

Proof. Let

$$E(x) = \operatorname{Min}_C F(x), \quad x \in X.$$

By Proposition 4.44 and (i) or (ii), F(x) has the domination property for every  $x \in X$ . Thus, we see that the set-valued function  $E(x) \neq \emptyset, \forall x \in X$ . By (iii) and the fact that  $F(x_0)$  has the domination property, there exists  $y'_0 \in \operatorname{Min}_C(F(x_0))$  such that  $y'_0 \leq_C y_0$  and F is C lower bounded on

$$X_1' = \{ x \in X : (y_0' - C) \cap F(x) \neq \emptyset \},$$

since  $X_1' \subset X_1$ . Now, we consider the partial order  $\prec$  on T = Gr(E) as given in Lemma 4.47. Let

$$Z_1 = \{(x, y) \in T : (x, y) \prec (x_0, y_0')\}.$$

Applying the Hausdorff maximality principle to  $(Z_1, \prec)$ , we obtain a maximal totally ordered subset  $Z_0$  of  $Z_1$ .

As in the proof of Proposition 4.44, let us write

$$Z_0 = \{(x_\alpha, y_\alpha)\}_{\alpha \in I},$$

where  $(I, \leq)$  is a totally ordered index set with the property that

$$(x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \prec (x_{\beta}, y_{\beta})$$
, whenever  $\alpha \prec \beta$ .

We shall show that  $Z_0$  contains its minimal point with respect to the relation  $\prec$ .

First, let us introduce a relation  $\Delta$  on  $X_0 = \{x_\alpha\}_{\alpha \in I}$  by defining

$$x_{\alpha} \Delta x_{\beta}$$
, whenever  $(x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \prec (x_{\beta}, y_{\beta})$ .

This relation is well defined. Indeed, we need only to show that if  $(x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha})$ ,  $(x_{\beta}, y_{\beta}) \in Z_0$  and  $x_{\alpha} = x_{\beta}$ , then  $y_{\alpha} = y_{\beta}$ . We may assume that  $(x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \prec (x_{\beta}, y_{\beta})$ , so that

$$y_{\alpha} - y_{\beta} + \epsilon r(x_{\alpha}, x_{\beta}) \leq_C 0.$$

Since  $x_{\alpha} = x_{\beta}$ , we have  $y_{\alpha} - y_{\beta} \leq_C 0$ . This and the fact that  $y_{\alpha}, y_{\beta} \in \text{Min}_C(F(x_{\alpha}))$  yield  $y_{\alpha} = y_{\beta}$ .

Thus,  $x_{\beta}\Delta x_{\alpha}$  whenever  $\alpha \geq \beta$ , and so  $X_0$  is totally ordered with respect to  $\Delta$ . Moreover, the filter of its lower section is Cauchy. To verify this, let us assume the contrary: there exists a neighborhood  $U' \in B(0)$  such that, for each s in  $X_0$ , there exist p,q in  $X_0$ ,  $p\Delta s$  and  $q\Delta s$ , such that  $r(p,q) \notin U'$ . Fix s and let p,q be as above. We can suppose that  $p\Delta q$ . Put  $x_1 = q, x_2 = p$ . Then,  $r(x_2, x_1) \notin U'$  and

$$z_2 - z_1 + \epsilon r(x_2, x_1) \le_C 0$$
, with  $(x_i, z_i) \in Z_0, i = 1, 2$ .

Starting with p instead of s, we can continue this procedure. Accordingly we can determine the decreasing sequence  $\{x_k\}$  in  $X_0$  such that, for  $k = 1, 2, \dots$ ,

$$r(x_{2k}, x_{2k-1}) \notin U',$$
 (4.27)

and  $(x_k, z_k) \in Z_0$ . From the definition of the relation  $\Delta$ , we also have that

$$z_{k+1} - z_k + \epsilon r(x_{k+1}, x_k) \le_C 0$$
, for all  $k$ .

Summing up this relations, we get

$$z_{k+1} - z_1 + \epsilon \sum_{i=1}^k r(x_{i+1}, x_i) \le_C 0.$$

Since each  $x_k$  is in  $X_1'$  and  $\{z_k\}$  is C order lower bounded, the set  $\{\sum_{i=1}^k r(x_{i+1}, x_i) : k = 1, 2, \cdots\}$  is C order bounded. Then  $\{\sum_{i=1}^k r(x_{i+1}, x_i)\}$  is

convergent and this clearly contradicts (4.27).

This contradiction shows that the lower sections of  $X_0$  form a Cauchy filter, which converges by the completeness of X to some  $x^* \in X$ , or equivalently  $\lim_{\alpha} x_{\alpha} = x^*$ .

Now we show that  $x^* \in X_0$  holds under condition (i) or (ii).

Case 1. Suppose that (i) holds. Let  $\alpha \geq \beta$ . Then, we have  $(x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \prec (x_{\beta}, y_{\beta})$ , so that

$$y_{\alpha} - y_{\beta} + \epsilon r(x_{\alpha}, x_{\beta}) \leq_C 0$$

and hence

$$y_{\alpha} \leq_C y_{\beta}$$
.

Since  $x_{\alpha} \to x^*$  and F is submonotone with respect to C, there exists  $y \in F(x^*)$  such that

$$y - y_{\alpha} \le_C 0, \quad \forall \alpha \in I.$$
 (4.28)

Also,

$$y_{\alpha} - y_{\beta} + \epsilon r(x_{\alpha}, x_{\beta}) \le_C 0$$
, whenever  $\alpha \ge \beta$ . (4.29)

From (4.28) and (4.29), we obtain

$$y - y_{\beta} + \epsilon r(x_{\alpha}, x_{\beta}) \le_C 0, \quad \forall \alpha \ge \beta.$$
 (4.30)

Letting  $x_{\alpha} \to x^*$  in (4.30) and taking into account the fact that C is closed and  $r(\cdot, x_{\beta})$  is continuous, it follows that

$$y - y_{\beta} + \epsilon r(x^*, x_{\beta}) \le_C 0, \quad \forall \beta \in I.$$
 (4.31)

Since  $F(x^*)$  has the domination property by Proposition 4.44, we have  $y^* \leq_C y$  for some  $y^* \in E(x^*)$ , and hence

$$(x^*, y^*) \in T.$$

This combined with (4.31) yields

$$y^* - y_\beta + \epsilon r(x^*, x_\beta) \le_C 0, \quad \forall \beta \in I,$$

so that

$$(x^*, y^*) \prec (x_\beta, y_\beta), \quad \forall (x_\beta, y_\beta) \in Z_0,$$

and hence  $(x^*, y^*) \in Z_0$  by the maximality of  $Z_0$ . Thus  $x^* \in X_0$  and  $(x^*, y^*)$  is the minimal point of  $Z_0$ .

Case 2. Suppose that (ii) holds. Fix  $\beta \in I$ . Then

$$y_{\alpha} - y_{\beta} + \epsilon r(x_{\alpha}, x_{\beta}) \leq_C 0$$
, whenever  $\alpha \geq \beta$ .

Since  $x_{\alpha} \to x^*$ , it follows from Assumption 4.38 that there exists  $\bar{y}_{\beta} \in F(x^*)$  such that

$$\bar{y}_{\beta} - y_{\beta} + \epsilon r(x^*, x_{\beta}) <_C 0, \quad \forall \beta \in I.$$
 (4.32)

As  $F(x^*)$  has the domination property, we can find an element  $y^*_{\beta} \in E(x^*)$  such that  $y^*_{\beta} \leq_C \bar{y}_{\beta}$ , so that  $(x^*, y^*_{\beta}) \in T$ . This combined with (4.32) yields

$$y_{\beta}^* - y_{\beta} + \epsilon r(x^*, x_{\beta}) \le_C 0, \quad \forall \beta \in I.$$

Hence,

$$(x^*, y^*_{\beta}) \prec (x_{\beta}, y_{\beta}), \quad \forall (x_{\beta}, y_{\beta}) \in Z_0.$$

For each  $\beta \in I$ , define

$$B_{\beta} = \{(x^*, z) \in \{x^*\} \times E(x^*) : (x^*, z) \prec (x_{\beta}, y_{\beta})\}.$$

Clearly,

$$B_{\beta_1} \subset B_{\beta_2}, \quad \forall \beta_1 < \beta_2.$$
 (4.33)

We show that each  $B_{\beta}$  is nonempty and compact.

The nonemptiness of  $B_{\beta}$  has been proved already. Now we prove that  $B_{\beta}$  is closed. Let  $\{(x^*, z_{\alpha})\} \subset B_{\beta}$  be a net, and let  $z_{\alpha} \to z^*$ . Then  $(x^*, z_{\alpha}) \prec (x_{\beta}, y_{\beta})$ , i.e.,

$$z_{\alpha} - y_{\beta} + \epsilon r(x^*, x_{\beta}) \leq_C 0.$$

By the closedness of C, we deduce that

$$z^* - y_{\beta} + \epsilon r(x^*, x_{\beta}) \le_C 0,$$

namely,  $(x^*, z^*) \in B_{\beta}$ . Hence  $B_{\beta}$  is closed. Note that

$$B_{\beta} \subset \{x^*\} \times (F(x^*) \cap (y_{\beta} - C)).$$

By Assumption 4.39,  $F(x^*) \cap (y_{\beta} - C)$  is compact, hence,  $\{x^*\} \times (F(x^*) \cap (y_{\beta} - C))$  is compact. This fact, combined with the closedness of  $B_{\beta}$ , yields that  $B_{\beta}$  is compact.

By the maximality of  $Z_0$ , we conclude  $(x^*, y^*) \in Z_0$ . Furthermore, we have that  $x^* \in X_0$  by the definition of  $X_0$  and  $(x^*, y^*)$  is the minimal point of  $Z_0$ .

So, in both cases, we have proved that  $x^* \in X_0$ . We also have that  $(x^*, y^*) \in Z_0$  and it is the minimal point of  $Z_0$  with respect to  $\prec$ .

By  $(x^*, y^*) \in Z_1$ , we see that  $(x^*, y^*) \prec (x_0, y_0)$ , which together with  $y_0' \leq_C y_0$  implies that

$$y^* - y_0 + \epsilon r(x^*, x_0) \le_C 0,$$

and so (iv) is established.

That (v) holds can be shown by contradiction. Indeed, suppose that

$$(F(x') - y^* + \epsilon r(x', x^*)) \cap (-C) \neq \emptyset,$$

for some  $x' \in X \setminus \{x^*\}$ . Then, there exists  $y' \in F(x')$  such that

$$y' - y^* + \epsilon r(x', x^*) \in -C.$$

As F(x') has the domination property, there is an element  $\bar{y} \in E(x')$  satisfying  $\bar{y} \leq_C y'$ . Hence

$$\bar{y} - y^* + \epsilon r(x', x^*) \leq_C 0,$$

i.e.,  $(x', \bar{y}) \prec (x^*, y^*)$  and  $(x', \bar{y}) \in Z_0$ . It follows that  $(x', \bar{y}) = (x^*, y^*)$ , contradicting  $x' \in X \setminus \{x^*\}$ . We have proved (v).

Let  $U \in B(0)$  and  $H = C_0 \setminus U \neq \emptyset$ . Then by applying Proposition 4.46 with  $\epsilon H$  replacing H, we conclude the existence  $x_1$  in X with the property (vi).

If we proceed as above taking  $(x_1, y_1)$  in place of  $(x_0, y_0)$ , we can get a pair  $(x_{\epsilon}, y_{\epsilon}) \in Gr(E)$  so as to have (iv) and (v) with  $(x_0, y_0)$  and  $(x^*, y^*)$  replaced by  $(x_1, y_1)$  and  $(x_{\epsilon}, y_{\epsilon})$ , respectively. Moreover, the pair  $(x_{\epsilon}, y_{\epsilon})$  is an  $\epsilon H$  near to the minimal solution of F.

Finally, we show by contradiction that (vii) holds. To this end, suppose that  $r(x_1, x_{\epsilon}) \notin U$ . Then,  $x_1 \neq x_{\epsilon}$  and

$$r(x_1, x_\epsilon) \in H. \tag{4.34}$$

Since (iv) holds with  $(x_0, y_0)$  and  $(x^*, y^*)$  replaced by  $(x_1, y_1)$  and  $(x_{\epsilon}, y_{\epsilon})$ , respectively, we have

$$y_1 - y_{\epsilon} - \epsilon r(x_1, x_{\epsilon}) \ge_C 0. \tag{4.35}$$

As  $x_{\epsilon} \neq x_1$ , (vi) yields

$$(y_{\epsilon} - y_1 + \epsilon H) \cap (-C) = \varnothing. \tag{4.36}$$

But, from (4.34) and (4.35), we deduce that

$$y_{\epsilon} - y_1 + \epsilon r(x_1, x_{\epsilon}) \in (y_{\epsilon} - y_1 + \epsilon H) \cap (-C) \neq \emptyset,$$

contradicting (4.36). Hence, (vii) holds.

**Corollary 4.49.** Let (X,d) be a complete metric space, and let Y be a locally convex Hausdorff space ordered by the nonempty, pointed and convex cone C. Let  $c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$  be such that  $\theta(c^0) > 0$  for some  $\theta$  in  $C^*$ . Let  $\epsilon > 0$  be given, and let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function satisfying:

- (i) F is submonotone with respect to C and C is closed; or
- (ii) C is closed and Assumptions 4.38 and 4.39 hold with  $r(x, y) = d(x, y)c^0/\lambda_1$  where  $\lambda_1 > 0$ .

Suppose that (iii) below holds:

(iii) there exists  $(x_1, y_1) \in Gr(E)$  such that

$$(F(x) - y_1 + \epsilon c^0) \cap (-C) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x_1\},$$

and  $F(X) \cap (y_1 - X)$  is C lower bounded.

Then, for every  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists  $(x_{\epsilon}, y_{\epsilon}) \in Gr(E)$  such that :

(iv)  $y_{\epsilon} - y_1 + (\epsilon/\lambda_1)d(x_1, x_{\epsilon})c^0 \leq_C 0$ ;

$$(\mathbf{v}) (F(x) - y_{\epsilon} + (\epsilon/\lambda_{1})d(x_{1}, x_{\epsilon})c^{0}) \cap (-C) = \varnothing, \forall x \in X \setminus \{x_{\epsilon}\};$$

(vi)  $d(x_1, x_{\epsilon}) \leq \lambda_1$ .

Proof. Let us set

$$r(x, x') = d(x, x')c^0/\lambda_1$$

in Theorem 4.48 and choose

$$U = \{ u \in X : \theta(u)/\theta(c^0) < 1 \}.$$

Clearly,  $c^0 \notin U$ . Also, let

$$C_0 = {\alpha c^0 : \alpha \ge 0}$$
 and  $H = C_0 \setminus U$ .

Now, we can apply Lemma 4.16 to show that  $C_0$  is a complete C bound regular convex cone in C. Then, we conclude from (vi) of Theorem 4.48 that there exists  $(x_{\epsilon}, y_{\epsilon}) \in Gr(E)$  such that (iv), (v) and  $r(x_1, x_{\epsilon}) \in U$  hold. It is easy to see that  $r(x_1, x_{\epsilon}) \in U$  is equivalent to (vi).

## 4.3 Equivalents of Variational Principles for Vector-Valued Functions

In this section, we will establish new vector variants of "Drop Theorem", "Petal Theorem" and "Caristi-Kirk Fixed Point Theorem". We will derive equivalents between those theorems and variational principles for vector-valued functions. We will obtain a fixed point theorem for directional contractions as an application of vector variational principles.

Let Y be a locally convex Hausdorff space ordered by a nontrivial convex cone  $C \subset Y$  with nonempty interior intC. Let (X, r) be a complete C metric space, where  $r: X \times X \to Y$  is C metric function.

First of all, we state an immediate consequence of Theorem 4.15.

**Theorem 4.50.** Let Y be a locally convex Hausdorff space ordered by a non-trivial convex cone C,  $C_0 \subset C$  a C bound regular complete convex cone, and  $C_0 \cap -C \subset -C_0$ . Let (X,r) be a complete  $C_0$  metric space. Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a vector-valued function such that  $\exists w_0 \in Y$  such that

$$f(x) \ge_C w_0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Suppose that  $\forall x \in X, \alpha > 0$ , the set  $\{y \in X : f(y) - f(x) + \alpha r(x, y) \leq_C 0\}$  is closed (or f is submonotone (w.r.t. C), C is closed and  $\forall a \in X$ ,  $r(a, \cdot)$  is continuous.)

Then there exists an  $x^* \in X$  such that

$$f(x) - f(x^*) + r(x^*, x) \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

*Proof.* It is easy to verify that all conditions of Theorem 4.15 hold with  $\epsilon = 1$ . By (v) of Theorem 4.15, it follows that this theorem holds true.

Now we explore the equivalents of Theorem 4.50. To this end, we need the following assumption.

**Assumption 4.51.**  $h: X \times X \to Y$  is a half distance function.  $\forall x \in X$ ,  $\forall \alpha > 0$ , the set  $\{y \in X : h(x,y) + \alpha r(x,y) \leq_C 0\}$  is closed (or  $h(x,\cdot)$ ) is submonotone with respect to C and C is closed and  $\forall \alpha \in X$ ,  $r(a,\cdot)$  is continuous with respect to the topology of X induced by r).  $\exists x_0 \in X$ ,  $w_0 \in Y$  such that  $h(x_0,x) \geq_C w_0, \forall x \in X$ .

Let

$$D_0 = \{ x \in X : h(x_0, x) + r(x_0, x) \le_C 0 \}.$$

**Theorem 4.52.** All the following Theorems A, B, C and D are true and equivalent to Theorem 4.50.

**Theorem A.** Let Assumption 4.51 hold. Then there exists an  $x^* \in D_0$  such that

$$h(x^*, x) + r(x^*, x) \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}. \tag{4.37}$$

**Theorem B.** Let Assumption 4.51 hold. Let the set-valued function  $T: X \rightrightarrows Y$  satisfy the condition

$$\forall x' \in D_0, \exists x \in T(x') \text{ such that } h(x', x) + r(x', x) \le_C 0.$$
 (4.38)

Then there exists an  $x^* \in D_0$  such that  $x^* \in T(x^*)$ .

**Theorem C.** Let Assumption 4.51 hold. Let  $M \subset X$  satisfy

$$\forall x' \in D_0 \backslash M, \exists x \in X \text{ such that } x \neq x' \text{ and } h(x', x) + r(x', x) \leq_C 0.$$
 (4.39)

Then there exists an  $x^* \in D_0 \cap M$ .

**Theorem D.** Let Assumption 4.51 hold. Let the following hold:

$$\forall x' \in D_0$$
, satisfying  $\exists x_1 \in X$  such that  $h(x', x_1) \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0$ , we have  $x_2 \in X \setminus \{x'\}$  such that  $h(x', x_2) + r(x', x_2) \leq_C 0$ . (4.40)

Then there exists an  $x^* \in D_0$  such that

$$h(x^*, x) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad x \in X.$$

*Proof.* Firstly, we prove that Theorem A is equivalent to Theorem 4.50.

Theorem  $4.50 \Longrightarrow$  Theorem A:

Let  $f(x) = h(x_0, x)$ . Then all the conditions of Theorem 4.50 are satisfied. It follows that there is an  $x^* \in D_0$  such that

$$f(x) + r(x^*, x) - f(x^*) \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

That is

$$h(x_0, x) + r(x^*, x) - h(x_0, x^*) \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

Since h is a half distance function, we have

$$h(x_0, x^*) - h(x_0, x) \leq_C h(x^*, x).$$

Hence, (4.37) holds true.

Theorem A  $\Longrightarrow$  Theorem 4.50:

Let

$$h(x, y) = f(y) - f(x), \quad \forall x, y \in X.$$

Arbitrarily fixing an  $x_0 \in X$ , by the assumption of Theorem 4.50, we know that Assumption 4.51 holds. Applying Theorem A, we have an  $x^* \in X$  such that

$$h(x^*, x) + r(x^*, x) \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\},$$

hence,

$$f(x) - f(x^*) + r(x^*, x) \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

Now, we turn to proving that Theorem A, B, C and D are equivalent to each other.

Theorem  $A \Longrightarrow$  Theorem B:

By Theorem A, there exists an  $x^* \in D_0$  such that (4.37) holds. We claim that  $x^* \in T(x^*)$ . Otherwise, by (4.38),  $\exists x \in T(x^*), x \neq x^*$  such that

$$h(x^*, x) + r(x^*, x) \le_C 0,$$

which contradicts (4.37).

Theorem  $B \Longrightarrow$  Theorem C:

Define  $T(x') = X \setminus \{x'\}, \forall x' \in X$ . Suppose that  $D_0 \cap M = \emptyset$ , i.e.,  $\forall x' \in D_0$  implies  $x' \notin M$ . Then by (4.39),  $\exists x \in X \setminus \{x'\} = T(x')$  such that

$$h(x', x) + r(x', x) \le_C 0,$$

i.e., (4.38) holds. By Theorem B,  $\exists x^* \in D_0$  such that  $x^* \in T(x^*)$ , which contradicts the definition of T.

Theorem  $C \Longrightarrow$  Theorem D:

Let

$$M = \{x \in X : h(x, y) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \forall y \in X\}.$$

Then  $\forall x' \in D_0 \backslash M$ ,  $\exists x_1 \in X$  with  $h(x', x_1) \leq_{C \backslash \{0\}} 0$ . By (4.40), we have  $x_2 \in X \backslash \{x'\}$  such that

$$h(x', x_2) + r(x', x_2) \le_C 0.$$

That is (4.39) holds. By Theorem C,  $\exists x^* \in D_0 \cap M$ , i.e.,

$$h(x^*, y) \le_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall y \in X.$$

Theorem  $D \Longrightarrow Theorem C$ :

Assume that M is as in Theorem C.  $\forall x' \in D_0$ , if  $x' \in M$ , then Theorem C is proved. Now we suppose that  $\exists x' \in D_0 \backslash M$ . Hence, by the assumption of M,  $\exists x_1 \in X$  with  $x_1 \neq x'$  such that

$$h(x', x_1) + r(x', x_1) \le_C 0.$$
 (4.41)

So

$$h(x', x_1) \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0.$$

If  $x_1 \in M$ , since  $x' \in D_0$ ,

$$h(x_0, x') + r(x_0, x') \le_C 0.$$

By (4.41),

$$h(x', x_1) + r(x', x_1) \le_C 0.$$

So we have

$$h(x_0, x') + h(x', x_1) + r(x_0, x') + r(x', x_1) \le_C 0.$$

Since h and r are a half distance function and a  $C_0$  metric function, respectively, it follows that

$$h(x_0, x_1) + r(x_0, x_1) \le_C 0.$$

Thus  $x_1 \in D_0 \cap M$ . Otherwise,  $x_1 \in D_0 \setminus M$ . By (4.39),  $\exists x_2 \neq x_1$  such that

$$h(x_1, x_2) + r(x_1, x_2) \le_C 0.$$
 (4.42)

By (4.41), (4.42) and the triangle inequalities of h and r, we have

$$h(x', x_2) + r(x', x_2) \le_C 0.$$

And it is easy to see that  $x' \neq x_2$ , since  $h(x', x_2) \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0$  and  $h(x_1, x_2) \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0$ , then  $h(x', x_2) \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0$ , which derives that (4.40) holds. By Theorem D,  $\exists x^* \in D_0$  such that

$$h(x^*, x) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$
 (4.43)

We assert  $x^* \in M$ . Otherwise, by (4.39),  $\exists x_3 \in X \ x_3 \neq x^*$  and

$$h(x^*, x_3) + r(x^*, x_3) \le_C 0.$$

This demonstrates that

$$h(x^*, x_3) + r(x^*, x_3) \le_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0,$$

since  $r(x^*, x_3) \leq_{C\setminus\{0\}} 0$ , which contradicts (4.43).

Theorem  $C \Longrightarrow \text{Theorem } A$ :

For any  $x' \in X$ , define

$$B(x') = \{x \in X \setminus \{x'\} : h(x', x) + r(x', x) \le_C 0\}.$$

Let

$$M = \{x \in X : B(x) = \emptyset\}.$$

If  $x' \in D_0 \setminus M$ , then by the definition of M,  $\exists x \in B(x')$  such that  $x' \neq x$  and

$$h(x',x) + r(x',x) \le_C 0,$$

hence (4.39) holds. By Theorem C,  $\exists x^* \in D_0 \cap M$ , which implies that  $B(x^*) = \emptyset$ , i.e., Theorem A holds.

Remark 4.53. (i) Theorem 7.1 of Nemeth [151] is a special case of Theorem B and Theorem B is a new variant of Caristi-Kirk fixed point theorem.

- (ii) Theorem C is the vector form of Oettli and Thera's result [153].
- (iii) Theorem D corresponds to the existence result of Takahashi [184] and Tammer [186].
- (iv) Let  $x \in X$ . If  $h(x, \cdot)$  is C order lower semicontinuous, then  $h(x, \cdot)$  is submonotone with respect to C.

We give a new standard assumption.

**Assumption 4.54.** (X,d) is a complete metric space, Y is a locally convex Hausdorff space ordered by a nontrivial convex cone C,  $c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$  is such that  $\exists \lambda \in C^*$  such that  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ ,  $h: X \times X \to Y$  is a half distance function.  $\forall x \in X, \ \forall \alpha > 0$ , the set  $\{y \in X : h(x,y) + \alpha d(x,y)c^0 \leq_C 0\}$  is closed (or  $h(x,\cdot)$  is submonotone and C is closed).  $\exists x_0 \in X, \ w_0 \in Y$  such that  $h(x_0,x) \geq_C w_0, \forall x \in X$ .

Let

$$D_0' = \{x \in X : h(x_0, x) + d(x_0, x)c^0 \le_C 0\}.$$

The following theorem is a special form of Theorem 4.50 (with  $r(x, y) = d(x, y)c^0, \forall x, y \in X$  and  $C_0 = \{\alpha c^0 : \alpha \geq 0\}$ ).

**Theorem 4.55.** Let (X, d) be a complete metric space, and Y a locally convex Hausdorff space ordered by a nontrivial convex cone C. Let  $c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$  be such that  $\exists \lambda \in C^*$  with  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ . Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a vector-valued function such that  $\exists w_0 \in Y$  such that

$$f(x) \ge_C w_0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Suppose that  $\forall x \in X$ ,  $\forall \alpha > 0$ , the set  $\{y \in X : f(y) - f(x) + \alpha d(x, y)c^0 \leq_C 0\}$  is closed (or f is submonotone with respect to C and C is closed.) Then  $\exists x^* \in X$  such that

$$f(x) - f(x^*) + d(x^*, x)c^0 \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

If we set  $C_0 = \{\alpha c^0 : \alpha \geq 0\}$ ,  $r(x,y) = d(x,y)c^0$ , then the following theorem is a special form of Theorem 4.52.

**Theorem 4.56.** All the following theorems are true and they are equivalent to Theorem 4.55.

**Theorem A'**. Let Assumption 4.54 hold. Then  $\exists x^* \in D_0'$  such that

$$h(x^*, x) + d(x^*, x)c^0 \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}. \tag{4.44}$$

**Theorem B'**. Let Assumption 4.54 hold, and let  $T: X \rightrightarrows Y$  satisfy

$$\forall x' \in D_0', \exists x \in F(x') \text{ such that } h(x', x) + d(x', x)c^0 \leq_C 0.$$

Then  $\exists x^* \in D_0'$  such that  $x^* \in T(x^*)$ .

**Theorem C'**. Let Assumption 4.54 hold, and let  $M \subset X$  satisfy:  $\forall x' \in D'_0 \backslash M$ , there exists  $x \in X$  such that

$$x \neq x' \text{ and } h(x', x) + d(x', x)c^{0} \le_{C} 0.$$
 (4.45)

Then  $\exists x^* \in D_0' \cap M$ .

**Theorem D'**. Let Assumption 4.54 hold, and let the following (4.46) hold:

For all 
$$x' \in D'_0$$
 satisfying  $\exists x_1 \in X$  with  $h(x', x_1) \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0$ , we have  $x_2 \in X \setminus \{x'\}$  such that  $h(x', x_2) + d(x', x_2)c^0 \leq_C 0$ . (4.46)

Then  $\exists x^* \in D_0'$  such that

$$h(x^*, x) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

*Proof.* By letting  $C_0 = \{\alpha c^0 : \alpha \ge 0\}$ ,  $r(x,y) = d(x,y)c^0$  and applying Theorem 4.52, the theorem is proved.

In sequel, we will consider some applications of the above results.

**Theorem 4.57.** Let Assumption 4.54 hold. Let A be a closed set,  $x_0 \in A \subset X$  and  $B \subset X$  be a bounded set. Let  $r_1 \geq d(b, x_0)$ , for some  $b \in X$ , and

$$A_{r_1} = \{ x \in A : d(b, x) \le r_1 \}.$$

If  $h: X \times X \to Y$  is a half distance function and

$$h(x,y) \le_C -\epsilon_0 c^0, \quad \forall x \in A, y \in B$$
 (4.47)

for some  $\epsilon_0 > 0$ , then,  $\exists \alpha \geq 0$ , and  $x^* \in C_1$ , where

$$C_1 = \{ y \in X : h(x^0, y) + \alpha d(x^0, y)c^0 \leq_C 0 \} \cap A_{r_1},$$

such that

$$B \subset C_2 = \{ y \in X : h(x^*, y) + \alpha d(x^*, y)c^0 \le_C 0 \},\$$

and  $C_2 \cap A_{r_1} = \{x^*\}.$ 

*Proof.* Obviously,  $A_{r_1}$  is a closed set. So  $(A_{r_1}, \alpha d)$  is complete, where  $0 < \alpha < \epsilon_0/(r_1+r)$ ,  $r = \sup\{d(b,x) : x \in B\}$ . Replace X and d in Theorem A' with  $A_{r_1}$  and  $\alpha d$ , respectively. By Theorem A',  $\exists x^* \in C_1$  such that

$$h(x^*, x) + \alpha d(x^*, x)c^0 \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in A_{r_1} \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

Hence,  $\forall x \in A_{r_1}, x \neq x^*$ , we have  $x \notin C_2$ . Obviously,  $x^* \in C_2$  since  $0 \in -C$ , so  $C_2 \cap A_{r_1} = C_1$ . If  $x \in B$ , then

$$h(x^*, x) + \alpha d(x^*, x)c^0 \leq_C -\epsilon_0 c^0 + \alpha (d(x^*, b) + d(b, x))c^0$$
  
$$\leq_C -\epsilon_0 c^0 + \alpha (r_1 + r)c^0$$
  
$$\leq_C 0.$$

So  $x \in C_2$ .

Now, we will apply Theorem 4.50 to obtain a fixed point theorem for a directional contraction function in vector form, which is a generalization of a fixed point theorem in Clarke [46].

Let Y be a locally convex Hausdorff space ordered by a nontrivial, closed and convex cone C,  $C_0 \subset C$  a C bound, regular complete convex cone,  $C_0 \cap -C \subset -C_0$ . Let (X,d) be a complete  $C_0$  metric space,  $\forall a \in X$ ,  $r(a,\cdot)$  be continuous.

For any  $x, y \in X$ , the open segment ]x, y[ is the set of all points z (if any) in X distinct from x and y satisfying r(x, z) + r(z, y) = r(x, y).

A vector-valued function  $T: X \to X$  is said to be a directional contraction function provided T is continuous and  $\exists \delta \in (0,1)$  such that whenever  $x \in X$  with  $Tx \neq x$ ,  $\exists y \in ]x, Tx[$  such that  $r(Tx, Ty) \leq_C \delta r(x, y)$ .

**Theorem 4.58.** Let Y be a locally convex Hausdorff space ordered by a non-trivial, closed and convex cone C,  $C_0 \subset C$  a C bound regular complete convex cone,  $C_0 \cap -C \subset -C_0$ . Let (X,r) be a complete  $C_0$  metric space. In addition,  $\forall a \in X$ ,  $r(a,\cdot)$  is continuous. Then, every directional contraction function admits a fixed point.

*Proof.* Let  $T: X \to X$  be a directional contraction function.

Define  $f: X \to X$  by

$$f(x) = r(x, Tx), \quad \forall x \in X.$$

We will show that f is submonotone with respect to C. In fact, for any net  $\{x_{\mu}\}\subset X$  such that  $\lim x_{\mu}=x$  and  $f(x_v)\leq_C f(x_{\mu}), v\geq \mu$ , we will show that  $f(x)\leq_C f(x_{\mu}), \forall \mu$ .

Suppose that this is not true. Then  $\exists \mu_0$  with

$$f(x_{\mu_0}) - f(x) \ngeq_C 0.$$

Thus  $\exists \lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$\lambda(f(x_{\mu_0}) - f(x)) < -\epsilon_0,$$

for some  $\epsilon_0 > 0$ . That is

$$\lambda(r(x_{\mu_0}, Tx_{\mu_0})) < \lambda(r(x, Tx)) - \epsilon_0. \tag{4.48}$$

On the other hand,

$$\forall v, \ r(x, Tx) \le_C r(x, x_v) + r(x_v, Tx_v) + r(Tx_v, Tx). \tag{4.49}$$

By the continuity of T and the definition of (X, r) being a  $C_0$  metric space,  $\forall U \in B(0), \exists v_0$ , whenever  $v \geq v_0$ ,

$$r(x, x_v) + r(Tx_v, Tx) \in U.$$

Let us choose U to be such that

$$\lambda(u) < \epsilon_0/2, \quad \forall u \in U.$$

By (4.49), we have

$$\lambda(r(x,Tx)) \le \epsilon_0/2 + \lambda(r(x_v,Tx_v)).$$

Note that  $\lambda(r(x_v, Tx_v)) \leq \lambda(r(x_{\mu_0}, Tx_{\mu_0})), v \geq \mu_0$ . So we have

$$\lambda(r(x,Tx)) \le \epsilon_0/2 + \lambda(r(x_{\mu_0},Tx_{\mu_0})).$$
 (4.50)

But (4.50) contradicts (4.48). Thus we have proved that f is submonotone with respect to C.

By the definition of f, we have  $f(x) \ge_C 0, \forall x \in X$ .

By Theorem 4.50 with  $\epsilon = (1 - \delta)/2$ ,  $\exists x^* \in X$  such that

$$f(x) - f(x^*) + ((1 - \delta)/2)r(x, x^*) \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

That is,

$$r(x, Tx) - r(x^*, Tx^*) + ((1 - \delta)/2)r(x, x^*) \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$
 (4.51)

If  $x^* = Tx^*$ , then we have proved the theorem. Otherwise, we assume that  $x^* \neq Tx^*$ . Since T is a directional contraction function, by definition, we have that  $\exists x_1 \in ]x^*, Tx^*[$  such that

$$r(x^*, Tx^*) = r(x_1, x^*) + r(x_1, Tx^*)$$
(4.52)

and

$$r(Tx_1, Tx^*) \le_C \delta r(x, x^*).$$
 (4.53)

By (4.51), we have

$$r(x_1, Tx_1) - r(x^*, Tx^*) + (1 - \delta)r(x_1, x^*) \leq_C 0.$$
 (4.54)

Substituting (4.52) into (4.54), we obtain

$$r(x_1, Tx_1) - r(x_1, Tx^*) - \delta/2r(x_1, x^*) \nleq_C 0,$$
  
 $r(Tx_1, Tx^*) - \delta r(x_1, x^*) \nleq_C 0,$ 

which contradicts (4.53). The contradiction proves the theorem.

## 4.4 Equivalents of Variational Principles for Set-Valued Functions

In this section, we will establish set-valued variants of "Petal Theorem" and "Cristi-Kirk Point Theorem". We will also establish equivalence between these theorems and the vector variational Principe for set-valued functions (see Huang [98]).

We make the following assumption.

**Assumption 4.59.** Y is a locally convex Hausdorff space ordered by a nontrivial convex cone  $C \subset Y$ .  $C_0 \subset C$  is a C bound regular complete convex cone and  $C_0 \cap -C \subset -C_0$ .  $r: X \times X \to C_0$  is a  $C_0$  metric function, (X, r) is a complete  $C_0$  metric space.  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  is a set-valued function and  $\forall x \in X$ , F(x) has the domination property. There exist  $x_0 \in X$  and  $y_0 \in F(x_0)$  such that F is C order lower bounded on  $X_1 = \{x \in X : (y_0 - C) \cap F(x) \neq \emptyset\}$ . Either of the following two statements holds:

- (I) C is closed,  $\forall a \in X$ ,  $r(a, \cdot)$  is continuous with respect to the topology of X induced by r and F is submonotone with respect to C;
- (II)  $\forall x_0 \in X, \ y_0 \in F(x_0), \ a \ net \ \{x_\alpha\} \subset X, \ x_\alpha \to \bar{x} \in X \ and \ y_\alpha \in F(x_\alpha)$ such that  $y_\alpha - y_0 + r(x_\alpha, x_0) \leq_C 0$ , it follows that  $\exists \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  such that  $\bar{y} - y_0 + r(\bar{x}, x_0) \leq_C 0$ .

The following theorem is a direct consequence of Theorem 4.48.

**Theorem 4.60.** Let the Assumption 4.59 hold. Then there exists  $x^* \in X$  and  $y^* \in Min_C(F(x^*))$  such that

$$y^* \le_C y_0 \text{ and } (F(x) - y^* + r(x, x^*)) \cap (-C) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$
 (4.55)

*Proof.* Let  $\epsilon = 1$  in Theorem 4.48. The former formula of (4.55) follow from (iv) of Theorem 4.48 and the latter formula of (4.55) is just (v) of Theorem 4.48.

**Theorem 4.61.** All the following theorems are true and equivalent to Theorem 4.60.

**Theorem** A''. Let Assumption 4.59 hold. In addition, we assume that

(a")  $\forall \bar{x} \in X, \forall \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x}) \text{ with } \bar{y} \leq_C y_0, \text{ there exists } x_1 \in X_1 \text{ such that } (F(x_1) - \bar{y}) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) \neq \emptyset, \text{ it follows that } \exists x_2 \in X_1 \setminus \{\bar{x}\} \text{ and } y_2 \in F(x_2) \text{ such that } y_2 - \bar{y} + r(\bar{x}, x_2) \leq_C 0.$ 

Then there exist  $x^* \in X_1$  and  $y^* \in Min_C(F(x^*))$  with  $y^* \leq_C y_0$  such that

$$(F(x) - y^*) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

**Theorem** B''. Let Assumption 4.59 hold. Let  $T:X\rightrightarrows X$  be a set-valued function such that (b'') holds:

(b")  $\forall \bar{x} \in X_1, \forall \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  with  $\bar{y} \leq_C y_0$ , there exist  $x \in \bar{T}(\bar{x})$  and  $y \in F(x)$  such that  $y - \bar{y} + r(x, \bar{x}) \leq_C 0$ .

Then there exist  $x^* \in X_1$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that

$$x^* \in T(x^*), \quad y^* \le_C y_0.$$

**Theorem** C''. Let Assumption 4.59 hold. Let  $M \subset X$  has the property (c''):

(c")  $\forall \bar{x} \in X_1 \backslash M, \forall \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x}) \text{ with } \bar{y} \leq_C y_0, \text{ there exist } x \in X, y \in F(x) \text{ such that } x \neq \bar{x} \text{ and } y - \bar{y} + r(x, \bar{x}) \leq_C 0.$ 

Then, there exist  $x^* \in M \cap X_1$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that  $y^* \leq_C y_0$ .

*Proof.* Theorem  $4.60 \Longrightarrow$  Theorem A'':

It follows from Theorem 4.60 that there exist  $x^* \in X_1$  and  $y^* \in Min_C(F(x^*))$  such that (4.55) holds. Now we show that

$$(F(x) - y^*) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

Otherwise,  $\exists x_1 \in X \setminus \{x^*\}$  and  $y_1 \in F(x_1)$  such that  $y_1 - y^* \in -C \setminus \{0\}$ . Thus,  $x_1 \in X_1$  and  $y_1 \leq_C y_0$ . According to (a''), there exist  $x_2 \in X_1 \setminus \{x^*\}$  and  $y_2 \in F(x_2)$  such that

$$y_2 - y^* + r(x^*, x_2) \le_C 0$$

which contradicts (4.55).

224

Theorem  $4.60 \Longrightarrow$  Theorem B'':

It follows from Theorem (4.60) that there exist  $x^* \in X_1$  and  $y^* \in \text{Min}_C(F(x^*))$  such that (4.55) holds. Let us show that  $x^* \in T(x^*)$ . Otherwise, by (b''),  $\exists x \in T(x^*) \setminus \{x^*\}$  and  $y \in F(x)$  such that

$$y - y^* + r(x, x^*) \le_C 0$$
,

which contradicts (4.55).

Theorem  $4.60 \Longrightarrow$  Theorem C'':

Theorem 4.60 implies that there exist  $x^* \in X_1$  and  $y^* \in \text{Min}_C(F(x^*))$  such that (4.55) holds. Let us show that  $x^* \in X_1 \cap M$ . Otherwise,  $x^* \in X_1 \setminus M$  and  $y^* \leq_C y_0$ . By (c''),  $\exists x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}$  and  $y \in F(x)$  such that

$$y - y^* + r(x, x^*) \le_C 0$$
,

which contradicts (4.55).

Theorem  $C'' \Longrightarrow$  Theorem 4.60:

Let  $M = \{\bar{x} \in X : \exists \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x}) \text{ such that } (F(x) - \bar{y} + r(x, \bar{x})) \cap (-C) = \emptyset, \forall x \in X \setminus \{\bar{x}\}\}$ . We show that the conclusion of Theorem 4.60 holds. Let  $x_1 \in X \setminus M$ . If  $y_1 \in F(x_1)$  with  $y_1 \leq_C y_0$ , by the definition of M, there exists  $x_2 \in X \setminus \{x_1\}$  and  $y_2 \in F(x_2)$  such that

$$y_2 - y_1 + r(x_1, x_2) \le_C 0,$$

which implies that  $y_2 \leq_C y_1 \leq_C y_0$ , so  $x_2 \in X_1 \setminus \{x_1\}$ . By Theorem C'',  $\exists x^* \in M \cap X_1$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  with  $y^* \leq_C y_0$ , i.e.,  $\exists x^* \in X_1$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  with  $y^* \leq_C y_0$  such that

$$y^* \le_C y_0 \text{ and } (F(x) - y^* + r(x, x^*)) \cap (-C) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$
 (4.56)

By the domination property of  $F(x^*)$ , there exists  $y' \in \operatorname{Min}_C(F(x^*))$  such that  $y' \leq_C y^*$ . By (4.56),

$$y' \leq_C y_0$$
 and  $(F(x) - y' + r(x, x^*)) \cap (-C) = \emptyset$ ,  $\forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}$ ,

i.e., Theorem 4.60 holds.

Theorem  $B'' \Longrightarrow$  Theorem 4.60:

Let  $T(x) = \{w \in X \setminus \{x\} : \exists y_1 \in F(w) \text{ and } y_2 \in F(x) \text{ such that } y_1 - y_2 + r(x, w) \leq_C 0\}$ . We prove by contradiction. Suppose that Theorem 4.60 fails. Then  $\forall \bar{x} \in X_1, \forall \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x}) \text{ with } \bar{y} \leq_C y_0, \exists v \in X \setminus \{\bar{x}\} \text{ and } y_1 \in F(v) \text{ such that}$ 

$$y_1 - \bar{y} + r(\bar{x}, v) \le_C 0.$$

Obviously,  $v \in F(\bar{x})$ . So (b'') holds. By Theorem B'',  $\exists x^* \in X_1$  such that  $x^* \in T(x^*)$ , which contradicts the definition of T.

Theorem  $A'' \Longrightarrow$  Theorem C'':

We prove by contradiction. Suppose that  $X_1 \cap M = \emptyset$ . Let us verify that (a'') holds.  $\forall \bar{x} \in X_1, \ \forall \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  with  $\bar{y} \leq_C y_0, \ \exists x_1 \in X_1$  such that  $(F(x_1) - \bar{y}) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) \neq \emptyset$ . By  $(c''), \ \exists x_2 \in X \setminus \{\bar{x}\}$  and  $y_2 \in F(x_2)$  such that  $y_2 - \bar{y} + r(\bar{x}, x_2) \leq_C 0$ . Therefore, (a'') holds. By Theorem  $A'', \ \exists x^* \in X_1$  and  $y^* \in \operatorname{Min}_C(F(x^*))$  with  $y^* \leq_C y_0$  such that

$$(F(x) - y^*) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}. \tag{4.57}$$

Once again, by (c''),  $\exists x_3 \in X \setminus \{x^*\}$  and  $y_3 \in F(x_3)$  such that

$$y_3 - y^* + r(x_3, x^*) \le_C 0,$$

which contradicts (4.57).

Remark 4.62. Theorem A'' is a Takahashi type existence theorem for a minimal solution for a set-valued function. Theorem B'' is a fixed point theorem of Caristi-Kirk type. Theorem C'' is a set-valued version of Oettli and Thera's result (see Oettli and Thera [153]).

To present the equivalence of a relatively special variational principle for set-valued functions, we make the following standard assumption.

**Assumption 4.63.** Let (X,d) be a complete metric space, Y be a locally convex Hausdorff space,  $C \subset Y$  be a nonempty nontrivial convex cone,  $c^0 \in C \setminus \{0\}$  is such that  $\exists \lambda \in C^*$  such that  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ . Let Y be ordered by C. Let  $F : \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function with  $F(x) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x \in X$  and for every  $x \in X$ , F(x) has domination property. There exist  $x_0 \in X$  and  $y_0 \in F(x_0)$  such that F is C order lower bounded on  $X_1 = \{x \in X : (y_0 - C) \cap F(x) \neq \emptyset\}$ . Furthermore, either of the following two conditions holds:

(I<sub>1</sub>) C is closed and F is submonotone with respect to C; (II<sub>1</sub>) the condition (II) of Assumption 4.59 holds with  $r(x_1, x_2) = d(x_1, x_2)$   $c^0, \forall x_1, x_2 \in X$ .

Applying Theorem 4.60 and Lemma 4.16, it is not difficult to prove the following Theorem 4.64, which is a special case of Theorem 4.60.

**Theorem 4.64.** Let Assumption 4.63 hold. Then there exists an  $x^* \in X$  and  $y^* \in Min_C(F(x^*))$  such that

$$y^* \le_C y_0 \text{ and } (F(x) - y^* + d(x, x^*)c^0) \cap (-C) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

**Theorem 4.65.** All the following theorems are true and equivalent to Theorem 4.64.

**Theorem**  $A_1''$ . Let Assumption 4.63 hold. In addition, assume that  $(a_1'')$  holds:

 $(a_1'')$   $\forall \bar{x} \in X_1, \forall \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  with  $\bar{y} \leq_C y_0$ , there exists  $x_1 \in X_1$  such that  $(F(x_1) - \bar{y}) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) \neq \emptyset$ , it follows that  $\exists x_2 \in X_1 \setminus \{\bar{x}\}$  and  $y_2 \in F(x_2)$  such that  $y_2 - \bar{y} + d(\bar{x}, x_2)c^0 \leq_C 0$ .

Then there exist  $x^* \in X_1$  and  $y^* \in \operatorname{Min}_C(F(x^*))$  with  $y^* \leq_C y_0$  such that

$$(F(x) - y^*) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \varnothing, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\}.$$

**Theorem**  $B_1''$ . Let Assumption 4.63 hold. Let  $T: X \rightrightarrows X$  be a set-valued function such that  $(b_1'')$  holds:

 $(b_1'')$   $\forall \bar{x} \in X, \forall \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  with  $\bar{y} \leq_C y_0$  there exist  $x \in T(\bar{x})$  and  $y \in F(x)$  such that  $y - \bar{y} + d(x, \bar{x})c^0 \leq_C 0$ .

Then there exist  $x^* \in X_1$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that

$$x^* \in T(x^*), \quad y^* \le_C y_0.$$

**Theorem**  $C_1''$ . Let Assumption 4.63 hold. Let  $M \subset X$  have the property  $(c_1'')$ :

 $(c_1'')$   $\forall \bar{x} \in X_1 \backslash M$ ,  $\forall \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  with  $\bar{y} \leq_C y_0$ , there exist  $x \in X, y \in F(x)$  such that  $x \neq \bar{x}$  and  $y - \bar{y} + d(x, \bar{x})c^0 \leq_C 0$ .

Then there exist  $x^* \in M \cap X_1$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that  $y^* \leq_C y_0$ . Proof. Let  $C_0 = \{\alpha c^0 : \alpha \geq 0\}, r(x_1, x_2) = d(x_1, x_2)c^0, \forall x_1, x_2 \in X$ . Applying Lemma 4.16 and Theorem 4.61, we can easily derive the conclusion of the theorem.

Finally, we will present stronger versions of Theorem B'' and  $B_1''$ , respectively. Using the stronger results, we can obtain the existence of maximal solutions for vector optimization problems.

Let

$$D_0 = \{ x \in X : (F(x) + r(x, x_0)) \cap (y_0 - C) \neq \emptyset \},\$$

where  $x_0$  and  $y_0$  are as in Assumption 4.59. It is obvious that  $D_0 \subset X_1$ .

**Theorem 4.66.** Let Assumption 4.59 hold. Let  $T: X \rightrightarrows X$  be a set-valued function with  $F(x) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x \in X$  such that  $\forall \bar{x} \in D_0$ ,  $\exists \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  with  $\bar{y} \leq_C y_0 - r(\bar{x}, x_0), \forall x \in T(\bar{x})$  and  $y \in F(x)$  such that  $y - \bar{y} + r(x, \bar{x}) \leq_C 0$ .

Then  $\exists x^* \in D_0$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that

$$T(x^*) = \{x^*\}, \quad y^* \le_C y_0 - r(x^*, x_0).$$

*Proof.* Firstly, we prove that  $\exists x^* \in T(x^*)$  and  $y^* \in \operatorname{Min}_C(F(x^*))$  such that  $y^* \leq_C y_0 - r(x_0, x^*)$  (thus  $x^* \in D_0$ ). By (iv) and (v) of Theorem 4.48, there exist  $x^* \in X_1, y^* \in \operatorname{Min}_C(F(x^*))$  with

$$y^* \le_C y_0 - r(x_0, x^*)$$
 and  $(F(x) - y^* + r(x, x^*)) \cap (-C) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x^*\},$  (4.58)

The first formula in (4.58) implies  $x^* \in D_0$ . Now we show that  $x^* \in T(x^*)$ . Otherwise,  $x^* \notin T(x^*)$ . By the assumption of this theorem,  $\forall x \in T(x^*)$ ,  $\exists y \in F(x)$  such that  $y - y^* + r(x, x^*) \leq_C 0$ , which contradicts the second formula in (4.58). Hence  $x^* \in T(x^*)$ . Finally, we show by contradiction that  $T(x^*) = \{x^*\}$ . Otherwise,  $\exists x_1 \in T(x^*) \setminus \{x^*\}$ . By the assumption of this theorem, there exists  $y_1 \in F(x_1)$  such that  $y_1 - y^* + r(x_1, x^*) \leq_C 0$ , which contradicts (4.58). So  $x^*$  is just what we desire in the conclusion.

Now we let

$$D_0' = \{ x \in X : F(x) + d(x, x_0)c^0 \cap (y_0 - C) \neq \emptyset \},\$$

where  $x_0, y_0$  are as in Assumption 4.63. It is obvious that  $D_0' \subset X_1$ .

**Theorem 4.67.** Let Assumption 4.63 hold. Let  $T: X \Rightarrow X$  be a set-valued function with  $F(x) \neq \emptyset$ , for all  $x \in X$  such that  $\forall \bar{x} \in D'_0, \forall \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  with  $\bar{y} \leq_C y_0 - d(\bar{x}, x_0)c^0, \forall x \in T(\bar{x})$  and  $y \in F(x)$  such that  $y - \bar{y} + d(x, \bar{x})c^0 \leq_C 0$ . Then  $\exists x^* \in D'_0$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that

$$T(x^*) = \{x^*\}, \quad y^* \le_C y_0 - d(x^*, x_0)c^0.$$

*Proof.* The proof is very similar to that of Theorem 4.66.

As applications of the above theorems, we derive existence theorems of maximal solutions for vector optimization problems.

**Theorem 4.68.** Let U be a nonempty set, Y a locally convex Hausdorff space ordered by a nontrivial convex cone  $C \subset Y$ . Let a convex cone  $C_0 \subset C$  be C bound regular such that  $C_0 \cap -C \subset -C_0$ . Let  $r: X \times X \to Y$  be a  $C_0$  metric function, (X,r) a complete  $C_0$  metric linear space. Let  $C_1 \subset X$  be a nonempty nontrivial convex cone and  $C_1$  induces an order in X. Let  $f: U \to X$  be a vector-valued function. If there exist a complete subset  $X_2 \subset f(U)$  and a setvalued function  $F: X_2 \rightrightarrows Y$  with  $F(x) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x \in X_2$  such that

- (i)  $\forall x \in X_2$ , F(x) has the domination property;
- (ii) the set-valued function  $\Gamma: X \rightrightarrows X$ ,  $\Gamma(x) = f(U) \cap (C_1 + x)$  is such that  $\Gamma(X_2) \subset X_2$ ;
- (iii) there exist  $x_0 \in X$  and  $y_0 \in F(x_0)$  such that F is C order lower bounded on  $X_3 = \{x \in X_2 : F(x) \cap (y C) \neq \emptyset\}$ ;
- (iv) C is closed, F is submonotone with respect to C and  $\forall a \in X$ ,  $r(a, \cdot)$  is continuous with respect to the topology of X induced by r; or  $\forall x_0 \in X$  and  $y_0 \in F(x_0)$ , and a net  $\{x_\alpha\} \subset X$ ,  $x_\alpha \to \bar{x} \in X$  and  $y_\alpha \in F(x_\alpha)$  such that  $y_\alpha y_0 + r(x_\alpha, x_0) \leq_C 0$ , it follows  $\exists \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  such that  $\bar{y} y_0 + r(\bar{x}, x_0) \leq_C 0$ .
- (v)  $\forall \bar{x} \in D_0, \forall \bar{y} \in \Gamma(\bar{x}) \text{ with } \bar{y} \leq_C y_0 r(\bar{x}, x_0), \forall x \in \Gamma(\bar{x}), \exists y \in F(x) \text{ such that } y \bar{y} + r(x, \bar{x}) \in -C, \text{ where } D_0 = \{x \in X_2 : (F(x) + r(x, x_0)) \cap (y_0 C) \neq \emptyset\}.$

Then, there exists  $u^* \in U$ , which is a maximal solution of f on U, and  $y^* \in F(f(u^*))$  such that  $y^* - y_0 + r(x_0, f(u^*)) \leq_C 0$ .

*Proof.* Applying Theorem 4.66 by setting  $X = X_2$ ,  $T = \Gamma$ . It follows that  $\exists x^* \in D_0$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  with  $y^* \leq_C y_0 - r(x^*, x_0)$  such that  $\Gamma(x^*) = \{x^*\}$ . Suppose that  $x^* = f(u^*)$ ,  $u^* \in U$ , then the conclusion of this theorem follows.

**Theorem 4.69.** Let U be a nonempty set, Y a locally convex Hausdorff space ordered by a nontrivial convex cone C. Let  $c^0 \in C$  be such that  $\exists \lambda \in C^*$  such that  $\lambda(c^0) > 0$ . Let  $(X, ||\cdot||)$  be a Banach space,  $C_1 \subset X$  a nonempty nontrivial convex cone and  $C_1$  induces an order in X. Let  $f: U \to X$  be a vector-valued function. If there exist a complete subset  $X_2 \subset f(U)$  and a set-valued function  $F: X_2 \rightrightarrows Y$  with  $F(x) \neq \emptyset$  for all  $x \in X_2$  such that:

- (i) for all  $x \in X_2$ , F(x) has the domination property;
- (ii) the set-valued function  $\Gamma: X \rightrightarrows X, \Gamma(x) = f(U) \cap (C_1 + x)$  is such that  $\Gamma(X_2) \subset X_2$ ;
- (iii) there exist  $x_0 \in X_2$  and  $y_0 \in F(x_0)$  such that F is C order lower bounded on  $X_3 = \{x \in X_2 : F(x) \cap (y_0 C) \neq \emptyset\};$
- (iv) C is closed, F is submonotone with respect to C, or  $\forall x_0 \in X$  and  $y_0 \in F(x_0)$  and a net  $\{x_\alpha\} \subset X$ ,  $x_\alpha \to \bar{x} \in X$  and  $y_\alpha \in F(x_\alpha)$  such that  $y_\alpha y_0 + ||\bar{x} x_0||c^0 \leq_C 0$ , it follows that  $\exists \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  such that  $\bar{y} y_0 + ||\bar{x} x_0||c^0 \leq_C 0$ .
- (v) for all  $\bar{x} \in D_0$ ,  $\forall \bar{y} \in F(\bar{x})$  with  $\bar{y} \leq_C y_0 ||\bar{x} x_0|| c^0$ ,  $\forall x \in \Gamma(\bar{x})$ ,  $\exists y \in F(x)$  such that  $y \bar{y} + ||x \bar{x}|| c^0 \leq_C 0$ , where  $D_0 = \{x \in X_2 : (F(x) + ||x x_0|| c^0) \cap (y_0 C) \neq \emptyset\}$ .

Then there exists  $u^* \in U$ , which is a maximal solution of f on U, and  $y^* \in F(f(u^*))$  such that  $y^* - y_0 + ||x_0 - f(u^*)||c^0 \leq_C 0$ .

*Proof.* The proof is very similar to that of Theorem 4.68.

## 4.5 Extended Well-Posedness in Vector-Valued Optimization

In this and next sections, we assume (unless stated otherwise) that (X,d) is a metric space, Y is a normed space ordered by a nontrivial pointed, closed and convex cone C with nonempty interior intC,  $e \in intC$  is a fixed element and  $+\infty$  is a virtual element such that  $\forall \alpha > 0$ ,  $\alpha e \leq_C +\infty$ . We also assume that the parametric space  $(P,\rho)$  is a metric space, a point  $p^* \in P$  is fixed and L is a closed ball in P with the center  $p^*$  and a positive radius.

Suppose that  $A \subset Y \cup \{+\infty\}$ . Denote by  $Inf_{intC}A$  the set of weak infima of A. Here by  $a^* \in Inf_{intC}A$ , we mean

- (a)  $a^* = +\infty \text{ if } A = \{+\infty\}$
- or
- (b) the following conditions are satisfied:
- (i)  $a^* \in Y$ ;
- (ii)  $a a^* \not\leq_{intC} 0$ ,  $\forall a \in A$ ;

and

(iii) there exists a sequence  $\{a_k\} \subset A$  such that  $a_k \to a^*$  as  $n \to +\infty$ .

In this section, we consider well-posedness of vector-valued optimization problems.

Let  $J: X \to Y \cup \{+\infty\}$  and  $I: X \times L \to Y \cup \{+\infty\}$  be extended vectorvalued functions such that  $I(x, p^*) = J(x), \forall x \in X$ , where  $+\infty$  is a virtual element such that  $\forall \alpha > 0, \alpha e \leq_C +\infty$ .

The function I(.,p) is said to be proper if there exists  $x \in X$  such that  $I(x,p) \leq_{intC} +\infty$ .

The problems are set as follows.

The original problem:

$$(X, J) : \operatorname{Inf}_{intC} \{ J(x) : x \in X \}.$$

The perturbed problem corresponding to parameter p:

$$(X, I(., p)): \quad \operatorname{Inf}_{intC}\{I(x, p) : x \in X\}.$$

Note that the original problem (X, J) is the same as problem  $(X, I(., p^*))$ . Let

$$V(p) = \operatorname{Inf}_{intC} \{ I(x, p) : x \in X \}.$$

Recall that, by  $y \in V(p)$ , we mean

- (a)  $y = +\infty$  if  $I(x, p) \equiv +\infty, \forall x \in X$ ;
- Ωr
- (b) the following conditions are satisfied:
- (i)  $y \in Y$ ;
- (ii)  $\forall x \in X, I(x, p) y \not\leq_{intC} 0$ ; and

230

(iii) there exists a sequence  $\{x_k\} \subset X$  such that  $I(x_k, p) \to y$  as  $n \to +\infty$ .

Throughout the section, we always assume  $V(p) \neq \emptyset$  wherever the symbol V(p) appears. Denote by  $argmin_{intC}(X, I(., p))$  the set of weakly minimal solutions of I(., p) on X.

Remark 4.70. If y is a weakly minimal point of I(X, p), then  $y \in V(p)$ .

Suppose that  $(Z, d_1)$  is a metric space,  $z \in Z$  and  $Z_0 \subset Z$ , denote by  $d(z, Z_0) = \inf \{d_1(z, z_0) : z_0 \in Z_0\}$  the distance function from point z to set  $Z_0$ . Recall that  $\xi_e : Y \to \mathbb{R}$  in Chapter 1 is defined as

$$\xi_e(y) = \min \{ t \in \mathbb{R} : y \in te - C \}, \quad \forall y \in Y.$$

Noting that  $C = \{c \in Y : l(c) \le 0, \forall l \in -C^*\}$ , the next proposition follows immediately from Proposition 1.44.

**Proposition 4.71.** For any  $y \in Y$ ,

$$\xi_e(y) = \sup_{\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\lambda(y)}{\lambda(e)}.$$

By Proposition 4.71, it is clear that if there exists  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that  $\lambda(f)$  is bounded below on X, then  $\xi_e(f)$  is also bounded below on X, where  $f: X \to Y$  is a vector-valued function.

Throughout this section, we make the following assumption.

**Assumption 4.72.** For any  $p \in L$ , I(.,p) is proper and  $\xi_e(I(x,p))$  is bounded below on X.

Now we introduce three notions of extended well-posedness for vector optimization problems.

**Definition 4.73.** Problem (X, J) is called well-posed in the weakly extended sense if

$$argmin_{intC}(X,J) \neq \emptyset;$$
 (4.59)

$$V(p) \neq \emptyset, \forall p \in L; \tag{4.60}$$

[for any sequences  $p_k \to p^*$  in P and  $\{x_k\}$  in X such that  $d(I(x_k, p_k), V(p_k)) \to 0$ , there exist a subsequence  $\{x_{k_i}\}$  of  $\{x_k\}$  and some point  $x^* \in argmin_{intC}(X, J)$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ .] (4.61)

**Definition 4.74.** Problem (X, J) is called well-posed in the extended sense if (4.59) and (4.60) hold and

[for any sequences 
$$p_k \to p^*$$
 in  $P$  and  $\{x_k\}$  in  $X$  such that  $\exists \{\alpha_k\}, \alpha_k \geq 0, \alpha_k \to 0 \text{ and } y_k \in V(p_k) \text{ with } I(x_k, p_k) \leq_C y_k + \alpha_k e, \text{ there exist a subsequence } \{x_{k_i}\} \text{ of } c \{x_k\} \text{ and some point } x^* \in \operatorname{argmin}_{intC}(X, J) \text{ such that } x_{k_i} \to x^*.$  (4.62)

**Definition 4.75.** Problem (X, J) is called well-posed in the strongly extended sense if (4.59) and (4.60) hold and

[for any sequences 
$$p_k \to p^*$$
 in  $P$  and  $\{x_k\}$  in  $X$  such that  $\liminf_{n \to +\infty} \inf_{y \in V(p_k)} \{x_{k_i}\}$  of  $\{x_k\}$  and some point  $x^* \in \operatorname{argmin}_{intC}(X, J)$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ .] (4.63)

The sequences  $\{x_k\}$  in (4.61), (4.62), and (4.63) are called a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence, asymptotically minimizing sequence, weakly asymptotically minimizing sequence, respectively.

Remark 4.76. (a) It is not difficult to see that a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence is also asymptotically minimizing and an asymptotically minimizing sequence is also weakly asymptotically minimizing.

(b) Due to (a), we know that the strongly extended well-posedness implies the extended well-posedness and that the extended well-posedness implies the weakly extended well-posedness. However, the converse may not be true.

Example 4.77. Let  $X = [0, +\infty)$ ,  $Y = C[0, 1] \times \mathbb{R}$ ,  $C = C_1 \times \mathbb{R}_+$ , where C[0, 1] stands for the set of continuous functions defined on the interval [0, 1] and  $C_1 = \{f \in C[0, 1] : f(t) \geq 0, \forall t \in [0, 1]\}$ . Let  $e = (1, 1) \in \text{int}C$ ,  $P = \mathbb{R}_+$ ,  $p^* = 0$  and

$$I(x,p) = \begin{cases} (0,0), & \text{if } x \in [0,1]; \\ (f_x(t), 1/k + x - k) + (0,p), & \text{if } x \in (k,k+1], k = 1,2,..., \end{cases}$$

where

$$f_x(t) = \begin{cases} -kt(1-1/(k+1))^{k-2} + 1/(k+1), & \text{if } t \in [0,1-1/(k+1)), x \in (k,k+1]; \\ -kt^{k-1} + 1/(k+1), & \text{if } t \in [1-1/(k+1),1], x \in (k,k+1]. \end{cases}$$

Now we show that problem (X, J) is well-posed in the weakly extended sense but not well-posed in the extended sense.

It is not hard to verify that  $V(p) = \{(0,0)\}, \forall p \in P; argmin_{intC}(X,J) = [0,1]; \lambda = (0,1) \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  is such that  $\lambda(I(x,p))$  is bounded below for any

 $p \in P$  and so Assumption 4.72 holds; for any sequences  $x_k \in X, p_k \in P$  such that  $p_k \to 0$  and  $I(x_k, p_k) \to 0$ , we have  $x_k \in [0, 1]$  when k is sufficiently large. Thus there exist a subsequence  $x_{k_i}$  and  $x^* \in [0, 1]$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ . So (X, J) is well-posed in the weakly extended sense. However, for the sequence  $x_k = k + 1/k, p_k = 1/k(k \ge 2)$  such that  $I(x_k, p_k) = (f_{k+1/k}(t), 3/k) \le C$  (0, 0) + (1/(k+1), 3/k) there exists no subsequence  $x_{k_i}$  and  $x^* \in [0, 1]$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ .

Example 4.78. Let  $X = \mathbb{R}_+$ ,  $Y = \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $C = \mathbb{R}_+^2$ ,  $P = \mathbb{R}_+$ , e = (1,1),  $p^* = 0$  and

$$I(x,p) = egin{cases} (0,0), & ext{if } x \in [0,1]; \ (k,x-k) + (0,p), & ext{if } x \in (k,k+1], k = 1,2,.... \end{cases}$$

We show that problem (X, J) is well-posed in the extended sense but not well-posed in the strongly extended sense.

It is clear that V(p) = (0,0) for any  $p \in P$ ;  $argmin_{intC}(X,J) = [0,1]$ ; I(.,p) is bounded below for any  $p \in P$  and thus Assumption 4.72 holds naturally; for any sequences  $x_k, p_k$  such that  $p_k \to p^*$  and  $I(x_k, p_k) \leq_C (0,0) + \epsilon_k(1,1)$  for some  $\{\epsilon_k\} \subset \mathbb{R}_+$  with  $\epsilon_k \to 0$  we have  $x_k \in [0,1]$  when k is sufficiently large. Hence there exists a subsequence  $x_{k_i}$  and  $x^* \in [0,1]$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ . So (X,J) is well-posed in the extended sense. However, for the sequence  $x_k = k, p_k = 1/k$ , it is easy to verify that  $x_k$  is weakly asymptotically minimizing corresponding to  $p_k$  and there exists no subsequence  $x_{k_i}$  and  $x^* \in [0,1]$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ . Hence, (X,J) is not well-posed in the strongly extended sense.

- (c) When  $Y = \mathbb{R}$ ,  $C = \mathbb{R}_+$ , all the three types of extended well-posedness reduce to the extended well-posedness defined in [226].
- (d) Any one of three types of well-posedness implies that  $argmin_{intC}(X,J)$  is compact.

For simplicity, we write  $argmin_{intC}(p)$  instead of  $argmin_{intC}(X, I(., p))$ ; problem(p) instead of problem(X, I(., p)). Thus, problem $(p^*) = (X, J)$ .

Now we give some criteria and characterizations of the three notions of extended well-posedness.

Let  $e \in intC$ . For any  $\epsilon > 0$ ,  $p \in L$ , we denote

$$\epsilon - argmin_{intC}(p) = \{x \in X : I(x, p) - I(x', p) - \epsilon e \not\geq_{intC} 0, \forall x' \in X\}.$$

Let

$$M(\epsilon, p) = \{ x \in X : I(x, p) - y - \epsilon e \not\geq_{intC} 0, \forall y \in V(p) \}.$$

Clearly,  $\epsilon - argmin_{intC}(p) \subset M(\epsilon, p)$ . However, the reverse inclusion may not hold.

The following proposition is about the nonemptiness of the set  $\epsilon - argmin_{intC}(p)$ .

**Proposition 4.79.** Let Assumption 4.72 hold. Then  $\epsilon - argmin_{intC}(p) \neq \emptyset, \forall \epsilon > 0, p \in L$ .

*Proof.* Since Assumption 4.72 holds, for any  $p \in L$ ,  $\xi_e(I(x,p))$  is bounded below. So for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists  $x_{\epsilon} \in X$  such that

$$\xi_e(I(x_\epsilon, p)) \le \inf_{x \in X} \xi_e(I(x, p)) + \epsilon.$$
 (4.64)

We assert that  $x_{\epsilon} \in \epsilon - argmin_{intC}(p)$ . Otherwise, there exists  $x' \in X$  such that

$$I(x', p) - I(x_{\epsilon}, p) + \epsilon e \leq_{intC} 0.$$

So

$$\xi_e(I(x',p)) - \xi_e(I(x_\epsilon,p) \le \xi_e(I(x',p) - I(x_\epsilon,p)) < -\epsilon,$$

that is,

$$\xi_e(I(x_\epsilon, p)) > \xi_e(I(x', p)) + \epsilon \ge \inf_{x \in X} \xi_e(I(x, p)) + \epsilon,$$

which contradicts (4.64).

M can be viewed as a set-valued function from  $int \mathbb{R}_+ \times L$  into X.

**Proposition 4.80.** If M(.,.) is u.s.c. at  $(0, p^*)$ , argmin<sub>intC</sub> $(p^*)$  is nonempty and compact, then problem  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense. Conversely, if problem  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense, then M is u.s.c. at  $(0, p^*)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $p_k \to p^*$ ,  $\epsilon_k \to 0$  and  $u_k \in \epsilon_k - argmin_{intC}(p_k)$ . Consider

$$T_k = \{x \in X : d(x, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) < 1/k\}, \quad \forall k$$

Then, by the u.s.c. of M at  $(0, p^*)$ , there exists a subsequence  $u_{k_l}$  of  $u_k$  such that  $u_{k_l} \in T_{k_l}, \forall l$ . By the compactness of  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ , there exists a further subsequence of  $u_{k_l}$  that converges to a point in  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ . This proves the first half of the proposition. Arguing by contradiction, it is easy to prove the second half of the proposition.

**Definition 4.81.** We say that problem  $(p^*)$  is stable in the weakly extended sense (respectively, in the extended sense, in the strongly extended sense) if

$$argmin_{intC}(p^*) \neq \emptyset$$
 and for every sequence  $p_k \to p^*$   
and every strongly asymptotically (respectively, asymptotically,  
weakly asymptotically) minimizing sequence  $\{x_k\}$   
corresponding to  $\{p_k\}$ , we have  
 $d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \to 0$ . (4.65)

**Proposition 4.82.** If problem  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the weakly extended (respectively, extended, strongly extended) sense, then (4.65) holds (respectively). Conversely, if (4.65) holds, then  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the weakly extended (respectively, extended, strongly extended) sense provided  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  is compact.

*Proof.* We only prove the case of well-posedness in the weakly extended sense. The other two cases can be similarly proved. Assume that  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the weakly extended case. Suppose that (4.65) fails. Then, for suitable sequences  $p_k \to p^*$ ,  $x_k$  strongly asymptotically minimizing corresponding to  $p_k$ , and for some  $\epsilon > 0$ , we have

$$\epsilon \leq d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)), \quad \forall n.$$

Weakly extended well-posedness of  $(p^*)$  implies the existence of a subsequence  $\{x_{k_i}\}$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to u \in argmin_{int}C(p^*)$ ; hence,

$$0 < \epsilon \le \limsup_{i \to +\infty} d(x_{k_i}, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \le d(x_{k_i}, u) = 0,$$

a contradiction. This proves the first half of the proposition. Conversely, assume (4.65). If  $p_k \to p^*$  and if  $x_k$  is strongly asymptotically minimizing corresponding to  $p_k$ , for each k, we find a point  $u_k \in argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  such that  $d(x_k, u_k) \to 0$ ; by compactness, we get weakly extended well-posedness.

Given nonempty subsets A, B of X, consider the excess of A to B defined by

$$e(A, B) = \sup \{d(a, B) : a \in A\}.$$

The Hausdorff distance between A and B is defined as

$$haus(A, B) = \max \{e(A, B), e(B, A)\}.$$

For a bounded metric space, a sequence of subsets  $A_k$  and a subset B thereof,  $e(A_k, B) \to 0$  iff  $d(a_k, B) \to 0$  for every selection  $a_k \in A_k$ . Therefore, a reformulation of Proposition 4.82 yields the following corollary.

Corollary 4.83. If X is bounded, then the strongly extended well-posedness of  $(p^*)$  implies  $e(\epsilon - argmin_{intC}(p), argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \rightarrow 0$  as  $(\epsilon, p) \rightarrow (0, p^*)$ . The converse holds provided  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  is nonempty and compact.

In the following theorem, we shall give a metric characterization of the extended well-posedness of problem  $(p^*)$ .

Consider a real-valued function c=c(t,s) defined for  $t\geq 0, s\geq 0$  sufficiently small, such that

$$c(t,s) \ge 0, c(0,0) = 0 \tag{4.66}$$

$$s_k \to 0, t_k \ge 0, c(t_k, s_k) \to 0 \text{ imply } t_k \to 0.$$
 (4.67)

**Theorem 4.84.** If problem  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the extended sense, then there exists c satisfying (4.66), (4.67) and

$$\{I(x,p) - V(p) - c(d(x, argmin_{intC}(p^*)), \rho(p, p^*))e\} \cap (-intC) = \emptyset,$$
$$\forall x \in X, p \in L. \tag{4.68}$$

Conversely, if  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  is nonempty and compact, and (4.66) and (4.67) hold for some c satisfying (4.68), then  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the extended sense.

*Proof.* Let  $(p^*)$  be well-posed in the extended sense. Consider

$$c(s,t) = \inf \{ \inf_{y \in V(p)} \xi_e(I(x,p) - y) : \rho(p,p^*) = s, d(x, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) = t \}$$

where  $s \ge 0, t \ge 0$  are suitably small. Let us first check that (4.66) and (4.67) hold. For any  $s \ge 0, t \ge 0$  suitably small, for any x, p satisfying  $\rho(p, p^*) = s, d(x, argmin_{int}C(p^*)) = t$ , if  $y \in V(p)$ , then

$$I(x,p) - y \not\leq_{intC} 0$$
,

therefore,

$$\xi_e(I(x,p)-y)\geq 0.$$

Thus.

$$\inf_{y \in V(p)} \xi_e(I(x, p) - y)) \ge 0.$$

Hence,  $c(s,t) \geq 0$ . Moreover, if s=0, t=0, it follows from the extended well-posedness of  $(p^*)$  that  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  is nonempty and compact. Hence,  $d(x, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) = 0$  implies  $x \in argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ . In addition,  $\rho(p, p^*) = 0$  implies  $p = p^*$ . Consequently, the combination of  $d(x, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) = 0$  and  $\rho(p, p^*) = 0$  yields  $I(x, p) \in V(p^*)$ . Hence,

$$c(0,0) \le \inf_{y \in V(p^*)} \xi_e(I(x,p) - y) \le \xi_e(I(x,p) - I(x,p)) = 0.$$

This combined with the inequality  $c(0,0) \ge 0$ , which has been proved above, yields c(0,0) = 0. Thus, (4.66) is verified. Now we show that (4.67) holds. Suppose that  $s_k \ge 0$ ,  $t_k \ge 0$  and  $c(s_k, t_k) \to 0$ , then there exist  $p_k$ ,  $x_k$  and  $y_k \in V(p_k)$  such that

$$\xi_e(I(x_k, p_k) - y_k) \to 0, \rho(p_k, p^*) = s_k, d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) = t_k.$$
 (4.69)

By (4.69), there exist  $\alpha_k > 0, \alpha_k \to 0$  such that

$$\xi_e(I(x_k, p_k) - y_k) \le \alpha_k,$$

implying

$$I(x_k, p_k) \le_C y_k + \alpha_k e.$$

Hence,  $\{x_k\}$  is an asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $\{p_k\}$ . So

$$t_k = d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \rightarrow 0$$

by Proposition 4.82, i.e., (4.67) holds. By the definition of c, it is easy to see that (4.68) holds. This proves the first part. Now assume that  $\{p_k\} \subset L$  with  $p_k \to p^*$  and  $\{x_k\}$  is an asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $\{p_k\}$ . That is, there exist  $y_k \in V(p_k)$  and  $\alpha_k > 0$ ,  $\alpha_k \to 0$  such that

$$I(x_k, p_k) \le_C y_k + \alpha_k e. \tag{4.70}$$

Moreover, (4.68) implies

$$I(x_k, p_k) - y_k - c(d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)), \rho(p_k, p^*))e \nleq_{intC} 0.$$

$$(4.71)$$

The combination of (4.70) and (4.71) yields

$$\alpha_k e - c(d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)), \rho(p_k, p^*)) e \not\leq_{intC} 0.$$
(4.72)

Arguing by contradiction, it is easy to see that (4.72) implies

$$c(d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)), \rho(p_k, p^*)) \rightarrow 0.$$

By (4.67), we have

$$d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \rightarrow 0.$$

Applying Proposition 4.82, we conclude that  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the extended sense.

Recall that the Kuratowski measure of noncompactness of a subset A of X is defined by

 $\alpha(A) = \inf\{k > 0 : A \text{ has a finite cover of sets with diameter } < k\}.$ 

In the following theorem, we need the condition:

$$\alpha(\cup\{\epsilon-argmin_{intC}(p):\rho(p,p^*)<\epsilon\})\to 0, \text{ as }\epsilon\to 0.$$
 (4.73)

**Definition 4.85.** Problem (p) is said to have the weak domination property if, for any  $x \in X$ , there exists  $x' \in argmin_{intC}(p)$  such that  $I(x', p) \leq_C I(x, p)$ .

**Theorem 4.86.** If X is a complete metric space and  $\forall x' \in X$ ,  $\xi_e(I(x',.) - I(.,.))$  is u.s.c. on  $X \times \{p^*\}$ , (4.73) holds and problem (p) enjoys the weak domination property, then problem  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense. Conversely, the strongly extended well-posedness of problem  $(p^*)$  implies (4.73).

*Proof.* Let

$$T(\epsilon) = \bigcup \{\epsilon - argmin_{intC}(p) : \rho(p, p^*) < \epsilon\}.$$

Suppose that (4.73) holds. Then  $cl(T(\epsilon))$  is nonempty, closed and increasing in  $\epsilon$  (with respect to the relation of set inclusion). By (4.73),  $\alpha(cl(T(\epsilon))) = \alpha(T(\epsilon)) \to 0$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$ . By the Kuratowski theorem ([126], p.318), we have  $haus[cl(T(\epsilon)), T] \to 0$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$ , where

$$T = \bigcap \{ cl(T(\epsilon)) : \epsilon > 0 \} \tag{4.74}$$

is nonempty and compact.

Let us show that

$$T = argmin_{intC}(p^*). (4.75)$$

It is obvious from (4.74) that

$$d(x, T(\epsilon)) = 0, \ \forall x \in T, \forall \epsilon > 0. \tag{4.76}$$

To prove (4.75), we need only to show that  $T \subset argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  since  $argmin_{intC}(p^*) \subset T$  holds automatically. Suppose that there exists  $x \in T$  such that  $x \notin argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ . Then  $\exists x' \in X$  with  $J(x') - J(x) \leq_{intC} 0$ . Hence,  $\exists \delta > 0$  with  $\xi_e(J(x') - J(x)) < -\delta$  or  $\xi_e(I(x', p^*) - I(x, p^*)) < -\delta$ . Since  $\xi_e(I(x', \cdot) - I(\cdot, \cdot))$  is u.s.c. on  $X \times \{p^*\}$ , we deduce that  $\exists \epsilon_0 > 0$  such that, when  $d(x, u) < \epsilon_0$ ,  $\rho(p, p^*) < \epsilon_0$ , we have

$$\xi_e(I(x',p)-I(u,p))<-\delta.$$

Namely,

$$I(x',p) - I(u,p) \le_{intC} -\delta e.$$

So when  $\epsilon < \min(\epsilon_0, \delta)$ , for any u with  $d(u, x) < \epsilon_0$ ,  $u \notin T(\epsilon)$  holds. In other words,  $u \in T(\epsilon)$  implies  $d(u, x) \ge \epsilon_0$ , which contradicts (4.76). Hence,  $T = argmin_{intG}(p^*)$ .

Now we prove that problem  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense. Suppose that  $p_k \to p^*, \{x_k\}$  is a weakly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $\{p_k\}$ , namely,

$$\left[\inf_{y\in V(p_k)}\xi_e(y-I(x_k,p_k))\right]\geq 0.$$

Hence  $\exists \epsilon_k > 0$ ,  $\epsilon_k$  is decreasing and converges to 0 such that

$$y - I(x_k, p_k) + \epsilon_k e \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall y \in V(p_k).$$

Since  $(p_k)$  has weak domination property, we conclude that  $x_k \in \epsilon_k - argmin_{intC}(p_k)$ . Moreover,  $\epsilon_k$  is monotone decreasing, we have a subsequence  $\{p_{k_i}\}$  such that

$$\rho(p_{k_i}, p^*) \le \epsilon_k$$

and

$$x_{k_i} \in \epsilon_k - argmin_{intC}(p_{k_i}) \subset T(\epsilon_k).$$

By (4.74) and (4.75), we know that

$$d(x_{k_i}, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \rightarrow 0.$$

From the compactness of  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ , we deduce that  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense.

Now we prove the second part of the theorem. Assume that  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense. Consider the excess

$$q(\epsilon) = e(T(\epsilon), argmin_{intC}(p^*)), \quad \epsilon > 0.$$

We show that  $q(\epsilon) \to 0$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$ . If not, there exist  $\delta > 0$ ,  $\epsilon_k \to 0$ ,  $x_k \in T(\epsilon_k)$  such that

$$d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \ge \delta, \quad \forall k.$$
 (4.77)

We can find  $p_k \to p^*$  such that  $x_k$  is a weakly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$ , and thus (4.77) contradicts the extended strong well-posedness of  $(p^*)$ . Hence,  $q(\epsilon) \to 0$  as  $\epsilon \to 0$ . So, we have

$$T(\epsilon) \subset \{u \in X : d(u, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \le q(\epsilon)\}.$$

Hence,

$$\alpha(T(\epsilon)) \le 2q(\epsilon),$$

since

$$\alpha(argmin_{intC}(p^*)) = 0,$$

and (4.73) follows.

Remark 4.87. If, for any  $\lambda \in C^*$ ,  $x' \in X$ ,  $\lambda(I(x',.))$  is u.s.c. at  $p^*$  and  $\lambda(I(.,.))$  is l.s.c. on  $X \times \{p^*\}$ , then for any  $x' \in X$ ,  $\xi_e(I(x',.)-I(.,.))$  is u.s.c. on  $X \times \{p^*\}$ .

Similar to the proof of the first part of Theorem 4.86, we can prove

**Theorem 4.88.** If X is complete, and for any  $x' \in X$ ,  $\xi_e(I(x',.) - I(.,.))$  is u.s.c. on  $X \times \{p^*\}$  and (4.74) holds, then  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the extended sense.

Remark 4.89. In Theorem 4.88, we dropped the assumption that (p) has the weak domination property.

In the remainder of this section, we assume that  $(X, \|\cdot\|)$  is a Banach space.

The following theorem is a new variant of Ekeland's variational principle for a vector-valued function without assuming that the function is C order bounded below.

**Theorem 4.90.** Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a vector-valued function, f is l.s.c. on X and  $\xi_e(f)$  is bounded below on X. Let  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $x^*$  satisfy

$$f(x) - f(x^*) + \epsilon e \not\leq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Then, for any real number  $\delta > 0$ ,  $\exists x' \in X$  such that

- $(i) f(x') \le_C f(x^*),$
- (ii)  $||x' x^*|| \le \delta$ ,
- $(iii)''f(x) f(x') + \frac{\epsilon}{\delta} ||x x'|| e \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in X \setminus \{x'\}.$

Proof. Let  $X_1 = \{x \in X : f(x) \leq_C f(x^*)\}$ . Then  $X_1$  is a closed subset of X by the l.s.c. of f. It follows from the assumption on  $x^*$  that  $\xi_e(f(x) - f(x^*)) + \epsilon \geq 0, \forall x \in X$ , i.e.,  $x^*$  is an  $\epsilon$ -minimum of the scalar function  $\xi_e(f(x) - f(x^*))$  on  $X_1$ . In addition, from the conditions of this theorem, we deduce that  $\xi_e(f(x) - f(x^*))$  is l.s.c. and bounded below. Applying Theorem 4.1, we know that for any  $\delta > 0$ , there exists an  $x' \in X_1$  such that (ii) holds, and  $\xi_e(f(x) - f(x^*)) + \frac{\epsilon}{\delta} ||x - x'|| > 0, \forall x \in X_1 \setminus \{x'\}$ , i.e.,  $f(x) - f(x') + \frac{\epsilon}{\delta} ||x - x'|| e \not\leq_{intC} 0, \forall x \in X_1 \setminus \{x'\}$ , hence (iii) holds. Since  $x' \in X_1$ , (i) holds true automatically.

Let 
$$C^{*0} = \{l \in C^* : ||l|| = 1\}.$$

**Proposition 4.91.** Assume that for all  $p \in L$ , I(.,p) is Gateaux differentiable;  $\forall x' \in X, \xi_e(I(x',.) - I(.,.))$  is u.s.c. on  $X \times \{p^*\}; I(.,p)$  is l.s.c.; Assumption 4.72 holds; and

 $(C_1)$  for any sequence  $p_k \to p^*$  in P, if  $x_k$  is an asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$  and there exists  $\lambda_k \in C^{*0}$  such that  $\|\lambda_k(\nabla_x I(x_k, p_k))\| \to 0$ , then  $\{x_k\}$  has a convergent subsequence.

Then  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the extended sense.

*Proof.* Given  $p_k \to p^*$ , let  $x_k$  be an asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$ . That is,  $\exists y_k \in V(p_k), \alpha_k > 0, \alpha_k \to 0$  such that

$$I(x_k, p_k) \leq_C y_k + \alpha_k e$$
.

It is easy to see that

$$I(x, p_k) - I(x_k, p_k) + 2\alpha_k e \nleq_C 0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

Noticing that  $I(., p_k)$  is l.s.c. and Assumption 4.72 holds, applying Theorem 4.90 with  $\epsilon = 2\alpha_k, \delta = \sqrt{2\alpha_k}$ , we obtain  $z_k \in X$  such that

$$I(z_k, p_k) \le_C I(x_k, p_k) \text{ and } ||z_k - x_k|| \le \sqrt{2\alpha_k}$$
 (4.78)

and

$$I(x, p_k) - I(z_k, p_k) + \sqrt{2\alpha_k} ||x - z_k|| e \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in X,$$

implying

$$(I(x, p_k) - I(z_k, p_k)) / ||x - z_k|| + \sqrt{2\alpha_k} e \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall x \in X.$$
 (4.79)

For any  $d \in X \setminus \{0\}$ , t > 0, let  $x = z_k + td$ , substitute it into (4.79), let  $t \to 0$  and apply the Gateaux differentiability of  $I(., p_k)$ . We have

$$\nabla_x I(z_k, p_k)(d) + \sqrt{2\alpha_k} e \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall d \in X.$$

Applying the separation theorem for convex sets, we know there exists  $\lambda_k \in C^{*0}$  such that

$$\lambda_k(\nabla_x I(z_k, p_k)(d)) + \sqrt{2\alpha_k}\lambda_k(e) \ge 0, \quad \forall d \in X,$$

that is,

$$\lambda_k(\nabla_x I(z_k, p_k)(d)) \ge -\sqrt{2\alpha_k}\lambda_k(e), \quad \forall d \in X.$$

Arguing by contradiction, we deduce that

$$\|\lambda_k(\nabla_x I(z_k, p_k))\| \le \sqrt{2\alpha_k}\lambda_k(e) \le \sqrt{2\alpha_k}\|e\|.$$

Hence,

$$\|\lambda_k(\nabla_x I(z_k, p_k))\| \to 0$$
, as  $k \to \infty$ .

Noticing that  $\{z_k\}$  is still an asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $\{p_k\}$  and applying  $(C_1)$ , we know that  $\{z_k\}$  has a subsequence  $\{z_{k_i}\}$  converging to  $z^*$ . By (4.78),  $||z_k - x_k|| \to 0$  as  $k \to \infty$ . So  $x_{k_i} \to z^*$ . Let us show by contradiction that  $z^* \in argmin_{int}C(X, J)$ . Otherwise,  $\exists x_0 \in X$  with

$$I(x_0, p^*) - I(z^*, p^*) \le_{intC} 0.$$

So  $\exists \delta > 0$  such that

$$I(x_0, p^*) - I(z^*, p^*) \le_{intC} -\delta e,$$

that is,

$$\xi_e(I(x_0, p^*) - I(z^*, p^*)) < -\delta.$$

It follows from the u.s.c. of  $\xi_e(I(x_0,.)-I(.,.))$  on  $X \times \{p^*\}$  that  $\exists \epsilon_0 > 0$ , when  $\rho(p,p^*) < \epsilon_0$  and  $||u-z^*|| < \epsilon_0$ ,

$$\xi_e(I(x_0, p) - I(u, p)) < -\delta,$$

that is,

$$I(x_0, p) - I(u, p) + \delta e \leq_{intC} 0.$$

Hence, when k is sufficiently large,

$$I(x_0, p_{k_i}) - I(x_{k_i}, p_{k_i}) + \delta e \leq_{intC} 0,$$

which contradicts  $x_{k_i} \in \alpha_{k_i} - argmin_{intC}(p_{k_i})$ . So  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the extended sense.

Similarly, we can prove the following two propositions.

**Proposition 4.92.** Assume that for any  $p \in L$ , I(.,p) is Gateaux differentiable;  $\forall x' \in X, \xi_e(I(x',.) - I(.,.))$  is u.s.c. on  $X \times \{p^*\}$ ; I(.,p) is l.s.c.; Assumption 4.72 holds; and

 $(C_2)$  for any sequence  $p_k \to p^*$  in P, if  $x_k$  is a weakly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$  and there exists  $\lambda_k \in C^{*0}$  such that  $\|\lambda_k(\nabla_x I(x_k, p_k))\| \to 0$ , then  $\{x_k\}$  has a convergent subsequence.

Moreover,  $\forall p \in L$ , problem (p) enjoys the weak domination property. Then  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense.

**Proposition 4.93.** Assume that for any  $p \in L$ , I(.,p) is Gateaux differentiable;  $\forall x' \in X, \xi_e(I(x',.) - I(.,.))$  is u.s.c. on  $X \times \{p^*\}$ ; I(.,p) is l.s.c.; Assumption 4.72 holds; and

 $(C_3)$  for any sequence  $p_k \to p^*$  in P, if  $x_k$  is a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$  and there exists  $\lambda_k \in C^{*0}$  such that  $\|\lambda_k(\nabla_x I(x_k, p_k))\| \to 0$ , then  $\{x_k\}$  has a convergent subsequence.

Moreover, assume that

$$||z_k - x_k|| \to 0, I(z_k, p_k) \le_C I(x_k, p_k)$$
  
and  $x_k, p_k$  as in  $(C_3)$  imply  $d(I(z_k, x_k), V(p_k)) \to 0.$  (4.80)

Then  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the weakly extended sense.

Remark 4.94. (4.80) holds automatically when  $Y = \mathbb{R}, C = \mathbb{R}_+$ .

## 4.6 Extended Well-Posedness in Set-Valued Optimization

In this section, we investigate the extended well-posedness properties of setvalued optimization problems.

Let Z be a topological space and  $F: X \rightrightarrows Z$  be a set-valued function. F is called strict if, for every  $x \in X$ ,  $F(x) \neq \emptyset$ . Let  $f: Y \to \mathbb{R}$  be a real function. Recall that f is monotone with respect to C if, for any  $y_1, y_2 \in Y$  with  $y_1 \leq_C y_2$ , we have  $f(y_1) \leq f(y_2)$ . We assume that the parametric space  $(P, \rho)$  is a metric space, a point  $p^* \in P$  is fixed and L is a closed ball in P with the center  $p^*$  and a positive radius.

We also make the following assumption.

**Assumption 4.95.** Set-valued functions  $J: X \rightrightarrows Y$ , and  $I: X \times L \rightrightarrows Y$  are strict and for any  $p \in L$ , there exist  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  and a real number a such that  $\lambda(y) \geq a, \forall y \in I(X, p),$  where  $J(x) = I(x, p^*), \forall x \in X$ .

242

Consider the following set-valued optimization problems:

$$(X,J): \mathrm{Inf}_{intC} \underset{x \in X}{\cup} J(x)$$

and

$$(X, I(., p)) : \operatorname{Inf}_{intC} \bigcup_{x \in X} I(x, p).$$

- (X, J) is called the original problem, while (X, I(., p)) is called the model perturbation of the original problem corresponding to the parameter  $p \in L$ . Let V(p) denote the set of weak infima of I(X, p),  $\forall p \in L$ . By  $y \in V(p)$  we mean that the following conditions are satisfied:
  - (i)  $y \in Y$ ;
  - (ii) There exists no  $x \in X$  such that  $[I(x,p)-y](-intC) \neq \emptyset$ ; and
- (iii) There exists a sequence  $x_k \in X$  and  $y_k \in I(x_k, p)$  such that  $y_k \to y$ . Recall that an element  $x \in X$  is called a weakly minimal solution to (X, I(., p)) if there exists a  $y \in I(x, p)$  such that  $y \in V(p)$ .

We denote by  $argmin_{intC}(X, J)$  and  $argmin_{intC}(X, I(., p))$  the sets of the weakly minimal solutions of (X, J) and (X, I(., p)),  $\forall p \in L$ , respectively.

Throughout this section, we always assume that  $V(p) \neq \emptyset$  wherever it appears.

**Definition 4.96.** (X, J) is said to be well-posed in the extended sense with respect to the embedding defined by I if

- (i) Assumption 4.95 holds;
- (ii)  $argmin_{intC}(X, J) \neq \emptyset$ ;

(iii)

$$[\forall p_k \to p^* \text{ and } (x_k, y_k) \in X \times Min_C(I(x_k, p_k)) \text{ such that}$$
  
 $y_k \leq_C z_k + \epsilon_k e, \text{ for some } \epsilon_k > 0, \epsilon_k \to 0$   
and some  $z_k \in V(p_k), ]$  (4.81)

then there exist a subsequence  $\{x_{k_i}\}$  of  $\{x_k\}$  and  $x^* \in argmin_{intC}(X, J)$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ .

The sequence  $(x_k, y_k)$  as in (4.81) is called an asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to sequence  $p_k$ .

**Definition 4.97.** (X, J) is said to be well-posed in the strongly extended sense with respect to the embedding defined by I if

- (i) Assumption 4.95 holds:
- (ii)  $argmin_{intC}(X, J) \neq \emptyset$ ;

(iii)

$$[\forall p_k \to p^* \text{ and } (x_k, y_k) \in X \times Min_C(I(x_k, p_k)) \text{ such that }$$

$$(I(X, p_k) - y_k + \epsilon_k e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset, \text{ for some } \epsilon_k > 0, \epsilon_k \to 0,]$$
 (4.82)

then there exist a subsequence  $\{x_{k_i}\}$  of  $\{x_k\}$  and  $x^* \in argmin_{intC}(X, J)$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ .

The sequence  $(x_k, y_k)$  as in (4.82) is called a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to sequence  $p_k$ .

Clearly, an asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$  is a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$ .

Remark 4.98. (i) It is easy to see that the strongly extended well-posedness implies the extended well-posedness if V(p) is nonempty, for all  $p \in L$ . However, the converse may not be true. The following example demonstrates this fact.

Example 4.99. Let  $X=\mathbb{R}_+,\,Y=\mathbb{R}^2,\,C=\mathbb{R}_+^2,\,e=(1,1),\,P=\mathbb{R}_+,\,p^*=0$  and

$$I(x,p) = \begin{cases} (0,0) + [0,1] \times [0,1], & \text{if } x \in [0,1], \forall p; \\ (k,x-k) + (0,p) + [0,1] \times [0,1], & \text{if } x \in (k,k+1], k = 1, 2, \cdots, \forall p. \end{cases}$$

We show that the problem (X, J) is well-posed in the extended sense, but not well-posed in the strongly extended sense.

It is clear that  $V(p) = \{(0,0)\}, \forall p; argmin_{intC}(X,J) = [0,1];$  and Assumption 4.95 holds. It is easy to see that for any sequences  $x_k, p_k, y_k \in I(x_k, p_k)$  such that  $p_k \to p^*$  and  $y_k \leq_C (0,0) + \epsilon_k(1,1)$  with  $\epsilon_k \to 0^+$ , we have  $x_k \in [0,1]$  when k is sufficiently large. Hence there exists a subsequence  $\{x_{k_i}\}$  and  $x^* \in [0,1]$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ . So (X,J) is well-posed in the extended sense. However, for sequence  $x_k = n$ ,  $p_k = 1/k$ ,  $y_k = (k,1/k) \in I(x_k, p_k)$ , it is easy to check that  $x_k$  is a strongly asymptotically minimizing corresponding to  $p_k$  and there exists no subsequence  $x_{k_i}$  and  $x^* \in [0,1]$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ . Hence (X,J) is not well-posed in the strongly extended sense.

- (ii) When  $Y = \mathbb{R}$ ,  $C = \mathbb{R}_+$  and I, J are real-valued, the definition of the strongly extended well-posedness is the same as that of the extended well-posedness defined in [226].
- (iii) If I, J are single-valued, then the extended (strongly extended) well-posedness here reduces to the extended (resp. strongly extended) well-posedness in [99].
- (iv) If (X, J) is well-posed in the (strongly) extended sense, then the solution set  $argmin_{intC}(X, J)$  is sequentially closed and compact.

For simplicity, we write  $argmin_{intC}(p)$  instead of  $argmin_{intC}(X, I(., p))$ ; (p) instead of (X, I(., p)). Thus,  $(p^*) = (X, J)$ .

Now we give some criteria and characterizations for these two types of well-posedness. First of all, we consider the following set-valued function:

$$(\epsilon, p) \to M(\epsilon, p) = \epsilon - argmin_{intC}(p) = \{x \in X : \exists y \in Min_C(I(x, p)) \text{ with } (I(X, p) - y + \epsilon e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset\}, \text{ for } \epsilon > 0, p \in L.$$

**Lemma 4.100.** Let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function and there exist  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  and a real number a such that  $\lambda(y) \geq a, \forall y \in F(X)$ . Then for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exist an  $x^*$  and a  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that  $(F(X) - y^* + \epsilon e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset$ .

*Proof.* Let  $s = \inf \{\lambda(y) : y \in F(X)\}$ . By the assumption of Lemma 4.100, we have  $s > -\infty$ . Since  $\lambda(e) > 0$ , we deduce that, for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exist  $x^* \in X$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that

$$\lambda(y^*) < s + \epsilon \lambda(e) \le \lambda(y) + \epsilon \lambda(e), \quad \forall y \in F(X).$$
 (4.83)

Now we show by contradiction that  $x^*$  and  $y^*$  are just what we want in Lemma 4.100.

Suppose that there exist  $x_1 \in X$  and  $y_1 \in F(x_1)$  such that

$$y_1 - y^* + \epsilon e \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0.$$

Then

$$\lambda(y_1 - y^* + \epsilon e) \le 0.$$

Therefore,

$$\lambda(y_1) \le \lambda(y^*) - \epsilon \lambda(e),$$

which contradicts (4.83). The proof is complete.

**Proposition 4.101.** If Assumption 4.95 holds and, for any  $p \in L, x \in X$ , I(x,p) enjoys the lower domination property, then  $\forall \epsilon > 0, M(\epsilon,p) \neq \emptyset$ .

Proof. Let  $p \in L$ . It follows from Lemma 4.100 that, for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exist  $x^* \in X$  and  $y^* \in I(x^*, p)$  such that  $(I(X, p) - y^* + \epsilon e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset$ . Since  $I(x^*, p)$  has the lower domination property, we conclude that there exists  $y_1^* \in \operatorname{Min}_C(I(x^*, p))$  such that  $y_1^* \leq_C y^*$ . Therefore,  $(I(X, p) - y_1^* + \epsilon e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset$ . That is,  $M(\epsilon, p) \neq \emptyset$ . The proof is complete.

In the following, we assume that (X, d) is a metric space.

**Proposition 4.102.** Let Assumption 4.95 hold. If  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense, then

$$M$$
 is upper semicontinuous at  $(0, p^*)$ .  $(4.84)$ 

Conversely, if M is u.s.c. at  $(0, p^*)$  and  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  is nonempty and compact, then  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense.

*Proof.* We prove (4.84) by contradiction. Suppose that

$$\exists \delta > 0, (\epsilon_k, p_k) \to (0, p^*)(\epsilon_k > 0) \text{ and } x_k \in \epsilon_k - argmin_{intC}(p_k)$$
 (4.85)

such that

$$d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \ge \delta. \tag{4.86}$$

By (4.85),  $\exists y_k \in \operatorname{Min}_C(I(x_k, p_k))$  with  $(I(X, p_k) - y_k + \epsilon_k e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset$ , implying  $(x_k, y_k)$  is a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$ . Hence, there exist a subsequence  $\{x_{k_i}\}$  of  $\{x_k\}$  and  $x^* \in argmin_{int}C(p^*)$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ , contradicting (4.86).

Now let us prove the second part. Let  $p_k \to p^*$ ,  $\epsilon_k \to 0$  ( $\epsilon_k > 0$ ). If  $(x_k, y_k)$  is a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$ , then  $x_k \in M(\epsilon_k, p_k)$ . By the u.s.c. of M, we know that  $\exists u_k \in argmin_{int}C(p^*)$  such that

$$x_k - u_k \to 0. \tag{4.87}$$

By the compactness of  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ , there exist a subsequence  $\{u_{k_i}\}$  of  $\{u_k\}$  and  $x^* \in argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  such that

$$u_{k_i} \to x^*. \tag{4.88}$$

The combination of (4.87) and (4.88) yields  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ . Hence,  $(p^*)$  is strongly well-posed in the extended sense and the proof is complete.

Now we introduce the concept of the (strongly) extended stability of  $(p^*)$ :

[ $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  is nonempty, for any sequence  $p_k \to p^*$ , for any strongly asymptotically (resp. asymptotically) minimizing sequence  $(x_k, y_k)$  corresponding to  $p_k$ , we have  $d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \to 0$ .] (4.89)

The following proposition establishes the relationship between the (strongly) extended stability of  $(p^*)$  and the (strongly) extended well-posedness of  $(p^*)$ .

**Proposition 4.103.** If  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the (strongly) extended sense, then (4.89) holds. Conversely, (4.89) implies the well-posedness of  $(p^*)$  in the (resp. strongly) extended sense if  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  is compact.

*Proof.* We only prove the "strong" case since the proof of the other case is quite similar. We prove the first part of the proposition by contradiction. Suppose that (4.89) fails. Then  $\exists \delta > 0, p_k \to p^*$  and a corresponding strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence  $(x_k, y_k)$  such that

$$d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \ge \delta. (4.90)$$

By the strongly extended well-posedness of  $(p^*)$ , there exist a subsequence  $\{x_{k_i}\}$  of  $\{x_k\}$  and  $x^* \in argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  such that  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ , yielding  $d(x_{k_i}, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \to 0$ , contradicting (4.90).

Conversely, for any  $p_k \to p^*$  and a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence  $(x_k, y_k)$  corresponding to  $p_k$ , it follows from (4.89) that

$$d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \rightarrow 0.$$

So  $\exists u_k \in argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  such that

$$d(x_k, u_k) \to 0. \tag{4.91}$$

Now that  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  is compact, there exist a subsequence  $\{u_{k_i}\}$  of  $\{u_k\}$  and  $x^* \in argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  such that

$$u_{k_i} \to x^*. \tag{4.92}$$

The combination of (4.91) and (4.92) yields  $d(x_{k_i}, x^*) \to 0$ .

Hence,  $(p^*)$  is strongly extended well-posed and the proof is complete.

Now we consider the metric characterizations. First, we introduce the concept of the stability of  $(p^*)$ :

Let  $M^* = argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ .  $(p^*)$  is said to be stable if  $M^* \neq \emptyset$  and  $\forall y_k \in J(x_k), \epsilon_k > 0, \epsilon_k \to 0, y_k - z_k \leq_C \epsilon_k e$ , for some  $\{z_k\} \subset V(p^*)$  implies  $d(x_k, M^*) \to 0$ .

A function  $c: D \to \mathbb{R}$  is called forcing iff  $0 \in D \subset [0, +\infty)$ , c(0) = 0,  $c(t) \ge 0$ ,  $\forall t \in D$  and  $a_k \in D$ ,  $c(a_k) \to 0$  implies  $a_k \to 0$ .

### Proposition 4.104. If

$$[M^* \neq \emptyset \text{ and } (J(x) - V(p^*) - c[d(x, M^*)]e) \cap -intC) = \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in X$$
and some forcing function c], (4.93)

then  $(p^*)$  is stable. Conversely, if J is u.s.c. on X,  $\forall x \in X, J(x)$  enjoys the lower domination property and  $(p^*)$  is stable, then (4.93) holds true.

*Proof.* Assume that (4.93) holds. Let  $x_k \in X, y_k \in J(x_k), \epsilon_k \to 0, \epsilon_k > 0$  and  $y_k \leq_C z_k + \epsilon_k e$ , for some  $\{z_k\} \subset V(p^*)$ . Then

$$\xi_e(y_k - z_k) \le \epsilon_k. \tag{4.94}$$

By (4.93), we have  $y_k - z_k - c[d(x_k, M^*)]e \notin -intC$ , implying

$$\xi_e(y_k - z_k) - c[d(x_k, M^*)] \ge 0.$$
 (4.95)

The combination of (4.94) and (4.95) yields  $c[d(x_k, M^*)] \to 0$ , implying  $d(x_k, M^*) \to 0$ , by the forcing property of c.

Conversely, if J is u.s.c. on X, we first show that  $M^*$  is closed. In fact, suppose that  $x_k \in M^*, x_k \to x^*$ . Then  $\exists y_k \in J(x_k)$  with

$$(J(X) - y_k) \cap (-intC) = \emptyset. \tag{4.96}$$

Suppose that  $x^* \notin M^*$ . Then  $\forall y \in J(x^*), \exists z_y \in J(X \setminus \{x^*\})$  such that  $z_y - y \in -intC$  (Otherwise,  $\exists y^{*'} \in J(x^*)$  such that  $(J(X \setminus \{x^*\} - y^{*'}) \cap -intC = \emptyset)$ , by the lower domination property of  $J(x^*), \exists y^* \in \operatorname{Min}_C(J(x^*))$  with  $y^* \leq_C y^{*'}$ , hence,  $(J(X) - y^*) \cap (-intC) = \emptyset$ , implying  $x^* \in M^*$ ). So there exist an open set  $U_y$  such that  $y \in U_y$  and

$$z_y - U_y \subset -intC, \quad \forall y \in J(x^*).$$
 (4.97)

Obviously,  $J(x^*) \subset \bigcup_{y \in J(x^*)} U_y = U$ . Due to the upper semicontinuity of J at  $x^*$  and  $x_k \to x^*$ , it follows that  $J(x_k) \subset U$ , when k is sufficiently large, implying  $y_k \in U$ , when k is sufficiently large. Due to (4.97), for every k sufficiently large,  $\exists z_k \in J(X \setminus \{x^*\})$  such that  $z_k - y_k \in -intC$ , which contradicts (4.96). Now we define

$$c(t) = \inf \{ \inf_{z \in J(x), y \in V(v^*)} \xi_e(z - y) : d(x, M^*) = t \}, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Since  $\forall x \in X, \forall z \in J(x), \forall y \in V(p^*), z - y \notin -intC$ , implying  $\xi_e(z - y) \ge 0$ , we have

$$c(t) \ge 0, \quad \forall t \ge 0. \tag{4.98}$$

As  $M^*$  is closed, so  $x^* \in M^*$  if  $d(x^*, M^*) = 0$ . Thus  $\inf_{z \in J(x^*), y \in V(p^*)} \xi_e(z-y) \le 0$ , yielding

$$c(0) \le 0. \tag{4.99}$$

(4.98) and (4.99) jointly imply c(0) = 0. Suppose that  $a_k \geq 0$  and  $c(a_k) \rightarrow 0$ . By the definition of c, it follows that  $\exists \epsilon_k \rightarrow 0, \epsilon_k \geq 0$  and  $x_k \in X, z_k \in J(x_k), y_k \in V(p^*)$  such that  $d(x_k, M^*) = a_k$  and

$$\xi_e(z_k - y_k) \le \epsilon_k. \tag{4.100}$$

By (4.100), we have  $z_k - y_k \leq_C \epsilon_k e$ ,  $\forall k \in \mathbb{N}$ . By the stability of  $(p^*)$ , we know that  $a_k = d(x_k, M^*) \to 0$ . Finally, from the definition of c(t), we have

$$\xi_e(z-y) \ge c[d(x, M^*)], \quad \forall z \in J(x), \forall y \in V(p^*),$$

i.e.,

$$(J(X) - V(p^*) - c[d(x, M^*)]e) \cap (-intC) = \emptyset.$$

The proof is complete.

Consider a real-valued function: c=c(t,s) defined for  $t\geq 0, s\geq 0$  sufficiently small such that

$$c(t,s) \ge 0, c(0,0) = 0,$$
 (4.101)

$$s_k \to 0, t_k \ge 0, c(t_k, s_k) \to 0 \text{ implies } t_k \to 0.$$
 (4.102)

The following theorem is a metric characterization of the extended well-posedness of  $(p^*)$ .

**Theorem 4.105.** If  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the extended sense, then

$$[(I(x,p) - V(p) - c[d(x, argmin_{intC}(p^*)), \rho(p, p^*)]e) \cap (-intC) = \emptyset,$$
  
 
$$\forall x \in X, \forall p \in L \text{ and some } c \text{ verifying } (4.101) \text{ and } (4.102).]$$
(4.103)

Conversely, if  $V(p) \neq \emptyset$ , Assumption 4.95 holds and  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$  is nonempty and compact and (4.103) holds for some c verifying (4.101) and (4.102), then  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the extended sense.

*Proof.* Let  $(p^*)$  be well-posed in the extended sense. Consider

$$c(t,s) = \inf \big\{ \inf_{z \in I(x,p), y \in V(p)} \xi_e(z-y) : \rho(p,p^*) = s, d(x, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) = t \big\},$$

for  $t \geq 0$ ,  $s \geq 0$  sufficiently small. It is easy to see that  $c(t,s) \geq 0$ . We conclude that c(0,0) = 0 since  $argmin_{int}C(p^*)$  is closed. Now let  $s_k \geq 0$ ,  $t_k \geq 0$  with  $c(t_k, s_k) \to 0$  and  $s_k \to 0$ . Then  $\exists x_k \in X, p_k \in L, z_k \in I(x_k, p_k), y_k \in V(p_k), \epsilon_k > 0, \epsilon_k \to 0$  such that

$$\xi_e(z_k - y_k) \le \epsilon_k,\tag{4.104}$$

$$\rho(p_k, p^*) = s_k, d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) = t_k. \tag{4.105}$$

By (4.100), we have

$$z_k - y_k \le_C \epsilon_k e. \tag{4.106}$$

It follows from (4.105), (4.106) and the extended well-posedness of  $(p^*)$  that  $t_k \to 0$ . In addition, by the definition of c(t, s), we have

$$\xi_e(z-y) \ge c[d(x, argmin_{intC}(p^*)), \rho(p, p^*)], \quad \forall z \in I(x, p), \forall y \in V(p),$$

implying

$$(I(x,p)-V(p)-c[d(x,argmin_{intC}(p^*),\rho(p,p^*))]e)\cap (-intC)=\emptyset.$$

Conversely, if  $p_k \to p^*, x_k \in X, y_k \in I(x_k, p_k), \epsilon_k \to 0(\epsilon_k > 0), z_k \in V(p_k)$  such that  $y_k \leq_C z_k + \epsilon_k e$ . By (4.103), we have  $\epsilon_k \geq \xi_e(y_k - z_k) \geq c[d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)), \rho(p_k, p^*)]$ . It follows from (4.102) that we deduce  $d(x_k, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \to 0$ . Applying the compactness of  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ , we conclude that  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the extended sense. The proof is complete.

When p is near  $p^*$ , we need the following condition:

$$\alpha(\cup\{\epsilon - argmin_{int}C(p) : \rho(p, p^*) < \epsilon\}) \to 0, \text{ as } \epsilon \to 0,$$
 (4.107)

where  $\alpha(\cdot)$  is the Kuratowski measure of the noncompactness of a set.

**Definition 4.106.** ([143]) I is said to be compact on  $X \times \{p^*\}$  if, for any  $x \in X$ ,  $\forall \{(x_k, p_k)\}$  with  $(x_k, p_k) \to (x, p^*), \forall y_k \in I(x_k, p_k)$ , there exist a subsequence  $\{y_{k_i}\}$  and  $y \in I(x, p^*)$  such that  $y_{k_i} \to y$ .

**Theorem 4.107.** Assume that X is a complete metric space and Assumption 4.95 holds.  $argmin_{intC}(p^*) \neq \emptyset, V(p) \neq \emptyset, \forall p \in L. \ \forall p \in L, x \in X, I(x,p)$  is externally stable. I(.,.) is compact on  $X \times \{p^*\}, I(x,.)$  is lower semicontinuous at  $p^*$  for all  $x \in X$ . Then  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense if (4.107) holds. Conversely, this type of strong well-posedness implies (4.107).

*Proof.* Let, for any  $\epsilon > 0$ ,

$$T(\epsilon) = \bigcup \{\epsilon - argmin_{intC}(p) : \rho(p, p^*) \le \epsilon\}.$$

It follows from Proposition 4.101 that  $T(\epsilon) \neq \emptyset$ . Besides,  $\alpha(clT(\epsilon)) = \alpha(T(\epsilon)) \to 0$ , as  $\epsilon \to 0$ .

By the Kuratowski theorem ([126], p.318), we have

$$\text{haus}[clT(\epsilon), T] \to 0 \text{ as } \epsilon \to 0,$$

where

$$T = \bigcap \{ clT(\epsilon) : \epsilon > 0 \}$$

is nonempty and compact. Now we prove that  $T = argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ . Let  $\forall x^* \in T$ . Then

$$d(x^*, T(\epsilon)) = 0, \forall \epsilon > 0.$$

Given  $\epsilon_k > 0$ ,  $\epsilon_k \to 0$ ,  $\forall k$ ,  $\exists u_k \in T(\epsilon_k)$  such that  $d(x^*, u_k) < 1/k$ . Hence, by the compactness of I at  $(x^*, p^*)$ ,  $\exists p_k \to p^*, y_k \in I(u_k, p_k)$  such that there exist a subsequence  $\{y_{k_i}\}$  and  $y^* \in I(x^*, p^*)$  such that  $y_{k_i} \to y^*$ . We claim that  $y^* \in V(p^*)$ . Otherwise,  $\exists x \in X$ ,  $z \in I(x, p^*)$  and  $\delta > 0$  with  $z - y^* \leq_C -\delta e$ . From the lower semicontinuity of I(x, .) at  $p^*$  and  $p_{k_i} \to p^*$ , we deduce that  $\exists z_{k_i} \in I(x, p_{k_i})$  such that  $z_{k_i} - y_{k_i} \leq_C -\delta/2e$ , when i is sufficiently large, which is impossible since  $u_{k_i} \in T(\epsilon_{k_i})$ ,  $y_{k_i} \in I(u_{k_i}, p_{k_i})$  and  $\epsilon_{k_i} \to 0$ . Hence,  $x^* \in argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ . The opposite inclusion  $argmin_{intC}(p^*) \subset T$  is obvious.

Now let  $p_k \to p^*$  and  $(x_k, y_k)$  be a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$ . Then, by taking a subsequence, we can find a decreasing  $\epsilon_k > 0$  such that

$$(I(x_k, p_k) - y_k + \epsilon_k e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset.$$

A further subsequence verifies  $\rho(p_{k_i}, p^*) \leq \epsilon_k$ , yielding (since  $\epsilon_k$  decreases)

$$(I(x_{k_i}, p_{k_i}) - y_{k_i} + \epsilon_k e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset.$$

Hence,

$$x_{k_i} \in \epsilon_k - argmin_{intC}(p_{k_i}) \subset T(\epsilon_k).$$

$$d(x_{k_i}, argmin_{intC}(p^*)) \rightarrow 0.$$

Consequently, the strong extended well-posedness of  $(p^*)$  holds true by the compactness of  $argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ .

The proof of the second part of this theorem is the same as that of Theorem 4.86. The proof is complete.

In what follows, we present a variant of Ekeland's variational principle for set-valued functions and derive necessary condition for an approximate solution to a set-valued optimization problem based on a kind of generalized derivative for set-valued functions defined by Chen and Jahn [37] (see also Definition 2.40 in Chapter 2). Finally, we introduce a condition and provide sufficient conditions for the extended and strongly extended well-posednesses of set-valued optimization problems.

From now on, we assume that X and Y are both Banach spaces.

We need the following Ekeland's variational principle for set-valued functions.

**Lemma 4.108.** Let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be strict, compact-valued and upper semicontinuous. Suppose that there exist  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\lambda(y) \geq a, \forall y \in F(X)$ . Given  $\epsilon > 0$ ,  $x^* \in X$  and  $y^* \in F(x^*)$  such that  $((F(X) - y^*) + \epsilon e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset$ , then, for any  $\delta > 0$ , there exist  $x_{\epsilon} \in X$  and  $y_{\epsilon} \in Min_C(F(x_{\epsilon}))$  such that

(i) 
$$y_{\epsilon} \leq_C y^*$$
;  
(ii)  $||x_{\epsilon} - x^*|| \leq \delta$ ;  
(iii)  $(F(X) - y_{\epsilon} + \epsilon/\delta ||x - x_{\epsilon}|| e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset$ .

The proof is almost the same as that of Theorem 4.36 though the conditions are slightly weaker.

In the following, we will introduce a kind of epiderivatives for scalar setvalued functions and give a necessary optimality condition for an approximate solution to a set-valued optimization problem.

**Definition 4.109.** Let  $S \subset X$  be a nonempty set and  $F: S \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}$  be a setvalued function. Let  $(x^*, y^*) \in S \times F(x^*)$  be given. The modified generalized contingent epideriative  $D_mF(x^*, y^*): X \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{-\infty\} \cup \{+\infty\}$  of F at  $(x^*, y^*)$ is defined as follows: for any  $h \in X$ ,

$$D_m F(x^*, y^*)(h) = \begin{cases} inf\{t : (h, t) \in T(epi(F), (x^*, y^*))\}, \\ if \exists t \in \mathbb{R} \text{ such that } (h, t) \in T(epi(F), (x^*, y^*)), \\ +\infty, \text{ otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where

$$epi(F) = \{(x, y) \in X \times IR : y \in F(x) + IR_{+}\}.$$

Remark 4.110. We have slightly modified the definition of the generalized contingent epiderivative of F at  $(x^*, y^*) \in Gr(F)$  given in Definition 2.40 (when Y reduces to  $\mathbb{R}$  and C reduces to  $\mathbb{R}_+$ ). One advantage of this modification is that  $D_m F(x^*, y^*)(h)$  is a finite real number or  $-\infty$  or  $+\infty$  for any  $h \in X$  when  $Y = \mathbb{R}$  and  $C = \mathbb{R}_+$ , while the Definition 2.40 may lead to  $D_g F(x^*, y^*)(h) = \emptyset$ , for some  $h \in X$ .

**Proposition 4.111.** Let  $F: S \Rightarrow \mathbb{R}$  be a set-valued function,  $(x^*, y^*) \in S \times F(x^*)$ ,  $f: S \to \mathbb{R}$  be locally Lipschitz near  $x^*$ , the direction derivative  $f'(x^*, h)$  exists for all  $h \in T(S, x^*)$ . Then

$$D_m(F+f)(x^*, y^*+f(x^*))(h) = D_mF(x^*, y^*)(h) + f'(x^*, h), \forall h \in X.$$
 (4.108)

*Proof.* We prove (4.108) in three cases.

- (i) If  $h \notin T(S, x^*)$ , then (4.108) holds automatically.
- (ii) Suppose that  $h \in T(S, x^*)$  and

$$\forall t \in \mathbb{R}, (h, t) \notin T(epi(F), (x^*, y^*)).$$
 (4.109)

In this case, we assert that

$$\forall t \in \mathbb{R}, (h, t) \notin T(epi(F + f), (x^*, y^* + f(x^*)).$$

Otherwise,  $\exists (h, t') \in T(epi(F + f), (x^*, y^* + f(x^*))$ . So  $\exists \lambda_k \in \mathbb{R}_+, \lambda_k \to +\infty, x_k \in S, y_k \geq z_k + f(x_k)$  with  $z_k \in F(x_k)$  such that

$$h = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda_k (x_k - x^*),$$

$$t' = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda_k (y_k - y^* - f(x^*))$$

$$= \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda_k (y_k - f(x_k) - y^*) + \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda_k (f(x_k) - f(x^*))$$

$$= \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda_k (y_k - f(x_k) - y^*) + f'(x^*, h).$$

As

$$(x_k, y_k - f(x_k)) \in epi(F),$$

so we have

$$(h, t' - f'(x^*, h)) \in T(epi(F), (x^*, y^*)),$$

contradicting (4.109). Thus, we have proved that if  $\forall t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $(h, t) \notin T(epi(F), (x^*, y^*))$ , then (4.108) holds.

(iii)  $\exists t' \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $(h, t') \in T(epi(F), (x^*, y^*))$ .

As shown in case (ii) (with F replaced by F+f, f replaced by -f,  $y^*$  replaced by  $y^*+f(x^*)$  and  $f(x^*)$  replaced by  $-f(x^*)$ ), we can prove that there exists  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$(h,t) \in T(epi(F+f), (x^*, y^* + f(x^*)).$$

Let

$$(h,t) \in T(epi(F+f), (x^*, y^* + f(x^*)).$$

Then  $\exists \lambda_k \in \mathbb{R}_+, \lambda_k \to +\infty, x_k \in S, y_k \geq z_k + f(x^*)$  with  $z_k \in F(x_k)$  such that

$$h = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda_k(x_k - x^*),$$

$$t = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda_k (y_k - y^* - f(x^*)) = t - f'(x^*, h).$$

So

$$(h, t - f'(x^*, h)) \in T(epi(F), (x^*, y^*)).$$

Thus,

$$t - f'(x^*, h) \ge D_m F(x^*, y^*)(h),$$

implying

$$D_m(F+f)(x^*, y^* + f(x^*))(h) \ge D_m F(x^*, y^*)(h) + f'(x^*, h). \tag{4.110}$$

On the other hand, noticing that F = (F + f) + (-f), we have

$$D_m F(x^*, y^*)(h) \ge D_m (F + f)(x^*, y^* + f(x^*)) - f(x^*, h),$$

yielding

$$D_m(F+f)(x^*, y^* + f(x^*))(h) \le D_m F(x^*, y^*)(h) + f'(x^*, h).$$
 (4.111)

From (4.110) and (4.111), we derive (4.108). The proof is complete.

**Lemma 4.112.** Let  $F: X \rightrightarrows Y$  be a set-valued function,  $(x^*, y^*) \in X \times F(x^*)$  be such that  $(F(X) - y^*) \cap (-intC) = \emptyset$ . Then

$$D_m \eta(x^*, 0)(h) \ge 0, \quad \forall h \in X, \tag{4.112}$$

where  $\eta(x) = \xi_e(F(x) - y^*) = \{\xi_e(y - y^*) : y \in F(x)\}.$ 

*Proof.* We argue by contradiction. Suppose that  $\exists h^* \in X$  such that

$$D_m \eta(x^*, 0)(h^*) < 0.$$

Then  $\exists t^* < 0$  such that

$$(h^*,t^*)\in T(epi(\eta),(x^*,0)),$$

i.e.,  $\exists \lambda_k \in \mathbb{R}_+, \lambda_k \to +\infty, x_k \in X, y_k \geq z_k$  with  $z_k \in \eta(x_k)$  such that

$$h^* = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda_k(x_k - x^*), t^* = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lambda_k(y_k - 0).$$

So  $z_k < 0$  when k is sufficiently large. Hence,  $\exists v_k \in F(x_k)$  such that  $z_k = \xi_e(v_k - y^*) < 0$ , implying that  $v_k - y^* \leq_{intC} 0$  contradicting (4.112). The proof is complete.

**Lemma 4.113.** Let  $F: X \Rightarrow Y$  be strict, compact-valued and upper semi-continuous. Suppose that there exists  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  and  $a \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\lambda(y) \geq a, \forall y \in F(X)$ . Let  $\epsilon > 0$  and  $(x^*, y^*) \in Gr(F)$  satisfy

$$(F(X) - y^*) + \epsilon e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset.$$

Then, for any  $\delta > 0$ , there exist  $x_{\epsilon} \in X$  and  $y_{\epsilon} \in Min_{C}(F(x_{\epsilon}))$  such that

(i)  $y_{\epsilon} \leq_C y^*$ ;

(ii)  $||x_{\epsilon} - x^*|| \leq \delta$ ;

(iii')  $D_m \eta(x_{\epsilon}, 0)(h) + \epsilon/\delta ||h|| \geq 0, \forall h \in X, where$ 

$$\eta(x) = \xi_e(F(x) - y_\epsilon) = \{\xi_e(y - y_\epsilon) : y \in F(x)\}.$$

*Proof.* It follows from Lemma 4.108 that (i) and (ii) hold. Due to (iii) in Lemma 4.108, we know that

$$(x_{\epsilon}, y_{\epsilon}) \in X \times H(x_{\epsilon})$$

satisfies

$$(H(X) - y_{\epsilon}) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset,$$

where

$$H(x) = F(x) + \epsilon/\delta ||x - x_{\epsilon}|| e.$$

By Lemma 4.112,

$$D_m \xi_e(H)(x_\epsilon, 0)(h) \ge 0, \forall h \in X,$$

where

$$\xi_e(H(x)) = \xi_e(F(x) - y_\epsilon) + \epsilon/\delta ||x - x_\epsilon|| = \eta(x) + \epsilon/\delta ||x - x_\epsilon||.$$

It follows from Proposition 4.111 that

$$D_m \xi_{\epsilon}(H)(x_{\epsilon}, 0)(h) = D_m \eta(x_{\epsilon}, 0)(h) + \epsilon/\delta ||h||.$$

Hence,

$$D_m \eta(x_{\epsilon}, 0)(h) + \epsilon/\delta ||h|| \ge 0, \quad \forall h \in X.$$

The proof is complete.

**Proposition 4.114.**  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the strongly extended sense if the following conditions hold:

- (i) I(.,p) is strict, compact-valued, upper semicontinuous and Assumption 4.95 holds when p is near  $p^*$ ;
- (ii) I(.,.) is compact on  $X \times \{p^*\}$  and I(x,.) is lower semicontinuous at  $p^*, \forall x \in X$ ;
  - (iii)  $argmin_{intC}(p^*) \neq \emptyset$ ;
- (iv)  $\forall p_k \to p^*, (x'_k, y'_k)$  is a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$  and  $D_m \eta_k(x'_k, 0)(h) + \epsilon_k ||h|| \geq 0, \forall h \in X$ , for some  $\epsilon_k \to 0(\epsilon_k > 0)$ , where  $\eta_k(x) = \xi_e(I(x, p_k) y'_k), \forall x \in X$ , then there exists a convergent subsequence  $\{x'_k\}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $p_k \to p^*$  and  $(x_k, y_k)$  be a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$ . Then  $\exists \epsilon_k > 0, \epsilon_k \to 0$  such that

$$(I(X, p_k) - y_k + \epsilon_k e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset. \tag{4.113}$$

Applying Lemma 4.113 (setting  $\delta = \sqrt{\epsilon_k}$ ), it follows from (i) that  $\exists x_k' \in X, y_k' \in I(x_k', p_k)$  such that

- (a)  $||x_k x_k'|| \le \sqrt{\epsilon_k};$
- (b)  $y'_k \leq_C y_k$ ;
- (c)  $D_m \eta_k(x'_k, 0)(h) + \sqrt{\epsilon_k} ||h|| \ge 0, \quad \forall h \in X.$

By (b) and (4.113), we have

$$(I(X, p_k) - y_k' + \epsilon_k e) \cap (-C \setminus \{0\}) = \emptyset.$$

So  $\{(x'_k, y'_k)\}$  is also a strongly asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$ . This fact combined with (iv) and (c) yields that there exist a subsequence  $\{x_{k_i}'\}$  and  $x^* \in X$  such that  $x_{k_i}' \to x^*$ .

This fact together with (a) implies  $x_{k_i} \to x^*$ .

Now let us show  $x^* \in argmin_{intC}(p^*)$ .

Indeed, by  $y_{k_i} \in I(x_{k_i}, p_{k_i})$  and (ii), there exists a subsequence  $\{y_{k_{i_l}}\}$  and  $y^* \in I(x^*, p^*)$  such that  $y_{k_{i_l}} \to y^*$ . We show that  $y^* \in V(p^*)$ . Otherwise,  $\exists x \in X$  and  $z \in I(x, p^*), \delta > 0$  such that

$$z - y^* \le_C -\delta e$$
.

As I(x,.) is l.s.c. at  $p^*$ , so  $\exists z_{k_{i_l}} \in I(x,p_{k_{i_l}})$  such that  $z_{k_{i_l}} \to z$ . Hence,

$$z_{k_{i_{1}}} - y_{k_{i_{1}}} \leq_{C} -\delta/2e,$$

when l is large enough, contradicting (4.113). The proof is complete.

**Proposition 4.115.**  $(p^*)$  is well-posed in the extended sense if the following conditions hold:

- (i) I(.,p) is strict, compact-valued, upper semicontinuous and Assumption 4.95 holds when p is near  $p^*$ ;
  - (ii)  $argmin_{intC}(p) \neq \emptyset, \forall p \in L;$
- (iii) I(.,.) is compact on  $X \times \{p^*\}$  and I(x,.) is lower semicontinuous at  $p^*, \forall x \in X$ .
- (iv)  $\forall p_k \rightarrow p^*, (x_k', y_k')$  is an asymptotically minimizing sequence corresponding to  $p_k$  and

$$D_m \eta_k(x'_k, 0)(h) + \epsilon_k ||h|| \ge 0, \quad \forall h \in X,$$

for some  $\epsilon_k > 0, \epsilon_k \to 0$ , where

$$\eta_k(x) = \xi_e(I(x, p_k) - y_k'), \quad \forall x \in X,$$

then there exists a convergent subsequence  $\{x'_{k_i}\}$ . Moreover,  $||z_k - x'_k|| \to 0$ ,  $y_k \in I(z_k, p_k)$ ,  $y_k \leq_C y'_k$  implies  $d(y_k, V(p_k)) \to 0$ .

Since the proof is almost the same as that of Proposition 4.114, we omit it.

# Vector Minimax Inequalities

Pioneer work of minimax theorems and minimax inequalities belongs to Fan [67, 69]. Many applications of minimax theorems and minimax inequalities are found in optimization theory, game theory and mathematical economics. Nieuwenhuis [152] published the first work of minimax theorems for vector-valued functions in 1983. In this direction, several interesting results appeared in Ferro [71, 72] and Tanaka [187, 188]. In Li, Chen and Lee [134], minimax inequalities for set-valued functions were considered. In this chapter, we consider minimax inequalities for set-valued functions, and vector-valued functions.

## 5.1 Minimax Inequalities for Set-Valued Functions

Let X and Z be two metric spaces. Let  $C \subset \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a pointed, closed and convex cone with nonempty interior intC.

**Lemma 5.1.** Let  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$  be compact subsets of X and Z, respectively. Let  $F: X_0 \times Z_0 \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a continuous set-valued function and, for each  $(x,z) \in X_0 \times Z_0$ , let F(x,z) be a compact set. Then

$$\Gamma(x) = Min_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z) \text{ and } L(z) = Max_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z)$$

are u.s.c. on  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$ , respectively.

*Proof.* First, we prove that  $\Gamma$  is u.s.c. on  $X_0$ . Since F is continuous and  $Z_0$  is compact,  $\bigcup_{z\in Z_0} F(x,z)$  is compact for ant  $x\in X_0$ . Thus  $\Gamma(x)$  is compact-valued for any  $x\in X_0$ . Suppose that  $\Gamma(x)$  is not u.s.c. at  $x_0\in X_0$ . Then there exists  $\epsilon>0$  and, for any 1/k>0,  $k=1,2,\cdots$ , there exist  $x_k\in B(x,1/k)$  and  $y_k\in \Gamma(x_k)$  such that

$$y_k \notin B(\Gamma(x_0), \epsilon).$$
 (5.1)

Then, there exists  $z_k \in Z_0$  such that  $y_k \in F(x_k, z_k)$ . By the compactness of  $Z_0$ , we can assume, without loss of generality, that  $z_k \to z_0 \in Z_0$ . Obviously,  $x_k \to x_0$ . Since X and Z are two metric spaces, by the compactness of  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$ , we know that  $X_0 \times Z_0$  is a compact set in  $X \times Z$ . Therefore,  $F(X_0, Z_0)$  is a compact set. Since  $\{y_k\} \subset F(X_0, Z_0)$ , we can assume, without loss of generality, that  $y_k \to y_0$  as  $k \to \infty$ . By the upper semicontinuity of F(x, z), we have  $y_0 \in F(x_0, z_0)$ . Obviously, by (5.1),  $y_0 \notin \Gamma(x_0)$ . Then, there exist  $z_0^* \in Z_0$  and  $y_0^* \in F(x_0, z_0^*)$  such that

$$y_0 - y_0^* \in intC.$$

Take any sequence  $\{z_k^*\} \in Z_0$  with the limit  $z_0^*$ . Since F(x, z) is l.s.c. on  $X_0 \times Z_0$ , there exists  $y_k^* \in F(x_k, z_k^*)$  such that  $y_k^* \to y_0^*$ . Hence, when n is large enough,

$$y_k - y_k^* \in intC$$
,

which contradicts the assumption  $y_k \in \Gamma(x_k)$ . Then,  $\Gamma(x)$  is u.s.c. on  $X_0$ .

**Proposition 5.2.** [94] Let  $X_0 \subset X$ ,  $Z_0 \subset Z$  be nonempty convex subsets, and let  $A \subset X_0 \times Z_0$  be a subset such that

- (i) for each  $z \in Z_0$ , the set  $\{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in A\}$  is closed in  $X_0$ ;
- (ii) for each  $x \in X_0$ , the set  $\{z \in Z_0 : (x, z) \notin A\}$  is convex or empty.

Suppose that there exist a subset B of A and a compact convex subset K of  $X_0$  such that B is closed in  $X \times Z_0$  and such that

(iii) for each  $z \in Z_0$ , the set  $\{x \in K : (x, z) \in B\}$  is nonempty and convex.

Then, there exists a point  $x_0 \in K$  such that  $\{x_0\} \times Z_0 \subset A$ .

It is obvious that if  $\ell=1$  and  $C=\mathbb{R}_+$ , then, the symbols  $\mathrm{Max}_C$  and  $\mathrm{Max}_{intC}$  have the same meaning, so do  $\mathrm{Min}_C$  and  $\mathrm{Min}_{intC}$ . In the remainder of the section, we use the symbols max and min instead of  $\mathrm{Max}_C$  ( $\mathrm{Max}_{intC}$ ) and  $\mathrm{Min}_C$  ( $\mathrm{Min}_{intC}$ ) when  $\ell=1$  and  $C=\mathbb{R}_+$ , respectively.

**Proposition 5.3.** Let  $X_0 \subset X$  and  $Z_0 \subset Z$  be two nonempty compact and convex sets. Assume that  $F: X_0 \times Z_0 \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}$  is a continuous set-valued function and that, for each  $(x, z) \in X_0 \times Z_0$ , F(x, z) is a compact set and F satisfies (i) to (iii) below:

- (i) for each  $x \in X_0$ ,  $F(x_0, \cdot)$  is  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -concave on  $Z_0$ ;
- (ii) for each  $z \in Z_0$ ,  $F(\cdot, z)$  is naturally quasi  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -convex on  $X_0$ ;
- (iii) for each  $t \in Z_0$ , there exists  $x_t \in X_0$  such that

$$\max F(x_t, t) \leq \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z).$$

Then,

$$\min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z) = \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z). \tag{5.2}$$

*Proof.* Since

$$\max \bigcup_{v \in Z_0} F(x, v) \ge \min \bigcup_{u \in X_0} F(u, z)$$
, for all  $x \in X_0$  and  $z \in Z_0$ ,

we have

$$\min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z) \ge \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z).$$

Now, we prove that the converse inequality holds. Indeed, choose any real number t such that

$$\max \cup_{z \in Z_0} \min \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z) < t,$$

and let

$$A = B = \{(x, z) \in X_0 \times Z_0 : \forall y \in F(x, z), \quad y \le t\}.$$

Now we prove that A and B satisfy conditions (i) and (ii) of Proposition 5.2 with  $K = X_0$ .

First, we show that (i) holds. Indeed, for each  $z \in Z_0$ , let

$$x_k \in \{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in A\}$$

and

$$x_k \to x_0$$
.

By the lower semicontinuity of  $F(\cdot,z)$ , for any  $y_0 \in F(x_0,z)$ , there exists  $y_k \in F(x_k,z)$  such that  $y_k \to y_0$ . Since  $(x_k,z) \in A$  for any k, we have that  $y_k \leq t$ . Thus

$$x_0 \in \{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in A\},\$$

and hence  $\{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in A\}$  is closed.

Second, we show that (ii) holds. Indeed, since, for each  $x \in X_0$ ,

$$\{z \in Z_0 : (x, z) \notin A\} = \{z \in Z_0 : \exists y_0 \in F(x, z) \text{ such that } y_0 > t\},\$$

by the  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -concavity of  $F(x,\cdot)$ , we see that  $\{z \in Z_0 : (x,z) \notin A\}$  is convex.

We show that B is closed. Let  $(x_k, z_k) \in B$  and  $(x_k, z_k) \to (x_0, z_0)$ . Since F is l.s.c. at  $(x_0, z_0)$ , for any  $y \in F(x_0, z_0)$ , there exists  $y_k \in F(x_k, z_k)$ ,  $\forall k \in N$  such that  $y_k \to y$ . Since  $(x_k, y_k) \in B$ ,  $y_k \le t$ . Then,  $y \le t$  and  $(x_0, z_0) \in B$ ; i.e., B is closed in  $X_0 \times Z_0$ .

Now, we show that (iii) in Proposition 5.2 holds. For any  $z \in Z_0$ , let

$$x_1, x_2 \in \{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in B\} = \{x \in X_0 : \forall y \in F(x, z), y \le t\}.$$

By the natural quasi  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -convexity of  $F(\cdot, z)$ , for any  $y_0 \in F(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2, z), \lambda \in [0, 1]$ , there exists  $y^* \in co\{F(x_1, z), F(x_2, z)\}$  such that  $y_0 \in y^* - \mathbb{R}_+$ . Then  $y_0 \leq t$  and  $\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2 \in \{x \in X : (x, z) \in B\}$ , i.e.,  $\{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in B\}$  is a convex set. Obviously, for each  $z \in Z_0$ ,  $\{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in B\}$  is nonempty by the assumption about t and the assumption (iii).

Then, by Proposition 5.2, there exists  $x_0 \in X_0$  such that  $\{x_0\} \times Z_0 \subset A$ ; i.e.,  $y \leq t$  for any  $y \in F(x_0, z)$  and  $z \in Z_0$ . Thus, we have

$$\max \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x_0, z) \le t.$$

By the definition of t, we know that (5.2) holds.

Remark 5.4. In the assumption (iii) and (4.1.1) of Proposition 5.3, max and min exist. As for the righthand side of (iii), one could say that  $\bigcup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z)$  is compact, since  $X_0$  is compact and  $F(\cdot, z)$  is compact-valued and u.s.c.. So, there exists min. By Lemma 5.1,  $\min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z)$  is u.s.c. in z. Therefore,  $\bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \min \bigcup_{x \in Z_0} F(x, z)$  is compact and there exists a maximal point.

Remark 5.5. If F(x, z) is a single-valued function, condition (iii) always holds. Proposition 5.3 is a generalization of the minimax theorem for single-valued functions. When F(x, z) is a single-valued function, Proposition 5.3 reduces to Theorem 4 in Ha [94].

In the sequel, we need the following lemma.

**Lemma 5.6.** [4] The convex hull of a compact subset of a finite dimensional space is compact.

Now we present two types of minimax theorems for set-valued functions.

**Theorem 5.7.** Let X and Z be two metric spaces. Let  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$  be compact convex subsets of X and Z, respectively. Let  $F: X_0 \times Z_0 \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a continuous set-valued function with compact values; for each  $x \in X_0$ , let  $F(x, \cdot)$  be naturally quasi C-convex on  $Z_0$  and, for each  $z \in Z_0$ , let  $F(\cdot, z)$  be C-concave on  $X_0$ , where C is a closed, convex and pointed cone in  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . Suppose that F(x, z) fulfills the following hypotheses:

 $(H_1)$  there exists  $t_0 \in Z_0$  such that

$$Max_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, t_0) \subset Max_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, t) - C, \quad \forall t \in Z_0;$$

 $(H_2)$  for each  $u \in X_0$ , there exists  $t_u \in Z_0$  such that

$$Max_C \cup_{x \in X_0} Min_{int}C \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z) - F(u, t_u) \subset C.$$

Then,

$$Max_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, t_0)$$

$$\subset Max_C \left\{ co \left( \bigcup_{x \in X_0} Min_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z) \right) \right\} - C \tag{5.3}$$

Proof. Set

$$\Gamma(x) = \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z).$$

By Lemma 5.1,  $\Gamma(x)$  is u.s.c. on  $X_0$  and, for each  $x \in X_0$ ,  $\Gamma(x)$  is a nonempty compact set. Since  $X_0$  is compact, by Lemma 5.1 and Lemma 5.6,  $\Gamma(X_0)$  and  $co(\Gamma(X_0))$  are compact sets. Then  $co(\Gamma(X_0)) - C$  is a closed and convex set.

Suppose that  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and  $\alpha \notin co(\Gamma(X_0)) - C$ . By the separation theorem for convex sets, there exists a nontrivial linear continuous function  $l : \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}$  and  $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\epsilon > 0$  such that

$$l(\alpha) \ge \delta + \epsilon > \delta \ge l(\beta), \quad \forall \beta \in co(\Gamma(X_0)) - C.$$

Then, for any  $y \in co(\Gamma(X_0))$  and  $s \in C$ , we have

$$l(s) \ge l(y - \alpha).$$

Thus,

$$l(s) \ge 0, \quad \forall s \in C.$$

Since C is a cone, taking s = 0, we have

$$l(\alpha) \ge \delta + \epsilon > \delta \ge l(\beta), \quad \forall \beta \in co(\Gamma(X_0)).$$
 (5.4)

Consider the set-valued function

$$G = l(F) : X_0 \times Z_0 \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}.$$

Obviously, for each  $x \in X_0$ ,  $l(F(x,\cdot))$  is naturally quasi- $\mathbb{R}_+$ -convex on  $Z_0$  and, for each  $z \in Z_0$ ,  $l(F(\cdot,z))$  is  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -concave on X under the assumed conditions. By hypothesis  $(H_2)$ , we have that, for each  $u \in X_0$ , there exists  $t_u \in Z_0$  such that

$$\max l(F(u, t_u)) \le \max \bigcup_{x \in X_0} \min \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} l(F(x, z)).$$

Then, by Proposition 5.3, we have

$$\min \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \max \bigcup_{x \in X_0} G(x, z) = \max \bigcup_{x \in X_0} \min \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} G(x, z). \tag{5.5}$$

Since  $G(x,\cdot) = l(F(x,\cdot))$  is continuous for each  $x \in X_0$  and  $Z_0$  is compact, there exist  $z_0 \in Z_0$  and  $y_0 \in F(x,z_0)$  such that

$$l(y_0) = \min \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} l(F(x, z)).$$

Since  $l(s) \ge 0, \forall s \in C$ , arguing by contradiction, we have that

$$y_0 \in \Gamma(x) = \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z).$$

Hence, by (5.4) for each  $x \in X_0$ ,

$$\min \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} G(x, z) = l(y_0) \le \delta < \delta + \epsilon \le l(\alpha).$$

Then,

260

$$\max \bigcup_{x \in X_0} \min \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} G(x, z) \le \delta < \delta + \epsilon \le l(\alpha).$$

By (5.5),

$$\min \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \max \bigcup_{x \in X_0} G(x, z) < l(\alpha).$$

By Lemma 5.1,  $\max \bigcup_{x \in X_0} G(x, \cdot)$  is u.s.c. on  $Z_0$ . Thus, by the compactness of  $Z_0$ , there exists  $z' \in Z_0$  such that

$$\max \bigcup_{x \in X_0} G(x, z') < l(\alpha);$$

i.e.,

$$l(y) < l(\alpha), \quad \forall y \in F(x, z') \text{ and } x \in X_0.$$

By  $l(s) \ge 0, \forall s \in C$ , we have

$$\alpha - y \notin -C$$
,  $\forall y \in F(x, z')$  and  $x \in X_0$ ;

that is,

$$\alpha \notin \operatorname{Max}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z') - C.$$
 (5.6)

Thus if

$$\alpha \in \operatorname{Max}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, t_0),$$

by hypothesis  $(H_1)$ , we have that

$$\alpha \in \operatorname{Max}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, t) - C, \quad \forall t \in Z_0,$$

which contradicts (5.6). Thus

$$\alpha \in \operatorname{Max}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, t_0)$$

implies

$$\alpha \in co\left(\bigcup_{x \in X_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z)\right) - C.$$

Since

$$co\left(\bigcup_{x\in X_0}\operatorname{Min}_{intC}\bigcup_{z\in Z_0}F(x,z)\right)$$

is compact, by the domination property of a compact set, we have

$$co\left(\bigcup_{x\in X_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \bigcup_{z\in Z_0} F(x,z)\right) - C$$

$$\subset \operatorname{Max}_C \left\{co\left(\bigcup_{x\in X_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \bigcup_{z\in Z_0} F(x,z)\right)\right\} - C.$$

Thus, (5.3) holds.

Remark 5.8. (i) Hypothesis (H<sub>1</sub>) controls the change of  $\max_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z)$  when z varies. Obviously, this condition holds if F is a scalar real set-valued function;

(ii) If F is a single-valued function, then hypothesis  $(H_2)$  always holds.

**Theorem 5.9.** Let  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$  be compact subsets in X and Z, respectively. Let  $F: X_0 \times Z_0 \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}^\ell$  be a continuous set-valued function with compact values; for each  $x \in X_0$ , let  $F(x,\cdot)$  be C-convex on  $Z_0$  and, for each  $z \in Z_0$ , let  $F(\cdot,z)$  be naturally quasi C-concave on  $X_0$ . Suppose that F(x,z) fulfills the following hypotheses:

 $(H_3)$  there exists  $x_0 \in X_0$  such that

$$Min_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x_0, z) \subset Min_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z) + C, \quad \forall x \in X_0;$$

 $(H_4)$  for each  $t \in Z_0$ , there exists  $x_t \in X_0$  such that

$$F(x_t, t) - Min_C \cup_{z \in X_0} Max_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z) \subset C.$$

Then

$$\mathit{Min}_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x_0, z) \subset \mathit{Min}_C \left\{ co \left( \cup_{z \in Z_0} \mathit{Max}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z) \right) \right\} + C.$$

Proof. Set

$$L(z) = \operatorname{Max}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z).$$

Thus,  $co(L(Z_0)) + C$  is a closed and convex set. Suppose that  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and  $\alpha \notin co(L(Z_0)) + C$ . By a similar method to that used in the proof of Theorem 5.7, there exists a nontrivial continuous linear function  $l : \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$l(\alpha) \le \delta < \delta + \epsilon \le l(\beta), \quad \beta \in co(L(Z_0)),$$
  
 $l(s) > 0, \quad \forall s \in C.$ 

Consider the set-valued function

$$G = l(-F) : X_0 \times Z_0 \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}.$$

Thus, G = -l(F) satisfies the conditions of Proposition 5.3. We have that

$$\min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} G(x, z) = \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} G(x, z).$$
 (5.7)

Since  $l(F(\cdot,z))$  is continuous for each  $z \in Z_0$  and  $X_0$  is compact, there exist  $x_0 \in X_0$  and  $y_0 \in F(x_0,z)$  such that

$$l(y_0) = \max \bigcup_{x \in X_0} l(F(x, z)).$$

Since  $l(x) \ge 0, \forall s \in C$ , we have

$$y_0 \in L(z) = \operatorname{Max}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z).$$

Thus, by (5.7), we have that

$$\max \bigcup_{x \in X_0} \min \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} l(F(x, z)) > l(\alpha),$$

and there exists  $x' \in X_0$  such that

$$\alpha \notin \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x', z) + C.$$
 (5.8)

Thus, if

$$\alpha \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x_0, z),$$

by hypothesis  $(H_3)$  we have that

$$\alpha \in \operatorname{Min}_C \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z) + C, \quad \forall x \in X_0,$$

which contradicts (5.8). Thus,

$$\operatorname{Min}_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x_0, z) \subset \operatorname{Min}_C \left\{ co\left( \cup_{z \in Z_0} \operatorname{Max}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z) \right) \right\} + C,$$
 and this completes the proof.

In the sequel, we consider minimax theorems for set-valued functions in a general scheme. Let X, Z and Y be real locally convex spaces. Let  $C \subset Y$  be a pointed, closed and convex cone such that  $intC \neq \emptyset$ , and let  $Y^*$  denote the topological dual space of Y.

**Lemma 5.10.**  $C \subset Y$  is a closed and convex cone if and only if there exists a subset  $\Gamma \subset Y^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$C = \{ y \in Y : f(y) \le 0, \forall f \in \Gamma \}. \tag{5.9}$$

*Proof.* Assume that C be a closed and convex cone. Let  $\Gamma = -C^* \setminus \{0\}$ . Using the standard separation theorem for convex cones, it is not hard to verify that (5.9) holds. Conversely, if there exists  $\Gamma \subset Y^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that (5.9) holds, then, it is obvious that C is a closed and convex cone.

Let us recall the nonlinear scalarization function  $\xi_{ea}: Y \to \mathbb{R}$ , which is defined in Chapter 1 by

$$\xi_{ea}(y) = \min\{t \in \mathbb{R} : y \in a + te - C\}, \quad \forall y \in Y,$$

where  $e \in intC$  and  $a \in Y$ .

The function  $\xi_{ea}$  is continuous and strictly monotone, and many other important properties can be found in Chapter 1.

Note that Proposition 5.3 can be established, when condition (i) in Proposition 5.3 is replaced by the assumption that  $F(x,\cdot)$  is properly quasi  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -convex on  $Z_0$ .

**Lemma 5.11.** Let  $F: X_0 \times Z_0 \Rightarrow Y$  be a set-valued function, and let, for each  $x \in X_0$ ,  $F(x,\cdot)$  be naturally quasi C-convex on  $Z_0$ . Suppose that, for each  $z \in Z_0$ ,  $-F(\cdot,z)$  is properly quasi C-convex on  $X_0$ . Then  $\xi_{ea}(F(x,\cdot))$  is naturally quasi  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -convex on  $Z_0$  and  $-\xi_{ea}(F(\cdot,z))$  is properly quasi  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -convex  $X_0$ .

*Proof.* Take any  $z_1, z_2 \in Z_0$ ,  $\lambda \in (0,1)$  and  $y \in F(x, \lambda z_1 + (1-\lambda)z_2)$ . By naturally quasi C-convexity of  $F(x, \cdot)$ , there exists  $y_i \in F(x, z_1) \cup F(x, z_2)$  and

$$\alpha_i \geq 0, i = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
, and  $c \in C$  such that  $\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i = 1$  and  $y = \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i y_i - c$ .

Therefore,

$$\xi_{ea}(y) = \xi_{ea}(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i y_i - c).$$

By the properties of  $\xi_{ea}$ ,

$$\xi_{ea}(y) \in \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i \xi_{ea}(y_i) - \mathbb{R}_+ \subset co\{\xi_{ea}(F(x,z_1)) \cup \xi_{ea}(F(x,z_2))\} - \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Thus, for each  $x \in X_0$ ,  $\xi_{ea}(F(x,\cdot))$  is naturally quasi  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -convex. By the monotonicity of  $\xi_{ea}$  and properly quasi C-convexity of  $-F(\cdot,z)$ , it is clear that  $-\xi_{ea}(F(\cdot,z))$  is properly quasi  $\mathbb{R}_+$ -convex for any  $z \in Z$ . The proof is complete.

**Theorem 5.12.** Let  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$  be compact and convex subsets in X and Z, respectively, and let  $e \in intC$ . Suppose that the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i)  $F: X_0 \times Z_0 \rightrightarrows Y$  is a continuous set-valued function with compact-values;
- (ii) for each  $x \in X_0$ ,  $-F(x, \cdot)$  is properly quasi C-convex on  $Z_0$ ;
- (iii) for each  $z \in Z_0$ ,  $F(\cdot, z)$  is naturally quasi C-convex on  $X_0$ ;
- (iv) for any  $u \in X_0$ , there exists  $v \in Z_0$  such that

$$F(u,v) \subset Max_C \cup_{x \in X_0} Min_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x,z) - C.$$

Then

$$Min_C \cup_{x \in X_0} Max_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, y)$$

$$\subset Max_C \cup_{z \in Z_0} Min_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, y) + Y \setminus (C \setminus \{0\}).$$
(5.10)

Proof. Set

$$L(x) = \operatorname{Max}_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z),$$

and let

$$y_0 \in \operatorname{Min}_C \cup_{x \in X_0} \operatorname{Max}_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x, z) = \operatorname{Min}_C L(X_0).$$

By the definition of minimal points, we have

$$(L(X_0) - y_0) \cap (-C) = \{0\},\$$

that is

$$(L(X_0)\backslash\{y_0\})\cap(y_0-C)=\varnothing.$$

By Proposition 1.54, we have

$$\xi_{ey_0}(y) > 0, \quad \forall y \in L(X_0) \setminus \{y_0\},$$

$$(5.11)$$

and

$$\xi_{ey_0}(y_0) = 0. (5.12)$$

Let  $x_0 \in X_0$ . By the continuity of  $\xi_{ey_0}$  and the compactness of  $X_0$ , there exist  $z_x \in Z_0$  and  $y_1 \in F(x, z_x)$  such that

$$\max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \xi_{ev_0}(F(x,\cdot)) = \xi_{ev_0}(y_1).$$

By the properties of  $\xi_{ey_0}$ , we have

$$y_1 \in L(x)$$
.

From (5.11) and (5.12),

$$\max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \xi_{ey_0} F(x, \cdot) \ge 0. \tag{5.13}$$

Since x is any element of  $X_0$ , (5.13) implies that

$$\min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \xi_{ey_0}(F(x,\cdot)) \ge 0.$$
 (5.14)

Consider the set-valued function G:

$$G = \xi_{ev_0}(F) : X_0 \times Z_0 \rightrightarrows \mathbb{R}.$$

From Lemma 5.11 and (5.11), Proposition 5.3 holds for G. We have

$$\min \cup_{x \in X_0} \max \cup_{z \in Z_0} G(x, z) = \max \cup_{z \in Z_0} \min \cup_{x \in X_0} G(x, z).$$

So, there exist  $x_0 \in X_0$ ,  $z_0 \in Z_0$  and  $y_2 \in F(x_0, z_0)$  such that

$$\min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} G(x, z) 
= \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} G(x_0, z) 
= \max \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} G(x, z) 
= \min \bigcup_{x \in X_0} G(x, z_0) 
= \xi_{ey_0}(y_0).$$
(5.15)

Therefore, by the strict monotonicity of  $\xi_{ey_0}$ , we have

$$y_2 \in \text{Max}_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} F(x_0, z) = L(x_0),$$
 (5.16)

and

$$y_2 \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z_0).$$

From (5.14) and (5.15), we get  $\xi_{ey_0}(y_2) \ge 0$ . Suppose  $y_0 = y_2$ . Then

$$y_0 \notin y_2 + C \setminus \{0\}. \tag{5.17}$$

If  $y_0 \neq y_2$ , by (5.11) and (5.16), we get  $\xi_{ey_0}(y_2) > 0$ , from Proposition 1.54, we have  $y_2 \in y_0 - C$ , that is

$$y_0 \notin y_2 + C \setminus \{0\}. \tag{5.18}$$

From (5.17) and (5.18), we get

$$y_0 \in y_2 + Y \setminus (C \setminus \{0\})$$

$$\subset \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z_0) + Y \setminus (C \setminus \{0\})$$

$$\subset \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z) + Y \setminus (C \setminus \{0\}).$$

Since  $F(\cdot,\cdot)$  is continuous and  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$  are compact, by the domination property, we have

$$\bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \bigcup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z) \subset \operatorname{Max}_C \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \bigcup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z) - C.$$

Thus,

$$y_0 \in \operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{z \in Z_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z) - C + Y \setminus (C \setminus \{0\})$$
  
=  $\operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{z \in Z_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} F(x, z) + Y \setminus (C \setminus \{0\}).$ 

Hence, the inclusion (5.10) holds. This completes the proof.

## 5.2 Minimax Inequalities for Vector-Valued Functions

In this section we establish several types of minimax theorems for vectorvalued functions.

First, we assume that X and Z are metric spaces.

**Lemma 5.13.** Let  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$  be nonempty compact convex subsets in X and Z, respectively. Let  $f: X_0 \times Z_0 \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$  be a continuous vector-valued function. Then,  $\pi(z) = co(Max_{intC}f(X_0, z))$  and  $\varphi(x) = co(Min_{intC}f(x, Z_0))$  are u.s.c. on  $Z_0$  and  $X_0$ , respectively.

*Proof.* By the continuity of f, the compactness of  $X_0$  and Lemma 5.6,  $\pi(z)$  is compact-valued on  $Z_0$ . Suppose that  $\pi(z)$  is not u.s.c. at  $z_0 \in Z_0$ . Then  $\exists \epsilon > 0$  and  $\forall 1/n, \ n = 1, 2, \dots$ , there exist  $z_k \in B(z_0, 1/k)$  and  $\pi(z_k)$  such that

$$y_k \notin B(\pi(z_0), \epsilon). \tag{5.19}$$

Since  $f(X_0, Z_0)$  is compact,  $co(f(X_0, Z_0))$  is compact. Obviously,

$$y_k \in co(F(X_0, Z_0)).$$

Then, we can assume that  $y_k \to y_0$ . By (5.19), we have

$$y_0 \notin \pi(z_0) \tag{5.20}$$

Since  $y_k \in \pi(z_k)$ , there exist  $y_k^i \in \operatorname{Max}_{int}Cf(X_0, z_k)$  and  $\lambda_k^i \geq 0$ ,  $i = 0, 1, \dots, \ell$ , such that

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\ell} \lambda_k^i = 1 \text{ and } y_k = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell} \lambda_k^i y_k^i.$$

By Lemma 5.1,  $\operatorname{Max}_{intC} f(X_0, z)$  is u.s.c. on  $Z_0$ . Since

$$\{y_k^i\} \subset \bigcup_{z \in Z_0} \operatorname{Max}_C f(X_0, z) \text{ and } \lambda_k^i \in [0, 1], \ i = 0, 1, 2, \cdots, \ell,$$

without loss of generality, we can assume that  $\lambda_k^i \to \lambda_0^i$ ,  $n \to \infty$ , and  $y_k^i \to y_0^i$ ,  $n \to \infty$ ,  $i = 0, 1, 2, \dots, \ell$ . Obviously,

$$\sum_{i=0}^{\ell} \lambda_0^i = 1 \text{ and } y_0 = \sum_{i=0}^{\ell} \lambda_0^i y_0^i.$$

By Lemma 5.1  $y_0^i \in \text{Max}_{intC} f(X_0, z_0)$ . Therefore,  $y_0 \in \pi(z_0)$ , which contradicts (5.20), and thus  $\pi(z)$  is u.s.c. on  $Z_0$ .

By a similar method, we can prove that  $\varphi(x)$  is u.s.c. on  $X_0$ .

**Theorem 5.14.** Let  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$  be nonempty compact convex sets in X and Z, respectively. Let  $f: X_0 \times Z_0 \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$  be a vector-valued function such that

- (i)  $B_x = \{z \in Z_0 : f(x,z) \notin co(Max_{int}Cf(X_0,z)) + C\}$  is convex or empty for all  $x \in X_0$ ;
- (ii)  $f(\cdot,\cdot)$  is continuous on  $X_0 \times Z_0$ ;
- (iii) for each  $z \in Z_0$ ,  $f(\cdot, z)$  is C-concave.

Then, there exists  $x_0 \in X_0$  such that

$$\mathit{Min}_{intC}f(x_0, Z_0) \subset \mathit{Min}_C \cup_{z \in Z_0} \mathit{co}(\mathit{Max}_{intC}f(Z_0, z)) + C.$$

Moreover, if

$$Max_C \cup_{u \in X_0} Min_{int}Cf(u, Z_0) \subset Min_{int}Cf(x, Z) + C, \quad \forall x \in X_0,$$

then we have that,

$$Max_C \cup_{x \in X_0} Min_{int}Cf(x, Z_0) \subset Min_C \cup_{z \in Z_0} co(Max_{int}Cf(X_0, z)) + C.$$
 (5.21)

Proof. Suppose that

$$M(z) = \operatorname{Max}_{intC} f(X_0, z)$$

and

$$A = B = \{(x, z) \in X_0 \times Z_0 : f(x, z) \in co(M(z)) + C\}.$$

Now, we show that A and B satisfy the conditions of Proposition 5.2 with  $K = X_0$ . In fact, for any  $z \in Z_0$ , let

$$x_k \in \{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in A\} \text{ and } x_k \to x_0.$$

Then

$$f(x_k, z) \in co(M(z)) + C.$$

By the compactness of  $X_0$  and the continuity of  $f(\cdot, z)$ , the set co(M(z)) is compact. Then

$$f(x_0, z) \in co(M(z)) + C$$

i.e.,

$$x_0 \in \{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in A\},\$$

and hence,  $\{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in A\}$  is closed. By condition (i), we have that, for any  $x \in X_0$ ,

$$\{z \in Z_0 : (x, z) \notin A\} = \{z \in Z_0 : f(x, z) \notin co(\operatorname{Max}_{int}Cf(X_0, z)) + C\}$$

is convex or empty.

We prove that B is a closed subset. Now let  $(x_k, z_k) \in B$  and  $(x_k, z_k) \to (x_0, z_0)$ . Then,  $f(x_k, z_k) \to f(x_0, z_0)$  since f is continuous on  $X_0 \times Z_0$ . Since  $(x_k, z_k) \in B$ ,

$$f(x_k, z_k) \in co(M(z_k)) + C.$$

Then, there exist  $y_k \in co(M(z_k))$  and  $c_k \in C$  such that

$$f(x_k, z_k) = y_k + c_k.$$

By the compactness of  $Z_0$  and Lemma 5.13, we have that  $co(M(Z_0))$  is compact. Therefore, we can assume that  $y_k \to y_0$  and  $y_0 \in co(M(z_0))$ . So

$$c_k = f(x_k, z_k) - y_k \to f(x_0, z_0) - y_0 \in C.$$

Set  $c_0 = f(x_0, z_0) - y_0$ . Then

$$f(x_0, z_0) \in co(M(z_0)) + C$$

and  $(x_0, z_0) \in B$ , i.e., B is closed on  $X_0 \times Z_0$ .

Finally, we show that, for any  $z \in Z_0$ ,  $\{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in B\}$  is convex and nonempty. Indeed, for any  $z \in Z_0$ , by the domination property of the compact set  $f(X_0, z)$ , there exists  $x_0 \in X_0$  such that

$$f(x_0, z) \in \operatorname{Max}_{int}Cf(X_0, z).$$

Thus,

$$f(x_0, z) \in co(M(z)) + C,$$

i.e.,

$${x \in X_0 : f(x,z) \in co(M(z)) + C} \neq \varnothing.$$

Let  $x_1, x_2 \in \{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in B\}$ . Then

$$f(x_1, z), f(x_2, z) \in co(M(z)) + C.$$
 (5.22)

Since  $f(\cdot, z)$  is C-concave, for  $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ ,

$$\lambda f(x_1, z) + (1 - \lambda)f(x_2, z) \in f(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2, z) - C.$$

Therefore, by (5.22), we have that

$$f(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2, z) \in co(M(z)) + C,$$

$$\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda)x_2 \in \{x \in X_0 : (x, z) \in B\}.$$

Thus, by Proposition 5.2, there exists  $x_0 \in X_0$  such that  $\{x_0\} \times Z_0 \subset A$ , that is

$$f(x_0, z) \in co(\operatorname{Max}_{int}Cf(X_0, z)) + C, \quad \forall z \in Z_0.$$

Thus, by the domination property, Lemma 5.13 and the compactness of  $Z_0$ , we have that

$$f(x_0, z) \in \operatorname{Min}_C \cup_{t \in Z_0} co(\operatorname{Max}_{int} C f(X_0, t)) + C, \quad \forall z \in Z_0,$$

$$\operatorname{Min}_{int}Cf(x, Z_0) \subset \operatorname{Min}_C \cup_{t \in Z_0} co(\operatorname{Max}_{int}Cf(X_0, t)) + C.$$

Moreover, if

$$\operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{u \in X_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} f(u, Z_0) \subset \operatorname{Min}_{intC} f(x, Z_0) + C, \quad x \in X_0,$$

then

$$\operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{x \in X_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} f(x, Z_0) \subset \operatorname{Min}_C \cup_{t \in Z_0} \operatorname{co}(\operatorname{Max}_{intC} f(X_0, t)) + C,$$

and this completes the proof of this theorem.

**Theorem 5.15.** Let  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$  be nonempty compact convex sets in X and Z, respectively. Let  $f: X_0 \times Z_0 \to \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a vector-valued function such that

- (i)  $B_z = \{x \in X_0 : f(x, z) \notin co(Min_{int}Cf(x, Z_0)) C\}$  is convex or empty for all  $z \in Z_0$ ;
- (ii)  $f(\cdot, \cdot)$  is continuous on  $X_0 \times Z_0$ ;
- (iii) for each  $x \in X_0$ ,  $f(x, \cdot)$  is C-convex.

Then, there exists  $z_0 \in Z_0$  such that

$$Max_{int}Cf(X_0, z_0) \subset Max_C \cup_{x \in X_0} co(Min_{int}Cf(x, Z_0)) - C.$$

Moreover, if

$$Min_C \cup_{t \in Z_0} Max_{int}Cf(X_0, t) \subset Max_{int}Cf(X_0, z) - C, \quad \forall z \in Z_0,$$

then, we have that

$$\mathit{Min}_C \cup_{t \in Z_0} \mathit{Max}_{int} Cf(X_0, t) \subset \mathit{Max}_C \cup_{x \in X_0} \mathit{co}(\mathit{Min}_{int} Cf(x, Z_0)) - C.$$

Proof. Suppose that

$$Q(x) = \operatorname{Min}_{intC} f(x, Z_0)$$

and

$$A = B = \{(x, z) \in X_0 \times Z_0 : f(x, z) \in co(Q(x)) - C\}.$$

By a method similar to that used in the proof of Theorem 5.14, we can prove that A and B satisfy the conditions of Proposition 5.2 with  $K = X_0$ . Thus, by Proposition 5.2, there exists  $z_0 \in Z_0$  such that  $X_0 \times \{z_0\} \subset A$ , that is,

$$f(x, z_0) \in co(\operatorname{Min}_{int}C f(x, Z_0)) - C, \quad \forall x \in X_0.$$

By Lemma 5.13 and the compactness of  $X_0$ , we have that

$$f(x, z_0) \in \operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{u \in X_0} \operatorname{co}(\operatorname{Min}_{int} C f(u, Z_0)) - C, \quad \forall x \in X_0,$$

$$\operatorname{Max}_{intC} f(X_0, z_0) \subset \operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{u \in X_0} co(\operatorname{Min}_{intC} f(u, Z_0)) - C.$$

Moreover, if

$$\operatorname{Min}_C \cup_{t \in Z_0} \operatorname{Max}_{intC} f(X_0, t) \subset \operatorname{Max}_{intC} f(X_0, z) - C, \quad \forall z \in Z_0,$$

then we have that

$$\operatorname{Min}_C \cup_{t \in Z_0} \operatorname{Max}_{intC} f(X_0, t) \subset \operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{x \in X_0} co(\operatorname{Min}_{intC} f(x, Z_0)) - C,$$

and this completes the proof of this theorem.

Example 5.16. Let 
$$X_0 = [0, 1], Z_0 = [0, 1], \ell = 2, C = \mathbb{R}^2_+$$
. Let  $f: X_0 \times Z_0 \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$ ,  $f(x, z) = (xz, xz)^\top$ , for every  $x, z \in [0, 1]$ . We have that

(i)

$$B_x = \left\{z \in Z_0 : f(x,z) \notin co(\operatorname{Max}_{intC} f(X_0,z)) + C\right\} = \begin{cases} (0,1], & x \neq 1, \\ \varnothing, & x = 1, \end{cases}$$

is convex or empty for any  $x \in [0, 1]$ ;

- (ii)  $f(\cdot, \cdot)$  is continuous on  $X_0 \times Z_0$ ;
- (iii) for each  $z \in Z_0$ ,  $f(\cdot, z)$  is C-convex;

(iv) 
$$\operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{x \in X_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} f(x, Z_0) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}$$
 and  $\operatorname{Min}_{intC} f(x, Z_0) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}$  for all  $x \in X_0$ .

Then

$$\operatorname{Max} \bigcup_{u \in X_0} \operatorname{Min}_{int} C f(u, Z_0) \subset \operatorname{Min}_{int} C f(x, Z_0) + C, \quad \forall x \in X_0.$$

From the result of Theorem 5.14, we have that

$$\operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{x \in X_0} \operatorname{Min}_{int} Cf(x, Z_0) \subset \operatorname{Min}_C \cup_{t \in Z_0} co(\operatorname{Max}_{int} Cf(X_0, t)) + C.$$

In fact, we can verify that

$$\operatorname{Max}_C \cup_{x \in X_0} \operatorname{Min}_{intC} f(x, Z_0) = \{(0, 0)^\top\},$$
  
 $\operatorname{Min}_C \cup_{t \in Z_0} co(\operatorname{Max}_{intC} f(X_0, t)) = \{(0, 0)^\top\}.$ 

Thus,

$$\{(0,0)^{\top}\} \subset \{(0,0)^{\top}\} + C.$$

In what follows, we assume that X, Z and Y are real Hausdorff topological vector spaces. Let  $C \subset Y$  be a closed, convex and pointed cone such that  $intC \neq \emptyset$ . We will establish a minimax theorem for vector-valued functions as a special case of Theorem 5.12.

**Theorem 5.17.** Let  $X_0$  and  $Z_0$  be compact and convex subsets in X and Z, respectively, and let  $e \in intC$ . Suppose that the following conditions are satisfied:

- (i)  $f: X_0 \times Z_0 \to Y$  is a continuous vector-valued function;
- (ii) for each  $x \in X_0$ ,  $-f(x, \cdot)$  is properly quasi C-convex on  $Z_0$ ;
- (iii) for each  $z \in Z_0$ ,  $f(\cdot, z)$  is naturally quasi C-convex on  $X_0$ .

Then

$$Min_C \cup_{x \in X_0} Max_{intC} \cup_{z \in Z_0} f(x, z)$$

$$\subset Max_C \cup_{z \in Z_0} Min_{intC} \cup_{x \in X_0} f(x, z) + Y \setminus (C \setminus \{0\}).$$

*Proof.* Since f is a vector-valued function, (iv) of Theorem 5.12 holds. Then, the conclusion follows readily from Theorem 5.12.

# Vector Network Equilibrium Problems

The earliest network equilibrium model was proposed by Wardrop [197] for a transportation network. Since then, many other equilibrium models have also been proposed in the economics literature (see Nagurney [149]). Until only recently, all these equilibrium models are based on single cost or utility function. Recently, equilibrium models based on multicriteria consideration or vector-valued cost functions have been proposed. In Chen and Yen [44], a multicriteria traffic equilibrium model was proposed and the relationship between this model and the vector variational inequality problem was considered under a singleton assumption. Other papers that consider multicriteria equilibrium models can be found in Brenninger-Göthe et al [21], Chen, Goh and Yang [30], Dial [56], Goh and Yang [85], Leurent [131], and Yang and Goh [214]. In particular, the multicriteria network equilibrium model was formulated as a vector variational inequality problem in Goh and Yang [85] via a vector optimization approach, but without the singleton assumption.

In this chapter, we consider weak vector network equilibrium, vector network equilibrium and dynamic vector equilibrium problems. We establish their relations with vector variational inequalities and vector optimization problems.

### 6.1 Weak Vector Equilibrium Problem

Consider a transportation network  $G = (\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{A})$  where  $\mathcal{N}$  denotes the set of nodes and  $\mathcal{A}$  denotes the set of arcs. Let  $\mathcal{I}$  be the set of origin-destination (O-D) pair and  $P_i$ ,  $i \in \mathcal{I}$  be the set of paths joining O-D pair i. For a given path  $k \in P_i$ , let  $h_k$  denote the traffic flow on this path and  $h = (h_1, h_2, \dots, h_M) \in \mathbb{R}^M$ , where  $M = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} |P_i|$ . The path flow vector h induces a flow  $v_a$  on each arc  $a \in \mathcal{A}$  given by

$$v_a = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \sum_{k \in P_i} \delta_{ak} h_k,$$

where  $\Delta = [\delta_{ak}] \in \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}| \times M}$  is the arc path incidence matrix with  $\delta_{ak} = 1$  if the arc belongs to path k and 0 otherwise. Let  $v = [v_a : a \in \mathcal{A}] \in \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}|}$  be the vector of arc flow. Succinctly

$$v = \Delta h. \tag{6.1}$$

We will assume that the demand of traffic flow is fixed for each O-D pair, i.e.,  $\sum_{k \in P_i} h_k = d_i$ , where  $d_i$  is a given demand of each O-D pair i. A flow  $h \geq 0$  satisfying the demand is called a feasible flow. Let  $\mathcal{H} = \{h : h \geq 0, \sum_{k \in P_i} h_k = d_i, \forall i \in \mathcal{I}\}$  be the set of feasible flows.  $\mathcal{H}$  is clearly a closed and convex set. Let  $t_a : \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}|} \to R^{\ell}$  be a vector-valued cost function for the arc a and it is in general a function of all the arc flows, and let metric  $t(v) = [t_a(v) : a \in \mathcal{A}] \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell \times |\mathcal{A}|}$ . The vector-valued cost function along the path k, we denote  $\tau_k, \tau_k : \mathbb{R}^M \to \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  is assumed to be the sum of all the arc cost along this path, thus

$$\tau_k(h) = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \delta_{ak} t_a(v).$$

Let  $T(h) = [\tau_k(h) : k \in P_i, i \in \mathcal{I}] \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell \times \mathcal{M}}$ . Succinctly

$$T(h) = t(v)\Delta. (6.2)$$

In this section, we consider an equilibrium problem defined on transportation network with vector-valued cost functions. In this model, the cost space is  $\ell$ -dimensional Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ , with the ordering cone C, a pointed, closed and convex cone with nonempty interior intC.

**Definition 6.1.** Given a flow h, we say that a path  $p \in P_i$  for an O-D pair i is a weakly minimal one if there does not exist another path  $p' \in P_i$  such that  $\tau_{p'}(h) - \tau_p(h) \leq_{intC} 0$ .

Let  $\Gamma_i(h) = \{\tau_p(h) : p \in P_i\}$  denote the (discrete) set of vector costs for all paths for O-D pair i, and

$$\mathcal{I}_i(h) = \{ k \in P_i \mid \tau_k(h) - \tau_p(h) \not\geq_{intC} 0, \forall p \in P_i \} \subseteq P_i$$

denote the set of all weakly minimal paths for O-D pair i.

We define the weakly minimal frontier for O-D pair i to be the set of weakly minimal points in the cost-space of O-D pair i:

$$\operatorname{Min}_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h)) = \{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \mid \xi = \tau_p(h) \text{ where } p \in \mathcal{I}_i(h) \}.$$

Note that  $Min_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h))$  is a discrete set because it is a subset of the discrete set  $\mathcal{I}_i(h)$ .

The following weak vector equilibrium principle is a generalization of the well-known Wardrop's equilibrium principle (see Wardrop [197]):

**Definition 6.2.** A flow  $h \in H$  is said to be in weak vector equilibrium if

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \forall k, l \in P_i, \quad \tau_k(h) \ge_{intC} \tau_l(h) \Longrightarrow h_k = 0.$$
 (6.3)

A flow h in weak vector equilibrium is often referred to as a weak vector equilibrium flow.

In terms of the weakly minimal frontier for O-D pair i, the weak vector equilibrium principle can be stated in an equivalent form:

**Definition 6.3.** (Equivalent weak vector equilibrium principle) The path flow vector h is in weak vector equilibrium if

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \ \forall p \in P_i, \ h_p = 0 \quad whenever \ \tau_p(h) \notin Min_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h)).$$
 (6.4)

These definitions are natural generalizations of the Wardrop equilibrium principle for a scalar valued cost, in which case, a strict inequality > is used in (6.3). The motivation for both the scalar and the vector cost cases is provided by the fact that an user will not choose to travel on a path if it is cheaper (both in the scalar and the vector sense) to travel on another path that links the same origin and destination.

We shall investigate weak vector equilibrium flows by virtue of linear scalarization function and nonlinear scalarization function, respectively.

### Linear Scalarization Approach

Let us first introduce the concept of a parametric equilibrium flow.

**Definition 6.4.** (Weak parametric equilibrium principle) Let a parameter  $\lambda \in C^*$  be given. A path flow vector h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium if

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \ \forall p \in P_i, \ h_p = 0 \ \ whenever \ \exists \ e_i \in Min_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h)),$$
  
such that  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} e_i$ .

Note that a parametric equilibrium flow is based on a scalar cost, as in the case of Wardrop's equilibria. In the case of scalarization for vector optimization, it is known that certain convexity assumption is necessary before the scalar optimal solution is necessarily a weakly minimal solution for the vector problem. In the present context, however, the set of concern  $\Gamma_i(h)$  is discrete and hence convexity has no meaning. To get around this, we make the following assumption.

#### Assumption 6.5.

$$Min_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h)) \subseteq Min_{intC}(co(\Gamma_i(h))),$$

where  $co(\Gamma_i(h))$  is the convex hull of the discrete set  $\Gamma_i(h)$ .

The following result establishes relationships between a weak vector equilibrium flow and a parametric equilibrium flow.

We need the following scalarization result, which is just Theorem 3.4.2 of [176].

**Lemma 6.6.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a nonempty and convex set and  $a^* \in Min_{int}CA$ . Then, there exists  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that

$$\lambda^{\top} a^* = \min_{a \in A} \lambda^{\top} a.$$

- **Theorem 6.7.** (i) If h is in weak vector equilibrium and Assumption 6.5 holds, then there exists  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that the path flow h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium;
- (ii) If h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium for some  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$ , then h is in weak vector equilibrium.

*Proof.* (i) Let h be in weak vector equilibrium. Then, for  $k \in P_i$ ,

$$h_{k} > 0 \Rightarrow \tau_{k}(h) \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC}(\Gamma_{i}(h))$$

$$\Rightarrow \tau_{k}(h) \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC}(\operatorname{co}(\Gamma_{i}(h))) \quad \text{by Assumption 6.5,}$$

$$\Rightarrow \exists \lambda \in C^{*} \setminus \{0\} \text{ s.t. } \lambda^{\top} \tau_{k}(h) = \min_{\eta \in \operatorname{co}(\Gamma_{i}(h))} \lambda^{\top} \eta$$

$$\text{by Lemma 6.6,}$$

$$\Rightarrow \exists \lambda \in C^{*} \setminus \{0\} \text{ s.t. } \lambda^{\top} \tau_{k}(h) = \min_{\eta \in \Gamma_{i}(h)} \lambda^{\top} \eta$$

$$\text{since } \Gamma_{i}(h) \subset \operatorname{co}(\Gamma_{i}(h)) \text{ and } \tau_{k}(h) \in \Gamma_{i}(h).$$

Hence h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium.

(ii) Let  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  and let h be in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium. Suppose that h is not in weak vector equilibrium, then by Definition 6.3, there exists  $i \in \mathcal{I}, p \in P_i$  such that,

$$h_p > 0$$
 and  $\tau_p(h) \notin \operatorname{Min}_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h))$ .

Thus

$$h_p > 0$$
 and  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} e_i$ , for some  $e_i \in \operatorname{Min}_{int}(\Gamma_i(h))$ .

Hence h is not in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium, a contradiction.

For  $\lambda \in C^*$ , we define the minimum scalarized cost for O-D pair i as:

$$u_i(\lambda) = \min_{p \in P_i} \lambda^{\mathsf{T}} \tau_p(h). \tag{6.5}$$

**Lemma 6.8.** If  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$ , then  $u_i(\lambda) = \lambda^{\top} e_i$  for some  $e_i \in Min_{int}C(\Gamma_i(h))$ .

Proof. From (6.5), let  $p \in P_i$  be such that  $u_i(\lambda) = \lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h)$ . Choose  $e_i := \tau_p(h)$ . Suppose now that  $e_i \notin \operatorname{Min}_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h))$ , then there exists  $\bar{p} \in P_i$ , such that  $\tau_p(h) \geq_{intC} \tau_{\bar{p}}(h)$ . Since  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$ ,  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} \tau_{\bar{p}}(h)$ , a contradiction. Therefore  $e_i \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h))$ .

**Theorem 6.9.** (i) Let  $\lambda \in C^*$ . Then h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium if the following condition holds:

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \forall p \in P_i, \ h_p = 0 \ whenever \ \lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > u_i(\lambda);$$
 (6.6)

(ii) If  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  and h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium, then condition (6.6) holds.

*Proof.* (i) If there exists  $e_i \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h))$  such that  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} e_i$ , say  $e_i = \tau_q(h)$  for some  $q \in P_i$ . Then  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} \tau_q(h)$ ,  $q \in P_i$ . Thus clearly

$$\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > u_i(\lambda) = \min_{p \in P_i} \lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h),$$

by (6.6),  $h_p = 0$ , so h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium.

(ii) Let h be a weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium flow and  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$ . If  $\lambda^\top \tau_p(h) > u_i(\lambda)$ , by Lemma 6.8, there exists  $e_i \in \operatorname{Min}_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h))$  such that  $u_i(\lambda) = \lambda^\top e_i$ . Thus

$$\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} e_i$$
, where  $e_i \in \text{Min}_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h))$ .

By Definition 6.4,  $h_p = 0$  and hence (6.6) holds.

Next, we discuss relations between a weak vector equilibrium flow and a solution of a vector optimization problem.

### **Definition 6.10.** We say that

(i) the vector cost function  $t_a$  is separable if  $t_a$  is a function of  $v_a$  only, i.e.,

$$t_a(v) = t_a(v_a), \ \forall a \in \mathcal{A}.$$

(ii) the vector cost function  $t_a$  is integrable if

$$\partial t_a^k/\partial v_{a'} = \partial t_{a'}^k/\partial v_a, \ \forall a, \ a' \in \mathcal{A}, \ \forall k = 1, \dots, \ell.$$

Clearly, a separable cost is also integrable.

If the cost  $t_a$  is integrable, then for  $\lambda \in C^*$ 

$$\partial(\lambda^{\top} t_a)/\partial v_{a'} = \partial(\lambda^{\top} t_{a'})/\partial v_a, \quad \forall a, a' \in \mathcal{A},$$

and, by Theorem 4.1.6 of [157], there exists a real-valued potential function, denoted by  $\int_{-\infty}^{v} \lambda^{\top} t(z) dz$  such that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial v} \oint^{v} \lambda^{\top} t(w) dw = \lambda^{\top} t(v). \tag{6.7}$$

For  $\lambda \in C^*$ , consider the following (scalar) optimization problem  $P(\lambda)$ :

$$\min \oint^{v} \lambda^{\top} t(w) dw \tag{6.8}$$

subject to 
$$\sum_{p \in P_i} h_p = d_i, \ \forall i \in \mathcal{I}$$
 (6.9)

$$h_p \ge 0, \quad \forall p \in P_i, \ \forall i \in \mathcal{I},$$
 (6.10)

and the definitional constraint:

$$v_a = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \sum_{p \in P_i} \delta_{ap} h_p, \ a \in \mathcal{A}. \tag{6.11}$$

**Definition 6.11.** The cost matrix t(v) is said to be C-monotone if

$$(t(v_1) - t(v_2))(v_1 - v_2) \ge_C 0$$
, for  $v_1, v_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}|}$ .

**Lemma 6.12.** The cost function of  $P(\lambda)$  is convex if the cost matrix t(v) is C-monotone.

*Proof.* For a given  $\lambda \in C^*$ , we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\ell} \lambda_k(t^k(v_1) - t^k(v_2))(v_1 - v_2) \ge 0, \text{ for every } v_1, v_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}|}.$$

Thus

$$(\lambda^{\top} t(v_1) - \lambda^{\top} t(v_2))(v_1 - v_2) \ge 0$$
, for every  $v_1, v_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}|}$ .

By (6.7), the gradient of the function  $\int_{-\infty}^{v} \lambda^{\top} t(w) dw$  is monotone, so the cost function of  $P(\lambda)$  is convex.

Let  $\Gamma \in \mathbb{R}^{M \times \mathcal{I}}$  denote the path-origin incidence matrix for the network with entry  $[\Gamma]_{pi} = \gamma_{pi} = 1$  if  $p \in P_i$  and  $\gamma_{pi} = 0$  otherwise. Its transpose  $\Gamma^{\top}$  is the origin-path incidence matrix.

**Theorem 6.13.** Assume that the cost function  $t_a$  is integrable and the cost matrix t(v) is C-monotone, and let  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$ . Then h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium if and only if h is a solution of  $P(\lambda)$ .

*Proof.* Let the Lagrangian of  $P(\lambda)$  be defined by

$$L = \int_{0}^{v} \lambda^{\top} t(w) dw - u(\lambda)^{\top} (\Gamma^{\top} h - d).$$

Since the problem is convex by Lemma 6.12, the sufficient and necessary optimality conditions for  $P(\lambda)$  are given by

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial h} = \lambda^{\top} t(v) \Delta - u(\lambda)^{\top} \Gamma^{\top} = \lambda^{\top} T(h) - u(\lambda)^{\top} \Gamma^{\top} \ge 0$$
 (6.12)

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial h}h = (\lambda^{\top} T(h) - u(\lambda)^{\top} \Gamma^{\top})h = 0; \tag{6.13}$$

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial u} = h^{\mathsf{T}} \Gamma - d^{\mathsf{T}} = 0^{\mathsf{T}}.$$
(6.14)

Note that  $u(\lambda)$  is given by (6.5). (6.12) is equivalent to (6.5), (6.13) says that h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium and (6.14) is the definitional constraint (6.11). It follows that h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium.

Now consider the following network vector optimization problem (NVO):

$$\begin{aligned} & \text{Min}_C \quad F(v) \\ & \text{subject to} \quad \sum_{p \in P_i} h_p = d_i, \ \forall i \in \mathcal{I} \\ & \quad h_p \geq 0, \ \ \forall p \in P_i, \ \forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \end{aligned}$$

and the definitional constraint (6.14), where

$$F(v) = \left( \oint^v t^1(w) dw, \cdots, \oint^v t^{\ell}(w) dw \right)^{\top},$$

and  $t^k$  is the  $k^{th}$  row of the cost matrix t(v). A vector v (or its corresponding h) is said to be a weakly minimal solution of (NVO) if there exists no other feasible v' such that  $F(v') \leq_{intC} F(v)$ .

In the special case where  $t_a$  is separable, the cost function F(v) of problem (NVO) reduces to

$$F(v) = \left(\sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \int_0^{v_a} t_a^1(w) dw, \cdots, \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \int_0^{v_a} t_a^{\ell}(w) dw\right)^{\top}.$$
 (6.15)

**Theorem 6.14.** Assume that the cost function  $t_a$  is integrable and the cost matrix t(v) is C-monotone. If further Assumption 6.5 holds and h is in weak vector equilibrium, then h is a weakly minimal solution of (NVO).

*Proof.* Let h be in weak vector equilibrium. By Theorem 6.7 (i), there exists  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that h is in weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium. By Theorem 6.13, h is also a solution of  $P(\lambda)$ . Since

$$\lambda^{\top} F(v) = \lambda^{\top} \left( \oint^{v} t^{1}(w) dw, \cdots, \oint^{v} t^{\ell}(w) dw \right)^{\top}$$

$$= \oint^{v} \sum_{k=1}^{\ell} \lambda_{k} t^{k}(w) dw$$

$$= \oint^{v} \lambda^{\top} t(w) dw, \qquad (6.16)$$

which is the cost function of  $P(\lambda)$ , it follows from  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  that a solution to  $P(\lambda)$  is also a weakly minimal solution of (NVO).

Next, necessary and sufficient optimality conditions of weak vector traffic equilibrium in terms of vector variational inequalities are given.

**Theorem 6.15.** Let Assumption 6.5 hold, the cost function  $t_a$  be integrable and the cost matrix t(v) be C-monotone. If h is in weak vector equilibrium, then h is a solution of the following (WVVI) of finding  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ :

$$T(h)(g-h) \not\leq_{intC} 0, \ \forall g \in \mathcal{H}.$$

*Proof.* If h is in weak vector equilibrium, by Theorem 6.14, h is a weakly minimal solution of (NVO). A necessary condition for h to be a weakly minimal solution of (NVO) is that

$$\frac{\partial F(h)}{\partial h}(g-h) \not\leq_{intC} 0, \ \forall g \in \mathcal{H}.$$

From (6.1) and (6.15), we have

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial h} = \frac{\partial F}{\partial v} \frac{\partial v}{\partial h} = \begin{pmatrix} t^1(v) \\ \vdots \\ t^r(v) \end{pmatrix} \Delta = t(v)\Delta = T(h).$$

Thus the conclusion follows.

We may now establish a sufficient condition for a flow h to be in weak vector equilibrium.

**Theorem 6.16.**  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is in weak vector equilibrium if h solves the (WVVI) of finding  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ :

$$T(h)(\bar{h} - h) \not\leq_{intC} 0, \ \forall \bar{h} \in \mathcal{H}.$$
 (6.17)

*Proof.* Let h satisfy (6.17). Choose  $\tilde{h}$  to be such that

$$\bar{h}_{j} = \begin{cases} h_{j}, & \text{if } j \neq k \text{ or } j, \\ 0, & \text{if } j = k, \\ h_{k} + h_{j}, & \text{if } j = j. \end{cases}$$
 (6.18)

Clearly,  $\tilde{h} \in \mathcal{H}$  since  $\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \ \sum_{j \in P_i} h_j = \sum_{j \in P_i} \bar{h}_j = d_i$ . Now

$$T(h)(\bar{h} - h) = \sum_{i \in I} \sum_{j \in P_i} (\bar{h}_j - h_j) \tau_j(h)$$

$$= (\bar{h}_k - h_k) \tau_k(h) + (\bar{h}_j - h_j) \tau_j(h)$$

$$= h_k(\tau_j(h) - \tau_k(h)) \not\leq_{intC} 0.$$
(6.19)

If

$$\tau_k(h) - \tau_j(h) \ge_{intC} 0, \tag{6.20}$$

then (6.19) and (6.20) together imply that  $h_k = 0$  since C is a pointed cone.

#### Nonlinear Scalarization Approach

In this subsection, we assume that  $C = \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ . Choose any  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  and  $e \in int\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$ . By using the nonlinear scalarization function  $\xi_{ea}$ , define a function  $\xi_{ea}^{\ell} : \mathbb{R}^{M} \to \mathbb{R}$  by:

$$\xi_{ea}^k(h) = \xi_{ea}(\tau_k(h)), \quad k \in P_i, i \in \mathcal{I}.$$

The vector-valued function  $\bar{\xi}_{ea}: \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}^M$  and the scalar-valued function  $u_{ea}^i: \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}, \ i \in \mathcal{I}$  are defined, respectively, by

$$\bar{\xi}_{ea}(h) = [\xi_{ea}^k(h) : k \in P_i, \ i \in \mathcal{I}]$$
 (6.21)

and

$$u_{ea}^{i}(h) = \min_{k \in \mathcal{P}_{i}} \xi_{ea}(\tau_{k}(h)), \quad i \in \mathcal{I}.$$

$$(6.22)$$

**Definition 6.17.** The path flow  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is said to be in  $\xi_{ea}$ -equilibrium if there exist  $e \in int\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$  and  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  such that

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \forall k, l \in P_i, \quad \xi_{ea}(\tau_k(h)) > \xi_{ea}(\tau_l(h)) \Longrightarrow h_k = 0. \tag{6.23}$$

Consider the following vector optimization problem (VO):

$$\operatorname{Min}_{c}_{x \in X} f(x),$$

where  $f: \mathbb{R}^M \to \mathbb{R}^\ell$ ,  $X \subset \mathbb{R}^M$  is a possibly finite set. Note that neither f nor X is required to be convex.

We have the following non-convex scalarization theorem.

Theorem 6.18 (Non-convex Scalarization Theorem, Gerth and Weidner [78]). Let  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^\ell$  be a  $\mathbb{R}^\ell_+$  order lower bounded subset. Then  $y^* \in Min_{int}\mathbb{R}^\ell_+ A$  if and only if, for some  $a \in \mathbb{R}^\ell$  and  $e \in int\mathbb{R}^\ell_+$ ,

$$\xi_{ea}(y^*) = \min \xi_{ea}(A).$$

We may now use Theorem 6.18 to establish an equivalent condition for a weak vector equilibrium in terms of a scalar variational inequality.

**Theorem 6.19.** The path flow  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is in weak vector equilibrium if and only if h is in  $\xi_{ea}$ -equilibrium for some  $e \in int\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$  and  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ .

Proof. 
$$(\Leftarrow =)$$

Assume that h is in  $\xi_{ea}$ -equilibrium for some  $e \in int\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$  and  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ , i.e., (6.23) holds. Now if  $\tau_k(h) > \tau_l(h)$ , for some path  $l \in P_i$ , then by the strict monotonicity of the  $\xi_{ea}$  function and (6.23), we conclude that  $h_k = 0$ , i.e., h is in weak vector equilibrium.

$$(\Longrightarrow)$$

Conversely, let the set  $K_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be defined by  $K_i = \{\tau_k(h) : k \in P_i\}$ . If for all  $e \in int\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ , h is not in  $\xi_{ea}$ -equilibrium, then there exists  $k \in P_i$ ,  $i \in \mathcal{I}$  such that

$$h_k > 0 \text{ and } \xi_{ea} \circ \tau_k(h) > \xi_{ea} \circ \tau_p(h),$$
 (6.24)

where  $\tau_p(h) \in \operatorname{Min}_{int}\mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} K_i$ . Theorem 6.18 implies that  $\tau_k(h) \notin \operatorname{Min}_{int}\mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} K_i$ . By the domination theorem in vector optimization,  $\exists \tau_p(h) \in \operatorname{Min}_{int}\mathbb{R}_+^{\ell} K_i$  such that  $\tau_k(h) > \tau_p(h)$ , yet  $h_k > 0$ , i.e., h is not in weak vector equilibrium.

Remark 6.20. It is important to note that the set  $K_i$  in the above proof is a discrete set, in which convexity has no meaning. The converse proof would not have worked if we had used the linear scalarization instead, since this would have required the set  $K_i$  to be infinite and cone convex.

The problem of finding a  $\xi_{ea}$ -equilibrium for given  $e \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}_{+}$  and  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  is still not directly solvable. We now reduce the  $\xi_{ea}$ - equilibrium to a scalar variational inequality and consequently well-known techniques for solving variational inequalities can be applied accordingly.

**Theorem 6.21.** The path flow  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is in  $\xi_{ea}$ -equilibrium if and only if there exist  $e \in int\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$  and  $a \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  such that h solves the following (scalar) variational inequality:

$$\bar{\xi}_{ea}(h)^{\top}(\bar{h}-h) \ge 0, \quad \forall \bar{h} \in \mathcal{H},$$
 (6.25)

where  $\bar{\xi}_{ea}(h) = [\xi_{ea}^k(h) : k \in P_i, i \in \mathcal{I}]$  and  $\xi_{ea}^k(h) = \xi_{ea}(\tau_k(h))$ .

Proof.  $(\Leftarrow=)$ 

Assume that h solves the variational inequality (6.25). Choose the special  $\bar{h}$  defined by (6.18), then

$$\bar{\xi}_{ea}(h)^{\mathsf{T}}(\bar{h} - h) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \sum_{j \in P_i} (\bar{h}_j - h_j) \xi_{ea}^j(h)$$

$$= (\bar{h}_k - h_k) \xi_{ea}^k(h) + (\bar{h}_l - h_l) \xi_{ea}^l(h)$$

$$= h_k (\xi_{ea}^l(h) - \xi_{ea}^k(h))$$

$$= h_k (\xi_{ea}(\tau_l(h)) - \xi_{ea}(\tau_k(h)))$$

$$\geq 0. \tag{6.26}$$

Thus if  $\xi_{ea}(\tau_k(h)) - \xi_{ea}(\tau_l(h)) > 0$ , (6.26) and  $h_k \ge 0$  implies that  $h_k = 0$ , i.e., h is in weak vector equilibrium.

 $(\Longrightarrow)$ 

Conversely, we assume that  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is in  $\xi_{ea}$ -equilibrium and define,

$$P_i^1 := \{ k \in P_i : \xi_{ea} \circ \tau_k(h) = u_{ea}^i(h) \},$$

$$P_i^2 := \{ k \in P_i : \xi_{ea} \circ \tau_k(h) > u_{ea}^i(h) \}.$$
(6.27)

Then for any  $\bar{h} \in \mathcal{H}$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \bar{\xi}_{ea}(h)^{\top}(\bar{h} - h) &= \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \sum_{k \in P_i} \xi_{ea}^k \circ \tau_k(h)(\bar{h}_k - h_k) \\ &= \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \left\{ \sum_{k \in P_i^1} u_{ea}^i(h)(\bar{h}_k - h_k) + \sum_{k \in P_i^2} u_{ea}^i(h)\bar{h}_k \right\} \\ &= \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} u_{ea}^i(h) \sum_{k \in P_i} (\bar{h}_k - h_k) \\ &= \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} u_{ea}^i(h)(d_i - d_i) \\ &= 0, \end{split}$$

i.e., h solves the variational inequality (6.25).

**Corollary 6.22.** Let  $D \subset \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a base of  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$ . Then the path flow  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is in weak vector equilibrium if and only if there exists a  $d \in D \cap int\mathbb{R}^{\ell}_+$  such that h solves

$$\bar{\xi}_{d0}(h)^{\top}(\bar{h}-h) \ge 0, \quad \forall \bar{h} \in \mathcal{H}.$$
 (6.28)

*Proof.* Since  $\xi_{e0}(y)$  is positively homogeneous for  $\alpha > 0$  we have  $\xi_{e0}(\alpha y) = \alpha \xi_{e0}(y)$ . Since D is a base, for  $e \in int\mathbb{R}_+^{\ell}$ , there exist  $\alpha_1 > 0$  and  $d \in D$  such that  $e = \alpha_1 d$ , and we have  $\xi_{e0}(y) = \frac{1}{\alpha_1} \xi_{d0}(y)$ . Thus, by Theorem 6.19 and Theorem 6.21, the result of this Corollary holds.

# 6.2 Vector Equilibrium Problem

In this section, we consider an equilibrium problem defined on transportation networks with vector-valued cost functions. In this model, the cost space is again  $\ell$ -dimensional Euclidean space  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell}$ , with the ordering cone C, a pointed, closed and convex cone with nonempty interior intC.

**Definition 6.23.** Given a flow h, we say that a path  $p \in P_i$  for an O-D pair i is a minimal one if there does not exist another path  $p' \in P_i$  such that  $\tau_{p'}(h) - \tau_p(h) \leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0$ .

Let  $\Gamma_i(h) = \{\tau_p(h) : p \in P_i\}$  denote the (discrete) set of vector costs for all paths for O-D pair i, and

$$\mathcal{I}'_i(h) = \{k \in P_i \mid \tau_k(h) - \tau_p(h) \not\geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \ \forall p \in P_i\} \subseteq P_i$$

denote the set of all minimal paths for O-D pair i.

We define the minimal frontier for O-D pair i to be the set of minimal points in the cost-space of O-D pair i:

$$\operatorname{Min}_{C}(\Gamma_{i}(h)) = \{ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} \mid \xi = \tau_{p}(h) \text{ where } p \in \mathcal{I'}_{i}(h) \}.$$

Note that  $\operatorname{Min}_{C}(\Gamma_{i}(h))$  is a discrete set because it is a subset of  $\mathcal{I}'_{i}(h)$  and  $\mathcal{I}'_{i}(h)$  is a discrete set.

The following vector equilibrium principle is a generalization of the well-known Wardrop's equilibrium principle (see Wardrop [197]):

**Definition 6.24.** A flow  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is said to be in vector equilibrium if

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \forall k, l \in P_i, \quad \tau_k(h) \geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} \tau_l(h) \Longrightarrow h_k = 0.$$

A flow h in vector equilibrium is often referred to as a vector equilibrium flow.

In terms of the minimal frontier for O-D pair i, the vector equilibrium principle can be stated in an equivalent form:

**Definition 6.25.** (Equivalent vector equilibrium principle) The path flow vector h is in vector equilibrium if:

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \ \forall p \in P_i, \ h_p = 0 \ \ whenever \ \tau_p(h) \notin Min_C(\Gamma_i(h)).$$
 (6.29)

**Definition 6.26.** (Parametric equilibrium principle) Let a parameter  $\lambda \in C^*$  be given. A path flow vector h is in  $\lambda$ -equilibrium if

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \ \forall p \in P_i, \ h_p = 0 \ \ whenever \ \exists \ e_i \in Min_C(\Gamma_i(h)),$$
  
such that  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} e_i$ .

**Assumption 6.27.**  $Min_C(\Gamma_i(h)) \subseteq Min_C(co(\Gamma_i(h))).$ 

We need the following scalarization result, which is just Theorem 3.4.2 of [176].

**Lemma 6.28.** Let  $A \subset \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a nonempty and convex set and  $a^* \in Min_CA$ . Then, there exists  $\lambda \in intC^*$  such that

$$\lambda^{\top} a^* = \min_{a \in A} \lambda^{\top} a.$$

The following result establishes relationships between a vector equilibrium flow and a parametric equilibrium flow.

**Theorem 6.29.** (i) If h is in vector equilibrium and Assumption 6.27 holds, then there exists  $\lambda \in C^* \setminus \{0\}$  such that the path flow h is in  $\lambda$ -equilibrium; (ii) If h is in  $\lambda$ -equilibrium for some  $\lambda \in intC^*$ , then h is in vector equilibrium.

*Proof.* (i) Similar to the proof of Theorem 6.7 (i), but using Lemma 6.28 instead.

(ii) Let  $\lambda \in \text{int } C^*$  and let h be in  $\lambda$ -equilibrium. Suppose that h is not in vector equilibrium, then by Definition 6.24, there exists  $i \in \mathcal{I}, p \in P_i$  such that,

$$h_p > 0$$
 and  $\tau_p(h) \notin \operatorname{Min}_C(\Gamma_i(h))$ .

Thus

$$h_p > 0$$
 and  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} e_i$ , for some  $e_i \in \operatorname{Min}_C(\Gamma_i(h))$ .

Hence h is not in  $\lambda$ -equilibrium, a contradiction.

**Lemma 6.30.** Let  $u_i(\lambda)$  be defined. If  $\lambda \in int C^*$ , then  $u_i(\lambda) = \lambda^{\top} e_i$  for some  $e_i \in Min_C(\Gamma_i(h))$ .

Proof. From (6.5), let  $p \in P_i$  be such that  $u_i(\lambda) = \lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h)$ . Choose  $e_i := \tau_p(h)$ . Suppose now that  $e_i \notin \operatorname{Min}_C(\Gamma_i(h))$ , then there exists  $\bar{p} \in P_i$ , such that  $\tau_p(h) \geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} \tau_{\bar{p}}(h)$ . Since  $\lambda \in \operatorname{int}C^*$ ,  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} \tau_{\bar{p}}(h)$ , a contradiction. Therefore  $e_i \in \operatorname{Min}_C(\Gamma_i(h))$ .

**Theorem 6.31.** (i) Let  $\lambda \in C^*$ . Then h is in  $\lambda$ -equilibrium if the following condition holds:

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \forall p \in P_i, \ h_p = 0 \ whenever \lambda^{\mathsf{T}} \tau_p(h) > u_i(\lambda);$$
 (6.30)

(ii) If  $\lambda \in int C^*$  and h is in  $\lambda$ -equilibrium, then condition (6.30) holds.

*Proof.* (i) If there exists  $e_i \in \operatorname{Min}_C(\Gamma_i(h))$  such that  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} e_i$ , say  $e_i = \tau_q(h)$  for some  $q \in P_i$ , then  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} \tau_q(h)$ ,  $q \in P_i$ . Thus, clearly,

$$\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > u_i(\lambda) = \min_{p \in P_i} \lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h),$$

by (6.30),  $h_p = 0$ , so h is in  $\lambda$ -equilibrium.

(ii) Let h be a  $\lambda$ -equilibrium flow. By Lemma 6.30, there exists  $e_i \in \min_C (\Gamma_i(h))$  such that  $u_i(\lambda) = \lambda^{\top} e_i$ . Suppose that  $\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > u_i(\lambda)$ . Then

$$\lambda^{\top} \tau_p(h) > \lambda^{\top} e_i$$
.

By Definition 6.26,  $h_p = 0$  and hence (6.30) holds.

We discuss relations between a vector equilibrium flow and a solution of a vector optimization problem.

The following theorems can be similarly proved as Theorems 6.13 and 6.14, respectively.

**Theorem 6.32.** Assume that the cost function  $t_a$  is integrable and the cost matrix t(v) is monotone, and let  $\lambda \in intC^*$ . h is in  $\lambda$ -equilibrium if and only if h is a solution of  $P(\lambda)$ .

**Theorem 6.33.** Assume that the cost function  $t_a$  is integrable and the cost matrix t(v) is monotone. If further Assumption 6.27 holds and h is in vector equilibrium, then h is a weakly minimal solution of (NVO).

The following theorem follows directly from Theorem 6.33.

**Theorem 6.34.** Let Assumption 6.27 hold, the cost function  $t_a$  be integrable and the cost matrix t(v) be monotone. If h is in vector equilibrium, then h is a solution of the following weak vector variational inequality problem of finding  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  such that

$$T(h)(g-h) \not\leq_{intC} 0, \ \forall g \in \mathcal{H}.$$

**Theorem 6.35.** Let  $Min_{intC}(\Gamma_i(h))$  be a singleton. If h is an equilibrium flow, then h satisfies the SVVI of finding  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ :

$$T(h)(\bar{h}-h) \ge_{C\setminus\{0\}} 0, \quad \forall \bar{h} \in \mathcal{H}.$$

*Proof.* See the proof of Proposition 6.3 of [44].

We may now establish a sufficient condition for a flow h to be in vector equilibrium.

**Theorem 6.36.**  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is in vector equilibrium if h solves the (VVI) of finding  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  such that

$$T(h)(\bar{h} - h) \nleq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \ \forall \bar{h} \in \mathcal{H}. \tag{6.31}$$

*Proof.* Let h satisfy (6.31). Choose  $\bar{h}$  to be such that

$$\bar{h}_j = \begin{cases} h_j, & \text{if } j \neq k \text{ or } j, \\ 0, & \text{if } j = k, \\ h_k + h_j, & \text{if } j = j. \end{cases}$$

Clearly,  $\bar{h} \in \mathcal{H}$  since  $\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \ \sum_{j \in P_i} \bar{h}_j = \sum_{j \in P_i} h_j = d_i$ . Now

$$T(h)(\bar{h} - h) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \sum_{j \in P_i} (\bar{h}_j - h_j) \tau_j(h)$$

$$= (\bar{h}_k - h_k) \tau_k(h) + (\bar{h}_j - h_j) \tau_j(h)$$

$$= h_k(\tau_j(h) - \tau_k(h)) \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0.$$
(6.32)

If

$$\tau_k(h) - \tau_j(h) \ge_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \tag{6.33}$$

then (6.32) and (6.33) together imply that  $h_k = 0$  since C is a pointed cone. Thus, h is in vector equilibrium.

#### 6.3 Dynamic Vector Equilibrium Problem

Let  $\Omega = [0, t_f]$  be the time period under consideration. For  $i \in \mathcal{I}$  and a given path  $k \in P_i$ , let  $h_k(t)$  denote the traffic flow on this path at time  $t \in \Omega$  and  $M = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} |P_i|$ . Then, at time t,

$$h(t) = [h_k(t) : k \in P_i, i \in \mathcal{I}]$$

is a M-dimensional column vector.

We only take account of the functional setting for the set of flow trajectories. This set is assumed to be a reflexive Banach space  $L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M)$  with p > 1. The dual space of  $L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M)$  is  $L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M)$ , where 1/p + 1/q = 1. On  $L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M) \times L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M)$ , we define the canonical bilinear form by

$$\langle G, h \rangle = \int_{\Omega} G(t)h(t)dt, \quad G \in L^{q}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{M}), h \in L^{p}(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{M}).$$

For  $i \in \mathcal{I}$ , the demand  $d_i(t) \geq 0$  on this O-D pair i depends on the time  $t \in \Omega$ . At time  $t \in \Omega$ , let

$$d(t) = [d_i(t) : i \in \mathcal{I}].$$

Also, for technical reasons, we think of the demand trajectories in  $L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{I}|})$ . A flow trajectory  $h \in L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M)$  satisfying the demand

$$\sum_{k \in P_i} h_k(t) = d_i(t) \text{ a.e. on } \Omega, \ \forall i \in \mathcal{I}$$

is called a feasible path flow. Let  $\mathcal{H}$  be the set of feasible path flows, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{H} = \{ h \in L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M) | \ h(t) \ge 0 \ and \ \sum_{k \in P} h_k(t) = d_i(t) \ a.e. \ on \ \Omega, \ \forall i \in \mathcal{I} \}.$$

A path flow vector h(t) induces an arc flow column vector  $v(t) = [v_a(t) : a \in \mathcal{A}]$ , where, for each arc  $a \in \mathcal{A}$ ,

$$v_a(t) = \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \sum_{k \in P_i} \delta_{ak} h_k(t)$$

where  $\Delta = [\delta_{ak}] \in \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}| \times M}$  is the arc path incidence matrix. Hence

$$v(t) = \Delta h(t).$$

Let  $\mathcal{V}$  be the set of feasible arc flows, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{V} = \{v \in L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}|}) \mid v(t) \geq 0, v(t) = \Delta h(t) \text{ and } \sum_{k \in P_i} h_k(t) = d_i(t) \text{ a.e. on } \Omega, \forall i \in \mathcal{I}\}.$$

Let  $(\mathbb{R}^{\ell}, C)$  be an ordered space with the ordering cone C and, for each t,  $c_a(v(t)) \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}$  be a vector cost functional on arc a (arc weight); let  $c(v(t)) = [c_a(v(t)) : a \in \mathcal{A}]$  be an  $\ell \times |\mathcal{A}|$ -matrix. The vector weight along a path  $k \in P_i$  is assumed to be the sum of all the arc weights along this path; thus

$$au_k(h(t)) = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \delta_{ak} c_a(v(t)) \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell}.$$

Set

$$T(h(t)) = c(v(t))\Delta$$

which is an  $\ell \times M$  matrix with columns given by  $\tau_k(h(t))$ .

So we know that, for each  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ ,  $T(h(\cdot))$  is a functional from  $\Omega$  to  $\mathbb{R}^{\ell \times M}$ . We assume that, for all  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ ,  $T(h(\cdot))$  is in  $L^q(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{\ell \times M})$  where 1/p+1/q=1. Define a multi-cost path functional  $U: L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M) \to L(L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M), \mathbb{R}^\ell)$  by

$$\langle U(h), \bar{h} \rangle = \int_{\Omega} T(h(t)) \bar{h}(t) dt, \quad h, \bar{h} \in L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M).$$

And define a multi-cost arc functional  $S: L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}|}) \to L(L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}|}), \mathbb{R}^{\ell})$  by

$$\langle S(v), \bar{v} \rangle = \int_{\Omega} \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} c_a(v(t)) \bar{v}_a(t) dt, \quad v, \bar{v} \in L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}|}).$$

**Assumption 6.37.** T is one-to-one, that is, if  $h_1, h_2 \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $T(h_1) = T(h_2)$ , then  $h_1(t) = h_2(t)$  a.e. on  $\Omega$ .

**Note:** It can be shown that if S is one-to-one and  $\Delta$  is a square and nonsingular matrix, then Assumption 6.37 holds.

**Proposition 6.38.** If the Assumption 6.37 holds, then the multi-cost path functional U is one-to-one on  $\mathcal{H}$ .

*Proof.* Proving U is one-to-one on  $\mathcal{H}$  is equivalent to show that if, for  $h_1, h_2 \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $h_1(t) \neq h_2(t)$  a.e. on  $\Omega$ , then  $U(h_1) \neq U(h_2)$ . Suppose  $U(h_1) = U(h_2)$ . Then, from the definition of functional U, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} (T(h_1(t)) - T(h_2(t)))\bar{h}(t)dt = 0, \quad \forall \bar{h} \in L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M).$$

From the Hahn-Banach theorem,

$$T(h_1(t)) - T(h_2(t)) = 0$$
, a.e. on  $\Omega$ .

From Assumption 6.37,

$$h_1(t) - h_2(t) = 0$$
, a.e. on  $\Omega$ .

**Definition 6.39.** Given an  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ , we say that a path  $k \in P_i$  for an O-D pair i is a minimal one if there does not exist another path  $k' \in P_i$  such that  $\tau_k(h(t)) - \tau_{k'}(h(t)) \geq_{C\setminus\{0\}} 0$ , a.e. on  $\Omega$ .

Given an  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ , let  $\Gamma_i(h) = \{\tau_k(h(t)) : k \in P_i\}$  denote the (discrete) set of vector cost functionals of all paths for O-D pair i, and

$$\mathcal{I}''_i(h) = \{k \in P_i \mid \tau_k(h(t)) - \tau_{k'}(h(t)) \not\geq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \text{ a.e. on } \Omega \ \forall k' \in P_i\} \subseteq P_i$$

denote the set of all minimal paths for O-D pair i.

We define the minimal frontier for O-D pair i to be the set of minimal points in the cost-space of O-D pair i:

$$\operatorname{Min}_{C}(\Gamma_{i}(h)) = \{ \tau_{p}(h) \in \mathbb{R}^{\ell} | p \in \mathcal{I}_{i}^{"}(h) \}.$$

Note that  $\operatorname{Min}_{C}(\Gamma_{i}(h))$  is a discrete set because  $\mathcal{I}''_{i}(h)$  is a discrete set.

**Definition 6.40 (Dynamic vector equilibrium principle).** A continuous path flow vector  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is said to be in dynamic vector equilibrium if,  $\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \forall k, k' \in P_i$ ,

$$h_k(t) = 0$$
 whenever  $\tau_k(h(t)) - \tau_{k'}(h(t)) \ge_{C\setminus\{0\}} 0$ , a.e. on  $\Omega$ . (6.34)

A flow h in dynamic vector equilibrium is often referred to as a dynamic vector equilibrium flow.

Remark 6.41. (i) If  $\ell = 1$ , (6.34) reduces to the dynamic (scalar) Wardrop's principle in Daniele et al [51].

(ii) The dynamic vector equilibrium principle can be stated in an equivalent form as: the path flow vector h is in dynamic vector equilibrium if,  $\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \ \forall p \in P_i$ ,

$$h_p(t) = 0$$
 whenever  $\tau_p(h(t)) \notin \operatorname{Min}_C(\Gamma_i(h))$ , a.e. on  $\Omega$ .

**Definition 6.42 (Dynamic weak vector equilibrium principle).** A continuous path flow vector  $h(t) \in \mathcal{H}$  is said to be in dynamic weak vector equilibrium if,  $\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \forall k, k' \in P_i$ ,

$$h_k(t) = 0$$
 whenever  $\tau_k(h(t)) - \tau_{k'}(h(t)) \ge_{intC} 0$ , a.e. on  $\Omega$ . (6.35)

A flow h in dynamic weak vector equilibrium is often referred to as a dynamic weak vector equilibrium flow.

The following are infinite dimensional versions of the assumptions used in [85].

**Assumption 6.43.** *Let*  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ *. Assume that* 

$$Min_C(\Gamma_i(h)) \subset Min_C(co(\Gamma_i(h))), a.e. on \Omega.$$

Remark 6.44. Assumption 6.43 is equivalent to assert that there exists a null set  $E_1$  such that, for any  $t \in \Omega \setminus E_1$ ,

$$\operatorname{Min}_C(\Gamma_i(h)) \subset \operatorname{Min}_C(\operatorname{co}(\Gamma_i(h))).$$

**Definition 6.45.** We say that the vector cost function  $c_a$  is conservative if  $\partial c_a^k/\partial v_{a'} = \partial c_{a'}^k/\partial v_a$ , a.e. on  $\Omega$ ,  $\forall a, a' \in \mathcal{A}, \forall k = 1, ..., \ell$ 

**Assumption 6.46.** The cost  $c_a$  is conservative for all  $a \in A$ .

**Assumption 6.47.** Each row  $c^k(v(t))$  of the cost matrix c(v(t)) is monotone, i.e., for all  $k = 1, 2, ..., \ell$ ,  $v_1(t), v_2(t) \in \mathbb{R}^{|\mathcal{A}|}$ ,

$$(c^k(v_1(t)) - c^k(v_2(t)))(v_1(t) - v_2(t)) \ge 0, a.e. \text{ on } \Omega.$$

Remark 6.48. Assumption 6.47 is to say that there exists a null set  $E_2$  such that, for any  $t \in \Omega \setminus E_2$ ,  $c^k(v(t))$  is monotone,  $k = 1, 2, ..., \ell$ .

In the following, an infinite dimensional (WVVI) problem is established as a necessary condition of a dynamic weak vector equilibrium flow.

**Proposition 6.49 (Necessary condition).** If Assumptions 6.43, 6.46 and 6.47 hold and h is in dynamic weak vector equilibrium, then h is a solution of the following (WVVI) of finding  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  such that:

$$\langle U(h), g - h \rangle \not\leq_{intC} 0, \quad \forall g \in \mathcal{H}.$$
 (6.36)

*Proof.* Since h is in dynamic weak vector equilibrium, then there exists a null set  $E_3$  such that, for any  $t \in \Omega \setminus E_3$ ,

$$\forall i \in \mathcal{I}, \forall k, k' \in P_i, \ h_k(t) = 0 \text{ whenever } \tau_k(h(t)) - \tau_{k'}(h(t)) \in intC,$$

and  $h(t) \geq 0$  and  $h_i(t) = d_i(t), \forall i \in \mathcal{I}$ . So, for any  $t \in \Omega \setminus (E_1 \cup E_2 \cup E_3)$ , h(t) is in weak vector equilibrium, and all the assumptions of Theorem 6.15 are satisfied. Hence,  $T(h(t))(g(t) - h(t)) \not\leq_{intC} 0$  holds, for every  $g \in H(t)$ , where

$$H(t) = \{g \in {\rm I\!R}^M | g \geq 0 \text{ and } \sum_{p \in P_i} g_p = d_i(t), \forall i \in \mathcal{I}\}.$$

Since the union of finitely many null sets is a null set,  $E_1 \cup E_2 \cup E_3$  is a null set. So,

$$T(h(t))(g(t) - h(t)) \not\leq_{intC} 0$$

a.e. on  $\Omega$ , for any  $g \in \mathcal{H}$ . That is to say,

$$\langle U(h), g-h \rangle = \int_{\Omega} T(h(t))(g(t)-h(t))dt \not\leq_{intC} 0.$$

**Proposition 6.50 (Sufficient condition).** The flow  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is in dynamic vector equilibrium if h solves the following (VVI) of finding  $h \in H$  such that

$$\langle U(h), \bar{h} - h \rangle \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0, \quad \forall \bar{h} \in \mathcal{H}.$$
 (6.37)

*Proof.* Let  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  satisfy (6.37). Choose  $\bar{h} \in L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M)$  such that

$$ar{h}_j(t) = egin{cases} h_j(t), & ext{if } j 
eq k ext{ or } k' \ 0, & ext{if } j = k \ h_k(t) + h_{k'}(t), ext{ if } j = k' \end{cases}$$

a.e. on  $\Omega$ . Clearly,  $\bar{h}\in\mathcal{H}$ , since  $h(t)\geq 0$  and  $\Delta\bar{h}(t)=\Delta h(t)==d(t)$  a.e. on  $\Omega$ .

Now,

$$\langle U(h), \bar{h} - h \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} T(h(t))(\bar{h}(t) - h(t))dt$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} \sum_{i \in \mathcal{I}} \sum_{j \in P_i} (\bar{h}_j(t) - h_j(t))\tau_j(\bar{h}(t))dt$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} (\bar{h}_k(t) - h_k(t))\tau_k(h(t)) + (\bar{h}_{k'}(t) - h_{k'}(t))\tau_{k'}(h(t))dt$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} h_k(t)(\tau_{k'}(h(t)) - \tau_k(h(t))dt \not\leq_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0.$$
(6.38)

If

$$\tau_k(h(t)) - \tau_{k'}(h(t)) \ge_{C \setminus \{0\}} 0$$
, a.e. on  $\Omega$ ,

then (6.38) implies that  $h_k(t) = 0$  a.e. on  $\Omega$ . Thus h is in vector dynamic equilibrium.

**Proposition 6.51 (Sufficient condition).** The flow  $h \in \mathcal{H}$  is in dynamic weak vector equilibrium if h solves the WVVI(6.36)

**Proof:** The proof is similar to that Proposition 6.50 and omitted.

We apply the results in Chapter 3 to establish the existence of a dynamic weak vector equilibrium flow.

**Proposition 6.52.** Suppose the multi-cost arc functional S is C-monotone and v-hemi-continuous, then there exists a path flow  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ , which is in dynamic weak vector equilibrium.

*Proof.* Note that

$$\mathcal{H} = \{ h \in L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M) | \ h(t) \ge 0 \ and \ \sum_{k \in P_i} h_k(t) = d_i(t) \ a.e. \ on \ \Omega, \ \forall i \in \mathcal{I} \}.$$

It is clear that  $\mathcal{H}$  is bounded, convex and closed, i.e., compact in the weak topology of  $L^p(\Omega, \mathbb{R}^M)$ .

For any  $h, \bar{h} \in \mathcal{H}$ , set  $v = \Delta h, \bar{v} = \Delta \bar{h}$ . Then, from the C-monotonicity of the multi-cost arc functional S,

$$\begin{split} \langle U(h) - U(\bar{h}), h - \bar{h} \rangle \\ &= \int_{\varOmega} (T(h(t)) - T(\bar{h}(t)))(h(t) - \bar{h}(t))dt \\ &= \int_{\varOmega} (c(v(t))\Delta - c(\bar{v}(t))\Delta)(h(t) - \bar{h}(t))dt \\ &= \int_{\varOmega} (c(v(t)) - c(\bar{v}(t)))(\Delta h(t) - \Delta \bar{h}(t))dt \\ &= \int_{\varOmega} (c(v(t)) - c(\bar{v}(t)))(v(t) - \bar{v}(t))dt \\ &= \langle S(v) - S(\bar{v}), v - \bar{v} \rangle \geq_C 0, \end{split}$$

i.e., the multi-cost path functional U is C-monotone on  $\mathcal{H}$ . Similarly,

$$\langle S(v+t\bar{v}), \bar{v} \rangle = \langle U(h+t\bar{h}), \bar{h} \rangle.$$

So, from the v-hemi-continuity of S,

$$\lim_{t\to 0^+} \langle U(h+t\bar{h}),\bar{h}\rangle = \lim_{t\to 0^+} \langle S(v+t\bar{v}),\bar{v}\rangle = \langle S(v),\bar{v}\rangle = \langle U(h),\bar{h}\rangle.$$

So, from the v-hemi-continuity of S, we have the multi-cost path functional U is v-hemi-continuous. Then, by Theorem 3.14, the WVVI (6.36) has one solution  $h \in \mathcal{H}$ . So by Proposition 6.51, h is in dynamic weak vector equilibrium.

## References

- 1. Aubin, J. P. (1976) Nonlinear Analysis. Wiley, New York.
- Ansari, Q. H., Lai, T. C. and Yao, J. C. (1999) On the equivalence of extended generalized complementarity and generalized least-element problems. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 102, 277-288.
- 3. Ansari, Q. H., Siddiqi, A. H. and Yao, J.-C. (2000) Generalized vector variational-like inequalities and their scalarizations. In [82], 17-37.
- 4. Aubin, A. P. (1977) Applied Abstract Analysis. John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Aubin, J. P. and Ekeland, I. (1984) Applied Nonlinear Analysis. John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Aubin, J. P. and Frankowska, H. (1990) Set-Valued Analysis. Birkhauser, Boston.
- 7. Auslender, A. (1976) Optimization: Methods Numeriques. Masson Paris.
- 8. Balder, E. J. (1977) An extension of duality-stability relations to nonconvex optimization problems. SIAM J. Control Optimiz. 15, 329-343.
- 9. Barbu, V. and Precupanu, T. (1986) Convexity and Optimization in Banach Spaces. Editura Acad., Bucaresti.
- Bazaraa, M.S. and Shetty, C.M. (1979) Nonlinear Programming: Theory and Algorithms. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- 11. Bednarczuk, E. (1987) Well-Posedness of Vector Optimization Problems. Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems, 294, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 51-61.
- 12. Benson, H. P. (1979) An improved definition of proper efficiency for vector maximization with respect to cones, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 71, 232-241.
- Benson, H. P. (1983) Efficiency and proper efficiency in vector maximization with respect to cones. J. Math. Appl. 93, 273-289.
- Bertsekas, D. P. (1982), Constrained Optimization and Lagrange Multiplier Methods. Academic Press, New York, New York.
- Bianchi, M., Hadjisavvas, N. and Schaible, S. (1999) Vector equilibrium problems with generalized monotone bifunctions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 92, 531-546.
- Bianchi, M. and Schaible, S. (1996) Generalized monotone bifunctions and equilibrium problems. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 90, 31-43.
- Blackwell, D. (1955) An analog of the minimax theorem for vector payoffs, Pacific J. Math. 6, 1-8.

- 18. Blum, E. and Oettli, W. (1994) From optimization and variational inequalities to equilibrium problems. *The Mathematics Student*. 63, 123-145.
- Borwein, J. (1977) Proper efficient points for maximizations with respect to cones. SIAM J. Control Optim. 15, 57-63.
- Borwein, J. (1984) Generalized linear complementarity problems treated without fixed point theory. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 43, 343-356.
- Brenninger-Göthe, M., Jørnsten, K. and Lundgren, J. T. (1989) Estimation of origin-destination matrices from traffic counts using multiobjective programming formulations. Transp. Res. 23B, 257-270.
- Burke, J. V. (1991) Calmness and exact penalization. SIAM J. Control Optimiz. 29, 493-497.
- 23. Cai, X. Q., Teo, K. L., Yang, X.Q. and Zhou, X. Y. (2000) Portfolio optimization under a minimax rule. *Manag. Sci.* 46, 957-972.
- Chen, G. Y. (1984) Necessary conditions of nondominated solutions in multicriteria decision making. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 104, 38-46.
- Chen, G. Y. (1992) Existence of solutions for a vector variational inequality: an extension of the Hartmann-Stampacchia theorem. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 74, 445-456.
- Chen, G. Y. (1991) A generalized section theorem and a minimax inequality for a vector-valued mapping. Optimization. 22, 745-754.
- Chen, G. Y. and Craven, B. D. (1989) Approximate dual and approximate VVI for multiobjective optimization. J. Austral. Mathem. Soc. Series A, 47, 418-423.
- Chen, G. Y. and Craven, B. D. (1994) Existence and continuity of solutions of vector optimization. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 81, 459-468.
- Chen, G. Y., Goh, C. J., and Yang, X. Q. (1998) On gap function of a convex multicriteria optimization problem. European J. Oper. Res. 111, 142-151.
- Chen, G. Y., Goh, C. J. and Yang, X. Q. (1999) Vector network equilibrium problems and nonlinear scalarization methods. *Math. Meth. Oper. Res.* 49, 239-253.
- 31. Chen, G. Y., Goh, C. J. and Yang, X. Q. (2000) On gap functions for vector variational inequalities. In [82], 55-72.
- 32. Chen, G. Y., Goh, C. J. and Yang, X. Q. (2001) Existence of a solution for generalized vector variational inequalities. *Optimization*. 50, 1-15.
- Chen, G. Y. and Huang, X. X. (1998), Ekeland's ε-variational principle for setvalued mappings. Math. Meth. Oper. Res. 48, 181-186.
- 34. Chen, G. Y. and Huang, X. X. (1998) A unified approach to the existing three types of variational principles for vector-valued functions. *Math. Meth. Oper. Res.* 48, 349-357.
- 35. Chen, G. Y., Huang, X. X. and Lee, G. M. (1999) Equivalents of approximate variational principle for vector-valued functions. *Math. Meth. Oper. Res.* 49, 239-253.
- Chen, G. Y., Huang, X. X. and Hou, S. H. (2000) General Ekeland's variational principle for set-valued maps. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 106, 151-164.
- Chen, G. Y. and Jahn, J. (1998) Optimality conditions for set-valued optimization problems. Math. Meth. Oper. Res. 48, 187-200.
- Chen, G. Y. and Li, S. J. (1996) Existence of solutions for generalized vector quasi-variational inequality. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 90, 321-334.
- Chen, G. Y. and Rong, W. D. (1998) Characterization of the Benson proper efficiency for nonconvex vector optimization. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 98, 365-384.

- Chen, G. Y. and Yang, X. Q. (1990) The vector complementary problem and its equivalences with vector minimal element in ordered spaces. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 153, 136-158.
- 41. Chen, G. Y. and Yang, X. Q. (2000) On existence of vector complementarity problems. In [82], 87-95.
- 42. Chen, G. Y. and Yang, X. Q. (2002) Characterizations of variable domination structures via nonlinear scalarization. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 112, 97-110.
- 43. Chen, G. Y., Yang, X. Q. and Yu, H. (2004) A nonlinear scalarization function and generalized quasi-vector equilibrium problems. *J. Global Optimiz*. (to appear).
- Chen, G. Y. and Yen, N. D. (1993) On the variational inequality model for network equilibrium, *Internal Report*, Department of Mathematics, University of Pisa, 3, 196 (724).
- 45. Chew, K. L., and Choo, E. V. (1984) Pseudolinearity and efficiency. *Math. Progr.* 28, 226-239.
- Clarke, F. H. (1983) Optimization and Nonsmooth Analysis. John Wiley & Sons, Inc..
- 47. Corley, H. W. (1988) Optimality conditions for maximizations of set-valued functions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 58, 1-10.
- 48. Cottle, R. W., Giannessi, F. and Lions, J. L. (eds.) (1980) Variational Inequalities and Complementarity Problems, John Wiley and Sons, New York.
- Cryer, C. W. and Dempster, A. H. (1980) Equivalence of linear complementarity problems and linear program in vector lattice Hilbert space. SIAM J. Control. Optim. 18, 76-90.
- Dancs, S, Hegedus, M. and Medvegyev, P. (1983) A general ordering and fixedpoint principle in complete metric spaces. Acta. Sci. Mathem. (Szegd). 46, 381-388.
- Daniele, P., Maugeri, A. and Oettli, W. (1999) Time-dependent traffic equilibria.
   J. Optim. Theory Appl. 103, 543-555.
- 52. Daniele, P. and Maugeri, A. (2000) Vector variational inequalities and modelling of a continuum traffic equilibrium problem. In [82], 97-111.
- De Luca, M. and Maugeri, A. (1989) Quasi-variational inequalities and applications to equilibrium problems with elastic demand. In Clarke, F., Demyanov, V. and Giannessi, F. (eds) Nonsmooth Analysis and Related Topics, Plenum Press, 61-77.
- Dentcheva, D. and Helbig, S. (1996) On variational principles, level sets, well-posedness and ε-Solutions in vector optimization. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 89, 329-349.
- 55. Deng, S. (2003) Coercivity properties and well-posedness in vector optimization. *RAIRO Oper. Res.* 37, 195-208.
- Dial, R. B. (1996) Bicriteria traffic assignment: basic theory and elementary algorithms. Transp. Sci. 30, 93-111.
- 57. Ding, X. P., Kim, W. K. and Tan, K. K. (1992) A selection theorem and its applications. *Bull. Austral. Math. Soc.* 46, 205-212.
- 58. Dolecki, S., and Malivert, C. (1993) General duality in vector optimization, Optimization, 27, 97-119.
- Dontchev, A. L. and Zolezzi, T. (1993) Well-posed Optimization Problems. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1543. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Egudo, R. R. (1989) Efficiency and generalized convex duality for multiobjective programs. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 138, 84-94.

- Egudo, R. R., and Hanson, M. A. (1987) Multiobjective duality with invexity. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 126, 469-477.
- Ekeland, I. (1972) Remarques sur les problems variationels 1, CRAS, 275, 1057-1059.
- 63. Ekeland, I. (1974) On the variational principle. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 47, 324-353.
- 64. Ekeland, I. and Temam, R. (1999) Convex Analysis and Variational Problems. Translated from the French. Corrected reprint of the 1976 English edition. Classics in Applied Mathematics, 28. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA.
- 65. Elster, K.-H. and Elster, R. (1995) Vector variational inequality and geometric vector optimization. In *Variational Inequalities and Network Equilibrium Problems*. 55-67.
- Evans, B. C. (1971) On the basic theorem of complementarity. Math. Prog. 1, 68-75.
- 67. Fan, K. (1953) Minimax theorems and minimax inequalities. Proceeding of the National Academy of Sciences of the U.S.A. 39, 42-47.
- 68. Fan, K. (1961) A generalization of Tychonoff's fixed-point theorem. *Mathematicsche Annalen.* 142, 305-310.
- 69. Fan, K. (1972) A minimax inequality and applications, *Inequality, III*, Academic Press, New York.
- Fang, Y. P. and Huang, N. J. (2003) The vector F-complementarity problems with demipseudomonotone mappings in Banach spaces. Appl. Math. Lett. 16, 1019-1024.
- Ferro, F. (1989) A minimax theorem for vector-valued functions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 6, 19-31.
- 72. Ferro, F. (1991) A minimax theorem for vector-valued functions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 6, 35-48.
- 73. Ferrero, O. (1989), Theorems of the alternative for set-valued functions in infinite dimensional spaces. *Optimization*. 20, 167-175.
- Fu, J. Y. (1997) Simultaneous vector variational inequalities and vector complementarity problem. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 93, 141-151.
- Fu, J. Y. (2000) Generalized vector quasi-equilibrium problems. Math. Meth. Oper. Res. 52, 57-64.
- Geoffrion, A. M. (1968) The proper efficiency and the theory of vector maximization. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 22, 618-630.
- 77. Gerstewitz, Chr. (Tammer) (1983) Nichtkonvexe dualität in der vektaroptimierung. Wissenschaftliche Zeitschrift T H Leuna-mersebung. 25, 357-364.
- 78. Gerth, C. and Weidner, P. (1990) Nonconvex separation theorems and applications in vector optimization. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 67, 297-320.
- 79. Giannessi, F. (1980) Theorems of alternative, quadratic programs and complementary problems. In Cottle, R.W. and Giannessi, F and Lions, J.L. (eds.), Variational Inequality and Complementary Problems, Wiley, New York.
- Giannessi, F. (1997) On connections among separation, penalization and regularization for variational inequalities with point-to-set operators. in Equilibrium problems with side constraints. Lagrangean theory and duality, II (Scilla, 1996) 137-145.
- 81. Giannessi, F. (1998) On Minty variational principle. In *New Trends in Mathematical Programming*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 93-99.
- 82. Giannessi, F. (ed.), Vector Variational Inequalities and Vector Equilibrium. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Boston, London (2000).

- Giannessi, F. and Mastroeni, G. and Pellegrini, L. (2000) On the theory of vector optimization and variational inequalities. Image space analysis and separation. In [82], 153-215.
- 84. Goh, C. J. and Yang, X. Q. (1996) Analytic efficient solution set for multicriteria quadratic programs. *European J. Oper. Res.* 89, 483-491.
- 85. Goh, C. J. and Yang, X. Q. (1998) On Minkowski metric and weighted Tchebyshev norm in vector optimization. *Optimization*. 43, 353-365.
- 86. Goh, C. J. and Yang, X. Q. (1998) Convexification of a noninferior frontier. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 97, 759-768.
- 87. Goh, C. J. and Yang, X. Q. (1998) On the solution of vector variational inequality. Proceedings of Fourth International Conference on Optimization: Techniques and Applications, edited by L. Caccetta et al, 1548-1164.
- 88. Goh, C. J. and Yang, X. Q. (1999) Vector equilibrium problem and vector optimization. *European J. Oper. Res.* 116, 615-628.
- 89. Goh, C. J. and Yang, X.Q. (2000) On scalarization methods for vector variational inequalities. In [82], 217-232.
- Goh, C. J. and Yang, X. Q. (2001) A nonlinear Lagrangian theory for nonconvex optimization. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 109, 99-121.
- 91. Goh, C. J. and Yang, X. Q. (2002) Duality in Optimization and Variational Inequality. Taylor and Francis.
- 92. Gong, L. (1991) Global stability result for the generalized quasivariational inequality problem. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 70, 365-375.
- 93. Guo, D. J. (2000) Ordered Methods in Nonlinear Analysis, Shandong Sci. and Tech. Press, Jinan.
- Ha, C. W. (1980) Minimax and fixed-point theorems, Mathematische Annalen, 248, 73-77.
- 95. Harker, P. T and Pang, J. S. (1990) Finite-dimensional variational inequality and nonlinear complementarity problems: a survey of theory, algorithms and applications. *Math. Progr.* 48, 161-220.
- 96. Holmes, R. B. (1975) Geometric Functional Analysis and its Application. Springer-verlag, New York.
- 97. Huang, N. J. and Gao, C. J. (2003) Some generalized vector variational inequalities and complementarity problems for multivalued mappings, *Appl. Math. Lett.* 16, 1003-1010.
- Huang, X. X. (2000) Equivalents of a general approximate variational principle for set-valued maps and application to efficiency. *Math. Meth. Oper. Res.* 51, 433-442.
- Huang, X. X. (2000) Extended well-posedness properties of vector optimization problems. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 106, 165-182.
- 100. Huang, X. X. (2001) Extended and strongly extended well-posedness of set-valued optimization problems. *Math. Meth. Oper. Res.* 53, 101-116.
- Huang, X. X. (2001) Pointwise well-posedness of perturbed vector optimization problems in a vector-valued variational principle. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 108, 671-686.
- 102. Huang, X. X. and Yang, X. Q. (2002) Asymptotic analysis of a class of nonlinear penalty methods for constrained multiobjective optimization. In *Proceedings of the 3rd WCNA'* 2000, Cantania. Nonl. Anal. TMA. 47, 5573-5584.
- Huang, X. X. and Yang, X. Q. (2001) Efficiency and approachability of nonconvex bicriteria programs. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 261, 134-150.

- 104. Huang, X. X. and Yang, X. Q. (2001) Duality and exact penalization for vector optimization via augmented Lagrangian. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 111, 615-640.
- 105. Huang, X. X. and Yang, X. Q. (2001) Characterizations of nonemptiness and compactness of the set of weakly efficient solutions for convex vector optimization and applications. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 264, 270-287.
- 106. Huang, X. X. and Yang, X. Q. (2002) On characterization of proper efficiency for nonconvex multiobjective optimization. J. Global Optimiz. 23, 213-231.
- 107. Huang, X. X. and Yang, X. Q. (2002) Nonlinear Lagrangian for multiobjective optimization and applications to duality and exact penalization. SIAM J. Optimiz. 13, 675-692.
- 108. Huang, X. X., and Yang, X. Q. (2003) A unified augmented Lagrangian approach to duality and exact penalization. *Math. Opera. Res.* 28, 524-532.
- 109. Huang, X. X. and Yang, X. Q. (2004) Duality of multiobjective optimization via nonlinear Lagrangian functions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 120, 111-127.
- 110. Isac, G. (1990) A special variational inequality and the implicit complementarity problem. J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo. 37, 109-127.
- 111. Isac, G. (1996) Ekeland's principle and Pareto  $\epsilon$ -efficiency. in Lecture Notes in Economic and Mathematical Systems, 432, Springer-verlag.
- 112. Istratescu, V. I. (1981) Fixed Point Theory, An Introduction. Direidel Publishing Company, Dordecht, Boston, London.
- 113. Ioffe, A. (1979) Necessary and sufficient conditions for a local minimum. 3: second-order conditions and augmented duality. SIAM J. Control Optimiz. Vol. 17, 266-288.
- Jameson, G. (1970) Ordered Linear Spaces. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, New York, 161-168.
- 115. Jahn, J. (1984), Scalarization in multiobjective optimization. In *Mathematics* of *Multi-Objective Optimization*, edited by P. Serafini, Springer-Verlag, New York, pp. 45-88.
- 116. Jahn, J, (1986) Existence theorem in vector optimization. J. Optim. Theory and Appl. 50, 397-406.
- 117. Jahn, J. (2004) Vector Optimization. Theory, Applications, and Extensions. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- 118. Jahn, J and Rauh, R. (1997) Contingent epiderivatives and set-valued optimization. *Math. Meth. Oper. Res.* 46, 193-211.
- 119. Jeyakumar, V. (1986) A generalized of minimax theorem of Fan via a theorem of the alternative. J. Optim. Theory and Appl. 48, 525-533.
- Jeyakumar, V., Oettli, W. and Natividad, M. (1993) A solvability theorem for a class of quasiconvex mappings with applications to optimization. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 179, 537-546.
- 121. Jeyakumar, V. and Yang, X. Q. (1993) Convex composite multi-objective non-smooth programming. *Math. Progr.* 59, 325-343.
- 122. Kelley, J. L. (1975) General Topology. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- 123. Knesev, H. (1952) Sur un theoreme Fundamental de la theoriedes jeux, Comptes Rendus de l'Academie des Sciences, Paris, 234, 2418-2420.
- 124. Konnov, I. V. and Yao, J. C. (1997) On the generalized vector variational inequality Problem. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 206, 42-58.
- 125. Konnov, I. V. and Yao, J. C. (1999) Existence of solutions for generalized vector equilibrium problems. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 23, 328-335.
- Kuratowski, C. (1958) Topologie, Vol. 1. Panstwowe Wydawnicto Naukowa, Warszawa, Poland.

- Lasdon, L. S. (1970) Optimization Theory for Large Systems. Macmillan Series in Operations Research, New York.
- Lee, G. M., Kim, D. S. and Lee, B. S. (1996) On noncooperative vector equilibrium. *Indian Journal of Pure and Applied Math.* 27, 735-739.
- 129. Lee, G. M., Lee, B. S., and Chang, S. S. (1996) On vector quasivariational inequalities. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 203, 626-638.
- 130. Lee, G. M., Kim, D. S., Lee, B. S. and Chen, G. Y. (1998) Generalized VVI and its duality for set-valued maps. *Appl. Mathem. Lett.* 11, 21–26.
- Leurent, F. (1993) Cost versus time equilibrium over a network. European J. Oper. Res. 71, 205-221.
- 132. Levitin, E. S. and Polyak, B. T. (1966) Convergence of minimizing sequences in conditional extremum problems. *Soviet Math. Dokl.* 7, 764-767.
- Li, D. (1995) Zero duality gap for a class of nonconvex optimization problems.
   J. Optim. Theory Appl. 85(2), 309-324.
- 134. Li, S. J., Chen, G. Y. and Lee G. M. (2000) Minimax theorems for set-valued mappings. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 106, 183-200.
- Li, S. J., Chen, G. Y. and Teo, K. L. (2002) On the stability of generalized vector quasi variational inequality problems. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 113, 283-295.
- Li, S.J., Chen, G. Y., Teo, K. L. and Yang, X. Q. (2003) Generalized minimax inequalities for set-valued mappings. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 281, 707-723.
- Li, S. J., Yang, X. Q., and Chen, G, Y. (2000) Vector Ekeland's variational principle, in [82], 321-333.
- Li, Z. F. and Wang, S. Y. (1994) Largrange multipliers and saddle points in multiobjective programming. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 83, 63-81.
- Lin, L. J. (1996) Pre-vector variational inequalities. Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 53, 63-70.
- 140. Loridan, P. (1984)  $\epsilon$ -solutions in vector minimization problems. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 43, 265-276.
- Loridan, P. (1995) Well-posed vector optimization. In Recent developments in Well-Posed Variational Problems, Mathematics and its Applications, 331, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 171-192.
- 142. Luc, D. T. (1989) Theory of Vector Optimization, Lecture Notes in Economic and Mathematical Systems, 319, Springer-verlag, Berlin.
- 143. Luc, D. T. (1991) Contingent derivatives of set-valued maps and applications to vector optimization. *Math. Progr.* 50, 99-111.
- 144. Lucchetti, R. (1987) Well-posedness towards vector optimization, Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems, 294, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 194-207.
- Lucchetti, R. and Revalski, J. (Eds.) (1995) Recent Developments in Well-Posed Variational Problems, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.
- Magnanti, T.L. (1984) Models and algorithms for predicting urban traffic equilibrium. In *Transportation Planning Models*, ed. M. Florian, 153-185.
- Mosco, U. (1972) Dual variational inequalities. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 40, 202-206.
- Mukherjea, A. and Pothoven, K. (1978) Real and Functional Analysis. Plenum Press, New York.
- 149. Nagurney, A. (1993) Network Economics, A Variational Inequality Approach. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht.

- 150. Nemeth, A. B. (1980) The nonconvex minimization principle in ordered regular Banach spaces. Seminar of Functional Analysis and Numerical Methods. pp. 51–59, Preprint, 1, Univ. "Babeş-Bolyai", Cluj-Napoca.
- Nemeth, A. B. (1986) A nonconvex vector minimization problem. Nonl. Anal., TMA. 10, 669-678.
- 152. Nieuwenhuis, J. W. (1983) Some minimax theorems in vector-valued functions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 40, 463-475.
- 153. Oettli, W. and Thera, M. (1993) Equivalents of Ekeland's principle. Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 48, 385-392.
- 154. Oettli, W. and Schlager, D. (1997) Generalized vectorial equilibria and generalized monotonicity. Functional Analysis and Current Applications, eds by Brokate, M., Siddiqi, Longmang, London, 145-154.
- Oettli, W. and Schlager, D. (1998) Existence of equilibria for multivalued mappings. Math. Meth. Oper. Res. 48, 219-228.
- 156. Oettli, W. and Yang, X. Q. (2002) Modified Lagrangian and least root approaches for general nonlinear optimization problems. *Acta Math. Appl. Sin. Engl. Ser.* 18, 147-152.
- 157. Ortega, J.M. and Rheinboldt, W.C. (1970) Iterative Solution of Nonlinear Equations in Several Variables. Academic Press, New York.
- 158. Pallaschke, D. and Rolewicz, S. (1997) Foundations of Mathematical Optimization. Kluwer Academic Press.
- 159. Park, S., Singh, S. P. and Watson, B. (1994) Some fixed point theorems for composites of acyclic maps. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 121, pp. 1151-1158.
- 160. Penot, J.-P. (1986) The drop theorem, the petal theorem and Ekeland's variational principle. *Nonl. Anal.*, *TMA* 10, 813-822.
- Penot, J. P. and Sterna-Karwat, A (1986) Parametrized multicriteria optimization: continuity and closedness off optimal multifunctions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 120, 150-168.
- Postolica, V. (1986) A generalization of Fenchel's duality theory theorem. Annals Des Sciences Mathematiques Du Quebec, 10, 199-206.
- 163. Riddel, R. C. (1981) Epiconvergence of nonlinear complementarity problems and least element problems in Banach lattice. *Math. Oper. Res.* 6, 462-474.
- Rockafellar, R. T. (1970) Convex analysis. Princeton University Press , Princeton
- Rockafellar, R.T. (1974) Conjugate Duality and Optimization. CBMS Lecture Notes Series, Vol. 162, SIAM Publications, Philadephia, Pennsylvania.
- 166. Rockafellar, R. T. (1974) Augmented Lagrange Multiplier functions and duality in nonconvex programming. SIAM J. Control Optimiz. 12, 268-285.
- Rockafellar, R. T. (1993) Lagrange multipliers and optimality. SIAM Review. 35, 183-238.
- Rockafellar, R. T. and Wets, R. J-B. (1998) Variational Analysis. Springer, Berlin.
- 169. Rosenberg, E. (1984) Exact penalty functions and stability in locally Lipschitz programming. *Math. Progr.* 30, 340-356.
- 170. Ruan, G. Z. and Huang, X. X. (1992) Weak calmness and weak stability of multiobjective programming and exact penalty functions (Chinese). J. Sys. Sci. Math. Sci. 12, 148-157.
- 171. Rubinov, A. M., Glover, B. M. and Yang, X. Q. (1999) Modified Lagrange and penalty functions in continuous optimization. *Optimization*. 46, 327-351.

- 172. Rubinov, A. M., Glover, B. M. and Yang, X. Q. (1999) Decreasing functions with applications to penalization. SIAM J. Optimiz. 10, 289-313.
- 173. Rubinov, A. M., Huang, X. X. and Yang, X.Q. (2002) The zero duality gap property and lower semicontinuity of the perturbation function. *Math. Oper. Res.* 27, 775-791.
- 174. Rubinov, A. and Yang, X.Q. (2003) Lagrange-type Functions in Constrained Non-Convex Optimization. Applied Optimization, 85. Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- 175. Rubinov, A. M., Yang, X. Q., Bagirov, A. M. and Gasimov, R. N. (2003) Lagrange-type functions in constrained optimization. Optimization and related topics, 1. J. Math. Sci. (N. Y.) 115, 2437-2505.
- 176. Sawaragi, Y., Nakayama, H. and Tanino, T. (1985) Theory of Multiobjective Optimization. Academic Press, New York.
- 177. Schaefer, H. H. (1999) Topological Vector Spaces, Springer-Verlag, New York.
- 178. Shi, D. S. (1991) Contingent derivative of the perturbation map in multiobjective optimization. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 70, 385-396.
- 179. Khank, P. Q., Nuong, T. H., and Thera, M. (1999) Duality theory in nonconvex vector optimization in Banach spaces using augmented Lagrangian. *Positivity*. 3, 49-64.
- 180. Siddiqi, A. H., Ansari, Q. H. and Ahmad, R. (1995) On vector variational inequality. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 84, 171-180.
- 181. Singh, C., Bhatia, D. and Rueda, N. (1996) Duality in nonlinear multiobjective programming using augmented Lagrangian functions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 88, 659-670.
- 182. Smith, M. J. (1979) The existence, uniqueness and stability of traffic equilibrium. *Transp. Res.* 13B, 295-304.
- Taa, A. (1998) Set-valued derivative of multifunctions and optimization conditions. Numer. Funct Anal. Optim. 19, 121-146.
- 184. Takahashi, W. (1991) Existence theorems generalizing fixed point theorems for multivalued mappings, in Thera and Baillon. In *Fixed Point Theory and Applications*. Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics, Longman, Harlow, 252, 397-406.
- Tammer, Chr. (1992) A generalization of Ekeland's variational principle. Optimization. 25, 129-141.
- 186. Tammer, Chr. (1994) A variational principle and a fixed point theorem. In Henry, Yvon. In System Modeling and Optimization, Lecture Notes in Control and Information Sciences, 197, Springer, London, 248-257.
- Tanaka, T. (1988) Some minimax problems of vector-valued functions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 59, 171-176.
- Tanaka, T. (1994) Generalized quasiconvexities, cone saddle points, and minimax theorems for vector-valued functions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 81, 355-377.
- Tanino, T. (1988) Sensitivity analysis in multiobjective optimization. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 56, 479-499.
- 190. Tanino T. and Sawaragi, Y. (1980) Stability of nondominated solutions in multicriteria decision-making. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 30, 2, 229-253.
- 191. Thera, M. (1991) Existence results for the nonlinear complementarity problem and applications to nonlinear analysis. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 154, 572-584.
- 192. Tian, G. (1993) Generalized quasi-variational-like inequality problem. *Math. Oper. Res.* 18, 725-764.

- 193. Thibault, L. (1980) Subdiffentials of compactly Lipschitzian vector-valued functions. Ann. Math. Pure Appl. 125, 157-192.
- Thibault, L. (1982) Subdiffentials of nonconvex vector-valued functions. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 86, 319-344.
- Tobin, R. L. (1986) Sensitivity analysis for variational inequalities. J. Optim. Theory App. 48, 191-204.
- 196. Tykhonov, A. N. (1966) On the stability of the functional optimization problem. USSR Compt. Math. Math. Phys. 6, 28-33.
- Wardrop, J. (1952) Some theoretical aspects of road traffic research. Proceeding of the Institute of Civil Engineers, Part II, 1, 325-378.
- Weir, T., Mond, B. and Craven, B. D. (1987) Weak minimization and duality. Numer. Func. Anal. Optimiz. 9, 181-192.
- 199. Weir, T., and Mond, B. (1988) Preinvex functions in multiple-objective optimization. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 136, 29-38.
- White, D. J. (1984) Multiobjective programming and penalty functions. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 43, 583-599.
- Yang, X. M. (1992) Alternative theorems and optimality conditions with weakened convexity. Opsearch. 29, 115-125.
- 202. Yang, X. M., Yang, X. Q. and Chen, G. Y. (2002) Efficiency in vector optimization with set-valued maps. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 107, 627-640.
- 203. Yang, X. M., Yang, X. Q. and Teo, K. L. (2003) Generalized invexity and generalized invariant monotonicity. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 117, 607-625.
- 204. Yang, X. M., Yang, X. Q. and Teo, K. L. (2004) Some remarks on the Minty vector variational inequality. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 121, 193-201.
- 205. Yang, X. Q. (1988) ε-Conjugate duality theory and multi-objective optimization. *Economics Mathematics*. No. 2, 81-94.
- 206. Yang, X. Q. (1992) A Hahn-Banach theorem in ordered linear spaces and its applications. *Optimization*, 25, 1-9.
- Yang, X. Q. (1993) Vector variational inequalities and its duality. Nonl. Anal., TMA. 21, 867-877.
- Yang, X. Q. (1993) Vector complementary and minimal element problems. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 77, 3, 483-495.
- Yang, X. Q. (1993) Generalized convex functions and vector variational inequalities. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 79, 563-580.
- Yang, X. Q. (1997) Vector variational inequality and vector pseudolinear optimization. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 95, 729-734.
- Yang, X.Q. (1998) Second-order global optimality conditions for convex composite optimization. Math. Progr. 81, 327-347.
- 212. Yang, X.Q. and Chen, G.Y. (2000) On inverse vector variational inequalities. In [82] 433-446.
- 213. Yang, X. Q. and Craven, B. D. (1991) A nonsmooth version of alternative theorem and nonsmooth multiobjective programming. *Utilitas Mathematica*. 40, 117-128.
- 214. Yang, X. Q. and Goh, C. J. (1997) On vector variational inequalities: application to vector equilibria. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 95, 431-443.
- 215. Yang, X. Q. and Goh, C. J. (2000) Vector variational inequalities, vector equilibrium flow and vector optimization. In [82], 447-465.
- 216. Yang, X. Q. and Huang, X. X. (2001) A nonlinear Lagrangian approach to constrained optimization problems. SIAM J. Optimiz. 14, 1119-1144.

- Yang, X. Q. and Jeyakumar, V. (1997) First and second-order optimality conditions for convex composite multiobjective optimization. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 95, 209-224.
- 218. Yang, X.Q. and Yao, J.C. (2002) Gap functions and existence of solutions to set-valued variational inequalities. *J. Optim. Theory Appl.* 115, 407-417.
- 219. Ye, J. J., Optimality conditions for optimization problems with complementarity constraints. SIAM J. Optimiz. 9, 374-387.
- 220. Yevtushenko, Yu. G. and Zhadan, V. G. (1990) Exact auxiliary functions in optimization problems. U.S.S.R Comput. Maths. Math. Phys. 30, 31-42.
- 221. Yu, P. L. (1985) Multiple-criteria Decision Making: Concepts, Techniques and Extensions. Plenum Press, New York, N.Y.
- Yu, S. J. and Yao, J. C. (1996) On vector variational inequalities. J. Optim. Theory and Appl. 89, 749-769.
- Yuan, G. X. Z. (1999) KKM Theory and Applications in Nonlinear Analysis. Marcel Dekker, Inc.
- 224. Zhou, J. X. and Chen, G. (1988) Diagonal convexity conditions for problems in convex analysis and quasi variational inequalities. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 132, 213-225.
- 225. Zolezzi, T. (1995) Well-Posedness Criteria in Optimization with Application to the Calculus of Variations. *Nonl. Anal. TMA*. 25, 437-453.
- Zolezzi, T. (1996) Extended Well-Posedness of Optimization Problems. J. Optim. Theory Appl. 91, 257-266.
- 227. Zowe, J. (1974) Subdiffertiability of convex functions with values in ordered vector spaces. *Math. Scand.* 34, 69-83.

### Index

C-bounded, 24 C-concave function, 24 C-convex function, 26, 112, 116 C-convex set, 24 C-convex vector-valued function, 24 C-convexlike function, 27 C-epigraph, 24 C-metric function, 195 C-monotone matrix, 286 C-monotonicity, 12 C-quasiconvex vector-valued function, C-subconvexlike function, 27 H near to minimal point, 196 H near to the minimal solution, 215  $\epsilon$ -minimal solution, 197, 211  $\eta$ -connected of a set, 162  $\xi_{ea}$ -equilibrium, 289 f-inclusive condition, 184 absolute infimum, 8 absolute supremum, 8 acyclic, 10 affine constraints, 41 algebraically closed, 174 algebraically open, 174 arc path incidence matrix, 282 asymptotically minimizing sequence,

241, 252

81

augmented Lagrangian, 81, 89

augmented Lagrangian dual function,

C-bound regular subcone, 195

augmented Lagrangian dual problem, augmenting function, 81, 89 axiom of choice, 195 base of a cone, 1, 16 Benson's proper minimal solution, 50 Browder fixed point theorem, 10 coercivity, 62, 124 compactly approximable, 78 complete C metric space, 195 complete cone, 195 cone, 1 conservative, 298 contingent cone, 10 contingent derivative of a set-valued function, 10 contingent tangent cone, 10 continuity, 9 continuous selection, 22, 151 contractible space, 10 convex cone, 1 convex set, 1 critical point, 205 Dancs-Hegedus-Medvegyev, 205 Daniell property, 8 directional contraction function, 230 domination property, 4 domination structure, 5 dual function, 58 dual problem, 58 dynamic system, 205 dynamic vector equilibrium, 297

full set, 195

dynamic vector equilibrium principle, 297 dynamic weak vector equilibrium, 297 dynamic weak vector equilibrium principle, 297

Ekeland's variational principle, 194 exact penalization, 93, 106 existence of a solution for vector variational inequality, 119, 122, 124, 154 externally stable, 81

Fan-Glicksber-Kakutani fixed point theorem, 10 feasible flow, 282 Fenchel conjugate, 126 Fréchet differentiable, 11

Gâteaux differentiability, 11 gap function, 134, 154 generalized C-subconvexlike function, generalized Browder selection theorem, generalized constraint qualification, 44 generalized contingent epiderivative, 64 Generalized linearization lemma, 118,

121generalized semi-infinite programming, 155

generalized Slater constraint qualification, 59

generalized vector pre-variational inequality problem, 162 generalized vector quasivariational inequality problem, 157 Gordan-Form alternative theorem, 30

half distance, 205 Hausdorff distance, 244 Hausdorff maximality principle, 195 hemicontinuity of a function, 11

increasing function, 94, 100 inf-externally stable, 82, 89 integrable vector function, 285 inverse vector variational inequality, 126, 129

Isac's vector variational principle, 198

KKM map, 11 Knaster, Kuratowski and Mazurkiewicz theorem, 11 Kuhn-Tucker condition, 44 Kuratowski measure of noncompactness, 246

Lagrange multipliers, 43 Lagrangian function, 56 level-bounded, 83 local minimal solution, 5 local weakly minimal solution, 5, 47, 60 locally compact, 51 lower semicontinuity of a set-valued function, 9

maximal point of a set, 3 minimal element, 67 minimal element problem, 174, 190 minimal frontier, 292, 297 minimal path, 291, 297 minimal point of a function, 4 minimal point of a set, 3 minimal solution of a function, 4 minimax inequality for set-valued function, 265 minimax inequality for vector-valued function, 275 minorized set, 8 Minty vector variational inequality, 114 modified generalized contingent epideriative, 260 monotone set-valued function, 118 monotonicity, 13

naturally quasi C-convex function, 31 network vector optimization problem, non-convex scalarization theorem, 289 nondominated maximal point, 6 nondominated minimal point, 5 nondominated minimal solution, 41 nondominated point, 5 nondominated-like minimal point, 6 nondominated-like minimal solution, 7,

nonlinear Lagrangian dual problem, 95

nonlinear Lagrangian function, 95 nonlinear penalty function, 105 nonlinear scalarization function, 13, 16, 206, 289 normal cone, 195

open lower sections, 9 order pseudo-convex, 77 ordered complete vector lattice, 66 ordering cone, 2 origin-destination pair, 281

parametric equilibrium flow, 283
parametric equilibrium principle, 283,
292
parametric vector optimization, 60
partial order, 2
pointed convex cone, 1
positive linear operator, 181
proper quasi C-concavity, 31
properly quasi C-convex function, 31

saddle point, 56, 101 separable vector function, 285 set of infima, 239 set-valued optimization problem, 67, 73 set-valued vector variational inequality, 151 Slater condition, 61 star-shaped set, 10 strict monotonicity, 13 strictly C-convex vector-valued function, 24 strictly C-monotone, 12 strictly C-quasiconvex vector-valued function, 24 strong C-dual cone, 174 strong duality, 59, 83, 96 strong monotonicity, 13 strong subgradient, 70, 127 strong type I C-diagonally quasi-convex map, 32 strong type II C-diagonally quasi-convex map, 32

strongly C-bounded below, 24

sequence, 241

subgradient, 127

strongly asymptotically minimizing

submonotone set-valued function, 214

submonotone vector-valued function, 196

Tammer's vector variational principle, 197
totally ordered set, 195
type I C-concave function, 25
type I C-convex function, 25
type II C-concave function, 25
type II C-convex function, 25

uniformly weakly stable, 106 upper bound, 8 upper semicontinuity of a set-valued function, 8

variable domination structure, 16
variable ordering structure, 5, 7, 183
variable preference structure, 5, 7
variational principle for set-valued map,
211
variational principle for vector-valued
function, 194
vector complementarity problem, 174,
183
vector equilibrium flow, 292
vector equilibrium problem, 168
vector minimax inequality, 265
vector network equilibrium, 292
vector optimization problem, 41, 48, 53
vector variational inequality, 111

vector variational principle, 194

Wardrop's equilibrium principle, 282 weak  $\lambda$ -equilibrium, 283, 292 weak C-dual cone, 174 weak coercivity, 12 weak domination property, 246 weak duality, 58, 82 weak minimal element, 67 weak positive linear operator, 178 weak subgradient, 69, 70, 129 weak type I C-diagonally quasi-convex map, 32 weak type II C-diagonally quasi-convex map, 32 weak vector equilibrium flow, 283 weak vector network equilibrium, 283 weak vector variational inequality, 112, 288

#### 306 Index

weakly ε-minimal solution, 197
weakly asymptotically minimizing
sequence, 241
weakly completely continuous, 178
weakly maximal point, 4
weakly minimal point, 4
weakly minimal frontier, 282
weakly minimal path, 282
weakly minimal path, 282
weakly nondominated maximal point, 6
weakly nondominated-like minimal
point, 6
weakly nondominated-like minimal
solution, 7
weakly positive linear operator, 186

weakly upper monotone, 74
well-posed in the extended sense, 240, 252
well-posed in the strongly extended sense, 241, 252
well-posed in the weakly extended sense, 240
well-posedness, 193
well-posedness of set-valued optimization problem, 251
well-posedness of vector-valued optimization problem, 239

Zorn's lemma, 195

# Lecture Notes in Economics and Mathematical Systems

For information about Vols. 1–459 please contact your bookseller or Springer-Verlag

Vol. 460: B. Fleischmann, J. A. E. E. van Nunen, M. G. Speranza, P. Stähly, Advances in Distribution Logistic. XI, 535 pages. 1998.

Vol. 461: U. Schmidt, Axiomatic Utility Theory under Risk. XV, 201 pages. 1998.

Vol. 462: L. von Auer, Dynamic Preferences, Choice Mechanisms, and Welfare. XII, 226 pages. 1998.

Vol. 463: G. Abraham-Frois (Ed.), Non-Linear Dynamics and Endogenous Cycles. VI, 204 pages. 1998.

Vol. 464: A. Aulin, The Impact of Science on Economic Growth and its Cycles. IX, 204 pages. 1998.

Vol. 465: T. J. Stewart, R. C. van den Honert (Eds.), Trends in Multicriteria Decision Making. X, 448 pages. 1998.

Vol. 466: A. Sadrieh, The Alternating Double Auction Market. VII, 350 pages, 1998.

Vol. 467: H. Hennig-Schmidt, Bargaining in a Video Experiment. Determinants of Boundedly Rational Behavior. XII, 221 pages. 1999.

Vol. 468: A. Ziegler, A Game Theory Analysis of Options. XIV, 145 pages. 1999.

Vol. 469: M. P. Vogel, Environmental Kuznets Curves. XIII, 197 pages. 1999.

Vol. 470: M. Ammann, Pricing Derivative Credit Risk. XII, 228 pages. 1999.

Vol. 471: N. H. M. Wilson (Ed.), Computer-Aided Transit Scheduling, XI, 444 pages, 1999.

Vol. 472: J.-R. Tyran, Money Illusion and Strategic Complementarity as Causes of Monetary Non-Neutrality. X, 228 pages. 1999.

Vol. 473: S. Helber, Performance Analysis of Flow Lines with Non-Linear Flow of Material. IX, 280 pages. 1999.

Vol. 474: U. Schwalbe, The Core of Economies with Asymmetric Information. IX, 141 pages. 1999.

Vol. 475: L. Kaas, Dynamic Macroeconomics with Imperfect Competition. XI, 155 pages. 1999.

Vol. 476: R. Demel, Fiscal Policy, Public Debt and the Term Structure of Interest Rates. X, 279 pages. 1999.

Vol. 477: M. Théra, R. Tichatschke (Eds.), Ill-posed Variational Problems and Regularization Techniques. VIII, 274 pages. 1999.

Vol. 478: S. Hartmann, Project Scheduling under Limited Resources. XII, 221 pages. 1999.

Vol. 479: L. v. Thadden, Money, Inflation, and Capital Formation. IX, 192 pages. 1999.

Vol. 480: M. Grazia Speranza, P. Stähly (Eds.), New Trends in Distribution Logistics. X, 336 pages. 1999.

Vol. 481: V. H. Nguyen, J. J. Strodiot, P. Tossings (Eds.). Optimation. IX, 498 pages. 2000.

Vol. 482: W. B. Zhang, A Theory of International Trade. XI, 192 pages. 2000.

Vol. 483: M. Königstein, Equity, Efficiency and Evolutionary Stability in Bargaining Games with Joint Production. XII, 197 pages. 2000.

Vol. 484: D. D. Gatti, M. Gallegati, A. Kirman, Interaction and Market Structure. VI, 298 pages. 2000.

Vol. 485: A. Garnaev, Search Games and Other Applications of Game Theory. VIII, 145 pages. 2000.

Vol. 486: M. Neugart, Nonlinear Labor Market Dynamics. X, 175 pages. 2000.

Vol. 487: Y. Y. Haimes, R. E. Steuer (Eds.), Research and Practice in Multiple Criteria Decision Making. XVII, 553 pages, 2000.

Vol. 488: B. Schmolck, Ommitted Variable Tests and Dynamic Specification. X, 144 pages. 2000.

Vol. 489: T. Steger, Transitional Dynamics and Economic Growth in Developing Countries, VIII, 151 pages. 2000.

Vol. 490: S. Minner, Strategic Safety Stocks in Supply Chains. XI, 214 pages. 2000.

Vol. 491: M. Ehrgott, Multicriteria Optimization. VIII, 242 pages, 2000.

Vol. 492: T. Phan Huy, Constraint Propagation in Flexible Manufacturing, IX, 258 pages, 2000.

Vol. 493: J. Zhu, Modular Pricing of Options. X, 170 pages.

Vol. 494: D. Franzen, Design of Master Agreements for OTC Derivatives. VIII, 175 pages. 2001.

Vol. 495: I. Konnov, Combined Relaxation Methods for Variational Inequalities. XI, 181 pages. 2001.

Vol. 496: P. Weiß, Unemployment in Open Economies. XII, 226 pages. 2001.

Vol. 497: J. Inkmann, Conditional Moment Estimation of Nonlinear Equation Systems. VIII, 214 pages. 2001.

Vol. 498: M. Reutter, A Macroeconomic Model of West German Unemployment. X, 125 pages. 2001.

Vol. 499: A. Casajus, Focal Points in Framed Games. XI, 131 pages. 2001.

Vol. 500: F. Nardini, Technical Progress and Economic Growth. XVII, 191 pages. 2001.

Vol. 501: M. Fleischmann, Quantitative Models for Reverse Logistics. XI, 181 pages. 2001.

Vol. 502: N. Hadjisavvas, J. E. Martínez-Legaz, J.-P. Penot (Eds.), Generalized Convexity and Generalized Monotonicity. IX, 410 pages. 2001.

Vol. 503: A. Kirman, J.-B. Zimmermann (Eds.), Economics with Heterogenous Interacting Agents. VII, 343 pages. 2001.

- Vol. 504: P.-Y. Moix (Ed.), The Measurement of Market Risk. XI, 272 pages, 2001.
- Vol. 505: S. Voß, J. R. Daduna (Eds.), Computer-Aided
- Scheduling of Public Transport. XI, 466 pages. 2001.

  Vol. 506: B. P. Kellerhals, Financial Pricing Models in Con-
- tinuous Time and Kalman Filtering, XIV, 247 pages. 2001.
- Vol. 507: M. Koksalan, S. Zionts, Multiple Criteria Decision Making in the New Millenium. XII, 481 pages. 2001.
- Making in the New Millenium. XII, 481 pages. 2001. Vol. 508: K. Neumann, C. Schwindt, J. Zimmermann, Project
- Vol. 508: K. Neumann, C. Schwindt, J. Zimmermann, Project Scheduling with Time Windows and Scarce Resources. XI,
- 335 pages. 2002.
  Vol. 509: D. Hornung, Investment, R&D, and Long-Run Growth.
- XVI, 194 pages. 2002. Vol. 510: A. S. Tangian, Constructing and Applying Objective
- Functions. XII, 582 pages. 2002. Vol. 511: M. Külpmann, Stock Market Overreaction and
- Fundamental Valuation. IX, 198 pages. 2002. Vol. 512: W.-B. Zhang, An Economic Theory of Cities.XI,
- 220 pages. 2002.Vol. 513: K. Marti, Stochastic Optimization Techniques. VIII, 364 pages. 2002.
- Vol. 514: S. Wang, Y. Xia, Portfolio and Asset Pricing. XII, 200 pages. 2002.
- 200 pages. 2002.

  Vol. 515: G. Heisig, Planning Stability in Material Requirements
- Planning System. XII, 264 pages. 2002.

  Vol. 516: B. Schmid, Pricing Credit Linked Financial Instru-
- ments. X, 246 pages. 2002.

  Vol. 517: H. I. Meinhardt, Cooperative Decision Making in
- Common Pool Situations. VIII, 205 pages. 2002.
  Vol. 518: S. Napel, Bilateral Bargaining. VIII, 188 pages.
- 2002.
  Vol. 519: A. Klose, G. Speranza, L. N. Van Wassenhove
- Vol. 519: A. Klose, G. Speranza, L. N. Van Wassenhove (Eds.), Quantitative Approaches to Distribution Logistics and Supply Chain Management. XIII, 421 pages. 2002.
- Vol. 520: B. Glaser, Efficiency versus Sustainability in Dynamic Decision Making. IX, 252 pages. 2002.
- Vol. 521: R. Cowan, N. Jonard (Eds.), Heterogenous Agents, Interactions and Economic Performance. XIV, 339 pages.
- 2003. Vol. 522: C. Neff, Corporate Finance, Innovation, and Strategic
- Competition. IX, 218 pages. 2003.

  Vol. 523: W.-B. Zhang, A Theory of Interregional Dynamics. XI, 231 pages. 2003.
- Vol. 524: M. Frölich, Programme Evaluation and Treatment Choise. VIII, 191 pages. 2003.
- Vol. 525:S. Spinler, Capacity Reservation for Capital-Intensive
- Technologies. XVI, 139 pages. 2003.

  Vol. 526: C. F. Daganzo, A Theory of Supply Chains. VIII,
- 123 pages. 2003.

  Vol. 527: C. E. Metz, Information Dissemination in Currency
- Crises. XI, 231 pages. 2003.

  Vol. 528: R. Stolletz, Performance Analysis and Optimization of Inbound Call Centers. X, 219 pages, 2003.
- Vol. 529: W. Krabs, S. W. Pickl, Analysis, Controllability and Optimization of Time-Discrete Systems and Dynamical Games. XII, 187 pages. 2003.

- Vol. 530: R. Wapler, Unemployment, Market Structure and Growth. XXVII, 207 pages. 2003.
- Vol. 531: M. Gallegati, A. Kirman, M. Marsili (Eds.), The Complex Dynamics of Economic Interaction. XV, 402 pages,
- Vol. 532: K. Marti, Y. Ermoliev, G. Pflug (Eds.), Dynamic Stochastic Optimization. VIII, 336 pages. 2004.
- Vol. 533: G. Dudek, Collaborative Planning in Supply Chains. X, 234 pages. 2004.
- Vol. 534: M. Runkel, Environmental and Resource Policy for Consumer Durables, X, 197 pages, 2004.
- Vol. 535: X. Gandibleux, M. Sevaux, K. Sörensen, V. T'kindt (Eds.), Metaheuristics for Multiobjective Optimisation. IX, 249 pages. 2004.
- Vol. 536: R. Brüggemann, Model Reduction Methods for Vector Autoregressive Processes. X, 218 pages. 2004.
  Vol. 537: A. Esser, Pricing in (In)Complete Markets. XI, 122
- pages, 2004.

  Vol. 538: S. Kokot, The Econometrics of Sequential Trade Models. XI, 193 pages. 2004.
- Vol. 539: N. Hautsch, Modelling Irregularly Spaced Financial Data. XII, 291 pages. 2004.
- Vol. 540: H. Kraft, Optimal Portfolios with Stochastic Interest Rates and Defaultable Assets. X, 173 pages. 2004.
- Vol. 541: G.-y. Chen, X. Huang, X. Yang, Vector Optimization. X, 306 pages. 2005.
- Vol. 542: J. Lingens, Union Wage Bargaining and Economic Growth. XIII, 199 pages. 2004. Vol. 543: C. Benkert. Default Risk in Bond and Credit Deriva-
- vol. 545: C. Berkert, Default Risk in Bond and Credit Derivatives Markets. IX, 135 pages. 2004.
  Vol. 544: B. Fleischmann, A. Klose, Distribution Logistics. X,
- 284 pages. 2004. Vol. 545: R. Hafner, Stochastic Implied Volatility. XI, 229 pages. 2004.
- Vol. 546: D. Quadt, Lot-Sizing and Scheduling for Flexible Flow Lines. XVIII, 227 pages. 2004.
- Vol. 547: M. Wildi, Signal Extraction. XI, 279 pages. 2005. Vol. 548: D. Kuhn, Generalized Bounds for Convex Multistage
- Stochastic Programs. XI, 190 pages. 2005. Vol. 549: G. N. Krieg, Kanban-Controlled Manufacturing Systems. IX, 236 pages. 2005.
- Vol. 550: T. Lux, S. Reitz, E. Samanidou, Nonlinear Dynamics and Heterogeneous Interacting Agents. XIII, 327 pages. 2005.
- Vol. 551: J. Leskow, M. Puchet Anyul, L. F. Punzo, New Tools of Economic Dynamics. XIX, 392 pages. 2005.
- Vol. 552: C. Suerie, Time Continuity in Discrete Time Models. XVIII, 229 pages. 2005.
- Vol. 553: B. Mönch, Strategic Trading in Illiquid Markets. XIII, 116 pages. 2005.